SPEECHES AND WRITINGS

OF

DADABHAI NAOROJI

FIRST EDITION : PRICE RS. TWO

G. A. NATESAN & CO.
SUNKURAMA CHETTI STREET
MADRAS



DADABHAI NAOROJI.

PUBLISHERS' NOTE.

This is the first attempt to bring under one cover an exhaustive and comprehensive collection of the speeches and writings of the venerable Indian patriot, Dadabhai The first part is a collection of his speeches and includes the addresses that he delivered before the Indian National Congress on the three occasions that he presided over that assembly; all the speeches that he delivered in the House of Commons and a selection of the speeches that he delivered from time to time in England and India. The second part includes all his statements to the Welby Commission, a number of papers relating to the admission of Indians to the Services and many other vital questions of Indian administration. The Appendix contains, among others, the full text of his evidence before the Welby Commission, his statement to the Indian Currency, Committee of 1898, his replies to the questions put to him by the Public Service Commission, and his statement to the Select Committee on East Indian Finance. Dadabhai has been in the active service of his Motherland for over sixty years and during this long period he has been steadily and strenuously working for the good of his countrymen; it is hoped that his writings and speeches which are now presented in a handy volume will be welcomed by thousands of his admiring countrymen.

CONTENTS

	PAGE
PART 1: SPEECHES.	
Congress Speeches.	
Second Congress—Calcutta—1886	1
Ninth Congress-Lahore-1893	20
Twenty-Second Congress-Calcutta-1906	68
Appointment of a Royal Commission	101
Reform of Legislative Councils	104
Simultaneous Examinations	111
Speeches in the House of Commons.	
Maiden Speech	121
An Inquiry into the Condition of India	124
England and India	149
India and Lancashire	164
Miscellaneous Speeches and Addresses.	
Retirement of Lord Ripon	167
The Fawcett Memorial Meeting	171
India's Interest in the General Election (1886).	175
India and the Opium Question	191
Address to the Electors of Holborn	198
The Indian Civil Service	208
Great Reception Meeting in Bombay	213
Indian Famine Relief Fund Meeting	217
The Condition of India	224
The Cause and Cure of Famine	232
British Democracy and India	246
India Under British Rule	251
The Indian National Congress	254
England's Pledges to India	263
The Legacy of Lord Curzon's Regime	271

PART II: WRITINGS.

Administration and Management	of		PAGE
Indian Expenditure	***	•••	281
The Apportionment of Charge be	etween the	e	
United Kingdom and India	•••		326
The Right Relations between Brita	in and Ind	ia.	355
The Causes of Discontent			375
Admission of Natives to the Covena	anted		
Civil Service	•••		396
Indians in the Indian Civil Service	•••		471
The European and Asiatic Races	•••	•••	523
Sir M. E. Grant Duff on India			5 59
Expenses of the Abyssinian War	***		610
Mysore	•••	•••	623
The Fear of Russian Invasion		•••	641
The Indian Tribute	•••	•••	647
Message to the Benares Congress	***		650
A Chapter of Autobiography	•••	•••	65 3
APPENDIX.			
A. Evidence before the Welby Com	mission		1
B. Statement to the Currency Comm		898.	98
C. Replies to the Public Service C			141
D. Statement to the Select Committ			
India Finance, 1871	•••		157
E. The Moral Poverty of India			182
F. Report of the Indian Famine Con			
1890	•		200

FAITH IN BRITISH FAIR PLAY AND JUSTICE.

Our fate and our future are in our own hands. If we are true to ourselves and to our country and make all the necessary sacrifices for our elevation and amelioration, I, for one, have not the shadow of a doubt that in dealing with such justice-loving, fair-minded people as the British, we may rest fully assured that we shall not work in vain. It is this conviction which has supported me against all difficulties. I have never faltered in my faith in the British character and have always believed that the time will come when the sentiments of the British Nation and our Gracious Sovereign proclaimed to us in our Great Charter of the Proclamation of 1858 will be realised, (applause), viz., " In their prosperity will be our strength, in their contentment our best reward." And let us join in the prayer that followed this hopeful declaration of our Sovereign: "May the God of allpower grant to us and to those in authority under us strength to carry out these our wishes for the good of our people.-From the Presidential Address to the Lahore Congress.

DADABHAI'S EXHORTATION.

My last prayer and exhortation to the Congress and to all my countrymen is—Go on united and earnest, in concord and harmony, with moderation, with loyalty to the British rule and patriotism towards our country, and success is sure to attend our efforts for our just demands, and the day, I hope, is not distant when the world will see the noblest spectacle of a great nation like the British holding out the hand of true fellow-citizenship and of justice to the vast mass of humanity of this great and ancient land of India with benefits and blessings to the human race (loud and prolonged cheering).—From the Presidential Address to the Lahore Congress.

Speeches of Dadabhai Naoroji.

Second Congress-Calcutta-1886.

PRESIDENTIAL ADDRESS.

INTRODUCTION.

I need not tell you how sincerely thankful I am to you for placing me in this position of honour. I at first thought that I was to be elevated to this proud position as a return for what might be considered as a compliment paid by us to Bengal, when Mr. Bonnerjee was elected President of the first Congress last year at Bombay. I can assure you, however, that that election was no mere compliment to Bengal, but arose out of the simple fact that we regarded Mr. Bonnerjee as a gentleman eminently qualified to take the place of President. and we installed him in that position, in all sincerity, as the proper man in the proper place. I now see, however, that this election of my humble self is not intended as a return of compliment, but that, as both proposer and seconder have said, you have been kind enough to select me. because I am supposed to be really qualified to undertake the task. I hope it may prove so and that I may be found really worthy of all the kind things said of me; but whether this be so, or not, when such kind things are said by those who occupy such high positions amongst us, I must say I feel exceedingly proud and am very grateful to all for the honour thus done me. (Loud cheering.)

Your late Chairman has heartily welcomed all the delegates who come from different parts of India, and with the same heartiness I return to him and all our Bengal friends, on my own behalf and on that of all the delegates

from other Provinces, the most sincere thanks for the cordial manner in which we have been received. From what has been done already and from what is in store for us during our short stay here, I have no doubt we shall carry away with us many and most pleasant reminiscences of our visit to Calcutta. (Cheere.)

You will pardon me, and I beg your indulgence when I say that, when I was asked only two days ago to become your President and to give an inaugural address, it was with no small trepidation that I agreed to undertake the tack; and I hope that you will extend to me all that indulgence which my shortcomings may need. (Loud cheers.)

IMPORTANCE OF THE CONGRESS.

The assemblage of such a Congress is an event of the utmost importance in Indian Aistory. I ask whether in the most glorious days of Hindu rule, in the days of Rajahs like the great Vikram, you could imagine the possibility of a meeting of this kind, whether even Hindus of all different provinces of the kingdom could have collected and spoken as one nation. Coming down to the later Empire of our friends, the Mahomedans, who probably ruled over a larger territory at one time than any Hindu monarch, would it have been, even in the days of the great Akbar himself, possible for a meeting like this to assemble composed of all classes and communities, all speaking one language, and all having uniform and high aspirations of their own.

ADVANTAGES OF BRITISH RULE.

Well, then, what is it for which we are now met on this occasion? We have assembled to consider questions upon which depend our future, whether gloricus or ingloricus. It is our good fortune that we are under a rule which makes it possible for us to meet in this manner. (Cheers.)

It is under the civilizing rule of the Queen and people of England that we meet here together, hindered by none. and are freely allowed to speak our minds without the least fear and without the least hesitation. Such a thing is possible under British rule and British rule only. (Loud Cheers.) Then I put the question plainly: Is this Congress a. nursery for sedition and rebellion against the British government (cries of no, no); or is it another stone in the foundation of the stability of that government? (Cries of yes, yes.) There could be but one answer, and that you have already given, because we are thoroughly sensible of the numberless blessings conferred upon us, of which the very existence of this Congress is a proof in a nutshell. (Cheers.) Were it not for these blessings of British rule, I could not have come here, as I have done, without the least hesitation and without the least fear that my children might be robbed and killed in my absence; nor could you have come from every corner of the land, having performed, within a few days, journeys, which in former days would have occupied as many months. (Cheers.) These simple facts bring home to all of us at once some of those great and numberless blessings which British rule has conferred upon us. But there remain even greater blessings for which we have to be grateful. It is to British rule that we owe the education we possess; the people of England were sincere in the declarations made more than half a century ago that India was a sacred charge entrusted to their care by Providence, and that they were bound to administer it for the good of India, to the glory of their own name, and the satisfaction of God. (Prolonged cheering.) When we have to acknowledge so many blessings as flowing from British rule,-and I could descant on them for hours, because it

would simply be recounting to you the history of the British Empire in India—is it possible that an assembly like this, every one of whose members is fully impressed with the knowledge of these blessings, could meet for any purpose inimicalto that rule to which we owe so much? (Cheers.)

RELATION BETWEEN GURSELVES AND OUR RULERS.

The thing is absurd. Let us speak out like men and proclaim that we are loyal to the backbone (cheers); that we understand the benefits English rule has conferred upon us; that we thoroughly appreciate the education that has been given to us, the new light which has been poured upon us, turning us from darkness into light and teaching us the new lesson that kings are made for the people, not peoples for their kings; and this new lesson we have learned amidst the darkness of Asiatic despotism only by the light of free English civilization. (Loud cheers.) But the question is, do the Government believe us? Do they believe that we are really loyal to them; that we do truly appreciate and rely on British rule; that we veritably desire its permanent continuance; that our reason is satisfied and our sentimental feelings gratified as well as our self-interest? It would be a great gratification to us if we could see, in the inauguration of a great movement like this Congress, that what we do really mean and desire is thoroughly and truly so understood by our rulers. I have the good fortune to be able to place before you testimony which cannot be questioned, from which you will see that some at least of the most distinguished of our rulers do believe that what we say is sincere; and that we do not want to subvert British rule; that our outspoken utterancas are as much for their good as for our good. They do believe, as Lord Ripon said, that what is good for

India is good for England. I will give you first the testimony as regards the educated classes which was given 25 years ago, by Sir Bartle Frere. He possessed an intimate knowledge of the people of this country, and with regard to the educated portion of them, he gave this testimony. He said: 'And now wherever I go I find the best exponents of the policy of the English Government, and the most able co-adjutors in adjusting that policy to the peculiarities of the natives of India, among the ranks of the educated natives.' This much at least is testimony to our sincerity, and strongly corroborates our assertion that we, the educated classes, have become the true interpreters and mediators between the masses of our countrymen and our rulers. I shall now place before you the declaration of the Government of India itself, that they have confidence in the loyalty of the whole people, and do appreciate the sentiments of the educated classes in particular. I will read their very words. They say in a despatch addressed to the Secretary of State (8th June, 1880): 'But the people of India accept British rule without any need for appeal to arms, because we keep the peace and do justice, because we have done and are doing much material good to the country and the people, and because there is not inside or outside India any power that can adequately occupy our place.' Then they distinctly understand that we do believe the British power to be the only power that can, under existing circumstances, really keep the peace and advance our future progress. This is testimony as to the feeling of the whole people. But of the educated classes, this despatch says: 'To the minds of at least the educated among the people of India-and the number is rapidly

increasing—any idea of the subversion of British power is abhorrent, from the consciousness that it must result in the wildest anarchy and confusion.' (Loud cheers.)

We can, therefore, proceed with the utmost serenity and with every confidence that our rulers do understand us; that they do understand our motives and give credit to our expressions of loyalty, and we need not in the least care for any impeschment of disloyalty or any charge of harbouring wild ideas of subverting the British power that may be put forth by ignorant, irresponsible or ill-disposed individuals or cliques. (Loud cheers.) We can, therefore, quietly, calmly and, with entire confidence in our rulers, speak as freely as we please, but of course in that spirit of fairness and moderation, which becomes wise and honest men, and in the tone which every gentleman, every reasonable being, would adopt when urging his rulers to make him some concession. (Hear, hear.) Now although, as I have said, the British government have done much, very much for us, there is still a great deal more to be done if their noble work is to be fitly completed. They say this themselves; they show a desire to do what more may be required, and it is for us to ask for whatsoever, after due deliberation, we think that we ought to have. (Cheers.)

THE JUBILEE OF OUR QUEEN-EMPRESS.

Therefore, having said thus much and baving cleared the ground so that we may proceed freely and in all confidence with the work of our Congress, I must at once come to the matter with which I should have commenced, had I not purposely postponed it, until I had explained the relations between ourselves and our rulers; and that is the most happy and auspicious occasion which the coming year is to bring us, viz., the Jubilee of our good Queen-

Empress's reign. (Loud cheers.) I am exceedingly glad that the Congress has thought it right to select this, as the subject of the initial resolution, and in this to express, in humble but hearty terms, their congratulations to our Gracious Empress. (Cheers.) There is even more reason for us to congratulate ourselves on having for half a century enjoyed the rule of a Sovereign, graced with every virtue, and truly worthy to reign over that vast Empire on which the sun never sets. (Loud cheers.) That she may live long, honoured and beloved, to continue for yet many years that beneficial and enlightened rule with which she has so long reigned, must be the heart-felt prayer of every soul in India. (Prolonged cheering.)

And here you must pardon me if I digress a moment from those subjects which this Congress proposes to discuss to one of those which we do not consider to fall within the legitimate sphere of its deliberations.

CONGRESS AND SOCIAL REFORM.

It has been asserted that this Congress ought to take up questions of social reform (cheers and cries of yes, yes) and our failure to do this has been urged as a reproach against us. Certainly no member of this National Congress is more alive to the necessity of social reforms than I am; but, gentlemen, for everything there are proper times, proper circumstances, proper parties and proper places (cheers); we are met together as a political body to represent to our rulers our political aspirations, not to discuss social reforms, and if you blame us for ignoring these, you should equally blame the House of Commons for not discussing the abstruser problems on mathematics or metaphysics. But, besides this, there are here Hindus of every caste

amongst whom, even in the same province, customs and social arrangements differ widely,-there are Mahomedans and Christians of various denominations, Parsees, Sikhs, Brahmos and what not-men indeed of each and all of those numerous classes which constitute in the aggregate the people of India. (Loud cheers.) How can this gathering of all classes discuss the social reforms needed in each individual class? What do any of us know of the internal home life, of the customs, traditions, feelings, prejudices of any class but our own? How could a gathering, a cosmopolitan gathering like this, discuss to any purpose the reforms needed in any one class? Only the members of that class can effectively deal with the reforms therein needed. A National Congress must confine itself to questions in which the entire nation has a direct participation, and it must leave the adjustment of social reforms and other class questions to class Congresses. But it does not follow that because this national, political body does not presume to discuss social reforms, the delegates here present are not just as deeply, nay in many cases far more deeply, interested in these questions than in those political questions we do discuss, or that those several communities whom those delegates represent are not doing their utmost to solve those complicated problems on which hinge the practical introduction of those reforms. Any man who has eyes and ears open must know what struggles towards higher and better things are going on in every community: and it could not be otherwise with the noble education we are receiving. Once you begin to think about your own actions, your duties and respensibilities to yourself, your neighbours and your nation, you cannot avoid looking round and observing much that is wrong amongst you; and we know, as a fact, that each community is now doing its best according to its lights, and the progress that it has made in education. need not, I think, particularise. The Mahomedans know what is being done by persons of their community to push on the education their brethren so much need; the Hindus are everywhere doing what they can to reform those social institutions which they think require improvement, There is not one single community here represented of which the best and ablest men do not feel that much has to be done to improve the social, moral, religious status of their brethren, and in which, as a fact, they are not striving to effect, gradually, those needful improvements; but these are essentially matters too delicate for a stranger's handlingmatters which must be left to the guidance of those who alone fully understand them in all their bearings, and which are wholly unsuited to discussion in an assemblage like this in which all classes are intermingled. (Loud cheers.)

TRUST IN ENGLAND.

I shall now refer briefly to the work of the former Congress. Since it met last year, about this time, some progress, I am glad to say, has been made, and that is an encouragement and a proof that, if we do really ask what is right and reasonable, we may be sure that, sooner or later, the British government will actually give what we ask for. We should, therefore, persevere having confidence in the conscience of England and resting assured that the English nation will grudge no sacrifice to prove the sincerity of their desire to do whatever is just and right. (Cheers.)

BOYAL COMMISSION.

Our first request at the last Congress was for the constitution of a Royal Commission. Unfortunately, the

authorities in England have not seen their way to grant a Royal Commission. They say it will upset the authorities here; that it will interfere with the prestige and control of the Government here. I think that this is a very poor compliment to our rulers on this side. If I understand a man like Lord Dufferin, of such vast experience in administration, knowing, as he does, what it is to rule an Empire, it would be impossible for him to be daunted and frightened by a Commission making enquiries here. I think this argument a very poor one, and we must once more say that to the inhabitants of India a Parliamentary Committee taking evidence in England alone can never be satisfactory, for the simple reason that what the Committee will learn by the ear will never enable them to understand what they ought to see with their eyes, if they are to realize what the evidence of the witnesses really means. Still, however, it is so far satisfactory that, notwithstanding the change of government and the vicissitudes which this poor Parliamentary Committee has undergone, it is the intention of Parliament that under any and all circumstances a Committee shall be appointed. At the same time, this Committee in future ties the hands of the authorities here to a large extent and prevents us from saying all we do really want,

LEGISLATIVE COUNCILS FOR N. W. PROVINCES AND THE PUNJAB.

Another resolution on which we must report some progress was to the effect that the N. W. Provinces and the Punjab ought also to have Legislative Councils of their own. We know that the Government has just given a Legislative Council to the N. W. Provinces, and we hope that this progress may extend further and satisfy our wishes as to other provinces also.

THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION.

The fourth resolution had regard to the Service question. In this matter, we really seem to have made some distinct progress. The Public Service Commission is now sitting, and if one thing more than another can prove that the Government is sincere in its desire to do something for us, the appointment of such a Commission is that thing. You perhaps remember the words which our noble Viceroy used at Poona. He said:

"However, I will say that, from first to last, I have been a strong advocate for the appointment of a Committee or Commission of this sort, and that when succeeding Governments in England changed, I have on each occasion warmly impressed upon the Secretary of State the necessity of persevering in the nomination of a Commission. I am happy to think that, in response to my earnest representations on the subject, Her Majesty's present Ministers have determined to take action. I, consequently, do not really see what more during the short period I have been amongst you, the Government of India could have done for that most important and burning question, which was perpetually agitating your mind and was being put forward by the natives, as an alleged injustice done to the educated native classes of this country, in not allowing them adequate employment in the Public Service. I do not think you can point out to me any other question which so occupied public attention or was nearer to the hearts of your people. Now the door to inquiry has been opened, and it only remains for you, by the force of logic of your representations and of the evidence you may be able to submit, to make good your case; if you succeed in doing so, all I can say is, that nobody will be better pleased than myself. In regard to other matters, which have been equally prominent in your newspapers and your addresses, and which have been so constantly discussed by your associations, I have also done my best to secure for you an ample investigation.

LORD DUFFERIN AND THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION.

There we have his own words as to his intentions and the efforts he made to get this Commission. This should convince us of his good faith and sympathy with us. When I think of Lord Dufferin, not only as our present. Viceroy, but bearing in mind all we know of him in his past career, I should hesitate to believe that he could be a

man devoid of the deepest sympathy with any people struggling to advance and improve their political condition. Some of you may remember one or two extracts, which I gave in my Holbern Town Hull speech from Lord Dufferin's letters to the Times, and I cannot conceive that a person of such warm sympathies could fail to sympathise with us. But I may say this much that, feeling as I naturally do some interest about the views and intentions of our Vicercys and Governors, I have had the opportunity of getting some information from friends on whom I can rely and who are in a position to know the truth; and I am able to say in the words of one of these friends that 'the Viceroy's instincts are eminently liberal, and he regards with neither jealousy nor alarm the desire of the educated classes to be allowed a larger share in the administration of their own affairs. Indeed, he considers it very creditable to them that they should do so.' As Viceroy, he has to consider all sides of a question from the ruler's point of view, and to act as he thinks safe and proper. But we may be sure that we have his deep and very genuine sympathy, and we may fairly claim and expect much good at his hands.

HOME AUTHORITIES AND PUBLIC BERVICE COMMISSION.

But yet further I would enquire whether the intentions of the Secretary of State for India and of the other home authorities are equally favourable to our claims. The resolution on its very face tells us what the intention of the Secretary of State is. It says: 'In regard to its object, the Commission would, broadly speaking, be required to devise a scheme which may reasonably be hoped to possess the necessary elements of finality, and to do full justice to the claims of natives of India to a higher and more extensive employment in the Public Service.'

There we have the highest authority making a declaration that he desires to do full justice to the claims of the natives of India. Now, our only reply is that we are thankful for the enquiry, and we hope that we may be able to satisfy all, that what we ask is both reasonable and right.

INTENTION OF OUR RULERS.

As another proof of the intentions of our British rulers, as far back as 53 years ago, when the natives of India did not themselves fully understand their rights, the statesmen of England, of their own free will, decided what the policy of England ought to be towards India. Long and important was the debate; the question was discussed from all points of view; the danger of giving political power to the people, the insufficiency of their capacity and other considerations were all fully weighed, and the conclusion was come to, in unmistakable and unambiguous terms, that the policy of British rule should be a policy of, justice (Cheers), the policy of the advancement of one-sixth of the human race (Cheers); India was to be regarded as a trust placed by God in their hands, and in the due discharge of that trust, they resolved that they would follow the 'plain path of duty,' as Mr. Macaulay called it; on that occasion he said, virtually, that he would rather see the people of India free and able to govern themselves than that they would remain the bondsmen of Great Britain and the obsequious toadies of British officials. (Cheers.) This was the essence of the policy of 1833, and in the Act of that year it was laid down: 'That no native of the said territories, nor any natural-born subject of His Majesty resident therein, shall, by reason only of his religion, place of birth, descent, color or any of them, be

disabled from holding any place, office or employment under the said Company.' (Prolonged cheering.)

We do not, we could not, ask for more than this; and all we have to press upon the Commission and Government is that they should now honestly grant us in practice here what Great Britain freely conceded to us 50 years ago, when we ourselves were too little enlightened even to ask for it. (Loud cheers.)

BOYAL PROCLAMATION.

We next passed through a time of trouble, and the British arms were triumphant. When they had completely surmounted all their difficulties and completely vanquished all their adversaries, the English nation came forward, animated by the same high and noble resolves, as before, and gave us that glorious Proclamation, which we should for ever prize and reverence as our Magna Charta, greater even than the Charter of 1833. I need not repeat that glorious Proclamation now, for it is engraven on all your hearts (Loud cheers); but it constitutes such a grand and glorious charter of our liberties that I think every child, as it begins to gather intelligence and to lisp its mother-tongue, ought to be made to commit it to memory. (Cheers). In that Proclamation, we have again a confirmation of the policy of 1833 and something more. In it are embodied the germs of all that we aim at now, of all that we can desire hereafter. (Cheers.) We have only to go before the Government and the Commission now sitting and repeat it, and say that all we want is only what has already been granted to us in set terms by that Proclamation, and that all we now ask for is that the great and generous concessions therein made to us in words shall actually be made ours by deeds. (Loud cheers.) I will not,

however, enter into further details, for it is a subject on which I should be led into speaking for hours, and even then I should fail to convey to you an adequate idea of all that is in my heart. I have said enough to show our rulers that our case is complete and has been made out by themselves. (Cheere.) It is enough for me, therefore, to stop at this point.

ENLARGEMENT OF LEGISLATIVE COUNCILS.

Another resolution is the improvement and enlargement of the Legislative Councils, and the introduction into them of an elective element, but that is one on which my predecessor in the chair has so ably descanted that I do not think I should take up more of your time with it. need only say that in this matter we hope to make a further advance, and shall try to place before our rulers what we consider a possible scheme for the introduction of an elective element into the Legislative Councils. I need not say that if this representation is introduced, the greatest benefit will be conferred upon the Government itself, because at present whatever Acts they pass that do not quite please us, we, whether rightly or wrongly, grumble and grumble against the Government, and the Government only. It is true that we have some of our own people in Councils. But we have no right to demand any explanation, even from them; they are not our representatives. and the Government cannot relieve themselves from any dissatisfaction we may feel against any law we don't like. If our own representatives make a mistake and get a law passed, which we do not want, the Government at any rate will escape the greater portion of the consequent unpopularity. They will say -here are your own representatives : we believed that they represented your wishes, and we passed the law. On the other hand, with all the intelligence, all the superior knowledge of the English officials, let them come as angels from heaven, it is impossible for them to enter into the feelings of the people, and feel as they feel, and enter into their minds. (Cheers.) It is not any disparagement of them, but in the nature of things it connot be otherwise. If you have, therefore, your representatives to represent your feelings, you will then have an opportunity of getting something which is congenial and satisfactory to yourself; and what will be satisfactory to you must also be satisfactory to and good for the Government itself. (Cheers.)

REPRESENTATION IN PARLIAMENT.

This brings me also to the point of representation in Parliament. All the most fundamental questions on which hinge the entire form and character of the administration here are decided by Parliament. No matter what it is, Legislative Councils or the Services,—nothing can be reformed until Parliament moves and enacts modifications of the existing Acts. Not one single genuine Indian voice is there in Parliament to tell at least what the native view is on any question. This was most forcibly urged upon me by English gentlemen, who are in Parliament themselves; they said they always felt it to be a great defect in Parliament, that it did not contain one single genuine representative of the people of India.

POVERTY OF INDIA.

One of the questions which will be placed before this Congress and will be discussed by them, is the deep sympathy which this Congress feels for the poverty of the people. It is often understood and thought that, when we struggle for admission into the Services, it is simply to

gratify the aspirations of the few educated. But if you examine this question thoroughly, you will find that this matter of the Public Services will go far to settle the problem of the poverty of the Indian people. One thing I congratulate myself upon. I don't trouble you with any testimony about the poverty of India. You have the testimony of Sir Evelyn Baring given only a couple of years ago, who told us in plain terms that the people of India were extremely poor, and also of the present Finance Minister who repeats those words. But amongst the several causes, which are at the bottom of our sufferings, this one and that the most important cause, is beginning to be realized by our rulers, and that is a step of the most hopeful and promising kind. In the discussion about the currency, the Secretary of State for India, in a letter to the Treasury of the 26th January 1886, makes certain remarks which show that our rulers now begin to understand and to try to grapple with the problem; and are not ostrich-like. shutting their eyes to it. I was laughed at when I first mooted the question of the poverty of India, and assigned as one of its causes the employment of an expensive foreign agency. But now the highest authority emphasizes this view. The Secretary of State, in the letter just referred to, said :-

'The position of India in relation to taxation and the sources of the public revenues is very peculiar, not merely from the habits of the people and their strong aversion to change, which is more specially exhibited towards new forms of taxation, but likewise from the character of the government, which is in the hands of foreigners, who hold all the principal administrative offices, and form so large a part of the Army. The impatience of new taxation which would have to be borne, wholly as a consequence of the foreign rule imposed on the country and virtually to meet additions

to charges arising outside of the country would constitute a political danger, the real magnitude of which, it is to be feared, is not at all appreciated by persons who have no knowledge of, or concern in, the government of India, but which those responsible for that government have long regarded as of the most serious order.

We may be sure that the public conscience of England will ask why the natives of India, after a hundred years of British rule, are so poor; and as John Bull, in a cartoon in *Punch* is represented as doing, will wonder that India is a beggar when he thought she had a mint of money.

INDIA'S FABULOUS WEALTH.

Unfortunately, this idea of India's wealth is utterly delusive, and if a proper system of representation in the Councils be conceded, our representatives will then be able to make clear to these Councils and to our rulers those causes which are operating to undermine our wealth and prosperity, and guide the government to the proper remedies for the greatest of all evils-the poverty of the masses. All the benefits we have derived from British rule, all the noble projects of our British rulers, will go for nothing if after all the country is to continue sinking deeper and deeper into the abyse of destitution. At one time, I was denounced as a pessimist; but now that we have it on the authority of our rulers themselves that we are very poor, it has become the right, as well as the duty, of this Congress to set forth its convictions, both as to this widespread destitution and the primary steps needful for its alleviation. Nothing is more lear to the heart of England-and I speak from actual knowledge-than India's welfare; and if we only speak out bud enough, and persistently enough. to reach that busy heart, we shall not speak in vain. (Prolonged cheering.)

CONCLUSION.

There will be several other questions brought before the Congress at their Committee meetings, during the next three days, and I am sure from the names of the delegates, as far as I am informed, that they will prosecute their deliberations with all possible moderation, I am sure that they will fully appreciate the benefits of the rule under which they live, while the fact that our rulers are willing to do whatever we can show them to be necessary for our welfare, should be enough to encourage all in the work. I do not know that I need now detain you with any further remarks. You have now some idea of what progress has been made in respect of the matters which were discussed last year. I hope we may congratulate ourselves next year that we have made further progress in attaining the objects alike of the past year's resolutions and those we may this year pass. I for one am hopeful that, if we are only true to ourselves, if we only do justice to ourselves and the noble education which has been given to us by our rulers and speak freely, with the freedom of speech which has been granted to us, we may fairly expect our government to listen to us and to grant us our reasonable demands. (Loud chears.)

I will conclude this short address by repeating my sincere thanks to all of you for having placed me in this honourable position and by again returning thanks to our Bengal brethren on behalf of all the delegates whom they have so cordially welcomed here.

Ninth Congress-Lahore-1893.

DADABHAI'S INTEREST IN THE PUNJAB.

Ladies and Gentlemen,—I need not say how deeply I feel the honour you have done me by electing me a second time to preside over your deliberations. I thank you sincerely for this honour. In the performance of the onerous duties of this high position I shall need your great indulgence and support, and I have no doubt that I shall receive them. (Applause.)

I am much pleased that I have the privilege of presiding at the very first Congress held in Punjab, as I had at Calcutta in 1886. I have taken, as you may be aware, some interest in the material condition of Punjab. In my first letter to the Secretary of State for India in 1880 on the material condition of India, I took Punjab for my illustration, and worked out in detail its total annual income and the absolute wants of its common labourer. As to the loyalty of the Punjabis—Hindus, Sikha, or Muhammadars—it has proved true through the most fiery ordeal on a most trying and critical occasion. (Applause.)

The occasion of this Session of the Congress in Punjab has been a most happy coincidence. On Punjab rests a double responsibility, one external and one internal. If ever that hated threatened invasion of the Russians comes on, Punjab will have to bear the first brunt of the battle, and contented under British rule, as I hope India will te, Punjab will fight to her last man in loyalty and patriotism—loyalty to the British Power, and patriotism to protect the hearths and homes of her beloved country of India. (Loud applause.)

PUNJAR'S RESPONSIBILITY IN SAFEGUARDING THE EMPIRE.

The internal responsibility which at present rests upon the Punjabis and other warrior races of India is this. have always understood and believed that manliness was associated with love of justice, generosity and intellect. So our British tutors have always taught us and have always claimed for themselves such character. cannot understand how any one could or should deny to you and other manly races of India the same characteristics of human nature. But yet we are gravely told that on the contrary the manliness of these races of India is associated with meanness, unpatriotic selfishness, and inferiority of intellect, and that therefore like the dog in the manger, you and the other warrior races will be mean enough to oppose the resolution about Simultaneous Examinations, and unpatriotic and selfish enough to prevent the general progress of all India. (Shame.)

Can offence and insult to a people, and that people admitted to be a manly people, go any further? Look at the numbers of Punjabis studying in England. Now this happy coincidence of this meeting in Punjab: you, considering every son of India as an Indian and a compatriot, have invited me—not a Punjabi, not a Muhammadan, nor a Sikh—from a distance of thousands of miles to enjoy the honour of presiding over this Congress, and with this gathering from all parts of India as the guests of the Punjabis, you conclusively once for all and for ever, set the matter at rest that the Punjabis with all other Indians do earnestly desire the Simultaneous Examinations as the only method in which justice can be done to all the people of India, as this Congress has repeatedly resolved. And moreover, Funjab has the credit of holding the very first public

meeting in favour of the Resolution passed by the House of Commons for Simultaneous Examinations, (Cheers.)

When I use the words English or British, I mean all the peoples of the United Kingdom.

DEATH OF JUSTICE TELANG.

It is our melancholy duty to record the loss of one of our greatest patriots, Justice Kasinath Trimbak Telang. It is a heavy loss to India; you all know what a high place he held in our estimation for his great ability, learning, eloquence, sound judgment, wise counsel and leadership. I have known him and worked with him for many years, and I have not known any one more earnest and devoted to the cause of our country's welfare. He was one of the most active founders of this Congress, and was its first hard-working Secretary in Bombay. From the very first he had taken a warm interest and active part in our work, and even after he became a Judge, his sound advice was always at our disposal.

RECENT HIGHER APPOINTMENTS TO INDIANS.

I am glad Mr. Mahadhev Govind Ranade is appointed in his place. (Cheers.) It does much credit indeed to Lord Harris for the selection, and I am sure Mr. Ranade will prove himself worthy of the post. I have known him long, and his ability and learning are well-known. (Applause.) His sound judgment and earnest work in various ways have done valuable services to the cause of India. (Applause.)

I am also much pleased that an Indian, Mr. Pramada Charan Bannerji, succeeds Mr. Justice Mahmud at Allahabad. (Cheers.)

I feel thankful to the Local Governments and the Indian Government for such appointments, and to Lord Kimberley for his sanction of them among which I may include also the decision about the Sanskrit Chair at Madras. (Applause.) I feel the more thankful to Lord Kimberley, for I am afraid, and I hope I may be wrong, that there has been a tendency of not only not loyally carrying out the rule about situations of Rs. 200 and upwards to be given to Indians, but that even such posts as have been already given to them are being snatched away from their hands. Lord Kimberley's firmness in not allowing this is therefore so much the more worthy of praise and our thankfulness.

Lord Kimberley also took prompt action to prevent the retrograde step in connection with the Jury system in Bengal for which Mr. Paul and other friends interested themselves in Parliament; and also to prevent the retrograde interference with the Chairmanship of Municipalities, at the instance of our British Committee in London. I do hope that in the same spirit Lord Kimberley will consider our representations about the extension of the Jury system.

A MESSAGE FROM CENTRAL PINSBURY.

Before proceeding further, let me perform the gratifying task of communicating to you a message of sympathy and good-will which I have brought for you from Central Finsbury. (Lord applause and three cheers for the electors of Central Finsbury.) On learning that I had accepted your invitation to preside, the Council of the Central Finsbury United Liberal and Radical Association pessed a Resolution, which I have now the pleasure of placing before you, signed by Mr. Joseph Walton, the Chairman, and forwarded to me by the Honorary Secretary, Mr. R. M. H. Griffith, one of my best friends and supporters.

The Central Finsbury United Liberal and Radical Association, in view of Mr. Naoroji's visit to India at the end of November next, have passed the following Resolution:—

- "1. That the General Council of the Central Finsbury United Liberal and Radical Association desire to record their high appreciation of the admirable and most exemplary manner in which Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji has performed his duties as representative of this constituency in the House of Commons and learning that be is, in the course of a few months, to visit India to preside over the Ninth Session of the Indian National Congress, request him to communicate to that body an expression of their full sympathy alike with all the efforts of that Congress for the welfare of India, and with the Resolution which has been recently passed by the House of Commons (in the adoption of which Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji has been so largely instrumental) in favour of holding Simultaneous Examinations in India and in Britain of candidates for all the Indian Civil Services, and further express the earnest hope that full effect will, as speedily as possible, be given by the Government to this measure of justice which has been already too long delayed. (Applause.)
 - "2. That a copy of this Resolution be forwarded to Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji,

"(Signed) JOSEPH WALTON, Chairman of Meeting."

The Resolution has been sent to Mr. Naoroji with an accompanying letter, which says:—

"Central Finsbury United Liberal and Radical Association, 20, St. John Street Road, Clerkenwell, London, E.C.

"DEAR SIE,-I have been directed to forward to you the enclosed copy of Resolution passed at the last meeting of the Council of this Association.

"Joining in the hope of my colleagues that the result of our efforts may be of material and lasting good and wishing you a fruitful journey, with a speedy return to us, the constituents you so worthily represent in Parliament.

"I am, yours faithfully, "R. M. H. GRIFFITHS, Honorary Secretary.

"The Honourable Dadabhai Naoroji, M. P.,
House of Commons, Westminster,
August 1893."

ANGLO-INDIAN VIEWS ON THE EDUCATED NATIVES.

The fact is, and it stands to reason, that the thinking portion and the educated, whether in English or in their own learning, of all classes and creeds, in their common nationality as Indians, are naturally becoming the leaders of the people. Those Indians, specially, who have received a good English education, have the double advantage of knowing their own countrymen as well as understanding and appreciating the merits of British men and British rule, with the result, as Sir Bartle Frere has well put it: "And now wherever I go I find the best exponents of the policy of the English Government, and the most able co-adjutors in adjusting that policy to the peculiarities of the natives of India, among the ranks of the educated natives." (Applause.)

Or as the Government of India has said: "To the minds of at least the educated among the people of India—and the number is rapidly increasing—any idea of the subversion of the British power is abhorrent." (Hear, hear.) Government of India's Despatch, dated 8th June, 1880, to Secretary of State for India.

And as Lord Dufferin, as Viceroy of India, has said in his Jubilee Speech: "We are surrounded on all sides by native gentlemen of great attainments and intelligence, from whose hearty, loyal and honest co-operation we may hope to derive the greatest benefit." (Applause.)

It would be the height of unwisdom, after themselves creating this great new force, "which is rapidly increasing "as "the best exponents and co-adjutors," as "abhorring the subversion of the British power," and from whose "hearty, loyal and honest co-operation the greatest benefit can arise," that the ruling authorities should drive

this force into opposition instead of drawing it to their own side by taking it into confidence and thereby strengthening their own foundation. This Congress represents the Aristocracy of intellect and the New Political Life, created by themselves, which is at present deeply grateful to its Creator. Common sense tells you—have it with you, instead of against you.

SIMULTANEOUS EXAMINATIONS IN ENGLAND AND INDIA.

With regard to your other most important Resolution, to hold examinations simultaneously both in India and England for all the Civil Services, it would not have become a practical fact by the Resolution of the House of Commons of 2nd June last, had it not been to a large extent for your persevering but constitutional demand for it made with moderation during all the years of your existence. (Applause.) I am glad that in the last Budget debate the Under-Secretary of State for India has given us this assurance:—

"It may be in the recollection of the House that, in my official capacity, it was my duty earlier in the Session to oppose a Resolution in favour of Simultaneous Examinations, but the House of Commons thought differently from the Government. That once done, I need hardly say that there is no disposition on the part of the Secretary of State for India or myself to attempt to inwart or defeat the effect of the vote of the House of Commons, on that Resolution." (Hear, hear and applause.) Debates. Vol. XVII., 1893. p. 1835.

We all cannot but feel thankful to the Secretary of State, Lord Kimberley and the Under-Secretary of State, Mr. George Russell, for this satisfactory assurance.

I may just remark here in passing that I am not able to understand why the higher Civil and Educational Medical Services are handed over to Military Medical Officers, instead of there being a separate Civil Medical Service, dealt with by Simultaneous Examinations in India and England, as we expect to have for the other Civil Services. I also may ask why some higher Civil Engineering posts are given to Military Engineers.

BRITISH INTEREST IN INDIAN APPAIRS.

One thing more I may say: Your efforts have succeeded not only in creating an interest in Indian affairs, but also a desire among the people of the United Kingdom to promote our true welfare. (Hear, hear.) Had you achieved in the course of the past eight years only this much and no more, you would have amply justified your existence. (Cheers.) You have proved two things—that you are moderate and reasonable in what you ask, and that the British people are willing to grant what is shown to be reasonable.

It is not necessary for me to enlarge upon the subject of your justification further than this, that all the Resolutions you have formulated have more or less advanced; that they are receiving attentive consideration is testified by the continuous discussions that have been going on in the Press and on the platform both here and in England. In England itself many a cause, great or small, has to agitate long before making an impression. What struggles have there been in Parliament itself and out of Parliament for the Corn Laws, Slavery Laws, Factory Laws, Parliamentary Reforms, and many others, in short, in every important Legislation? We must keep courage, persevere, and "never say die." (Loud applause.)

RECEPTION TO DADABHAI NAOROJI IN PARLIAMENT.

One more result, though not the least, of your labours, I shall briefly touch upon. The effect which your labours produced on the minds of the people of the United Kingdom has helped largely an Indian to find his way into the Great Imperial Parliament, and in confirmation of this, I need not go further than remind you of the generous action of Central Finsbury and the words of the Resolution of the Council of its United Liberal and Radical Association which I have already placed before you. (Applause.)

As you are all aware, though it was long my wish, my friend the Hon. Mr. Lal Mohan Ghose made the first attempt, and twice contested Deptford, with no little chances of success, but adverse circumstances proved too strong for him. We owe a debt of gratitude to Deptford, and also to Holborn, which gave me the first lift, and in my contest there, though a forlorn hope, the Liberal electors exerted their utmost, and gave me a very satisfactory poll. (Cheers.)

My mind also turns to those good friends of India—Bright, Fawcett, Bradlaugh and others, (Applause)—who pioneered for us, prepared for the coming of this result, and helped us when we were helpless.

This naturally would make you desire and lead me to say a few words about the character of the reception given to the Indian Member in the House of Commons. It was everything that could be desired. (Cheers.) The welcome was general from all sides, as the interest in Indian affairs has been much increasing, and there is a desire to do justice to India. (Reneved cheering.) Mr. Gladstone on two occasions not only expressed his satis-

faction to me at finding an Indian in the House, but expressed also a strong wish to see several more.

The attendance on Indian questions has been good, and what is still better, the interest in the Indian debates has been carnest, and with a desire to understand and judge rightly. India has indeed fared well this Session, notwithstanding its other unprecedentedly heavy work.

PARLIAMENTARY INTEREST IN INDIAN QUESTIONS.

Thankful as we are to many Members of all sides, I am bound to express our special thanks to the Irish, Labour and Radical Members. (Lond cheers.) I heard from Mr. Davitt, two days before my departure, "Don't forget to tell your colleagues at the Congress that every one of Ireland's Home Rule Members in Parliament is at your back in the cause of the Indian People." (Prolonged cheering.) All our friends who had been working for us before are not only as zealous and staunch as ever, but more active and earnest. I cannot do better than to record in this place with thankfulness the names of all those Members from all parties who voted for the Resolution of 2nd June last in favour of Simultaneous Examinations in England and India for all the Indian Civil Services.*

As the ballot fell to Mr. Herbert Paul, (Three cheers for Mr. Paul.) he, as you are aware, moved the Resolution, and you know also how well and ably he advocated the cause, and has ever since kept up a watchful interest in and eye on it. I may mention here that I had sent a whip or notice to every Member of the House of Commons for this debate.

^{*} The names are omitted.

Motion made, and Question, proposed, "That Mr. Speaker do now leave the Chair":

Amendment proposed, to leave out from the word "That" to the end of the Question, in order to add the words "all open Competitive Examinations heretofore held in England alone for appointments to the Civil Services of India shall henceforth be held simultaneously both in India and England, such Examinations in both countries being identical in their nature, and all who compete being finally classified in one list according to merit:—(Mr. Paul.)

Question put, "That the words proposed to be left out stand part of the Question":-

The House divided; Ayes 76, Noes 84.

I may say here a few words about the progress we are making in our Parliamentary position. By the exertions of Sir William Wedderburn, (Applause.) Mr. Caine, (Applause.) and other friends, an Indian Parliamentary Committee has been formed, of which Sir William Wedderburn is the Chairman and Mr. Herbert Roberts is the Secretary. (Applause.) The Committee is not yet fully formed. It will, we hope, be a larger General Committee of our supporters with a small Executive Committee, like other similar Committees that exist in the House for other causes. I give the names of the Members now fully enrolled in this Committee :- Mr. Jacob Bright, Mr. Caine, Mr. John E. Ellis, Dr. W. A. Hunter, Mr. Illingworth, Sir Wilfred Lawson, Mr. Walter B. McLaren, Mr. Swift MacNeill, Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji, Mr. H. Paul, Sir Joseph Pease, Mr. T. H. Roberts, Mr. R. T. Reid, Mr. Samuel Smith, Mr. C. E. Schwann, Mr. Eugene Wason, Mr. Webb, Sir W. Wedderburn.

Besides these, there are a large number of Members (exclusive of the 70 or 80 Irish Members already referred to) whom we count as supporters, and hope to see fully enrolled Members on our Indian Parliamentary Committee before long.

On the eve of my departure, the committee invited me to a private dinner at the House, and gave me a hearty God-speed and wishes of success, with an expression of their earnest desire to see justice done to India. (Applause.)

Before leaving this subject of Parliament, let me offer to Mr. George Russell, the Under-Secretary of State for India, my sincere thanks for his sympathetic and cordial treatment of me in all I had to do with him, and for his personal good feeling and kindness towards me. (Applause.)

FUTURE OF THE CONGRESS.

With all that has been done by the Congress, we have only begun our work. We have yet much and very much more work to do till that political, moral and material condition is attained by us which will raise us really to the level of our British fellow-citizens in prosperity and political elevation, and thereby consolidate the British power on the imperishable foundation of justice, mutual benefit and the contentment and loyalty of the people.

The reason why I have dwelt upon our past life is that it shows that our future is promising and hopeful, that our faith in the instinctive love of justice and fair play of the people of the United Kingdom is not misplaced, and that if we are true to Jourselves and learn from the British character the self-sacrifice and perseverance which the British so largely possess, we need never

despair of obtaining every justice and reform which we may reasonably claim as our birthright as British citizens. (Cheers.)

What then is to be our future work? We have yet to surmount much prejudice, prepossessions, and misapprehension of our true, material and political condition. But our course is clear and straight before us. On the one hand we need not despair or quarrel with those who are against us; we should on the other hand go on steadily, perseveringly and moderately with the representation of our grievances and just rights.

REFORM OF LEGISLATIVE COUNCILS.

In connection with the question of our Legislative Councils we have yet very much work before us. Not only are the present rules unsatisfactory even for the fulfilment of the present Act itself as interpreted in the House by Mr. Gladstone, not only have we yet to obtain the full "living representation" of the people of India in these Councils, but also much further extension of their present extremely restricted powers which render the Councils almost a more name. By the Act of 1861 (19), without the permission of the Governor-General no member can introduce any measure (which virtually amounts to exclusion) about matters affecting the public debt or public revenues or for imposing any charge on such revenue, or the discipline and maintenance of any part of Her Majesty's Military or Naval forces. This means that, as far as the spending of our money is concerned, the Legislative Council is simply as if it did not exist at all. (Cries of shame, shame.) No motion can be made by any member unless such motion be for leave to introduce some measure or have reference to some

measure actually introduced thereunto. Thus there is no opportunity of calling any Department or Government to account for their acts. (Sec. 52.) All things which shall be done by the Secretary of State shall have the same force and validity as if this Act (1861) had not been passed. Here is full arbitrary power. By the Act (1892, Sec. 52), no member shall have power to submit or propose any resolution or to divide the Council in respect of any such financial discussion, or the answer to any question asked under the authority of this Act or the rules made under this Act. Such is the poor character of the extent of concession made to discuss finances or to put questions. Rules made under this Act (1892) shall not be subject to alteration or amendment at meetings for the purpose of making Laws and Regulations. Also (Act 1861, Sec. 22) the Secretary of State for India can by an Act of Parliament raise any money in the United Kingdom for the Government of India, and thus pile up any amount of burden on the Indian tax-payer. without his having a word to say upon it. We are to all intents and purposes under an arbitrary rule, and are just only about at the threshold of a true Legislative Council.

INDIAN BUDGET DEBATE.

Amongst the most important work of the Councils is the Budget. What is the condition of the Budget debate both here and in England? The House of Commons devotes week after week for supply of the English Budget, when every item of expenditure is discussed or may be altered; and not only that, but the conduct of the department during the year is brought under review, which becomes an important check to any arbitrary, un-

just or illegal action. But what is the Indian Budget debate or procedure ? Here the Financial Statement is made by the Finance Minister. Then a week or so after, a few speeches are made to no practial effect, no practical motion or resolution, and the whole thing is over. (Shame.) Somewhat similar is the fate of the Indian Budget in the House of Commons, with the advantage of proposing any amendments and, at least, of having one amendment with practical effect of a division, or vote. But there is also the important advantage of bringing in any Indian measure or motion in the course of the Session in accordance with the rules and orders of the House like any other measure or motion. I felt thankful that at the last Budget debate, though there was the usual additional agony of the last day of the Session, yet there was not also the agony of scanty attendance, thanks to the increasing interest in the House in Indian matters and to the friends of India. (Applause.) In both places no practical check on any waste, extravagant or unnecessary expenditure. I am not at present discussing the merits of such Councils and restriction of powers, but that such matters will require your attention and consideration, that even in this one matter of Legislative Councils you have yet to secure Mr. Gladstone's " real living representative voice of the people" being heard upon every detail of the Government of British India. (Hear, hear.)

INDIAN REPRESENTATION IN PARLIAMENT.

There is, however, another important matter—I mean the direct representation from India in the Imperial Parliament. (Applause.) As all our Imperial questions and relations between India and the United Kingdom, all amendments of Parliamentary Acts already passed and existing, or all important Acts that may be and can be only passed hereafter in Parliament, and all our ultimate appeals can be settled in Parliament alone, it is of extreme importance that there should be some reasonable direct representation from India in the House of Commons and the representatives may be Indians or Europeans as long as they are the choice directly of Indian Constituencies, just as you have delegates to this Congress of Indians or Europeans.

Central Finsbury has been generous to us; other constituencies may also extend to us such generous consideration and help, but it is not fair that we should be left to depend upon the generosity of English Constituencies. (Hear, hear.) Under present circumstances we have a right to have direct representation. I hope the time is not very distant when we may successfully appeal to Parliament to grant us the true status of British political citizenship. (Cheers.) I do not overlook that several matters will have to be considered, and I am not at present placing before you a cut-and-dry scheme. My only object is to draw your attention to this vital subject.

POVERTY OF INDIA.

But the greatest question before you, the question of all questions, is the Poverty of India. (Hear, hear.) This will be, I am much afraid, the great future trouble both of the Indian people and of the British, Rulers. It is the rock ahead. In this matter we are labouring under one great disadvantage. This poverty we attribute to the system, and not to the officials who administer that system. (Hear, hear and applause). But unfortunately for

us, for themselves and the British people, the officials (with clear-sighted exceptions of course) make the matter personal, and do not consider impartially and with calmness of judgment this all important subject. The present Duke of Devonshire has well put this state of the official mind, which is peculiarly applicable in connection with this subject. He said: "The Anglo-Indian, whatever may be his merits, and no doubt they are just, is not a person who is distinguished by an exceptionally calm judgment."—Speech, H. of C., 23rd August, 1883.

Mr. Gladstone also lately, in the Opium debate, remarked:—" That it was a sad thing to say, but unquestionably it happens not infrequently in human affairs, that those who from their situation ought to know the most and the best, yet from prejudice and prepossessions knew the least and the worst." (Hear, hear.)

This has been our misfortune with officials. But there have been and are some thoughtful officials who know the truth, like Lord Lawrence and others in the past, and in the present times like the latest Finance Ministers, Lord Cromer, Sir Auckland Colvin and Sir David Barbour. who have rerceived and stated the terrible truth that British India is extremely poor. Among other officials several have testified to the sad fact, in "Confidential Reports," which Government do not publish-and this after a hundred years of the work of these officials under the present unnatural system. The system being unnatural, were the officials the very angels themselves, or as many Gladstones, they cannot prevent the evils of the system and cannot do much good. When Mr. Bayley and I moved for a Royal Commission of Inquiry, it was said that I had not produced evidence of poverty, it was

not so; but it is difficult to make those see who would not see. (Laughter and applause.) To every member of the House I had previously sent my papers of all necessary evidence on the annual income and absolute wants of the people of India. I do not know whether any of those who opposed us had taken the trouble to read this, and it was unfair to expect that in making out a prima facie case for our motion, I should reiterate, with the unnecessary waste of some hours of the precious time of the House, all the evidence stready in their hands.

POVERTY OF INDIA & OFFICIAL STATISTICS.

You remember my papers on the Poverty of India, and I have asked for Returns to bring up information to date, so that a fair comparison of the present with the past may enable the House to come to a correct judgment. I am sorry the Government of India refuses to make a return of a Note prepared so late as 1881 by Sir David Barbour, upon which the then Finance Minister (Lord Cromer) based his statement in his speech in 1882 about the extreme poverty of the mass of the people. I do not see why the Government of India should refuse. The Note, I am told, is an important document. Government for its own sake should be ready to give it. In 1880, the present Duke of Devonshire, then Secretary of State for India, readily gave me some statistics and information prepared by Mr. F. Danvers, though I did not know of their existence. This enabled me to point out some errors and to explain some points which had been misunderstood. Such information is extremely necessary, not merely for the sake of the exceedingly poor masses of the people, but for the very stability of the British power itself.

The question of the Poverty of India should be fully raised, grappled with and settled. The Government ought to deal boldly and broadly with it. Let there be a return in detail, correctly calculated, made every year of the total annual income of all British India, per head of population, and of the requirements of a labourer to live in working health, and not as a starved beast of burden. Unless such complete and accurate information is given every year in detail, it is idle and useless to make mere unfounded assertions that India is prospering.

It must also be remembered that Lord Cromer's annual average of not more than Rs. 27 per head is for the whole population, including the rich and all classes. and not what the great mass of the population can or do actually get. Out of the total annual income of British India all that portion must be deducted which belongs to European Planters, Manufacturers, and Mine owners. and not to the people of British India, excepting the poor wages they receive, to grudge to give away their own country's wealth, to the benefit of a foreign people. Another portion is enjoyed in and carried out from the country on a far larger share per head by many who are not the children of the soil-official and non-official. Then the upper and middle classes of the Indians themselves receive much more than their average share. The great mass of the poor people therefore have a much lower average than even the wretched " not more than Rs. 27 " per head.

You know that I had calculated the average of the income as being Rs. 20 per head per annum, and when Lord Cromer's statement of Rs. 27 appeared, I requested him to give me his calculations but he refused. However,

Rs. 20 or "not more than Rs. 27"—how wretched is the condition of a country of such income, after a hundred years of the most costly administration, and can such a thing last? (Cries of "no, no".)

It is remarkable that there is no phase of the Indian problem which clear-headed and fair-minded Anglo-Indians have not already seen and indicated. More than a hundred years ago, in 1787, Sir John Shore wrote these remarkable, far-seeing, and prophetic words:—

"Whatever allowance we may make for the increased industry of the subjects of the State, owing to the enhanced demand for the produce of it (supposing the demand to be enhanced), there is reason to conclude that the benefits are more than counter-balanced by evils inseparable from the system of a remote foreign dominion."—Parl. Ret. 377 of 1812.

And these words of prophecy are true to the present day. I pass over what has been said by other European Officials at different times during the hundred years. I come to 1886, and here is a curious and complete response after a hundred years by the Secretary of State for India. In a despatch (26th January, 1886) to the Treasury, he makes a significant admission about the consequences of the character of the Government of the foreign rule of Britain. He says:—

"The position of India in relation to taxation and the sources of the public revenues is very peculiar, not merely from the habits of the people and their strong aversion to change which is more specially exhibited to new forms of taxation, but likewise from the character of the Government, which is in the hands of foreigners, who hold all the principal administrative offices and form so large a part of the Army. The imposition of new taxation which would have to be borne wholly as a consequence of the foreign rule imposed on the country and virtually to meet additions to charges arising outside of the country would constitute a political danger, the real magnitude of which, it is to be

feared, is not at all, appreciated by persons who have no knowledge of or concern in the Government of India, but which those responsible for that Government have long regarded as of the most serious order."

What a strange confirmation, fulfilment and explanation of the very reason of the prophecy of a hundred years ago, and admission now that because the character of the present Government is such that "it is in the hands of the foreigners who hold all the principal administrative offices and form so large a part of the army," the consequence of it is a "political danger," the real magnitude of which is "of the most serious order."

Need I, after this declaration even, despair that some of our Anglo-Indian friends would not take a lesson from the Secretary of State and understand the evil of the system under which India is suffering? Have I ever said anything clearer or stronger than this despatch has done? It gives my whole fear of the future perils to the people of India and political danger to the British power, in a nutshell. This shows that some of our Anglo-Indian authorities have not been, nor are, so dull and blind as not to have seen before or see now the whole peril of the position, and the unnatural and suicidal system of administration.

Yes, figures are quoted by some of what they call "increase of trade," "balance of trade in favour of India," "increase of industry," "hearding of treasure in British India," etc., etc.,; but our misfortune is that these people, with bias and prejudices and prepossessions, and apparently having not very clear ideas of the principles, processes, and details of commercial and banking operations and transactions, and of the perturbations of what Sir John Shore called "the evils of a distant foreign dominion,"

are not able to understand and read aright these facts and figures of the commercial and economic conditions of British India. These people do not realise or seem to understand that what are called "the trade returns of British India " are misleading, and are not the trade returns of British India. A good portion of both the imports and exports of both merchandise and treasure belong to the Native States and to countries beyond the borders, and not to British India. A separate return must be made of the imports and exports of the non-British territories, so that a correct account of the true trade of British India may be given by itself-and then there should be some statement of the exports which are not trade exports at all, but only political and private European remittances; and then only will it be seen how wretched this British Indian true trade is, and how fallacious and misleading the present returns are. A return is made every year called "The Material and Moral Progress of India." But that part " Material Progress," to which I am confining my observations is very imperfect and misleading. As I have already said, nothing short of a return every year of the average annual income per head of population of British India, and of the absolute necessaries of life for a healthy labourer, in detailed calculation can give any correct idea of the progress or otherwise of the material condition of the people of British India. I ask for "detailed calculation" in the returns, because some of the officials seem to have rather vague notions of the Arithmetic of Averages, and though the foundation figures may be correct. they bring out results far from truth. I have pointed out this with instances in my papers. I have communicated with the Secretary of State for India, and he has communicated with the Governments in India. But I do not know how far this correction has been attended to by those who calculate averages.

TRADE BETWEEN ENGLAND AND INDIA.

What is grievous is that the present unnatural system, as predicted by Sir John Shore, is destructive to us, with a partial benefit to the United Kingdom with our curse upon it. But were a natural system to prevail, the commercial and industrial benefits aided by perfect free-trade that exists between India and the United Kingdom will be to both countries of an extent of which we can at present form no conception.

But here is an inexhaustible market of 221,000,000 of their own civilized fellow-citizens with some 66,000,000 more of the people of the Native States, and what a great trade would arise with such an enormous market, and the United Kingdom would not for a long time hear anything about her "unemployed." It is only some people of the United Kingdom of the higher classes that at present draw all the benefit from India. The great mass of the people do not derive that benefit from the connection with India which they ought to get with benefit to both countries. On the other hand, it is with the Native States that there is some comparatively decent trade. With British India, as compared with its population, the trade of the United Kingdom is wretched indeed after a century of a very costly administration paid for by the poverty stricken ryots.

Truly as Macaulay said emphatically:

To trade with civilised man is infinitely more profitable than to govern savages; that would indeed be a doting wisdom, which, in order that India might remain a dependency, would make it a useless and costly dependency, which would keep a hundred millions (now really 221,000,000) of men from being our customers in order that they might continue to be our slaves.

Should this doting wisdom continue?

It is impossible for me to explain in this address all the misapprehensions. I have already explained my views as fully as possible in my papers. These views were at first ridiculed and pook-poohed till the highest financial authorities, the latest Finance Ministers themselves, admitted the extreme poverty of India. Lord Cromer summed up the situation in these remarkable words in 1882: "It has been calculated that the average income per bead of population in India is not more than Rs. 27 a year." "In England the average income per year per head of population was £33; in France it was £23; in Turkey which was the poorest country in Europe, it was £4 a head." Comment is unnecessary. Let us and the Government not live in a fool's paradise, or time may bring disasters to both when it is too late to stop them. This poverty is the greatest danger both to us and the rulers. In what shapes and varieties of forms the disease of poverty may attack the body-politic, and bring out and aggravate other evils, it is difficult to tell or foresee, but that there is danger of "most serious order," as the Secretary of State declares, nobody can deny.

INDIAN LOYALTY.

Were the people of British India allowed to enjoy the fruits of their own labour and resources, and were fair relations established between the British and Indian peoples, with India contented and prosperous, Britain may defy half-a-dozen Russias. (Loud cheers.) Indians will then fight to the last man and to the last rupee for

their share, as patriots and not as mercenaries. The rulers will have only to stamp their foot, and millions will spring up to defend the British power and their own hearths and homes. (Renewed cheering.)

We, the Congress, are only desirous of supporting Government, and having this important matter of poverty grappled with and settled, we are anxious to prevent "the Political danger" of the "most serious order," declared to exist by the Secretary of State himself. We desire that the British connection should endure for a long time to come for the sake of our material and political elevation among the civilised nations of the world. It is no pleasure or profit to us to complain unnecessarily or wantonly about this poverty.

Were we enemies of British rule, our best course would be, not to cry out, but remain silent, and let the mischief take its course till it ends in disaster as it must. But we do not want that disaster, and we therefore cry out, both for our own sake, and for the sake of the rulers. This evil of poverty must be boldly faced and remedied.

This is the question to which we shall have to devote our best energies. We have, no doubt, to contend against many difficulties, but they must be surmounted for everybody's sake.

COSTLY ARMY AND CIVIL SERVICES.

The next subject to which I desire to draw your attention is this. We have a large costly European Army and European Civil Services. It is not to be supposed that in these remarks I accept the necessity for them. I take at present the situation as it is. I now submit to the calm consideration of the British people

and Government these questions. Is all this European service entirely for the sole benefit of India? Has the United Kingdom no interest or benefit in it? Does not the greatness of, and the greatest benefit to, the United Kingdom arise from its connection with India? Should not the cost of such greatness and great benefits be shared by the United Kingdom in proportion to its means and benefit? Are not these European services especially imposed upon us on the clearly admitted and declared ground of maintaining the British power? Let us see what our rulers themselves say.

BRITISH VIEWS ON THE COSTLY INDIAN ADMINISTRATION.

Lord Beaconsfield said:-

We had to decide what was the best step to counteract the efforts Russia was then making, for though war had not been declared, her movements had commenced in Central Asia, and the struggle has commenced which was to decide for ever which power should possess the great gates of India, and that the real question at issue was whether England should possess the gates of her own great empire in India, and whether the time had not arrived when we could no longer delay that the problem should be solved and in a manner as it has been solved by Her Majesty's Government.—Hansard, Vol. 250, p. 1094, 25th February, 1880.

Again he says :---

We resolved that the time has come when this country should acquire the complete command and possession of the gates of the Iudian Empire. Let me at least believe that the Peers of England are still determined to uphold not only the empire but the honour of this country.

Can any words be more emphatic to show the vast and most vital stakes, honour and interests of the United Kingdom?

Lord Kimberley, the Secretary of State for India, tells us:-

"We are resolutely determined to maintain our supremacy over our Indian Empire "that among other things," he says, "that supremacy rests upon the maintenance of our European Civil Service," "that we rest also upon the magnificent European Force which we maintain in that country."—Times, 13th June, 1893. Mansion House Dinner to Lord Roberts.

This again is another emphatic declaration of the vast stakes and interests of the United Kingdom for which the European Services are maintained entirely at our expense.

I shall give one more authority only.

See what a man like Lord Roberts, the symbol of physical force admits. He says to the London Chamber of Commerce:—

"I rejoice to learn that you recognise how indissolubly the prosperity of the United Kingdom is bound up with the retention of that vast Eastern Empire." (Times, 25 May, 1893. Dinner by the London Chamber of Commerce.)

And again he says at Glasgow:

"That the retention of our Eastern Empire is essential to the greatness and prosperity of the United Kingdom." (Times, 29th July, 1893.)

Now, I ask again, that with all such deep, vast and great interests, and the greatness and prosperity of the United Kingdom, essentially depending on the Eastern Empire, and indissolubly bound up with it, is it reasonable, is it just and fair, is it British that all the cost of such greatness, glory, and prosperity of the United Kingdom should be entirely, to the last farthing thrown upon the wretched Indians, as if the only relations existing between the United Kingdom and India were not of mutual benefit, but of mere masters and slaves as Macaulay pointed out to be deprecated. (Applause and cries of "no, no".)

As for the navy, the Times regards and it is generally admitted that the very existence of Britain itself depends upon the command of the sea. The Times says:

"They will never forgive the Minister or the Ministry that leaves them weaker at sea than any possible combination of France and another power."

By a telegram I read at Aden I found Mr. Gladstone "re-affirmed the necessity of British supremacy."

For any war vessels that may be stationed in India for the protection of the interests of both, the expenditure may be fairly shared.

IRELAND AND INDIA CONTRASTED TO FINANCIAL ADJUSTMENT.

In the Bill for the better government of Ireland there are provisions by which Ireland is required to pay a certain share of the Imperial expenditure according to its means, and when necessary to pay a similar share of any extraordinary expenditure, Ireland having all its resources at its own command. Now see how vastly different is our position. Not only will Ireland have all her internal services, Irish or under Irish rules causing no foreign drain from her, but she will also, as she has always enjoyed, continue to enjoy her share in all the gain and glory of the British Empire. Irishmen can be Viceroys. Governors, and have any of the appointments in the military or civil services of the Empire, with the additional advantage of a large number of members in Parliament. The Indians, on the other hand, have not only no such share at all in the gains and glory of the British Empire. but are excluded even from the services of their own country, with the consequences of an exhausting foreign drain, of the deplorable evils foretold by Sir John Shore and subjected to the imposition of every farthing of the

expenditure. Nor has India any votes in Parliament. And we have now the additional misfortune that the British Cabinet, since the transfer to the Crown, is no longer the independent tribunal to judge between us and the Indian authorities, and this adds heavily to our difficulties for obtaining justice and redress, except so far as the sense of justice of the non-official members of the Parliament helps us.

INDIAN MILITARY EXPENDITURE.

There is a strange general misapprehension among the people of the United Kingdom. They do not seem to know that they have not spent a single shilling either in the formation of the British Indian Empire or in its maintenance and that as far as I know, every farthing is taken from the Indians, with the only exception in my knowledge that Mr. Gladstone with his sense of justice allowed £5,000,000 towards the last Afghan War, which, without having any voice in it, cost India £21,000,000, (Loud cries of "Shame.") I cannot blame the people of the United Kingdom generally for this mistake, when even well-informed papers give utterances to this most unfortunate fallacy. As for instance, a paper like the Statist, in the extract which my friend Mr. Dinshaw E. Wacha gave you last year, says: "Whatever may happen, we must defend India to our last shilling and our last man," while the fact is that they have not spent even their first shilling or any shilling at all, (laughter) but on the contrary derived benefits in various ways from India of millions on millions every year. (" Shame.") Nor have the fighters in creating and maintaining the British Indian Empire been only the British soldier to "the last man." Indian soldiers have done the main work, and if India can be made prosperous and contented as it can be by true statesmanship, the Indian soldier will be ready to fight to "the last man" to defend British power. (Loud cheers.)

Britain in fact cannot send to India " to its last man." The very idea is absurd; on the contrary she can draw from India for her European purpose an inexhaustible strength.

Again, the Statist says:—"We are at this moment spending large sums of money in preparing against a Russian attack." Not a farthing of the British money? Every farthing of these "large sums," which are crushing us, is "imposed" upon the people of British India. Such misleading statements are often made in the English Press to our great injury. ("Shame.")

I repeat, then, that we must submit to the just consideration of the British people and Parliament whether it is just and right that they should not pay a fair share according to their stakes and means, towards all such expenditure as is incurred for the benefit of both India and the United Kingdom, such expenditure, and the respective share of each, being settled on a peace footing, any extraordinary expenditure against any foreign invasion being also further fairly shared.

Before closing this subject, I may just remark that while leaving necessarily the highest offices of power and control, such as Viceroys and Governors to Europeans, I regard the enormous European Services as a great political and imperial weakness, in critical political times to the British power, as well as the cause, as the present Duke of Devonshire pointed out, of the insufficiency of an efficient administration of the country; and also the main cause of the evils foretold by Sir John Shore, and admit-

ted by the Secretary of State for India, after a hundred years, as a political danger of "a most serious order;" and of the poverty of India.

BRITISH OPINIONS ON THE BURDEN OF THE INDIAN TAXPAVER.

I would not say much upon the next subject, as you have had only lately the highest testimonies of two Viceroys and three Secretaries of State for India-of Lord Northbrook and Lord Ripon, and of the Duke of Argyll, Lord Cross, and Lord Kimberley. You remember the debate raised by Lord Northbrook in the House of Lords a few months ago that the Home Military Charges were unfair and unjust, and all the authorities I have named endorsed the complaint. even the heads of the Indian authorities are so much in terror of the Treasury that Lord Kimberley said :- " The India Office has no particular desire that the question should be re-opened and discussed anew, for bitter experience has taught the department that the re-opening of a question of this kind generally results in the imposition of additional charges." Is this one other disadvantage of the transfer to the Crown? Lord Kimberley hit the nail on the head why India was so unfairly treated (and the same may be applied to such other treatment of India by the Indian authorities themselves) when he said :- "The reasons why proposals that must throw fresh burdens on the Government of India are so frequently made in the House of Commons is that those who make them know that their own pockets will not suffer in the desire to make things agreeable and comfortable. (Laughter.) The taxpayers of the country exercise no check upon such proposals, and the consequence is that

charges are sometimes imposed upon the Government of India which that Government thinks unjust and unnecessary." It must be borne in mind that charges "imposed on the Government of India" means the suffering party is the poor taxpayer of India.

The Duke of Argyll characterises these charges as "unjust and illegal tribute to England." But mark the words of Lord Cross:—"I am certain that in the course of a few years the Indian people will force us to do them justice." This is just the feature "to be forred to do justice" which I always deplore. We desire that all necessary reforms and acts of justice should be spontaneous on the part of Britain, in good grace and in good time as gifts claiming our gratitude, and not to wait till "forced," with loss of grace from the giver and the loss of gratitude from the receiver. (Hear, hear.)

I offer my thanks to Lord Northbrook and other Lords for that debate, though yet barren of any result. But we may fairly hope that such debate must sooner or later produce good results. It is like a good seed sown and will fructify.

Here are some smaller items: The cost of the India Office Building of about half-a-million, of the Royal Engineering College of £134,000, and of other buildings is all cast on India. The cost of the Colonial Office Building, £100,000, is paid from the British Exchequer. The India Office Establishment, etc., about £230,000 a year, is all imposed on India, while the £41,000 of the Colonial Office and £168,000 for Colonial Services are paid from the British Exchequer. The Public Debt of India (excluding Railway and Productive Works) is incurred in creating and preserving the British power, but all our cries to give us

at least the benefit of a British guarantee have been in vain, with the curious suicidal effort of showing to the world that the British Government itself has no confidence in the stability of its own power in India. (Hear, kear.)

In 1870, Mr. Gladstone declared India to be "too much burdened," when the Annual Expenditure was £39,000, 000; what expression can be used now when, with an extremely poor income, the burden now is nearly 75 per cent., heavier, or Rs. 68,000,000 this year.

SEPARATION OF EXECUTIVE AND JUDICIAL FUNCTIONS.

Passing on to the other subjects, I hope the separation of Executive and Judicial functions will receive attention as its necessity has been recognised. We have to persevere for this as well as for other parts of our programme, bearing in mind one great difficulty we have to contend with. Unfortunately the Indian authorities when they determine to do or not to do a thing under the notion of preserving prestige and strength, as if any false prestige can be a strength, disregard even Resolutions or Acts of Parliament itself, and resort to every device to carry their own point of view. (Loud cries of "Shame.") We cannot expect Parliament to watch Indian affairs from day to day, and therein lies the impunity and immunity of the Indian administration.

I shall refer to only two instances: First, the case of the misleadingly called "The Statutory Service," and what in reality was created out of, and as a part and parcel of, the Covenanted Civil Service. I can speak with some authority, for I was the very proposer of the Memorial of the East India Association to Sir Stafford Northcote which resulted in the Clause of the Act of 1870. But the Indian authorities would not have it. They moved heaven and earth to thwart it; it is a long and a sad story for the good name of Britain, and they never rested till they made the Statute a dead letter, though it still stands on the Statute Book of the Imperial Parliament. ("Shame.") However, I hear with pleasure, and I hope it is true, that a disposition has arisen, for which I understand Lord Kimberley is to be thanked, to redress this glaring and unfortunate wrong—unfortunate for British prestige, for British honour and British good faith, and I do hope that the Government would do this redress ungrudgingly, with good grace, completeness and generosity. This instance illustrates another unfortunate phase of the Administration.

INDIAN FOREST SERVICE.

The Forest Department is recruited by examinations in England and by selection in India. Such selection is not based upon a Resolution or Act of Parliament, but upon the will of the authorities and consisting of Europeans. The Government of India in Resolution No. 18 F, of 29th July, 1891, have described them as untrained and uncovenanted officers, who have been unconditionally appointed in past years, and yet they are ordered in the regular Indian Forest Service; while those Native Civilians, created and backed by an Act of Parliament, as distinctly belonging to the Covenanted Civil Service, are excluded from that Civil Service to which the Act distinctly appointed them. Can such difference of treatment of Europeans and Indians preserve British prestige for honour and justice, and would it increase or diminish the existing attachment of the Indians to British rule f

THE STATE REGULATION OF VICE.

The second instance was the practical disregard of the Resolution of the House of Commons about the State regulation of vice. But in this case there were vigilant watchers like Mrs. Butler, Mr. Stansfeld, M.P., Mr. Stuart, M.P., and others, and they did not allow the Resolution to become a dead letter. In this case also I am glad to find that the Indian authorities now mean to give loyal effect to the Resolution, and well may they do so, for the sake of the British good name, fame, and prestige, for morality of every kind upon which mainly British strength and influence rest.

THE CURRENCY QUESTION,

On the Currency Question I need not dwell much, My views are not unknown to you. Now that the Sherman Law is repealed by the United States, we may hope to see a settled condition in time. No amount of currency, jugglery or devices in this country could have any influence (except that of creating troubles in the country itself, as has happened) on the loss in the remittances to England for Home charges which must be paid in gold, and will fluctuate with the rise or fall of gold in the United Kingdom, As if this crushing loss was not enough for the wretched taxpayers, further burdens were laid to make things agreeable and comfortable with other people's money, as Lord Kimberley would say, of high exchange to the European officials, and the further most unwarranted payment of £138,000 to the banks, with whose transactions in profits or loss the taxpayer has no connection whatever. (" Shame, shame.") Some strange precedents are made in this matter to silence opposition and to support banks at the expense of the taxpayers, which will

lead to serious troubles in the future. Should not the millowners and other concerns also claim compensation for the dislocation of their industry or transactions by the currency action of the Government, as Government itself admits to have caused such dislocation? Would the British Exchequer have paid any such money to the British banks? Such a thing would never have been thought of. The utmost that is done in any crisis is allowing the Bank of England to issue more notes under strong restrictions. Had the banks made profits instead of loss, would they have handed them to the taxpayer? Then it would have been called the reward of shrewdness, foresight, enterprise, etc., etc.

The whole currency troubles from which India is suffering, and which are so peculiar to India and so deplorable to the Indian taxpayer, and from which no other silverusing country suffers, is one of the best illustrations and object-lessons, and proof of the soundness of Sir John Shore's prophecy about the evil consequences of the present unnatural system of a remote foreign dominion, or as the Secretary of State called the danger of "a most serious order."

The currency muddle will necessitate new taxation. The usual easy and unchecked resource of putting off the evil day by borrowing is already resorted to, and in the spirit of keeping things agreeable and comfortable to those who have votes in Parliament, there is danger of increase in the salt tax. I do hope that Government will have some moral courage and some mercy upon the wretched taxpayer, and reduce even the salt tax by re-imposing the cotton duties. Not that by this means India will be saved a pie from the addition of burdens, but that a little better

able shoulders will have to bear them, or, as Lord Salisbury once coolly put it, that as India must be bled, the lancet should be directed to the parts where there was at least sufficient blood, not to those which are already feeble from the want of it.

RELATIONS BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENT AND THE NATIVE STATES.

Another subject of our future work to which I need only touch now is the relations of the Government with the Native States. There is much unnecessary irritation and dissatisfaction where there ought to be the pleasantest harmony with much greater devoted loyalty than what even now really exists. And it is also a great mistake for a foreign power not to draw the military capacity and spirit of the country to their own side by giving it a fair career and interest in their own service. Make the military races feel it to their advantage and interest to be loyal to the British rule instead of keeping them alienated from the Government.

PELLOW-FEELING AND COMMON NATIONALITY.

I need not say more upon our future work, as various Resolutions of importance will be placed before you for your consideration, and I am sure you will deliberate with that moderation and fairness for which you have already distinguished yourselves and acquired just credit, and for which I offer you my hearty congratulations. You recognise, I have no doubt, that at every turn you have yet serious questions to grapple with and much work to do.

Any one who has watched my public career must have seen that my main underlying principle and the desire of my heart is to promote, as far as I can, good fellow-feeling among all my countrymen. (Loud applause.) And I have on doubt that all the educated and thinking men and all true friends of our own country will continue to do all that lies in their power to bring about stronger and stronger friendly ties of common nationality, fellow-feeling and due deference to each other's views and feelings amongst the whole people of our country.

GOVERNMENT AND LAWLESSNESS.

Government must be firm and just in case of any unfortunate differences; as far as Government are concerned their duty is clearly to put down with a strong hand any lawlessness or disturbance of the peace, no matter who the parties concerned may be. They can only stand, as they ought, on the only sure and right foundation of even-handed justice to all, and cannot allow any one to take the law into his own hands; the only wise policy is to adhere to their declared policy of strict neutrality and equal protection and justice to all creeds. (Hear, hear.)

I was much pleased to read in the papers that cordial conferences had been held between Muhammadans and Hindus in various places to device means to prevent any deplorable occurrences happening in the future.

HARMONY AND UNION BETWEEN DIFFERENT RACES.

Looking back to the past as my own personal experience of my life, and as far back as I know of earlier days, at least on my side of India, I feel a congratulation that all association and societies of members of all creeds have worked together in harmony and union, without any consideration of class or creed in all matters concerning our common national public and political interests. No doubt, latterly, even in such common matters, differences of views have arisen and will arise, but such differences of views, when genuine, are healthy, just as is the case in the

United Kingdom itself with its, two political parties. (Hear, hear.)

What makes me still more gratified and look forward hopefully in the future is that our Congress has not only worked so far in the union and concord of all classes and creeds, but has taken care to provide that such harmony should centinue in the future. As early as in the Congress at Allahabad of 1888, you passed this Resolution(XIII):—

That no subject shall be passed for discussion by the Subject Committee, or allowed to be discussed at any Congress by the President thereof, to the introduction of which the Hindu or Muhammadan delegates as a body object unanimously or nearly unanimously; and that if, after the discussion of any subject which has been admitted for discussion, it shall appear that all the Hindu or all the Muhammadan delegates as a body are unanimously or nearly unanimously opposed to the Resolution which it is proposed to pass thereon, such Resolution shall be dropped; provided that this rule shall refer only to subjects in regard to which the Congress has not already definitely pronounced an opinion.

As I have already said, the highest wish of my heart is that all the people of India should regard and treat each other as fellow-countrymen, with fellow-feeling for the good of all. (Applause.)

We may, I am convinced, rest fully assured that whatever political or national benefit we may acquire will in one or other way benefit all classes, (Hear, hear.) the benefit of each taking various forms. The interests of us all are the same. We are all in the same boat. We must sink or swim together. Government cannot but treat us all alike. It is unreasonable for us to expect from them, and unjust and unwise for them to show, any undue favour to any particular class or community. The only solid foundation for them is justice and impartiality, and the

only just demand from us also can only be justice and impartiality. (Loud applause.)

If the country is prosperous, then if one gets scope in one walk of life, another will have in another walk of life. As our Indian saying goes: "If there is water in the well it will come to the cistern." If we have the well of prosperity we shall be able to draw each our share from it. But if the well is dry we must all go without any at all.

FOUNDATIONS OF BRITISH POWER IN INDIA.

A word for the basis upon which the strength of British power stands. Britain can hold India, or any one country can hold another, by moral force only. You can build up an empire by arms or ephemeral brute physical force, but you can preserve it by the eternal moral forces only. Brute force will, some time or other, break down; righteousness alone is everlasting. (Cheers.) Well and truly has Lord Ripon said "that the British power and influence rests upon the conviction of our good faith more than upon the valour of our soldiers or the reputation of our arms." (Applause.) Mr. Gladstone says:

"It is the predominance of that moral force for which I heartily pray in the deliberations of this House and the conduct of our whole public policy, for I am convinced that upon that predominance depends that which should be the first object of all our desires, as it is of all our daily official prayers, namely, that union of heart and sentiment which constitutes the truest basis of strength at home, and therefore both of strength and good fame throughout the civilised world."—Debates, 9th August, 1892. p. 1892. (Applause.)

And here is a remarkable instance cited by Mr. Gladstone of a people of a different race becoming attached even to the much despised Turkish rule. How much more will the people of India, if contented and prosperous, become attached to the rule of such a people as the British? Referring to Lebanon, Mr. Gladstone said:—

"Owing to the wise efforts of Lord Dufferin and others about thirty years ago, local management was established since which the province has become contented and attached to the Turkish Empire."

Lord Roberts, the apostle of British strong arm to maintain British power, and though much imbued with many of the prejudices against the progress of the Indians, as a true soldier, admits without hesitation what he considers as the only solid foundation upon which British strength must for ever rest. He says:

"But however efficient and well equipped the army of India may be, were it indeed absolute perfection and were its numbers considerably more than they are at present, our greatest strength must ever rest on the firm base of a united and contented India."

Truer and more statesmanlike words could not be uttered. Permit me to give one more extract. Mr. Gladstone, referring to Irish Home Rule, said:

"There can be no nobler spectacle than that which we think is now drawing upon us, the spectacle of a nation deliberately set on the removal of injustice, deliberately determined to break, not through terror and not in haste, but under the sole influence of duty and honour, determined to break with whatever remains still existing of an evil tradition, and determined in that way at once to pay a debt of justice and to consult by a bold, wise, and good act its own interests and its own honour."

Am I at all unreasonable in hoping that such noble statesmanship, honour, and good faith of the British people will, in fullness of time, also extend to India similar justice? I shall hope as long as I live.

INDIAN NATIONALITY.

Let us always remember that we are all children of our mother country. Indeed, I have never worked in any other spirit than that I am an Indian, (Cheers.) and owe duty to my country and all my countrymen. Whether I am a Hindu, a Muhammadan, a Parsi, a Christian, or of any other creed, I am above all an Indian. Our country is India; our nationality is Indian. (Loud cheers.)

The question for us, especially a body like this, who have received the blessings of education, is: How are we to perform our duty to our country? Certainly no one requires to be taught that no great cause or object can ever be accomplished without great sacrifices—personal and pecuniary. We can never succeed with the British people by mere declamations. We must show that we believe in the justice of our cause by our earnestness and self-sacrifice. (Hear, hear.)

LEARN TO MAKE SACRIFICES.

I desire now to impress upon my countrymen with all the earnestness I am capable of to prepare themselves for sacrifices. We observe every day what sacrifices the British people make for attaining any object, great or small and how persistently they stick to it; and among the lessons which we are learning from them let us learn this particular one, with the double advantage and effect of showing that Indians have public spirit and love of their country, and also proving that they are earnest in what they are asking. (Applause.)

ORGANISED EFFORTS.

Our work for the amelioration of our country and for obtaining all the rights and benefits of British citizenship will go on increasing, and it is absolutely necessary that our organization, both here and in the United Kingdom, should be much improved and made complete. Without good organisation no important work can be

successfully done; and that means much pecuniary and personal sacrifice. We must remember the Congress meets once a year. The General Secretaries and the Standing Committees have to carry out the details and inform the circles of the work and resolutions of the Congress.

CONGRESS WORK IN LONDON.

But the most important and national work formulated by the Congress has to be done with watchfulness, day after day, in London by your British Committee. (Cheers. And, further, by your Resolution XII, of the seventh Session, you "urged them (the Committee) to widen henceforth the sphere of their usefulness by interesting themselves not only in those questions dealt with by the Congress, but in all Indian matters submitted to them and properly vouched for in which any principle accepted by the Congress is involved." (Renewed cheering.)

Fancy what this means. Why, it is another India Office! You have put all India's every-day work upon the shoulders of the Committee. It becomes exceedingly necessary for efficient and good work to have some paid person or persons to devote time to study the merits of all the representations which pour in with every mail, or by telegrams, before any action can be taken on them. It is in the United Kingdom that all our great fights are to be fought, all our national and imperial questions are to be settled, and it is to our British Committee in London that we have to look for the performance of all this responsible and arduous work, with the unfortunate feature that we have to contend against many adverse influences, prepossessions and misunderstandings. We have to make the British people unlearn a good deal.

On the other hand, we have this hopeful feature also that we have not only many British friends, but also Anglo-Indians, who, in the true spirit of justice and of the gratitude to the country to which they owe their past career and future provision, appreciate the duty they owe to India, and are desirous to help us, and to preserve the British Empire by the only certain means of justice, the honour and righteousness of the British people, and by the contentment and prosperity of India.

You know well how much we owe to the present English members of our Committee, Sir William Wedderburn, (Three cheers for Sir William Wedderburn.) Mr. Hume, Mr. Reynolds, Mr. Adam, Mr. Schwann, M.P., and Mr. McLaren, M.P. If we want all such kelp at the fountain head of power without which we cannot do much good, we must take care to supply them always, promptly and accurately, all necessary sinews of war. (Hear, hear and applause.)

CONGRESS ORGAN "INDIA."

Then there is the journal "INDIA," without which our work will not be half as efficient as with it. It is an absolute necessity as an instrument and part of the organization. Every possible effort must be made to give it the widest circulation possible both here and in the United Kingdom. I wish it could be made weekly instead of monthly.

With proper effort ten-thousand copies should be easily disposed of here as a beginning, and we must do this.

DADABHAI'S SUCCESSFUL ELECTION TO THE BRITISH PARLIAMENT

This is the first opportunity I have of meeting you after the Congress of 1886, over which I had the honour to preside at Calcutta. Let me now thank you personally for

your constant remembrance of me, for your unceasing encouragement, and for your two most kind and gratifying resolutions passed at the last two sessions as representatives of every class and creed, and almost wholly consisting of Hindu and Muhammadan delegates, and each delegate being elected by and representative of the whole mixed community of the place he represents, on the basis of common interest and nationality. I must beg your indulgence to record those Resolutions in this address. The first Resolution (XIV) passed by the Seventh Congress in 1891, while I was a candidate, is this:—

Resolved, that this Congress hereby puts formally on record its high esteem and deep appreciation of the great services which Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji has rendered, during more than a quarter of a century, to the cause of India, and it expresses its unshaken confidence in him, and its earnest hope that he may prove successful at the coming election, in his candidature for Central Finsbury; and at the same time tenders, on behalf of the vast population it represents, India's most cordial acknowledgments to all in England whether in Central Finsbury or elsewhere, who have aided or may aid him to win a seat in the House of Commons.

I need not say how right earnestly Central Finsbury listened to your appeal and fulfilled your hope, for which we owe them our most unstinted thanks, and to all those who helped in or out of Central Finsbury. (Loud applause.)

I may here once more express my hearty thanks to many ladies and gentlemen who worked hard for my election. After I was elected, you passed the second Resolution (XVI.) in the last Session. I may point here to the significant incident that in that Congress there was, I think, only one Parsi delegate and he even not the

delegate of Parsis, but of all classes of the people. This Resolution was:—

Resolved that this Congress most respectfully and cordially tenders, on behalf of the vast population it represents, India's most heartfelt thanks to the Electors of Central Finsbury for electing Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji their Member in the House of Commons; and it again puts on record its high eateem and deep appreciation of the services which that gentleman has rendered to this country, reiterates its unshaken confidence in him, and looks upon him as India's representative in the House of Commons.

DADABHAI RETURNS THANKS TO ALL INDIANS.

Let me also now take this opportunity, on Indian soil, to tender my most heartfelt thanks for the telegrams, letters, and addresses of congratulation which I received from all parts and classes of India—literally I may say from the prince to the peasant, from members of all creeds, from Hindus, Muhammadans, Christians, Parsis, from Ceylon, from the High Priest of Budhists, and Budhists, and other residents from the Cape, British Guiana, Australia, and in short from every part of the British Empire where there were Indian residents. Ladies and Gentlemen, put aside my personality and let me join in your rejoicings as an Indian in the great event in Indian annals of an Indian finding his way in the Imperial Parliament. (Loud and prolonged cheering.)

And lastly, beginning from the distant Western Gate of India, where the Indian residents of Aden, of all creeds, gave me a most hearty reception; then the great portal of India, the dear old City of my birth, gave me a most magnificent welcome with its never-ceasing kindness towards me, Poona doing her best to vie with Bombay, and through the Punjab so splendidly; and this series of welcome now ending in your extraordinary one which I am

utterly unable to describe. Is there any reward more grand and more gratifying than the esteem, the joy with my joy, the sorrow with my sorrow, and above all the "unshaken confidence" of my fellow-countrymen and country-women of our grand, old, beloved country?

I may refer to an incident which, as it is satisfactory, is also very significant of the real desire of the British people to do justice to India. The congratulations on my election from all parts of the United Kingdom also were as hearty and warm as we could desire, and expressing satisfaction that an Indian would be able to voice the wants and aspirations of India in the House of Commons.

LONDON CONGRESS.

I can assure the Congress that, as I hope and wish, if you will pay an early visit to the United Kingdom and hold a Session there, you will obtain a kind and warm reception from its peoples. And you will, by such direct and personal appeal to the British Nation, accomplish a wast amount of good. (Hear, hear.)

FAITH IN BRITISH FAIR-PLAY AND JUSTICE.

Our fate and our future are in our own hands. If we are true to ourselves and to our country and make all the necessary sacrifices for our elevation and amclioration, I, for one have not the shadow of a doubt that in dealing with such justice-loving, fair-minded people as the British, we may rest fully assured that we shall not work in vain. It is this conviction which has supported me against all difficulties. I have never faltered in my faith in the British character and have always believed that the time will come when the sentiments of the British Nation and our Gracious Sovereign proclaimed to us in our Great Charter of the Proclamation of 1858 will

be realised, (Applause.) viz., "In their prosperity will be our strength, in their contentment our best reward." And let us join in the prayer that followed this hopeful declaration of our Sovereign: "May the God of all power grant to us and to those in authority under us strength to carry out these our wishes for the good of our people."

DADABHAI'S EXHORTATION.

My last prayer and exhortation to the Congress and to all my countrymen is—Go on united and earnest, in concord and harmony, with moderation, with loyalty to the British rule and patriotism towards our country, and success is sure to attend our efforts for our just demands, and the day I hope is not distant when the World will see the noblest spectacle of a great nation like the British holding out the hand of true fellow-citizenship and of justice to the vast mass of humanity of this great and ancient land of India with benefits and blessings to the human race. (Loud and prolonged cheering.)

Twenty-second Congress—Calcutta—1906.

INTRODUCTION.

Raja Peari Mohun Mukerjee, Dr. Rashbehari Ghose, and my friends :- I thank you from the bottom of my heart for proposing me to be the President of the Indian National Congress on this occasion. You may rest assured that I feel from the bottom of my heart the honour that you have done me and in my humble way I would fulfil the important duty you have called me to perform. I cannot undertake at present to read my whole address though I expected I would be able to do so. I would ask my friend Mr. Gokhale to read it for me. I would just make the beginning and say that I thank you most sincerely for honouring me for the third time by electing me to the Presidentship of the Indian National Congress. I hope I shall have your co-operation, help and support. I am obliged to express my deep sorrow at the losses which the country has sustained by the deaths of Mr. W. C. Bonnerjee, Mr. Anand Mohan Bose, Mr. Budrudin Tyabii and Mr. M. Veeraragbava Chariar.

Mr. Gokhale then read the following Presidential Address at the request of Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji:—

PRESIDENT'S ADDRESS.

Good government could never be a substitute for government by the people themselves."

⁽Sir Henry Complett-Bannerman, Stirling, 23-11-1995.)

- "But this I do say that politicial principles are after all the root of our national greatness, strength and hope."

 (Mr. John Morley, King's Hall, Holborn, 4-6-1901).
- "But if you meddle wrongly with economic things, gentlemen, be very sure you are then going to the very life, to the heart, to the core of your national existence."

(Free-Trade Hall, Manchester, 19-10-1903.)

LADIES AND GENTLEMEN,—I thank you most sincerely for honouring me for the third time with the Presidentship of the Indian National Congress. I hope I shall have your cordial help and support.

I may here express my deep sorrow at the loss India has suffered in the deaths of Mr. W. C. Bonnerjee, Justice Budrudia Tyabji, Mr. Anand Mohan Bose and Mr. Veeraraghava Chariar.

I offer my sincere thanks to the "Parliament Branch of the United Irish League," the Breakfast Meeting, the North Lambeth Liberal and Radical Club and the National Democratic League for their enthusiastic and cordial godspeed to me.

This is the first Congress after its having come of age. It is time that we should carefully consider what the position of the Indians is at present and what their future should be.

In considering this important matter I do not intend to repeat my lamentations over the past. I want only to look to the future.

The work of the Congress consists of two parts:-

First and most important is the question of the policy and principles of the system of Government under which India ought to be governed in the future. Second is to watch the operation of the administration as it now exists, to propose from time to time any reforms and changes that may be deemed necessary to be made in the various departments, till the present system of government is radically altered and based upon right principles and policy in the accomplishment of the first part mentioned above.

I desire to devote my address mainly to the first part of the work of the Congress, viz., the policy and principles which ought to govern India in future.

What position do the Indians held in the British Empire? Are they British citizens or not is my first question? I say we are British citizens and are entitled to and claim all British citizen's rights.

I shall first lay before you my reasons for claiming that we are British citizens.

REASON 1, THE BIRTHRIGHT.

The acknowledgment of this birthright was declared on the very first occasion when England obtained the very first territorial and sovereign possession in India. The British statesmen of the day at once acted upon the fundamental basis of the British Constitution and character that any one who came howsoever and wheresoever, under the British flag was a free British citizen as "if born and living in England."

The fundamental basis in the words of the present Prime Minister is:—

Preedom is the very breath of our life We stand for liberty, our policy is the policy of freedom.

In the words of Mr. Morley :-

Yea, gentlemen, the sacred word "free" which represents as Englishmen have always thought until to-day, the noblest aspiration that can animate the breast of man. This birthright to be "free" or to have freedom is our right from the very beginning of our connection with England when we came under the British flag.

When Bombay was acquired as the very first territorial possession, the government of the day in the very first grant of territorial rights to the East India Company declared thus:—

(Extract from the Grant to the First East India company of the Island of Bombay, dated 24th March 1669.)

And it is declared that all persons being His Majesty's subjects inhabiting within the said Island and their children and their posterity born within the limits thereof shall be deemed free denizens and natural subjects as if living and born in England.

And further all the terms of the first grant are extended in it to all future British territorial acquisitions. Thus is the claim of Indians to be "free" and to all the rights of British natural subjects as "if living and born in England" are distinctly acknowledged and declared from the very first political connection with England.

Having given the declaration made some two and a half centuries back in the 17th century that the moment we Indians came under the British flag we were "free" citizens, I next give you what two of the prominent statesmen of this, the 20th, century have said. When the Boers were defeated and subjugated, and came under the British flag, the present Prime Minister said (14th June 1901):—

These people with whom we are dealing are not only going to be our fellow-citizens; they are our fellow-citizens already.

Sir William Harcourt at the same time said:-

This is the way in which you propose to deal with your fellow-citizens.

Thus the moment a people came under the British flag they are "free" and British "fellow-citizens." We Indians have been free British citizens as our birthright, as "if born and living in England" from the first moment we came under the British Flag.

The Boer war cost Britain more than two hundred millions and 20,000 dead, and 20,000 wounded. India, on the other hand, has enriched Britain instead of costing anything—and the blood that was shed was largely Indian blood—and yet this is a strange contrast. The Boers have already obtained self-government in a few years after conquest, while India has not yet received self-government though it is more than 200 years from the commencement of the political connection.

All honour and glory to the British instincts and principles and to the British statesmen of the 17th century. The Liberals of the present day and the Liberal Government have every right to be proud of those " old principles" and now that a happy and blessed revival of those sacred old principles has taken place, the present Government ought fairly to be expected to act upon those old principles, and to acknowledge and give effect to the birthright of Indians as "if living and born in England." England is bound to do this. Our British rights are beyond all question. Every British Indian subject has franchise in England as a matter of course, and even to become a Member of Parliament. Nobody in England dreams of objecting to it. Once in my case, from party motives, an objection was suggested to entering my name on the register as an elector, and the revising barrister at once brushed aside the objection, for that as an Iudian, I was a British citizen.

REASON II, PLEDGED RIGHTS.

The grant to the first East India Company cited in Reason 1 is both a declaration of the rights of Indians as British citizens as well as a pledge of those rights by that declaration.

Queen Victoria, in her letter to Lord Derby asking him to write the Proclamation himself, said:—

And point out the privileges which the Indians will receive in being placed on an equality with the subjects of the British Crown and prosperity flowing in the train of civilization.

Thereupon the Proclamation then declared and pledged unreservedly and most solemnly calling God to witness and bless:—

We hold ourselves bound to the Natives of our Indian Territories by the same obligations of duty which bind us to our other subjects, and these obligations by the blessing of Almighty God we shall faithfully and conscientiously fulfil.

Can there be a more sacred and solemn pledge before God and Man?

On the occasion of the Proclamation of the Queen as Empress of India, she sent a telegram to Lord Lytton which he read in the open Durbar consisting of both Princes and People. In this telegram the Queen Empress said:—

That from the highest to the humblest all may feel that under our rule, the great principles of liberty, equity and justice are secured to them, and that to promote their happiness, to add to their prosperity and advance their welfare are ever present aims and objects of our Empire.

And it is clear that this object of promoting our happiness &c., &c., can only be attained by our enjoyment of the principles of liberty, equity and justice, i. e., we must have the British liberty of governing ourselves. On the occasion of the Jubilee of 1887, the Queen-Empress again pledged and emphasised the pledges of the Proclamation thus:—

Allusion is made to the Proclanation issued on the occasion of my assumption of the direct government of India as the Charter of the liberties of the Princes and People of India. It has always been and will be continued to be my earnest desire that the principles of that Proclamation should be unswervingly maintained.

We are now asking nothing more or less than the liberties of our Charter. - our rights of British citizenship.

The present King-Emperor has pledged :-

I shall endeavour to follow the great example of the first Queen-Empress to work for the general well-being of my Indian aubjects of all ranks,

Again the King-Emperor in his speech on 19th February 1906, said :--

It is my earnest hope that in these Colonies as elsewhere throughout my dominions (the italies are mine) the grant of free institutions will be followed by an increasing prosperity and loyalty to the Empire.

And the Price Minister clinches the whole that:-

 ${\bf Good}$ government could never be a substitute for government by the people themselves.

How much less is then an economically evil government and constitutionally an unconstitutional despotic government, a substitute for self-government,—and how much absolutely necessary it is to produce "increasing prosperity and loyalty to the Empire," by "the grant of free institutions."

With the solemn pledges I have mentioned above, we have every right to claim an honourable fulfilment of all our British pledged rights. And so we claim all British rights as our birthright and as our solemnly pledged rights. Britain's duty, humanity, honour, instincts and traditions

for freedom, solemn pledges, conscience, righteousness, and civilization demand the satisfaction to us of our British rights.

REASON III, REPARATION.

All our sufferings and evils of the past centuries demand before God and Man a reparation, which we may fairly expect from the present revival of the old noble British instincts of liberty and self-government. I do not enter into our past sufferings as I have already said at the outset.

REASON IV, CONSCIENCE.

The British people would not allow themselves to be subjected for a single day to such an unnatural system of government as the one which has been imposed upon India for nearly a century and a half. Sir H. Campbell-Bannerman has made a happy quotation from Mr. Bright:—

I remember John Bright quoting in the House of Commons on one occasion two lines of a poet with reference to political matters:—

There is on Earth a yet diviner thing, Veiled though it be, than Parliament or King.

Then Sir Henry asks :-

What is that diviner thing? It is the human conscience inspiring human opinion and human sympathy.

I ask them to extend that human conscience, "the diviner thing,," to India in the wordsof Mr. Morley:—

It will be a bad day indeed if we have one conscience for the Mother Country and another conscience for all that vast territory over which your eye does not extend.

And now the next question is—What are the British rights which we have a right to "claim?"

This is not the occasion to enter into any details or argument. I keep to broad lines.

(1). Just as the administration of the United Kingdom in all services, departments and details is in the hands of the people themselves of that country, so should we in India claim that the administration in all services, departments and details should be in the hands of the people themselves of India.

This is not only a matter of right and matter of the aspirations of the educated—important enough as these matters are—but it is far more an absolute necessity as the only remedy for the great inevitable economic evil which Sir John Shore pointed out a hundred and twenty years ago, and which is the fundamental cause of the present drain and poverty. The remedy is absolutely necessary for the material, moral, intellectual, political, social, industrial and every possible progress and welfare of the people of India.

- (2) As in the United Kingdom and the Colonies all taxation and legislation and the power of spending the taxes are in the hands of the representatives of the people of those countries, so should also be the rights of the people of India.
- (3.) All financial relations between England and India must be just and on a footing of equality i. e., whatever money India may find towards expenditure in any department—Civil or Military or Naval—to the extent of that share should Indians share in all the benefits of that expenditure in salaries, pensions, emoluments, materials, &c., as a partner in the Empire, as she is always declared to be. We do not ask any favours. We want only justice. Instead of going into any further divisions or details of our rights as British citizens, the whole matter can be comprised in one word—" Self-government" or Sucaraj like that of the United Kingdom or the Colonies.

Mr. Morley says very truly and emphatically (Banquet, King's Hall, Holborn, 4th June 1901):—

But this I do say that political principles are after all, the root of our national greatness, strength and hope.

So, for India also, there can be no national greatness, strength and hope except by the right political principles of self-government.

Now the next important question is, whether it is practicable to grant these rights of self-government at once or when and in what way? Nobody would, I think, say that the whole present machinery can be suddenly broken up at once and the rights which I have defined of self-government can be at once introduced.

RIGHT No. I: EMPLOYMENT IN THE PUBLIC SERVICES.

The right of placing all administration in every department in the hands of the people of India. Has the time arrived to do anything loyally, faithfully and systematically as a beginning at once, so that it may automatically develop into the full realisation of the right of self-government?

I say,—yes. Not only has the time fully arrived, but had arrived long past, to make this beginning. The statesmen of nearly three-quarters of a century ago not only considered the point of making a beginning, not merely made a pious declaration, but they actually passed an Act of Parliament for the purpose. Had that Act been honourably and faithfully fulfilled by the Government from that time to this, both England and India would have been in the position, not of bewailing the present poverty, wretchedness and dissatisfaction of the Indian people, but of rejoicing in the prosperity of India and of still greater prosperity of England herself.

In the thirties of the last century, England achieved the highest glory of civilization by its emancipations of the body and soul of man-by abolishing slavery and by freedom of conscience to enjoy all the rights of British citizenship. During these glorious days of English history, the statesmen of the time did not forget their duty to the people of India. They specially and openly considered the question of self-government of India, not only in connection with Britain, but even with the result of entire independence from Britain. When the act of 1833 was passed Macaulay made that memorable speech about the duty of Britain towards India of which Britain shall for ever be proud. I cannot quote that whole speech here. Every word of it is worth study and consideration from the statesmen of the day. I shall give only a few extracts. He first said :

"I must say that, to the last day of my life, I shall be proud of having been one of those who assisted in the framing of the Bill which contains that Clause". "It would be on the most selfish view of the case far better for us that the people of India were well governed and independent of us than ill-governed and subject to us." "We shall never consent to administer the pousta (a preparation of opium) to a whole community—to stupify and paralyse a great people, whom God has committed to our charge, for the wretched purpose of rendering them more amenable to our control." "We are free, we are civilized, to little purpose, if we grudge to any portion of the human race an equal measure of freedom and civilization."

"I have no fears. The path of duty is plain before us and it is also the path of wisdom, of national prosperity, of national honour."

"To have found a great people sunk in the lowest depths of slavery and superstition, to have so ruled them as to have made them desirous and capable of all the privileges of citizens, would, indeed, be a title to glory all our own."

Such was the glorious spirit in, and auspices under which was enacted in Macaulay's words " that wise, that benevolent, that noble clause:—

That no native of the said territory, nor any natural born subject of His Majesty resident therein, shall by reason only of his religion, place of birth, descent, colour or any of them, be disabled from holding any place, office or employment under the said company.

I would not repeat here what I have often stated about this clause. Sufficient to say that simultaneous examinations in India have been declared authoritatively as the only honourable fulfilment of the clause.

Here is, then, the beginning that can be made at once not as a new thing but as one fully considered and settled by Act of Parliament 73 years ago. The power is ready in the hands of the Secretary of State for India to be put into execution at once without the necessity of any reference to Parliament or any authority.

And, in connection with this step, I would carnestly urge upon the Secretary of State to retrace the pernicious step which has lately been taken in India of abolishing competition for the services to which admission is made directly in India. In England competition is the basis of all first admissions in all the services and the same must be the basis in India as the fairest and most in accordance with justice.

This beginning will be the key, the most effective remedy for the chief economic and basic evil of the present system.

Mr. Morley has truly said :-

But if you meddle wrongly with economic things, gentlemen, be very sure you are then going to the very life, to the heart, to the core of your national existence.

And so the economic muddle of the existing policy is going to the life, to the heart, to the core of our national existence. A three-fold wrong is inflicted upon us i. e., of depriving us of wealth, work and wisdom, of everything,

in short, worth living for. And this beginning will begin to strike at the root of the muddle. The reform of the alteration of the services from European to Indian is the keynote of the whole.

On the score of efficiency also foreign service can never be efficient or sufficient. Sir William Hunter has said:—

If we are to govern the Indian people efficiently and cheaply we must govern by means of themselves.

The Duke of Devonshire, as Indian Secretary, has said (23rd August 1883):

There can in my opinion be very little doubt that India is insufficiently governed.

In the very nature of things it cannot be otherwise.

After the simultaneous examinations are carried on for some years, it will be time to transfer the examinations altogether to India to complete the accomplishment of the rights (No. 1) of self-government without any disturbance in the smooth working of the administration.

Co-ordinately with this important beginning for Right (No. 1) it is urgent to expedite this object that education must be most vigorously disseminated among the people—free and compulsory primary education, and free higher education of every kind. The Indian people will hail with the greatest satisfaction any amount of expenditure for the purpose of education. It was free education that I had at the expense of the people that made me and others of my fellow-students and subsequent fellow-workers to give their best to the service of the people for the promotion of their welfare.

Education on the one hand, and actual training in administration on the other hand, will bring the accomplishment of self-government far more speedily than many imagine.

Heavy expenditure should be no excuse. In fact if financial justice, to which I shall refer hereafter, is done in the relations between England and India, there will be ample provision even from the poor revenues of India—and with every addition of Indians in place of Europeans, the resources of India for all necessary purposes will go on increasing.

RIGHT NO. 2: REPRESENTATION.

In England itself Parliamentary Government existed for some hundreds of years before even the rich, and middle classes and the mass of the people had any voice or vote in it.

Macaulay pointed out in 1831 that the people living in the magnificent palaces surrounding Regent's Park and in other such places were unrepresented. It is only so late as 1832 that the middle classes obtained their vote, and it is only so late as 1885 that most of the mass of the people obtained their franchise. Women have no vote. Adult franchise is yet in struggle.

It is no use telling us, therefore, that a good beginning cannot be made now in India for what Mr. Gladstone called "living representation." The only thing needed is the willingness of the Government. The statesmen at the helm of the present Government are quite competent and able to make a good beginning—such a systematic beginning as that it may naturally in no long time develop itself into full legislatures of self-government like those of the self-governing colonies. I need not go into any details here of the scope and possibilities of representation. The

educated and thinking classes in India who have attended English schools and colleges are not the only people to be reckoned with. There is a large body who now are informed of the events of the world and of all British institutions by the vernacular press and literature in their own language.

The persants of Russia are fit for and obtained the Duma from the greatest autocrat in the world, and the leading statesman, the Prime Minister of the free British Empire, proclaimed to the world "the Duma is dead, long live the Duma!" Surely the fellow-citizens of that statesman and the free citizens of that Empire by birthright and pledged rights are far more entitled to selfgovernment, a constitutional representative system, than the peasants of Russia. I do not despair. It is futile to tell me that we must wait till all the people are ready. The British people did not so wait for their Parliament. We are not allowed to be fit for 150 years. We can never be fit till we actually undertake the work and the responsibility. While China in the East and Persia in the West of Asia are awakening and Japan has already awakened and Russia is struggling for emancipation-and all of them despotisms—can the free citizens of the British Indian Empire continue to remain subject to despetismthe people who were among the first civilizers of the world? Modern world owes no little gratitude to these early civilizers of the human race. Are the descendants of the earliest civilizers to remain, in the present times of spreading emancipation, under the barbarous system of despotism, unworthy of British instincts, principles and eivilization ?

RIGHT NO. 3: JUST FINANCIAL RELATIONS.

This right requires no delay or training. If the British Government wills to do what is just and right, this justice towards self-government can be done at once.

First of all take the European Army expenditure.

The Government of India in its despatch of 25th March,
1890 says:—

Millions of money have been spent on increasing the Army in India, on armaments, and on fortifications to provide for the security of India, not against domestic enemies or to prevent the invasions of the warlike peoples of adjoining countries, but to-maintain the supremacy of British Power in the East.

Again the Government of India says :-

It would be much nearer the truth to affirm that the Imperial Government keeps in India and quarters upon the revenues of that country as large a portion of its army as it thinks can possibly, be required to maintain its dominion there, that it habitually treats that portion of its army as a reserve force available for imperial purposes; that it has uniformly detached European regiments from the garrison of India to take part in imperial wars whenever it has been found necessary or convenient to do so; and more than this that it has drawn not less freely upon the native army of India towards the maintenance of which it contributes nothing to aid it in contests outside of India with which the Indian Government has had little or no concern.

Such is the testimony of the Government of India that the European Army is for Imperial purposes.

Now I give the view taken in the India Office itself.

Sir James Peile was a member of the Council of the Secretary of State for India, and represented the Indian. Secretary on the Royal Commission (Welby's) on Indian expenditure. Sir James Peile, in a motion, after pointing out that the military policy which regulated Indian Military expenditure was not exclusively Indian, urged that:—

It is worthy of consideration how far it is equitable to charge on a dependency the whole military cost of that policy, when that dependency happens to be the only part of the Empire which has a land frontier adjacent to the territory of a great European power.

Here then these extracts of the Government of India and the India Office show that the European Army expenditure is entirely for British imperial purposes, and yet with flagrant injustice the burden is thrown by the Treasury upon the helpless Indian people.

In the same way all the Government expenditure in England which entirely goes to the benefit of the people in England, and which is for British purposes, is imposed on the Indian people while the Colonies do not pay any portion for similar expenditure in England. This expenditure should in common justice not be imposed on India. It is unjust. Here then, if we are relieved of burdens which ought not in common justice to be imposed upon us, our revenues, poor as they are at present, will supply ample means for education and many other reforms and improvements which are needed by us. This question is simply a matter of financial justice. I have put it on a clear just principle and on that principle India can be quite ready to find the money and its own men for all her own needs-Military, Naval, Civil or any other. For imperial expenditure we must have our share in the services in proportion to our contribution.

These just financial relations can be established at once. They require no delay or preparation. It only needs the determination and will of the British Government to do justice. Lastly as to self-government. If the British people and statesmen make up their mind to do their duty towards the Indian people they have every ability and statesmanship to devise means to accord self-government within no distant time. If there is the will and the conscience there is the way.

Now I come to the most crucial question—particularly crucial to myself personally.

I have been for some time past repeatedly asked whether I really have, after more than half a century of my own personal experience, such confidence in the honour and good faith of British statesmen and Government as to expect that our just claim to self-government as British citizens will be willingly and gracefully accorded to us with every honest effort in their power, leaving alone and forgetting the past.

Ladies and gentlemen, I shall give you a full and free answer.

In 1853 when I made my first little speech at the inauguration of the Bombay Association, in perfect innocence of heart influenced by my English education into great admiration for the character, instincts and struggles for liberty of the British people, I expressed my faith and confidence in the British Rulers in a short speech from which I give a short extract:—

When we see that our Government is often ready to assist us in everything calculated to benefit us, we had better than merely complain and grumble, point out in a becoming manner what our real wants are.

And I also said:

If an association like this be always in readiness to ascertain by strict enquiries the probable good, or bad effects of any proposed measure and, whenever necessary, to memorialise Government on behalf of the people with respect to them, our kind Government will not refuse to listen to such memorials.

Such was my faith. It was this faith of the educated of the time that made Sir Bartle Frere make the remark which Mr. Fawcett quoted, viz., that he had been much struck with the fact that the ablest exponents of English policy and our best coadjutors in adapting that

policy to the wants of the various nations occupying Indian soil were to be found among the natives who had received a high-class English education. And now, owing to the non-fulfilment of solemn pledges, what a change has taken place in the mind of the educated!

. Since my early efforts, I must say that I have felt so many disappointments as would be sufficient to break any heart and lead one to despair and even, I am afraid, to rebel.

My disappointments have not been of the ordinary kind but far worse and keener. Ordinarily a person fights—and if he fails he is disappointed. But I fought and won on several occasions, but the executive did not let us have the fruit of those victories—disappointments quite enough, as I have said, to break one's heart. For instance, the "Statutory" Civil Service, Simultaneous Examinations, Lord Lawrence Scholarships, Royal Commission, &c. I am thankful that the repayment from the treasury of some unjust charges has been carried out, though the Indian Secretary's salary is not yet transferred to the Treasury as it was hoped.

But I have not despaired. Not only that I have not despaired, but at this moment, you may think it strange, I stand before you with hopefulness. I have not despaired for one reason—and I am hopeful for another reason.

I have not despaired under the influence of the good English word which has been the rule of my life. That word is "Persevere." In any movement, great or small, you must persevere to the end. You cannot stop at any stage, disappointments notwithstanding, or you lose all you have gained and find it far more difficult afterwards even to begin again. As we proceed we may adopt such means as may be suitable at every stage, but persevere we must to the end. If our cause is good and just, as it is, we are sure to triumph in the end. So I have not despaired.

Now the reason of my hopefulness which I feel at this moment after all my disappointments. And this also under the influence of one word "Revival"—the present "revival" of the true old spirit and instinct of liberty and free British institutions in the hearts of the leading statesmen of the day. I shall now place before you the declarations of some of the leading statesmen of the day and then you will judge that my faith and hope are well-founded, whether they will be justified or not by future events.

Here, I give you a few of those declarations—but I give an Appendix A of some of these declarations out of many.

SIR H. CAMPBELL-BANNERMAN.

We believe in self-government. We treat it not as an odious necessity, not as a foolish theory to which unfortunately the British Empire is committed. We treat it as a blessing and a bealing, a sobering and a strengthening influence. (Bradford, 15-5-1901.)

I remain as firm a believer as ever I was, in the virtue of self-government. (Ayr, 29-10-1902.)

But here is another—Self-government and popular control and we believe in that principle.

MR. JOHN MORLEY.

Yes, gentlemen, the sacred word 'free' which represented, as Englishmen have always thought until to-day, the noblest aspirations that can animate the breast of mau.

(Palmerston Club, 9.6-1900.)

In his view the root of good government was not to be found in bureaucracy or pedantocracy. They must seek to rouse up the free and spontaneous elements lying deep in the hearts and minds of the people of the country.

(Arbroath, 23-I0-1903.)

The study of the present revival of the spirit, instincts and traditions of Liberty and Liberalism among the Liberal statesmen of the day has produced in my heart full expectation that the end of the evil system, and the dawn of a Righteous and Liberal policy of freedom and self-government, are at hand for India. I trust that I am justified in my expectations and hope-ulness.

Ladies and gentlemen, we have all the powerful moral forces of justice, righteousness and honour of Britain, but our birthright and pledged rights and the absolute necessity and humanity of ending quickly all the sufferings of the masses of the people, from poverty, famine, plagues, destitution and degradation &c. On our side if we use those moral forces, which are very effective on a people like the British people, we must, we are bound to, win. What is wanted for us is to learn the lesson from Englishmen themselves—to agitate most largely and most perseveringly, by petitions, demonstrations and meetings, all quite peacefully but enthusiastically conducted. Let us not throw away our rights and moral forces which are so overwhelming on our side. I shall say something again on this subject.

With such very hopeful and promising views and declarations of some of the leaders of the present Government, we have also coming to our side more and more Parliament, Press and Platform. We have some 200 Members in the Indian Parliamentary Committee. The Labour Members, the Irish Nationalist Members, and the Radicals are sympathetic with us. We have several Liberal papers such as "The Daily News," "The Tribune," "The Morning Leader," "The Manchester Guardian,"

"The Star," "The Daily Chronicle," "Justice," "Investors' Review," "Reynolds," "New Age," and several others taking a juster view of India's rights and needs. We must make "India" a powerful organ. We have all sections of the Labour or Democratic Party, the British Nationalist Party, the Radicals and Liberals generally taking larger interest in Indian matters. The large section of the British people to whom conscience and righteousness are above every possible worldly thing, are also awakening to a sense of their duty to the vast population of India in their dire distress, and poverty, with all its dreadful consequences. When I was in Parliament and the only Indian, I had the support of the Irish, Radical and Labour Members. I never felt helpless and alone, and I succeeded in several of my efforts. We must have many Indian Members in Parliament till we get self-government. Under such favourable circumstances let us not fail to make the most of our opportunity for our political emancipation. Let us, it is true, at the same time do, what is in our power, to advance our Social and Industrial progress. But for our political emancipation, it will be a great folly and misfortune for us to miss this good fortune when it has at last come to us, though I fully admit we had enough of disappointments to make us lose heart and confidence.

I base my hope upon the "revival" of the old British love of liberty and self-government, of honour for pledges, of our rights of fellow British citizenship. Within the short life, that may yet be vouchsafed to me, I hope to see a loyal, honest, honourable and conscientious adoption of the policy for self-government for India—and a beginning made at once towards that end.

I have now expressed to you my hopes and reasons for such hopes for ourselves. But as the Moral Law, the greatest force of the Universe, has it,—in our good will be England's own greatest good. Bright has wisely said:—

The good of England must come through the channels of the good of India. . . . In order that England may become rich, India itself must become rich."

Mr. Morley has rightly said :-

No, gentlemen, every single right thing that is done by the Legislature, however moderate be its area, every single right thing is sure to lead to the doing of a great number of unforescen right things. (Dundee, 9-12-1889.)

If India is allowed to be prosperous by self-government, as the Colonies have become prosperous by self-government, what a vista of glory and benefits open up for the citizens of the British Empire, and for mankind, as an example and proof of the supremacy of the moral law and true civilization!

While we put the duty of leading us on to self-government on the heads of the present British statesmen, we have also the duty upon ourselves to do all we can to support those statesmen by, on the one hand, preparing our Indian people for the right understanding, exercise and enjoyment of self-government and on the other hand, of convincing the British people that we justly claim and must have all British rights. I put before the Congress my suggestions for their considertion. To put the matter in right form, we should send our "Petition of Rights" to His Majesty the King-Emperor, to the House of Commons and to the House of Lords. By the British Bill of Rights of 1689—by the 5th Clause—"the subjects have the right to present petitions to the Sovereign."

The next thing I suggest for your consideration, is that the well-to-do Indians should raise a large fund of

patrictism. With this fund we should organise a body of able men and good speakers, to go to all the nocks and corners of India and inform the people in their own languages of our British rights and how to exercise and enjoy them. Also to send to England another body of able speakers, and to provide means to go throughout the country and by large meetings to convince the British people that we justly claim and must have all British rights of self-government. By doing that I am sure that the British conscience will triumph and the British people will support the present statesmen, in their work of giving India responsible self-government in the shortest possible period. We must have a great agitation in England, as well as here. The struggle against the Corn Laws cost, I think, two millions and there was a great agitation. us learn to help ourselves in the same way.

I have said at the beginning that the duties of this Congress are two-fold. And of the two, the claim to a change of the present policy leading to self-government is the chief and most important work.

The second part of the work is the vigilant watch over the inevitable and unnecessary defects of the present machinery of the Administration as it exists and as long as it exists. And as the fundamental principles of the present Administration are unsound there are inherent evils, and others are naturally ever arising from them. These the Congress has to watch, and adopt means to remedy them, as far as possible, till self-government is attained, though it is only when self-government is attained that India will be free from its present evils and consequent sufferings. This part of the work the Congress has been doing very largely during all the past twenty-one years and the Subjects-

committee will place before you various resolutions necessary for the improvement of the existing administration, as far as such unnatural and uneconomic administration can be improved. I would not have troubled you more but that I should like to say a few words upon some topics connected with the second part of the work of the Congress—Bengal Partition and Swadeshi movement.

In the Bengal Partition, the Bengalees have a just and great grievance. It is a bad blunder for England. I do not despair but that this blunder, I hope, may yet be rectified. This subject is being so well threshed out by the Bengalees themselves that I need not say anything more about it. But in connection with it we hear a great deal about agitators and agitation. Agitation is the life and soul of the whole political, social and industrial history of England. It is by agitation the English have accomplished their most glorious achievements, their prosperity, their liberties and, in short, their first place among the rations of the world.

The whole life of England, every day, is all agitation. You do not open your paper in the morning but read from beginning to end it is all agitation—Congresses and Conferences—Meetings and Resolutions—without end, for a thousand and one movements local and national. From the Prime Minister to the humblest politician, his occupation is agitation for everything he wants to accomplish. The whole Parliament, Press and Platform is simply all agitation. Agitation is the civilized, peaceful weapon of moral force, and infinitely preferable to brute physical force when possible. The subject is very tempting. But I shall not say more than that the Indian journalists are mere Matriculators while the Anglo-Indian journalists are

Masters of Arts in the University of British Agitators.

The former are only the pupils of the latter, and the AngloIndian journalists ought to feel proud that their pupils are
doing credit to them. Perhaps a few words from an English
statesman will be more sedative and satisfactory.

Macaulay has said in one of his speeches :-

For every movement in England—hundreds, local and national—the chief weapons are agitation by meetings, demonstrations and petitions to Parliament. These petitions are not any begging for any favours any more than that the conventional "Your obedient servant" in letters makes a man an obedient servant. It is the conventional way of approaching higher authorities. The petitions are claims for rights or for justice or for reforms,- to influence and put pressure on Parliament by showing how the public regard any particular matter. The fact that we have more or less failed hitherto, is not because we have petitioned too much but that we have petitioned too little. One of the factors that carries weight in Parliament is the evidence that the people interested in any question are really in earnest. Only the other day Mr. Asquith urged as one of his reasons against women's franchise, that he did not see sufficient evidence to show that the majority of the women themselves were earnest to acquire the franchise. We have not petitioned or sgitated enough at all in our demands. In every important matter we must petition Parliament with hundreds and thousands of petitionswith hundreds of thousands of signatures from all parts of India. Taking one present instance in England, the Church party has held till the beginning of October last 1,400 meetings known and many more unknown, against the Education Bill and petitioned with three-quarters of a million signatures and many demonstrations. Since then they have been possibly more and more active. Agitate, agitate over the whole length and breadth of India in every nook and corner—peacefully of course—if we really mean to get justice from John Bull. Satisfy him that we are in earnest. The Bengalees, I am glad, have learnt the lesson—and have led the march. All India must learn the lesson—cf sacrifice of money and of earnest personal work.

Agitate; agitate means inform. Inform inform the Indian people what their rights are and why and how they should obtain them, and inform the British people of the rights of the Indian people and why they should grant them. If we do not speak, they say we are satisfied. If we speak, we become agitators! The Indian people are properly asked to act constitutionally while the Government remains unconstitutional and despotic.

Next about the "settled fact." Every Bill defeated in Parliament is a "settled fact." Is it not? And the next year it makes its appearance again. The Education Act of 1902 was a settled fact. An Act of Parliament, was it not? And now within a short time what a turmoil is it in? And what an agitation and excitement has been going on about it and is still in prospect! It may lead to a clash between the two Houses of Parliament. There is nothing as an eternal "settled fact." Times change, circumstances are misunderstood or changed, better light and understanding or new

forces come into play, and what is settled to-day may become obsolete to-morrow.

The organizations which I suggest, and which I may call a band of political missionaries in all the Provinces, will serve many purposes at once—to inform the people of their rights as British citizens, to prepare them to claim those rights by petitions and when the rights are obtained to exercise and enjoy them.

"Swadeshi" is not a thing of to-day. It has existed. in Bombay as far as I know for many years past. freetrader, I am a member, and in the Executive Committee of the Cobden Club for 20 years, and yet I say that "Swadeshi" is a forced necessity for India in its unnatural economic muddle. As long as the economic condition remains unnatural and impoverishing, by the necessity of supplying every year some Rs. 20,00,00,000 for the salary. pensions, &c., of the children of a foreign country at the expense and impoverishment of the children of India, to talk of applying economic laws to the condition of India is adding insult to injury . I have said so much about this over and over again that I would not say more about it here-I refer to my book. I ask any Englishman whether Englishmen would submit to this unnatural economic muddle of India for a single day in England, leave alone 150 years? No, never. No, Ladies and gentlemen, England will never submit to it. It is, what I have already: quoted in Mr. Morley's words, it is "the meddling wrongly with economic things that is going to the very life, to the very heart, to the very core of our national existence" (Vide Appendix B).

Among the duties which I have said are incumbent upon the Indians, there is one, which, though I mention.

last, is not the least. I mean a thorough political union among the Indian people of all creeds and classes. I make an appeal to all-call it mendicant if you like-I am not ashamed of being a mendicant in any good cause and under necessity for any good cause. I appeal to the Indian people for this, because it is in their own hands only just as I appeal to the British people for things that are entirely in their hands. In this appeal for a thorough union for political purposes among all the people I make a particular one to my friends, the Mahomedans. They are a manly people. They have been rulers both in and out of India. They are rulers this day both in and cut of India. They have the highest Indian Prince ruling over the largest Native State, viz., H. H. the Nizam. Among other Mahamedan Princes they have Junagad, Radhanpur, Bhopal and others.

Notwithstanding their backward education, they have the pride of having had in all India the first Indian Barrister in Mr. Budrudin Tyabji and first Solicitor in Mr. Kamrudin Tyabji, two Mahomedan brothers. What a large share of Bombay commerce is in the hands of Maho-

^{*}As regards the first Indian Barrister and the first Indian Attorney, it appears that Mr. Dababhai Naoroji was wrongly informed. Of course, any community would be proud of two such distinguished members as were the Tyabji brothers, both of whom met with great success and attained the highest positions in their respective professions, but they were not the first Indians to adopt those professions. Mr. Budrudin Tyabji was called to the Bar on the 30th April, 1867 and there were at least two or three Indian Barristers before him. Mr. M. Ghose was called on the 6th June, 1866, and Mr. G. M. Tagore, who is believed to be the first Indian Barrister, was called to the Bar on the 11th June, 1862, and long before that, Babu Baney Madhub Banerjee became an Attorney of the Calcutta High Court and he was believed to have been the first Indian Attorney, whereas Mr. Kamrudin Tyabji was a centemporary of his other brother.

medans is well-known. Their chief purpose and effort at present must be to spread education among themselves. In this matter among their best friends have been Sir Syed Ahmed and Justice Tyabji in doing their utmost to promote education among them. Once they bring themselves in education in a line with the Hindus, they have nothing to fear. They have in them the capacity, energy and intellect, to hold their own and to get their due share in all the walks of life—of which the State Services are but a small part. State Services are not everything.

Whatever voice I can have I wish Government would give every possible help to promote education among the Mahomedans. Once self-government is attained then will there be prosperity enough for all, but not till then. The thorough union, therefore, of all the people for their emancipation is an absolute necessity.

All the people in their political position are in one boat. They must sink or swim together. Without this union all efforts will be vain. There is the common saying—but also the best commonsense—" United we stand—divided we fall."

There is one other circumstance, I may mention here. If I am right, I am under the impression that the bulk of the Bengalee Mahomedans were Hindus by race and blood, only a few generations ago. They have the tie of blood and kinship. Even now a great mass of the Bengalee Mahomedans are not to be easily distinguished from their Hindu brothers. In many places they join together in their social joys and sorrows. They cannot divest themselves from the natural affinity of common blood. On the Bombay side, the Hindus and Mahomedans of Gujarat all speak the same language, Gujarati,

and are of the same stock, and all the Hindus and Mahomedans of Maharastic Annan—all speak the same language, Marathi and are of the same stock—and so I think it is all over India, excepting in North India where there are the descendants of the original Mahomedan invaders, but they are now also the people of India.

Sir Syed Ahmed was a nationalist to the backbone. I will mention an incident that happened to myself with him. On his first visit to England, we happened to meet together in the house of Sir C. Wingfield. He and his friends were waiting and I was shown into the same room. One of his friends recognising me introduced me to him. As soon as he heard my name he at once held me in strong embrace and expressed himself very much pleased. In various ways, I knew that his heart was in the welfare of all India as one nation. He was a large and liberal-minded patriot. When I read his life some time ago I was inspired with respect and admiration for him. As I cannot find my copy of his life I take the opportunity of repeating some of his utterances which Sir Henry Cotton has given in India of 12th October last.

"Mahomedans and Hindus were," he said, "the two eyes of India." "Injure the one and you injure the other." We should try to become one in heart and soul and act in unison; if united, we can support each other, if not, the effect of one against the other will tend to the destruction and downfall of both."

He appreciated when he found worth and freely expressed it. He said:—

I assure you that the Bengalees are the only people in our country whom we can properly be proud of, and it is only due to them that knowledge, liberty and patriotism have progressed in our country. I can truly say that they are really the head and crown of all the communities of Hindustan. In the word "nation" I include both Hindus and Mahomedans, because that is the only meaning which I can attach to it. Such was the wise and patriotic counsel of that great man and our Mahomedan friends will, I hope, take it to heart. I repeat once more that our emancipation depends upon the thorough union of all the people of India without any obstruction.

I have often read about the question of a constitution for the Congress. I think the gentlemen who raise this question would be the proper persons to prepare one like a Bill in the House of Commons in all its details. The Congress then can consider it and deal with it as the majority may decide.

Let every one of us do the best he can, do all in harmony for the common object of self-government.

Lastly, the question of social reforms and industrial progress—each of them needs its own earnest body of workers. Each requires for it separate, devoted attention. All the three great purposes—Political, Social and Industrial—must be set working side by side. The progress in each will have its influence on the others. But, as Mr. Morley truly and with deep insight says:—"Political principles are, after all, the root of our national greatness, strength and hope," and his other important utterance which I repeat with this one sums up the whole position of the Indian problem. He says: "The meddling wrongly with economic things, that is going to the very life, to the very heart, to the very core of our national existence."

This meddling wrongly with economic things is the whole evil from which India suffers—and the only remedy for it is—"Political principles are, after all, the root of our national greatness, strength and hope." And these political principles are summed up in self-government. Self-

government is the only and chief remedy. In self-government lies our hope, strength and greatness.

I recommend to your serious notice the treatment of British Indians in South Africa,

I give a small Appendix B of some facts and figures which I need not read now.

Well, ladies and gortlemen, I have finished my task. I do not know what good fortune may be in store for me during the short period that may be left to me, and if I can leave a word of affection and devotion for my country and countrymen, I say: be united, persevere, and achieve self-government so that the millions now perishing by poverty, famine and plague, and the scores of millions that are starving on scanty subsistence may be saved and India may once more occupy her proud position of yore among the greatest and civilized nations of the World.

Appointment of a Royal Commission.

[The following speech was delivered by Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji at the First Congress held in Bombay, 1885.]

I had no thought of speaking on this resolution,* but I see I must say something. There is a notion running under some remarks, that if a Conservative Government appoints a Committee, it will not be a good one. I do not think there is any good reason for that assumption. The Conservatives are not so bad that they will never do a good thing, nor are the Liberals so good that they never did a bad thing. In fact we owe good to both, and we have nothing to do with them yet as parties. We are thankful to either party that does us good. The Proclamation is the gift of a Conservative Government. I have some experience of a Parliamentary Committee and that Committee, a Liberal one; and vet under the Chairmanship of a gentleman like Mr. Ayrton, you cannot be sure of a fair hearing. On the other hand, a fair-minded Chairman and similar members, be they Conservatives or Liberals, would make a good Committee. and give a fair inquiry. Much depends upon the Secretary of State for India. If he is a fair-minded person and not biassed in any particular way, you will have a fair Committee. If we are asking for a Parliamentary Committee we need not be afraid of asking one from a Conservative

^{*} Resolution.—That this Congress earnestly recommends that the promised inquiry into the working of the Indian Administration here and in England should be entrusted to a Royal Commission, the people of India being adequately represented thereon, and evidence taken both in India and in England.

Government. A Secretary of State like Sir Stafford Northcote (Lord Iddesleigh) will give a fair one, and we should not assume that the present Secretary will not give a good one. We should only desire that Anglo-Indians may not be put in it, or only a few such in whom Natives have confidence. In such an inquiry Anglo-Indian officials are on their trial, and they should not be allowed to sit in judgment upon themselves.

From the remarks already made, there appears to be an undecidedness, whether to ask for a Committee, or for a Royal Commission. And there seems also a notion underneath, that if we were not satisfied with the one we could ask for the other. Now we must bear in mind that it is not an easy thing to get a Parliamentary Committee or a Royal Commission, and that you cannot have either whenever you like. Do not suppose that if we have a Committee or a Commission and if we say we are dissatisfied with its results, we would at once get another for the asking. We must make up our minds definitely as to what we want and what would be the best thing for us. You should not leave it open whether there should be a Committee or Commission. Whichever you want, say it out once for all. In dealing with Englishmen, make up your minds deliberately, speak clearly, and work perseveringly. Then and then only can you hope to be listened to, and get your wishes. You must not show that you do not know your own mind. Therefore, know your own mind, and say clearly whether you desire a Parliamentary Committee, or a Royal Commission. It is evidently the desire here, that a full and impartial enquiry by fair and highminded English statesmen, with an adequate number of Natives on the enquiring body, should be carried on in India

itself. If so, then we must remember that a Parliamentary Committee can consist only of members of Parliament, and can sit in the Parliament House only. For our purpose to lay bare the actual conditions of India, an inquiry in India, in all departments and in the whole condition of Indiamaterial and moral—is absolutely necessary. No enquiry in England, and that with the evidence of Anglo-Indians chiefly—who themselves are on trial, and who would not naturally condemn their own doings and work-can ever bring out the truth about India's true condition and wants and necessary reforms. We, then irresistibly come to one conclusion, that an enquiry in India itself is absolutely necessary, and that such an enquiry can be conducted by a Royal Commission. Only let us clearly say our mind that we ask for a Royal Commission. Do not let there be any doubt about what we do really want. If I am right in interpreting your desire, then I say let there be no vague general resolution, but say clearly and distinctly that we require a Royal Commission.

Reform of Legislative Council.*

[The following speech was delivered by Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji at the First Congress held in Bomhay 1885.]

I am glad my friends, the Hon'ble Mr. Telang and the Hon'ble Mr. S. Iyer, have relieved me of much trouble, as they have anticipated a deal of what I had to say, which I need not repeat.

We asked for representation in the Legislative Councils of India. It is not for us to teach the English people how necessary representation is for good government. We have learnt the lesson from them, and knowing from them how great a blessing it is to those nations who enjoy it, and how utterly un-English it is for the English nation to withhold it from us, we can, with confidence and trust, ask them to give us to is. I do not want to complain of the past. It is past and gone. It cannot be said how that the time is not come to give representation. Thanks to our rulers themselves, we have now sufficiently advanced to know the value of representation and to understand the necessity that representation must go with taxation, that

^{*}Resolution.—That this Congress considers the reform and expansion of the Supreme and existing Legislative Councils, by the admission of a considerable proportion of elected members (and the creation of similar Councils for the North West Provinces and Oudh, and also for the Punjab) essential; and holds that all Budgets should be referred to those Councils for consideration, their members being moreover empowered to interpellate the Executive in regard to all branches of the administration; and that a Standing Committee of the House of Commons should be constituted to receive and consider any formal protests that may be recorded by majorities of such Councils against the exercise by the Executive of the powers, which would be vested in it, of overruling the decisions of such majorities.

the taxed must have a voice in the taxation that is imposed on them. We are British subjects, and I say we can demand what we are entitled to and expect still at British hands their greatest and most noble institution and heritage. It is our inheritance also and we should not be kept out of it. Why, if we are to be denied Britain's best institutions, what good is it to India to be under the British sway? It will be simply another Asiatic despotism. What makes us proud to be British subjects, what attaches us to this foreign rule with deeper loyalty than even our own past Native rule, is the fact that Britain is the parent of free and representative government, and, that we, as her subjects and children, are entitled to inherit the great blessing of freedom and representation. We claim the inheritance. If not, we are not the British subjects which the Proclamation proclaims us to be-equal in rights and privileges with the rest of Her Majesty's subjects. We are only British drudges or slaves. Let us persevere. Britain would never be a slave and could not, in her very nature and instinct, make a slave. Her greatest glory is freedom and representation, and, as her subjects, we shall have these blessed gifts,

Coming to the immediate and practical part of our demand, I may say that it will be to Government itself a great advantage and relief—advantage, inasmuch as it will have the help of those who know the true wants of the Natives, and in whom the Natives have confidence, and relief so far that the responsibility of legislation will not be upon the head of Government only, but upon that of the representatives of the people also. And the people will have to blame themselves if they fail to send the right sort of men to represent themselves. I think Govern-

ment has now reason rather to thank than repel us for demanding this boon which, if granted, will, on the one hand, make government easier and more effective, and, on the other, attach the people to British rule more deeply than before.

Our first reform should be to have the power to tax ourselves. With that and another reform for which I shall move hereafter, India will advance in material and moral prosperity, and bless and benefit England. The proposal about the right of interpellation is very important,—as important and useful to Government itself as to the people. The very fact that questions will be put in the Council, will prevent in a measure that evil which at present is beyond Government's reach to redress. Government will be relieved of the odium and inconvenience which it at present suffers from misunderstanding and want of opportunities of giving explanation. The British Parliament and public, and the British Government in all its departments, benefit largely by this power of putting questions in Parliament, and the same will be the result here. There will be, in the circumstances of India, one essential difference between the British Parliament and the Indian Legislative Councils. In Parliament, the Government, if defeated, resigns, and the Opposition comes into power. That cannot be done in India. Whether defeated or not, Government will remain in power. Moreover, the Secretary of State for India will have the power to veto, and no harm can happen. If the Government, either Provincial or Supreme, disregard the vote against it, and if the Secretary of State support the disregarding Government, there will be, as a last remedy, the Standing Committee of Parliament as the ultimate appellate

body to decide on the point of disagreement; and thus Parliament will truly, and not merely nominally as at present, become the final controlling authority.

We are British subjects and subjects of the same gracious sovereign who has pledged her royal word that we are to her as all her other subjects, and we have a right to all British institutions. If we are true to ourselves, and perseveringly ask what we desire, the British people are the very people on earth who will give what is right and just. From what has already been done in the past we have ample reason to indulge in this belief. Let us for the future equally rely on that character and instinct of the British. They have taught us our wants and they will supply them.

After some discussion, Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji said :-Before the Hon'ble Mr. Telang replies, I may ask to be allowed to say a few words. I may just explain what an important thing this Standing Committee will be. During the East India Company's time, Parliament was entirely independent of it. Parliament was then truly an effective appellate body. It took up Indian questions quite freely and judged fairly, without the circumstance of parties ever interfering with its deliberations. If there was a complaint against the Company, Parliament was free to sit in juigment on it. What is the position since the transfer of the government to the Crown? The Secretary of State for India is the Parliament. Every question in which he is concerned becomes a Cabinet question. His majority is at his back. This majority has no concern in Indian matters further than to back the Government, i.e. the Secretary of State for India. All appeals, therefore,

to Parliament against the Secretary of State become a mere farce. M. P.s are utterly discouraged from their inability to do any thing. And the Secretary of State becomes the true Great Mogul of India-a despotic monarch. His will is his law. Nor can the people of India influence him, as their voice is not represented in Parliament. Thus, that tribunal can scarcely exercise any effectual check over his despotism. The present legislative machinery, from the Local Councils upwards, is simply a device to legalise despotism and give it the false mask of constitutionalism. The tax-payers have no voice in the imposition of the taxes they pay, and Parliament has not the ability to prevent the levy of unfair or oppressive taxation. The ultimate controlling authority seems helpless to control anything. Now if we have complete representative legislation here, and if we have a Standing Committee in Parliament, we shall have both the voice of the taxed on the one side and effectual control of Varliament on the other. Such a Standing Committee will naturally be independent of all parties. Its decision will be no defeat of Government. It will be simply a final decision on the point of difference that may have arisen between the representatives of the people in India on the one hand, and the Government on the other, on any particular question, India will thus have an effectual parliamentary control.

It is said we should propose something as a substitute for the present India office Council. The resolution now before the Congress makes this unnecessary. The Council, when it was established, was considered to be protective of Indian interests. It has not proved so. When it suits the Secretary of State, he screens himself behind that Council. When it does not suit him, he flings the Council

aside. We have no means of knowing what good at all is done by the Council. Its irresponsibility and its secrecy are fatal objections to its continuance. Such a thing in Government of an empire of 200 millions of people and under the British is an utter and an inexplicable anach-Moreover, the majority of the Council consists rogism. of Anglo-Indians. These, sitting in judgment on their own hand work, naturally regard it as perfect. Having left India years ago, they fail to realise the rapid changes that are taking place here in our circumstances, lose touch with us and offer resistance to all progress. Times are now changed. The natives, I may say, have come of age. They can represent directly their wishes and views to the Government here, and to the Secretary of State. They do not require the aid of this Council at the India Office for their so-called representation or protection.

I may here remark, that the chief work of this the first National Congress of India is to enunciate clearly and boldly our highest and ultimate wishes. Whether we get them or not immediately, let our rulers know what our highest aspirations are. And if we are true to ourselves, the work of each delegate present here will be to make the part of India where he happens to live devote itself earnestly to carrying out the objects resolved upon at this Congress with all due deliberation. If, then, we lay down clearly that we desire to have the actual government of India transferred from England to India under the simple controlling power of the Secretary of State, and of Parliament, through its Standing Committee, and that we further desire that taxation and legislation shall be imposed here by representative Councils, we say what we are aiming at. And that under such an arrangement no Council to advise

the Secretary of State is necessary. Neither is a Council needed to attend to the appellate executive work. There is a permanent Under-Secretary of State who will be able to keep up continuity of knowledge and transact all current business. There are, besides, Secretaries at the head of the different departments as experts. I do not deny that at times the India Office Council has done good service. But this was owing to the personality and sympathy of individual men like Sir E. Perry. The constitution of the body as a body is objectionable and anomalous. When the whole power of imposing taxation and legislation is transferred here, the work of the Secretary of State will be largely diminished. It will only be confined to general supervision of important matters. Whatever comes before him for disposal will be set forth by the Government from here fully and fairly in all its bearings. No Council will be needed to aid him in forming his judgment. Thus no substitute is required for the India Office Council. It is enough for us to formulate the scheme, now submitted for your consideration, as one which India needs and desires, viz., representative Legislative Councils in India, with full financial control and interpellatory powers. And we shall not need to trouble much the authorities in England.

Simultaneous Examinations in England & India.

The Hon'ble Dadabhai Naoroji, in moving the fourth Resolution*, said :- The Resolution which I am proposing does not in any way involve the question whether the distinction between the covenanted and uncovenanted services should be abolished or not. That is a separate question altogether, and in fact, if my resolution is adopted that question will become unnecessary or very subordinate. The resolution which I propose to you is of the utmost possible importance to India. It is the most important key to cur material and moral advancement. All our other political reforms will benefit us but very little indeed if this reform of all reforms is not made. It is the question of poverty or prosperity. It is the question of lifeand death to India. It is the question of questions. Fortunately, it is not necessary for me on this occasion to go into all its merits, as I hope you are all already well

^{*&}quot; That in the opinion of this Congress the Competitive Examinations now held in England, for first appointments in various Civil departments of the public service, should henceforth, in accordance with the views of the India Office Committee of 1860, 'be held simultaneously, one in England and one in India, both being as far as practicable identical in their nature, and those who compete in both countries being finally classified in one list according to merit,' and that the successful candidates in India should be sent to England for further study, and subjected there to such further examinations as may seem needful. Further, that all other first appointments (excluding peonships and the like) should be filled by competitive examinations held in India, under conditions calculated to secure such intellectual, moral, and physical qualifications as may be decided by Government to be necessary. Lastly, that the maximum age of candidates for entrance into the Covenanted Civil Service be raised to not less than 23 years."

aware of my views and their reasons, or it would have been very difficult for me to lay before you all I should have had to say without speaking for hours. There is an additional good fortune for me that what I want to propose was already proposed a quarter of a century ago by no less an authority than a Committee of the India Office itself. The report of this Committee gives the whole matter in a nutshell from the point of view of justice, right, expediency and honest fulfilment of promises. And the reasons given by it for the Covenanted Civil Service apply equally to all the other services in the civil department. I do not refer to the military service in this resolution, as that is a matter requiring special consideration and treatment. To make my remarks as brief as possible, as we are much pressed for time, I shall first at once read to you the extract from the report of the Committee consisting of Sir J. P. Willoughby, Mr. Mangles, Mr. Arbuthnot, Mr. Macnaughten, and Sir Erskine Perry.

The report, dated 20th January 1860, says:-

- 2. We are, in the first place, unanimously of opinion that it is not only just but expedient that the Natives of India shall be employed in the administration of India to as large an extent as possible, consistently with the maintenance of British supremacy, and have considered whether any increased facilities can be given in this direction.
- "3. It is true that, even at present, no positive disqualification exists. By Act 3 and 4, Wm. 4, C. 85, S. 87, it is enacted "that no Native of the said territories, nor any natural born subject of His Majesty resident therein, shall, by reason only of his religion, place of birth, descent, colour or any of them, be disabled from holding any place, office or employment under the said Company." It is obvious therefore that when the competitive system was adopted it could not have been intended to exclude Natives of India from the Civil Service of India.
- "4. Practically, however, they are excluded. The law declares them eligible, but the difficulties opposed to a Native kaving India, and residing in England for a time, are so great, that

as a general rule, it is almost impossible for a Native successfully to compete at the periodical examination held in England. Were this inequality removed, we should no longer be exposed to the charge of keeping promise to the ear and breaking it to the hope.

"5. Two modes have been suggested by which the object in view might be attained. The first is by allotting a certain portion of the total number of appointments declared in each year to be competed for in India by Natives and by other natural-born subjects of Her Majesty's residents in India. The second is, to hold simultaneously two examinations, one in England and one in India, both being, as far as practicable, identical in their nature, and those who compete in both countries being finally classified in one list according to merit by the Civil Service Commissioners. The Committee have no hesitation in giving the preference to the second scheme, as being the fairest, and the most in accordance with the principles of a general competition for a common object.'

Now according to strict right and justice the examination for services in India ought to take place in India alone. The reople of Australia, Canada and the Cape do not go to England for their services. Why should Indians be compelled to go to England to compete for the services, unless it be England's despotic will. But I am content to propose the resolution according to the views of the Committee for simultaneous examinations, both in England and in India, and reasons that apply to the Civil Service apply equally well to the other services in the Civil Department, viz., Engineering, Medical, Telegraph, Forest, and so on.

I may here remind you that in addition to the Act of 1833 referred to by the Committee, we have the solemn promises contained in the Proclamation of our gracious Sovereign. The fact is told to us in unmistakable language:—

"We hold ourselves bound to the Natives of our Indian territories by the same obligations of duty which bind us to all our other subjects; and those obligations, by the blessing of Almighty God, we shall faithfully and conscientiously fulfil." And then they declared her gracious promise specifically on this very part of the services:—

"And it is our further will that, so far as may be, our subjects of whatever race or creed, be freely and impartially admitted to offices in our service, the duties of which they may be qualified, by their education, ability and integrity, duly to discharge."

This gracious proclamation and the promises contained therein were made known in 1858. And the India Office Committee showed, in 1860, in what way these promises could. be fulfilled, so as to relieve the English nation from "the charge of keeping promise to the ear and breaking it to the hope." With the Act of Parliament of 1833, the solemn promises of 1858, of our Sovereign before God and man, and the declaration by the India Office of the mode of fulfilling those promises in 1860, it is bardly necessary for me to say more. Our case for the resolution proposed by me is complete. As a matter of justice, solemn promises and even expediency, I would have ended my speech here, but my object in proposing this resolution rests upon a far higher and a most important conside-The question of the extreme poverty of India is now no more a controversial point. Viceroys and Finance Ministers have admitted it. The last official declaration by Sir E. Baring is complete and unequivocal. In his budget speech of 18th March 1882 he said :--

"It has been calculated that the average income per head of population in India is not more than Rs.27 a year; and though I am not prepared to pledge myself to the absolute accuracy of a calculation of this sort, it is sufficiently accurate to justify the conclusion that the taxpaying community is exceedingly poor. To derive any very large increase of revenue from so poor a population as this is obviously impossible, and, if it were possible, would be unjustifiable."

Again, in the discussion on the budget, after repeating the above statement regarding the income of Rs.27 per head per annum, he said:—

"But he thought it was quite sufficient to show the extreme poverty of the mass of the people. In England the average income per head of population was £33 per head; in France it was £23; in Turkey, which was the poorest country in Europe, it was £42 per head. He would ask Honorable members to think what Rs.27 per annum was to support a person, and then he would ask whether a few annas was nothing to such poor people."

With this emphatic and clear opinion before you, I need not say more. The question is what is the cause of this poverty? I have shown in my papers on the poverty of India, and in my correspondence with the Secretary of State for India, that the sole cause of this extreme poverty and wretchedness of the mass of the people is the inordinate employment of foreign agency in the government of the country and the consequent material loss to and drain from the country. I request those who have not already seen these papers to read them, for it is utterly impossible for me to go through the whole argument here. It will be, therefore, now clear to you that the employment of Native agency is not merely a matter of justice and expediency, according to the views of the India Office Committee, but a most absolute necessity for the poor, suffering, and starving millions of India. It is a question of life and death to the country. The present English rule is no doubt the greatest blessing India has ever had, but this one evil of it nullifies completely all the good it has achieved. Remove but this one evil, and India will be blessed in every way and will be a blessing to England also in every way. The commerce between England and India will increase so that England will then be able to benefit herself ten times more by India's prosperity than what she does now. There will be none of the constant struggle that is at present to be witnessed between the rulers and the ruled-the one

screwing out more and more taxes, like squeezing a squeezed orange-inflicting suffering and distress, and the other always crying itself hoarse about its inability to provide them owing to extreme poverty. By the removal of the evil-India will be able not merely to supply a revenue of £70,000,000, but £170,000,000, with ease and comfort. England takes over 50 shillings a head for her revenue, why may not India under the same rule be able to take even 20 a head? Indians would easily pay £200,000,000. I should stop now. I hope you will see that this resolution is of the greatest possible importance to India, and I implore every one of you present here to-day to strain every nerve and work perseveringly inyour respective localities to attain this object. regard to the second part of the resolution, the uncovenanted services, the same reasoning and necessity apply. A fair system of competition, testing all necessary qualifications-mental, moral and physical-will be the most suitable mode of supplying the services with the best and most eligible servants, and relieve Government of all the pressure of back door and private influences, and jobbery.

The subject of the age of candidates for the Civil Service examination needs no lengthened remarks from me. It has been only lately thrashed out, and it has been established beyond all doubt that the higher age will give you a superior class of men, whether English or Native. I conclude, therefore, with the earnest exhortation that you will all apply yourselves vigorously to free poor India from the great evil of the drain on her resources.

If the British will once understand our true condition, their conscientious desire to rule India for India's and humanity's good, will never allow the evil to continue any longer. Lastly, I hope and trust that our rulers will receive our representations in their proper spirit. We sincerely believe that the good we propose for ourselves is also a good for them. Whatever good they will do to us cannot but in the very nature of things be good to them also. The better we are in material and moral prosperity, the more grateful, attached and loyal we shall be the worse we are, the less our gratitude and loyalty shall naturally be. The more prosperous we are, the larger shall be their custom; the worse we are, the condition will be the reverse. The question of our prosperity is as much the question of the prosperity of England and her working man. England's trade would be enriched by £250,000,000, if with our prosperity each unit of the Indian population is ever able to buy from England goods worth only £1 per annum. What is wanted is the fructification in our own pocket of our annual produce. repeat that it is my hope and trust that our rulers may receive our players in their right spirit and do us all the good in their power, for it will redound to their good name, honour and everlasting glory. Let us have the Royal Proclamation fulfilled in its true spirit and integrity and both England and India will be benefited and blessed.

With these observations 1 beg to propose the Fourth Resolution.

The Hon'ble Dadabhai Naoroji, in reply to the discussion, said:—I am glad I have not much to reply to. The appreciation of the importance of the resolution is clear. My remarks will be more as explanations of a few matters. I had much to do with the passing of the clause

for granting to us the Statutory Civil Service. It is an important concession, and we have to be very grateful for it. I need not here go into its history. The statesmen in England who gave us this were sincere and explicit in the matter. Whatever complaint we have, it is with the authorities here. First of all, after the clause was passed, the Government of India entirely ignored it and did nothing to give it effect for 6 years! It was only when pressure was applied to it from England, into the details of which this is not the time or place for me to enter, that the necessary rules were at last prepared and published. These rules have been so drafted that they may be carried out in a way to bring discredit on the Service. And whether this is done intentionally or not, whether the subsequent objectionable action upon it was also intentional or not, I cannot say. But the most important element in the carrying out of this clause was partially or wholly ignored, and that has been the real cause of its so-called failure, - I mean educational competence, ascertained either by suitable competition, or proved ability, was an absolutely indispensable condition for admitting candidates to this service. It is just this essential condition that has been several times ignored or forgotten. Let therefore your efforts be devoted strenuously not against the clause itself, but against the objectionable mode in which the nominations are made. The Bengal Government has moved in a satisfactory direction, and its example should be followed by all the Governments. It will be the height of folly on our part to wish the abolition of this Statutory Civil Service - excepting only when simultaneous examinations are held in England and India giving a fair field to all, as proposed in the present resolution. In this fair competition, Eurasians, or domiciled Englishmen, in fact all subjects of Her Imperial Majesty, will have equal justice. I understand that the Eurasians and domiciled Anglo-Indians come under the definition of what is called "Statutory Natives." It is only right that those whose country is India should be considered as Natives, and should enjoy all the rights and privileges of Natives. United action between the Natives and Eurasians and domiciled Anglo-Indians will be good for all. What is objectionable is, that Eurasians and domiciled Anglo-Indians blow hot and cold at the same time. At one moment they claim to be Natives, and at another they spurn the Natives and claim to be Englishmen! Common sense must tell them that this is an absurd position to take up and must ultimately do them more harm than good. I desired that there should be cordial union between all whose country is, or who make their country, India. One of the speakers remarked that the employment of Natives will be economical. This is a point which I am afraid is not clearly understood. The fact is that the employment of a Native is not only economy, but complete gain to the whole extent of his salary. When a European is employed, he displaces a Native whom nature intended to fill the place. The native coming in his place is natural. Every pie he eats is therefore a gain to the country, and every pie he saves is so much saved to the country for the use of all its children. Every pie paid to a foreigner is a complete material loss to the country. Every pie paid to a Native is a complete material saving to the country. In fact, as I have already endeavoured to impress upon you as earnestly as possible, it is the whole question of the poverty or prosperity of the country. We should of course pay a reasonable price for English rule, so that we may have the highest power of control and supervision in English hands, but beyond that is simply to ruin India and not such a benefit to England as she would otherwise have, were India a prosperous country. Our friend there expressed some doubt about the necessity of going to England. I say without the least hesitation that the candidate bimself as well as the service will be vastly benefited by a visit to England. The atmosphere of freedom and high civilization which he will breathe will make him an altered man-in character, in intelligence, in experience, in self-respect and in appreciation of due respect for others. In short, he will largely increase his fitness and command more respect in his responsible service. I mean, of course, in the resolution that the expenses of such visits to England by the candidates who have successfully passed the different examinations for the different services in India, should be paid from the public revenue. It may be made clear in the resolution, by adding " at the public expense,"

I conclude with my most anxious and earnest exhortation to this Congress, and to every individual member of it, that they should perseveringly strain every nerve to secure the all important object of this resolution as early as possible. Once this foreign drain, this "bleeding to death," is stopped, India will be capable, by reason of its land, labour and its vast resources to become as prosperous as England, with benefit to England also and to mankind, and with eternal glory to the English name and nation.

SPEECHES IN THE HOUSE OF COMMONS.

Maiden Speech.

[On the 9th August 1892, Mr. Naoroji made his maiden speech in the House of Commons, during the debate on the Address to the Queen.]

It may be considered rather rash and unwise on my part to stand before this House so immediately after my admission here: and my only excuse is that I am under a certain necessity to do so. My election for an English constituency is a unique event. For the first time during more than a century of settled British rule, an Indian is admitted into the House as a member for an English constituency. That, as I have said, is a unique event in the history of India, and, I may also venture to say, in the history of the British Empire. I desire to say a few words in analysis of this great and wonderful phenome-The spirit of the British rule, the instinct of British justice and generosity, from the very commencement, when they seriously took the matter of Indian policy into their hands, about the beginning of this century, decided that India was to be governed on the lines of British freedom and justice. Steps were taken without any hesitation to introduce Western education, civilisation, and political institutions in that country; and the result was that, aided by a noble and grand language in which the youth of that country began to be elucated, a great movement of political life-I may say new lifewas infused into that country which had been decaying for centuries. The British rulers of the country endowed it with all their own most important privileges. A few

days ago, Sir, you demanded from the Throne the privileges which belong to the people, including freedom of speech, for which they fought and shed their blood. That freedom of speech you have given to us, and it enables Indians to stand before you and represent in clear and open language any desire they have felt. By conferring those privileges you have prepared for this final result of an Indian standing before you in this House, becoming a member of the great Imperial Parliament of the British Empire, and being able to express his views openly and fearlessly before you. The glory and credit of this great event-by which India is thrilled from one end to the other-of the new life, the joy, the ecstacy of India at the present moment, are all your own; it is the spirit of British institutions and the love of justice and freedom in British instincts which has produced this extraordinary result, and I stand here in the name of India to thank the British people that they have made it at all possible for an Indian to occupy this position, and to speak freely in the English language of any grievance which India may be suffering under, with the conviction that though he stands alone, with only one vote, whenever he is able to bring forward any aspiration and is supported by just and proper reasons, he will find a large number of other members from both sides of the House ready to support him and give him the justice he asks. This is the conviction which permeates the whole thinking and educated classes of India. It is that conviction that enables us to work on, day after day, without dismay, for the removal of a grievance. The question new being discussed before the House will come up from time to time in practical shape and I shall then be able to express my humble views upon

them as a representative of the English constituency of Central Finsbury. 1 do not intend to enter into them now. Central Finsbury has earned the everlasting gratitude of the millions of India, and has made itself famous in the History of the British Empire, by electing an Indian to represent it. Its name will never be forgotten by India. This event has strengthened the British power and the loyalty and attachment of India to it ten times more than the sending out of one hundred thousand European soldiers would have done. The moral force to which the right honourable gentleman, the member for Midlothian (Mr. W. E. Gladstone), referred is the golden link by which India is held by the British power. So . long as India is satisfied with the justice and honour of Britain, so long will her Indian Empire last, and I have not the least doubt that, though our progress may be slow and we may at times meet with disappointments, if we persevere, whatever justice we ask in reason we shall get. I thank you, Sir, for allowing me to say these few words and the House for so indulgently listening to me, and I bope that the connection between England and Indiawhich forms five-sixths of the British Empire-may continue long with benefit to both countries. There will be certain Indian questions, principally of administration, which I shall have to lay before the House, and I am quite sure that when they are brought forward they will be fairly considered, and if reasonable, amended to our satisfaction.

AN INQUIRY INTO THE CONDITION OF INDIA.

AMENDMENT FOR A FULL AND INDEPENDENT PARLIAMENTARY ENQUIRY,

August 14th, 1894.

Mr. Naoroji (Finsbury, Central) said he undertook now to second this Resolution, and before going into the subject of the different parts of which it consisted he would say a few preliminary words. The Government of India distinctly admitted and knew very well that the educated people of India were thoroughly loyal. The hon. Member of Kingston (Sir R. Temple) had stated that the state of the country and of the people often invited or demanded criticism on the part of the Natives. It was in every way desirable that their sentiments and opinions should be made known to the ruling classes, and such outspoken frankness should never be mistaken for disloyalty or disaffection. Nothing was nearer to his (Mr. Naoroji's) mind than to make the fullest acknowledgment of all the good that had been done by the connexion of the British people with India. They had no complaint against the British people and Parliament. They had from them everything they could desire. It was against the system adopted by the British Indian authorities in the last century and maintained up till now, though much modified, that they protested. The first point in the Motion was the condition of the people of India. In order to understand fully the present condition of the people of India, it was necessary to have a sort of sketch of the past, and he would give it

is briefly as possible. In the last century the Administration was everything that should not be desired. He would give a few extracts from letters of the Court of Directors and the Bengal Government. In one of the etters the Directors said (8th of February, 1764):—

"Your deliberations on the inland trade have laid open to us a scene of most cruel oppression; the poor of the country, who used always to deal in salt, beetlenut, and tobacco, are now deprived of their daily bread by the trade of the Europeans."

Lord Clive wrote (17th of April, 1765):-

"The confusion we behold, what does it arise from?—rapacity and luxury, the unwarrantable desire of many to acquire in an intant what only a few can or ought to possess."

Another letter of Lord Clive to the Court of Directors and (30th of September, 1765):—

"It is no wonder that the lust of riches should readily embrace the proffered means of its gratification, or that the instruments of your power should avail themselves of their authority and proceed even to extortion in those cases where simple corruption could not keep pace with their rapacity. Examples of this sort set by superiors could not fail of being followed in a proportionate degree by inferiors; the evil was contagious, and spread among the civil and military down to the writer, the ensign, and the free merchant."

He would read one more extract from a letter of the Court of Directors (17th of May, 1766);—

"We must add that we think the vast fortunes acquired in the inland trade have been obtained by a scene of the most tyrannic and oppressive conduct that ever was known in any age or country."

Macaulay had summed up:-

"A war of Bengalees against Englishmen was like a war of sheep against wolves, of men against demons. . . . The business lof a servant of the Company was simply to wring out of the Natives a hundred or two hundred thousand pounds as speedily as possible."

Such was the character of the Government and the Administration in the last century; when all this was allisclosed by the Committee of 1772, of course, a change was

made, and a change for the better. He would now give the opinion of Anglo-Indian and English statesmen, and the House would observe that he did not say a single word as to what the Indians themselves said. He put his case before the House in the words of Anglo-Irdian and English statesmen alone; some of them had expressed great indignation with usual British feeling against wrong-doing, others had expressed themselves much more moderately. Sir John Shore was the first person who gave a clear prophetic forecast of the character of this system and its effects as early as 1787. He then said (Ret. 377 of 1812):—

"Whatever allowance we may make for the increased industry of the subjects of the State, owing to the enhanced demand for the produce of it (supposing the demand to be enhanced), there is reason to conclude that the benefits are more than counterbalanced by evils inseparable from the system of a remote foreign dominion."

The words were true to the present day. In 1790 Lord Cornwallis said, in a Minute, that the heavy drain of wealth by the Company, with the addition of remittances of private fortunes, was severely felt in the languor thrown upon the cultivation and commerce of the country. In 1823 Sir Thomas Munro pointed out that were Britain subjugated by a foreign Power, and the people excluded from the government of their country, all their knowledge and all their literature, sacred and profane, would not save them from becoming in a generation or two a low-minded, deceitful, and dishonest race. Ludlow, in his British India, said:—

"As respects the general condition of the country, let us first recollect what Sir Thomas Munro wrote years ago, 'that even if we could be secured against every internal commotion and could retain the country quietly in subjection, he doubted much if the condition of the people would be better than under the Native Princes': that the inhabitants of the British Provinces were certainly the most abject race in India'; that the consequences of the conquest of India by the British arms would be, in place of raising, to debase the whole people."

Macaulay, in introducing the clause of our equality with all British subjects, our first Charter of our emancipation in the Bill of 1833, said in his famous and statesman-like speech:—

"That would, indeed, be a doting wisdom which, in order that India may remain a dependency which would keep a hundred millions of men from being our customers in order that they might continue to be our slaves."

And, to illustrate the character of the existing system, he said :--

"It was, as Bernier tells us, the practice of the miserable tyrants whom he found in India, when they dreaded the capacity and spirit of some distinguished subject, and yet could not venture to murder him, to administer to him a daily dose of the pousta, a preparation of opium, the effect of which was in a few months to destroy all the bodily and mental powers of the wretch who was drugged with it, and to turn him into a helpless idiot. This detestable artifice, more horrible than assassination itself, was worthy of those who employed it. It is no model for the English nation. We shall never consent to administer the pousta to a whole community—to stupify and paralyse a great people whom God has committed to our charge—for the wretched purpose of rendering them more amenable to our control."

In a speech (19th of February, 1844, he said:--

"Of all forms of tyranny I believe that the worst is that of a nation over a nation."

Lord Lansdowne, in introducing the same clause of the Bill of 1833 into the House of Lords, pointed out that he should be taking a very narrow view of this question, and one utterly inadequate to the great importance of the subject, which involved in it the happiness or misery of 100,000,000 of human beings, were he not to call the attention of their Lordships to the hearing which this question, and to the influence which this arrangement must exercise upon the future destinies of that vast mass

of people. With such high sense of statesmanship and responsibility did Lord Lansdowne of 1833 break our chains. The Indian authorities, however, never allowed those broken chains to fall from our body, and the grandson—the Lord Lansdowne of 1893—now rivetted back those chains upon us. Look upon this picture and upon that! And the Indians were now just the same British slaves, instead of British subjects, as they were before their emancipation in 1833. Mr. Montgomery Martin, after examining the records of a survey of the condition of the people of some Provinces of Bengal or Behar, which had been made for nine years from 1807-16, concluded:—

"It is impossible to avoid remarking two facts as peculiarly striking: First, the richness of the country surveyed; and, second, the poverty of its inhabitants."

He gave the reason for these striking facts. He said:-

"The annual drain of £3,000,000 on British India has amounted in 30 years at 12 per cent. (the usual Indian rate) compound interest to the enormous sum of £723,900,000 sterling. So constant and accumulating a drain, even in England, would soon impoverish her. How severe, then, must be its effects in India where the wage of a labourer is from 2d. to 3d. a day."

The drain at present was seven times, if not ten times, as much. Mr. Frederick Shore, of the Bengal Civil Service, said, in 1837:—

"But the kaleyon-days of India are over. She has been drained of a large proportion of the wealth she once possessed, and her energies have been cramped by a sordid system of misrule to which the interests of millions have been sacrificed for the benefit of the few. The fundamental principle of the English had been to make the whole Indian nation subservient in every possible way to the interests and benefits of themselves."

And he summarised thus :---

"The summary was that the British Indian Government had been practically one of the most extortionate and oppressive that ever existed in India. Some acknowledged this, and observed that it was the unavoidable result of a foreign yoke. That this was correct regarding a Government conducted on the principles which had hitherto actuated us was too lamentably true, but, had the welfare of the people been our object, a very different course would have been adopted, and very different results would have followed. For again and again I repeat that there was nothing in the circumstances itself of our being foreigners of different colour and faith that should necession the people to hate us. We might thank ourselves for having made their feelings towards us what they were. Had we acted on a more liberal plan we should have fixed our authority on a much more solid foundation."

After giving some more similar authorities, Sir R. Temple and others, the hone gentleman proceeded: Mr. Bright, speaking in the House of Commons in 1858, said:—

"We must in future have India governed, not for a handful of Englishmen, not for that Civil Service whose praises are so constantly sounded in this House. You may govern India, if you like, for the good of England, but the good of England must come through the channels of the good of India. There are but two modes of gaining anything by our connexion with India—the one is by plundering the people of India, and the other by trading with them. I prefer to do it by trading with them. But in order that England may become rich by trading with India, India itself must become rich.

Sir George Wingate, with his intimate acquaintance with the condition of the people of India, as the introducer of the Bombay land survey system, pointed out, with reference to the economic effects upon the condition of India, that taxes spent in the country from which they were raised were totally different in their effect from taxes raised in one country and spent in another. In the former case the taxes collected from the population were again returned to the industrial classes; but the case was wholly different when taxes were not spent in the country from which they were raised, as they constituted an absolute loss and extinction of the whole amount withdrawn from the taxed country; and he said, further, that such

was the nature of the tribute the British had so long exacted from India-and that with this explanation some faint conception may be formed of the cruel, crushing effect of the tribute upon India—that this tribute, whether weighed in the scales of Justice or viewed in the light of the British interests, would be found to be at variance with humanity, with common sense, and with the received maxim of economical science. Mr. Fawcett quoted Lord Metcalf (5th May, 1868), that the bane of the British-Indian system was, that the advantages were reaped by one class and the work was done by another. This havoc was going on increasing up to the present day. Lord Salisbury, in a Minute [Ret. c. 3086-1 of 1881], pointed out that the injury was exaggerated in the case of India, where so much of the revenue was exported without a direct equivalent—that as India must be bled, the lancet should be directed to the parts where the blood was congested or at least sufficient, not to the rural districts which were already feeble from the want of blood. This bleeding of India must cease. Lord Hartington, the Duke of Devonshire, declared (23rd August 1883) that India was insufficiently governed, and that if it was to be better governed, that could only be done by the employment of the best and most intelligent of the Natives in the Service and he further advised that it was not wise to drive the people to think that their only hope lay in getting rid of their English rulers. Lastly, with regard to the present condition of India, and even serious danger to British power, a remarkable confirmation was given, after a hundred years, to Sir John Shore's prophecy of 1787, by the Secretary of State for India in 1886. A letter of the India Office to the Treasury said (Ret. c. 4868 of 1886) :-

"Their position of India in relation to taxation and the source of the public revenue is very peculiar, not merely from the habits of the people and their strong aversion to change, which is more specially exhibited to new forms of taxation, but likewise from the character of the government, which is in the hands of foreigners, who hold the principal administrative offices and form so large a party of the Army. The impatience of the new taxation which will have to be borne wholly as a consequence of the foreign rule imposed on the country and virtually to meet additions to charges arising outside of the country, would constitute a political danger the real magnitude of which, it is to be feared, is not at all appreciated by persons who have no knowledge of or concern in the government of India, but which those responsible for that government have long regarded as of the most serious order."

To sum up—as to the material condition of India the main features in the last century were gross corruption and oppression by the Europeans; in the present century. bigh salaries and the heavy weight of European servicestheir economic condition. Therefore, there was no such thing as finance of India. No financier ever could make a real healthy finance of India, unless be could make two and two equal to six. The most essential condition was wanting. Taxes must be administered by and disbursed to those who paid. That did not exist. From the taxes raised every year a large portion was eaten up and carried away from the country by others than the people of British India. The finances of that country were simply inexplicable. and could not be carried out; if the extracts he had read meant anything, they meant that the present evil system of a foreign domination was destroying them, and was fraught with political danger of the most serious order to British power itself. It had been clearly pointed out that India was extremely poor. What advantage had been derived by India during the past 100 years under the administration of the most highly-praised and most highly-paid officials in the world? If there was any

cundemnation of the existing system, it was in the result that the country was poorer than any country in the world. He could adduce a number of facts and figures of the practical effect of the present system of administration, but there was not the time now. The very fact of the wail of the Finance Ministers of this decade was a complete condemnation. He was quite sure that the right hon, gentleman, the Secretary of State for India, was truly desirous to know the truth, but he could not know that clearly unless certain information was placed before the House. He would suggest, if the right hon, gentleman allowed, a certain number of Returns which would give the regular production of the country year by year, and the absolute necessaries of a common labourer to live in working health. In connexion with the trade test there was one fallacy which he must explain. They were told in-Statistical Returns that India had an enormous trade of nearly £196,000,000, imports and exports together. he sent goods worth £100 out of this country to some other country, he expected there was £100 of it returned to him with some addition of profit. That was the natural condition of every trade. In the Colonies and in European countries there was an excess of imports over exports. In the United Kingdom for the past 10 years-1883 to 1892- the excess had been 32 per cent., in Norway it was 42 per cent., Sweden 24 per cent., Denmark 40 per cent., Holland 22 per cent., France 20 per cent., Switzerland 28 per cent., Spain 9 per cent., Belgium 7 per cent. and so on. Any one with common sense would, of course. admit that if a quantity of goods worth a certain amount of money were sent out, an additional profit was expected in return; if not, there could not be any commerce; but

a man who only received in return 90 of the 100 sent out would soon go into the Bankruptcy Court. Taking India's profits to be only 10 per cent. instead of 32 per cent., like those of the United Kingdom, and after making all deductions for remittances for interest on public works loans, India had received back Rs. 170,000,000 worth of imports less than what she exported annually. On the average of 10 years (1883 to 1892) their excesses of exports every year, with compound interest, would amount to enormous sums lost by her. Could any country in the world, England not excepted, stand such a drain without destruction? They were often told they ought to be thankful, and they were thankful, for the loans made to them for public works: but if they were left to themselves to enjoy what they produced with a reasonable price for British rule, if they had to develop their own resources, they would not require any such loans with the interest to be paid on them, which added to the drain on the country. Those loans were only a fraction of what was taken away from the country. India had lost thousands of millions in principal and interest, and was asked to be thankful for the loan of a couple of hundreds of millions. The bulk of the British Indian subjects were like hewers of wood and drawers of water to the British and foreign Indian capitalists. The seeming prosperity of British India was entirely owing to the amount of foreign capital. In Bombay alone, which was considered to be a rich place, there were at least £10,000, 000 of capital circulating belonging to foreign Europeans and Indians from Native States. If all such foreign capital were separated there would be very little wealth in British India. He could not go further into these figures, because he must have an occasion on which he could go more

fully into them. If only the right hon, gentleman, the Secretary of State for India, would give them the Returns which were necessary to understand more correctly and completely the real condition of India, they would all be the better for it. There was another thing that was very serious. The whole misfortune at the bottom, which made the people of British India the poorest in the world, was the pressure to be forced to pay, roughly speaking, 200,000,000 rupees annually for European foreign services. Till this evil of foreign domination, foretold by Sir John Shore, was reduced to reasonable dimensions, there was no hope, and no true and healthy finance for India. This canker was destructive to India and suicidal to the British. The British people would not stand a single day the evil if the Front Benches here—all the principal military and civil posts and a large portion of the Army-were to be occupied by some foreigners on even the plea of giving service. When an English official had acquired experience in the Service of twenty or thirty years, all that was entirely lost to India when he left the country, and it was a most serious loss, although he did not blame him for leaving the shore. They were left at a certain low level. They could not rise. they could not develop their capacity for higher government, because they had no opportunity; the result was, of course, that their faculties must be stunted. Lastly, every European displaced an Indian who should fill that post. In short, the evil of the foreign rule involved the triple loss of wealth, wisdom, and work. No wonder at India's material and moral poverty! The next point was the wants of the Indians. He did not think it would require very long discussion to ascertain their wants. They could be summed up in a few words. They wanted

British honour, good faith, righteousness, and justice. They should then get everything that was good for themselves, and it would benefit the rulers themselves, but unfortunately that had not been their fortune. Here they had an admission of the manner in which their best interests were treated. Lord Lytton, in a confidential Minute, said: --

No sooner was the Act passed than the Government began to devise means for practically evading the fulfilment of it.....We all know that these claims and expectations never can or will be fulfilled. We have had to choose between prohibiting them and cheating them, and we have chosen the least straightforward course.

He would not believe that the Sovereign and the Parliament who gave these pledges of justice and honour intended to cheat. It was the Indian Executive who had abused their trust. That Act of 1833 was a dead letter up to the present day. Lord Lytton said:—

Since I am writing confidentially, I do not hesitate to say that both the Governments of England and of India appear to me up to the present moment unable to answer satisfactorily the charge of having taken every means in their power of breaking to the heart the words of promise they had uttered to the ear.

What they wanted was that what Lord Salisbury called "bleeding" should have an end. That would restore them to prosperity, and England might derive ten times more benefit by trading with a prosperous people than she was doing now. They were destroying the bird that could give them ten golden eggs with a blessing upon them. The hon, member for Kingston, in his "India in 1880," said:—

Many Native statesmen have been produced of whom the Indian nation may justly be proud, and among whom may be mentioned Salar Jung of Hyderabad, Dinkar Rao of Gwalior, Madhao Rao of Baroda, Kirparam of Jammu, Pundit Manphal of Alwar, Faiz Ali Khan of Kotah, Madhao Rao Barvi of Kolahpur, and Purnia of Mysore.

Mountstuart Elphinstone said, before the Committee of 1833:--

The first object, therefore, is to break down the separation between the classes and raise the Natives by education and public trust to a level with their present rulers.

He addressed the Conservative Party. It was this Party who had given the just Proclamation of 1858—their greater Charter—in these words:—

We hold ourselves bound to the Natives of our Indian territories by the same obligations of duty which bind us to all our other subjects, and those obligations, by the blessing of Almighty God, we shall faithfully and conscientiously fulfil.

It was again the Conservative Party that, on the assumption of the Imperial title by our Sovereign, proclaimed again the equality of the Natives, whatever their race or creed, with their English fellow-subjects, and that their claim was founded on the highest justice. At the Jubilee, under the Conservative Government again, the Empress of India gave to her Indian subjects the gracious assurance and pledge that—

It had always been and always will be her earnest desire to maintain unswervingly the principles laid down in the Proclamation published on her assumption of the direct control of the Government of India.

He (Mr. Naoroji) earnestly appealed to this Party not to give the lie to these noble assurances, and not to show to the world that it was all hypocrisy and national bad faith. The Indians would still continue to put their faith in the English people, and ask again and again to have justice done. He appealed to the right hon, gentleman, the Secretary of State for India, and to the Government, and the Liberal Party, who gave them their first emancipation. They felt deeply grateful for the promises made, but would ask that these words be now converted into loyal, faithful deeds, as

Englishmen for their honour are bound to do. Some weeks ago the right hon, gentleman, the member for Midlothian, wrote a letter to Sir John Cowan in which he stated that the past sixty years had been years of emancipation. Many emancipations had taken place in these years; the Irish, the Jews, the slaves, all received emancipation in that wave of humanity which passed over this country, and which made this country the most brilliant and civilised of the countries of the world. In those days of emancipation, and in the very year in which the right hon, gentleman began his political career, the people of India also had their emancipation at the hands of the Liberal Party. It was the Liberal Party that passed the Act of 1833 and made the magnificent promises explained both by Macaulay and Lansdowne. He would ask the right hon, gentleman, the member for Midlothian, to say whether, after the Liberal Party having given this emancipation at the commencement of his political career, he would at the end of it, while giving emancipation to 3,000,000 of Irishmen, only further enslave the 300,000,000 of India? The decision relating to the simultaneous examinations meant rivetting back upon them every chain broken by the act of emancipation. The right hon, gentleman in 1893, in connexion with the Irish question, after alluding to the arguments of fear and force, said :-

"I hope we shall never again have occasion to fall back upon that miserable argument. It is better to do justice for terror than not to do it at all; but we are in a condition neither of terror nor apprehension; but in a calm and thankful state. We ask the House to accept this Bill, and I make that appeal on the grounds of nonour and of duty."

Might he, then, appeal in these days when avery eduated man in India was thoroughly loyal, when there was oyalty in every class of the people of India and ask, Was it not time for England to do justice to India on the same grounds of "honour and duty"? The right hon. Member also said:—

There can be no more melancholy, and in the last result no more degrading spectacle upon earth than the spectacle of oppression, or of wrong in whatever form, inflicted by the deliberate act of a nation upon another nation, especially by the deliberate act of such a country as Great Britain upon such a country as Ireland.

This applied to India with a force ten times greater. And he appealed for the nobler spectacle of which the right hon, gentleman subsequently spoke. He said:—

But, on the other hand, there can be no nobler spectacle than that which we think is now dawning upon us, the spectacle of a nation deliberately set on the removal of injustice, deliberately determined to break—not through terror, not in haste, but under the sole influence of duty and honour—determined to break with whatever remains still existing of an evil tradition, and determined in that way at once to pay a debt of justice, and to consult by a bold, wise, and good act, its own interests and its own honour.

These noble words applied with tenfold necessity to Britain's duty to India. It would be in the interest of England to remove the injustice under which India suffered more than it would be in the interest even of India itself. He would repeat the prayer to the right hon, gentleman, the member for Midlothian, that he would not allow his glorious career to end with the enthralment of 300,000,000 of the human race whose destinies are entrusted to this great country, and from which they expect nothing but justice and righteousness. The right hon, gentleman, the Secretary of State for India, the other day made a memorable speech at Wolverhampton. Among other things, he uttered these noble words:—

"New and preasing problems were coming up with which the Liberal Party would have to deal. These problems were the moral and material conditions of the people, for both went very much together. They were the problems that the statesmen of the future would have to solve. Mr. Bright once said that the true glory of a nation was not in ships and colonies and commerce, but in the happiness of its homes, and that no Government and no Party deserved the confidence of the British electorate which did not give a foremost place in its legislation and administration to those measures which would promote the comfort, health, prosperity, well-being, and the well-doing of the masses of the people.

He would appeal to the right hon, gentleman, the Secretary for India, that in that spirit he should study the Indian, problem. Here in England they had to deal with only 38,000,000 of people, and if the right hon, gentleman would once understand the Indian problem and do them the justice for which they had been waiting for sixty years, he would be one of the greatest benefactors of the human race. He appealed also to the present Prime Minister with confidence, because he had had an opportunity of knowing that the Prime Minister thoroughly understood the Indian problem. Few Englishmen so clearly understood that problem or the effect of the drain on the resources of India. He saw clearly also how far India was to be made a blessing to itself and to England. Would be begin his promising career as Prime Minister by enslaving 300,000,000 of British subjects? He appealed to him to consider. He could assure the right hon, gentleman, the Secretary of State for India, that the feeling in India among the educated classes was nearing despair. It was a very bad seed that was being sown in connexion with this matter if some scheme was not adopted, with reasonable modifications, to give some effect to the Resolution for simultaneous examinations as was promised a few months ago. The Under-Secretary for India assured them in the last Indian Budget Debate that neither he nor the Secretary of State for India had any disposition of thwarting or defeating that Resolution. Indians then felt assured on the point, and their joy was great. But what must be their despair and disappointment when such statements are put before the House of Commons and the country as were to be found in this dark Blue Book. It was enough to break anybody's heart. It would have broken his but for the strong faith he had in the justice of the British people and the one bright ray to be found even in that Return itself, which had strengthened him to continue his appeal as long as he should live. That ray has come from the Madras Government. They had pointed out that they felt bound to do something. They also pointed out the difficulties in the way, but these difficulties were not insurmountable. About the want of true living representation of the people he would not now say anything. Every Englishman understood its importance. The next point in the Motion was the ability to bear existing burdens. Indians were often told by men in authority that India was the lightest taxed country in the world. The United Kingdom paid £2 10s, per head for the purposes of the State. They paid only 5s. or 6s. per head, and, therefore, the conclusion was drawn that the Indians were the most lightly-taxed people on earth. But if these gentlemen would only take the trouble of looking a little deeper they would see how the matter stood, England paid £2 10s, per head, from an income of something like £35 per head, and their capacity, therefore, to pay £2 10s, was sufficiently large. Then, again, this £2 10s, returned to them-every farthing of it-in some form or another. The proportion they paid to the State in the shape of Revenues was, therefore, something like nly 7 or 8 per cent. India paid 5s. or 6s. out of their wretched incomes of £2, or 20 rupees, as he calculated, or 27 rupees, as calculated by Lord Cromer. But even tak. ing the latter figure, it would not make any great difference. The three rupees was far more burdensome compared with the wretched capacity of the people of India to bear taxation than the £2 10s. which England paid At the rate of production of Rs.20 per head India paid 14 per cent, of her income for purposes of revenuenearly twice as heavy as the incidence of the United Kingdom. Even at the rate of production of Rs.27 per bead the Indian burden was 11 per cent. Then, again take the test of the Income Tax. In the United Kingdom 1d, in the Income Tax gave some £2,500,000; but in India, with ten times the poulation, ld. only gaveabout Rs.300,000, with an exemption of only Rs.50 instead of £150 as in this country. In the last 100 years the wealth of Eugland had increased by leaps and bounds. while India, governed by the same Englishmen, was the same poor nation that it was all through the century that had elapsed, and India at the present moment was the most extremely poor country in the world, and would bepoor to the end of the chapter if the present system of foreign domination continued. He did not say that the Natives should attain to the highest positions of controland power. Let there be Europeans in the highest positions, such as the Viceroy, the Governors, the Commanderin-Chief of the Forces, and the higher military officers. and such others as might be reasonably considered to berequired to hold the controlling powers. The controlling power of Englishmen in India was wanted as much for the benefit of India as for the benefit of England. The next point in the Motion was, what were the sources of Indian

Revenue? The chief sources of the Revenue were just what was mainly obtained from the cultivators of the soil. Here in this country the landlords—the wealthiest people -paid from land only 2 or 3 per cent, of the Revenues. but in India land was made to contribute something like Rs.27.000,000 of the total Revenue of about Rs. 67,000,000. Then the Salt Tax, the most cruel Revenue imposed in any civilised country, provided Rs.8,600,000, and that with the opium formed the bulk of the Revenue of India, which was drawn from the wretchednesss of the people and by poisoning the Chinese. It mattered not what the State received was called-tax, rent, revenue, or by any other name they liked—the simple fact of the matter was, that out of a certain annual national production the State took a certain portion. Now it would not also matter much about the portion taken by the State if that portion, as in this country, returned to the people themselves, from whom it was raised. But the misfortune and the evil was that much of this portion did not return to the people, and that the whole system of Revenue and the economic condition of the people became unnatural and oppressive, with danger to the rulers. this country the people drank nearly £4 per head, while in India they could not produce altogether more than half that amount per head. Was the system under which such a wretched condition prevailed not a matter for careful consideration? So long as the system went on so long must the people go on living wretched lives. There was a constant draining away of India's resources, and she could never, therefore, be a prosperous country. Not only that, but in time India must perish, and with it might perish the British Empire. If India was prosperous, England would be prosperous ten times more than she was at present by reason of the trade she could carry on with India. England at present experted some £300,000,000 worth of British produce, yet to India she hardly exported produce to the value of 2s. 6d. per head. If India were prosperous enough to buy even £1 worth per head of English goods she would be able to send to India as much as she now sent to the whole world. Would it not, then, be a far greater benefit to England if India were prosperous than to keep her as she was? The next point in the Motion was the reduction of expenditure. The very first thing should be to cancel that immoral and cruel "compensation" without any legal claim even. That was not the occasion to discuss its selfishness and utter disregard of the wretchedness of the millions of the people. But as if this injustice were not enough, other bad features were added to it, if my information be correct. The compensation was only for remittances to this country. But instead of this, every European and Eurasian, whether he had to make any family remittances or not, was to have a certain addition to his salary. That was not all. The iniquity of making race distinctions was again adopted in this also: Europeans and Eurasians, whether remittances had to be made or not, were to receive compensation : but an Indian who had actually to make remittances for the education of his sons, could have no consideration. But he (Mr. Naoroji) deprecated the whole thing altogether-to take from the wretched to give to the better-off. This compensation should be cancelled as the first step in reduction. As the Chancellor of the Exchequer said the other day in his aplendid speech at his magnificent ovation by the

Liberal Members, in speaking of the land-owners, the burden was always shifted on to other shoulders, and always on those least able to pay. This was exactly the principle of Anglo-Indian authorities. If it was really intended to retrench with regard to expenditure in India why not begin with the salary list? The Viceroy surely could get his bread and butter with £20,000 a year instead of £25,000. The Governors could surely have bread and cheese for £6,000 or £8,000 instead of £10,000. and so on down till the end of the salary list was reached at Rs. 200 a morth. This would afford a much-needed relief, because India could not really afford to pay. Sir William Hunter had rightly said that if we were to govern the Indian people efficiently and cheaply we must govern them by means of themselves, and pay for the administration at the market rates of Native labour: that the good work of security and law had assumed such dimensions under the Queen's government of India that it could no longer be carried on or even supervised by imported labour from England, except at a cost which India could sustain, and he had prophesied that 40 years hereafter they would have had an Indian Irelan? multiplied fifty-fold on their hands. The Service must charge from that which was dear, and at the same time unsatisfactory, to one which would require less money and which would at the same time be fruithful to the people thomselves. Next, three Secretaries of State and two Viceroys the other day in the House of Lords condemned in the strongest terms the charge that was made by the War Office for troops in India. But it seemed that one Secretary for India (Lord Kimberley) trembled to approach the War Minister, because each new discussion resulted in

additional charges and additional burdens. He also truly mid that the authorities here, not having to pay from their own pockets, readily made proposals of charges which were unjust and unnecessary, to make things agreeable. The consequence was that charges were imposed which were unjust and cruel. In fact, whatever could have the name of India attached to it, India was forced to pay for it. That was not the justice which he expected from the English. With reference to these military charges, the burden now thrown upon India on account of British troops was excessive, and he thought every impartial judgment would ascent to that proposition, considering the relative material wealth of the two countries and their joint obligations and benefits. All that they could do was to appeal to the British Government for an impartial consideration of the relative financial capacity of the two countries, and for a generous consideration to be shown by the wealthiest nation in the world to a dependency so comparatively poor and so little advanced as India. He believed that if any Committee were appointed to enquire, with the honest purpose of finding out how to make India prosperous and at the same time to confer as much if not more benefit to Eng. land, they could very easily find out the way, and would be able to suggest what should be done. Now, with regard to the financial relations between India and England. it was declared over and over again that this European Army and all European servants were for the special purpose of maintaining the power of the British Empire. Were they, therefore, not for some benefit to England? Were they only for the service of India, for their benefit and for their protection? Was it right that they did avowedly use machinery more for their own purposes than

for the purposes of India, and yet make India pay altogether? Was it right, if India's prosperity was, as Lord Roberts said, so indissolubly bound up with their own, and if the greatness and prosperity of the United Kingdom depended upon the retention of India, that they should pay nothing for it, and that they should extract from it every farthing they possibly could? They appealed to their sense of justice in this matter. They were not asking for this as any favour of concession. They based their appeal on the ground of simple justice. Here was a machinery by which both England and India benefited : and it was only common justice that both should share the cost of it. If this expenditure on the European Army and the European Civil Services, which was really the cause of their misery, was for the benefit of both, it was only right that they, as honcurable men, should take a share. Their prayer was for an impartial and comprehensive enquiry so that the whole matter might be gone into, and that the question of principles and policy which, after all, was one for their statesmen to decide, should be properly dealt with. They knew that during the rule of the East India Company an enquiry was made every 20 years into the affairs of India. This was no reflection upon the Government; it was simply to see that the East India Company did their duty. There was such an enquiry in 1853, and he thought it was time, after 40 years had elapsed since the assumption of British rule by the Queen, that there should te some regular, independent enquiry like that which useed to take place in former days, so that the people and Parliament of this country might see that the Indian authorities were doing their duty. The result of the irresponsibility of the present British Administration was

that the expenditure went on unchecked. He admitted fully that expenditure must go on increasing if India was to progress in her civilisation; but if they allowed her to prosper, India would be able not only to pay her £60,000,000 out of the 300,000,000 of population, but she would be able to pay twice, three times, and four times as much. It was not that they did not want to expend as much as was necessary. Their simple complaint was that the present system did not allow India to become prosperous, and so enable her to supply the necessary revenue. As to the character of the enquiry, it should be full and impartial. The right hon, member for Midlothian said on one occasion not long ago, when the question of the Opium Trade was under discussion in that House:—

I must make the admission that I do not think that in this natter we ought to be guided exclusively, perhaps even principally by those who may consider themselves experts. It is a very sad hing to say, but unquestionably it happens not infrequently in numan affairs that those who might from their position, know the nost and the best, yet, from their prejudices and prepossessions, know the least and the worst. I certainly for my part do not propose to abide finally and decisively by official opinion.

And the right hon, gentleman went on to say that what the House wanted, in his opinion, was "independent out responsible opinion," in order to enable him to proceed afely to a decision on the subject which was to be considered. He was asking by this Resolution nothing more than what the right hon, gentleman, the member for Midiothian, had said was actually necessary for the Opium Commission. How much more necessary it was when they neant to overhaul and examine all the various departments of administration, and the affairs of 300,000,000 of people Il in a state of transition in civilisation—complicated opecially by this evil of foreign rule! What was wanted

was an independent enquiry by which the rulers and the ruled might come to some fair and honourable understanding with each other which would keep them together in good faith and good heart. He could only repeat the appeal he had made, in the words of the Queen herself, when her Majesty in her great Indian Proclamation said:—

In their prosperity will be our strength, in their contentment our security, and in their gratitude our best reward!

And then she prayed :---

And may the God of all power grant to us and to those in authority under us strength to carry out these our wishes for the good of our people!

He said Amen to that. He appealed once more to the House and to the British people to look into the whole problem of Indian relations with England. There was no reason whatever why there should not be a thorough good-will on the part of Britain, and a thorough loyalty on the part of India, with blessings to both, if the principles and policy laid down from time to time by the British people and by the British Parliament were loyally, faithfully, and worthily, as the English character ought to lead them to expect, observed by the Government of that country.

Amendment proposed, to leave out from the word "That," to the end of the Question, in order to add the words—

In the opinion of this House, a full and independent Parliamentary enquiry should take place into the condition and wants of the Indian people, and their ability to bear their existing financial burdens; the nature of the revenue system and the possibility of reductions in the expenditure; also the financial relations between India and the United Kingdom, and generally the system of Government in India.—(Mr. S. Smith.)

ENGLAND AND INDIA.

AMENDMENT TO THE ADDRESS.

February, 12th 1895.

Mr. Naoroji (Finsbury, Central) moved an Amendment to add the following to the Address:—

And we humbly pray that Your Majesty will be graciously pleased to direct Your Majesty's Ministers to so adjust the financial relations between the United Kingdom and British India, with regard to all the expenditure incurred in the employment of Europeans in the British-Indian Services, Civil and Military, in this Country and in India, that some fair and adequate portion of such expenditure should be borne by the British Exchequer in proportion to the pecuniary and political benefits accruing to the United Kingdom from Your Gracious Majesty's away over India; and that the British Treasury should sustain a fair and equitable portion of all expenditure incurred on all military and political operations beyond the boundaries of India in which both Indian and British interests are jointly concerned.

Having expressed his regret that generally it was not the practice to mention India and to indicate any concern for its interests in the Queen's Speech, he said he was ready to acknowledge with gratitude the advantage which had ensued to the people of India from British rule. He had no desire to minimise those benefits: at the same time he did not appeal to that House or to the British nation for any form of charity to India, however poverty-stricken she is. He based the claims of India, on grounds of justice alone. The question was not at all one of a Party character and therefore he addressed what he had to say to the English people as a whole. He was often supposed to complain about the European officials personally. It was not

so. It was the system which made the officials what they were, that he complained about. They were the creatures of circumstances. They could only move in the one-sided groove in which they were placed by the evil system. Further, his remarks applied to British India and not to the Native States. It had been sometimes said that he resorted to agitation in bringing forward the claims of India, but on that point he would only quote a few words from Macaulay, who said in one of his speeches—

I hold that we have owed to agitation a long series of beneficent reforms which could have been effected in no other way. . . . The truth is that agitation is inseparable from popular Government. . . . Would the slave trade ever have been abolished without an agitation? Would slavery ever have been abolished without agitation?

He would add that their slavery would not be abolished without agitation and it was well that it should be abolished by peaceful agitation, rather than by revolution caused by despair. He next proposed to consider the respective benefits to Britain and India from their connexion. From the annual production of India the Government took about 700,000,000 rupees for the expenditure of the State. The first result of this cost was law and order, the greatest blessing that any rule could confer, and Indians fully appreciated this benefit of safety from violence to life, limb, and property. Admitting this benefit to India, was it not equally or even more vital benefit to the British in India, and more particularly to the British rule itself? Did not the very existence of every European resident in India depend upon this law and order, and so also of the British power itself? The Hindus (and the Mahomedans also, the bulk of whom are Hindus by race) were, by their nature, in their very blood, by the inheritance of social and religious institutions of some thousands

of years, peaceful and law-abiding. Their division into the four great divisions was the foundation of their peaceful nature. One class was devoted to learning. Peace was an absolute necessity to them. The fighting and ruling and protecting business was left to the small second class. The third and the largest class—the industrial, the agricultural, the trading, and others-depended upon peace and order for their work, and the fourth serving class were submissive and law-abiding. The virtue of law-abiding was a peculiarly and religiously binding duty upon the Hindus, and to it does Britain owe much of its present peaceful rule over India. It will be Britain's own fault if this character is changed. It was sometimes said that Engand conquered India with the sword, and would hold it by he sword; but he did not believe this was the sentiment If the British people generally. He could not better empasise this than in the words of their present great Indian Ieneral. Lord Roberts had said that :-

However efficient and well-equipped the Army of India might we were it indeed absolute perfection, and were its numbers considerably more than at present—our greatest strength must ever est on the firm base of a united and contented people.

That was the spirit in which he spoke. At present adia shared far less benefits than justice demanded. Hunlreds of millions of rupees were drawn from, and taken out of, the country for the payment of European officials of ll kinds, without any material equivalent being received or it; capital was thus withdrawn, and the Natives preented from accumulating it; and under the existing ystem a large part of the resources and industries of the puntry was thrown into the hands of British and other apitalists. The 300,000,000 or so of rupees which the adia Office draws every year at present is so much British

benefit in a variety of ways. British India was indeed British India, and not India's India. He next examined the material or pecuniary benefit derived by Britian and India. Out of about 700,000,000 rupees raised annually from the annual production of the country, nearly 200,000,000 rupees were appropriated in pay, pensions, and allowances to Europeans in this country and in India. This compulsorily obtained benefit to Britain crippled the resources of British Indians, who could never make any capital and must drag on a poverty-stricken life. Hundreds and thousands of millions of wealth passed in principal and interest thereon from India to Britian. Thousands of Europeans found a career and livelihood in India, to the exclusion of the children of the soil, who thus lest both their bread and their brains thereby. Not only that. This crippled condition naturally threw nearly all the requirements of India more or less into British hands, which, under the patronage and protection of the British officials, monopolised nearly everything. British India was, next to officials, more or less for British prefessionals, traders, capitalists, planters, ship-owners, railway holders, and so on, the bulk of the Indians having only to serve for poor income or wages that they earned. In a way a great mass of the Indians were worse off than the slaves of the Southern States. The slaves being property were taken care of by their masters. Indians may die off by millions by want and it is nobody's concern. The slaves worked on their masters' land and resources, and the masters took the profits. Indians have to work on their own land and resources, and hand the profits to the foreign masters. He offered a simple test. Supposing that by some viciseitudes of fortune, which he

hoped and prayed would never occur, Britain was conquered by a foreign people. This was no impossible assumption in this world. When Cæsar landed in this country no one could have dreamt that the savages he met here would in time be the masters of the greatest Empire in the world, and that the same Rome and Italy, then the masters of the world, would in turn become a geographical name only. Well, suppose this House was cleared of Englishmen and filled with foreigners, or perhaps shut up altogether, all power and plans in their hands, eating and carrying away much of the wealth of this country year after year, in short, Britain reduced to the present condition and system of government of India, would the Britons submit to it a single day if they could help it? So law-abiling as they are, will not all their law-abiding vanish? No! The Briton will not submit; as he says, "Britons will never be slaves," and may they sing so for ever. Now, he asked whether, though they would never be slaves, was it their mission to make others slaves? No; the British people's instincts are averse to that. Their mission is and ought to be to raise others to their own level. And it was that faith in the instinctive love of justice in the British heart and conscience that keeps the Indian so loyal and hopeful. There was no doubt an immense material benefit to England accruing from the administration of India, but there was no corresponding benefit to the Indian people under the present evil system. For the sake of argument merely, he would assume that the material benefit was equal to the inhabitants of India as well as to the British people, and even on that assumption he contended that the British people were bound for the benefit they derived to take their share of the cost of

producing that benefit. The position had been correctly described by Lord Salisbury, who said :-

The injury is exaggerated in the case of India, where so much of the Revenue is exported without a direct equivalent. As India must be bled, the lancet should be directed to the parts where the blood is congested, or at least sufficient, not to those already feeble for the want of it.

That was correct as far as the present British system in India was concerned, and "India must be bled." result of this was that their Finance Ministers were obliged to lament and complain, year after year, of the extreme poverty of India, which did not enable them to bring its finances into a properly sound condition. The subject of the poverty of India embraced many aspects in its cause and effects. But this was not the occasion on which such a vast subject could be dealt with adequately. was the natural and inevitable result of the evil of foreign dominion as it exists in the present system, as predicted by Sir John Shore, above a hundred years ago. In order to give an idea of the position of India as compared with that of England he would point only to one aspect. The Secretary of State for India in his speech last year, on going into Committee on the Indian Budget, made a very important statement. He said :-

Now as to the Revenue, I think the figures are very instructive. Whereas in England the taxation is £2 11s. 8d. per head, in Scotland, £2 8s. 1d. per head, and in Ireland, £1 12s. 5d. per head, the Budget which I shall present to-morrow will show that the taxation per head in India is something like 2s. 6d., or one-twentieth the taxation of the United Kingdom, and one-thirteenth that of Ireland.

The Member for Flintshire (Mr. S. Smith) then asked, "Does he exclude the Land Revenue?" And the right hon, gentleman replied:—

Yes. So far as the taxation of India is concerned, taking the rupee at 1s. 1d., it is 2s. 6d. per head.

The exclusion of Land Revenue was unfair, but this was not the time to discuss that point fully. The Land Revenue did not rain from heaven. It formed part and parcel of the annual wealth from which the State Revenue is taken in a variety of different names—call it tax, rent, excise, duty, stamps, income-tax, and so on. meant that so much was taken from the annual production for the purposes of Government. The figures taken by the right hon, gentleman for the English taxation is also the gross Revenue, and similarly must this Indian Revenue be taken, except Railway and Navigation Revenue. That statement of the right hon, gentleman, if it meant anything, meant that the incidence of taxation in India was exceedingly light compared with the incidence of taxation in England. It was the usual official fiction that the incidence of taxation in India was small as compared with that of this country. But when they considered the incidence of taxation they must consider not simply the amount paid in such taxation, but what it was compared with the capacity of the person who paid it. An elephant might with ease carry a great weight, whilst a quarter ounce or a grain of wheat, might be sufficient to crush an ant. Taking the capacity of the two countries. the annual product or income of England was admitted to be something like £35 per head. If there was a taxation of £2 10s. as compared with that it was easy to see that the incidence or heaviness was only about 7 per cent of the annual wealth. If, on the other hand, they took the production of India at the high official estimate of 27 rupees per head—though he maintained it was only 20 rupees-even then the percentage, or incidence of taxation, was about 10 or 11 per cent., or at 20 rupees the

incidence was nearly 14 per cent., i.e., nearly double what it was in England. To say, therefore, that India was lightly taxed was altogether a fiction. The fact was, as he stated, that the pressure of taxation in India, according to its means of paying, was nearly double that of wealthy England, and far more oppressive, as exacted from poverty. That was not all. The case for India was worse, and that was the fundamental evil of the present system. the United Kingdom, if about £100,000,000 are raised as revenue, every farthing returns to the people themselves. But in British India, out of about Rs.700,000,000 about Rs.200,000,000 are paid foreigners-beto sides all the other British benefits obtained from the wretched produce of Rs 20 per head. Even an ocean if it lost some water every day which never returned to it, would be dried up in time. Under similar conditions wealthy England even would be soon reduced to poverty. He hoped it would be felt by hon, members that India, in that condition, could derive very little benefit from British administration. He spoke in agony, not in indignation, both for the sake of the land of his career and for the land of his birth, and he said that if a system of righteousness were introduced into India instead of the present evil system, both England and India would be blessed, the profit and benefit to England itself would be ten times greater than it now was, and the Indian people would then regard their government by this country as a blessing, instead of being inclined to condemn it. England, with India contented, justly treated, and prosperous, may defy half-a-dozen Russias, and may drive back Russia to the very gates of St. Petersburg. The Indian will then fight as a patrict for his own hearth

and home. Punjab slone will be able to provide a powerful army. Assuming again, for purpose of argument, that their benefit in India was equal to the British benefit, then he said that the British must share the cost of the expenditure which produced these results, and for which both partners profited equally. But in his amendment he did not ask that even half of the whole cost should be borne by the British people, but only for that part of the expenditure which was incurred on Europeans, and that entirely for the sake of British rule. If it was not for the necessity of maintaining British rule there would be no need to drain India in the manner in which it was now drained by the crushing European Services. Lord Roberts, speaking in London, May, 1893-said:—

I rejoice to learn that you recognise how indissolubly the prosperity of the United Kingdom is bound up with the retention of that vast Eastern Empire.

But if the interests of England and India were indissolubly bound up, it was only just and proper that both should pay for the cost of the benefits they derived in equal and proper proportions. Lcrd Kimberley, in a speech at the Mansion House, in 1893, said:—

We are resolutely determined to maintain our supremacy over our indian Empire. . . . that (among other things) supremacy rests upon the maintenance of our European Civil Service. . . We rest also upon our magnificent European force which we maintain in that country.

The European Civil Services and European residents he contended, were the weakest part in the maintenance of their rule in India. Whenever any unfortunate trouble hid arise, as in 1857, the European Civil Service, and Europeans generally, were their greatest difficulty. They must be saved, they were in the midst of the greatest

danger, and in such circumstances they became their greatest weakness. The loyal Indians saved many lives. To suppose that their Civil Service, or the British people, could have any other safety than that which arose from the satisfaction of India, was to deceive themselves. Whatever might be the strength of their force, their true security in the maintenance of their rule in India depended entirely on the satisfaction of the people. Brute force may make an empire, but brute force would not maintain it; it was moral force and justice and righteousness alone that would maintain it. If he asked that the whole expenditure incurred on Europeans should be defrayed from the British Treasury he should not be far wrong, but, for the sake of argument, he was prepared to admit that the benefit derived from the employment of Europeans was shared equally by Europeans and Natives. He therefore asked that at least half of the expenditure incurred on Europeans here and in India should be paid from the British Exchequer. Indians were sometimes threatened that if they raised the question of financial relations, something would have to Apart from a fair share be said about the navy. for the vessels stationed in India, why should England ask India to defray any other portion of the cost of the navy? The very sense of justice had probably prevented any such demand being made. The fame, gain, and glory of the navy was all England's own. There was not a single Indian employed in the navy. It was said the navy was necessary to protect the Indian commerce. There was not a single ship sailing from or to India which belonged to India. The whole of the shipping was British, and not only that, but the whole cargo while

floating was entirely at the risk of British money. There was not an ounce exported from India on which British money did not lie through Indian banks. In the same way, when goods were exported from England, British money was upon them. The whole floating shipping and goods was first British risk. Lastly, there is every inch of the British navy required for the protection of these blessed islands. Every Budget, from either Party, emphasises this fact, that the first line of defence for the protection of the United Kingdom alone, demands a navy equal to that of any two European Powers. He had for several returns from the asked Secretary of If the right hon, gentleman would give those re-State. turns, the House would be able to judge of the real material condition of India; until those returns were presented they would not be in a position to understand exactly the real condition of India under the present system. He would pass over all the small injustices, in charging every possible thing to India, which they would not dare to do with the Colonies. India Office buildings, Engineering College building, charge for recruiting, while the soldiers form part and parcel of the army here; the system of short service occasioning transport expenses. and so on, and so on. While attending the meeting upon the Armenian atrocities, he could not help admiring the noble efforts that the English always made for the protection of the suffering and oppressed. It is one of the noblest truits in the English character. Might be appeal to the same British people, who were easily moved to generosity and compassion when there was open violence, to consider the cause why in India hundreds of thousands of people were frequently carried away through famine and

drought, and that millions constantly lived on starvation fare? Why was it that after a hundred years of administration by the most highly paid officials, the people of India were not able to pay one-twentieth part of the taxation which the United Kingdom paid, or even one-thirteenth which poor Ireland paid? Were the English satisfied with such a result? Is it creditable to them? While England's wealth had increased, India's had decreased. of the whole production of India was not £2 per head per annum, or, taking into account the present rate of exchange, it was only 20s. The people here spent about £4 per head in drink alone, while India's whole production is only a pound or two per head. Such should not be the result of a system which was expected to be beneficent. He appealed to the people of this country to ask and consider this question. If there were famine here food would be poured in from the whole world. Why not so in India? Why the wretched result that the bulk of the people had no means to pay for food? Britain has saved India from personal violence. Would it not also save millions from want and ravages of famine oving to their extreme poverty caused by the evil which Sir J. Shore predicted. The late Mr. Bright told his Manchester friends that there were two ways of benefiting themselves, the one was by plunder, and the other was by trade, and he preferred the latter mode. At present, England's trade with India was a miserable thing. The British produce sent to all India was about worth 2s. per head per annum. If, however, India were prosperous, and able to buy, England would have no need to complain of duties and the want of markets. In India there was a market of 300 millions of civilised people. If the wants of those people were provided

for, with complete free trade in her own hands and control, England would be able to eliminate altogether the word "unemployed" from her dictionary: in fact, she would not be able to supply all that India would want. The other day the Chancellor of the Exchequer said that where injustice and wrong prevailed, as it did prevail in Armenia, a Liberal Government was called upon to obtain the co-operation of European powers in order to repress the wrong. Might he appeal to the right hon. gentleman to give an earnest and generous consideration to India? The right hon, gentleman, the member for Midlothian made a very grand speech on his birthday upon the Armenian question. He appealed to that right hon, gentleman, and to all those of the same mind, to consider and find out the fundamental causes which make the destitution of forty or fifty millions-a figure of official admission-and destruction of hundreds of thousands by famine, possible, though British India's resources are admitted on all sides to be vast. In the present amendment his object was to have that justice of a fair share in expenditure to be taken by Britain in proportion to her benefits. He asked for no subsidy, but only for common justice. By a certain amount of expenditure they derived certain benefits; they were partners, therefore let them share equally the benefits and the costs. His amendment also had reference to expenditure outside the boundaries of India. He maintained that if England undertook operations in Burmah, Afghanistan, and in other places beyond the borders of India for the protection of British rule, she was bound by justice to defray at least half the cost. The benefit of these operations was tor both Britain and India. The principle was admitted

in the case of the last Afghan war, which was certainly not a very necessary war, but the Liberal Government defrayed a portion of the expenditure. That India should be required to pay the cost of all the small wars and aggressions beyond her boundaries, or political subsidies, was not worthy of the British people, when these were all as much or more necessary, for their own benefit and rule as for the benefit of India. He hoped he was not appealing to deaf ears. He knew that when any appeal was made on the basis of justice, righteousness, and honour, the English people responded to it, and with the perfect faith in the English character he believed his appeal would not be in vain. The short of the whole matter was, whether the people of British India were British citizens or British helots. If the former, as he firmly believed to be the desire of the British people, then let them have their birthright of British rights as well as British responsibilities. Let them be treated with justice, that the costs of the benefits to both should be shared by both. The unseemly squabble that was now taking place on the question of Import Duties between the Lancashire manufacturers on the one hand and the British Indian Government on the other illustrated the helpless condition of the people of This was the real position. The Indian Government arbitrarily imposed a burden of a million or so a year on the ill-fed Indians as a heartless compensation to the well-fed officials, and have gone on adding to expenditure upon Europeans. They want money, and they adopt Lord Salisbury's advice to bleed where there is blood left. and also by means of Import Duties tax the subjects of the Native States. The Lancashire gentleman object and want to apply the lancet to other parts that would not

interfere with their interests—and thus the quarrel between them. However that is decided, the Indians are to be bled. He did not complain of the selfishness of the Lancashire people. By all means be selfish, but be intelligently selfish. Remember what Mr. Bright said—Your good can only come through India's good. Help India to be prosperous, and you will help your prosperity. Macaulay truly said:—

It would be a doting wisdom which would keep a hundred millions (now more than two hundred millions) of men from being our customers in order that they might continue to be our slaves.

They had no voice as to the expenditure of a single farthing in the administration of Indian affairs. The British Indian Government could do what they liked. There was, of course, an Indian Council; but when a Budget was proposed it had to be accepted. The representatives of the Council could make a few speeches, but there the matter ended. The people of India now turned to the people of Great Britain, and, relying on the justice of their claim, asked that they should contribute their fair share in proportion to any benefits which this country might derive from the possession of India.

Part I.

INDIA AND LANCASHIRE.

February, 2) st, 1896.

Sir Henry James, a conservative member moved the adjournment of the House "in order to call attention to a matter of definite and urgent public importance—the effect of the imposition of duties on cotton goods imported into India". The motion was warmly debated, and ultimately lost, the Government as a body opposing Sir Henry James. Mr. Dadabhai made the following speech on the occasion:—

At this late hour I shall not occupy the House very long, but I will ask hon, gentlemen opposite: Does England spend a single farthing in connection with India? Hon, gentlemen say they are maintaining the Empire. It is something extraordinary! For the two hundred years they have been connected with India they have not spent a single farthing either on the acquisition or the maintenance of the Empire. However, I will not go into that large question. (Hear, hear.) Did I wish to see the Empire in India endangered, were I a rebel at heart, I should welcome this motion with the greatest delight. The great danger to the Empire is to adopt methods of irritation. which if continued will assuredly bring about disintegration. (Hear, hear.) I appeal to the Unionists to vote against this motion or they will drive the first nail in the coffin of British rule in India. You may, as Lord Roberts has told you, have a stronger and larger army in India than you have at present; you may have that army perfection itself; but your stability rests entirely upon the entisfaction of the people. (Hear, hear.) I heard with great satisfaction hon, members on both sides of the House recognise this important fact, that after all, the whole safety of the British rule depends upon the satisfaction of the people, and the justice that may be done towards them. Remember whatever you are, you are still like a step-mother -children may submit to any amount of oppression from their own mother, and will be affectionate towards her, but from their step-mother they will always demand the strictest justice. (Hear, hear.) You must remember that you as an alien people have to rule over a large number of people in the Indian Empire, and if you do not consult their feelings, you will make a very great mistake. I am quite sure that I appeal not in vain to the Unionists, and can-I appeal to the Home Rulers. (Hear, hear.) If they mean Home Rule, they mean that it must be entirely on the integrity of the Empire. (Hear, hear.) I have never known a motion brought before this House which was more separatist than the one before it now. (Hear, hear.) I can count upon the votes of Home Rulers. The passing of this motion would be the passing of a motion of disunion. Perhaps you may not feel the effect for some time but I impress upon this great assembly—that though a revolution may not take place to-morrow, it is the accumulation of many years, of many disappointments, many inattentions, that at last produces a revolution. Do not forget 1857. I, for one, desire from the bottom of my heart that the British rule and connection with India may last for a very long time. (Hear, hear.) They are dealing with many millions of people, and I desire and hope that India to-morrow will not receive a telegram saying that this motion has been passed. The feeling of injustice is very strong there. India has its agitators,

What were the occupiers of the Treasury Bench ? Did they not go up and down the country endeavouring to educate the people and to disseminate their own opinions? And so does the Opposition and every member. peaceful agitation alone that British India is to be pre-This is not the first occasion that our Lancashire served. friends have tried to force the hands of the Government to do certain things adverse to India, They began in 1700. But I am not going on this grave occasion to enter into any petty quarrel with them. (Hear, hear.) This I will say, British India is too poor to buy Manchester goods. People talked of the enormous Manchester There was no such enormous trade, unless 15s, 6d, per head per annum was an enormous trade. I appeal to all parties not to let this motion pass. (Hear, hear.) I appeal to you not to let a telegram go forth to India, saying that it has been passed. It will have a very bad effect there. You have your remedy in the assurance of the Secretary of India, that if you can point out how to remove the the alleged protective character of these duties, he wil do it. You are bound to be satisfied with that assurance. I again earnestly hope that the motion will not be allowed to pass. (Hear, hear.)

Part II.

MISCELLANEOUS SPEECHES & ADDRESSES.

RETIREMENT OF LORD RIPON.

The following speech was delivered before the public meeting of the native inhabitants of Bombay in honour of Lord Ripon, on his retirement from the Viceroyalty, convened by the Sheriff in the Town Hall, on Saturday, the 29th November, 1884. The Hon'ble Sir Jamsetjes Jeejeebhoy, Bart, C. S. I., in the Chair.

Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji, who was received with loud and prolonged cheers, in supporting the Resolution, * said :- Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen.-All India from one end to the other proclaims the righteousness and good deeds of Lord Ripon. There are not many persons among the thousands that have assembled here, or among the hundreds of thousands of this city or among the millions of this Presidency, who have not his great services by heart, (Cheers.) It will for me to waste any time in a reiteration of them. I shall touch upon what strikes me as the brightest stars in the whole galaxy of his deeds. The greatest questions of the Indian problem to my mind at

That this meeting, representing the various native communities of Western India, desires to place on record the deep sense of gratitude entertained by them for the eminent services to India rendered by the Marquis of Ripon during his admininistration as Vicercy of India.

present are, our material and moral loss, and our political education for self-government. For the former, the first great achievement of the Ripon Government is a courageous and candid acknowledgment that the material and educational condition of India is that of poverty. After this bold and righteous recognition, England will feel bound to remedy this great evil. (Cheers.) Lord Ripon's Government has, however, not remained satisfied with their acknowledgment, but has laid the foundation of the remedy by resolving that Indian energy, Indian resources, and Indian agency must be developed in every way and in all departments with broad and equal justice to all. For the second—our political education—nothing can be a more conclusive proof of the success of his measures in that direction than the sight of the great and national ovation that political upheaving in tbe being poured upon him throughout the length and of India. And we ourselves are here today as the proof of the success of political our education. (Cheers) We are to propose a memorial to Lord Ripon. But what will hundred such memorials be to the great monuments be has himself raised to himself? As self-government, and self-administration and education advanced, for which all he has raised great new landmarks, his memory shall exist at every moment of India's life, and they will be the everlasting monuments, before which all our memorials will sink into utter insignificance. It was asked in St. Paul where Wren's monument was. This, St. Paul itself, was his monument, was the reply. What is Ripon's monument? It will be answered India itself-a self-governing and prosperous nation and loyal to the British throne. Canning was Pandy Canning, he is now the Canning the Just, of the British historian. The native historian with admiration and gratitude, and the English historian, with pride and pleasure, will point to Ripon, as Ripon the Righteous, the maker and benefactor of a nation of hundreds of millions. (Loud theers.) But by far the great service that Ripon has done, is to England and Englishmen. He has raised the name and glory of England and the Englishmen, and rivetted India's loyalty to the British rule. Deep and unshakeable as my faith is in the character for fairness and desire to do good to India. I must confess during my humble efforts in Indian politics, I was sometimes driven to despair, and to doubt my faith. But Ripon has completely restored it to its full intensity, that England's conscience is right and England will do its duty and perform its great mission in India, when she has such sons, so pure of heart and high in statesmanship. (Cheers.) I pray that our Sovereign give us always Viceroys like Ripon. The good deeds of Ripon are sung all over the land by all from the prince to the peasant. I am informed that addresses will flow from the poor aggriculturists when Lord Ripon arrives here, and I have the pleasure of reading to you a letter to me from a prince. what H. H. the Thakore Saheb Bhagvatsingjee of Gondal says:-" I am happy to note that a movement is being set on foot in Bombay to perpetuate the memory of the retiring Viceroy, Lord Ripon. He has strong hold on the loyalty and affection of our people, with whose vital interests he has identified himself. So the movement of which you are a promoter has my best sympathies. slight tribute of my admiration for the noble Lord Ripon

I beg to subscribe Rs. 3,000 to the Ripon Memorial Fund." (Cheers.) For the sentiments of his Highness the Jam Saheb Vibhajee of Jamnuggur, you can judge best when I tell you that he with his Kuvar Jasvatsingjee has subscribed Rs. 10,000 to the Ripon Memorial. The Thakore Sahebs of Rajkote and Katosan have also subscribed. My friend Mr. Hurkissoudas has just this moment received a telegram from H. H. The Thakore Suheb of Limrec, the Hon. Jesvatsinghjee, subscribing Rs. 5,000 to the Ripon Memorial. A deputation from the great meeting of Sholapore, which was presided over by Mr. Satyendranath Tajore, has attended here. Also another deputation from Khandesh, Well, gentlemen, these two months will be an epoch and a bright page in Indian history, and we shall be for ever proud that we had the good fortune to have had a share in honouring the great name of Ripon. (Loud and prolonged sheers.)

III.

THE FAWCETT MEMORIAL MEETING.

The following speech was delivered befor the public meetings of the inhabitants of Bombay, held in the Town Hull, on the 2nd September, 1885, convened by the Bombay Presidency Association for the purpose of taking steps to raise a memorial to the late Professor Fawcett. His Excellency Lord Reay, Governor of Bombay, in the Chair.

Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji, who was greeted with loud and prolonged cheers, said :- Your Excellency, Ladies and Gentlemen,-I beg to propose that a committee be formed to take necessary steps for collecting funds for the memorial, and for deciding what form the memorial should take, Mr. P. M. Mehta, the Hon'ble K. T. Telang, Mesers. D. E. Wacha, R. M. Sayani, and Vundrawandas Purshotumdes acting as honorary secretaries to the fund. take this proposition in hand with more grief than delight. I knew Professor Fawcett personally, and I know what loss we have suffered. There is a great deal that is always made public and appreciated by the public as far as it is known, but there is a great deal that is done by good men which never sees the light of publication, and which consequently is never appreciated. I give my personal experience of the worth of this great man, which will show you that, whereas in a public way he has done a great deal of good, he has also privately and behind the scenes been proved as useful a friend of India as ever any man has been. To give my own personal reminiscences of one or two incidents, I can tell you that when I appeared before

the Finance Committee in England in 1873, I had perhaps the rashness of writing a letter beforehand of what . I wanted to give my evidence upon. What I said there, somehow or other, did not suit Mr. Ayrton, the chairman of the committee, and he hindered and hampered me in every way. Before I went to the committee I saw Mr. Fawcett, who was always sympathising with us, and I laid before him the notes which I wanted to submit to the committee. He considered them very carefully and told me that that was the very thing that ought to be brought to the committee. But, strange to say, that when I went before the committee Mr. Ayrton chose to decide that that was just the thing that was not to be brought before the committee. On the first day I was hardly able to give evidence of what I wanted to say. But the next day, when it came to Mr. Fawcett's turn to examine me, in a series of judicious and pointed questions, be brought out all that I had to say in a brief and clear manner. You will see from this that although such little incidents scarcely become public, they are in themselves not without their value. He did, in fact, an invaluable service in enabling a native of India to say all that he wanted to say, whether it was right or wrong. Here is an instance of the justice and fearlessness with which he wanted to treat this country. (Cheers.) Fancy a noble commanding figure standing on the floor of the House of Commons respectfully listened to by the whole House, pleading the cause of hundreds of millions of people whom he had not seen, pleading as effectively as any of India's own some could ever do (cheers), holding like unto the blind deity of justice the scales in his hands even between friends and foes in small matters and in great. (Loud cheers.) That is

the blind man we have assembled to-day to honour. You can easily perceive how many a time, as I saw him pleading our cause, I felt a sort of awe and veneration as for a superior being. (Cheers.) In speeches he never stooped to catch a momentary applause, but he always spoke in sober language words of wisdom-words that sprang from his inner convictionthat in their turn carried conviction to every one around him. (Cheers.) We are told that where good men stand the ground becomes hely. Here his influence and his words reach and permeate the whole atmosphere, and whoever breathes the atmosphere catches something of that goodness and that sincerity towards nature and God. He was one of those men who not only in the senate stood firm and bold and dealt out even justice to friend and foe slike, but on the stumping platform too he was the same considerate man, who never uttered a word to sink into the vulgar crowd, but always tried to raise them to a level higher and better than they were before he spoke. He himself, we know, had grappled the subject of Indian problems with perfect clearness and in all their details. He learned from Anglo-Indians, but he subsequently became the teacher of all Anglo-Indians. He told them that the time was coming when the pelicy of the British administration should be entirely changed, that the way in which British India was governed was not the way in which it was fit to be governed by a nation of Englishmen. He understood and always declared that he belonged to a nation to whom India was confided in the providence of God for their care and help. He felt himself to be one of that nation, and he felt the instinct of Englishmen to do that only which

was just and right, and to receive the glory derived from the advancement of civilization and by the raising of mankind instead of trampling them down under foot. He felt that duty as an Englishman, and he carnestly and devotedly performed that duty as far as one man of ability and earnestness could ever do. (Cheers.) We are now threatened with a permanent addition to the expenditure of some two millions. Do those statesmen who make such a proposal at all think of what they are about? Fawcett's voice from the grave now rises once again, and we are reminded of his words in connection with the Licence Tax. He said that if such an odious and unjust tax had been imposed, it was because no better one could be substituted in its place, and he further stated that when the time came for them to impose another tax, the Government would be reduced to great straits, and they would have to impose a tax as must end in disaster and serious peril. (Cheers.) The statesmen who are now thinking of imposing the additional burden of expenditure must bear in mind the words of this great man, ponder over them. and carefully consider how far they can impose further burdens on the extremely poor people of India. (Cheera.) When I say the people are extremely poor, the words are not mine, but those of Mr. Fawcett and many other eminent statesmen. I do not want to detain the audience any longer, but I will only say the man is dead, but his words will remain; and I only hope that he will inspire others to follow in his footsteps and to earn the blossings of hundreds of millions of the people of this country. (Loud and prolonged cheers.)

INDIA'S INTEREST IN THE GENERAL ELECTION. (1886.)

The following speech was delivered before a meeting of the members of the Bombay Presidency Association, held in the rooms of the Association on Tuesday evening, the 29th September, 1885. Mr. (now Sir) Dinsha Maneckji Petit in the Chair.

The Hon. Dadabhai Naorcji proposed :- "That the following candidates, on account of their services and opinions publicly expressed by them on Indian questions. are deserving of the support of the Indian people:-The Right Honourable Mr. John Bright, the Marquis of Hartington, Mr. J. Slagg, Sir J. Phear, Mr. L. Ghose, Mr. W. Digby, Mr. W. S. Blunt, Mr. S. Keay, Mr. S. Laing, Captain Verney, and Mr. W. C. Plowden, That the views regarding Indian questions publicly expressed by the following candidates cannot be approved by the people of India, and these candidates cannot be accepted as representing Indian interests: -- Sir Richard Temple. Mr. J. M. Maclean, Mr. A. S. Ayrton, Sir Lewis Pelly. and Sir Roper Lethbridge." He said :- I speak to the motion which is placed in my hands with a deep sense Hitherto it has been, and it will of its importance. be so generally, that the English people can mostly derive their information about India from Anglo-Indiana. official and non-official, but chiefly from the former. But there are Anglo-Indians and Anglo-Indians. Some, but their number is small, have used their eyes rightly, have

looked beyond the narrow circle of their own office, have sympathised with the natives, and tried to understand them and to find out their true wants and aspirations. Unfortunately the larger number of Anglo-Indians do not take such wide views, or such interest in the natives as would enable them to judge rightly of the actual condition of India. Now, when we consider of what extreme importance it is to us that the people of England should have correct information of our condition and wants; how almost entirely we have to depend upon the people and Parliament of England to make those great reforms which alone can remove the serious evils from which we are ordinary necessity iŧ ia no we should take 60108 steps, by which we may inform the great British public, on which sources of information they could rely with any confidence. I have said, the number of those who have the necessary true experience and interest in the natives is very small. It is extremely necessary that such should be pointed out by us. We also find that several Euglishmen visiting India, as impartial observers, without any bias or prejudices, have often formed a more correct estimate of the poeition and necessities of India than many an Anglo-Indian of the so-called experience of twenty or thirty years. Even some, who have not been here at all, form fair and just estimates. It is not always that we can approach the British people in a way so as to secure the general attention of the whole nation at the same time. The present occasion of the new elections is one of those rare occasions in which we can appeal to the whole nation, and especially in a way most useful for our purpose. It is in Parliament that our chief battles have to be fought. The election of

its members, especially those who profess to speak on Indian matters, requires our carnest attention, and we should point out clearly to the electors, which of those candidates, who make India a plank in their credentials, have our confidence. We do not at all intend to influence the electors in any way in matters of their choice of the representatives that suit them best for their local politics. What we desire to impress upon them is, that so far as the important element of the deliberations on Indian questions is concerned, we desire to name those candidates who are deserving of our confidence and support, and on whom we can rely as would fairly and righteously represent our real wants and just rights before Parliament. It is with this object that I ask you to adopt the resolution before you. The first name in our resolution is the bright name of the Right Honourable Mr. John Bright. Now, I do not certainly presume that I can say anything, or that our association can do anything that can in the least add to the high position Mr. Bright occupies. What I say, therefore, is not with any view that we give any support to him, but as an expression of our esteem and admiration, and of our gratitude for the warm and righteous interest he has evinced on our behalf. I would not certainly take up your time in telling you what he is and what he has His fame and name are familiar to the wide world. I may simply refer to a few matters concerning ourselves. Our great charter is the gracious Proclamation of the Queen. That proclamation is the very test by which we test friends or foce; and it is Mr. Bright, who first proposed and urged the duty and necessity of issuing such a proclamation, at a time when the heads of many were bewildered and lost, in his speech on the India Bill

in 1858. I should not tarry long on the tempting subject, for, if I went on quoting from Mr. Bright's speeches, to show what he has done more than a quarter of a century ago, asking for us what we have been only latterly beginning to give utterance to, I might detain you for hours. I must, however, give you a few short extracts, showing both the earnestness and the intense sense of justice of the man, "The people of India," he said, " have the highest and strongest claims upon youclaims which you cannot forget-claims which if you do not act upon, you may rely upon it that, if there be a judgment for nations—as I believe there is, as for individuals-our children in no distant generation must pay the penalty which we have purchased by neglecting our duty to the populations of India." In his speech of 1853, on the occasion of the renewal of the E. I. Company's charter, referring to the miserable condition of the masses of India, he said :- " I must say that it is my belief that if a country be found possessing a most fertile soil and capable of bearing every variety of production, and that notwithstanding, the people are in a state of extreme destitution and suffering, the chances are that there is some fundamental error in the government of that country." When, may I ask, will our rulers see this "fundamental error?" I have purposely confined myself to his older utterances so far, that we may fully appreciate the righteous advocacy at a time when our own voice was feeble and hardly heard at all. You will allow me to make one reference to his later words, and you will see how he is yet the same man and the same friend of India. In his " Public Letters." in a letter written by him last year to a gentleman at

Calcutta, he says :-- " It is to me a great mystery that England should be in the position she now is in relation to India. I hope it may be within the ordering of Providence that ultimately good may arise from it. I am convinced that this can only come from the most just Government which we are able to confer upon your countless millions, and it will always be a duty and a pleasure to me to help forward any measure that may tend to the well-being of your people." The Marquis of Hartington also occupies a position to which we can hardly add anything. But as we have during his State Secretaryship of India observed his disposition towards a due appreciation of and fulfilment of the noble principles of the Proclamation, and his emphatic identifying himself with the righteous Ripon policy at a time of crucial trial-during the excitement of the Ilbert Billwe cannot but take this opportunity of expressing our thanks and our confidence in him. To assure you the more fully of this duty upon us, you will permit me to read a few words on this very topic from his speech of 23rd August, 1883. After pointing out the insufficiency of the administration, and the inability of India to afford more for it, he said :- " If the country is to be better governed, that can only be done by the employment of the best and most intelligent of the natives in the service. There is a further reason, in my opinion, why this policy should be adopted, and that is, that it is not wise to educate the people of India, to introduce among them, your civilization and your progress and your literature, and at the same time to tell them, they shall never have any chance of taking any part or share in the administration of the affairs of their country except by their

getting rid, in the first instance, of their European rulers." I cannot refrain myself from expressing my deep regret that we are not able to include in our present list a name that stands pre-eminently high as one of our best friends -I mean Mr. Fawcett. But I trust you will allow me to give a few short extracts, as a warning and a voice from the grave, of one who had the welfare of the poor and dumb millions at heart. Though he is dead his spirit may guide our other friends, and our rulers. 1 these extracts as specially bearing on the present disastrons move of imposing a permanent additional annual burden of some two to three crores of rupees upon us. and on the whole Indian problem. With reference to the Afghan policy he said in 1879 :- " It cannot be too strongly insisted upon that in the existing financial condition of India, no peril can be more serious than the adoption of a policy, which, if it should lead to a large additional expenditure, would sooner or later necessitate increase of taxation. . . The additional taxation which must be the inevitable accompaniment of increased expenditure will bring upon India the gravest perils." Again-" The question, however, as to the exact proportion in which the cost of pursuing a forward policy in Afghanistan should be borne by England and India respectively will have again to be considered anew, now that it has become necessary to renew hostilities in Afghanistau." These words apply with equal force today when we are threatened with a large unnecessary additional burden. On the subject of the whole Indian problem, he said :- " Although there is much in the present financial condition of India to cause the most erious apprehension, yet there is one circumstance

connected with it which may fairly be regarded as a most hopeful omen for the future. Until quite lately, India was looked upon as an extremely wealthy country, and there was no project, however costly, that India was not supposed to be rich enough to pay for. Now, however, juster ideas of the resources of the country and of the condition of the people prevail. The recurrence of famines. . . . have at length led the English public to take firm hold of the fact that India is an extremely poor country, and that the great mass of her people are in such a state of impoverishment that the Government will have to contend with exceptional difficulties if it becomes pecessary to procure increased revenue by additional taxation." "Without an hour's delay the fact should be recognized that India is not in a position to pay for various services at their present rate of renunera-A most important saving might be effected by more largely employing natives in positions which are now filled by highly paid Europeans, and from such a change political as well as financial advantages would result." "The entire system in which the Government of India is conducted must be changed. The illusion is only just beginning to pass away that India is an extremely wealthy country." "The financial condition of India is one of such extreme peril that economy is not only desirable but is a matter of imperative necessity." "No misfortune which could happen to India could be greater than having to make her people bear the burden of increased taxation." "In order to restore the finances of India and prevent them drifting into hopeless embarrassment, it is absolutely essential that the policy of rigid economy in every branch of the public service. which has been recently announced by the Government should be carried out with promptitude and thoroughness." This policy was announced by the Conservative Government and now all this is forgotten and the Conservative Government are proposing to burden us with additional expenditure of two or three millions, or may be more ! We cannot too strongly protest against this. In all the extracts I have read you will perceive the kind of policy which our friends have urged, and this test, or as I may shortly call, the Royal Proclamation policy, principal one by which we may discriminate friends from those who either from ignorance or narrow-minded selfishness advocate a different policy. Judging by this test, 1 may say that all the other names in the first part of the resolution are fairly entitled to our confidence and to an appeal from us to the constituencies to return them to Parliament as far as our interests are concerned. Their writings show that they have a good grasp of our position and wants. I may refer to Mr. Slagg's views and efforts to abolish the India Council. Nothing can be more absurd than that in the nineteenth century and in England itself, the first home of public and free discussion upon all public matters, there should exist a body to deliberate secretly upon the destinies of a sixth of the human race! It is an utter anachronism. laudable and persistent efforts to get an inquiry into the Government of India promises to be successful. Mesers. Slagg, Digby, Keay, Blunt, and Verney's writings show that they understand us and have done us good service. About Mr. Lal Mohun Ghose I need not say more than that he is the only one through whom the Indians will now have a chance of speaking for themselves. I

every hope that he will do justice to himself, and fulfil the expectations which India has rested on him by honest and hard work for the welfare of his country. We must feel very thankful to the electors of Greenwich for giving him such welcome and sympathy as they have done. They have shown remarkable liberality, vindicated the English spirit of justice and philanthropy, have held out a hand to us of equal citizenship, and nobly confirmed the sincerity of the Royal Proclamation, by their action as a part of the English nation. Mr. Laing has, I am sfraid, some incorrect notions about the balance of the trade of India, but we know that he understands India well and will continue to be useful in promoting our welfare. Phear and Mr. Plowden are known to us Sir John for their sympathies with us. Sir John Phear's book " The Arvan Village." awoda much sympathetic study of the country and its institutions, and time of the Ilbert friend at the Bill. He said :- "We have a higher duty to India than to consult the prejudices of this kind of a few thousands of our own countrymen, who are there to-day, but may be gone to-morrow. We have to govern that vast empire in the interest of the millions who constitute the indigenous population of the country." Mr. Plowden says, with reference to Lord Ripon's policy :- "I know it to be just, I know it also to be honest and earnest, I believe it to be sound and thoroughly practical." I next come to our second list. As I have already said, we do not ask the constituencies not to return them if they are suitable to them on other grounds. We only ask that whatever weight the electors may give to their other qualifications, they would not take them as fair exponents or trustworthy interpreters of India's

wants and just wishes, and as favouring us by electing them. With regard to Sir R. Temple I need say nothing more than that he endeavours to produce the wrong and mischievous impression upon the minds of the English people that India is prosperous and increasing in prosperity, in the teeth of the early and latest testimony of eminent men and in the teeth of facts. Mr. Fawcett told that the illusion was passing away, while Sir Richard keeps it up! I do not advert to some of his acts in India, such as the strange contrast of 2 lbs. rations in Bengal and the disastrous I lb. ration famine policy here, probably to please higher authorities-his high-handedness, his treatment of the local funds, &c., &c. I confine myself to an utterance or two of his after leaving India. It is strange that a quarter of a century ago Mr. Richard Temple was able to take and express a remarkably intelligent view of the Indian problem. In connection with the Punjab he expounded the causes of Punjab's poverty and revival in his report of 1859 in these significant and clear words:-" In former reports it was explained how the circumstance of so much money going out of the Punjab contributed to depress the agriculturist. The native regular army was Hindustani, to them was a large share of the Punjab revenue disbursed, of which a part only they spent on the spot and a part was remitted to their homes. Thus it was that year after year, lakhs and lakhs were drained from the Punjab, and enriched Oudh. But within the last year the native army being Punjabee, all such sums have been paid to them, and have been spent at home. Again, many thousands of Punjabee soldiers are serving abroad. These men not only remit their savings, but also have sent quantities of prize property and plunder, the spoils of Hindustan, to their native villages. The effect of all this is already perceptible in an increase of agricultural capital, a freer circulation of money and a fresh impetus to cultivation." Now, gentlemen, am I not justified in saying that it is strange that what Mr. Richard Temple of twenty-five years past saw so intelligently, about Punjab, Sir Richard Temple of the present day does not or would not see about India, whence, not merely "lakhs and lakhs" but hundreds and hundreds of lakhs-thirty hundred or so lakhs are drained to England. He cannot, it appears, now grasp the problem of India as he did that of the Punjab. I cannot undertake to explain this phenomenon. What may be the reason or object? He alone can explain. As he is presently doing mischief by posing as a friend, I can only say "save us from such a friend." We cannot but speak out, however unwillingly, that Sir Richard Temple is not a safe and correct guide for the people of England for India's wants and wishes. While Bright in '53, Lawrence in '64 and '73, Fawcett in '79, the London Punch's grand cartoon of Disillusion in '79 pourtraying the wretched Indian woman and children, with the shorn pagoda tree over their heads, begging alms of John Bull, Hunter in '80, Baring in '82, deplore the impoverishment of the masses of India, Sir Richard in a fine phrenzy talks in '85 "of their homes becoming happier, their acres broader, their harvest richer." "India is prospering, that there is no lack of subsistence, no shrinkage of occupation, no discontent with the wages at home, and in consequence no search. ing for wages abroad." And yet some light-hearted people coolly talk of sending him Vicerov here! No greater misfortune could befall to India! About Mr. Meclean I need not say much as you are all well aware, that he has been throughout his whole career in India a thorough partisan and an avowed and determined anti-native, with a few rare intervals of fairness. He can never be a fair and trustworthy interpreter of our views and wishes. He off-handedly says in his letter in the Bombay Gazette of 9th June last: "Mr. Slagg recited the usual rubbish about the deplorable poverty and overtaxation of the Indian people." So you see, gentlemen, who Mr. Maclean is. He is a great man before whom the views of such persons as Bright, Fawcett, Lawrence, the Punch, and Baring are all mere rubbish! Mr. Ayrton's whole policy can be summed up in a few words-trent natives gently, but give them no posts of power or responsibility, have no legislative councils with non-official element, and if you have, put no natives in them. He says:-"The power of governing must remain, as it had hitherto been, solely and exclusively in the hands of British subjects going out of this country." "Why were we to teach the natives, what they had failed in discovering for themselves, that they would one day be a great nation." This un-English narrow-mindedness and purblindness is the worst thing that can happen to England and India both, and according to it all that the best and highest English statesmen, and even our Sovereign have promised and said about high duty, justice, policy, &c., must become so many empty words, hollow promises, and all sham and delusion. My personal relations with Sir L. Pelly at Baroda were, as you know, friendly, but the reason of his name appearing in this list in that he was an instrument of Lord Lytton's Afghan policy, and that as far as his views may have coincided with the Lytton policy, he cannot fairly represent our views against that policy. About Sir Roper Lethbridge, I was under the impression that when he was Press Commissioner, he was regarded as one sympathising with the natives. But when the day of the crucial trial came, the Ilbert Bill and the Ripon policy, he was then found out that his views were anything but what would be just, fair and sympathising towards the natives of India. In addition to the names I have mentioned. I am required to mention Sir James Fergusson, and I cannot but agree to do so though with some reluctance. I have personally much respect for him, and I do not forget that he has done some good. In the matter of the native princes he enunciated a correct principle some eighteen years ago when he was Under-Secretary of State for India. Presiding at a meeting of the East India Association, 1867, he said: -" It is earnestly to be hoped that the princes of India look upon the engagements of the British Queen asirrevocable," and I believe he consistently carried out this principle when here with the princes of this Presidency. We cannot also forget that when acting upon his owninstincts he did good in matters of education and social intercourse, and nominated to the Legislative Council our friends the Hon. Budroodeen and the Hon. Telang as representatives of the educated class, retaining also the Hon. Mundlik. You can easily conceive then my reluctance to speak against him, notwithstanding some mistakes and failures in his administration as Governor under official misguidance. But when I see that after his arrival in England he has made statements so incorrect and mischievous in results, in some matters most vital to India, it is incumbent upon us to say that he does not know the true state of India. Fancy, gentlemen,

my regret and surprise when I read these words from the latest Governor of Bombay :-- "At the present time her (India's) people were not heavily taxed, and it was a great mistake to suppose that they were." This is a matter of easy ascertainment, and the heaviness of taxation is repeated by acknowledged eminent men. Here are a few, figures which will teil their own tale. The income of the United Kingdom may be roughly taken at £1,200,000,000 and its gross revenue about £87,000,000, giving a proportion of about 71 per cent, of the income. Of British India the income is hardly £400,000,000 and its gross revenue about £70,000,000 giving 171 per cent. of the income, and yet Sir James tells the English people that the people of India are not heavily taxed, though paying out of this wretched income, a gross revenue of more than double the proportion of what the people of the enormously rich-England pay for their gross revenue. Contrast with Sir James's statement the picture which Mr. Fawcett gives in his paper in the Nineteenth Century, of October, 1879:-" If a comparison is made between the financial resources of England and India, it will be found almost impossible to convey an adequate idea of the poverty of the latter country * * and consequently it is found that taxation in India has reached almost its extreme limits." Again he says: "It is particularly worthy of remark that the Viceroy and Secretary of State now unreservedly accept the conclusion that the limit of taxation has been reached in India, and that it has consequently become imperatively necessary that expenditure should be reduced." (The italics are mine.) Now, gentlemen, mark this particularly. When in 1879 the Conservative Viceroy and Secretary of State had, as Mr. Fawcett says, unreservedly

accepted that the limit of taxation had been reached in India, the gross revenue was only £65,000,000 while the budgetted revenue of the present year is already £72,000, 000, and we are now threatened by the same Governmentwith an addition of £2,000,000 or £3,000,000 more permanently. This is terrible. Change the entire system as Mr. present destructive Fawcett says, substitute for the foreign agency, the constructive and conservative native agency, except for the bigher posts of power, and can have a hundred millions or two hundred millions with ease for purposes of government or taxation. This is the difference between Fawcett and Fergusson. Both are gentlemen, but the former speaks from careful hard study, the latter without it. Mischievous as such statements grenerally are, they are still more so when delivered before a Manchester audience, who unfortunately yet do not understand their own true interests, and the interests of the English workmen. They do not understand yet that their greatest interest is in increasing the ability of the Indians to buy their manufactures. Thatif India were able to buy a pound worth of their cotton manufactures per head per annum, that would give them a trade of £250,000,000 a year instead of the present poor imports into India of £25,000,000 of cotton yarn and manufactures from all foreign countries of the world. Sir James, I think, has made another statement that all offices in India are occupied by the natives except the highest. I am not able to put my hand just now upon the place where I read it. But if my impression be correct. I would not waste words and your time to animadvert upon such an extraordinary incorrect statement, so utterly contrary to notorious facts. Why, it is the head and

front, the very soul of all our evils and grievances that the statement is not the fact or reality as it ought to This is the very thing which will put an end to all our troubles, and remedy all our evils of poverty and otherwise. Let Sir James bring it about, and he will be our greatest benefactor and England's best friend. In concluding, I may lay down a test for our appeal to the electors, that whichever candidates are not in accord with the Royal Proclamation, and with the lines of the Ripon policy, they are those whom we ask to be not regarded as trustworthy and fair interpreters of our views and wishes. The resolution has Mr. Blunt's name in the first list and Mr. Aryton's in the second. This will show that we are not actuated by a spirit of partisanship. Whoever are our real friends, be they Liberal or Conservative, we call them our friends. Differences of opinion in some details will no doubt occur between us and our friends, but we are desirous to support them, because the broad and important lines of policy, which India needs, such as of the Proclamation and the Ripon policy, and the broad and important facts of our true condition, are well understood and adopted by those friends for their guidance in their work for the welfare of India. (Applause.)

INDIA AND THE OPIUM QUESTION.

The following speech was delivered before a Conference which took place at the Offices of the Society for the Suppression of the Opium Trade, Broadway Chambers, Westminster on Monday afternoon, October 15th, 1886, to have a frank interchange of opinion with the Hon'ble Dudubhai Naoroji, M. L. C., and other Indian gentlemen on the subject of the Opium Trade with special reference to its Indian aspects:—

Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji said,—I have listened to the remarks of the gentlemen with very great interest, for the simple reason that I am almost of the same opinion. The best proof that I can give to you, not only of my own mere sentiments, but of my actual conduct in respect to opium, is that when I joined a mercantile firm in 1855, it was one of my conditions that I should have nothing whatever to do with opium. That is as far back as 1855. In 1880, in my correspondence with the Secretary of State on the condition of India, one of the paragraphs in my letter with regard to the opium trade is this; and I think that this will give you at once an idea of my copinion:—

"There is the opium trade. What a spectacle it is to the world! In England, no statesman dares to propose ithat opium may be allowed to be sold in public-houses at ithe corners of every street, in the same way as beer or spirits. On the contrary, Parliament, as representing the iwhole nation, distinctly enacts that opium and all prepa-

rations of opium or of poppies,' as 'poison,' be sold by certified chemists only, and 'every box, bottle, vessel, wrapper, or cover in which such poison is contained, be distinctly labelled with the name of the article, and the word " poison," and with the name and address of the seller of the poison. And yet, at the other end of the world, this Christian, highly civilized, and humane England forces a 'heathen 'and 'barbarous ' Power to take this ' poison,' and tempts a vast human race to use it, and to degenerate and demoralize themselves with this poison!' And why? Because India cannot fill up the remorseless drain; so China must be dragged in to make it up, even though it be by being 'poisoned.' It is wonderful how England reconciles this to her conscience. This opium trade is a sin on England's head, and a curse on India for her share in being the instrument. This may sound strange as coming from any natives of India, as it is generally represented as if India it was that benefited by the opium trade. The fact simply is that, as Mr. Duff said. India is nearly ground down to dust, and the opium trade of China fills up England's drain. India derives not a particle of benefit. All India's profits of trade, and several millions from her very produce (scanty as it is, and becoming more and more so), and with these all the profit of opium go the same way of the drain-to England. Only India shares the curse of the Chinese race. Had this cursed opium trade not existed, India's miseries would have much sooner come to the surface, and relief and redress would have come to her long ago; but this trade has prolonged the agonies of Indis."

In this I have only just explained to you what I feel on the matter personally. With regard to the whole of

the important question, which must be looked at in a practical point of view, I must leave sentiment aside. I must, at the same time, say that this opinion of mine that the opium revenue must be abolished is a personal one. I do not put it before you as the opinion of all India. state it on my own responsibility. There is a great fear that if the opium revenue were to cease, the people of India would be utterly unable to fill up the gap in the revenue. They feel aghast at the very suggestion of it, and they go so far as to say that the opium revenue cannot be dispensed with. I just tell you what is held there, so that you may understand both sides of the question thoroughly. Therefore you have not the complete sympathy of the natives of India in this matter, and you will find, perhaps. several members of the Indian press expressing their opinion that they could not dispense with the opium revenue. In fact, Mr. Grand Duff, in answer to some representation from your Society, or somebody interested in the abolition of the opium trade, has asked, in 1870, whether they wished to grind an already poor population to the dust. So that he showed that even with the help of the cpium revenue India was just on the verge of being ground down to the dust. This, then, is the condition in which India is situated. The question is how to practically deal with it. Before you can deal with any such subject it is necessary for you to take into consideration the whole Indian problem-What has been the condition of India, and what is the condition of India, and why has it been so? Mr. Dadabhai then cited official authorities from the commencement of the present century up to the present day, includang that of the late and present Finance Ministers, that British India had been all along "exteremely poor."

pointed out the exceedingly low income of India, vit, only Rs. 20 per head per annum, as compared with that of any tolerably well self-governed country; that a progressive and civilizing government ought to have increased reveque; but India was utterly unable to yield such increasing revenue. He explained how, comparatively with its income, the pressure of taxation upon the subjects of British India was doubly heavier than that of England; that of England being about 8 per cent. of its income, and of British India about 15 per cent. of its income; that England paid from its plenty, and India from its exceedingly poor income, so that the effect on British Indian subjects was simply crushing. He pointed out that while the trade with British India was generally supposed to be very large, it was in reality very small and wretched indeed. He illustrated this by some statistics, showing that the exports of British produce to India was only about 30,000,000l., of which a portion went to the Native States of India and to part of Asia, through the northern border, leaving hardly a rupee a head worth for the subjects of British India. This certainly could not be a satisfactory result of a hundred years of British rule. with everything under British control. A quarter of a century ago, he said, Mr. Bright had used these remarkable words: "I must say that it is my belief that if a country be found possessing a most fertile soil, and cupable of bearing every variety of production, and that, notwithstanding, the people are in a state of extreme destitution and suffering, the chances are that there is some fundamental error in the government of that country." . Mr. Dadabhai urged that the Society should find out this fundamental error, and unless they did that, and 'made India

prosperous, they could not expect to gain their benevolent object of getting rid of the orium revenue except by causing India to be ground down to dust by increased taxation in other shapes. This of course the Society did not mean, thus they ought to go to the root of the evil. India was quite capable of giving 200 instead of 70 millions of revenue, if they were allowed to keep what they produced, and to develop freely in their material condition; and in such a condition India would be quite able to dispense with the curse of the opium revenue. Mr. Dadabhai then proceeded to point out what he regarded as the cause of the poverty of British India. 'He cited several authorities upon the subject, and showed it was simply that the employment of a foreign agency caused a large drain to the country, disabling it from saving any capital at all, and rendering it weaker and weaker every day, forcing it to resort to loans for its wants, and becoming worse and worse in its economic condition. He explained at some length the process and effect of this fundamental evil, and how even what was called the "development" of the resources of India was actually thereby turned into the result of the "deprivation" of the resources of India. In pointing out a practicable remedy for all the evils, he said he did not mean that a sudden revolution should be made: but the remedy which had been pointed out by a Committee of the India Office in 1860 would be the best thing to do, to meet all the requirements of the case. After alluding to the Act of 1833 and the great Proclamation of 1858, a faithful fulfilment of which would be the fulfilment of all India's desires and wants, he said that the Committee of the India Office to which he had referred had recommended that simultaneous examinations should be held in India

and England, and the list be made up according to merit; and he added to this scheme, that the successful candidates of the first examination should be made to come over to England and finish their studies for two years with the successful candidates of England. This was the resolution of the National Indian Congress which met last Christmas in Bombay. It was also necessary that some scope should be given to the military races to attach them to the British rule. If this fair play and justice were given to the natives in all the higher Civil Services and if some fair competition system were adopted for all the unconvenanted and subordinate services. India would have fair play, and free development of herself would become prosperous. would be able to give as much revenue as a progressive and a civilizing administration should want, and then only would the philanthropic object of the Society be fully achieved. Otherwise, if India continued as wretched as she was at present, there was no chance of the object being attained except by great distress to the Indian themselves and grave political dangers to the British rulers, or the great disaster. Mr. Dadabhai whole may end in some was glad that British statesmen were becoming alive to this state of affairs, and the highest Indian authority. the Secretary of State, fully shared his appreciation of the position, when he wrote to the Treasury on the 26th of January last: " The position of India in relation to taxation and the sources of the public revenue, is very peculiar. not merely . . . but likewise from the character of the government, which is in the hands of foreigners, who held all the principal administrative offices, and form so large a part of the army. The imposition of new taxation which would have to be borne wholly as a consequence of: the foreign rule imposed on the country, and virtually to meet additions to charges arising outside of the country, would constitute a political danger, the real magnitude of which, it is to be feared, is not at all appreciated by persons who have no knowledge of, or concern in the government of India, but which these responsible for that government have long regarded as of the most serious order."

ADDRESS TO THE ELECTORS OF HOLBORN.

[Address to the Electors of the Holborn Division delivered on the 27th June, 1886, during the general election of that year in support of his candidature as the Liberal Candidate for the Holborn Division of Finsbury.]

I really do not know how I can thank you from the bottom of my heart, for the permission you have given me to stand before you as a canditate for your borough... appreciate the honour most highly. I will not take more of your time on this point, because you may believe me when I say that I thank you from bottom of my leart, It is really and truly so. (Cheers.) Standing as I do here, to represent the 250,000,000 of your fellow-subjects in India, of course I know thoroughly well my duty; for I am returned by you, my first duty will be to consult completely and fully the interest of my constituents. I do not want at present to plead the cause of India. I am glad that that cause has been ably and eloquently pleaded by our worthy Chairman, by Mr. Wilfrid Blunt, and by Mr. Bryce. But the time must come, if I am returned, to lay before you the condition of India-what little we want from you, and with little we are always satisfied. For the present, therefore, I would come to the burning question of the day-the Irish Home Rule. (Loud cheers.)

"CONSISTENT WITH JUSTICE."

The question now before you is whether Ireland shall have its Home Rule or not. ("Yes, yes.") The details are a different question altogether. I will therefore confine myself to those particular points which affect the princi-

ple of Home Rule. The first thing I will say is something about Mr. Gladstone himself. (Loud cheers.) Grand Old Man he is-(renewed cheers)-and not only all England, but all India says so. (Vociferous cheers.) He has been much twitted that he is inconsistent with himself -that he has said something some time ago and something different now. But those that can understand the man can understand how very often a great man may appear inconsistent when in reality he is consistent with truth, justice, right, and has the courage of his convictions. stone thought something at one time, but as circumstances changed, and new light came, and new power was wielded by the Irish people, he saw that this change of circumstances required a reconsideration of the whole question. came to the conclusion that the only remedy for this discord between two sisters was to let the younger sister have her own household. (Cheere.) When he saw that he had the courage of his conviction, the moral courage to come forward before the world and say, "I see that this is the remedy; let the English nation adopt it." And I have no doubt that they will adopt it.

"INCOMPATIBLE WITH TYRANNY."

I have lived in this country actually for twenty years, and my entire connection in business with England has been thirty years, and I say that if there is one thing more certain than another that I have learned, it is that the English nation is incompatible with tyranny. It will at times be proud and imperious, and will even carry a wrong to a long extent; but the time will come when it will be disgusted with its own tyranny and its own wrong. (Cheers.) When once an Englishman sees his mistake he has the moral courage to rectify it, (Cheers.)

Mr. Gladstone, then, has represented your highest and most generous instincts, and I have no doubt that the response from the country, sooner or later, must come to the height of his argument and of his sentiment. The greatest argument against Home Rule is that it will disintegrate the Empire. Now, it has been a surprise to me how this word Empire has been so extraordinarily used and abused-

What is the British Empire? Is it simply Great Britain and Ireland? Why it exists over the whole surface of the world-east, west, north, south-and the sun never sets upon it. Is that Empire to be broken down, even though Ireland be entirely separated? Do you mean to say that the British Empire hangs only upon the thread of the Irish will? (Laughter.) Has England conquered the British Empire simply because Ireland did it? What nonsense it is to say that such an Empire could be disintegrated, even if unhappily Ireland were separated! Do the Colonies hold you in affection because Ireland is with you? Is the Indian Empire submissive to you because you depend upon Ireland? Such a thing would be the highest humiliation for the English recople to say. (Cheers.) The next question is, Will Ireland separate? ("No.") Well, we may say that because we wish it should not; but we must consider it carefully. Let us suppose that the Irish are something like human beings. (Laugiter and cheers.) Let us suppose them to be guided by the ordinary motives of humanity. I put it to you fairly whether Ireland will separate or not. I say she will not.

HOME RULE-HOME LIFE.

What will Ireland be after it has this Home Rule?
It will simply have its own household, just as a sou who

has come of age wishes to have a home in which his wife may be supreme. Ireland simply asks its own household independence, and that does not in the least mean that the Empire is disadvantaged. The Imperial concern is in no way concerned in it. Just as, I and my partner being in business, I leave the management of the concern to him. I have confidence in him. I know he would not deprive me of a single farthing; but as a partner in the firm I am not compelled to live with him, nor to submit myself to him for food and clothing, and the necessaries of life. You do not mean to say that, because Ireland has a separate household, therefore she will also be separated from the Imperial firm, and that they would have no connection with each other ? The British Empire still remains, to be shared by them.

THE ANALOGY OF THE COLONIES.

Take the Colonies. They have their own selfgovernment, as Ireland asks, but there the position of the Colouies ends. Ireland, with this Parliament granted to it, will be in a far higher position than the Colonies are. Ireland will be a part of the ruling power of the British Empire. She and England will be partners as rulers of the British Empire, which the Colonies are not. And if the Irish separate, what are they? An insignificant country. If they should remain separate, and England and America, or England and France should go to war, they would be crushed. There is a saying among the Indians that when two elephants fight the trees are uprooted. (Laughter.) What could Ireland do? It would not be her interest to sever herself from England, and to lose the honour of a share in the most glorious Empire that ever existed on the face of the earth. (Loud cheers.)

Do you then for a moment suppose that Ireland will throw itself down from the high pedestal on which it at present stands? It supplies the British Empire with some of its best statesmen and warriors. (Cheers.) ls this the country so blind to its own interests that it will not understand that by leaving England it throws itself to the bottom of the sea? With England it is the ruler of mankind. I say therefore that Ireland will never separate from you. (Cheers.) Home Rule will bring peace and prosperity to them, and they will have a higher share in the British Empire. (Cheers.) Depend upon it, gentlemen, if I live ten years more-I bope I shall live-if this Bill is passed, that every one of you, and every one of the present opponents of Home Rule will congratulate himself that he did, or allowed to be done, this justice to Ireland. (Cheers.)

A PEOPLE " VALIANT, GENEROUS, AND TENDER."

There is one more point which is important to be dealt with. I am only confining myself to the principle of Home Rule. Another objection taken to the Bill is that the Irish are a bad lot—(laughter)—that they are poor, wretched, ungrateful, and so forth. ("Who said so?") Some people say so. ("Salisbury," and cheers and hisses.) We shall see what one says whom you have entrusted with the rulership of two hundred and fifty millions of people—I allude to Lord Dufferin, himself an Irishman. (Cheers.) What does he say? How does he describe Ireland? I may shoot the two birds at once by referring to his description of the country as well as of the people. He says that Ireland is a lovely and fertile land, caressed by a clement atmosphere, held in the embrace of the sea, with a coast filled with the noblest harbours of the world and

"inhabited by a race valiant, generous, and tender, gifted beyond measure with the power of physical endurance, and graced with the liveliest intelligence." It is not necessary for me to say any more about a people of that character. I think it is a slander on humanity and human nature to say that any people, and more especially the Irish, are not open to the feelings of gratitude, to the feelings of kindness. If there is anything for which the Irish are distinguished—I say this not merely from my study of your country, but from my experience of some Irish people—that if ever I have found a warmhearted people in the world, I have found the Irish. (Loud cheers.)

A PEOPLE "ACCESSIBLE TO JUSTICE."

But I will bring before you the testimony of another great man, whom, though he is at present at variance with us on this question of a separate Parliament, we always respect. It is a name highly respected by the natives of India, and, I know, by the Liberals of this country. I mean John Bright. (Hisses and cheers.) What does he say? "If there be a people on the face of the earth whose hearts are accessible to justice, it is the Irish people." (Cheers.) Now, I am endeavouring to take all the important points brought forward against this Home Rule, Mr. Gladstone proposes that they should give a certain proportion of money to the Imperial Exchequer. opponents say, "Oh, they will promise all sorts of things." Now, I want this to be carefully considered. The basis of the most powerful of human motives is self-interest. It is to the interest of Ireland never to separate from England,

NOT TRIBUTE, BUT PARTNERSHIP.

I will now show you that this, which is called a tribute and a degradation, is nothing of the kind. Ireland would feel it its duty to pay this. It is not tribute in any sense of the word. Ireland is a partner in the Imperial firm. Ireland shares both the glory and the profit of the British rule. Its children will be employed as fully in the administration and the conduct of the Empire as any Englishman will be. Ireland, in giving only something like £1 in £15 to the Exchequer will more than amply benefit. It is a partnership, and they are bound to supply their capital just as much as the senior partner is bound to supply his. They will get the full benefit of it. Tribute is a thing for which you get no return in material benefit, and to call this tribute is an abuse of words. I have pointed out that those great bugbears, the separation, the tribute, and the bad character of the Irish are pure myths. The Irish are a people that are believed by many an Englishman to be as high in intellect and in morality as any on the face of the earth. If they are bad now, it is your own doing. (Cheers.) You first debase them, and then give them a bad name, and then want to hang them. No, the time has come when you do understand the happy inspiration which Mr. Gladstone has conceived.

HOME RULE:-THE GOLDEN BULE.

You do know now that Ireland must be treated as you treat yourselves. You say that Irishmen must be under the same laws as Englishmen, and must have the same rights. Very good. The opponents say yes, and therefore they must submit to the laws which the British Parliament makes. I put to them one simple question. Will Englishmen for a single day submit to laws made

for them by those who are not Englishmen? What is the proudest chapter in British history? That of the Stuarts. You did not tolerate the laws of your own Sovereign, because you thought they were not your laws. (Cheers.) You waged civil war, regardless of consequences, and fought and struggled till you established the principle that the English will be their own sovereign, and your own sons your own legislators and guides. You did not submit to a ruler, though he was your own countrymen. Our opponents forget that they are not giving the same rights to the Irish people. They are oblivious of this right, and say Ireland must be governed by laws that we make for her. They do not understand that what is our own, however bad it is, is dearer to us than what is given to us by another, however high and good he may be. (Cheers.) No one race of people can ever legislate satisfactorily for another race. Then they object that the Saxon race is far superior to the Celtic, and that the Saxon must govern the whole, though in the next breath they admit that the one cannot understand the other. (Laughter.) A grand patriarch said to his people thousands of years ago, "Here is good, here is evil; make your choice: choose the good, and reject the evil." A grand patriarch of to-Jay-the Grand Old Man-(loud cheers)-tells you. "Here is the good, here is the evil; choose the good, reject the evil." And I do not say I hope and trust, but I am sure, that the English nation, sooner or later, will come to that conclusion-will choose the good, and will reject the evil.

A WORD ABOUT INDIA.

I only want now to say one word about my own country. (Loud cheers.) I feel that my task has been

so much lessened by previous speakers, that I will not trouble you much upon this point. I appeal to you for the sake of the two hundred and fifty millions of India. I have a right to do so, because I know that India regards me—at least, so it is said—as a fair representative. I want to appeal to you in their name that, whether you send me or another to Parliament, you at once make up your minds that India ought to have some representation—(cheers)—in your British Parliament. I cannot place my case better than in the words of an illustrious English lady, whose name for patriotism, philanthropy, and self-sacrifice is the highest amongst your race—Miss Florence Nightingale. (Loud cheers.) She writes to me in these words:—

MISS FLORENCE NIGHTINGALE TO THE ELECTORS OF HOLBORN.

"London, June 23, 1886.-My dear Sir,-My warmest good wishes are yours in the approaching election for Holborn, and this not only for your sake, but yet more for that of India and of England, so important is it that the millions of India should in the British Parliament here be represented by one who, like yourself, has devoted his life to them in such a high fashion-to the difficult and delicate task of unravelling and explaining what stands at the bottom of India's poverty, what are India's rights, and what is the right for India: rights so compatible with, indeed so dependent on loyalty to the British Crown; rights which we are all seeking after for those great multitudes, developing, not every day like foliage in May, but alowly and surely. The last five or eight years have made a difference in India's cultivated classes which has astonished statesmen-in education, the seeds of which were so sedulously sown by the British Government-in power, of returning to the management of their own local affairs, which they had from time immemorial; that is, in the powers and responsibilities of local self-government, their right use of which would be equally advantageous to the Government of India and to India (notwithstanding some blunders); and a noble because careful beginning has been made in giving them this power. Therefore do I hail you and years after your return to this Parliament, to continue the work you have so well begun in enlightening England and India on Indian affairs. I wish I could attend your first public meeting, to

which you kindly invite me to-morrow; but also for me, who for so many years have been unable from illness to do anything out of my rooms.—Your most ardent well wisher, Florence Nightingale." (Loud cheers.)

ST THOLA'S APPEAL.

Well, gentlemen, in the words of this illustrious lady, I appeal not only to you, the constituents of Holborn, but to the whole English nation, on the behalf of 250 millions of your fellow subjects—a sixth part of the human race, and the largest portion of the British Empire, before whom you are but as a drop in the ocean; we appeal to you to do us justice, and to allow us a representative in your British Parliament. (Loud and prolonged cheers, the audience rising in great enthusiasm.)

THE INDIAN CIVIL SERVICE.

The following speech was delivered before a meeting of the East India Association, at which Mr. A. K. Connell read a paper on "The Indian Civil Service," July, 1887. Mr. John Bright in the Chair.

Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji said : Mr. Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen,-My first impulse was not to send up my card at all, but after attending this meeting and hearing the paper that has been put before us, it is necessary that I should not put myself in a false position, and as I disagree with a portion of this paper, it became necessary that I should make that disagreement known. The third part of the paper is the part that is objectionable; and it seems to me it is a lame and impotent conclusion of an able and well-considered beginning. For me to undertake to reply to all the many fallacies that that third part contains, will be utterly out of the question in the ten minutes allotted to me; but I have one consolation in that respect-that my views are generally known, that they are embodied to a great extent in the journals of this Association: that I also direct the attention of Mr. Connell and others to two papers that I submitted to the Public Service Commission, and that I hope there are two other papers that are likely to appear in the Contemporary Review in the months of August and September. These have anticipated, and will, I trust, directly and indirectly answer most of the fallacies of Mr. Connell's paper. I would, therefore, not attempt the impossible task of replying to the whole of this paper, but I will make a few remarks of a different character altogether bearing upon the vital question before us. This question of the services is not simply a question of the aspirations of a few educated men: it is the question of life and death to the whole of British India. It is our good fortune that we have in the chair to-day the gentleman who put a very pertinent question. going to the root of the whole evil, as far back as a third of a century ago. Mr. Bright put the question in the 'year 1853. He said: "I must say that it is my belief that if a country be found possessing a most fertile soil and capable of bearing every variety of production, and that not withstanding the people are in a state of extreme destitution and suffering, the chances are that there is some fundamental error in the Government of that country." Gentlemen, as long as you do not give a full and fair answer to that queetion of the great statesman-that istatement made a third of a century ago-you will never be able to grasp this great and important question of the sservices. It is not, as I have already said, a question of the mere aspiration of a few educated men. Talking about this destitution, it is a circumstance which has been dwelt apon in the beginning of the century by Sir John Shaw. Lord Lawrence in his time said that the mass of the people were living on scanty subsistence. To the latest day the last Finance Minister, Sir Evelyn Baring, testified to the extreme poverty of the people, and so does the present Finance Minister. The fact is that after you have hundred wears of the most highly-paid and the most highly-praised administration in that country, it is the poorest country in the world. How can you account for that? Grasp shat question fully, and then only will you be able to see what vast interest this question of the services means. Then I come to the pledges that have been given. Here are open honorable pledges. The statesmen of 1833 laid down distinctly, in the face of the important consideration -whether India should be allowed ever to be lost to Britain. They weighed every circumstance, and they came to the deliberate conclusion which was embodied in the Act that they passed. But then you had not the experience of that fear of the risk of losing India. Twentyfive years afterwards you actually experienced that very risk; you actually had a mutiny against you, and what was your conduct then? Even after that experience, you rose above yourself; you kept up your justice and generosity and magnanimity, and in the name of the Queen, and by the mouth of the Queen, you issued a Proclamation, which if you "conscientiously "fulfil will be your highest glory, and your truest fame and reward. Gentlemen, take the bull by the horns. Do not try to shrink this question. If you are afraid of losing India, and if you are to be actuated by the inglorious fear of that risk, let that be stated at once. Tell us at once, "We will keep you under our heels, we will not allow you to rise or to prosper at any time." Then we shall know our fate. But with your English manliness-and if there is anything more characteristic of you than anything else, it is your manliness-speak out honestly and not hypocritically, what you intend to do. Do you really mean to fulfil the pledges given before the world, and in the name of God, with the sanction of God and asking God to aid you, in the execution of that pledge-do you mean to stick to that pledge or to get out of it? Whatever it be, like honest Englishmen, speak out openly and plainly. "We will do this" or

"We will not do this." But do not expose yourselves to the charges-which I am not making, but your own members of the India Council have made-of "keeping the promise to the ear, and breaking to the hope." Looking at the time I cannot now enter into all the different and i mportant considerations that this paper raises, but I simply ask you again this question, whether like honest Englishmen such as you are, in a manly way, you say the thing and do it. If you mean to fulfil these pledges honestly, do so; if you do not mean to fulfil them honestly, say so, and at least preserve your character for honesty and manliness, Mr. Connell had, in the first part of his paper, laid down as emphatically as he could the principles upon which the English nation is bound to act, and in the third part of the paper he has done his utmost to discredit the whole thing, and to say how not to do it. But he forgets one thing: that the pledge you have given, you have never given a fair trial to; if you only give a fair trial to that pledge, you will find that it will not only redound to your glory for ever, but also result in great benefits to yourself; but if India is to be for a long time under your rule with blessing, and not with a curse, it is the fulfilment of that pledge which will secure that result. Ah! gentlemen, no eternal or permanent results can ever follow from dodging and palavering. Eternal results can follow only from eternal principles. Your rule of India is based not on sixty thousand bayonets or a hundred thousand bayon-But it is based upon the confidence, the intense faith like the one that I hold, in the justice, the conscience and the honor of the British nation. As long as I have that faith in me, I shall continue to urge and plead before statesmen like Mr. Bright, and before the English nation.

Fulfil your pledge honestly before God, because it is upon those eternal principles only that you can expect to continue your rule with benefit to yourself and benefit to us. The reply to your (President's) question, Sir, about the fundamental error is then this. A foreign rule can never be but a curse to any nation on the face of the earth, except so far as it approaches a native rule, be the foreigners angels themselves. If this principle is not fairly borne in mind, and if honest efforts are not made to fulfil your pledges, it is utterly useless for us to plead, or to expect any good result, or to expect that India will ever rise in material and moral prosperity. I do not mean to say a word against the general personnel of these services, as they are at the present time-they are doing what they can in the false groove in which they are placed; to them there is every honor due for the ability and integrity with which most of them have carried on their work; but what I say is this. This system must be changed. The administration must become native under the supreme control of the English nation. Then you have one element in India, which is peculiarly favorable to the permanence of your rule, if the people are satisfied that you give them the justice that you promise. It is upon the rock of justice alone that your rule stands. If they are satisfied, the result will be this. It is a case peculiar to India: there are Mahomedans and Hindus; if both are satisfied, both will take care that your supremacy must remain over them; but if they are both dissatisfied, and there is any paltering with justice and sincerity they will join together against you. Under these circumstances you have everything in your favor; in fact, the divine law is that if you only follow the divine law, then only can you produce divine results. Do good, no matter what the result is. If you trifle with those eternal and divine laws, the result must be disastrous. I must stop as the time is up.

VII.

GREAT RECEPTION MEETING IN BOMBAY.

[The following speech was delivered before the public meeting of the inhabitants of Bombay called by the Bombay Presidency Association at the Framjee Cowasjee Institute on Sunday, the 13th February 1887, to pass a vote of thanks to the Hon. Dadabhai Naoroji and Mr. Lal Mohum Ghose for their exertions on behalf of India at the Parliamentary elections of 1886 in England. Mr. (now Sir) Dinshaw M. Petit in the Chair.]

The Hon'ble Dadabhai Naoroji (amidst long and immense cheering), said :- Mr. Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen,-I feel extremely obliged by the very kind reception you have given to my friend Mr. Ghose and myself. and for the confidence you have reposed in us. Such hearty acknowledgments of my humble services and of my friend's arduous exertion cannot but encourage us largely in our future work. (Cheers.) As natives of India we are bound to do whatever lies within our power and opportunities. In undertaking the work of trying to get a seat in Parliament, the first question that naturally arose was whether it would be of any good to India and whether an Indian member would be listened to. first thing, therefore, I did on arriving in England was to consult many English friends, several of whom are eminent istatesmen of the day and members of Parliament. almost universally advised that I should not hesitate to try to carry out my intentions, that it was extremely desirable that there should be at least one or two Indiana

In Parliament to enable members to learn the native view of questions from natives themselves. (Cheers.) That if I could by any possibility work way into the House, I would certainly be doing a great service not only to India. but to a large extent to England also. (Cheers.) Several fundamental important questions of policy can be fought out and decided in Parliament alone as they depend upon Acts of Parliament, and Parliament is the ultimate appeal in every important question in which Government and the native public may differ. To get direct representation from India was not at present possible. An indirect representation through the liberality and aid of some British constituency was the only door open to us. I undertook to contest Holborn under many disadvantages. I was just occupied in making acquaintances and feeling my way. I had no time to find out and make the acquaintance of any constituency; I was quite unknown to the political world, when of a sudden the resolution came on upon me. The Liberal leaders very properly advised me that I should not lose this opportunity of contesting some seat, no matter however a forlorn hope it might be, as the best means of making myself known to the English constituencies, and of securing a better chance and choice for the next opportunity. That I could not expect to get in at a rush, which even an Englishman was rarely able to do except under particularly favourable circumstances. I took the advice and selected Holborn out of three offers I have received. I thus not only got experience of an English contest, but it also satisfied me as to what prospects an Indian had of receiving fair and even generous treatment at the hands of English electors. The elections clearly showed me that a suitable Indian

candidate has as good a chance as any Englishman, or even some advantage over an Englishman, for there is a general and genuine desire among English electors to give to India any help in their power. (Cheers.) I had only nine days of work from my first meeting at the Holborn Town Hall, and sometimes I had to attend two or three meetings on the same day. The meetings were as enthusiastic and cordial in reception as one's heart could desire. Now. the incident I refer to is this. Of canvassing I was able to do but very little. Some liberal electors, who were opposed to Irish Home Rule, intended to vote for the consercandidate, but to evince their with India, they promised me to abstain from voting altegether. Unknown as I was the Holborn electo tors, the exceedingly enthusiastic and generous thousand treatment they gave me, and that nearly two of them recorded their votes in my favour, must be quite enough to satisfy any that the English public desire to help us to have our own voice in the House of Commons. (Cheers.) Letters and personal congratulations I received from many for what they called my "plucky contest." Lord Ripon-(cheers)-wrote to me not to be discouraged, as my want of success was shared by so many other liberals as to deprive it of personal character; that it was the circumstances of the moment, as it turned out, that worked specially against me, and he trusted I would be successful on a future occasion. Now, it was quite true that owing to the deep split among the Liberals in the Home Rule question, it was estimated by some that I had lost nearly a thousand votes by the abstention of Liberal voters. In short, with my whole experience at Holborn, of both the manner and events of the contest, I am more than ever confirmed

in my opinion that India may fairly expect from the English public just and generous treatment. (Cheers.) have no doubt that my friend Mr. Ghose-(cheers)-with his larger electioneering experience of two arduous contests, will beable totell you of similar conviction and future hopefulness. There is one great advantage achieved by their contests, which in itself is an ample return for all the trouble -I mean the increasing and earnest interest that has been aroused in the English public about Indian matters. From everywhere you begin to receive expressions of desire to know the truth about India, and invitations come to you to address on Indian subjects. The moral effect of these contests is important and invaluable. (Hear, hear.) A letter I received from an English friend on the eve of my departure for India this time fairly represents the general English feeling I have met with. Nothing would give him, he says, greater satisfaction than to see me sitting in the House of Commons-(cheers)-where I would arouse in the English representatives a keen sense of England's responsibilities, and show them how to fulfil them. (Cheers.) For the sake of England and of India alike, he earnestly hoped that I might be a pioneer of this sacred work. presence in the House of Commons was to his mind more important than that of any Englishman whom he knew -(cheers)-though that seemed saying a good deal. With these few remarks I once more return to you my most hearty thanks for the reception you have given us, and it would be an important credential as well as an encouragement in our further efforts. (Loud cheers.)

VIII.

INDIAN FAMINE RELIEF FUND MEETING.

[Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji addressed a meeting held on Sunday, July 1st, 1900, at the United Methodist Free Church, Markhouse Road, Walthamstow, in aid of the Indian Famine Relief Fund. Mr. Peter Troughton occupied the Chair.

The Chairman, in opening the proceedings, said the Indian famine was a subject of very great interest to all Englishmen, and he was sure they would all gladly welcome some authentic information on the subject. He would therefore ask Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji to start his speech right away. (Applause.)

Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji, who was received with cheers, said:—

Mr. Chairman, I feel exceedingly pleased at having to address so large a meeting of English ladies and gentlemen. I assure you it is a great consolation to me that English people are willing to hear what Indians have to say. I will make bold to speak fully and heartily, in order that you may know the truth. I will take as a text the following true words: "As India must be bled." These words were delivered by a Secretary of State for India, Lord Salishury himself. I don't mention them as any complaint against Lord Salishury, On the contrary, I give him credit for saying the truth. I want to impress upon you what these important words mean. Let us clearly understand what is meant by bleeding a nation. It is perfectly true

that when government is carried on people must pay taxes. But there is a great difference between taxing a people and bleeding a people. You in England pay something like fifty shillings, or more now, of taxes per head per annum. We in India pay only three to four shillings per head per annum. From this you may conclude that we must be the most lightly-taxed people in the world. That is not the case, however ; our burden is nearly twice as heavy as yours. The taxes you pay in this country go from the hands of the taxpayers into the hands of the Government, from which they flow back into the country again in various snapes, fertilising trade and returning to the people themselves. There is no diminution of your wealth; your taxes simply change hands. Whatever you give out you must get back. Any deficit means so much loss of strength. Supposing you pay a hundred million pounds every year, and the Government uses that money in such a way that part only returns to you, the other part going out of the country. In that case you are being bled, part of your life is going away. Suppose out of the hundred million pounds only eighty million pounds return to you in the shape of salaries, commerce, or manufactures. You will have lost twenty million pounds. Next year you will be so much the weaker; and so on each year. This is the difference between taxing people and bloeding people. Suppose a body of Frenchmen were your rulers, and that out of the hundred million pounds of taxes they took ten to twenty million pounds each year; you would then be said to be bleeding. The nation would then be losing a portion of its life. How is India bled? I supposed your own case with Frenchmen as your rulers.

We Indians are governed by you. You manage our expenditure and our taxes in such a way that while we pay a hundred million pounds of taxation this hundred million never returns to us intact. Only about eighty million returns to us. There is a continual bleeding of about twenty millions annually from the revenues. Ever since you obtained territorial jurisdiction and power in India, in the middle of the last century, Englishmen and other Europeans that went to India have treated that country in the most oppressive way. I will quote a few words of the Court of Directors at the time to show this. "The vast fortunes acquired in the inland trade have been obtained by the most oppressive conduct that ever was known in any country or age." The most oppressive means were adopted in order to bring away from the country enormous quantities of wealth. How was the Indian Empire obtained by you? It has been generally said that you have won it by the sword, and that you will keep it by the sword. The people who say this do not know what they are talking about. They also forget that you may lose " it by force." You have not won the Indian Empire by the sword. During these hundred and fifty years you have carried on wars by which this great Empire has been built up; it has cost hundreds of millions of money. Have you paid a single farthing of it? You have made the Indians pay every farthing. You have formed this great British Empire at our expense, and you will hear what reward we have received from you. The European army in India at any time was comparatively insignificant. time of the Indian Mutiny you had only forty thousand troops there. It was the two hundred thousand Indian

troops that shed their blood and fought your battles and that gave you this magnificent Empire. It is at India's cost and blood that this Empire has been formed and maintained up to the present day. It is in consequence of the tremendous cost of these wars and because of the millions on millions you draw from us year by year that India is so completely exhausted and bled. It is no wonder that the time has come when India is bleeding to death. You have brought India to this condition by the constant drain upon the wealth of that country. I ask any one of you whether it is possible for any nation on the face of the earth to live under these conditions. Take your own nation. If you were subjected to such a process of exhaustion for years, you would come down yourselves to the condition in which India now finds herself. How then is this drain made? You impose upon us an immense European military and civil service, you draw from us a heavy taxation. But in the disbursement and the disposal of that taxation we have not the slightest voice. I ask anyone here to stand up and say that he would be satisfied if, having to pay a heavy taxation, he had no voice in the government of the country. We have not the slightest voice. The Indian Government are the masters of all our resources, and they may do what they like with them. We have simply to submit and be bled. I hope I have made it quite clear to you, that the words of Lord Salisbury which I have quoted are most significant: that the words are true and most appropriate when applied to India. It is the principle on which the system of British government has been carried on during these 150 years. What has been the consequence ! I shall again quote from

Lord Salisbury. He says: "That as India must be bled the laucet should be directed to the parts where the blood is congested, or at least sufficient, not to those parts already feeble from the want of it." Lord Salisbury declared that the agricultural population, the largest portion of the population of India, was feeble from the want of blood. This was said twenty-five years ago; and that blood has been more and more drawn upon during the past quarter of a century. The result is that they have been bled to death; and why? A large proportion of our resources and wealth is clean carried away never to return to us. That is the process of bleeding. Lord Salisbury himself says: "So much of the revenue is exported without a direct equivalent." I ask any one of you whether there is any great mystery in these dire famines and plagues? No other country. exhausted as India has been, exhausted by an evil system of government, would have stood it half the time. It is extraordinary that the loyalty of the Indians who are bled by you is still so great. The reason of it is that among the Hindoos it is one of their most cherished and religious duties that they should give obedience and loyalty to the powers that govern them. And they have been loyal to that sentiment, and you have derived the benefit of it. It is a true and genuine loyalty. But do not expect that that loyalty cannot fail, that it will continue in the same condition in which it is at the present time. It is for the British to rouse themselves and to open their minds, and to think whether they are doing their duty in India. The theory maintained by statesmen is that India is governed for the benefit of India. They say that they do not derive any benefit

from the taxation. But this is erroneous. The reality is that India, up to the present day, has been governed so as to bring about the impoverishment of the people. I ask you whether this is to continue. Is it necessary that, for your benefit, we must be destroyed? Is it a natural consequence, is it a necessary consequence? Not at all. If it were British rule and not un-British rule which governed us England would be benefited ten times more than it is. (Cheers.) You could benefit yourselves a great deal more than you are doing if your Executive Government did not persist in their evil system, by which you derive some benefit, but by which we are destroyed. I say let the British public thoroughly understand this question, that by destroying us you will ultimately destroy yourselves. Mr. Bright knew this, and this is an extract from one of his speeches. He said, or to the effect: By all means seek your own benefit and your own good in connexion with India; but you cannot derive any good except by doing good to India. If you do good to India you will do good to yourselves. He said there were two ways of doing good to yourselves, either by plunder or by trade. And he said he would prefer trade. Now, I will explain how it would benefit you. At the present time you are exporting to the whole world something like three hundred millions worth of your produce a year. Here is a country under your control with a population of three hundred millions of human souls, not savages of Africa. Here is India, with a perfectly free trade entirely under your control, and what do you send out to her? Only eighteen pence per year per head. If you could send goods to the extent of £1 per head per annum India would be a market

for your whole commerce. If such were the case you would draw immense wealth from India besides benefiting the people. I say that if the British public do not rouse themselves the blood of every man that dies there will lie on their head. You may prosper for a time, but a time must come when you must suffer the retribution that comes from this evil system of government. What I quoted to you from Lord Salisbury explains the real condition of India. It is not the first time that English statesmen have declared this as absolutely as Lord Salisbury has done. During the whole century Englishmen and statesmen of conscience and thought have time after time declared the same thing, that India is being exhausted and drained, and that India must ultimately die. Our misery is owing to this exhaustion. You are drawing year by year thirty millions of our wealth from us in various ways. The Government of India's resources simply mean that the Government is despotic and that it can put any tax it chooses on the people. Is it too much to ask that when we are reduced by famine and plague you should pay for these dire calamities? You are bound in justice and in common duty to humanity to pay the cost of these dire calamities with which we are offlicted, I will conclude with Lord Salisbury's other true words: "Injustice will bring down the mightiest to ruin." (Great applause.)

THE CONDITION OF INDIA.

[Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji delivered the following address on the "Condition of India" at Toynbes Hall, Commercial Street, Whitechapel, E., on Thursday night, January 31, 1901. Mr. R. B. S. Tanner was in the Chair.]

Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji, who was cordially received, said :- Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen, I feel very much obliged for having been invited to address this audience. Our subject is " India," but so large a subject cannot be dealt with in more than a passing manner in the time at our disposal. I will, however, try to put before you, in as brief a form as possible, some idea of the relations which exist between England and India. I think my best plan would be to try and strike a sort of balance between the good and evil influences of England in India, and let you understand really what your duty is towards India. One thing has been over and over again admitted-and was last admitted by Lord Curzon when he went out-that India is the pivot of the British Empire. If India is lost to the British Empire the sun of the British Empire will be set. The question is whether the responsibility devolving upon you on account of this is realised by you. Beginning at the benefits which India has received, we are grateful for a good many things. In earlier days there was infanticide, but English character, English civilisation and English humanity caused an end to be put to this, and also to the practice of burning widows with their dead busbands. By means of this you have earned the blessing of many

thousands of those who have escaped death. Then there were gangs of people whose whole business it was to rob other people; you put down those gangs and are, therefore, entitled to our gratitude. If there is one thing more than another for which Indians are grateful it is for the education you gave them, which enabled them to understand their position. Then naturally follow your other institutions-namely, free speech and a free Press. You have heard of the Indian National Congress; at this Congress Indians from one end of India to the other meet together to discuss their political condition, to communicate with each other, and become, as it were, a united nation. This National Congress is naturally the outcome of the education and free speech which British rulers have given us; the result is that you have created a factor by means of this education which has, up to this time, strengthened your power immensely in India. Before you gave them education Indians never understood what sort of people you really were; they know you were foreigners, and the treatment that they had received at your hands led them to hate you, and if they had remained of the same mind you would not have remained in India. This factor of education having come into play Indians aspired to become British citizens, and, in order to do so, they became your loyal and staunch supporters. The Congress has for its object to make you understand your deficiencies in government, the redress of which would make India a blessing to you, and make England a blessing to us, which it is not, unfortunately, at present. I now come to what you consider the highest claim you have upon our gratitude, and that is, you have given us 15

security of life and property. But your government in India instead of securing our life and property is actually producing a result the exact reverse. And this is what you have to understand clearly. The difficulty of Indians in addressing you is this, that we have to make you unlearn a great deal of nonsense which has been put into your heads by the misleading statements of the Anglo-Indian press. The way you secure life and proporty is by protecting it from open violence by anybody else, taking care that you yourselves should take away that property. (Laughter.) The security of life, were it not a tragic subject, would be a very funny one. Look at the millions that are suffering day by day, year after year, even in years of good harvest. Seven-eighths or nine-tenths of the people do not know what it is to have a full meal in a day. (Hear, hear.) And it is only when famine comes that your eyes are opened, and you begin to sympathise with us, and wonder how these famines come about. It is the Englishmen that go out to India that are in a sense the cause of these miseries. They go to India to benefit themselves. They are not the proper people to give the reasons for our misery. The greatest blessing that we thought had been bestowed upon us by Britain was contained in the Act of 1833 to which we cling even in the face of every violation of that blessing. So long as we have the hope that that blessing will become a reality some day we shall be most desirous of keeping up the connexion with Engand. That greatest blessing is the best indication of your higher civilisation of to-day. The English have been in advance in the civiliention of humanity. The policy distinctly laid down in 1833 was that the Indians were to be treated alike with the English, without distinction of race or creed. (Hear, hear.) You may well be proud of that Act, but it was never carried out. Then the Mutiny took place, and you were the cause of it. After the Mutiny was put down you again emphatically laid down that the Indian people were to be treated exactly like the British people, and there was to be no difference whatever in the employment of Indians and of Englishmen in the service of the Crown. These two documents have been confirmed twice since. once on the occasion of the Queen assuming the title of Empress, and again on the occasion of the Jubilee. These are the documents-our charter-the hope and anchor upon which we depend and for which you can claim the greatest credit. The proclamation has been made before the world, praying God to bless it, and praying that our servants, the Executive to whom you trust the government, should carry out the wishes of the Sovereign, that is to say, of the people. As far as the policy laid down by the British people was concerned it is as good as we can ever desire. This promise. pledged by you in the most solemn manner possible. has been a dead letter ever since. The result is the destruction of our own interests, and it will be the suicide of yours. The violation of those promises has produced these results to us : First of all, the " bleeding " which is carried on means impoverishment to us-the poorest people on the face of the earth-with all the dire calamitous consequences of famines, pestilences and destruction. It is but the result of what you claim as the best thing that you have conferred upon us-security of life and property-starvation, as I have

told you, from one year's end to another year's end of seven-eighths of the population of the country, and something worse, in addition to the "bleeding" that is carried on by the officials of a system of government, To you, to England, the violation of these great pledges carries with it a certain amount of pecuniary benefit, and that is the only thing the Executive ever think of. But you must remember that the first consequence of such government is dishonour to your name. You inflict injustice upon us in a manner most dishonourable and discreditable to yourselves; by this mode of government you are losing a great material benefit which you would otherwise obtain. I will try to explain to you these points in as brief a manner as possible; but especially I would beg leave to draw attention to the great loss to the mass of the people of this country, which would otherwise have accrued to them. The best way I can put this before you is by giving you a comparison between two parts of the British Empire. Australia is at present before all of us. The Australian Commonwealth was formed on the first day of the first year of this century. The Australians have been increasing in prosperity by leaps and bounds. At the same time India, under this same rule, under the administration of men who are described and praised as the highest, the most cultivated, and the most capable administrators of the present time-and also the most highly paidis suffering from the direct famines and is the poorest country in the world. Let us consider Australia first. While in 1891 the population of Australia was four millions, the population of British India was two hundred and twenty-one millions, and of all India two

hundred and eighty-seven millions. Now these four millions of Australians are paying a revenue government of their country amounting to nearly £8 per head per annum. They can give this and are prosperous, and will go on increasing in prosperity, with a great future before them. What is India capable of doing? India can give at present, under great pressure, scarcely eight shillings per head per annum. You know that Australia has "protection" against you, and notwithstanding the "door" being shut against you, you are able to send to Australia British and Irish products, the result of your labour, to the extent of £25,500,000; that is to say, something like seven pounds' worth per head per annum. You do not send to India more than £30,000,000 altogether. to say, while you are sending something like seven pounds per head per annum to Australia, you do not send half-a-crown's worth of your British and Irish produce per head per annum to India. Ask yourselves this question. What is the result? Why should you not derive good substantial profits from a commercial connexion with India ? The reason is simple. The people are so impoverished that they cannot buy your goods. Had your Government been such as to allow India to become prosperous, and to be able to buy your goods, let alone at the rate of seven, six, or five pounds per head-if India was allowed to enjoy its own resources and to buy from you one or two pounds' worth of your produce, what do you think you would send to India ? Why, if you sent one pound's worth of produce per head to India, you would send as much there as you now send to the whole world. You have to deal with a

people who belong as it were to the same race, who possess the same intelligence and same civilisation, and enjoy your good things as much as the Australians or anybody else. And if you could send one pound's worth to them per head you need not go and massacre savages in order to get new markets (Laughter.) The mass of the people here do not understand what a great benefit there is for them in their connexion with India, if they would only do their duty, and compel their servants, the Executive, to fulfil the solemn pledges that the British nation has given to India. What I say, therefore, to you is that one of the consequences of the present system of government is an immense less to yourselves. As it is at present, you are gaining a certain amount of benefit. You are "bleading" the people, and drawing from their country something like thirty or forty millions a year. Ask yourselves. would you submit to such a state of things in this country for a single week? And yet you allow a system of government which has produced this disastrous result to continue. You cannot obtain a farthing from Australia unless they choose to give it to you. In the last century you pressed the people of Bengal to such an extent that Macaulay said that the English were demons as compared with the Indians as men, that the English were wolves as compared with the Indians as sheep. Hundreds of millions of India's wealth have been spent to form your British Indian Empire. Not only that but you have taken away from India all these years millions of its wealth. The result is obvious. You have become one of the richest countries in the world, and you have to thank India for it. And we have become

the poorest country in the world. We are obliged to pay each year a vast amount of wealth which you need for the salaries of, and the giving of benefits to, your military and civil servants. Not once, not twice, not ten times, and the affliction is over-but always. What was something like three millions at the beginning of the century has increased now to a tax of thirty or forty millions. You would prosper by trading with us if you would only leave us alone instead of plundering us. plundering will be disastrous. If you would allow us to prosper so that we might be able to purchase one pounds' worth of your produce per head, there would be no idle working classes in this country. It is a matter of the utmost importance for the working classes of England. If the connexion between England and India is to be a blessing to both, then consider what your duty and responsibility is as citizens of this great Empire. (Applause.)

IX.

THE CAUSE AND CURE OF FAMINE.

[The following speech was delivered by Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji at the Pulpit of the Free Church, Croydon, on Sunday the 31st April 1901.]

Mr. Naoroji, after expressing his gratitude for being invited to speak, and alluding to the sanctity of the place, said :- You have lately heard the result of the Census in India, and what an awful result it is. When you are told that something like 30 millions of people that ought to have been in India are not there, does it not disclose an awful state of things, sufficiently alarming to make one think and ponder over it? Our close connexion, the many ties that bind us, must make you ask the question: Why is it that after 150 years of British rule, carried on by an administration whose efficiency has been lauded up to the skies, but whose expensiveness has been grinding down the people to the dust, the result of that British rule should be such as we see at the beginning of the twentieth century? The cause is not far to seek. We believed that under a nation which was renowned for its justice, honour and philanthropy, we would be better off than was possible under an Asiatic despotism. But our hopes had been rudely dispelled. Unfortunately, from the very earliest times, the action of Britain in India had been based upon greed. I would not dwell longer on this part of the subject at present, as it would not redound to the

credit of the British name. I would first rather say a few words on some of the great benefits that the British rule has conferred on us.

Fortunately, or unfortunately, all the benefit that we have derived from the British connexion is from a study of the British character. The institutions which you have taken with you and introduced into our country would have borne golden fruits, and we should have reaped all the benefit as you have been doing here; but to our misfortune we have been denied every bit of this good result. The system of government that has been adopted in that country is the root of all our misfortune and makes completely nugatory your best efforts to further some of our highest welfare. Among the benefits of the British rule, if there is one thing more than another for which Indians are grateful, it is the education you have been giving them. It has enabled me to come here and to make known to you what my countrymen want me to tell you. It has laid the foundation of that structure which would one day be known to the world as united India. It has wiped off the first dividing line that kept Indiana apart from one another. Formerly there was not a common language, no common vehicle of thought. The Bombay man did not understand a Bengal man, and a Punjabee was as unintelligible to a Madrasee as if he belonged to another country. But now English was the common language. All Indians now understand one another and freely interchange their ideas and views as to whether their common country has one hope, one fear, one aim, one future.

You have, I dare say, heard of the Indian National Congress. At this Congress Indians from one end of the country to the other meet together to discuss their political condition, to communicate with each other and become as it were a united nation. The Indian National Congress is the recognised exponent of educated India. If India had been heterogeneous before, the Congress is the proof that it is advancing rapidly towards homogeneity. It was the education that you are giving us that first demolished the dividing line that separated us from one another and is now welding us together into a nation. The Indians now stand up to tell you where your rule has been defective. It is our duty to tell you so, for the welfare of us both depends upon a clearer and truer knowledge of that fact.

The Civil Service of India which constitutes the Civil portion of the administrative machinery, and to which belong men of eminent talents and character, is anything but a blessing to us. The very abilities of these men, as I will show you later on, are in the way of the progress and prosperity of the people. It is a most melancholy fact that after 150 years of connexion, after being governed by men of such ability and integrity, the evil system of government that has been imposed on us should nullify your best efforts for our well being and bring your great possession to bankruptcy and ruin.

I may warn you that I am not saying anything about the Native States. I only want to speak about British India, namely, that part of India which is under your direct control. During the middle of the eighteenth century when the English bad the revenue administration under the Native rulers of the day, from the very commencement of the connexion between England and India the system of Government adopted had been one of greed and injustica. Those who went there went with the sole ob-

ject of making fortunes, and so long as they accomplished that they cared little what occurred to the people. The hard words with which I have characterised the early British rule are not mine. They were the words of the honourable Englishmen and Anglo-Indians who, for years, had been crying in the wilderness against the system under which India was ruled. In the last century the Court of Directors themselves and the Governor-General of the day wrote despatches in which they described acts of the grossest corruption and oppression, and abominations of every kind which were inflicted upon the poor Indian. Such cruelty towards the governed, and such corruption on the part of the Governor, as recorded in one of their minutes of those days, have been unknown in any country or at any age.

These enormities gradually led to a careful consideration of the question of the policy which should guide the British in India. And it was then also that draining away of the wealth of India into England began, which has not only not ceased, but has increased with increasing years, wiping off millions at a time, with an ever-increasing frequency. The drought was not the real cause of the famine in these days, for if the people had no food in one place and they had money, they could buy what they wanted from elsewhere. This question of famines was for that reason becoming one of the burning questions of India and England, and it would grow one day into the biggest domestic question of the time, and would be the paramount question of the great British Empire. With India England must stand or fall. I would give you my authority for the statement. It was Lord Curzon-the nobleman who was now ruling India as Vicercy for England-Lord

Curzon had said: "If we lose our Colonies it does not matter, but if we lose India the sun of the British Empire will be for ever set." No truer words were ever uttered. Without India England would be a third or fourth rate power. And this gradual deterioration of the country, now almost bordering on destruction, was noticed very soon after the British took India. There was a survey made of the country for nine years, from 1807 to 1816. reports lay buried in the archives of the India House for a long time till they were unearthed by Mr. Montgomery Martin, who, in the course of a review of the reports, says. "It is impossible to avoid remarking two facts as peculiarly striking, first, the richness of the country surveyed; and second, the poverty of its inhabitants." Against this continuous drain which has now all but deprived India of its life-blood he raised his warning voice in the early years of the last century. He said: "The annual drain of three millions on British India has amounted in 30 years at 12 per cent. (the usual Indian rate) compound interest to the enormous sum of 723 millions. So constant and accumulating a drain even in England would soon impoverish her. How severe then must be its effect on India, where the wages of a labourer are from two pence to three pence a day!"

The drain which at the beginning of the century was three millions now amounts to over 30 millions a year. Mahmood Ghuzni, who invaded and plundered India 18 times, as historians say, could not make his whole bocty so heavy as you take away in a single year; and, what is more, the wound on India inflicted by him came to an end after the 18th stroke, while your strokes and the blesding from them never end. Whether we live or die,

30 millions' worth of produce must be annually carried away from this country with the regularity of the seasons. Heavy as the fine was which Germany inflicted upon France in the last Franco-German war, once the money counted down France was set at liberty to recoup herself. But in our case the bleeding never ceases. How was India treated even in the last famine? Eighty-five millions of people were affected by the famine directly, and many more were indirectly affected by it. Yet they were being called upon to find two hundred millions of rupees yearly to pay the salaries, pensions, etc., of the European officials, military or civil, before they could have for their own enjoyment a single farthing of their own produce. And if they only took the trouble to make the calculation it would be discovered that India had had to pay thousands of millions for this purpose already. Was it to be wondered at then that India was falling and that the famines were becoming worse each time they recurred? The fact was that now-a-days the slightest touch of drought necessarily caused a famine, because the resources of the country had been so seriously exhausted. It was only when a famine took place that any interest was excited in this country in India. As a matter of fact there was a chronic state of famine in India of which the people of this country knew nothing. And even in years of average. prosperity and average crops scores of millions of Indians had to live on starvation diet, and did not know what it was to have a full meal from year's end to year's end. was only when a crisis like the present one was developed that the Government was forced to intervene, and to try to save the lives of the dying people by taxing these very people. The condition of India was an impoverished condition of the worst possible character, and one could hardly realise the poverty and misery in which scores of millions of Indians lived. But if England were placed under a similar system of government, would its condition be any better? No! Even England, wealthy as she is, could not long stand the crushing tribute of a foreign yoke which. because we are a conquered nation, we are forced to pay. Suppose the French took this country, filled up all the higher posts, both civil and military, with their own people, brought French capital to develop our industries, carried away with them all the profit of their investments, leaving to the natives of this country nothing more than the wages given to mere manual labourers; suppose that, in addition to that, you had to pay a tribute (in deed though not in name) of 30 millions sterling every year to France; why, even you, wealthy as you are, would be soon reduced to the wretchedness of our want and woe, to be periodically decimated by plague and famine and disease as we are. Now, put yourselves in our place and judge whether we are British subjects or British helots. Our misfortune is that our Anglo-Indian rulers do not understand our position. Even Lord Curzon. Viceroy, said the other day, in the course of his speech at the Kolar goldfields, that we ought to be very grateful to the British people for developing these mining industries. But these millions of the Kolar goldfields belong to the British capitalist, who is simply exploiting our land and wealth, our share being that of the hewer of wood and drawer of water.

How was the Indian Empire obtained by you? It has been generally said that you have won it by the sword, and that you will keep it by the sword. You

have not won the Indian Empire by the sword. During these hundred and fifty years you have carried on wars by which this great Empire has been built up; it has cost hundreds of millions of money. Have you paid a single farthing of it? You have made the Indians pay every farthing. You have formed this great British Empire at our expense, and you hear what reward we have received from you. The European army in India at any time was comparatively insignificant. In the time of the Indian Mutiny you had only forty thousand troops there. It was the two hundred thousand Indian troops that shed their blood and fought your battles and that gave you this magnificent Empire. It is at India's cost and blood that this Empire has been formed and maintained up to the present day, It is in consequence of the tremendous cost of these wars and because of the millions on millions you draw from us year by year that India is so completely exhausted and bled. It is no wonder that the time has come when India is bleeding to death. You have brought India to this condition by the constant drain upon the wealth of that country. I ask anyone of you whether it is possible for any nation on the face of the earth to live under these conditions.

Do not believe me as gospel. Study for yourself; study whether what I have stated is right, and, then, whether the result is logical. And the result, as revealed by the last census, is that thirty millions of human beings are not where they ought to have been. But in spite of such a gloomy outlook I do not derpair. I believe in the inherent notions of justice and humanity of the British people. It is that faith which has hitherto sustained me in my lifelong work. In the name of

justice and humanity then, I ask you why we to-day, instead of being prosperous as you are, are the poorest and most miserable people on the surface of the earth. Like India, Australia is a part of the British Empire, and, unlike it, prosperous. Why is it that one part of the Empire should be so prosperous and the other dwindle down and decay? Our lot is worse even than that of the slaves in America in old days, for the masters had an interest in keeping them alive, if only they had a money value. But if an Indian died, or if a million died, there was another or there were a million others ready to take his or their places and to be the slaves of the British officials in their turn. Who was responsible for all this? You reply, "What more can we do? We have declared that India shall be governed upon righteous lines." Yes, but your servants have not obeyed your instructions, and theirs was the responsibility, and upon their heads was the blood of the millions who were starving year by year.

The principle and policy that you laid down for the government of India is contained in the Act of 1833, which we reckon as our Magna Charta. There is one clause in it which admits us to full equality with you in the government of our country. Referring to this clause, one of the men who were responsible for passing this Act, Lord Macaulay, said:—"I allude to that wise, that beneficent, that noble clause which enacts that no Native of our Indian Empire shall by reason of his colour, his descent, or his religion, be incapable of holding office." This generous promise which held out hopes of equal employment to all, which did away with distinctions of creed and colour, has remained to this day

a dead letter. This promise was repeated over and over again. Nothing could be plainer, nothing more solemn, than the Queen's Proclamation of 1858, when the Crown took the country from the hands of the East India Company, and from which Proclamation I will read to you only three clauses:—

"We hold ourselves bound to the Natives of our Indian territories by the same obligations of duty which bind us to all our other subjects, and those obligations, by the blessing of Almighty God, we shall faithfully and conscientiously fulfil."

"And it is our further will that, so far as may be, our subjects, of whatever race or creed, be freely and impartially admitted to offices in our service, the duties of which they may be qualified by their education, ability, and integrity, duly to discharge."

"In their prosperity will be our strength, in their contentment our security, and in their gratitude our best reward. And may the God of all power grant to us, and to those in authority under us, strength to carry out these our wishes for the good of our people."

But all these promises and pledges have remained a dead letter to this day. The violation of the promise of the Act of 1833 is the first step, the keeping to this day inoperative the pledges contained in the Proclamation of 1858 is the second step, towards unrighteous-Indians are kept out from their share of the administration of their own affairs just as much to-day as before the passing of that Act. Some of the most eminent statesmen here have drawn your attention to your wrong doing. Mr. Bright pointed out the gross and rank injustice of not holding simultaneous examinations both in India and England; and in this connexion the late Lord Derby, when Lord Stanley, once asked in the House of Commons, how they would like to send out their children to India for two or three years to qualify themselves for, and pass, examination there for employment here. The bighly expensive Military and Civil Service which is foisted on our poor land we can neither afford to keep nor do we need. If the country ever rebelled, the hardly thirty thousand civilians' dotted amongst a hostile horde of about three hundred millions would be the first to suffer. The safest policy and the truest statesmanship was voiced in our Sovereign's Proclamation when she said " in their contentment will be our security." While you here lay down in plain and unmistakable language the charter that would raise us and endow us with the power, privilege and freedom of British citizens, your servants in India make that charter a dead letter, deny to us those powers and privileges and freedom which you have empowered them to give to us, and we are made to feel that we are not British subjects, but British helots, Here, under reasonable conditions, almost every man has a vote; there two hundred and fifty millions of us have not one. Our Legislative Council is a farce, worse than a farce. It was generally believed that this Council gave to the Indian people something like what they in England tte way of representative government, enjoyed in and that by those means the people of India had some voice in their own government. Thia was simply a romance. The reality was that the Legislative Council was constituted in such a way as to give to the Government a complete and positive majority. The three or four Indians who had seats upon it might say what they liked, but what the Government of India declared was to become law did invariably become the law of the country. In this Council the majority, instead of being given by the people, was managed and manipulated by the Government itself. But matters were even worse than this. The expenditure of the revenues was one of the most important points in the political condition of any country, but in India there was no such thing as a Legislative Budget. The representative members had no right to propose any resolution or go to any division upon any item concerned in the Budget, which was passed simply and solely according to the despotic will of a despotic Government. The natives of India had not the elightest voice in the expenditure of the Indian revenues, and the idea that they had was the first delusion on the part of the voters of England of which they cannot be disabused too soon.

But this most solemn farce of preaching and proclaiming the most righteous Government for us, and at the same time not restraining your servants from practising what is exactly the contrary, is not confined to our Legislative Council. The right of our own men to take part in the government of their country as soon as by their character and education they should give evidence of their fitness to do so, has been repeatedly granted by the British public and Parliament, but it has as often been defiantly denied to us by your disobedient servants in India. One of the means by which this boon could be given us was by holding examinations for the Indian Civil Service simultaneously in India and in England. But this privilege. though recommended for the last time by a Resolution of the House of Commons so recently as 1893, is yet denied to us. As early as 1860 a Commission made up of five Members of the Council of the Secretary of State was appointed to consider this question of simultaneous examinations, and this is what they mid:-

Practically the Indians are excluded. The law declares them eligible, but the difficulties opposed to a Native leaving India and residing in England for a time are so great, that, as a general rule, it is almost impossible for a Native successfully to compete at the periodical examinations held in England. Were this inequality removed, we should no longer be exposed to the charge of keeping promise to the ear and breaking it to the hope.

I will give only one more opinion of a former Governor-General, the representative of his Sovereign in India. Lord Lytton, referring to this same question of holding simultaneous examinations, said in a confidential minute:-

The Act of Parliament is so undefined, and indefinite obligations on the part of the Government of India towards its Native subjects are so obviously dangerous, that no sooner was the Act passed than the Government began to devise means for practically evading the fulfilment of it. Under the terms of the Act, which are studied and laid to heart by that increasing class of educated Natives whose development the Government encourages without being able to satisfy the aspirations of its existing members, every such Native, if once admitted to Government employment in posts previously reserved to the Covenanted Service. is entitled to expect and claim appointment in the fair course of promotion to the highest post in that Service. We all know that these claims and expectations never can or will be fulfilled. We have had to choose between prohibiting them and cheating them; and we have chosen the least straightforward course. The application to Natives of the competitive examination system as conducted in England, and the recent reduction in the age at which candidates can compete, are all so many deliberate and transparent subterfuges for stultifying the Act, and reducing it to a dead letter. Since I am writing confidentially, I do not besitate to say that both the Governments of England and India appear to me up to the present moment unable to answer satisfactorily the charge of having taken every means in their power of breaking to the heart the words of promise they had uttered to the ear.

Even on comparatively lower grounds than that of justice and truth you ought to revise and reform the Government of India. You are a commercial people. What you gain by trading with ua, if I go into figures, that alone will tell you how poor we are. Australia, with about aix millions of people, buys about 25 millions worth

of articles of you per year; while we, with a population fifty times over again, hardly manage to buy even thirty millions. You sell to us per head of population only eighteen pence per year; if we were rich enough (and to make us rich or poor entirely rests with you) to buy only one pound per head per year, you could have sold to us alone 300 millions worth of goods, which is your annual trade with the whole of the world. The subject of a Native Prince in India is richer than a British subject and buys more of your goods. You launch into expensive wars in South Africa and elsewhere to create a market, while here in your own Empire you have a market ready on hand, the largest, the most civilised, the most thickly peopled portion of that Empire.

I now must conclude. I hope this cruel farce, the present system of Government which is at the root of all our evil and suffering, should for your sakes, for the sake of justice and humanity, be radically changed. The educated classes at home are throwing in their whole weight on the side of the continuance of our connexion. This connexion is a blessing to us if you would only see that it be made, as you intended your servants to make it, a blessing to us; ponder over it, think what is your duty, and perform that duty.

BRITISH DEMOCRACY AND INDIA.

[A meeting was held at the North Lambeth Liberal Club on Thursday evening, July 4, 1901, at which Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji delivered the following address on British Democracy and India." The chair was taken at nine o'clock by Colonel Ford.]

Mr. Naoroji, who was cordially received, said :-Mr. Chairman, Ladies, and Gentlemen, I feel very great pleasure in being permitted to address you to-night. I propose at the outset to explain to you what the condition of India is in order that you may the better understand the relations which exist between that country and England. In the first place, I will tell you what has been repeatedly laid down as the policy to be pursued towards India. In 1833, this policy was definitely decided and embodied in an Act of Parliament, and it was a policy of justice and righteousness. It provided that no Native of India, nor any natural-born subject of His Majesty resident therein, should by reason only of his religion, place of birth, descent, or any of them, be disabled from holding any place, office, or employment under the Company. That is to say, that all British subjects in India should be treated alike, and merit alone should be the qualification for employment. The Indian people asked nothing more than the fulfilment of this policy, but from that day to this no such policy has been pursued towards India. A similar declaration of policy was made in the most solemn manner after the Mutiny. The Queen's Proclamation addressed to India at that time in 1858, stated as follows :--

"We hold ourselves bound to the Natives of our Indian territories by the same obligations of duty which bind us to all our other subjects, and those obligations, by the blessing of Almighty God, we shall faithfully and conscientiously fulfil.

And it is our further will that, so far as may be, our

And it is our further will that, so far as may be, our subjects, of whatever race or creed, be freely and impartially admitted to offices in our service, the duties of which they may be qualified, by their education, ability, and integrity, duty to discharge. . . . When, by the blessing of Providence, internal tranquility shall be restored, it is our earnest desire to stimulate the peaceful industry of India, to promote works of public utility and improvement, and to administer the government for the benefit of all our subjects resident therein. In their prosperity will be our strength, in their contentment our security, and in their gratitude our best reward. And may the God of all power grant to us and to those in authority under us strength to carry out these our wishes for the good of our people."

Such was the solemn pledge that was made to India. But where is the fulfilment? The same distinction of race and creed exists in India now as ever existed. That pledge so solemnly made half a century ago has never been carried out. One would have thought that their sense of honour would have prompted the Executive to fulfil this pledge, but such has not been the case. These pledges and declarations of policy have been to us dead letters. (Shame.) This then is the first thing you have to know. What has been the result of the system of government administered in India? The result has been to bring the country to a state of poverty and misery unknown elsewhere throughout the world. This result has been accomplished by the constant draining of India's wealth, for, let it be known that we have to produce every year something like twenty million pounds by our labour and our produce and hand this over to the English before we can utilise a single farthing's worth

ourselves. This draining has been going on for years and years with ever-increasing severity. We are made to pay all the expenditure in connexion with the India Office, and every farthing that is required to keep up the Indian Army, even though this latter is supported for England's own use in order to maintain her position in the East and elsewhere. If you want to maintain your position in the East, by all means do so, but do it at your own expense, (Hear, hear.) Why should India be charged for it ? Even if you pay half of the cost of your Indian Army we shall be satisfied and pay the other half ourselves. Every farthing of the cost of the wars by which your British-Indian Empire was formed has been paid by us, and not only was this the case, but that Empire, be it remembered, was secured to you by Indian blood. It was Indian soldiers who shed their blood in the formation of the Indian Empire, and the reward that we get is that we are treated as the helots of the British people. India is the richest country in the world in mineral and other wealth, but owing to the constant drain you have put upon our resources, you brought our people to a state of exhaustion and poverty. At the beginning of last century the drain on Indian produce amounted to about five million pounds per annum; now, it has increased to something like thirty million pounds. Each year thirty millions sterling are exacted from India without any return in any material shape. (Shame.) Of this tremendous sum, however, part goes back to India, but not, mark you, for the benefit of the Indian people. It goes back under the name of British capital, and is used by British capitalists to extract from the Indian soil its wealth of minerals,

which wealth goes to enrich the English alone. thus India is bled, and has been bled ever since middle of the eighteenth century. India produces foed enough for all her needs and to spare. How is it then that so many of her people die for want of it ! The reason is simple. So exhausted are the people, and so heavily has the continued bleeding told upon their resources that they are too poor to purchase food, and, therefore, there is chronic famine in good years and in bad years. Do not think that famines only occur when you in England hear of them. You only hear of the very severest of them. One hundred and fifty millions of your fellow-subjects do not know what it is to have one full meal a day. What would be the position of England if she were left to feed on her own resources? She does not produce a quarter of the food required to feed her people. It is only because England is a rich country, thanks largely to India, and can, therefore, buy the produce of other countries that her people are kept from starving. Compare this with the condition of India. She produces more than she requires, and yet through their poverty her people are unable to buy food, and famine is the consequence as soon as a drought occurs. And now we come to the main point lecture. On whose shoulders does the responsibility for the present miserable condition of things in India rest ! It rests on the shoulders of the British democracy, and I will tell you how. One elector in England has more voice in the government of his country than the whole of the Indian people have in the government of their country. In the Supreme Legislative Council in India there are only four or five Indians, and what

power can so few have in that assembly ? The Government appoint their own Executive Council, and it takes care that the few Indian members of the Legislative Council have no real voice in the management of their own country. A Tax Bill comes before the Council. and these Indian members have not the slightest power to vote, make a motion, or suggest an amendment. If they do not vote for it the Government turn round and say " look at these Indians; do they think the Government can be carried on without taxation? they are not fit to govern." The fact is the Tax Bill is brought into the Council only to receive its formal sanction. No chance is given for discussion or amendment. These few Indians have to join with the other members of the Council in taxing their countrymen, without any voice in the expenditure of that taxation. Their power in fact is nil. Economically and politically India is in the worst possible position. The British public are responsible for the burdens under which India is grouning. The democracy is in power in this country, and it should understand something of our suffering, because it has suffered itself. We appeal to you to exercise your power in making your Government carry out its solemn pledges. If you succeeded in doing this, the result would be that the Empire would be strengthened and benefit would be experienced by yourselves as well as by India. India does not want to sever her connexion with England, but rather to strengthen that connexion. I wish to point out that unless the British democracy exercise their power in bringing to India a better state of things, the whole responsibility for our suffering will lie at their door. I therefore appeal to you to do your duty and relieve us from the deplorable miseries from which we are suffering. (Cheers.)

XI.

INDIA UNDER BRITISH RULE.

[The following speech was delivered by Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji at the annual dinner of the London Indian Society, 22nd March 1902.]

I can hardly express in adequate terms what I feel at pue generous manner in which my health has been proposed and the cordial reception which you have given to the toust. I feel it very deeply. (Hear, hear.) Talking of my views towards British rule I wish to say that they have been largely misunderstood. The pith of the whole thing is that not only have the British people derived great advantage from India but that the profit would have been more than ten times as great had that rule been conducted on the lines of policy laid down by Act of Parliament. It is a pity as much for England herself as for us that that policy has not been carried out, and that the matter has been allowed to drift in the old selfish way in which the Government was inaugurated in earlier times. When I complain, I am told sometimes very forcibly, that the connexion of Britain with India is beneficial to India herself, I admit that it might be, and it is because of that that I arged over and over again that the connexion should be out upon a righteous basis—a basis of justice and liberality. It has been proved by the fact of the coming into existence of a body like the Indian National Congress that the Brisish connexion might be made more beneficial, and I believe that if you fail to direct the force of that movement into proper channels the result will be most disastrous, for it unust ultimately come into collision with British rule. It does not require any great depth of consideration to see

that. It has been repeatedly admitted by every statesman of consequence that the welfare of India depends upon the contentment of the people, and that that contentment cannot exist unless the people feel that British rule is doing them good, is raising their political status, and is making them prosperous. (Hear, hear.) The fact is quite the reverse, and it is no use denying that the system which has existed in India is one which has been most foolish; it has neither increased Indian prosperity nor raised her political status. If only you could make her truly imperial and unitedly in favour of British rule I defy a dozen Russias to touch India or to do the slightest harm to the Empire, (Cheers.) Mr. Caine has expressed regret that Indian troops were not sent to South Africa. It is quite true you cannot expect to maintain a great Empire unless you use all its imperial resources, and among those imperial resources there are none so important and so valuable as the resources of India in physical strength and in military genius and capability. There you will find that, by a simple stamp of the foot on the ground, you can summon millions of men ready to fight for the British Empire. We only want to be treated as part and parcel of the Empire, and we ask you not to maintain the relationship of master over helot. We want you to base your policy on the lines already laid down by Act of Parliament, proclaimed by the late Queen, and acknowledged by the present Emperor, as the best and truest policy towards India for the sake of both countries. Unless that is done the future is not very hopeful. As far as I am concerned I have ever expressed my faith in the British conscience. As far back as 1853, when the first political movement was started in India, and when associations were formed in Bombay, Calcutta,

and Madras in order to petition Patliament with regard to improvements necessary to be made in the Company's Charter, I expressed my sincere faith in the British people, and said I was convinced that if they would only get true information and make themselves acquainted with the realities of India they would fulfil their duty towards her. That faith, after all the vicissitudes and disappointments which have marked the last half century. I still hold. If we only do our best to make the British people understand what their duty is, I venture to prophesy that England will have an Empire the like of which has never before existed, an Empre of which any nation may well be proud. (Cheers.) After all, India is the British Empire. The colonies are simply so many sons who have set up establishments of their own, but who retain their affection for the mother country, but India is an Empire which, if properly cultivated, will have a wondrous success. All we want is that there shall be a true loyal, and real attachment between the people of the two countries. I am glad to see you young men around me. I and the older men who have worked in this movement are passing away. We began the work, we had to grope in darkness, but we leave you a great legacy, we leave you the advantages of the labours of the hundreds of us during the last 50 years, and if you only study the problem thoroughly, if you spread over the United Kingdom the true merits and defects of British rule you will be doing a grat work both for your own country and for England. I rejoice at having had something to do in that direction. have stuck to my own view that it would be good for India if British rule continues. But it must not be the British rule which has obtained in the past; it must be a rule under which you treat us as brothers, and not as helots. (Loud cheers.)

XII.

THE INDIAN NATIONAL CONGRESS.

[The following speech was delivered by Mr. Dadahbai Naoroji at a remarkable gathering at Westminster Palace Hotel which assembled in November 1904, in order to give a send off to Sir Henry Cotton on the eve of his departure to India to preside at the Twentieth Indian National Congress at Bombay.]

The Chairman: I have now to propose the toast of the evening our good guests Sir Henry Cotton and Sir William Wedderburn. (Cheers.) I may first take the opportunity of expressing on behalf of the Indians here our deep regret at the death of Mr. Digby and of Lord Northbrook. I need not say much about them. There are three Viceroys who have left their names impressed on the minds of the Indian people with characteristic epithets. Those three are Mayo, "the good," Northbrook, "the just," and Ripon, "the righteous." (Cheers.) Two have passed away, but we hope the third may live long enough to see the realisation of his desires for the promotion of the happiness of the people of India. (Hear, hear.) We are met together to honour our two friends-Sir Henry Cotton and Sir William Wedderburn. The question naturally arises: Why is it that we Indians ask English gentlemen to go out to India-to preside at the Indian National Congress, and to help at it ? Have we in our ranks no men capable of doing the work? Cannot we help ourselves? Those questions are natural, and they require an answer. Again it may be asked, what is it that the Indians want, and by what means do they desire to accomplish their end? I do not propose to describe what India wants in my own words, or in the words of any I propose, instead, to give you a few sentences from the writings of an Anglo-Indian whose father and grandfather have been in the service for over 60 years, who himself has been over 35 years in the service, and whose son is now in it. I refer to our guest Sir Henry Cotton, (Cheers.) He is as patriotic as any Englishman can be. He is proud of the service to which he belongs, and in his official capacity he has carefully weighed the position of the Indians at the present time. I will read you a few sentences from his lately-published book, "New India," and they will give you an idea of what India wants. He says: "There can be no doubt that English rule in its present form cannot continue. The leaders of the National movement assume, and assume rightly, that the connexion between India and England will not be snapped. It is a sublimer function of Imperial dominion to unite the varying races under our sway into one Empire 'broadbased upon the people's will ' . . . to afford scope to their political aspirations, and to devote ourselves to the peaceful organisation of their political federation and autonomous independence as the only basis of our ultimate relationship between the two countries." Again, taking another point, Sir Henry Cotton writes on the drain of taxes from India to England: "Taking these (all drain from India to England in various shapes) into consideration, it is a moderate computation that the annual drafts from India to Great Britain amount to a total of thirty millions. It can never be to the advantage of the people of India to remit annually these enormous sums to

a foreign country. Lord Curzon has very forcibly said, in a speech delivered by him in November, 1902, at Jaipore: 'There is no spectacle which finds less favour in my eyes, or which I have done more to discourage, than that of a cluster of Europeans settling down upon a Native State and sucking from it the moisture which ought to give sustenance to its own people'." He adds: "Lord Curzon has lost sight of the fact that what is true of the Native States is 'true of the whole of India. The keynote of administrative reform is the gradual substitution of Indian for European official agency. This is the one end towards which the educated Indians are concentrating their efforts. The concession of this demand is the only way by which we can make any pretence of satisfying even the most moderate of their legitimate aspirations. It is the first and most pressing duty the Government is called on to discharge. It is necessary as an economic measure. But it is necessary also on higher grounds than those of economy. . . The experiment of a 'firm and resolute government' in Ireland has been tried in vain, and the adoption of a similar policy in India is inevitably destined to fail." Next, Sir Henry gives an extract from the celebrated speech of Lord Macaulay in 1833 :- "It may be that the public mind of India may expand under our system till it has outgrown our system; that by good government we may educate our subjects into a capacity for better government—that having become instructed in European knowledge, they may in some future age demand European institutions. Whether such a day will ever come I know not. But never will I attempt to avert or retard it. Whenever it comes it will be the proudest day in

English history." Next there is an extract from Mountstuart Elphinstone, in 1850:- "But we are now doing our best to raise them in all mental qualities to a level with ourselves, and to instil into them the liberal opinions in government and policy which have long prevailed in this country and it is vain to endeavour to rule them on principles only suited to a slavish and ignorant population." On this Sir Henry Cotton remarks: "The experience of more than half a century since they were written merely confirms their truth." And after these I propose to give only one other extract, and to read just one sentence from Burks, who says: "Magnanimity in politics is not seldom the truest wisdom, and a great Empire and little minds go ill together. We ought to elevate our minds to the greatness of that trust to which the order of Providence has called us." Now, these extracts which I have read to you explain what Indians ask for. Their wishes are embodied in the language of an Anglo-Indian, but I accept them as a very fair expression of our views. (Cheers.) The question is: How is this to be accomplished? There are only two ways of doing it-either by peaceful organisation or by revolution. It must be done either by the Government itself or by some revolution on the part of the people. It may be asked what do our present reformers want, and which of these two policies they desire to adopt. I will give a direct unswer to that. (Hear, hear.) In the year 1853, as far as I know the first attempt was made by Indian politicians or by Indians to form a political organisation and to express in words their wishes and demands. That was the period of the renewal of the East India Company's Charter, and three associations were then formed: one in Bombay, an-

other in Calcutta, which is still in existence, and a third in Madras. The fundamental principle on which they based their whole action was contained in the words used by Sir Henry Cotton-that the connexion between England and India will not snap. That was the foundation of their action in 1853, when they made their first attempt at political organisation. As I have said, the British India Association at Calcutta is still in existence; that in Bombay was succeeded by the Bombay Presidency Association, and that in Madras by the Madras Mahajana Sabha. All along they have gone on the same principle, that the connexion between England and India will continue. In the evolution of time, as we know, the Indian National Congress came into existence, twenty years ago, and I may say that it is the best product of the most beneficial influence of the connexion between England and India. This unique phenomenon of different races and different peoples in a large continent containing an area equal to Europe (Russia excluded), and embracing quite as many different nationalities, coming together to consider proposals for the amelioration of the condition of the people of India and giving expression to their views and aspirations in the noble English language, is a product of which the British people may well be proud. The next Congress will be the twentieth, and, I repeat, that from the very beginning the principle acted upon has been a continuance of the policy adopted by the earlier Associations to which I have referred-the continuance of the connexion between England and India. Then the question is: How are we going to carry out that policy? The only way in which the desired change can be brought about is, in our opinion, by a peaceful organisation, as Sir Henry Cotton has described

it: it must be effected by the Government itself. (Cheers.) Why is it that the Indian National Congress and we Indians here have solicited Sir Henry Cotton and Sir William Wedderburn to go out to India to assist at the twentieth Congress? The answer is simply this: that if these reforms are to be carried out at all, they are entirely in the hands of the English people. The Indians may cry aloud as much as they like, but they have no power whatever to bring about those reforms—the power is entirely in the hands of the English people and of the English Government, and our ideas and hopes can meet with no success unless we get men like Sir Henry Cotton and Sir William Wedderburn and others to help us to prove to the Indian people that they need not yet despair, for the British conscience is not altogether lost yet-(hear, hear)-and, on the other hand, to persuade the British people to dc that which is right and just. We Indian people believe in one thing, and that is that although John Bull is a little thick-headed, once we can penetrate through his head into his brain that a certain thing is right and proper to be done, you may be quite sure that it will be done, (Cheers.) The necessity, therefore, of English help is very great-thear. hear)-and we want English gentlemen to go out to India, not in their twos and fours, but in their bundreds, in order to make the acquaintance of Indians, to know their character, to learn their aspirations, and to help them to secure a system of self-government worthy of a civilised people like the British. (Cheers.) On this occasion we Indians have invited a number of English gentlemen to come and sympathise with us in giving a good send-off to our two guests, and it is a most gratifying fact that there

has been so cordial a response to our invitation, and that we have here gentlemen like Mr. Courtney, Mr. Lough, Mr. Frederic Harrison, and others. We cannot in the face of this, but hope that good days are coming, and we should never despair. Mr. Courtney was a member of a Royal Commission of which I was also a member. We agreed, and we disagreed. But what was his line of action all through? He displayed a spirit of fairness in the consideration of every question which came before the Commission. (Hear, hear.) Mr. Lough has long been belping us, and when I was a member of the House of Commons I always found him a staunch and good friend of India in the House, while outside he has always accepted our invitations to help us whereever possible. Mr. Frederic Harrison has also been a great source of strength to our cause. I am sorry Mr. Hyndman is not bere. He has been for twenty-six years a steady friend of the amelioration of the condition of India. and we hope that after the next General Election we may have his valuable support in the House of Commons. I appeal to every Englishman, for his own patriotism and for the good of his own country, as well as ours, if he wishes the British Empire to be preserved, to exert himself to persuade the British people that the right course to be adopted towards India is one worthy of British civilisation-worthy of those great days in the thirties-the days of emancipation, of the abolition of slavery, and of the amelioration of many forms of human suffering. in the year 1833 that we got our great Charter-the Charter confirmed by the Proclemation of 1858. We ask for nothing more than the fulfilment of the pledges contained in that Charter. Those are our demands as put

forward by Sir Henry Cotton, and I can only say that they constitute a reversion to the policy of 1833-a policy embodied in promises which, had they been fulfiled in their entirety, would have resulted in their meeting that day being of an entirely different nature—they would have been proclaiming their gratitude, instead of pleading to the English to reverse their policy and introduce one worthy of their name and civilisation. (Cheers.) Macaulay had declared: "It was to no purpose if they were free men and if they grudged the same freedom to other people." (Hear, hear.) I therefore appeal to every Englishman, for the sake of his own patriotism, as well as for the cause of humanity-for all reasons good and beneficent-to reverse their policy towards India and to adopt one worthy of the British name. I was one of those who started the Bombay Association in 1853, and from that time until now I have always been a worker in the cause. (Cheers.) My principle has been from the beginning based on the necessity of the continuance of the connexion between England and India. I hope I may held that view to the end of my life. I am bound, however, to mention one fact, and I will do so without comment. Leaving aside the general system of government, which we condemn, there have been during the past six or seven years repressive, restrictive, and reactionary methods adopted, and there has been, further, a persistence in the injustice of imposing upon India the burden of expenditure incurred for purely Imperial purposes. What I want to point out is that the rising generation of Indians may not be able to exercise that patience which we of the passing and past generations have shown. A spirit of discontent and dissatisfaction is at present widely spread among the Indians in India, and I wish our rulers to take note of that fact and to consider what it means. An Empire like that of India cannot be governed by little minds. The rulers must expand their ideas, and we sincerely hope that they will take note of this unfortunate circumstance and will adopt measures to undo the mischief. (Cheers.) In the name of my Indian friends I thank the guests who have accepted our invitation, and I now call upon Sir Henry Cotton to respond to the toast.

XIII.

ENGLAND'S PLEDGES TO INDIA.

[The following speech was delivered by Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji in 1904 at the Wesley Hall, Clapham Park.]

On Tuesday evening last Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji, candidate for North Lambeth, addressed a meeting under the auspices of the J. P. Heath Lodge of the Sons of Temperarce, at the Wesley Hall, Clapham Park, on "British Rule in India: Promises and Performances." There was, considering the unpleasant character of the weather, an excellent attendance, and the audience followed with marked interest Mr. Naoroji's eloquent pleading for his oppressed countrymen, while they also appreciatively watched the magic lantern views which vividly presented varied aspects of Indian manners, customs, and architecture. The views were graphically explained by Mr. J. C. Mukerji, and the lantern was manipulated by Mr. W. Hanmer Owen. The chair was occupied by Mr. Mason, who, in briefly introducing Mr. Nacioji as the Grand ()ld Man of India, explained that although the Sons of Temperance formed a friendly society, the members were always glad to keep themselves in touch with the topics of the day, and hence their invitation to Mr. Naoroji to address them.

Mr. Naoroji, who was loudly cheered, said that in order to understand thoroughly the subject he was announced to lecture upon, and in order to realise the full significance of British promises and performances in India,

it was necessary he should narrate a few of the historical facts which led to the promises being given. British rule in India at its inception was one marked by greed, oppression, and tyranny of every kind-so much so that even the Court of Directors of the East India Company was horrified at what was going on. That was the first fact to be borne in mind. The second was that subsequent to the rise of the British Empire in India all war expenditure incurred in connexion with India, and by means of which the Empire had been built up, had been paid out of Indian resources entirely, and the bloodshed which was the nevessary accompaniment of war was mainly Indian. In the late Transvaal war Great Britain lost thousands of her sons and spent nearly 250 millions sterling, and the people of this country consequently had brought forcibly home to them what war meant, but in India, while the British claimed all the glory and reaped all the benefits, the burdens of war were borne by the Natives. India had, in fact cost Great Britain nothing in money and very little in blood. But its wealth had thereby been exhausted; it had become impoverished, and it had further been subjected to a system of government under which every Indian interest was sacrificed for the benefit of the English people. The system of corruption and oppression continued until at last the British Government was shamed by it. Anglo-Indians of high position in the service had again and again denounced the system in the most scathing terms, but it would suffice for his present purpose to remind them that Edmund Burke pointed out how every position worth having under the Government was filled by Europeans, to the absolute exclusion of Natives. The result was that there was a constant and

most exhausting drain of Indian wealth. Even in those days it was estimated that the official remittances to England amounted to three millions sterling, and the capacity of the people to produce went on diminishing, until it was now only about £2 per head, as compared with £40 per head in Great Britain. This country, too, enjoyed the benefit of its wealth circulating at home, while India laboured under the disadvantage that what it produced was sent to England, and it got nothing in return. She was, in fact, deprived of wealth without mercy year after year, and, in addition to the official remittances home, to which he had already referred, the servants of the Government sent home, privately, an almost equal sum, which they themselves obtained from the Natives on their own account. In the early part of last century there was a Government enquiry every 20 years into the administration of the East India Company. and these at last proved so effective that the statesmen of the day began to realise the responsibilities and duty of England to India, and to seriously discuss what should be Great Britain's policy. It was in 1833 that they got the first pledge, and in that year a clause was inserted in the Charter of the East India Company providing that in the service of the Government there should be no distinction raised of race, creed, or colour, but that ability should be the sole qualification for employment by the State. That was the first promise, made to the people of India in the name of the people of the United Kingdom, and it was embodied in an Act of Parliament. Had it been faithfully and loyally carried out, the existing state of affairs in India would have been vastly different, and it would not have been necessary for him to go about

the country complaining of the dishonour and disgrace of Eugland, and of the enormity of the evils of British The first promise was made in 1833, the period at which the British were rising to their highest glory in civilisation, an era of emancipation of all kinds, from the abolition of elavery cowards. Macaulay himself declared that he would be proud to the end of his life of having taken part in preparing that clause of the Charter, and clearly the policy of the statesmen of that day was to extend to India the freedom and liberty which England enjoyed. But 20 years passed, and not the slightest effect was given to the clause; it remained a dead letter, as if it had never been enacted, and the policy of greed and oppression continued to obtain in the government of India. In 1853, the East India Company's Charter was again revised, and in those days Mr. John Bright and Lord Stanley (afterwards Lord Derby) urged strongly that the service should be open to all and not reserved exclusively for Europeans-for the nominees and friends of the Directors of the Company. They contended, too, for the holding of simultaneous examinations in India and England, but it was without avail. Then came the Mutiny of 1857, and after that had been suppressed, the statesmen of Great Britain were again forced to consider what should be the policy of this country in India. The administration of India was taken over from the Company, and the Proclamation which was issued was drawn up by Lord Derby, at the special request of Queen Victoria, in terms of generosity, benevolence, and religious toleration, such as might well be used by a woman sovereign speaking to hundreds of millions of a people the direct government of whom she was assuming after a

bloody civil war. Nothing could have been more satisfactory than the promise embodied in that Proclamation, and the Indian people heartily blessed the name of Queen, Victoria for the sympathy she always evinced towards her. Indian subjects. This Proclamation constituted the second pledge-it was a promise to extend British institutions to India, to, in fact, give them self-government, it reaffirmed the promise of the Charter of 1833, and it declared that her Majesty held herself bound to the Natives of her Indian territories by the same obligations of duty as bound her to all her other subjects. were, in fact, to become true British subjects, with all the rights and privileges of British subjects, and the government of the country was to be administered for the benefit of all the people resident therein; for, concluded the Proclamation, "in her prosperity will be our strength, in her contentment our security, and her gratitude our best reward." This had well been called "India's Greater Charter." It was everything they desired. But, unfortunately, it, too, had remained a dead letter up to the present time, and to the great and bitter disappointment of the people of India the promises therein contained had not been faithfully and honorably fulfilled. In defiance of the Proclamation, every obstacle had been placed in the way of Natives obtaining admission to posts under the Government, the efforts of men like Mr. John Bright, Lord Derby, and Mr. Fawcett to secure the holding of simultaneous examinations in England and India had been frustrated. In 1870, no doubt, an effort was made by Sir Stafford Northcote, and later on by the Duke of Argyll, to give effect to the promise of admission of Natives to the service, but it was defeated by the action

of the Indian Government. A Native service was established, but it was made entirely distinct from the European service—a distinction which was never intended and it was so arranged that it was bound to prove a failure. Appointments to it were made by nomination, not by examination; back-door jobbery took the place of the claims of ability, and naturally, at the end of ten years, the service was abandoned because it had never answered. In 1877, on the proclamation of Queen Victoria as Empress of India, Lord Lytton issued another Proclamation in the name of Queen Victoria reiterating the promises contained in her former Proclamation, but sgain the pledge was violated. At the Jubilee in 1887 there was a renewal of the promise, again to be followed by its being utterly ignored; while, later on, a resolution of the British House of Commons in favour of the holding of simultaneous examinations in India and England was carried by Mr. Herbert Paul, in spite of the opposition of the Government, and that too had been ignored. Thus, they had a long series of solemn promises made to the ear but absolutely violated in spirit and in letter, to the great disbonour and disgrace of Great Britain. Eminent statesmen and officials had frequently admitted the breaking of these pledges. A Committee appointed by the then Secretary for India unanimously reported in 1860 that the British Government had been guilty of making promises to the ear and breaking them to the hope; and that the only way in which justice could be done to Indians was by holding simultaneous examinations in England and India, of the same standard and on the same footing, instead of forcing Indians to go to Lordon at an expense of thousands of pounds in order to secure admission to the Government

service. In 1870, the Duke of Argyll declared: "We have not fulfilled our duty or the promises and engagements we have made"; later, Lord Lytton made the confession that deliberate and transparent subterfuges had been resorted to in order to reduce the promise of the Charter of 1833 to a dead letter; and that the Governments of England and of India were not in a position to answer satisfactorily the charge that they had taken every means in their power to break to the heart the promises they had made to the ear. The Duke of Devonshire, in 1883, asserted that if India was to be better governed it was to be done only by the employment of the best and most intelligent of the Natives in the service; while, finally, the late Lord Salisbury described the promises and their non-fulfilment as "political hypocrisy." That was a nice description indeed of the character of the British rule in India; it was an admission that the conduct of the British Government in India had been disgraceful. But let them not forget that the promises were made by the British Sovereign, the British Parliament, and British people, of their own free will, while the disgrace for their non-fulfilment attached solely to the British Government, which by its refusal to act had sullied the honour of the British people. Two of the greatest offenders in this respect had been Lord George Hamilton and Lord Curzon, both of whom had very unpatriotically introduced most reactionary measures, and had pursued a mischievous policy which had resulted in the gravest injury to the Indian Empire and the British people. Lord George Hamilton, whose object surely should have been to make the people attached to British rule, had openly declared that it never

would be popular with them; wh ... Lord Curzon had done his very utmost to make it unpopular. He was going back to that country for a second term of office as Viceroy but the suggestion that the people would welcome his reappearance was falsified by the authoritative expression of the best Native opinion, and his continuance in the office of Viceroy could only be productive of serious injury, both to England and to India. What had been the result of the non-fulfilment of this long series of promises? The system of greed and oppression still obtained in the Government of India; the country was being selfishly exploited for the sole benefit of Englishmen; it was slowly but surely being drained of its wealth, for no country in the world could possibly withstand a drain of from 30 to 40 millions sterling annually, such as India was now subjected to; its power of production was diminishing, and its people were dying of hunger by the million. The responsibility for all this rested upon British rule. What was the remedy? Not the mischievous, reactionary policy now being pursued by Lord Curzon, but the taking of steps to transform and revolutionise in a peaceful manner the present evil and disastrous system of government, so as to enable the people themselves to take their full and proper share in the administration of the affairs of their country. Lord Curzon had described India as the pivot of the British Empire. India could not be content with the present state of affairs, and he earnestly appealed to the people of Great Britain to themselves compel the Government to redeem the promises so often made, and to secure for India real self-government, subject, of course, to the paramountcy of Great Britain. (Cheers.)

XIV.

THE LEGACY OF LORD CURZON'S REGIME.

[A great meeting of Indians resident in the United Kingdom was held in May 1905 at the Caxton Hall, Westminster, to protest against Lord Curzon's aspersions upon the Indian people and their sacred writings, and against the reactionary legislation that has characterised his administration. Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji presided and made the following speech: :—

We are met together to-day for a very important purpose. A unique event has happened, showing significantly a sign of the times. We have had in India a great uprise, and in the chief towns there have been held monster meetings of Indians, denouncing and protesting against the sayings and doings of the highest authority there, making a protest in clear, unmistakable terms against the policy under which India is ruled. It is, indeed, a unique event. I, at any rate, do not remember anything similar having ever taken place in the history of British India. The Indians have very unanimously, very earnestly, and very emphatically declared that the system of rule they are now under should not continue to be. (Loud cheers.) Let us consider what that means. More than 50 years ago-I will not go back to an earlier period of our history-Mountstuart Elphinstone said :--

It is in vain to endeavour to rule them (the Indians) on principles only suited to a slavish and ignorant population.

And 40 years after—in the last 10 or 12 years—we find, not only a continuance of the same old system,

but we find it brought to bear on the people with even more energy and more vigour. ("Shame.") Some 11 years age Sir Henry Fowler distinctly and decidedly showed us that India was to be governed on the principles condemned by Elphinstone, for, by his conduct in refusing to give effect to the resolution regarding simultaneous examinations, passed in 1893, he proved that it was intended to continue the same evil system under which the country had been governed so long. Then followed Lord George Hamilton as Secretary of State, and what did he tell the whole world? He said:—

Our rule shall never be popular. Our rule can never be popular.

These were his own words, in one of his early speeches, and he has taken very good care that his prophecy shall be fulfilled. But his doings were not so serious as Lord Curzon's, although he managed to go quietly on issuing regulation after regulation with the object of depriving Indians sa far as possible of an opportunity of making any further progress. But then comes Lord Curzon, and he out-Herods them all. the first resolution you have snumerated a number of his measures—and not a complete list, for there are some more of them-which he passed with the declared and clear intention of continuing to govern India only on principles suitable to slavish and ignorant populations. Here, then, we have a clear and distinct issue. Our rulers-the officials-tell us we shall have no chance of ever becoming a self-governing country—that they will not give us an opportunity of preparing ourselves for it. Undoubtedly, the character of the whole of the measures passed within the last 10 years points towards such an intention, and to the retraction of the generous mode

which was adopted on some occasions in the time of Lord Ripon. Now, the Indian people have, for the first time, risen up and declared that this thing shall not be. (Loud cheers.) Here is a clear issue between the rulers and the people: they are come face to face. The rulers say: " We shall rule, not only as foreign invaders, with the result of draining the country of its wealth, and killing millions by famine, plague, and starving scores of millions by poverty and destitution." While the ruled are saying for the first time, " That shall not be." I regard the day on which the first Calcutta meeting was held as a red-letter day in the annals of India. (Cheers.) I am thankful that I have lived to see the birthday of the freedom of the Indian people. (Renewed cheers.) The question now naturally arises, what will be the consequences of this open declaration of war-as you may call it-between the rulers and the people? I will not give you my own opinions or my own views. Anglo-Indian officials, who have told us that persistence in the present evil system of government will lead to certain consequences. Sir John Malcolm, a well-known Governor of Bombay, who had a very distinguished career, as a political agent and as an official, after describing the system that obtained in the government of India, prophesied what would be the necessary consequences, and said :--

"The meral evil to us does not stand alone. It carries with it its Nemesis: the seeds of the destruction of the Empire itself."

Again, Sir Thomas Munro said :-

It would be more desirable that we should be expelled from the country altogether, than that the result of our system of government should be such an abasement of a whole people. Bright spoke on many occasions, always denouncing the existing system of government. He always regarded it as an evil and a disgraceful system, and, after describing the system, he wound up with these words:—

Sir William Hunter, you know, was a very distinguished official, and while he spoke as favourably as he possibly could of the existing system, he did not fail to point out the evil part of it, and he summed up one of his lectures in these words:—

We should have had an Indian Ireland multiplied 50-fold on our hands.

Again, Lord Cromer-(cheers)-said :-

Changes should be taking place in the thoughts, the desires, and the aims of the intelligent and educated men of the country, which no wise and cautious Government can afford to disregard, and to which they must gradually adapt their system of administration, if they do not wish to see it shattered by forces which they have themselves called into being, but which they have failed to guide and control.

Then, Lord Hartington, when Secretary for India, pointed out that the exclusion of Indians from the government of their own country could not be a wise procedure on the part of the British people, as the only consequence could be to

make the Indiana desirous of getting rid, in the first instance, of their European rulers.

I have read to you only these four or five opinions of men of position—of high position in the Government, and of official Anglo-Indians—opinions to the effect that if the present evil system is to continue the result will be to bring disaster to the British Empire—that, in fact, the British Empire in India will vanish. That is the position in which we are at the present time, under an evil system of rule. Either that evil system must cease or it must produce disastrous results to the British Empire itself. (Cheers.) The issue before us is clear. Is India to be governed on principles of slavery or is she to be governed so as to fit herself as early as possible to govern herself?

Anyone who reads the items enumerated in the first resolution will see that Lord Curzon has set himself most vigorously and most earnestly to the task of securing that Indians shall be treated as slaves, and that their country shall remain the property of England, to be exploited and plundered at her will. (" Shame .") That is the task to which Lord Curzon has set himself with a vigour worthy of a better cause. Now, that being the case, there is a duty on the Indians themselves. (Cheers.) They have now broken the ice; they have declared that they will not be governed as slaves; and now let them show a spirit of determination, for, I have very little doubt that, if the British public were once satisfied that India is determined to have self-government, it will be conceded. I may not live to see that blessed day, but I do not despair of that result being achieved. (Cheers.) The issue which has now been raised between the governors and the governed cannot be put aside. The Indian people have as one body and in a most, extraordinary way, risen for the first time to declare their determination to get an end put to the present evil system of rule. (Cheers.) Now, I come to the first part of the first resolution—the aspersions and attacks Lord Curzon has thought proper to make-in, I am afraid, a little spirit of peevishness-against the character and religion of the East. I do not need, however, to enter into any refutation of what he has said, for the simple reason that, as far as I am concerned, I performed that task 39 years ago, when Mr. Crawford, the President of the Ethnological Society, wrote a paper full of the very same ignorant and superficial charges. I replied to that, and I find that the Oriental Review Bombay has reprinted my reply for the present occasion. (Cheers.) There are one or two other aspects of the matter I should like to dwell upon. It is very strange Angle-Indian officials should throw stones in this matter. Let us have some enquiry about the manner in which the British Government have behaved towards India. Again, I will not give you my own views or ideas. I will give you those of Englishmen themselves-of men of the very highest authority. A Committee was formed in the year 1860, of five members of no less a body than the Council of the Secretary of State, in order to enquire what the Government of the day should do with regard to the Act of 1833, by which all disqualification of race and creed was abolished. This Committee of five men-all high Anglo-Indian officials, who much work in India, and whose names were all wellknown, gave a very decided opinion that the British Government had exposed itself to the charge of " having made promises to the ear and broken them to the hope." This was in 1860. In 1869, the Duke of Argyll clearly acknowledged what had been the conduct of the British Government towards the Indian people in these words:—

I must say that we have not fulfilled our duty or the promises and engagements which we have made.

That does not look very like sincerity and righteousness on the part of the British Government. (Cheers.) Then comes Lord Lytton. Something like 18 years after the Committee had given their opinion—an opinion of which we knew nothing because the report was pigeonholed—Lord Lytton, in a private despatch to the Secretary of State, used these words:—

No sooner was the Act (1833) passed, than the Government began to devise means for practically evading the fulfilment of it all so many deliberate and transparent subterfuges for stultifying the Act, and reducing it to a dead letter. 1 do not hesitate to say that both the Government of England and of India appear to me, up to the present moment, unable to answer satisfactorily the charge of having taken every means in their power of breaking to the heart the words of promise they had uttered to the ear.

Lastly, no less a personage than Lord Salisbury summed up the whole thing in two words. He declared that the conduct of the British Government to the Indian people was "political hypocrisy." It does not, then, lie very well in the mouth of Anglo-Indian officials to talk of lapses of Indian character and morality. (Cheere.) They forgot that they themselves had a very large beam in their own eyes when they were pointing to a little mote which they fancied was in the eyes of others. (Renewed cheering.) They ought to remember that they are living in glass houses, and should not throw stones. The next aspect of Lord Curzon's charges on which I wish to speak is this: He does not seem to realise the responsibility of the position in which he has been placed. He is there representing the Sovereign of the Empire—as Viceroy or Second

King—the head of a great people, 300 millions in number. who had possessed civilisation for thousands of years, and at a time when his forefathers were wandering in the forests here. (Cheers and laughter.) He had a special mission. His duty as Viceroy is to attract as much as possible and to attach the good feeling of the Indian people to the rule of the British Sovereign. What does he do? By his acts he deals a deadly blow to British rule, and then, by a peculiarly ignorant and petulant speech, he creates almost a revolution in the whole of the Empire. It is really very strange that he should do so. But I am not surprised at what he has done, and I will give you the reason why. But, first, I will certainly mention one circumstance in his favour and to his credit. As we all know, he made a very firm stand against any brutal treatment of the Indian people by Europeans, and, in so doing, caused dissatisfaction to his own countrymen. In that he really did a service, not only to Indians, but to the whole British Empire. (Cheers.) That one act of his shall not be forgotten by Indians, for it showed his sense of the justice he as a Viceroy should exercise. (Renewed cheering.) But by all the acts and measures mentioned in the first resolution he has tried to Russianise the Indian Administration, and with that narrow statesmanship with which he has all along associated himself, he has forgotten that while Russianising the Indian administration, he is Russianising also the people of India, who live at a distance of 6,000 miles from the centre of the Empire, and who, consequently, are in a very different position from the Russians themselves, who are struggling against their own Government in their own country. (Hear, hear.) is remarkable that Lord Curzon, when he was first appointed Viceroy, said that India was the pivot of the British-Empire, that if the Colonies left the British Empire it would not matter much, whereas the loss of India would be the setting of the sun of the Empire. What does he do? How does he strengthen that pivot? One would . think he would put more strength, more satisfaction, and more prosperity under the pivot, but, instead of that, he has managed to deposit under it as much dynamite as he possibly can-dynamite in the form of public dissatisfaction, which, even in his own time, has produced the inevitable explosion. Surely, that is a remarkable way of, strengthening the connexion between the British and the Indian peoples. But, as he had said, he was not surprised at the Viceregal career of Lord Curzon: he was only disappointed and grieved that the fears he entertained when Lord Curzon was appointed had been fulfilled. It had been a great disappointment to him, because he had hoped against hope for something better. The announcement of his appointment was made in August, 1898, and in the following September he wrote to a friend in these terms:-

I am hoping against hope about Mr. Curzon, for this reason, Lord Salisbury was at one time not a little wild. When he came to the India Office he seemed to have realised his responsibility, and proved a good Secretary of State, as things go—at least, an honestly outspoken one. Will Curzon show this capacity? That is to be seen.

My disappointment is that he did not show this capacity, and did not realise the responsibility of his position—he did not know how to govern the Indian Empire. I will not take up more of your time. The crisis has come; the people and the rulers are face to face. The people have for 150 years suffered patiently, and, strange to say, their patience has been made

a taunt as well as viewed as a credit to them. Often I have been taunted with the fact that 300 millions of Indians allow themselves to be governed like slaves by a handful of people. And then it is stated to their credit that they are a law-abiding, civilised, and long-suffering people. But the spell is broken. (Cheers.) The old days have passed, and the Indian of to-day looks at the whole position in quite a different light. New India is becoming reatless, and it is desirable that the Government should at once realise it. I hope that the next Government we have will reconsider the whole position, and will see and understand the changes that have taken place in the condition, knowledge, and intelligence of the Indian people. (Cheers.) I hope that steps will be taken more in conformity with the changes that have taken place, and that things will not be allowed to go on in their present evil way, to the detriment of the Empire itself as well as the suffering of the people. (Loud cheers.)

PART II.

Dadabhai Naoroji's Writings.

ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT OF INDIAN EXPENDITURE.*

Dear Lord Welby,—I beg to place before you and other Members of the Commission a few notes about the scope and importance of its work.

The Reference consists of two parts. The first is:
"To enquire into the Administration and Management
of the Military and Civil Expenditure incurred under the
authority of the Secretary of State for India in Council,
or of the Government of India,"

This enquiry requires to ascertain whether the present system of the Administration and Management of Expenditure, both here and in India, secures sufficiency and efficiency of services, and all other satisfactory results, at an economical and affordable cost; whether there is any peculiar inherent defect, or what Mr. Bright called "fundamental error" in this system; and the necessity or otherwise of every expenditure.

I shall deal with these items as briefly as possible, simply as suggestively and not exhaustively :—

"SUFFICIENCY."—The Duke of Devonshire (then, 1883, Lord Hartington) as Secretary of State for India has said ‡: "There can in my opinion be very little doubt that India is insufficiently governed."

Sir William Hunter has said § : " The constant de-

Submitted by Mr. Naoroji to the Welby Commission, October 1895.

[†] Speech in House of Commons, 3/6/1853. † 1b., 23/8/83.

^{§ &}quot; England's Work in India," p. 131, 1880.

mand for improvement in the general executive will require an increasing amount of administrative labour."

"EFFICIENCY".—It stands to reason that when a country is "insufficiently governed," it cannot be efficiently governed, however competent each servant, high and low, may be. The Duke of Devonshire assumes as much in the words, "if the country is to be better governed." So does Sir William Hunter: "If we are to govern the Indian people efficiently and cheaply." These words will be found in the fuller extracts given further on.

"Economical and Affordable Cost."—The Duke of Devonshire has said *: "The Government of India cannot afford to spend more than they do on the administration of the country, and if the country is to be better governed, that can only be done by the employment of the best and most intelligent of the Natives in the Service."

House of Commons, 23/8/1883.

^{† &}quot; England's Work in India," p. 130.

require an increasing amount of administrative labour. India cannot afford to pay for that labour at the English rates, which are the highest in the world for official service. But she can afford to pay for it at her own Native rates, which are perhaps the lowest in the world for such employment." "You cannot work with imported labour as cheaply as you can with Native labour, and I regard the more extended employment of the Natives not only as an act of justice but as a financial necessity." "The appointment of a few Natives annually to the Covenanted Civil Service will not solve the problem. If we are to govern the Indian people efficiently and cheaply, we must govern them by means of themselves, and pay for the Administration at the market rates of Native labour."*

"ANY INHERENT DEFECT,"-Mr. Bright said+ :- " I must say that it is my belief that if a country be found possessing a most fertile soil and capable of bearing every variety of production, and that notwithstanding the people are in a state of extreme destitution and suffering the chances are there is some fundamental error in the government of that country,"

I take an instance: Suppose a European servant draws a salary of Rs. 1,000 a month. He uses a portion of this for all his wants, of living, comfort, etc., etc. All this consumption by him is at the deprivation of an Indian who would and could, under right and natural circumstances, occupy that position and enjoy that provision. This is the first partial loss to India, as, at least, the services enjoyed by the Europeans are rendered by Indians

^{* &}quot; England's Work in India," pp. 118-19 † House of Commons, 3/6/1853.

as they would have rendered to any Indian occupying the position. But whatever the European sends to England for his various wants, and whatever savings and pension he ultimately, on his retirement, carries away with him, is a complete drain out of the country, crippling her whole material condition and her capacity to meet all her wants—a dead loss of wealth together with the loss of work and wisdom—i. e., the accumulated experience of his service-Besides, all State expenditure in this country is a dead loss to India.

This peculiar inherent evil or fundamental error in the present British Indian administration and management of expenditure and its consequences have been fortold more than a bundred years ago by Sir John Shore (1787):

"Whatever allowance we make for the increased industry of the subjects of the State, owing to the enhanced demand for the produce of it (supposing the demand to be enhanced), there is reason to conclude that the benefits are more than counterbalanced by evils inseparable from the system of a remote foreign dominion." *

And it is significantly remarkable that the same inherent evil in the present system of administration and management of expenditure has been, after nearly a hundred years, confirmed by a Secretary of State for India. Lord Randolph Churchill has said in a letter to the Treasury (1886) †:

"The position of India in relation to taxation and the sources of public revenue is very peculiar, not merely from the habits of the people and their strong aversion to change, which is more specially exhibited to new forms of taxation, but likewise from the character of the government, which is in the hands of foreigners who hold all the principle administrative offices and form so large a part of the Army. The impatience of the new taxation which will have to be borne wholly as a consequence of the foreign rule imposed on the country, and virtually to meet additions to charges

Parliamentary Return 377 of 1812. Minute, para 132.

[†] Par. Return [c.4868], 1886.

arising outside of the country, would constitute a political danger the real magnitude of which it is to be feared is not at all appreciated by persons who have no knowledge of or concern in the government of India, but which those responsible for that government have long regarded as of the most serious order."

Lord Salisbury, as Secretary of State for India, put the same inherent evil in this manner: "The injury is exaggerated in the case of India, where so much of the revenue is exported without a direct equivalent." And he indicates the character of the present system of the administration and management of expenditure as being that "India must be bled."* I need not say more upon this aspect of the inherent evil of the present system of expenditure.

"THE NECESSITY OR OTHERWISE" of any expenditure is a necessary preliminary for its proper administration and management, so as to secure all I have indicated above. You incidentally instanced at the last meeting that all expenditure for the collection of revenue will have to be considered—and so, in fact, every expenditure in both countries will have its administration, management and necessity, to be considered.

The second part of the Reference is "The apportionment of charge between the Governments of the United Kingdom and of India for purposes in which both are interested."

What we shall have to do is, first to ascertain all the purposes in which both countries are interested by examining every charge in them, and how far each of them is respectively interested therein.

In my opinion there are some charges in which the

Par. Return [c. 3086-1], 1881, p. 144. Minute, 29/4/75.

United Kingdom is almost wholly or wholly interested. But any such cases will be dealt with as they arise.

After ascertaining such purposes and the extent of the interest of each country the next thing to do would be to ascertain the comparative capacity of each country, so as to fix the right apportionment according to such extent of interest and such capacity.

I shall just state here what has been already admitted to be the comparative capacity by high authorities. Lord Cromer (then Major Baring), as the Finance Minister of India, has said in his speech on the Budget (1882): "In England, the average income per head of population was £33; in France, it was £23; in Turkey, which was the poorest country in Europe, it was £4 per head." I may add here that Mulhall gives for Russia above £9 per head. About India, Lord Cromer says: "It has been calculated that the average income per head of population in India is not more than Rs. 27 a year; and though I am not prepared to pledge myself to the absolute accuracy of a calculation of this sort, it is sufficiently accurate to justify the conclusion that the taxpaying community is exceedingly poor. To derive any very large increase of revenue from so poor a population as this is obviously impossible, and, if it were possible, would be unjustifiable." "But he thought it was quite sufficient to show the extreme poverty of the mass of the people." I think the principles of the calculation for India and the other countries are somewhat different; but that, if necessary, would be considered at the right time. For such large purposes with which the Commission has to deal these figures might be considered enough for guidance. I then asked Lord Cromer to give me the details of his calculations, as my calculations, which, I

think, were the very first of their kind for India, had made out only Rs. 20 per head per annum. Though Rs. 27 or Rs. 20 can make but very small difference in the conclusion of "extreme poverty of the mass of the people," still to those "extremely poor" people whose average is so small, and even that average cannot be available to every individual of them, the difference of so much as Rs. 7, or nearly 33 per cent., is a matter of much concern. Lord Cromer himself says: "He would ask honourable members to think what Rs. 27 per annum was to support a person, and then he would ask whether a few annas was nothing to such poor people."

Unfortunately, Lord Cromer refused to give me his calculations. These calculations were, I am informed, prepared by Sir David Barbour, and the results embodied in a Note. I think the Commission ought to have this Note and details of calculations, and also similar calculations, say for the last five years or longer, to the latest day practicable. This will enable the Commission to form a definite opinion of the comparative capacity, as well as of any progress or otherwise in the condition of the people, and the average annual production of the country.

The only one other authority on the point of capacity which I would now give is that of Sir Henry Fowler as Secretary of State for India. He said*: "Now, as to the revenue, I think the figures are very instructive. Whereas in England the taxation is £2 11s. 8d. per head; in Scotland, £2 8s. 1d. per head; and in Ireland, £1 12s. 5d. per head; the Budget which I shall present to-morrow will show that the taxation per head in India is something like 2s. 6d., or one-twentieth the taxation of the United King-

Budget Debate, 15/8/94.

dom and one-thirteenth of that of Ireland." And that this very small capacity of 2s. 6d. per head is most burdensome and oppressive is admitted on all bands, and the authorities are at their wits' ends what to do to squeeze out more. So far back as 1870* Mr. Gladstone admitted about India as a country, "too much burdened," and in 1893, the said: " The expenditure of India and especially the Military expenditure is alarming."

Sir David Barbour said: "The financial position of the Government of India at the present moment is such as to give cause for apprehension." "The prospects of the future are disheartening."§

Lord Landsdowne, as Viceroy, said | : " We should be driven to lay before the Council so discouraging an account of our Finances, and to add the admission, that, for the present, it is beyond our power to describe the means by which we can hope to extricate ourselves from the difficulties and embarrassments which surround us." " My hon, friend is, I am afraid, but too well justified in regarding our position with grave apprehension." "We have to consider not so much the years which are past and gone as those which are immediately ahead of us, and if we look forward to these, there can be no doubt that we have cause for serious alarm." ¶

"Many such confessions can be quoted. And now when India is groaning under such intolerable heavy expenditure, and for the relief of which, indeed, this very Royal

Hansard, vol. 201, p. 521, 10/5/1870.
 Hansard, vol. 14, p. 622, 30 6/1893.

t Par. Return 207, of 1893, Financial Statement, 23/3,93. § 16., para, 28,

Par. Return 207, of 1893, Financial Statement, 23/3/93. T Par. Return 207, of 1893, p. 110. Financial Statement,

Commission has come into existence, the utmost that can be squeez-d out of it to meet such expenditure is 2s. 6d. per head. Thus, by the statement of Sir H. Fowler as Secretary of State for India, the relative capacity of poor India at the utmost pressure is only one-twentieth of the capacity of the prosperous and wealthy United Kingdom, But there is still something worse. When the actual pressure of both taxations as compared, with the respective means of the two countries is considered, it will be found that the pressure of taxation on "extremely poor" India is much more heavy and oppressive than that on the most wealthy country of England.

Even admitting for the present the overestimate of Lord Cromer of Rs. 27 income, and the underestimate of Sir H. Fowler about 2s. 6d., revenue raised, the pressure of percentage of the Indian Revenue, as compared with India's means of paying, is even then slightly higher than that of the United Kingdom. But if my estimates of means and revenue be found correct, the Indian pressure or percentage will be found to be fifty or more per cent, heavier than that on the United Kingdom.

You have noticed a similar fallacy of regarding a smaller amount to be necessarily a lighter tax in the Irish Royal Commission.

"2613.* You went on to make rather a striking comparison between the weight of taxation in Ireland and Great Britain, and I think you took the years 1841 to 1881, In answer to Mr. Sexton, taking it head by head, the incidence of taxation was comparatively very light I may say in 1841, and very heavy comparatively in 1881?—Yes.

Par. Return [c. 7720-1], 1895. Lord Welby.

"2614. I would ask you does not that want some qualification. If you take alone without qualification the incidence of taxation upon people, leaving out of view entirely the fact whether the people have become in the interval poorer or richer, will you not get to a wrong conclusion? Let me give you an instance of what I mean. I will take such a place as the Colony of Victoria. Before the gold discoveries you had there a small, sparse, squatting population, probably very little administered, and paying very few taxes. Probably in such a case you would find out that the incidence of taxation at that time was extremely small?—Yes.

"2615. But take it thirty or forty years later when there was a greater population, and what I am now dwelling upon, an improvement in wealth, you would find out that the incidence of taxation was very much heavier per head; for instance, perhaps 5s. per head at first, and perhaps £2 in the second; but it would be wrong to draw the conclusion from that fact that the individuals were relatively more heavily taxed at the later period than the first. Would it not?"

Similarly, it would be wrong to draw the conclusion that the individuals of England were more heavily taxed than those of India, because the average of the former was £2 11s. 8d. and that of the latter was 2s. 6d. An elephant may carry a ton with ease, but an ant will be crushed by a quarter ounce.

Not only is India more heavily texed than England to supply its expenditure, but there is another additional destructive circumstance against India. The whole British taxation of £2 11s. 8d. per head returns entirely to the people themselves from whom it is raised. But the 2s. 6d.

so oppressively obtained out of the poverty-stricken Indians does not all return to them. No wonder that with such a destructive and unnatural system of "the administration and management of expenditure" millions perish by famine and scores of millions, or-as Lord Lawrence said (1864)-"the mass of the people, enjoy only a scanty subsistence." Again in 1873, before the Select Committee of the House of Commons, Lord Lawrence said: "The mass of the people of India are so miserably poor that they have barely the means of subsistence. It is as much as a man can do to feed his family or half-feed them, let alone spending money on what may be called luxuries or conveniences," present when this evidence was given, and I then noted down these words. I think they are omitted from the published report, I do not know why and by whom. In considering therefore the administration and management of expenditure and the apportionment of charge for common purposes, all circumstances are most vital elements, the importance of the attention to which cannot be over-estimated.

The Times of 2nd July last, in its article on "Indian Affairs," estimates the extent and importance of the work of the Commission as follows:

"Great Britain is anxious to deal fairly with India. If it should appear that India has been saddled with charges which the British taxpayer should have borne, the British taxpayer will not besitate to do his duty. At present we are in the unsatisfactory position which allows of injurious aspersions being made on the justice and good faith of the British nation, without having the means of knowing whether the accusations are true or false. Those accusations have been brought forward in the House of Lords, in the House of Commons, and in a hundred newspapers, pamphlets and memorials in India. Individual experts of equal authority take opposite sides in regard to them. Any curtailment of the scope of the Royal Commission's enquiry which might debar reasonable men from coming to a conclusion on these

questions would be viewed with disappointment in England and with deep dissatisfaction throughout India."

Now, what are the "accusations" and "injurious aspersions" on the justice and good faith of the British nation? Here are some statements by high authorities as to the objects and results of the present system of the administration and management of expenditure of British lodian revenues.

Macaulay pointed out :

"That would indeed be a doting wisdom, which, in order that India might remain a dependency, would make it a useless and costly dependency—which would keep a hundred millions of men from being our customers in order that they might continue to be our slaves."

Lord Salisbury says: "India must be bled."†

Mr. Bright said :

"The cultivators of the soil, the great body of the population of India, are in a condition of great impoverishment, of great dejection, and of great suffering.";

We must in future have fudia governed, not for a handful of Englishmen, not for that Civil Service whose praises are so constantly sounded in this House. You may govern India, if you like, for the good of England, but the good of England must come through the channels of the good of India. There are but two modes of gaining anything by our connexion with India. The one is by plundering the people of India, and the other by trading with them. I prefer to do it by trading with them. But in order that England may become rich by trading with India, India itself must become rich."

Now, as long as the present system is what Mr. Bright characterises by implication as that of plundering, India cannot become rich.

"I say that a Government put over 250,000,000 of people, which has levied taxes till it can levy no more, which spends all that it can levy, and which has borrowed £100,000,000 more than all that it can levy—I say a Government like that has some fatal defect, which, at some not distant time, must bring disaster and

^{*} Hansard, vol. 19, p. 533, 10 7 1833.

Par. Return [c. 3086-1], 1881.

^{*} House of Commons, 14 6 1858.

House of Commons, 24 6, 1858.

humiliation to the Government and to the people on whose behalf it rules."#

Mr. Fawcett said :

"Lord Metcalf had well said that the bane of our system was that the advantages were reaped by one class and the work was done by another."t

Sir George Wingate says with regard to the present system of expenditure:

"Taxes spent in the country from which they are raised are totally different in their effect from taxes raised in one country and spent in another. In the former case the taxes collected from the population . . . are again returned to the industrious classes. . . But the case is wholly different when the taxes are not spent in the country from which they are raised. . . They constitute. . . . an absolute loss and extinction of the whole amount withdrawn from the taxed country . . . might as well be thrown into the sea. . . . Such is the nature of the tribute we have so long exacted from India. . . . I'rom this explanation some faint conception may be formed of the cruel, crushing effect of the tribute upon India." "The Indian tribute, whether weighed in the scales of justice, or viewed in the light of our own interest, will be found to be at variance with humanity, with common sense, and with the received maxims of economic science."

Lord Lawrence, Lord Cromer, Sir Auckland Colvin and others declare the extreme poverty of British India, and that after a hundred years of the administration of expenditure by the most highly-praised and most highlypaid service in the world-by administrators drawn from the same class which serves in England.

Sir John Shore, as already stated, predicted a hundred years ago that under the present system the benefits are more than counterbalanced by its evils.

A Committee of five members § of the Council of the

^{*} Speech in the Manchester Town Hall, 11/12/1877.

[†] Hansard, vol. 191, p. 1841, 5/5/1868. ; "A Few Words on our Financial Relations with India." (London, Richardson Bros., 1859.)

[§] Fir J. P. Willoughby, Mr. Mangles, Mr. Arbuthnot, Mr. Mac-Naughton, Sir E. Perry.

Secretary of State for India said, in 1860, that the British Government was exposed to the charge of keeping promise to the ear and breaking it to the hope; and Lord Lytton said, in 1878, the same, with greater emphasis, in a Minute which it is desirable the Commission should have.

Lord Lytton said †:

"The Act of Parliament is so undefined, and indefinite obligations on the part of the Government of India towards its Native subjects are so obviously dangerous, that no sooner was the Act passed than the Government began to devise means for practically evading the fulfilment of it. Under the terms of the Act, which are atudied and laid to heart by that increasing class of educated Natives whose development the Government encourages without being able to satisfy the aspirations of its existing members, every auch Native, if once admitted to Government employment in posts previously reserved to the covenanted service, is entitled to expect and claim appointment in the fair course of promotin to the highest post in that service. We all know that these claims and expectations never can or will be fulfilled. We have had to choose between prohibiting them and cheating them, and we have chosen the least straightforward course. The application to Natives of the competitive examination system—as conducted in England-and the recent reduction in the age at which candidates can compete are also many deliberate and transparent subterfuges for stultifying the Act, and reducing it to a dead letter. Since I am writing confidentially, I do not hesitate to say that both the Governments of England and of India appear to me, up to the present moment, unable to answer satisfactorily the charge of having taken every means in their power of breaking to the heart the words of promise they had uttered to the ear."

The Duke of Argyll said;

"I must say that we have not fulfilled our duty or the promises and engagements which we have made."

When Lord Northbrook pleaded (1883) the Act of Parliament of 1833, the Court of Directors' explanatory despatch and the great and solemn Proclamation of 1858,

^{*} Report of the first Indian National Congress, p. 30.

[†] I believe this to be in a Minute 30.5/1878 (2) to which the Government of India's Despatch of 2,5/1878 refers. Par. Return [C, 2376, 1870, p. 15].

[.] Speech in House of Lords, 11/3/1869.

[§] Hansard, vol. 277, p. 1792, 9, 4, 1883.

Lord Salisbury in reply said: "My lords, I do not see what is the use of all this political hypocrisy."*

The Act for which Macaulay said: "I must say that to the last day of my life I shall be proud of having been one of those who assisted in the framing of the Bill which contains that clause;" the clause which he called "that wise, that benevolent, that noble clause," and which Lord Lansdowne supported in a noble speech as involving "the happiness or misery of 100,000,000 of human beings," and as "confident that the strength of the Government would be increased;" and the great and most solemn proclamation of the Sovereign on behalf of the British nation are, according to Lord Salisbury, "political hypocrisy!" Can there be a more serious and injurious aspersion on the justice and good faith of the British nation?

The Duke of Devonshire pointed out that it would not be wise to tell a patriotic Native that the Indians shall never have any chance "except by their getting rid in the first instance of their European rulers."

From the beginning of British connexion with India up to the present day India has been made to pay for every possible kind of expenditure for the acquisition and maintenance of British rule, and Britain has never contributed her fair share (except a small portion on few rare occasions, such as the last Afghan War) for all the great benefits it has always derived from all such expenditure and "bleeding" or "slaving" of India. And so this is a part of the important mission of this Commission, to justly apportion charge for purposes in which both countries are interested.

^{*} Ib., p. 1798.

[†] House of Commons, 23/8/1883.

Such are some of the "accusations" and "injurious aspersions being made on the justice and good faith of the British nation," while truly "Great Britain is anxious to deal fairly with India." Justly does the Times conclude that "any curtailment of the scope of the Royal Commission's enquiry which might debar reasonable men from coming to a conclusion on these questions would be viewed with disappointment in England and with deep dissatisfaction throughout India."

The Times is further justified when Sir Henry Fowler himself complained of "a very strong indictment of the British government of India" having been "hrought before the House and the country." And it is this indictment which has led to the enquiry.

On the 10th of this month the Times, in a leader on the conduct of the Transvaal with regard to trade and franchise, ends in these words: "A man may suffer the restriction of his liberty with patience for the advancement of his material prosperity. He may sacrifice material prosperity for the sake of a liberty which he holds more valuable. When his public rights and his private interests are alike attacked the restraining influences on which the peace of civilised societies depends are dangerously weakened."

So, when the Indian finds that the present administration and management of expenditure sacrifice his material prosperity, that he has no voice is the administration and management of the expenditure of his country, and that every burden is put upon his head alone—when thus both "his public rights and private interests are alike

^{*} House of Commons, 15,8/1894.

attacked the restraining influences on which the peace of civilised societies depends are dangerously weakened."

Sir Louis Mallet ends his Minute of 3rd February, 1875, on Indian Land Revenue with words which deserve attention as particularly applicable to the administration, management, and necessity of Indian expenditure.* He says:

By a perpetual interference with the operation of laws which our own rule in India has set in motion, and which I venture to think are essential to success—by a constant habit of palliating symptoms instead of grappling with disease—may we not be leaving to those who come after a task so aggravated by our neglect or timidity that what is difficult for us may be impossible for them?

I understand that every witness that comes before the Commission will not be considered as of any party, or to support this or that side, but as a witness of the Commission coming for the simple object of helping the Commission in finding out the actual whole truth of every question under consideration.

I shall esteem it a favour if, at the next meeting, you will be so good as to place this letter before the Commission. I may mention that I am sending a copy to every member of the Commission, in order that they may be made acquainted beforehand with its contents.

Yours truly,

DADABHAI NAOROJI.

Par. Return [c. 3086-1], 1881, p. 135.

II.

Dear Lord Welby,—I now submit to the Commission a further representation* upon the most important test of the present "Administration and Management of Expenditure," viz., its results.

Kindly oblige me by laying it before the Commission at the next meeting. I shall send a copy of it to every member of the Commission. As the reference to the Commission embraces a number of most vital questions—vital both to England and India—I am obliged to submit my representation in parts. When I have finished I shall be willing, if the Commission think it necessary, to appear as a witness to be cross-examined upon my representations. If the Commission think that I should be examined on each of my representations separately, I shall be willing to be examined.

In the Act of 1858 (see. LIII) Parliament provided that among other information for its guidance the Indian authorities should lay before it every year "A Statement prepared from detailed Reports from each Presidency and District in India, in such form as shall best exhibit the Moral and Material Progress and Condition of India in each such Presidency." Thereupon such Reports were ordered by the Government of India to be prepared by the Government of each Presidency.

As a beginning the Reports were naturally imperfect in details. In 1862, the Government of India observed: "There is a mass of statistics in the Administration Reports of the various Local Governments.... but they are not compiled on any uniform plan so as to show

^{*} Submitted to the Welby Commission on 9th January 1896.

the statistics of the Empire" (Fin. Con., June, '62). The Statistical Committee, which the Government of India had organised for the purpose, prepared certain Forms of Tables, and after receiving reports on those forms from the different Governments made a Report to the Government of India, with revised Forms of Tables (Office Memorandum, Financial Department, No. 1,043, dated 28/2/66). Themembers of this Committee were Mr. A. Grote, president, and Messrs, G. Campbell, D. Cowie, and G. Smith.

I confine myself in this statement to the tables concerning only the material condition of India, or what are called "Production and Distribution."

The following are the tables prescribed :-

PRODUCTION AND DISTRIBUTION.

FORM D .- AGRICULTURE.

Under a former Section provision is made for informationregarding soils so far as nature is concerned, and we have now to do with what the soil produces, and with all that is necessary to till the soil, all of which is embraced under the heads—Crop, Stock, Rent, and Production.

Сво	78 C	ULI	IV4TED	IN	Ace	LES,	∆ C T U	JAL (DR A	PPR	XIM	ATE.	—l.
Name of Dis- trict	Rice	Wheat	Other Food Grains	Oil Seeds	Sugar	Cotton	Opium	Indigo	Fibres	Tobacco	Tea	Coffee	Vegetables, &c., &c.
Tota	l											**********	

AT.	District		,	_	A 00	District	A	District	1	Total	District	1	300
General	Rios			P.	General Average		General Average	Rice		E	Cows and		ō
		١	4	2,		Wheat			.		Buffaloes		
	Wheat	Price of		Produce		Inferior Food Grain	Average	Wheat	RATES OF RES		Horses		Þ
		2,	į	Š		Indigo		Inferior	2				D _A
	Linsead	7	9			-	3	Grains	2 Q		Ponies		BH.
		<u>a</u>				Cotton	du		ᇴ			60	=
	Jute	Produce per	ם נ	FORM		Opium	Produce of	Indigo	RENT per A		Donkeys	STOCK	N AO
	0 446			٠ ـ		Oil Seeds	Land	Cotton	Acre for		Sheep and	X.	DADABHAI NAOROJI'S
	Cotton	maund				Fibres	Per	Opium	PRODUCE r Land sui		Goats	į.	
		of of		? -		i _	Acre		a g		Pige	1	Z.
	Sugar	8	į	3		Bugar	3	Oil Seeds			* 'Be		WRITINGS.
		80 lbs.	•	2,		Tobacco	bg.	Fibres	suited for		Carts		ã
	Balt			ř		Tea.	1		7		Ploughs		
	}		900	•	1			Sugar			t make		
	હેલા, હેલા	1		₹	1	Coffee,	1	Tubacco			Boats	1	

Prices-continued.	Labour.—2,				
68 ch	Wages per diem.	۳6			
Plough Bullocks each Sheep each Fish per seer Iron per maund,	District Skilled Unskilled	Cart per day Camel per day Donkeys per score per day Roat per ditto			
	General average				

NOTE.—The general character of the staple of the district should be stated as "Cotton, Indigenous," "Cotton, New Orleans," "Sugar, Raw," "Sugar, Refined," "Salt, Rock," "Salt, Samber Lake," and so on.

FORM F.
MINES AND QUARRIES.

_	~	Pa		6	
	Where Situate	Mineral Produce	Number Mines	Vunual Produce	Semarks
_	*				

Number of Mills and Manufactories... Private Looms or Small Works

Number of Workmen in Large Works:

Independent Artizans

Value of block in ditto ...

Large Works ...

Number of Workmen in Small Works or

Estimated Annual Outturn of all Works ...

Number of European Superintendents

...

...

•••

Total ...

Female... Male

It will be seen from these tables that they are sufficient for calculating the total "production" of any province, with such additions for sundry other produce as may be necessary, with sufficient approximacy to accuracy, to supply the information which Parliament wants to know about the progress or deterioration of the material condition of India.

Sir David Barbour said, in reply to a question put by Sir James Peile:—

"2283. It does not by any means follow that people are starving because they are poor?—Not in the least. You must recollect that the cost of the necessaries of life is very much less in India than it is in England."

Now, the question is, whether, even with this "very much less cost" of the necessaries and wants of life, these necessaries and wants of life even to an absolute amount, few as they are, are supplied by the "production of the year." Sir D. Barbour and others that speak on this point have not given any proof that even these cheap and few wants are supplied, with also a fair reserve for bad seasons. It is inexplicable why the Statistical Committee failed to prescribe the tables for the necessary consumption-or, as the heading of Form D. called "Distribution"-if they really meant to give Parliament such full information as to enable it to judge whether "the mass of the people," as Lord Lawrence said, "lived on scanty subsistence" or not. The Statistical Committee has thus missed to ask this other necessary information, viz., the wants of a common labourer to keep himself and his family in ordinary, healthy working condition-in food, clothing, shelter, and other necessary ordinary social wants. It is by the comparison of what is produced and what is needed by the people even for the absolute necessaries of life (leave alone any luxuries) that anything like a fair idea of the condition of the people can be formed. In my first letter to the Secretary of State for India, of 24th May, 1880, I have worked out as an illustration all the necessary tables both for "production" and "distribution," i.e., absolute necessaries of life of a common labourer in Punjab.

If the demands of Parliament are to be loyally supplied (which, unfortunately, is almost invariably not the attitude of Indian authorities in matters concerning the welfare of the Indians and honour of the British name depending thereon) there is no reason whatever why the information required is not fully furnished by every province. They have all the necessary materials for these tables, and they can easily supply the tables both for "production" and "distribution" or necessary consumption, at the prices of the year of all necessary wants. Then the Statistical Department ought to work up the average per head per annum for the whole of India of both "production" and "distribution." Unless such information is supplied, it is idle and useless to endeayour to persuade the Commission that the material condition of the people of British India is improving. It was said in the letter of the Secretary of State for India to me of 9th August, 1880, that in Bengal means did not exist of supplying the information I desired. Now that may have been the case in 1880, but it is not so now; and I cannot understand why the Bengal Government does not give the tables of production at all in its Administration Report. The only table, and that the most important one, for which it was said they had not the means, and which was not given in the Administration Report, is given in detail in the "Statistical Abstract of British India for 1893-4" (Parl. Ret. [C. 7,887] 1895), pp. 141-2.

No. 73.—Crops Under Cultivation in 1893-4 (p. 141). Administration—Bengal.

ACRES.

Rice.		Other Food Grains (in- cluding Pulses).		Sugar Cane.	Coffee,	
38,200,300	1,620,200	11,636,000	3,130,900	1,083,400		

ACRES-continued.

Tea.	Cotton.	Jute.	Other Fibres.	Oil Seeds.	Indigo.	
110,800	201,280	2,228,200	207,100	3,253,000	614,200	

ACRES -continued.

Tobacco.	Cinchons.	Miscel- laneous.	Total area under crops.	Deduct area cropped more than once.	Actual area on which crops were grown.	
730,500	2,900	424,900	64,444,200	10,456,900	53,987,300	

Then, at page 142, there is also given total area under crops—of area under irrigation—64,444,200 acres. Certainly, if they can know the total area, they can ascertain the average of some of the principal crops. Then as to the crops peracre of some of the principal produce, they can have

no difficulty in ascertaining, and the prices are all regularly published of principal articles of food. There can be no difficulty in obtaining the prices of all principal produce. The whole matter is too important to be sulightly treated. The extreme importance of this information can be seen from the fact that Parliament has demanded it by an Act, and that Sir Henry Fowler himself made a special and earnest challenge about the condition of the people. He said in his speech on 15th August, 1894, when he promised the Select Committee:—

"The question I wish to consider is whether that Government, with all its machinery as now existing in India, has or has not promoted the general prosperity of the people in its charge; and whether India is better or worse off by being a Province of the British Crows."

And this is the question to which an answer has to be given by this Commission-whether the present administration and management of the Military and Civil Expenditure incurred in both countries, " has or has not," as one of its results, " promoted the general prosperity of the people" of British India. Or is, or is not, the result of this administration and management of expenditure "ecanty subsistence" for the mass of the people as admitted by Lord Lawrence, and "extreme proverty" as stated by Lord Cromer, Sir Auckland Colvin, and Sir David Barbour among the latest Finance Ministers-a poverty compared with which even the most oppressed and misgoverned Russia is prosperity itself, the income of which is given by Mulhall as above £9 per head per annum, which Lord Cromer gives the income of British India as "not more than Rs. 27 per head per annum," and I calculate it as not more than Rs. 20 per head per annum. Even this wretched income, insufficient as it is,

is not all enjoyed by the people, but a portion never returns to them, thereby continuously though gradually diminishing their individual capacity for production. Surely, there cannot be a more important issue before the Commission as to the results of the administration and management of expenditure, as much or even more for the sake of Britain itself than for that of India.

Before proceeding further on the subject of these statistics it is important to consider the matter of the few wants of the Indian in an important aspect. Is the few wants a reason that the people should not prosper, should not have better human wants and better human enjoyments? Is that a reason that they ought not to produce as much wealth as the British are producing here? Once the Britons were wandering in the forests of this country. and their wants were few; had they remained so for ever what would Britain have been to-day? Has not British wealth grown a hundred times, as Macaulay has said? And is it not a great condemnation of the present British administration of Indian expenditure that the people of India cannot make any wealth-worse than that, they must die off by millions, and be underfed by scores of millions, produce a wretched produce, and of that even somebody else must deprive them of a portion!

The British first take away their means, incapacitate them from producing more, compel them to reduce their wants to the wretched means that are left to them, and then turn round upon them and, adding insult to injury, tell them: "See, you have few wants; you must remain poor and of few wants. Have your pound of rice—or, more generously, we would allow you two pounds of rice—ecanty clothing and shelter. It is we who must have and

would have great human wants and human enjoyments. and you must slave and drudge for us like mere animals. as our beasts of burden." Is it that the mass of the Indians have no right or business to have any advancement in civilisation, in life and life's enjoyments, physical, moral, mental and social? Must they always live to the brute's level-must have no social expenses-is that all extravagance, stupidity, want of intelligence, and what not? Is it seriously held, in the words of Lord Salisbury; "They (the Natives of India) know perfectly well that they are governed by a superior race" (Hansard, vol. 277.9/4/83, page 1,798), and that that superior race should be the masters, and the Indians the slaves and beasts of burden? Why the British-Indian authorities and Anglo-Indians generally (of course with honourable and wise exceptions) do every mortal thing to disillusion the Indians of the idea of any superiority by open violation and dishonour of the most solemn-pledges, by subtle bleeding of the country, and by obstructing at every point any step desired by the British people for the welfare of the Indians. I do hope, as I do believe, that both the conscience and the aspiration of the British people, their mission and charge, which it is often said Providence has placed in their hands, are to raise the Indians to their own level of civilisation and prosperity, and not to degrade themselves to the lowness of Oriental despotism and the Indians to mere heluts.

I may here again point out some defects in these statistics so as to make them as accurate as they can possibly be made, in supplying the Commission with the necessary information. It is surprising that Indian highly-paid civilians should not understand the simple arith-

metic of averages; and that they should not correct the mistake even after the Secretary of State for India forwarded my letter pointing out the mistake.

The mistake is this. Supposing the price of rice in one district is Re. 1 per maund, and in another district Rs. 3 per maund, then the average is taken by simply adding 3 and 1 and dividing by 2, making it to be Rs. 2 per maund, forgetting altogether to take into account the quantities sold at Rs. 3 and Re. 1 respectively. Supposing the quantity sold at Re. 1 per maund is 1,000,000 maunds and that sold at Rs. 3 is only 50,000 maunds, then the correct average will be:—

Maunds. Rs. Rs. 1,000,000 × 1=1,000,000 50,000 × 3= 150,000

Total ... 1,050,000 1,150,000

which will give Re. 1 1 an. 6 pies per maund, instead of the incorrect Rs. 2 per maund, as is made out by simply adding 1 and 3 and dividing by 2.

In my "Poverty of India" I have given an actual illustration (supra pp. 3-4). The average price of rice in the Administration Report of the Central Provinces for 1867-8 was made out to be, by the wrong method, Rs. 2 12 an. 7 pies, while the correct price was only Rs. 18 an. Also the correct average of produce was actually 759lbs. per acre, when it was incorrectly made out to be 579lbs. per acre. Certainly there is no excuse for such arithmetical mistakes in information required by Parliament for the most important purpose of ascertaining the result of the British Administration of the expenditure of a vast country.

In the same way averages are taken of wages without considering how many earn the different wages of $1\frac{1}{2}$, 2, 3 or more annas per day and for how many days in the year.

In the Irish Commission you yourself and the Chairman have noticed this fallacy.

Witness, Dr. T. W. GRIMSHAW.

Question 2925. (Lord Welby): Do you take a mean price?—I take a mean price between highest and lowest.

2926. (Chairman): An arithmetical mean price without reference to the quantities?—Yes.

2927. (Lord Welby): For instance, supposing for nine months there had been a low price, and the remaining three a high price, the mean would hardly represent a real mean, would it?—You are correct in a certain sense.

TRADE.—Totals are taken of both imports and exports together and any increase in these totals is pointed out as proof of a flourishing trade and increasing benefit when in reality it is no such thing, but quite the reverse altogether. I shall explain what I mean.

Suppose a merchant sends out goods to a foreign country which have cost him £1,000. He naturally expects to get back the £1,000 and some profit, say 15 per cent.; i. e., he expects to receive back £1,150. This will be all right; and suppose he sends out more, say £2,000 worth, the next year and gets back his £2,300, then it is really an increasing and profitable trade. But suppose a merchant sent out goods worth £1,000 and gets back £800 instead of £1,150 or anything above £1,000; and again the second year he sent £2,000 worth and got back £1,600. To say that such a trade is a flourishing or profitable trade is simply abourd. To say that because the total of the exports and imports of the first year was £1,800, and the total of the exports and imports in the second year was £3,600, that therefore it was a cause for rejoicing, when

in reality it is simply a straight way to bankruptcy with a loss of £200 the first year, and £400 the second year (leaving alone profits), and so on. Such is the condition of British India. Instead of getting back its exports with some profit, it does not get back even equal to the exports themselves, but a great deal less every year. Why then, it may be asked, does India not go into bankruptcy as any merchant would inevitably go? And the reason is very simple. The ordinary merchant has no power to put his hand in other persons' pockets, and make up his losses. But the despotic Government of India, on the one hand, goes on inflicting on India unceasing losses and drain by its unnatural administration and management of expenditure, and, on the other hand, has the power of putting its hands unhindered into the pockets of the poor taxpayer and make its account square.

While the real and principal cause of the sufferings and poverty of India is the deprivation and drain of its resources by foreigners by the present system of expenditure, the Auglo-Indians generally, instead of manfully looking this evil in the face, ignore it and endeavour to find all sorts of other excuses. It is very necessary that the Commission should have the opportunity of fairly considering those excuses. Now, one way I can deal with them would be for myself to lay them down as I understand them; or, which is far better, I should deal with them as they are actually put forth by some high Anglo-Indian official. As I am in a position to do so, I adopt the second course. A high official of the position of an Under-Secretary of State for India and Governor of Madras, Sir Grant Duff, has already focussed all the official reasons in two papers he contributed to the Con-

temporary Review, and I have answered them in the same Review in 1887. I cannot therefore do better than to embody my reply here, omitting from it all personal remarks or others irrelevant to the present purpose. In connexion with my reply, I may explain here that it is because I have taken in it £1 == Rs. 10 that the incidence of taxation is set down as 6s. per head per annum, while Sir H. Fowler's estimate is only 2s, 6d, per head at the present depressed exchange and excluding revenue. Sir H. Fowler excluden land revenue incidence as if land revenue, by being called "rent," rained from heaven, and was not raised as much from the production of the country as any other part of the revenue. The fact of the matter is that in British India as in every other country, a certain portion of the production of the country is taken by the State, under a variety of names-land tax or rent, salt revenue, excise, opium, stanips, customs, assessed taxes, post office surplus, law and justice surplus, etc., etc. In some shape or other so much is taken from the production, and which forms the incidence of taxation. The evil which India suffers from is not in what is raised or taken from the "production" and what India, under natural administration, would be able to give two or three times over, but it is in the manner in which that revenue is spent under the present unnatural administration and management of expenditure whereby there is an unceasing "bleeding" of the country.

My reply to Sir Grant Duff was made in 1887. This brings some of the figures to a later date than my correspondence with the Secretary of State for India. Single-handed I have not the time to work out figures to date,

but I shall add afterwards some figures which I have already worked out for later than 1887. I give below my reply to Sir Grant Duff as I have already indicated above.

All the subjects treated in the following extracts are the direct consequences of the present system of "the administration and management of expenditure in both countries." It is from this point of view that 1 give these extracts. (See my reply, in August and November, 1887, to Sir Grant Duff, supra, pp. 231-272.)

I give below some of the latest figures I already have to compare the results of the administration of expenditure in India with those of other parts of the British Empire.

TEN YEARS (1883-1892).

Countries.	eluding Gold		Excess of Im- Per- ports over cent- Exports. age of Trade
	£	£	£ Profits

United Kingdom...4,247,954,247 3,203,603,246 1,044,351,001 32 (Par. Ret. [C. 7,143] 1893.

Australasia ... 643,462,379 582,264,839 61,197,540 10:5*
North American

Colonies ... 254,963,473 205,063,294 49,900,179 24:4 Straits Settlements 204,613,643 181,781,667 22,831,976 12:5 (Par. Ret. [C.7,144] 1893.)

Australasia is a large gold and silver exporting country. Profits on this are a very small percentage. The profits on other produce or merchandise will be larger than 10.5 per cent., and it should also be borne in mind that Australasia, like India, is a borrowing country, and a portion of its exports, like that of India, goes for the payment of interest on foreign loans. Still, it not only pays all that interest from the profits of trade, but secures for itself also a balance of 10.5 per cent. profits, while India must not only lose all its profits of trade but also Rx. 170.000,000 of its swn produce. Were India not "bleeding" politically it would also be in a similar condition of paying for its loans and securing something for itself out of the trade profits.

CAPE OF GOOD HOPE AND NATAL. I cannot give figured as the gold brought into the Colonies from Transval is not included in the imports; while exports include gold and silver.

NATAL. In this also goods in transit are not included in imports, although included in exports.

BRITISH INDIA. Far from any excess of imports or trade profits, there is, as will be seen further on, actually a large deficit in imports (Rx. 774,099,570) from the actual exports (Rx. 944,279,318). Deficit from its own produce (Rx. 170,179,748)—18 per cent.

INDIA.

Particulars of the Trade of India and the losses of the Indian people of British India; or, The Drain,

TEN YEARS (1883-1892). (Return [C. 7,193,] 1893.)

India's total Exports,

including Treasure.

Rz. 944,279,318

" 188,855,863 Add, as in other countries, say 20 per cent.

excess of imports or profits (U.K. is 32 per cent.)

Rx 1,133,135,181 or the amount which the imports should be.

, 774,099,570 only are the actual imports.

Rx. 359,035,611 is the loss of India for which it has not received back a single farthing either in Merchandise or treasure.

Now, the question is what has become of this Rz. 359,000,000 which India ought to have received but has not received.

This amount includes the payment of interest on railway and other public works loans.

Owing to cur impoverishment, our utter helplessness, subjection to a despotism without any voice in the administration of our expenditure, our inability to make any capital, and therefore, forced to submit to be exploited by foreign capital, every farthing of the above amount is a loss and a drain to British India. We have no choice; the whole position is compulsory upon us. It is no simple matter of business to us. It is all simply the result of the despotic administration of expenditure of our resources.

Still, however, let us consider these loans as a matter of business, and see what deduction we should make from the above amount.

The loans for public works during the ten years (Par. Ret. [c. 7193] 1893, p. 298) are: -Rx. 34,350,000 (this is taken as Rs. 10 = £1-p. 130), or £34,350,000. This amount is received by India, and forms a part of its imports.

The interest paid during the ten years in England is £57,700,000. This amount, being paid by India, forms a part of its exports. The account, then, will stand thus:—

India received or imported as loans £34,350,000 in the ten years. India pail or exported as interest £57,700,000, leaving an excess of exports as a business balance £23,350,000, or, say, at average 1s. 4d. per rupee, Rx. 37,360,000.

This export made by India in settlement of public works loans interest account may be deducted from the above unaccounted amount of Rx. 359,000,000, leaving a balance of Rx. 321,640,000 still unreceived by India.

The next item to be considered is public debt (other than for public works). This debt is not a business debt in any possible way. It is simply the political burden put upon India by force for the very acquisition and maintenance of the British rule. It is entirely owing to the evil

administration of expenditure in putting every burden on India. Make an allowance for even this forced tribute.

The public debt of India (excluding public works) incurred during the ten years is £ 16,000,000, (p. 298), of which, say, £8,000,000 has interest to be paid in London. (I do not know how much is raised in India and how much in England. I think I asked the India Office for this, but it is difficult to get definite information from it.) The interest paid in London during the ten years is £28,600,000. This forms part of the exports of India. The £8,000,000 of the debt incurred during the ten years form part of the imports of India, leaving a balance of, say, £21,000,000. On public debt account to be further deducted from the last balance of unaccounted loss of Rx. 321,640,000, taking, £21,000,000 at 1s. 4d. per rupee will give about Rx. 33,000,000, which, deducted from Rx. 321.640,000, will still leave the unaccounted loss or drain of Rx. 288,000,000. I repeat that as far as the economic effect on India of the despotic administration and management of expenditure under the British rule is concerned, the whole amount of Rx. 359,000,000 is a drain from the wretched resources of India.

But to avoid controversy, allowing for all public debt (political and commercial), there is still a clear loss or drain of Rx. 288,000,000 in ten years, with a debt of £210,000,000 hanging round her neck besides.

Rx. 288,000,000 is made up of Rx. 170,000,000 from the very blood or produce of the country itself, and Rx. 118,000,000 from the profits of trade.

It must be also remembered that freight, insurance, and other charges after shipment are not calculated in the exports from India, every farthing of which is taken by Eugland. When these items are added to the exports the actual loss to British India will be much larger than the above calculations. I may also explain that the item of stores is accounted for in the above calculations. The exports include payment for these stores, and imports include the stores. The whole of the above loss and burden of debt has to be borne by only the Indian taxpayers of British India. The Native States and their capitalists, bankers, merchants, or manufacturers, and the European capitalists, merchants, bankers, or manufacturers get back their full profits.

In the above calculation I have taken 20 per cent, as what ought to be the excess of imports under natural circumstances, just as the excess of the United Kingdom is 32 per cent. But suppose I take even 15 per cent. instead of 20 per cent., then the excess of imports would be, say, Rx. 311,000,000 instead of nearly Rx. 359,000,000. From this Rx. 311,000,000, deduct, as above, Rx. 37,000,000 for public works account and Rx. 33,000,000 for political public debt account, there will still be a loss or drain of Rx. 241,000,000 in ten years.

Strictly considered in India's helpless condition, there has been a drain of its wealth to the extent of Rx. 360,000,000 in the ten years.

But, as I have said, to avoid all futile controversy, after allowing fully for all debt, there is still a drain of Rx. 241,000,000 or Rx. 24,000,000 a year during the ten years.

But it must be also remembered that besides the whole of the above drain, either Rx. 359,000,000, or

Rx. 241,000,000, there is also the further loss of all that is consumed in India itself by foreigners so far, to the deprivation and exclusion of the children of British India.

Now, let it be once more understood that there can be no objection to any capitalist, or banker, or merchant, or manufacturer going to India on his own account and making any profits there, if see are also left free to do our best in fair competition, but as long as we are impoverished and made utterly helpless in our economic condition by the forced and unnatural present system of the administration and management of expenditure, the whole profits of foreigners (European or Indian) is British India's irreparable loss.

The moral, therefore, of this phenomenon is that Sir John Shore's prediction of 1787, about the evil effect of foreign domination by the adoption of the present system of the administration and management of expenditure, is amply and deplorably fulfilled. Truly has Macaulay said: "The heaviest of all yokes is the yoke of the strauger." It cannot be otherwise under the existing administration and management of expenditure. What an enormous sum, almost beyond calculation, would British India's loss amount to in the present century (leaving alone the last century of unparalleled corruption, plunder, and oppression by Europeans) when calculated with compound interest! A tremendously "cruel and crushing" and destructive tribute indeed!

With regard to the allegation that the fall in exchange has stimulated exports from India, here are a few figures which tell their own tale:—

 or an increase of about 60 per cent. This is the increase in the 20 years of the fall of exchange.

£18,700,000 Now take 1850, exports. . . £64,690,000 . , 1870, i.e., an increase of nearly 31 times. Was this increase owing to fall in Exchange? There was then no such fall in Exchange. And what good was this increase to India? As shown abore, in ten years only she has been drained to the extent indicated, besides what is eaten in the country by those who are not her children. The increase in trade, excepting that of Native and Frontier States, is not natural and economic for the benefit of the people of British India. It is mostly only the form in which the increasing crushing tribute and the trade-profits and wants of foreigners are provided by the poor people of British India, the masses of whom live on scanty subsistence, and are ill-fed, ill-clothed, and ill-habited hewers of wood and drawers of water for them.

But there is another most important consideration still remaining.

While British India is thus crushed by a heavy tribute which is exacted by the upper classes and which must end in disaster, do the British industrial people, or the great mass, derive such benefit as they ought to derive, with far greater benefit to England itself, besides benefitting India?

Here is this wretched result so far as the producers of British and Irish produce are concerned, or the British trade with India is conferned.

In 1893, all British and Irish produce exported to all India is only £28,800,000 for a population of 285,000,000 or 2s. per head per annum. But a large portion of

this goes to the Native States and frontier territories. British Indian subjects themselves (221,000,000) will be found to take hardly a shilling or fifteen pence worth per head per annum. And this is all that the British people export to British India, If British India were more righteously treated and allowed to prosper, British produce will be exported to British India as much or a great deal more than what the British people are exporting to the whole world. A word to our Lancashire friends, If they would open their eyes to their true interests, and give up squabbling about these wretched cotton duties. they would see that a market of 220,000,000 people of British India, besides the 64,000,000 of the Native States, will require and take (if you take your hand off their throat), more than Lancashire will be able to supply. Look at the wretched Lancashire trade with the poverty. stricken British Indians :-

In 1892-3 India imported yarn £ 2.683,850 Manufactures £22,942,015 = £25,625,865.

for a population of 285,000,000, or about 1s. 9d. per head per annum. But if you deduct Native States and Frontier States, it will possibly be 1s. per head for British India. Why should it not be even £1 or more per head if British India be not "bled"? And Lancashire may have £250,000,000 or more of trade in stead of the wretched £25,000,000. Will Lancashire ever open its eyes and help both itself and India to be prosperous?

ARGUMENT OF POPULATION.

Increase from 1881 to 1891: eq

Population per Increase. Square Mile.

England and Wales . . 11.6 per cent. . 500 British India . . . 9.7 , . . . 230 In 1801, the population of England and Wales (Mulhall's Dictionary, p.444) was 8,893,000, say 9,000,000.

In 1884, the population was 27,000,000 (Parl. Ret. [c. 7,143], 1893), or three times as much as in 1801.

The income of England and Wales (Mul., p. 320) in 1800 was £230,000,000.

In 1884, while the population increased to 27,000,000 or three times that of 1801, the income increased to £976,000,000(Mul., p. 321), or nearly $4\frac{1}{4}$ times that of 1800.

The population of England and Wales (Mul. p. 444) in 1672, was 5,500,000. The income in 1664 (Mul., p., 320) was £42,000,000.

In 1884, (Mul., p. 321), population 27,000,000, increased five times; income £976,000,000, increased more than twenty-three times.

As comparison with earlier times Macaulay said (supra, p. 269): "While our numbers have increased tenfold, our wealth has increased hundredfold."

These facts do not show that increase of population has made England poorer. On the contrary, Macaulay truly says "that the advantages arising from the progress of civilisation have far more than counterbalanced the disadavantages arising from the progress of population."

Why, then, under the administration of the "greatest" and most highly-paid service in the world, derived from the same stock as the administrators of this country, and, as Mr. Bright says, "whose praises are so constantly sounded in this House," is India, after a long period at period, at present the most "extremely poor" country in the world? And yet how can the result be otherwise under the existing administration and management of expenditure, based upon the evil principle that "India

must be bled"? The fault is not of the officials. It is the evil and outrageous system of expenditure, which cannot but produce such pernicious and deplorable results, which, if not remedied in time, must inevitably bring about a retribution the extent and disaster of which can hardly be conceived. Officials over and over again tell us that the resources of India are boundless. All the resources of civilisation have been at their command, and here is this wretched and ignominious result—that while England has gone on increasing in wealth at a greater progress than in population, India at this moment is far poorer than even the misgoverned and oppressed Russia, and poorer even than Turkey in its annual production, as Lord Cromer pointed out in 1882.

I think I need not say anything more upon the first part of our Reference. If I am required to be crossexamined on the representations which I have submitted, I shall then say whatever more may be necessary for me to say.

I have shown, by high authorities and by facts and figures, one result of the existing system of "The administration and management of the Military and Civil Expenditure incurred under the authority of the Secretary of State for India in Council, or of the Government of India "-viz., the most deplorable evil of the extreme poverty of the mass of the people of British India—suicidal and dishonourable to British name and rule, and destructive and degrading to the people of British India, with a "helot system" of administration instead of that of British citizership.

. The following remarks in a leader of the Times of 16th December, 1895, in connexion with the Transvaal,

is, short of compulsory service, applicable with ten times more force to the British rule of British India. The Times says:—

"The time is past even in South Africa when a helot system of administration organised for the exclusive advantage of a privileged minority can long resist the force of enlightened public opinion. If President Kruger really possesses any of those statesmanlike qualities which are sometimes ascribed to him, he will hasten to accept the loyal co-operation of these Ouillanders, who have already done so much and who are auxious to do more for the prosperity and progress of the South African Republic."

I would apply this to British India. The time is past in British India when a "helot system of administration." organised for the exclusive advantage of a privileged minority, and existing to the great dishonour of the British name for a century and a half, can long resist the force of enlightened public opinion, and the dissatisfaction of the people themselves. If the British statesmen of the present day possess those statesmanlike qualities which the statesmen of 1833 showed about India-to "be just and fear not." which the great Proclamation of 1858 proclaimed to the world, and which Sir H. Fawler so lately (3/9/95) described as having "the courage of keeping our word "they will hasten to accept the loyal co-operation of the people of India, with whose blood mainly, and with whose money entirely, has the British Indian Empire been both built up and maintained; from whom Britain has drawn thousands of millions, or untold wealth calculated with interest; who for British righteousness would return the most devoted and patriotic loyalty for their own sake, and whose prosperity and progress, as Lord Roberts said, being indissolubly bound up with those of Britain, would result in largely increasing the prosperity of the British people themselves, in the stability of the British rule and in the

redemption of the honour and good name of Britain from the dishonour of many broken pledges. The deplorable evil result of the present "administration and management of expenditure," in violation of solemn pledges, is so subtle, so artistic, so unobservably "bleeding," to use Lord Salisbury's word, so plausibly masked with the face of beneficence, and being unaccompanied with any open compulsion or violence to person or property which the world can see and be horrified with, that, as the poet says:—

"Those lofty souls have telescopic eyes,
That see the smallest speek of distant pain,
While at their feet a world of agony,
Unseen, unheard, unheeded, writhes in vain."
—Great Thoughts, 31/8/95.

Even a paper like the Pioneer of Allahabad (21/9/'95) which cannot be accused of being opposed to Anglo-Indian views, recognises that India "has also perhaps to undergo the often subtle disadvantages of foreign rule." Yes, it is these "subtle disadvantages of foreign rule" which need to be grappled with and removed, if the connexion between India and England is to be a blessing to both, instead of a curse. This is the great and noble task for our Commission. For, indeed, it would be wise to ponder whether and how far Lord Salisbury's—a statesman's—words at the last Lord Mayor's dinner, apply to British India. He said:—

"That above all treaties and above all combinations of external powers, 'the nature of things' if you please, or 'the providence of God,' if you please to put it so, has determined that persistent and constant misgovernment must lead the Government which follows it to its doom; and while I readily admit that it is quite possible for the Sultan of Turkey, if he will, to govern all his subjects in justice and in peace, he is not exempt, more than any other potentate from the law that injustice will bring the highest on earth to ruis." The administration of expenditure should be based on this principle, as Sir Louis Mallet (c. 3086—1) 1881, p. 142, has said:—

"If India is to be maintained and rendered a permanent portion of the British Empire, this must be accomplished in some other way than by placing our future reliance on the empirical arts of despotism" and not on those low motives of making India as simply an exploiting ground for our "boys" as Sir C. Crossthwaite desired when he had the candour of expressing the motive of British action when speaking about Siam at the Society of Arts (vol. 39-19/2/92-p. 286). All that gentleman cared for was this, "The real question was who was to get the trade with them and how we could make the most of them, so as to find fresh markets for our goods and also employment for those superfluous articles of the present day, our boys" (the italics are mine), as if the whole world was created simply for supplying markets to the one people, and employment to their boys. Still, however, you can have ten times more trade than you have at present with India, far more than you have at present with the whole world, if you act on lines of righteousness, and cast off the second mean motive to enslave other people to give employment to your "boys," which certainly is not the motive of the British people. The short of the whole matter is, that under the present evil and unrighteous administration of Indian expenditure, the romance is the beneficence of the British rule, the reality is the "bleeding" of the British rule. Under a righteous "administration of expenditure," the reality will be the blessing and benefit both to Britain and India, and far more trade between them than we can form any conception of at present.

Yours truly,

DADABHAI NOWROJI.

THE APPORTIONMENT OF CHARGE BET-WEEN THE GOVERNMENTS OF THE UNITED KINGDOM AND OFFINDIA.*

DEAR LORD WELBY,—I now request your favour of laying before the Commission this letter of my views on the second part of the Reference, viz., "The apportionment of charge between the Governments of the United Kingdom and of India for purposes in which both are interested."

The word England, or Britain, is always used by me as embracing the United Kingdom.

I do not know whether there is any portion of the Indian charge (either in this country or in India) in which Britain is not interested. The one chief object of the whole expenditure of Government is to govern India in a way to secure internal law and order and external protection. Now, in both internal law and order and external protection, the interests of Britain are as great or rather greater than That India is protected from lawlessness those of India. and disorder is unquestionably a great boon and benefit to But orderly or disorderly India shall always remain and exist where it is, and will shape its own destiny somehow, well or badly. But without law and order British rule will not be able to keep its existence in India. British rule in India is not even like Russian rule in Russia, However bad and oppressive the latter may be, whatever revolution or Nihilism there may occur, whatever civil wars or secret disasters may take place, the Russians and their Rulers remain all the same in Russia; only that power changes from one hand into another, or from one form into another. Only a few days ago (18th January,

^{*} Submitted to the Welby Commission on 15th February 1896.

1896) the Russian Tear, styling himself "Emperor and Autocrat of all the Russias," issued a Manifesto for his coronation as follows:—

"By the grace of God we, Nicholas II, Emperor and Autocrat of all the Russias, etc., make known to all our faithful subjects that, with the help of the Almighty, we have resolved to place upon ourselves the Crown, in May next, in the Ancient Capital of Moscow, after the example of the pious Mouarchs our forefathers, and to receive the Holy Sacrament according to established usage; uniting with us in this Act our most beloved consort the Empress Alexandra Feodorovna.

"We call upon all our loyal subjects on the forthcoming solemn day of Coronation to share in our joy and to join us in offering up fervent prayers to the Giver of all good that He may pour out upon us the gift of the Holy Spirit, that He may strengthen our Empire, and direct us to the footsteps of our parent of imperishable memory, whose life and labours for the welfare of our beloved fatherland will always remain a bright example.

"Given at St. Petersburg, this first day of January in the year of Our Lord 1896, and the second year of our reign.

"NICHOLAS."

-- The Times, 20th January, 1896.

Now, blood is thicker than water. Notwithstanding all the autocratic oppression that the Russian people may have suffered for all past time, every soul will rise to the call, and rejoice in the joy of the occasion. And, whether the present system of government and power endures or vanishes, the Russian rule—whatever form it takes—will always be Russian, and for the Russians.

Take England itself. It beheaded one king, banished another, turned out its Parliament at the point of the bayonet, had civil wars of various durations, and disasters Whatever was the change, it was English rule for Englishmen. But the British in India is quite a different thing. They are aliens, and any disaster to them there has entirely a different result. In the very first paper that was read before the East India Association of London (2/5/1867) I said:—

"No prophet is required to foretell the ultimate result of a struggle between a discontented two hundred millions and a hundred thousand foreign bayonets. A drop of water is insignificant, but an avalanche may sometimes carry everything before it. The race is not always to the swift. A disaffected nation may fail a hundred times, and may rise again; but one or two reverses to a foreigner cannot but be fatal. Every failure of the Natives, adding more burdens, will make them the more impatient to throw off the foreign yoke."

Can the British Sovereign call upon the Indians as she can call upon the British people, or as the Russian Tear can call upon the Russians, to share in her joy? Yes, on one condition. The people of India must feel that, though the English Sovereign and people are not kindred in birth and blood, they are kindred in sympathetic spirit, and just in dealing; that, though they are the step-mother, they treat the step-children with all the affection of a mother—that the British rule is their own rule. The affection of the Indian people is the only solid foundation upon which an alien rule can stand firm and durable, or it may some day vanish like a dream.

To Britain all the law and order is the very breath of its nostrils in India. With law and order alone can it live in India. Let there arise disorder and violence tomorrow, and what will become of the small number of Europeans, official and non-official, without even any direct battles or military struggle?

If a thoroughly intelligent view of the position of Britain in India is taken the interests of Britain are equally vital, if not far more vital, in the maintenance of good and satisfactory government, and of law and order, than those of India; and, in a just view, all the charge or cost in both countries of such good government and law and order in India should be apportioned between the two countries, according to the importance of respective interests and to

the proportion of the means or capacity of each partner in the benefit.

Certainly, no fair and just-minded Englishman would say that Britain should have all the gain, glory, and every possible benefit of wealth, wisdom, and work of a mighty Empire, and the price or cost of it should be all burdened on the shoulders of India.

The correct judgment upon our second part of the reference will depend upon the fundamental principle upon which the British Administration ought to stand.

- 1. Is British rule for the good of both India and Britain, and a rule of justice and rightecusness? or,
- 2. Is the British rule solely for the benefit of Britain at the destruction of India—or, in other words, the ordinary rule of foreign despotism, "the heaviest of all yokes, the yoke of the stranger" (Macaulay)?

The first is the avowed and deliberate desire and solemn promise and pledge of the British people. The second is the performance by the servants of the British nation—the Indian authorities—in the system of the administration adopted and relentlessly pursued by them.

The present British-Indian system of administration would not take long to degenerate and run into the Russian system and troubles, but for the check and drag of the British public wish, opinion, and voice.

Now, my whole argument in this representation will be based on the first principle—viz., the good of both India and England and justice and righteousness. I would, therefore, dispose of the second in a brief manner—that the second (England's benefit and India's destruction) is not the desire of the British people.

It has been the faith of my life, and it is my faith still, that the British people will do justice to India.

But, however, as unfortunately the system based on the second principle—the system which Lord Salisbury has described as of "bleeding" and "hypocrisy"—exists, it is desirable to remember the wise words of Lord Salisbury himself, uttered not long ago when he said (Lord Mayor's dinner on 9th November last): "'The nature of things' if you please, or 'the providence of God' if you please to put it so, has determined that persistent and constant misgovernment must lead the government which follows it to its doom that injustice will bring the highest on earth to ruin." The Duke of Devonshire has pointed out that the result of the present system would be to make the Indians to come to the conclusion that the Indians shall never have any chance "except by their getting rid in the first instance of their European rulers."

The question is, do the British people desire such a system, to exercise only the right of bruta force for their sole benefit? I for one, and I can say without any hesitation that all the educated and thinking Indians do not believe so. It is their deep faith and conviction that the conscience of the British people towards India is sound, and that if they once fully understood the true position they would sweep away the whole present unrighteous system. The very fact that this Commission is appointed for the first time for such a purpose, viz., to deal out fairly between the two countries an "apportionment of charge for purposes in which both are interested" is sufficient to show the awakening consciousness and desire to do justice and to share fairly the costa as well as the benefits. If further public indication was at all needed the

Times, as I have quoted in my first representation, has put it very clearly: "Great Britain is anxious to deal fairly with India. If it should appear that India has been saddled with charges which the British taxpayer should have borne the British taxpayer will not hesitate to do his duty." I would not, therefore, pursue any further the assumption of the second principle of selfishness and despotism, but continue to base my remarks upon the basis of the first principle of the desire and determination of the British people for justice and righteousness towards India.

I have stated above that the whole cost of administration is vital to the very existence of the British rule in India, and largely essential to the prosperity of the British people. Lord Roberts, with other thoughtful statesmen, has correctly stated the true relation of the two countries more than once. Addressing the London Chamber of Commerce he said: "I rejoice to learn that you recognise how indissolubly the prosperity of the United Kingdom is bound up with the retention of that vast Eastern Empire." (Times 25-5-93.) And again, at Glasgow, he said "that the retention of our Eastern Empire is essential to the greatness and prosperity of the United Kingdom." (Times, 29-7-93.) And further he also clearly points out upon what such an essential retention ultimately depends. Does it depend upon tyranny, injustice, bleeding hypocrisy, "plundering," upon imposing the relations of master and slave upon large, well equipped and efficient armies; on the unreliable props of brute force ? No. He says, " But however efficient and well equipped the army of India may be, were it indeed absolute perfection, and were its numbers considerably more than they are at present, our greatest strength must ever rest on the firm base of a united and

contented India." Sir William Harcourt said in his speech (House of Commons, 3-9-95), "As long as you have the people of India your friends, satisfied with the justice and policy of your rule, your Empire then will be safe."

Professor Wordsworth has said (Bombay Gazette, 3-3-83): "One of the greatest Englishmen of the last generation said that if ever we lost our Indian Empire we should lose it like every other we had lost, or were about to lose, by alienating the affections of the people."

Am I not then justified in asking that it is right and just, in order to acquire and preserve the affections of the people, that the cost of that administration which is essential to your "greatness" and your "prosperity," by which your prosperity is indissolubly bound up with that of India, and upon the secureness and law and order of which depends your very existence in India and as a great Empire, should be fairly shared by the United Kingdom?

Leaving this fair claim to the calm and fair consideration of this Commission and to the sense of justice of the British people, I take a less strict view of the duty of England. It is said that India should make all such payments as she would make for her government and her internal and external protection even if there were no British rule and only its own Native rule. Now, suppose this is admitted, what is the position? Certainly in that case there will be no employment of Europeans, The present forced, inordinate, and arbitrary employment of Europeans in both the civil and military services in both countries is avowedly entirely and solely owing to British rule and for British purposes and British interests—to maintain British supremacy. If there were no British rule there would be no Europeans employed by

the Natives rulers. India accordingly may pay for every Indian employed, but justice demands that the expenditure on Europeans in both countries required for the sole interests of British rule and for British purposes should be paid by the British exchequer. I am not going to discuss here whether even British rule itself needs all the present civil and military European agency. On the contrary, the civil element is their greatest weakness, and will be swept away in the time of trouble from discontent and disaffection; and the military element, without being either efficient or sufficient in such crises, is simply destructive to India, and leading to the very disaster which is intended to be averted or prevented by it. Be this as it may, this much is clear; that the whole European agency, both civil and military, in Eugland and in India, is distinctly avowed and admitted to be for the interests of England. i. e., to protect and maintain her supremacy in India against internal or external dangers. Lord Kimberley has put this matter beyond all doubt or controversy, that the European services are emphatically for the purpose of maintaining British supremacy. He says (dinner to Lord Roberts by the Lord Mayor-Times, 13th June. 1893):-

"There is one point upon which I imagine, whatever may be our party politics in this country, we are all united; that we are resolutely determined to maintain our supremacy over our Indian Empire. That I conceive is a matter about which we have only one opinion, and let me tell you that that supremacy rests upon three distinct bases. One of those bases, and a very important one, is the loyalty and good-will of the Native Princes and population over whom we rule. Next, and not less important, is the maintenance of our Europern Civil Service, upon which rests the foundation of our administration in India. . . Last, not because it is the least, but because I wish to give it the greatest prominence, we rest also upon the magnificent European force which we maintain in that country, and the splendid army of Native auxiliaries by which that force is supported.

Let us firmly and calmly maintain our position in that country:

let us be thoroughly armed as to our frontier defences, and then I believe we may trust to the old vigour of the people of this country, come what may, to support our supremacy in that great Empire."

Now, this is significant: while Lard Kimberley talks all these grand things, of resolute determination, etc., etc., to maintain British supremacy, and for all British purposes, he does not tell at whose cost. Is it at British cost, as it is for British purposes, or even any portion of that cost ? He has not told the British public openly that it is for every farthing at the cost of the Indians, who are thus treated as mere slaves—all the gain, glory and Empire "ours," and all the burden for the Indian helote! Then, as I have already said, the second and third bases-the European civil and military services-are illusory, are only a burden and destruction to India, without being at all a sufficient security in the time of any internal and external trouble, and that especially the civil service is suicidal to the supremacy, and will be the greatest weakness. Then it may also be noticed in passing that Lird Kimberley gives no indication of the navy having anything important to do with, or make any demand on, India.

However, be all this as it may, one thing is made clear by Lord Kimberley, that, as far as Britain is concerned, the only motive which actuates her in the matter of the second and third bases—the European civil and military services—is her own supremacy, and nothing else; that there can be no difference of opinion in Britain why European services in both countries are forced upon India, viz., solely and entirely for British purposes and British interests, for "the resolute determination to maintain our supremacy."

I would be, therefore, asking nothing unreasonable, under the Reference to this Commission, that what is entirely for British purposes must in justice be paid for by the British people, and the Indian people should not be asked to pay anything. I, however, still more modify this position. Notwithstanding that the European services, in their present extent and constitution, are India's greatest evil and cause of all its economic miseries and destruction, and the very badge of the slavery of a foreign domination and tyranny, that India may consider itself under a reasonable arrangement to be indirectly benefited by a certain extent of European agency, and that for such reasonable arrangement India may pay some fair share of the cost of such agency employed in India. As to all the State charges incurred in this country for such agency, it must be remembered that, in addition to their being entirely for British purposes, they are all, every farthing, earned by Europeans, and spent every farthing, in this country. It is a charge forced upon India by sheer tyranny, without any voice or consent of India. No such charge is made upon the Colonies. The Colonial Office building and establishment is all a charge upon the British Exchequer. All charges, therefore, incurred in this · country for the India Office and its establishment, and similar ones for State purposes, should under any circumstances be paid from the British Exchequer.

I shall put, briefly, this moderately just "apportionment of charge" in this way:-

India and England should pay all salaries which are to be paid to their own people, within their own limits. respectively-i. e., England should pay for all Englishmen employed in England, and India should pay for all Indians employed in India; and as to those of one country who are employed in the other country—i. e., Englishmen employed in India, and Indians employed in England—let there be some fair and reasonable apportionment between the two countries—taking, as much as possible, into consideration their respective benefits and capacity of means,

As to pensions, a reasonable salary being paid during service in India, no pensions to follow; so that, when Europeans retire from India, there should be no charge on England for pensions, the employees having made their own arrangements for their future from their salaries.

By this arrangemnt India will not only pay all that it would pay for a government by itself, supposing the English were not there, but also a share in the cost in India for what England regards as absolutely necessary for her own purpose of maintaining her Empire in India.

I may say a few words with regard to the navy. On no ground whatever of justice can India be fairly charged any share for the navy, except so far as it falls within the principle stated above, of actual service in Indian harbours.

- 1. The whole navy as it exists, and as it is intended to be enlarged, is every inch of it required for the protection and safety of this country itself—even if Britain had no Empire—for its own safety—for its very existence.
- Every farthing spent on the navy is entirely earned by Englishmen; not the slightest share goes to India, in its gain, or glory, or employment, or in any way.
- In the time of war between England and any European Powers, or the United States, the navy will not be able to protect British commerce itself.

- 4. There is no such thing, or very insignificant, as Indian foreign commerce or Indians' risk in what is called British Indian foreign commerce. The whole of what is called British Indian foreign trade is entirely first British risk and British capital. Every inch of the shipping or cargo on the seas is British risk of British East India banks, British marine insurance companies, and British merchants and ship-owners and manufacturers. Any per son who has any knowledge of how the whole of what is called British Indian foreign trade is carried on will easily understand what I mean.
- No European Power will go to attack India from the sea, leaving the British navy free to pursue it.
- 6. Suppose there was no English navy to pursue, Lord Roberts' united and contented, and therefore patriotic India will give such an irresistible Indian force at the command of Britain as to give a warm reception to the invader, and drive him back into the sea if he ever succeeded in landing at all.

With regard to the absolute necessity to the United Kingdom itself for its own safety of the whole navy as it exists and is intended to be increased, there is but one universal opinion, without any distinction of parties. It will be easy to quote expressions from every prominent politician. It is, in fact, the great subject of the day for which there is perfect unanimity. I would content myself, however, with a few words of the highest authority in the realm under the Sovereign, the Prime Minister, and also of the Chancellor of the Exchequer. Lord Salisbury said in his Brighton speech:—

[&]quot;But dealing with such money as you possess that the first claim is the naval defence of England. I am glad that you

welcome that sentiment. It is our business to be quite sure of the safety of this island home of ours whose inaccessibility is the source of our greatness, that no improvement of foreign fleets, and no combination of foreign alliances, should be able for a moment to threaten our safety at home. We must make ourselves take at sea whatever happens. But after all, safety—safety from a foreign foe—comes first before every other earthly bleasing, and we must take care in our responsibility to the many interests that depend upon us, in our responsibility to the generations that are to succeed us, we must take care that no neglect of ours shall suffer that safety to be compromised."

Sir M. Hicks-Beach, the Chancellor of the Exchequer, so late as 28th January last (the Times, 29/1/96), said emphatically and in a fighting mood: "We must be prepared. We must never lose the supremacy of the soa. Other nations had not got it, and could afford to do without it: but supremacy of the sea was vital to our very existence."

With such necessity for England's own safety, whether she had India or not, any burden to be placed on India can only be done on the principle of the right of might over our helplessness, and by treating India as a helotdom, and not in justice and fairness. Yes; let India have complete share in the whole Imperial system. including the Government of this country, and then talk of asking her to contribute to Imperial expenses. Then will be the time to consider any such question as it is being considered in relations with Ireland, which enjoys, short of Home Rule, which is vital to it, free and full share in the whole Imperial gain and glory—in the navy, army, and civil services of the Empire. Let all arrangements exist in India as they exist here for entrance into all the Imperial Services here and elsewhere, and it will be time and justice to talk of India's share in Imperial responsibilities. Certainly not on the unrighteous and tyrannical principle

of all gain and glory, employment, etc., for England, and share of cost on India, without any share in such gain, glory, employment, etc.

As to the bugbear of Russian invasion. If India is in a contented state with England, India will not only give an account of Russia, but will supply an army, in the most patriotic spirit, large enough to send Russia back to St. Petersburg. India will then fight for herself in fighting for Britain. In satisfied India Britain has an inexhaustible and irresistible store of fighting power, enough and more to fight Britain's battles all over the world, as it has been doing. Lord Beaconsfield saw this and showed it by bringing Indian troops to Malta. Only pay honestly for what you take, and not dishonourably or tyrannically throw burdens upon India for your own purposes and With India Britain is great and invincible: without India Britain will be a small Power. Make India feel satisfaction, patriotism, and prosperity under your supremacy and you may sleep securely against the world. But with discontented India, whatever her own fate may be-may be subjected by Russia or may repel Russia-England can or will have no safe position in India. course, as I have said before, I am arguing on the assumption that justice is to be dealt out by this Commission to both countries on the basis of the might of right. If that is not to be the case, and right of might is to be the deciding principle, if the eternal moral force is not to be the power, but the ephemeral brute force is to be the predominant partner, then of course I have no argument. All argument, then, will be idle breath at present till nature in time, as it always does, vindicates and revenges itself, and unrighteousness meets with its doom.

Our Commission has a great, holy, and patriotic task before it. I hope it will perform it, and toll the British people the redress that is justly due to India. The very first and immediate justice that should be done by England is the abolition of the Exchange Compensation—which is neither legal nor moral—or pey it herself; inasmuch as every farthing paid will be received by English people and in England. It is a heartless, arbitrary, and cruel exaction from the poverty of India, worse than Shylocky—not only the pound of flesh of the bond, but also the ounce of blood. As to the general question of apportionment, I have stated the principle above.

Now, another important question in connexion with "apportionment of charge" has to be considered, viz., of any expenses incurred outside the limits of India of 1858.

I shall take as an illustration the case of North-West frontier wars. Every war, large or small, that is carried on beyond the frontiers of 1858 is distinctly and clearly mainly for Britain's Imperial and European purposes. It is solely to keep her own power in India. If it were not for the maintenance of her own power in India and her position in Europe she would not care a straw whether the Russians or any other power invaded India or took it. The whole expenditure is for Imperial and European purposes. On 11th February, 1880, Mr. Fawcett moved the following Amendment to the Addresss in reply to the Queen's Speech (Hansard, vol. 250, p. 453):—

"But humbly desire to express our regret that in view of the declarations that have been made by your Majesty's ministers that the war in Afghanistan was undertaken for Imperial purposes, no assurance has been given that the cost incurred in consequence of the renewal of hostilities in that country will not be wholly defrayal out of the revennes of India."

Mr. Fawcett then said (Hansard, vol. 250. p. 454):-

"And, fourthly, the most important question, as far as he was seemed to be quite clear that the expenses of the war should not he borne by India, and he wished to explain that so far as India was concerned this was not to be regarded as a matter of genero. sity but of justice and legality...The matter must be decided on grounds of strict justice and legality (P. 457.) It was a remarkable thing that every speech made in that House or out of it by ministers or their supporters on the subject showed that the war was a great Imperial enterprise, those who opposed the war having always been taunted as being "parochial" politicians who could not appreciate the magnitude and importance of great Imperial enterprises......(P. 458.) He would refer to the speeches of the Viceroy of India, the Prime Minister, and the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs upon the subject.......In December, 1878, the noble earl warned the peers that they must extend their range of vision, and told them that they were not to suppose that this was a war which simply concerned some small cantonments at Dakka and Jellalabad, but one undertaken to maintain the influence and character not of Iudia, but of England in Europe. Now, were they going to make India pay the entire bill for maintaining tordship † treated the war as indissolubly connected with the Eastern question.......Therefore it seemed to him (Mr. Fawcett) that it was absolutely impossible for the Government, unless they were prepared to cast to the winds their declarations, to come down to the House and regard the war as an Indian one All he desired was a declaration of principle, and he would be perfectly satisfied if some one representing the Government would get up and say that they had always considered this war as an Imperial one, for the expenses of which England and India were jointly liable."

Afterwards Mr. Fawcett said (p. 477) :-

"He was entirely satisfied with the assurance which had been given on the part of the Government that the House should have an opportunity of discussing the question before the Budget was introduced, and would therefore beg leave to withdraw his amendment."

In the House of Lords, Lord Beaconsfield emphasised the objects to be for British Imperial purposes (25/2/80—Hansard, vol. 250, p. 1,094):—

[•] The Prime Minister.

[†] The Marquis of Salisbury.

"That the real question at issue was whether England should possess the gates of her own great Empire in India. We resolved that the time has come when this country should acquire the complete command and possession of the gates of the Indian Empire. Let me at least believe that the Peers of England are still determined to uphold not only the Empire but the honour of this country."

So it is clear that the object of all the frontier wars, large or small, was that "England should possess the gates of her own great Empire," that "this country should acquire the complete command and possession of the gates of the Indian Empire," and uphold not only the Empire, but also "the honour of this country." Can anything be more clear than the Imperial character of the frontier wars?

Mr. Fawcett, again, on 12/3/80, moved (*Hansard*, vol. 251, p. 922):—

"That in view of the declarations which have been officially made that the Afghan was undertaken in the joint interests of England and India, this House is of opinion that it is unjust to-defray out of the revenues of India the whole of the expenditure incurred in the renewal of bostilities with Afghanistan."

Speaking to this motion, Mr. Fawcett, after referring to the past declarations of the Prime Minister, the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, and the Chancellor of the Exchequer, quoted from the speech of the Viceroy soon after his arrival (p. 923):—

"I came to India, and just before leaving England for India I had frequent interviews with Lord Salisbury, the then Indian Secretary, and I came out specially instructed to treat the Indian frontier question as an indivisible part of a great Imperial question mainly depending for its solution upon the general policy of her Majesty's Government. . . ."

And further on Mr. Fawcett said (p. 926):-

"What was our policy towards self-governed Colonies and towards India not self-governed? In the self-governed Colony of the Cape we had a war for which we were not responsible. Who was to pay for it? It would cost the English people something like £5,000,000. In India, there was a war for which the Indian people were not responsible—a war which grew out of our own policy and actions in Europe—and we are going to make the indian people, who were not self-governed and were not represented, pay every sixpence of the cost,"

And so Lord Salisbury, as Secretary of State for India, and the Viceroy had cleared up the whole position—"to treat the Indian frontier question as an indivisible part of a great Imperial question, mainly depending for its solution upon the general policy of her Majesty's Government," and the Indian people having ne voice or choice in it.

Mr. Gladstone, following Mr. Fawcett, said (p. 930) :-

"It appears to me that, to make such a statement as that the judgment of the Viceroy is a sufficient expression of that of the people of India, is an expression of paradox really surprising, and such as is rarely heard among us......(P. 932.) In my opinion my hon, friend the member for Hackney has made good his case... Still, I think it fair and right to say that, in my opinion, my hon, friend the member for Hackney has completely made good his case. His case, as I understand it, has not received one shred of answer..........(P. 933.) In the speech of the Prime Minister, the speech of Lord Salisbury, and the speech of the Vicercy of India, and, I think my hon, friend said, in a speech by the Chancellor of the Exchequer, this Afghan war has been distinctively recognised as partaking of the character of an Imperial war But I think not merely a small sum like that, but what my right hon, friend the Chancellor of the Exchequer would call a solid and substantial sum, ought to be borne by this country, at the very least(P. 935.) As regards the substance of the motion, I cordially embrace the doctrine of my hon. friend the member for Hackney. There is not a constituency in the country before which I would not be prepared to stand, if it were the poorest and most distressed in the land, if it were composed of a body of men to all of whom every addition of a farthing for taxes was a sensible burden, and before them I would be glad to stand and plead that, when we have made in India a war which our own Government have described as in part an Imperial war, we ought not for a moment to shrink from the responsibility of assuming at least a portion of the cost of that war, in correspondence with that declaration, instead of making use of the law and argument of force, which is the only law and the only argument which we possess or apply to place the whole of this burden on the shoulders of the people of India.

The upshot of the whole was that England contributed £5,000,000 out of £21,000,000 spent on this war, when one would have naturally expected a "far more solid and substantial" sum from rich England, whose interest was double, both Imperial and European. But the extent of that contribution is not the present question with me. It is the principle that "the Indian frontier question is one indivisible part of a great Imperial question, mainly depending for its solution upon the general policy of her Majesty's Government," and that, therefore, a fair apportionment must be made of all the charge or cost of all frontier wars, according to the extent of the interest and of the means of each country.

Coming down to later times, the action of Mr. Gladstone on 27th April, 1885, to come to the House of Commons to ask for £11,000,000—and the House accepting his proposal—on the occasion of the Penjdeh incident, is again a most significant proof of the Imperial character of these frontier wars. He said (Hansard, vol. 297, p. 859):—

"I have heard with great satisfaction the assurance of hon. gentlemen opposite that they are disposed to forward in every way the grant of funds to us to be used as we best think for the maintenance of what I have upon former occasions described as a National and Imperial policy. Certainly, an adequate sense of our obligations to our Indian Empire has never yet been claimed by any party in this country as its exclusive inheritance. In my opinion he will be guitty of a moral offence and gross political folly who should endeavour to claim on behalf of his own party any superiority is that respect over those to whom he is habitually opposed. It is an Imperial policy in which we are engaged."

Lastly, last year (15/8/95) the present leader of the House of Commons (Mr. Balfour) in his speech referred to "a serious bluw to our prestige;" "that there are two and only two great powers they (the tribesmen) have to

consider," "to us, and to us alone, must they look as a suzerain power." "To depend upon the British throne." (The italics are mine.) So it is all "ours" and "us" for all gain and glory and Imperial possessions, and European position—except that India must be forced to pay the bill. Is this the sense and conscience of English justice to make India pay the whole cost of the Chitral war or any frontier war?

Though the real and principal guiding motive for the British Government for these frontier wars is only Imperial and European for "its resolute determination" of keeping its possession of India and position in Europe, still India does not want to ignore its indirect and incidental benefit of being saved from falling into Russia's hands, coupled with the hope that when British conscience is fully informed and aroused to a true sense of the great evils of the present system of administration, these evils will be removed. India, therefore, accepts that these frontier wars, as far as they may be absolutely necessary, involves Indian interests also, and would be willing to pay a fair share according to her means.

India, therefore, demands and looks to the present Commission hopefully to apportion a fair division for the cost of all frontier wars in which India and England have and had purposes of common interest. This whole argument will apply to all wars, on all the frontiers of India—East, West, North, or South. With reference to all wars outside all the frontiers of India and in which India has no interest, Britain should honestly pay India fully for all the services of men or materials which she has taken and may take from India—not; as in the Abyesinian War, shirk any portion. Sir

Henry Fowler, in his speech in the House of Commons (22/7/93), said:—"I say on behalf of the English people, they want to deal with Ireland, not shabbily but generously." I believe that the English people wish to deal with India also justly and generously. But do their servants, the Indian authorities, act in that way? Has not India greater claims than even Ireland on the justice and the generosity of the English people? Inasmuch as the Irish people have the voice of their own direct representatives in Parliament on their own and Imperial affairs, while India is helpless and entirely at the mercy of England, with no direct vote of her own, not only in Parliament, but even in the Legislative Councils in India, on any expenditure out of her own revenues. Ireland not only has such voice, but has a free and complete share in all the gain and glory of the British Empire. An Irishman can occupy any place in the United Kingdom or India. Can an Indian occupy any such position, even in his own country, let alone in the United Kingdom? Not only that, but that these authorities not only do not act justly or generously, but they treat India even "shabbily."

Let us take an illustration or two. What is it if not shabby to throw the expenses of Prince Nassarulla's visit upon the Indian people! There is the Mutiny of 1857. The causes were the mistakes and mismanagement of your own authorities; the people had not only no share in it, but actually were ready at your call to rise and support you. Punjab sent forth its best blood, and your supremacy was triumphantly maintained, and what was the reward of the people? You inflicted upon the people the whole payment

to the last farthing of the cost of that deplorable event, of your own servants' making. Not only then was India unjustly treated, but even "shabbily." Let Lord Northbrook speak: House of Lords (15/5/93—Debates, vol. xii, p. 874):—

"The whole of the ordinary expenses in the Abyssinian expedition were paid by India.* Only the extraordinary expenses being paid by the Home Government, the argument used being that India would have to pay her troops in the ordinary way, and she ought not to seek to make a profit out of the affair. But how did the Home Government treat the Indian Government when troops were sent out during the Mutiny? Did they say, 'we don't want to make any profit out of this?' Not a bit of it. Every single man sent out was paid for by India during the whole time, though only temporary use was made of them, including the cost of their drilling and training as recruits until they were sent out."

Can anything be more "shabby," not to use a stronger word. Here you send troops for your own very existence, The people help you as best they can, and you not only not pay even any portion of the expenditure but reward the people for their lovalty with the infliction of not only the whole expense and additional burdene but even as shabbily as Lord Northbrook discloses. Is this the way by dealing unjustly and shabbily with the people that you teach them and expect them to stand by you in the time of trouble! And still more, since then_ you have in a marked way been treating the people with distrust, and inflicting upon them unnecessarily and selfishly a larger and more expensive army to be paid for as wholly and as shabbily as the army of the Mutinyviz., including the cost or a portion of the cost of their drilling and training as recruits until they are sent out, though all the troops are in this country and they form an integral part of the British Army. And the whole expen-

With it India had nothing to do, and yet Britain did no t pay all expenses.

diture of the frontier was including Chitral is imposed upon the Indian people, though avowedly incurred for Imperial and European purposes, excepting that for very shame, a fourth of the cost of the last Afghan War was paid from the British Exchequer, thanks to Mr. Fawcett, In fact, the whole European army is an integral part of the British Army, India being considered and treated as a fine training ground for the British Army, at any expense, for English gain, glory, and prestige, and as a hunting ground for "our boys," and as a point of protection for British Imperial and European position, leaving the Indians the helotry or the proud privilege of paying for everything to the last farthing, without having the slightest voice in the matter! The worst of the whole thing is that having other and helpless people's money to spend, without any check from the British taxpayer, there is no check to any unnecessary and extravagant expenditure.

Now, even all these unjust inflictions for the Mutiny, and all past tyranny were considered somewhat, if not fully, compensated by that great, noble, and sacred with invocation of Almighty God, Proclamation of 1858, by which it was proclaimed to India and to the world that the Indian subjects were raised to an equality with the British subjects in their citizenship and British rights. And is that solemn pledge kept? Not a bit of it. On the contrary, all such pledges are pronounced by Lord Salisbury as "hypocrisy," by Lord Lytton as "cheating" by "deliberate and transparent subterfuges," and "by breaking to the heart the word of promise they had uttered to the ear," by a Committee of the Council of the India Office itself as "keeping promise to the ear and

breaking it to the hope," and by the Duke of Argyll as "we have not fulfilled our promises."

Can it be expected that by such methods of financial injustics and violation of pledges can be acquired the affection of the people upon which mainly and ultimately depends, as many a statesman has said the stability of the British supremacy?

At Glasgow, on November 14, 1895, Mr. Balfour said: "You all remember that the British Army-and in the British Army I include those Native soldiers, fellow subjects of ours, who on that day did great work for the Empire of which they are all citizens,"-This is the romance. Had Mr. Balfour spoken the reality, he would have said: "Include those Native soldiers, the drudges of ours, who on that day did great work for the Empire of which they are kept-down subjects." For, does not Mr. Balfour know that, far from being treated as "fellow subjects" and "citizens of the Empire," the Indians have not only to shed their blood for the Empire, but even to pay every farthing of the cost of these wars for "our Empire" and "our European position," that no pledges however sclemn and binding to treat Indians as "fellow subjects" or British citizens have been faithfully kept either in letter or spirit, that however much these Indians may be brave and shed their blood for Imperial purposes or be made to pay "cruel and crushing tribute" they are not allowed any vote in the Imperial Parliament or a vote in the Indian Legislative Councils on their own financial expenditure, that their employment in the officering of the Army, beyond a few inferior positions of Subadar Major or Jamadar Major, etc., is not at all allowed, that they are distrusted and disarmed-are not allowed to become volunteers—that every possible obstacle is thrown and "subterfuge" resorted to against the advancement of the Indians in the higher positions of all the Civil Services, and that the simple justice of allowing Indians an equality to be simultaneously examined in their own country, for Indian services, decided by Act and resolution of Parliament and solemnly pledged by the great Proclamation, is resisted by every device and subterfuge possible unworthy of the English character. Is it not a mockery and an insult to call the Indians "fellow subjects and citizens of the Empire" when in reality they are treated as under-heel subjects?

Here are Rs. 128,574,590, or nearly Rs. 129,000,000, spent from April, 1882, to March, 1891 (Parl. Return, 91 of 1895), beyond "the West and North-West frontiers of India," after the disastrous expenditure of £21,000,000 in the last Afghan War (of which only a quarter was paid by the British Exchequer). Every pie of this nearly Rs. 129,000,000 is exacted out of the povertystricken Indians, and all for distinctly avowed Imperial and European British purposes. I do not know whether the Rs. 129,000,000 includes the ordinary pay of all the soldiers and officers employed in the Frontier ervice, or whether it is only the extraordinary military enditure that is included. If the ordinary pay is not included, then the amount will be larger than Ra. 129,000,000. And these are "our fellow subjects" and "of Imperial citizens"! To shed blood for Imperial purcees and to pay the whole cost also!

Lord corge Hamilton said at Chiswick (Times, 22/1/96): He hoped that the result of the present Government's course of office would be to make the

British Empire not merely a figure of speech, but a living reality." Now, is not this as much romance as that of Mr. Balfour's, instead of being a "living reality"? All the questions I have asked for Mr. Balfour's expressions apply as forcibly to the words of the present Secretary of State of India, who ought to know the real despotically subjected position of the people of British India, forming two-thirds of the Empire. Yes. the British Empire can be made a "living reality" of union and devoted attachment, but not under the present system of British Indian administration. It can be, when in that system, justice, generosity, fair apportionment of charges, and honour, and "courage of keeping the word" shall prevail over injustice, helotdom, and dishonour of open violation of the most solemn words of honour.

Now, Mr. Chamberlain, at Birmingham (Times, 27/1/96), said in reference to the African Republic:—

"Now, I have never denied that there is just cause for discontent in the Transvaal Republic. The majority of the population there pay nine-tenths of the taxation, and have no share whatever in the government of the country. That is an anomaly which does not exist in any other civilized community, and it is an anomaly which wise and prudent statesmanship would remove. I believe it can be removed without danger to the independence of the Republic, and I believe until it is removed you have no permanent guarantee against future internal disturbances."

Do not these words apply with ten times force to the case of India, and is not that wise and prudent statesmanship which is preached here required to be practised in connexion with the greatest part of the British Empire? I venture to use Mr. Chamberlain's words:—

"I believe (the anomaly) can be removed without danger to the stability of the British power, or, rather, with devoted and patriotic attachment of the British connexion; and I believe that until it is removed you have no permanent guarantee against future internal disturbances."

The Times (1/2/96) in a leader on Lord Salisbury's speech before the Non-Conformist Unionist Association, in a sentence about the Outlanders, expresses what is peculiarly applicable to the present position of India. It says:—

"The Outlanders in the Transvasi—not a minority, but a large majority—are deprived of all share of political power and of the most elementry privileges of citizenship, because the dominate class, differing from them in race and feeling, as Lord Salisbury says, 'have the government and have the rifles.'"

The Indians must provide every farthing for the supremacy of the minority of "the dominant class," and should not have the slightest voice in the spending of that every farthing, and find every solemn pledge given for equality of British citizenship flagrantly broken to the heart in letter and in spirit. And why? Is it because, as Lord Salisbury says, "they have the Government and have the rifles;" or as Mr. Gladstone said about India itself, "the law and argument of force, which is the only law and argument which we possess or apply." This Commission has the duty, at least so far as a fair apportionment of charge is concerned, to redress this great wrong.

Do the British Indian authorities really think that the Indians are only like African savages, or mere children, that, even after thousands of years of civilisation, when the Britons were only barbarians; after the education they have received at the blessed British hands, producing, as Lord Dufferin said, "Native gentlemen of great attainments and intelligence" (Jubilee speech); they do not see and understand these deplorable circumstances of their true position of degradation and economic destruction? Or do these authorities not care, even if the Indians did understand, as long as they can mislead the British people into the belief that all is right and beneficient in British India, when it is really not the case?

But the faith of the Indians in the conscience of the British people is unbounded and unshakeable, and the little incidents of bright spots keep up that faith, such as the justice of not burdening the Indian people with the cost of the Opium Commission, and—even though inadequate and partial—the payment of one-fourth of the cost of the last Afghan War. It is these acts of justice that consolidate the British rule and tend towards its stability.

I believe now, as I have always believed, that the English people wish and want to deal with India justly and generously. When I say that I believe in the British character of fair play and justice, it is not a sentiment of to-day or yesterday. In the very first political speech of my life, made as far back as 1853, at the formation of the Bombay Association, on the occasion of the Parliamentary Enquiry on Indian Affairs for the renewal of the Company's Charter, I said:—

"When we see that our Government is often ready to assist us in everything calculated to benefit us, we had better, than merely complain and grumble, point out in a becoming manner what our real wants are..... If an Association like this be always in readiness to ascertain by strict enquiries the probably good or bad effects of any proposed measure, and whenever necessary to memorialise Government on behalf of the people with respect to them, our kind Government will not refuse to listen to such memorials."

And under that belief the Bombay Association, the British Indian Association of Bengal, and the Madras Association, memorialised the then Select Committee on Indian affairs—for redress of grievances.

Now, after not very short of nearly half a century of

hopes and disappointments, these are still my sentiments to-day—that with correct and full knowledge the British people and Parliament will do what is right and just.

I may here take the opportunity of making a remark or two about the wide extent of the scope of the enquiry of this Commission in the first part of the Reference.

Lord Cranborne, soon after having been Secretary of State for India, said (24/5/67) in reference to the powers of the Council of the Secretary of State for India:—

"It possesses by Act of Parliament an absolute and conclusive veto upon the Acts of the Government of India with reference to nine-tenths, I might almost say ninety-nine hundredths, of the questions that arise with respect to that Government. Parliament has provided that the Council may veto any despatch which directs the appropriation of public money. Everyone knows that almost every question connected with Government raises in some way or other the question of expenditure."

The first part of the Reference to this Commission thus embraces "almost every question connected with Government." "Ninety-nine hundredths of the questions that arise with respect to that Government."

This view is ully confirmed by the enquiry by the Select Committee of 1871-4. The Reference to it was "to enquire into the Finance and Financial Administration of India," and our first reference is fully of the same scope and character. Now, what was the extent of the subjects of the enquiry made by that Committee? The index of the proceedings of the four years (1871-4) has a table of contents headed: "Alphabetical and Classified List of the principal headings in the following Index, with the pages at which they will be found." And what is the number of these headings? It is about 420. In fact, there is hardly a subject of Government which is not enquired into.

Yours truly,

DADABHAI NAOROJI.

THE RIGHT RELATIONS BETWEEN BRITAIN AND INDIA.*

DEAR LORD WELBY,—I have to request you kindly to put before the Commission this further representation from me on the subjects of our enquiry. This will be my last letter, unless some phase of the enquiry needed any further explanation from me.

Looking at the first part of the enquiry from every point of view, with regard to the administration and management of expenditure, we come back again and again to the view expressed by the Duke of Devonshire and Sir William Hunter and others. The Duke of Devoushire has said: "If the country is to be better governed, that can only be done by the employment of the best and most intelligent of the Natives in the Service." Sir William Hunter has said: "But the good work thus commenced has assumed such dimensions. under the Queen's Government of India that it can no longer be carried on or even supervised by imported labour from England except at a cost which India cannot sustain. . . . If we are to govern the Indian people efficiently and cheaply, we must govern them by means of themselves, and pay for the administration at the market rates of Native labour."

From all I have said in my previous representations it must have been seen that the real evil and misery of the people of British India does not arise from the

Submitted to the Welby Commission, 21st March 1896,

amount of expenditure. India is capable, under natural circumstances, of providing twice, three times or more the expenditure, as the improvement of the country may need, in attaining all necessary progress. The evil really is in the way in which that expenditure is administered and managed, with the effect of a large portion of that expenditure not returning to the people from whom it is raised-in short, as Lord Salisbury has correctly described as the process of "bleeding." No country in the world (England not excepted) can stand such bleeding. To stop this bleeding is the problem of the day-bleeding both moral and material. You may devise the most perfect plan or scheme of government, not only humanly but divinely perfect-you may have the foreign officials, the very angels themselves-but it will be no earthly good to the people as long as the bleeding management of expenditure continues the same. On the contrary, the evil will increase by the very perfection of such plan or scheme for improvements and progress. For, as improvements and progress are understood to mean, at present, it is more and more bleeding by introducing more and more the foreign bleeding agency.

The real problem before the Commission is not how to nibble at the expenditure and suggest some poor reductions here and there, to be put aside in a short time, as is always done, but how to stop the material and moral bleeding, and leaving British India a freedom of development and progress in prosperity which her extraordinary natural resources are capable of, and to treat her justly in her financial relations with Britain by apportioning fairly the charge on purposes in which both are interested. Or, to put the problem in its double important bearings,

in the words of an eminent statesman, "which should at once afford a guarantee for the good government of the people, and for the security of British rights and interests " (Lord Iddesleigh), as will be seen further on. I am glad to put before the Commission that this problem has been not merely enunciated, but that, with the courage of their convictions, two eminent statesmen have actually carried it out practically, and have done that with remarkable success. I am the more glad to bring forward this case before the Commission, as it also enables me to adduce an episode in the British Indian administration on the conduct of the Indian authorities in both countries and other Anglo-Indian officials, which reflects great credit upon all concerned in it-and as my information goes, and as it also appears from the records, that her Majesty personally has not a little share in this praise, and in evoking a hearty Indian gratitude and loyalty to herself. This episode also clearly indicates or points to the way as to what the true natural relations should be between Britain and India, with the result of the welfare and prosperity of both, and the security and stability of British supremacy.

In my previous letters I have confined myself to the evil results—suicidal to Britain and destructive to India—of the present unnatural system of the administration and management of expenditure and the injustice of the financial relations between the two countries, loudly calling for a just apportionment of charge for purposes in which both are interested.

Without dwelling any further on this melancholy aspect, I shall at once proceed to the case to which I have alluded above, and in connexion with which there have been true

statesmanlike and noble declarations made as to the right relations between Britain and India as they ought to exist. This case is in every way a bright chapter in the history of British India. The especially remarkable feature of this case is that notwithstanding the vehement and determined opposition to it from all Indian authorities for some thirtysix years, after this wise, natural, and righteous course was decided upon by her Majesty and the Secretary of State for India of the time, all the authorities, both here and in India, carried it out in the most loyal, earnest, and scrupulous manner and solicitude worthy of the British name and character-in striking contrast with the general conduct of these authorities, by which they have almost always frustrated and made dead letters of Acts and Resolutions of Parliament and royal proclamations and most solemn pledges on behalf of the British people by all sorts of un-English "subterfuges," "cheating devices" (Lytton), "hypocrisy" (Salisbury), "non-fulfilment of pledges" (Duke of Argyll, Lytton, and others), etc., in matters of the advancement and elevation of the Indian people to material and moral prosperity, and to real British rights and citizenship. Had they fortunately shown the same loyalty and true sense of their trust to these Acts and Resolutions of Parliament, to the solemn proclamations and pledges, as have been shown in the case I am referring to, . what a different, prosperous, and grateful India would it have been to-day, blessing the name of Britain, and both to its glory and gain. It is not too late yet. It will be a pity if it ever becomes too late to prevent disaster.

On 22nd January, 1867, Lord Salisbury (then Lord Cranborne and Secretary of State for India) said (*Hunsard*, vol. 185, p. 839):—

"But there are other considerations, and I think the hon. gentleman (Sir Henry Rawlinson) stated them very fairly and eloquently. I do not myself see our way at present to employing very largely the Natives of India in the regions under our immediste control. But it would be a great evil if the result of our dominion was that the Natives of India who were capable of government should be absolutely and hopelessly excluded from such a career. The great advantage of the existence of Native States is that they afford an outlet for statesmanlike capacity such as has been alluded to. I need not dwell upon the consideration to which the hon, gentleman so eloquently referred, but I think that the existence of a well-governed Native State is a real benefit, not only to the stability of our rule, but because, more than anything, it raises the self-respect of the Natives and forms an ideal to which the popular feelings aspire. Whatever treaties or engagements may be entered into, I hope that I shall not be looked upon by gentlemen of the Liberal party as very revolutionary if I say that the welfare of the people of India must override them all. I quite admit the temptations which a paramount power has to interpret that axiom rather for its own advantage than its own honour. There is no doubt of the existence of that temptation, but that does not diminish the truth of the maxim." [The italies are mine.]

On 24th May, 1867, Lord Iddesleigh (then Sir Stafford Northcote and Secretary of State for India) said (*Hansard* vol. 187, p. 1068):—

"He believed that the change in education in India, and the fact that the Natives now saw what their system of government was and is, had told most beneficially on that country. He had, therefore, confidence that we might establish a state of things in Mysore which would have a happy effect on the administration of the country. What had taken place in other parts of India? Travancore forty years ago was in as bad a state as Mysore, yet its administration under British influence had so greatly improved that Travancore was now something like a model Native State. Our Indian policy should be founded on a broad basis. There might be difficulties; but what we had to aim at was to establish a system of Native States which might maintain themselves in a satisfactory relation. Keeping the virtues of Native States, and getting rid, as far as possible, of their disadvantages. We must look to the great natural advantages which the government of a Native State must necessarily have. Under the English system there were advantages which would probably never be under Native Administration - regularity, love of law and order and justice."

Had Lord Iddesleigh lived he would have with pleasure seen that the advantages he refers to are being attained in the Native States; and in Mysore itself, as well as in several other States, they have been largely already attained. And under the eye of the British Government there is progress everywhere. Lord Iddesleigh proceeds:—

"But native Administration had the advantage in sympathy between the governors and the governed. Governors were able to appreciate and understand the prejudices and wishes of the governed; especially in the case of Hindu States, the religious feelings of the people were enlisted in favour of their governors instead of being roused against us.* He had been told by gentlemen from India that nothing impressed them more than walking the streets of some Indian town, they looked up at the houses on each side and asked themselves, " what do we really know of these people—of their modes of thought, their feelings, their prejudices -and at what great disadvantage, in consequence, do we administer the government.' The English Government must necessarily labour under great disadvantages, t and we should endeavour as far as possible to develop the system of Native government to bring out Native talent and statesmanship, and to enlist in the cause of government all that was great and good in them. Nothing could be more wonderful than our Empire in India; but we ought to consider on what conditions we hold it and how our predecessors held it. The greatness of the Mogul Empire depended on the liberal policy that was pursued by men like the great Emperor Akbar and his successors availing themselves of Hindu talent and assistance, and identifying themselves as far as possible with the people of the country. They ought to take a lesson from such circumstances. If they were to do their duty breards India they could only discharge that duty by obtaining assistance and counsel of all who are great and good in that country. It would be abourd in them to say that there was not a large fund of statesmanship and ability in the Indian character. They really must not be too proud. They were always ready to speak of the English government as so infinitely superior to anything in the way of Indian government. But if the Natives of India were disposed to be equally critical, it would be possible for them to find out weak places in the harness of the English

^{*}The same can be said about the Muhammadans and other people.

[†] The greatest of them is the economic evil which Lord Salisbury has truly called the bleeding of the country.

administration. The system in India was one of great complexity. It was a system of checks and counter checks, and very often great abuses failed to be controlled from want of a proper knowledge of and sympathy with the Natives." [The italics are mine.]

On the same day Lord Salisbury, supporting Lord Iddesleigh, said (Hansard, vol. 187, p. 1073):—

"The general concurrence of opinion of those who know India best is that a number of well-governed small Native States are in the highest degree advantageous to the development of the political and moral condition of the people of India. The hon, gentleman (Mr. Laing) arguing in the strong official line seems to take the view that everything is right in British territory and everything dark in Native territory. Though he can cite the case of Oudh, I venture to doubt if it could be established as a general view of India as it exists at present. If Oudh is to be quoted against Native Government, the Report of the Orissa Famine, which will be presented in a few days, will be found to be another and far more terrible instance to be quoted against English rule. The British Government has never been guilty of the violence and illegality of Native Sovereigns. But it has faults of its own, which though they are far more guiltless in intention, are more terrible in effect. Its tendency to routine; its listless heavy heedlessness, sometimes the result of its elaborate organisation; a fear of responsibility, an extreme centralisation-all these results, traceable to causes for which no man is culpable, produce an amount of inefficiency which when reinforced by natural causes and circumstances, creates a terrible amount of misery. All these things must be taken into consideration when you compare our elaborate and artificial system of government with the more rough and ready system of India. In cases of emergency, unless you have men of peculiar character on the spot, the simple form of Oriental government will produce effects more satisfactory than the more elaborate system of English rule. I am not by this denying that our mission in India is to reduce to order, to civilise and develop the Native Governments we find there. * But I demurto that wholesale condemnation of a system of government which will be utterly intolerable on our own soil, but which has grown up amongst the people subjected to it. It has a fitness and congeniality for them impossible for us adequately to realise, but which compensate them to an enormous degree for the material evils which its rudeness in a great many cases produces. I may

^{*}This is being actually done. Every effort is being made to bring the administration of the Native States to the level of the organisation of the British system which is not a little to the credit of the British Government.

mention as an instance what was told me by Sir George Clerk, a distinguished member of the Council of India, respecting the Province of Kathiawar, in which the English and Native Governments are very much intermixed. There are no broad lines of frontier there, and a man can easily leap overthe hedge from the Native into the English jurisdiction. Sir George Clerk told me that the Natives having little to carry with them were continually in the habit of migrating from the English into the Native jurisdiction, but that he never heard of an instance of a Native leaving his own to go into the English jurisdiction. This may be very bad taste on the part of the Natives; but you have to consider what promotes their happiness, suits their tastes, and tends to their moral development in their own way. If you intend to develop their moral acture only after an Anglo-Saxon type, you will make a conspicuous and disastrous defeat." [The italics are mine.]

In the above extract, Lord Salisbury says that the inefficiency reinforced by natural causes and circumstances creates a terrible amount of misery. These natural causes and circumstances which create the terrible amount of misery are pointed out by Lord Salisbury himself, as Secretary of State for India, in a Minute (29-4-75). He says "the injury is exaggerated in the case of India, where so much of the revenue is exported without a direct equivalent." And that under these causes and circumstances, the result is that "India must be bled," so that he truly shows that though under the British rule there is no personal violence, the present system of the administration of expenditure cannot but create and does "create a terrible amount of misery."

Further, the crude and defective system of administration under the old system of Native rule is all changed and cannot apply to the present administration in British India. Any alteration that may be deemed necessary to be made for remedying this "terrible amount of misery," would not involve in British India any alteration at all in the existing developed plan or system of the organisation of the administration.

Now, the moral of the above extracts from the speeches of Lords Salisbury and Iddesleigh is clear. Under the present system of administration of government and expenditure and unjust financial relations, in the very nature of things, there is a perpetual and inevitable result of terrible misery, of slavery (Macaulay), absolute hopelessness of higher life or career, despair, self-abasement, without any self-respect (Salisbury), extreme destitution and suffering (Bright), extreme poverty (Lawrence, Cromer, Barbour, Colvin), degradation (Monroe), etc., etc. And as a consequence of such deplorable results, an inherent and inevitable "danger of the most serious order" (Lord R. Churchill) to the stability of British supremacy. British rule under such circumstances can only continue to be a foreign crushing tyranny, leading the people to yearn (the Duke of Devonshire) to get rid of their European rulers, etc., etc.

On the other hand, (Salisbury) "the existence of a well-governed Native State is a real benefit, not only to the stability of the British rule, but more than anything it raises the self-respect of the Natives and forms an ideal to which the popular feeling aspires." And "that a number of well-governed small Native States are in the highest degree advantageous to the development of the political and moral" (I may add, the material) "condition of the people of India." Lord Iddesleigh says on the same lines: "What we had to aim at was to establish a system of Native States which might maintain themselves in a satisfactory relation." And what is of far more importance, he actually inaugurated the great experiment, by which he proposed to solve the great problem, "which should at once afford a guarantee for the good government

of the people and for the security of British rights and interests," and to which I desire to draw the attention of the Commission. In short, the lesson of the extracts is that the British Indian administration as it exists at present is positively and seriously dangerous to the British supremacy, and of terrible misery to the people; while a system of Native States will raise the people, and at the same time firmly secure the stability of the British supremacy and largely conduce to the prosperity of both countries—Britain and India.

Now comes the great merit—which will always be remembered by Indians with deep gratitude—of these two Statesmen (Salisbury and Iddesleigh). They did not rest satisfied with mere declaration of fine and great sentiments and then sleep over them, as has been done on many an occasion to the misfortune of poor India. No, they then showed that they had the courage of their convictions and had confidence in the true statesmanship of their views. In this good work her Majesty took a warm interest and encouraged them to carry it out. The result was the memorable—and ever to be remembered with gratitude—despatch of 16th April, 1867, of Lord Iddesleigh, for the restoration of Mysore to the Native rule, notwithstanding thirty-six years of determined opposition of the authorities to that step (Parl. Ret. 239, 30,4,767).

And now I come to the episode to which I have referred above, and about which I write with great gratification and gratitude, of the conduct of all the authorities in both countries and of all the Anglo-Indian officials who had any share in this good work, backed as I have said already, by the good-hearted and influential interest and support of her Majesty herself. They may have made some errors of judgment, but there was universally perfect sincerity and loyalty to the trust. Among those concerned (and whose names it is a pleasure to me to give) were, as Secretaries of State for India, Lord Iddesleigh, the Duke of Argyll, Lord Salisbury, Viscount Cranbrook, and the Duke of Devonshire (from 1867 till 1881, when the late Maharaja was invested with power); as Viceroys, Lord Lawrence, Lord Mayo, Lord Northbrook, Lord Lytton, and Lord Ripon; and lastly, the Chief Commissioners and other officials of Mysore. The chief merit in the conduct of all concerned was this. Lord Iddesleigh laid down in his despatch of 16th of April, 1867:—

"Without entering upon any minute examination of the terms of the Treaties of 1799, her Majesty's Government recognise, ia the policy which dictated that settlement, a desire to provide for the maintenance of an Indian dynasty on the throne of Mysore, upon terms which should at once afford a guarantee for the good government of the people and for the security of British rights and interests. Her Majesty is animated by the same desire, and shares the views to which I have referred. Her Majesty desires to maintain that family on the throne in the person of his Highness's adopted son. . . . It is therefore the intention of her Majesty that the young Prince should have the advantage of an education suitable to his rank and position and calculated to prepare him for the duties of administration." [The italics are mine.]

This being once settled, though against all previous opposition, and necessitating the withdrawal of Europeans from the Services, all the authorities and officials concerned, to their honour and praise, instead of putting any obstacles in the way, or trying to frustrate the above intentions, discharged their trust most loyally, and with every earnestness and care and solicitude to carry the work to success. The Blue-Books on Mysore from the despatch of 16th April, 1867, to the installation of the late Maharaja in 1881, is a bright chapter in the history of

British India, both in the justice, righteousness, and statesmanship of the decision, and the loyalty and extreme care of every detail in carrying out that decision—with success and satisfactory results in both objects set forth in the despatch, viz., "the good government of the people, and the security of British rights and interests."

I wish the India Office would make a return on Mysore relations and affairs up to date, in continuation of Ret. No. 1 of 1881 (c. 3026), to show how the good and creditable work has been continued up to the present time. I think I need not enter here into any details of this good work from 1867 to 1881 of the British officials: the Blue-Books tell all that. Of the work of the late Maharaja from 188! till his death at the end of 1894, it would be enough for me to give a very brief statement from the last Address of the Dewan to the Representative Assembly held at Mysore on 1st October, 1895, on the results of the late Maharaja's administration during nearly fourteen years of his reign, as nearly as possible in the Dewan's words. The Maharaja was invested with power on 25th March, 1881. Just previous to it, the State had encountered a most disastrous famine by which a fifth of the population had been swept away, and the State had run into a debt of 80 lakhs of rupees to the British Government. The cash balance had become reduced to a figure insufficient for the ordinary requirements of the administration. Every source of revenue was at its lowest, and the severe retrenchments which followed had left every department of State in an enfeebled condition. Such was the beginning. It began with liabilities exceeding the assets by 30} lakks, and with an annual income less than the annual expenditure by 11 lakhs.

... 24,07,438

... 25,19,198

Comparing 1880-1 with 1894-5, the annual revenue rose from 103 to 180½ lakhs, or 75.24 per cent., and after spending on a large and liberal scale on all works and purposes of public utility, the net assets amounted to over 176 lakhs in 1894-5, in lieu of the net liability of 30¾ lakhs with which his Highness's reign began in 1881.

In 1881, the balance of State Funds was ... Capital outlay on State Railways ...

Against	a liability to the British ving a balance of liability	Government of	80,00,000
On 30th	June, 1895 :	-	
Asset	rs—		
(1)	Balance of State Funds	***	1,27,23,615
(2)	Investment on account Loan Repayment Fun		27,81,500
(3)	Capital outlay on Myse Railway	ore-Harihar	1,48,03,306
(4)	Capital outlay on other	Railways	41,33,390
(5)	Unexpended pertion of for Mysore-Harihar		Į.
	British Government)	•••	15,79,495
Liabi	Litirs—		3,60,21,306
(1) (2)		Rs. 20,00,0	801
	,		1,83,82,801
•	Net Assets	••• •••	Rs. 1,76,38,505
	OTHER ASSETS-		
	oital outlay on original rrigation Works	Ra. 99,08,	935
В	esides the above exper	diture from e	urrant revenue
	a t'a a subaidu ta tha I		•

Besides the above expenditure from current revenue, there is the subsidy to the British Government of about Rs. 25,00,000 a year, or a total of about Rs. 3,70,00,000 in the fifteen years from 1880-1 to 1894-5, and the Maharaja's civil list of about Rs. 180,00,000, during the fifteen years also paid from the current revenue. And all this together

with increase in expenditure in every department. Under the circumstances above described, the administration at the start of his Highnese's reign was necessarily very highly centralised. The Dewan, or the Executive Administrative head, had the direct control, without the intervention of departmental heads of all the principal departments, such as the Land Revenue, Forests, Excise, Mining, Police, Education, Mujroyi, Legislative. As the finances improved, and as department after department was put into good working order and showed signs of expansion, separate heads of departments were appointed for Forests and Police in 1885, for Excise in 1889, for Mujroyi in 1891, and for Mining in 1894. His Highness was able to resolve upon the appointment of a separate Land Revenue Commissioner only in the latter part of 1894. Improvements were made in other departments-Local and Municipal Funds, Legislation, Education, etc. There are no wails which unfortunately the Finance Ministers of British India are obliged to raise, year after year, of fall in Exchange, over-burdening taxation, etc., etc.

And all the above good results are side by side with an increase of population of 18'34 per cent. in the ten years from 1881 to 1891, and there is reason to believe that during the last four years the ratio of increase was even higher. During the fourteen years the rate of mortality is estimated to have declined 8.7 per mille.

But there is still the most important and satisfactory feature to come, viz., that all this financial prosperity was secured not by resort to new taxation in any form or shape. In the very nature of things the present system of administration and management of Indian expenditure in British India cannot ever produce such

results, even though a Gladstone undertook the work. Such is the result of good administration in a Native State at the very beginning. What splendid prospect is in store for the future if, as heretofore, it is allowed to develop itself to the level of the British system with its own Native Services, and not bled as poor British India is.

Lord Iddesleigh is dead (though his name will never be forgotten in Iudia, and how he would have rejoiced!), but well may her Majesty, Lord Salisbury, and all others concerned in it, and the British people, be proud of this brilliant result of a righteous and statesmanlike act, and may feel secure of the sincere and solid loyalty, gratitude, and attachment of the rulers and people of Mysore to the British supremacy.

Here, then, is the whole problem of the right and natural administration of expenditure, etc., and stability of British supremacy solved, and that most successfully, by Lords Salisbury and Iddesleigh. It is now clear, by actual facts and operation, that the present system of expenditure, in all aspects of the administration of British India, is full of evil to the people and danger British supremacy, while, on the other hand, "a number of well-governed Native States," under the active control and supremacy of Britain, will be full of benefit and blessing both to Britain and India and a firm foundation for British supremacy. And all this prophecy of Lords Salisbury and Iddesleigh has been triumphantly fulfilled. Lord Iddesleigh set to himself the problem "which should at once afford a guarantee for the good government of the people and for the security of British rights and interests," and most successfully solved it.

The obvious conclusion is that the only natural and catisfactory relations between an alien supremacy and the people of India can be established on this basis alone. There are these obvious advantages in these relations:—

The British supremacy becomes perfectly secure and founded upon the gratitude and affection of the people, who, though under such supremacy, would feel as being under their own rulers and as being guided and protected by a mighty supreme power.

Every State thus formed, from the very nature of its desire for self-preservation, will cling to the supreme power as its best security against disturbance by any other State.

The division in a number of States becomes a natural and potent power for good in favour of the stability of the British supremacy. There will be no temptation to any one State to discard that supremacy, while, on the other hand, the supreme Government, having complete control and power over the whole government of each State, will leave no chance for any to go astray. Every instinct of self-interest and self-preservation, of gratitude, of high aspirations, and of all the best parts of human nature, will naturally be on the side and in favour of British supremacy which gave birth to these States. There will be an emulation among them to wie with each other in governing in the best way possible, under the eye and control of the supreme Government on their actions, leaving no chance for misgovernment. Each will desire to produce the best Administration Report every year. In short, this natural system has all the elements of consolidation of British power, of loyalty, and stability, and of prosperity of both countries. On the other hand, under the present system, all human nature and instincts are

against you, and must inevitably end in disintegration, rebellion, and disaster. No grapes from thistles! Evil will have its nemesis. I hope and pray that this Commission will rise to the height of its mission, and accomplish it to the glory of this country and the prosperity of both.

I must not be misunderstood. When I use the words "Native States," I do not for a moment mean that these new States are to revert to the old system of government of Native rule. Not at all. The system of all departments that exists at present, the whole mode of government, must not only remain as it is, but must go on improving till it reaches as nearly as possible the level of the more complete mode of British government that exists in this country. The change to be made is, that these States are to be governed by Native agency, on the same lines as at present, by employing, as the Duke of Devonshire says, "the best and most intelligent of the Natives," or as Lord Iddesleigh says, "all that was great and good in them."

One question naturally presents itself. Are new dynastic Indian rajahs to be created for these new States? That is a question that men like Lord Salisbury himself and the Indian authorities are best able to answer. There may be difficulties in dynastic succession. If so, the best mode of the headship under some suitable title of these States may be by appointment by Government, and aided by a representative Council. This mode has certain evident advantages, viz., questions of dynastic succession may be avoided, Government will be free to secure the best man for the post, and Government will then have complete control over the States, especially with an English Resident, as in all Native States at present. If thought necessary, this control may be made still more close by having at the

beginning for some time an English joint-Administrator instead of a Resident.

Sir Charles Dilke has, in one of his letters to me, said:—
"I also agree as to reduction of Europeans (so far as the nonmilitary people go). Indeed, I agree without limit, and would substitute for our direct rule a military protectorate of Native States,
as I have often said."

In another letter to me, which is published in the September number of *India*, in 1893, Sir Charles dwells upon the same subject at some length, proposing to follow up the case of Mysore and to divide India into a number of Native States.

With regard to the financial relations between Britain and India, whether for military or civil charges, I have already expressed my views in my last representation. I would not, therefore, make any further remarks here.

Once this natural and righteous system of government by Native States is adopted, so as to make the administration of expenditure fully productive of good results to both countries, I may with every confidence hope that the authorities, as in the case of Mysore, will loyally and scrupulously do their best to carry out the plan to success by establishing in India every necessary machinery for preparation, examinations, and tests of character and fitness of the Indians "to (as Lord Iddesleigh says) develop the system of Native government, to bring out Native telent and statesmanship, and to enlist in the cause of government all that was great and good in them."

The prevention and cure of the evils of the present material and moral bleeding, arising from the existing system of the administration and management of expenditure, from unjust financial relations between the two countries, and for the redemption of the honour of this country from the dishonour of the violation of the most solemn and binding pledges, are absolutely necessary, if India is to be well governed, if British supremacy is to be made thoroughly stable, and if both countries are to be made prosperous by a market for trade of nearly 300,000,000 of civilised and prosperous people.

I do not here consider any other plan of Government to secure effectively the double object laid down by Lord Iddesleigh, because I think the plan proposed and carried out by him is the most natural and the best, and most secure for the continuance of British supremacy.

I also do not enter into any details, as all possible difficulties of details, and the means by which they were overcome, are all recorded in the Mysore Blue-Books.

I submit to the Commission that unless the patriotism and prosperity of the people of India are drawn to the side of British supremacy, no plan or mode of government, under the existing system of expenditure, will be of any good either to British supremacy or to the Indian people. Evil and peril to both is the only dismal outlook. On the other hand, a number of Native States, according to the noble views and successful work of Lords Salisbury and Iddesleigh, will contribute vastly both to the gain and glory of the British people, to vast expansion of trade, and to the prosperity and affection of the Indian hundreds of millions of the human race.

If India is thus strengthened in prosperity, and patriotically satisfied in British supremacy, I cannot feel the least fear of Russia ever dreaming of invading India. Without any military help from England, and without any large European army, India will be all sufficient in itself to repel any invasion, and to maintain British supremacy for her own and Britain's sake.

I hope earnestly that this Commission will, as Sir Louis Mallet has urged, grapple with the disease of the evil results of the present system of expenditure, instead of, like other past Commissions and Committees, keeping to the habit of merely palliating symptoms. I do not much intervene in examining details of departmental expenditure, such examination at proper intervals, as used to be the case in the time of the Company, serves the important purpose of keeping the Government up to mark in care of expenditure. But unless the whole Government is put on a natural basis, all examinations of details of departmental expenditures will be only so much "palliating with symptoms," and will bring no permanent good and strength either to the Indian people or to the British supremacy.

I offer to be cross-examined on all my representa-

As before, I shall send a copy of this to every member of the Commission.

Yours truly,

DADABHAI NAOBOJI.

THE CAUSES OF DISCONTENT.*

DEAR LORD WELBY,—I request you kindly to put before the Commission this, my sixth, representation on the subjects of our enquiry.

Nobody can more appreciate the benefits of the British connexion than I do—Education in particular, appreciation of, and desire for, British political institutions, law and order, freedom of speech and public meeting, and several important social reforms. All these are the glory of England and gratitude of India. I am most sincerely ready to accord my gratitude for any benefit which Britain can rightly claim.

But, while looking at one side, justice demands that we look at the other side also. And the main object of this Commission is to see the other side of the system of the administration and management of expenditure and right apportionment.

It must be remembered that while education and law and order have been beneficial to the Indians of British India they were also most essential to the very existence of the British in India. Only that while the benefits have been to both Britain and British India, the cost has been all exacted from the Indians.

The British Empire in India is built up entirely with the money of India, and, in great measure, by the blood of India. Besides this, hundreds of millions, or, more probably, several thousands of millions (besides what

^{*} Submitted to the Welby Commission, 31st January 1897.

is consumed in India itself by Europeans and their careers of life) of money, which British has unceasingly, and ever increasingly, drawn from British Indians, and is still drawing, has materially helped to make Britain the greatest, the richest, and most glorious country in the world—benefitting her material condition so much that, even when there is a general and loud cry of depression in agriculture, etc., the Chancellor of the Exchequer is rejoicing that his income tax is marvellously increasing; while British India in its turn is reduced to "extreme poverty" and helotry.

Will the India Office be good enough to give us a Return of the enormous wealth which Britain has drawn out of India during the past century and a half, calculated with ordinary British commercial 5 per cent. compound interest, leave alone the 9 per cent. ordinary commercial rate of interest of British India? What a tale will that Return tell! The India Office must have all the records of the India House as well as its own.

I give a few figures that are available to me. The best test of this drain from British India is (1) that portion of produce exported out of British India for which nothing whatever has returned to her in any shape, either of merchandise or treasure; (2) the profits of her whole exports which she never got; (3) that portion of the exports which belongs to the Native States, and which the Native States get back, with their due profits, are included in the total imports, and are therefore not included in the net exports. For No. (1) I have the following authoritative figures for only 45 years (1849-50 to 1894-5, Statistical Abstract of British India, No. 30, 1895, p. 299). Will the India Office supply previous figures?

This table shows that British India sent out, or exported, of her produce to the extent of £526,740,000, for which she has not received back a single farthing's worth of any kind of material return. Besides this loss or drain of actual produce, there is (No. 2) the further drain of the profits on an export of £2,851,000,000, which, taken at only 10 per cent., will be another £285,000,000which British India has not received—subject to the deduction of portion of (No. 3), viz., the profits of the Native States. To this has to be added the profits which Indian foreigners (i.e., the capitalists of Native States) make in British India, and carry away to their own States. Freight and marine insurance premiums have to be taken into account, for whether for exports from, or imports into, India, these items are always paid in England. necessary to know how these two items are dealt with in the Returns of the so-called trade of British India. ordinary circumstances, one may not complain if a foreigner came and made his profits on a fair and equal footing with the people of British India. But British India is not allowed such fair and equal footing.

First, the unrighteous and despotic system of Government prevents British India from enjoying its own produce or resources, and renders it capital-less and helpless. Then, foreign capitalists come in and complete the disaster, sinking the people to the condition of their hewers of wood and drawers of water. The enormous resources of India are all at the disposal and command of these foreigners.

In understanding correctly the tables to which I refer, it must be borne in mind that all the loans made to India form a part of the imports, and are already paid for

and included in that portion of the exports which is equal to the total imports, the "net exports" in the table being, after allowing for all imports, including loans. Otherwise, if these loans were deducted from the imports, the "net exports" will be so much larger. The position of the exploitation by the foreign capitalists is still worse than I have already represented. Not only do they exploit and make profits with their own capital, but they draw even their capital from the taxation of the poor people themselves. The following words of Sir James Westland in the telegram of the Times of 18th December last will explain what I mean.

The Bank of Bengal and Chamber of Commerce "pressed the Government to take up the question of the paper currency reserve as urgently as possible, and pass a Bill without delay to afford relief to commerce." So, the European merchants, bankers, etc., may have Indian taxes at their disposal, the profits of which they may take away to their own country! The poor wretched taxpayers must not only find money for an unrighteous system of Government expenditure but must also supply capital to exploit their own recources.

The reference to this Commission is to enquire into expenditure and apportionment. I am fully convinced, and my representations fully prove it, that if the system of the administration and management of expenditure and the apportionment were based on principles of

righteousness, honesty, honour, and unselfishness, the political peculiarities of India are such as would produce an abiding attachment and connexion between the two-countries, which will not merely be of much benefit to British India but of vastly more benefit to the British-themselves than at present. Hence, my extreme desire that the connexion should continue and I can say truly that, in a spirit of loyalty both to India and to the British Empire, I have devoted my life to strengthening this connexion. I feel it therefore my duty (though a painful one) to point out candidly the causes which, in my opinion, have weakened, and are weakening more and more, this connexion, and, unless checked, threaten to destroy it.

- I. The un-English, autocratic and despotic system of administration, under which the Indian people are not given the slightest voice in the management of their own expenditure. It is not creditable to the British character that they should refuse to a loyal and law-abiding people that voice in their own affairs which they value so much for themselves.
- II. The unrighteous "bleeding" of India, under which the masses have been reduced to such "extreme poverty" that the failure of one harvest causes milliona upon millions to die from hunger, and scores of millions are living on "scanty subsistence." What Oriental despotism or Russian despotism in Russia can produce a more deplorable result?
- III. The breach or evasion by subterfuges of solemn pledges and proclamations, issued by her Majesty and the British nation, and the flouting of such Acts and Resolutions of Parliament as are favourable to Indians.

Such proceedings destroy the confidence of the Indian people in the justice of British rule. To sum up, these and other errors in administration have had the effect of inflicting upon India the triple evil of depriving the people of Weelth, Work, and Wisdom, and making the British Indians, as the ultimate result, "extremely poor," unemployed (their services which are their property in their own country, being plundered from them) and degradingly deteriorated and debased, crushing out of them their very humanhood.

Before I proceed further, let me clear up a strange confusion of ideas about prosperous British India and poverty-stricken British India. This confusion of ideas arises from this circumstance. My remarks are for British India only.

In reality there are two Indias—one the prosperous, the other poverty-stricken.

- (1) The prosperous India is the India of the British and other foreigners. They exploit India as officials, non-officials, capitalists, in a variety of ways, and carry away enormous wealth to their own country. To them India is, of course, rich and prosperous. The more they can carry away, the richer and more prosperous India is to them. These British and other foreigners cannot understand and realise why India can be called "extremely poor," when they can make their life careers; they can draw so much wealth from it and enrich their own country. It seldom occurs to them, if at all, what all that means to the Indians themselves.
- (2) The second India is the India of the Indians the poverty-stricken India. This India, "bled" and exploited in every way of their wealth, of their services, of their land, labour, and all resources by the foreigners,

helpless and voiceless, governed by the arbitrary law and arguments of force, and with injustice and unrighteousness -this India of the Indians becomes the "poorest" country in the world, after one hundred and fifty years of British rule, to the disgrace of the British name. greater the drain the greater the impoverishment, resulting in all the scourges of war, famine and pestilence. Lord Salisbury's words face us at every turn, "Injustice will bring down the mightiest to ruin." If this distinction of the "prosperous India" of the slave-holders and the "poverty-stricken India" of the slaves be carefully borne in mind, a great deal of the controversy on this point will be saved. Britain can, by a righteous system, make both Indias prosperous. The great pity is that the Indian authorities do not or would not see it. They are blinded by selfishness—to find careers for "our boys."

To any appeals the ears of the British Indian authorities are deaf. The only thing that an Indian can do is to appeal to the British people. I must explain. I have no complaint against the British people. The Sovereign, the British people, and Parliament have all in one direction done their duty by laying down the true and righteous principles of dealing with India. But their desires and biddings are made futile by their servants, the Indian authorities, in both countries. For these reasons my only resource is to appeal to the British people and to this Commission to cause the order of her Majesty and of Parliament to be carried out.

It is not needful for me to repeat my views, which I have given in my five previous representations, which have been in the hands of the Commission from nine to fifteen months, and in which I have dealt with both the injustice and the evils, and the remedy of the present system of

expenditure and apportionment, and it remains for the Commission to cross-examine me on all the six representations.

I would add here a few more remarks arising from some of the evidence and other circumstances.

Indians are repeatedly told, and in this Commission several times, that Indians are partners in the British Empire and must share the burdens of the Empire. Then I propose a simple test. For instance, supposing that the expenditure of the total Navy of the Empire is, say, £20,000,000, and as partners in the Empire you ask British India to pay £10,000,000, more or less; British India, as partner, would be ready to pay, and therefore, as partner, must have her share in the employment of British Indians, and in every other benefit of the service to the extent of her contribution. Take the Army. Suppose the expenditure of the total Army of the Empire is, say, £40,000,000. Now, you may ask £20,000,000, or more or less, to be contributed by British India. Then, as partners, India must claim, and must have, every employment and benefit of that service to the extent of her contribution. If, on the other hand, you force the helpless and voiceless British India to pay, but not to receive, a return to the extent of the payment, then your treatment is the unrighteous wicked treatment of the slave-master over British India as a slave. In short, if British India is to be treated as a partner in the Empire, it must follow that to whatever extent (be it a farthing or a hundred millions) British India contributes to the expenses of any department, to that extent the British Indians must have a share in the services and benefits of that department-whether civil, military, naval or any other; then only will British

India be the "integral part" of, or partner in, the Empire. If there be honour and righteousness on the side of the British, then this is the right solution of the rights and duties of British India and of both the references to this Commission. Then will the Empire become a true Empire with an honest partnership, and not a false Empire and an untrue partnership. This is the main, principal question the Commission has to clear up. This will fully show the true nature and solution of both the expenditure and apportionment. I appeal to the British people, have been personally observing during forty years, how the British people are always on the side of the helpless and the oppressed; how, at present, they are exerting every nerve, and lavishing money, to save the thousands of Armenians, then I cannot believe that the same people will refuse to see into the system of expenditure adopted by their own servants, by which not merely some thousands or hundred thousands suffer, but by which millions of their own fellow-subjects perish in a drought, and scores of millions live underfed, on scanty subsistence, from one end of the year to the other. The so-called Famine Relief Fund is nothing more or less than a mere substerfuge of taxing the starving to save the dying. This fund does not rain from beaven, nor does the British Exchequer give it. If the Government spend, say £5,000,000, on the present famine they will simply equeeze it out of the povertystricken surviving taxpayers, who would in turn become the victims of the next drought.

The British people stand charged with the blood of the perishing millions and the starvation of accres of millions, not because they desire so, but because the authorities to whom they have committed the trust betray that trust and administer expenditure in a manner based upon selfishness and political hypocrisy, and most disastrous to the people. There is an Indian saying: "Pray strike on the back, but don't strike on the belly."

Under the Native despot the people keep and enjoy what they produce, though at times they suffer some violence on the back. Under the British Indian despot the man is at peace, there is no violence; his substance is drained away, unseen, peaceably and subtly-he starves in peace and perishes in peace, with law and order! I wonder how the English people would like such a fate! I say, therefore, to the British people, by all means help the poor Armenians, but I appeal to you to look home also, and save the hundreds of millions of your own fellow-subjects, from whom you have taken thousands of millions of wealth, and obtained also your Indian Empire, entirely at their cost and mainly with their blood, with great careers for thousands of yourselves at our cost and destruction.

The great question is not merely how to meet a famine when it occurs—by taxing the poor people—but how to prevent the occurrence of the famine. As long as the present unrighteous system will prevail there will be no end of the scourges of India. We are thankful for the benefit of the knowledge of "Western civilisation." But what we need is the deeds of Western righteousness and honour to stop the famine and to advance the prosperity of both countries. With relation to the present famine I have to make one or two remarks.

For the famine of 1878, the British help amounted to the magnificent sum of about, I think, £700,000. On the other hand, the British public have to remember that they have been drawing, by the unrighteous system of the authorities, every year 30 to 40, or more times, £700,000 from poor India; or say from the time of the last famine they have drawn from India, and added to their own wealth, some £400,000,000 or more (leaving alone what they have been draining for a century and a half), and if they now give even £4,000,000 or £5,000,000 in the present distress, it will be but 1 or 2 per cent. of what they have obtained from India during the last eighteen years. It is a duty of the British people to give in abundance from the great, great abundance they have received. As far as the poor people of India are concerned, they will receive whatever you would give with deep gratitude in their dire extremity.

The second fact is, what the British people will readily and early give will have a double blessing. They will, in the first instance, save so many lives, and in the next place save the poor survivors from so much taxation, which otherwise the Government would exact every farthing of. for whatever Government would spend from the revenue. The novel, loud and vain boast of the Government of India having resources to meet the famine simply means this. that every farthing of the whole famine expenditure (bad or good) by the Government, will be, by their despotic power, squeezed out of the wretched people themselves by taxation in which they have not the slightest voice. Never was there a false trumpet blown than the boast of the Government to be able to cope with the famine "with its own resources." Of course, the resources of despotism are inexhaustible, for, who can prevent it from taxing as much as it likes? It is a wonder to me that they do not feel ashamed of talking of "their own resources," when it all

means so much more squeezing of a squeezed and helpless people. And especially when they not only, Shylock-like, take the whole pound of their large salaries, but also the ounce of blood of their illegal and immoral exchange compensation!

Amongst the most favourite excuses of the Anglo-Indians is, that the extreme poverty of the people and the disasters of famines are owing to increase of population. I have dealt with this subject in my third representation. and I want to say a few words more. The point to which I want to draw attention here is, that Angle-Indians, official or non-official of every kind, are not at all competent to pronounce any judgment upon the causes of poverty and disasters of famines. For, they themselves are the accused. as the cause of all the evils, and they cannot be judges to try themselves. Their own deep interest is concerned in it. Let them withdraw their hand from India's throat. and then see whether the increase in population is not an addition to its strength and production instead of Britishmade famines and poverty. Then it will also be seen that the hundreds of millions of British India, instead of being afflicted with all sorts of evils, will become your best customers and give you a true trade-more than your present trade with the whole world.

I now refer to a strange sign of the times. By an irony of fate, and as an indication of the future, and after 150 years of British connexion and rule, Russia—to whom the Anglo-Indiaus always point as a threat—offers generous sympathy and aid to starving and dying British subjects. I do not pretend to know Russia's mind, but any one can see what the effect of this, aided by the emissaries, might be on India. "See how kind and generous the

Russians are, and give us help." It will be further pointed out, "See, not only are the Russians sympathetic with you, but their great Emperor himself has published in his book, words of condemnation of the rule which sucks away your life-blood." The Times of 10th December last, in its leader on the Russo-Chinese Treaty says :--"Russia, we may be sure, will pursue her own policy and promote her own interests." "Russia is bent upon developing her vast Asiatic Empire." But the blind Indian authorities would not see that England would not have any chance to hold her own in India. without the true (not lip-loyal) attachment of the Indian people. Is it possible for any same man to think that any one nation can hold another in slavery and yet expect loyal devotion and attachment from it? It is not nature. not human nature. It has never happened and will never happen. Righteousness aloue can exalt and be enduring. Events are moving fast. The time is come when the question must be speedily answered, whether India is to be a real partner and strength to England, or a slave and a weakness to England-as it has hitherto been. How much of the future destiny of the British Empire and India depends upon this, a man of an unbiassed mind can think for himself. India forms five-sixths of the population of the British Empire.

I put one question, which I have often put, and which is always ignored or evaded. Suppose the British people were subjected to the same despotic treatment of expenditure by some foreign people, as India is by the British Indian authorities, would the British people stand it a single day without rebelling against it! No, certainly not; and yet, can the British people think it righteous

and just to treat the Indians as the Indian authorities do—as mere helpless and voiceless slaves. Macaulay has truly said that:

"that would indeed be a doting windom which, in order that India might remain a dependency, would make it a useless and costly dependency, which would keep a hundred millions (now 225,000,000) from being our customers in order that they might continue to be our slaves."

The question of remedy I have already dealt with in my fifth representation, and I would not have said more here. But as the Times of 8th December last, in its article on "Indian Affairs," confirms, by actual facts and events, the wisdom and statesmanship of Lords Salisbury and Iddesleigh in their one great work of righteous and wise policy, I desire to quote a few words. Fortunately, it is the very Mysore State to which this righteous and wise act was dore. The Times says:—

"The account which Sir Sheshadri Iyer rendered to it of his last year's stewardship is one of increasing revenue, reduced taxation, expenditure firmly kept in hand, reproductive public works, and a large expansion of cultivation, of mining and of industrial undertakings. The result is a surplus which goes to swell the previous accumulation from the same source."

Can the present system of British administration and management of the expenditure ever produce such results?

Never. A dozen Gladstones will not succeed.

Continuous and increasing "bleeding" can only reduce strength and kill. The Times' article concludes with the words:—

"A narrative such as Sir Sheshadri Iyer was able to give to the Representative Assembly of Mysore makes us realise the growth of capital in the Native States, and opens up new prospects of industrial undertakings and railway construction in India on a silver basis."

Can this be said of British India? No. I shall quote one other extract.

"One of the Bombay Chiefs, after some experience of railway-making in his own and adjoining territories, struck out a new departure at the beginning of the present year. He conceived the idea of public loans to be issued for railway construction by one Feudatory Prince to another on the guarantee of the revenues of the borrowing State. The first transaction in which this principle is completely carried out was a loan of two million rupees by H. H. Sir Bhagvat Sinhji, the ruler of Gondal, to H.H. Jasvant Sinhji, the ruler of January, 18:6."

Now, anybody who knows Jamnagar, knows that with ordinary good management it will not be long before that State is in a position to pay off its debts, just as the good management of Mysore was able to do, and the good management of Goodal has enabled its ruler to lend such an amount. This loan by Goodal, it must be remembered, is in addition to building its own railway in its own territory from its own revenue, without any loan, or help, or additional taxation.

No one can rejoice more than myself that Native States which adopt ordinary good management go on increasing in prosperity in strong contrast with the system of the British management of expenditure. This is fully confirmatory of the words of Lords Salisbury and Iddesleigh as to what should be done for British India's prosperity. I have quoted these words in my fifth representation. And some of them are worth quoting here once more. Lord Salisbury said:—

Referring to the several phases of the British rule, he sums up that they produce an amount of inefficiency

which, when reinforced by natural causes and circumstances, creates a terrible amount of misery. It might also be noted that the richest provinces and most important seaports are now British. So the people of British India should be much more prosperous than those living in the inferior districts left to Native Chiefs. Yet in British India is the "terrible amount of misery," after a rule of 150 years by the most highly-trumpeted and most highly paid services. Lord Iddesleigh not only agreed with the best course indicated by Lord Salisbury, but actually put it fully into operation with the confidence that the course he took would "at once afford a guarantee for the good government of the people, and for the security of British rights and interests." And after an experience of fifteen years, the writer in the Times is able to express such highly favourable opinion as I have quoted above.

Another favourite argument of some Anglo-Indians is the want of capacity of the Indians. In the evidence last year this was referred to once or twice. There is a paper of mine in the Journals of the East India Association on that subject, but I do not want to trouble the Commission with it: It is the old trick of the tyrant not to give you the opportunity of fair trial, and to condemn you off-hand as incapable. The Indians are put to the iniquitous handicap to come over to this country for the civil services in their own country, and from the Army and Navy they are entirely excluded from the commissioned ranks; and all this in complete violation of the most sacred pledges and Acts of Parliament. I will not, however, trouble the Commission with any further remarks on this all-important subject. It is enough for me to put before the Commission the article in the Times of 5th October last on Indian affairs as the latest honest expression of a well-known Anglo-Indian, as there have been many already from time to time from other Anglo-Indians. I put this article as an appendix.

In question 13,353, Lord Wolseley said "there never was an India until we made it"; and ir question 12,796, Sir Ralph Knex says, "My own view is that England has made India what she is." I acknowledge the correctness of these statements, viz., an India to be exploited by foreigners, and the most wretched, the poorest, the helpless, without the slightest voice in her own expenditure, perishing by millions in a drought, and starving by scores of millions; in short, "bleeding" at every pore and a helotry for England. It is not England of the English people who have made India what she is. It is the British Indian authorities who have made her what she is.

And now I shall give some account of the process by which this deplorable result was begun to be achieved. I give the character of the process in authoritative words—words of the Court of Directors, the Bengal Government, and Lord Clive—disinterred and exposed by the Committee of 1772.

First, I shall give a few words of the Court of Directors:—

"A scene of most cruel oppression" (8/2/1764). "That they have been guilty of violating treaties, of great oppression and a combination to enrich themselves" (Court of Directors' Letter, 26/4/1765). "The infidelity, rapaciousness, and misbehaviour our servants in general." "Every Englishman throughout tercountry..., exercising his power to the oppression of the h-the less Native." "We have the strongest sense of the deplotate of the corruption and rapacity of our ser the and the universal depravity of manners throughout the ment," by a scene of the most tyrannic and oppressive that ever was known in any age or country" (17/6/1766)sed upon

Now, a few words of Lord Clive and Bengal letters:—

"Rapacity and luxury." "It is no wonder that the lust of riches should readily embrace the proffered means of its gratification, or that the instruments of your power should avail themselves of their authority, and proceed even to extortion in those cases where simple corruption could not keep pace with their rapacity."
"Luxury, corruption, avarice, and rapacity." "to stem that torrent of luxury, corruption, avarice, and rapacity." "the depravity of the Settlement," "shameful oppression and flagrant corruption," grievous exactions and oppressions." "The most flagrant oppressions by members of the Board." "An administration so notoriously corrupt and meanly venal throughout every department," "which, if enquired into, will produce discoveries, which cannot bear the light..., but may bring disgrace upon this nation, and at the same time, blast the reputation of great and good families."

Such were the first relations between England and India, and the manner in which India was being made what she is.

Change came—corruption and oppression were replaced by high salaries. It is so easy and agreeable to give one's own countrymen high salaries at other people's expense the drain remains going on heavier and heavier. What the drain in the last century was generally estimated at —something like three or five millions a year—has now become, perhaps, ten times as much. Would the India Office be good enough to give a correct statement?

Adding insult to injury, the Indians have often flaunted in their face the loans made to them, which are perhaps not one-twentieth of what is taken away from the wretched country, and which further drains the country in the shape of profits and interest. And the and italists also are supposed to benefit us by using us as sioned rest of wood and drawers of water, and taking away most some he country the profits of the resources of that however, and thus we lose our own wealth, services, and on this allight and yet we are told by some we before the

are getting immensely prosperous. May the British people never meet our fate!

After I had finished the above I sttended the meeting at the Mension House. I do not in any way blame the speakers; but what a humiliating confession it was about the treatment of India by England. The only wonder is that those who made this confession did not seem to be conscious of its humiliation and unrighteousness. On the contrary, they took it with a complacency as if it was a merit of the Indian authorities. But Nature spoke the truth of the great wrong through them. Here is a people, who if they pride themselves-and justly pride-upon anything, it is their love of liberty, their determination to submit to no despotic master, who beheaded one king and banished another to preserve and maintain their government, with the voice of the people themselves, who sing that Britain shall never be a slave, whose fundamental boast is that they regard " taxation without representation is tyranny," and that they would resist any such tyranny to a man. These people, it is confessed from a platform in the very centre of the struggle for liberty, proclaimed with a naivete and unctuousness that they deliberately in India deprived the hundreds of millions of people of this very right of humanhood for which they are so proud for themselves, that they reduced the people of India from humanhood to beasts of burden, depriving them of every voice whatsoever in their own affairs, and that they deliberately chose to govern them as the worst despots-the foreign despots for whom Macaulay has said that "the heaviest of all yokes is the yoke of the stranger." And it is this yoke of the worst despotism they imposed upon

India, with all its most horrible evils of exploitation and all the scourges of this world. A Briton would not be a slave, but he would make hundreds of millions of others his slaves !- the greatest crime that any one nation can commit against another. And yet these Anglo-Indians are so callous to their own British instincts and character, that they proclaimed from the platform, with every complacency, that they had deliberately committed the unhumanising wrong, without feeling the least blush of shame, and to the disgrace and humiliation of their own nation, the British people, though the British people never desired such un-English unrighteousness towards the people of India; on the contrary, they always desired and proclaimed, by the most solemn pledges and Acts of Parliament, that the Indiana shall be British citizens, with all the rights and duties of British citizenship, exactly like those which the British people themselves enjoy. Never was there a more condemnatory confession than in those speeches, that with the results of the terrible famine and plague they were bringing out more and more the bitter fruits of their unrighteous system in the administration of expenditure in the deaths of millions by famine and in the starvation of scores of millions.

The other day an Anglo-Indian military officer, talking shout the immigration of the persecuted Jews in this country, held forth with the greatest indignation why these wretched Jews should come to this country and deprive our peor workingmen of their bread. Little did he think at the time that he himself was an immigrant forced upon the Indian people by a despotic rule, and was depriving them, not of the bread of one person, but perhaps of hundreds, or thousands, of the poor workingmen of India.

I felt thankful from the bottom of my heart to the Lord Mayor for that meeting. It brought out two things--a satisfactory assurance to the Indian people that the British people are feeling for their distress, and are willing to help; and a lesson to the British people which they ought to take to heart, and for which they should do their duty, that their servants have deliberately adopted an un-English and unrighteous course, and deprived hundreds of millions of human beings of the very thing which the British people value most above all things in the world-their own voice in their own affairs: their highest glory above all other nationalities in the world. They call us fellow-citizens, and they must make their word a reality, instead of what it is at present, an untruth and a romance-simply a relationship of slaveholder and slave.

I shall sum up my six representations by reading before the Commission a brief note of my propositions at the commencement of my examination, leaving the Commission to cross-examine me afterwards. I shall also lay before the Commission certain other papers bearing upon our enquiry.

Yours truly,

DADABHAI NAOROJI.

ADMISSION OF NATIVES TO THE COVENANTED CIVIL SERVICE.*

DEAR LORD WELBY,—I now give my statement on the Admission of Natives to the Covenanted Civil Service in India, as promised by me at the meeting of the Commission on 21st July last, and request you to place it before the Commission. I shall send a copy to the members.

If required, I shall give any further statement I can on any particular point that may require to be more elucidated. I shall be willing to be cross-examined if required.

The first deliberate and practical action was taken by Parliament in the year 1833.

All aspects of the whole question of all services were then fully discussed by eminent men; and a Committee of the House made searching enquiry into the whole subject.

I give below extracts from what was said on that occasion, and a definite conclusion was adopted.

I am obliged to give some of the extracts at length, because it must be clearly seen on what statesmanlike and far-seeing grounds this conclusion was arrived at.

The italics all through are mine, except when I say that they are in the original.

^{*}Submitted to the Welby Commission, November 3rd, 1897.

East India Company's Charter, Hansard, Vol. XIX, Third Series, p. 169. July 5th, 1833.

The MARQUIS OF LANSDOWNE:-

"But he should be taking a very narrow view of this question, and one utterly inadequate to the great importance of the subject, which involved in it the happiness or misery of 100,000,000 of human beings, were he not to call the attention of their lordships " to the bearing which this question and to the influence which this arrangement must exercise upon the future destinies of that vast mass of people." He was sure that their lordships would feel, as he indeed felt, that their only justification before God and Providence for the great and unprecedented dominion which they exercised in India was in the happiness which they communicated to the subjects under their rule, and in proving to the world at large and to the inhabitants of Hindustan that the inheritance of Akbar (the wisest and most beneficent of Mahomedan Princes) had not fallen into unworthy or degenerate hands. Hence it was important that when the dominion of India was transferred from the East India Company to the King's Government they should have the benefit of the experience of the most enlightened councillors, not only on the financial condition of our Empire in the East but also on the character of its inhabitants. He stated confidently, after referring to the evidence given by persons eminently calculated to estimate what the character of the people of India was, that they must, as a first step to their improved social condition, be admitted to a larger share in the administration of their local affairs. On that point their lordships had the testimony of a series of successful experiments and the evidence of the most unexceptionable witnesses who had gone at a mature period of their life and with much natural and acquired knowledge to visit the East. Among the crowd of witnesses which he could call to the improvable condition of the Hindu character he would select only two; but those two were well calculated to form a correct judgment, and fortunately contemplated Indian society from very different points of view. Those two witnesses were Sir Thomas Mouro and Bishop Heber. He could not conceive any two persons more eminently calculated to form an accurate opinion upon human character, and particularly upon that of the Hindu tribes. They were both highly distinguished for talent and integrity, yet they were placed in situations from which they might have easily come to the formation of different opinions one of them being conversant with the affairs of the East from his childhood and familiarised by long habit with the working of the system, and the other being a refined Christian philosopher and scholar going out to the Fast late in life, and applying in India the knowledge which he had acquired

here to form an estimate of the character of its inhabitants. He held in his hand the testimony of each of those able men, as extracted from their different published works, and with the permission of the House he would read a few words from both. Sir T. Monro, in speaking of the Hindu character, said: 'Unless we suppose that they are inferior to us in natural talent, which there is no reason to believe, it is much more likely that they will be duly qualified for their employments than Europeans for theirsbecause the field of selection is so much greater in the one than in the other. We have a whole nation from which to make our choice of Natives, but in order to make choice of Europeans we have only the small body of the Company's Covenanted servants. No conceit more wild and absurd than this was ever engendered in the darkest ages: for what is in every age and every country the great stimulus to the pursuit of knowledge but the prospect of fame or wealth or power? Or what is even the use of great attainments if they are not to be devoted to their noblest purpose, the service of the community, by employing those who possess them according to their respective qualifications in the various duties of the public administration of the country? Our books alone will do little or nothing; dry, simple literature will never improve the character of a nation. To produce this effect it must open the road to wealth and honour and public employment. Without the prospect of such reward no attainments in science will ever raise the character of a people.' That was the sound practical opinion of Sir T. Monro, founded on his experience acquired in every part of India, in every department of the publice service. Bishop Heber during his extensive journey of charity and religion through India, to which he at length fell a martyr, used these remarkable expressions: 'Of the natural disposition of the Hindu I still see abundant reason to think highly, and Mr. Bayley and Mr. Melville both agreed with me that they are constitutionally kind-hearted, industrious, sober, and peaceable; at the same time that they show themselves on proper occasions a manly and courrageous people.' And again: They are decidedly by nature a mild, pleasing, and intelligent race, sober, parsimonious, and, where an object is held out to them, most industrious and persevering.' Their lordships were therefore justified in coming to the same conclusion-a conclusion to which, indeed, they must come if they only considered the acts of this people in past ages-if they only looked at the monuments of gratitude and piety which they had erected to their benefactors and friends-for to India, if to any country, the observation of the poet applied:-

Sunt hie ctiam ona præmia laudi.

Sunt lacrymæ verum, et mentem mortalia tangunt.'

But, however much civilisation had been obscured in those regions, whatever inroads foreign conquest and domestic superattion had made upon their moral habits, it was undeniable that they had still materials left for improving and ameliorating their condition; and their lordships would be remiss in the performance of the high duties which devolved upon them if they did not secure to the numerous Natives of Hindustan the ample development of all their mental endowments and moral qualifications. It was a part of the new system which he had to propose to their lordships that to every office in India every Native, of whatsoever caste, sect, or religion, should by law be equally admissible, and he hoped that Government would seriously endowour to give the fullest effect to this arrangement, which would be as beneficial to the people themselves as it would be advantageus to the economical reforms which were now in progress in different parts of India."

(Page 174, July 5th, 1833.)—"And without being at all too sanguine as to the result of the following up those principles without calculating upon any extension of territory through them, he was confident "that the strength of the Government would be increased by the happiness of the people over whom it presided, and by the attachment of those nations to it."

Vol. X1X., Third Series, p. 191. July 5th, 1833.

Lord Ellenborough:

"He felt deeply interested in the prosperity of India and when he was a Minister of the Crown, filling an office peculiarly connected with that country, he had always considered it his paramount duty to do all in his power to promote that prosperity. He was as anxious as any of his Majesty's Ministers could be to raise the moral character of the Native population of India. He trusted that the time would eventually come, though he never expected to see it, when the Natives of India could, with advantage to the country and with honour to themselves, fill even the highest situations there. He looked forward to the arrival of such a period, though he considered it far distant from the present day; and he proposed, by the reduction of taxation, which was the only way to benefit the lower classes in India, to elevate them ultimately in the scale of society, so as to fit them for admission to offices of power and trust. To attempt to precipitate the arrival of such a state of society as that he had been describing was the surest way to defeat the object in view. He never, however, looked forward to a period when all offices in India would be placed in the hands of Natives. No man in his senses would propose to place the political and military power in India in the hands of the Natives.

"The Marquess of Landowne observed that what the Government proposed was that all offices in Iudia should be by law open to the Natives of that country.

"Lord Ellenborough said such was precisely the proposition of Government, but our very existence in India depended upon the exclusion of the Natives from military and political power in that country. We were there in a situation not of our own seeking in a situation from which we could not recede without producing bloodshed from one end of India to the other. We had won the Empire of India by the aword, and we must preserve it by the same means, doing at the same time everything that was consistent with our existence there fore the good of the people."

Macaulay fully answers Lord Ellenborough.

Vol. XIX, Third Series, p. 533. July 10th, 1833.

Mr. Macaulay :-

"I have detained the House so long, Sir, that I will defer what I had to say in some parts of this measure-important parts, indeed, but far less important as I think than those to which I have adverted, till we are in Committee. There is, however, one part of the Bill on which, after what has recently passed elsewhere, I feel myself irresistibly impelled to say a few words. "I allude to that wise, that benevolent, that noble clause, which enacts that no Native of our Indian Empire shall, by reason of his colour, his descent, or his religion, be meapable of holding office." At the risk of being called by that nickname which is regarded as the most opprobrious of all nicknames by men of selfish hearts and contracted minds-at the risk of being called a philosopher—I must say that, to the last day of my life, I shall be proud of having been one of those who assisted in the framing of the Bill which contains that clause. We are told that the time can never come when the Natives of India can be admitted to high civil and military office. We are told that this is the condition on which we hold our power. We are told that we are bound to confer on our subjects every benefit which they are capable of enjoying ?-no-which it is in our power to confer on them?-no-but which we can confer on them without hazard to our own domination. "Against that proposition I solemnly protest as inconsistent alike with sound policy and sound morality."

"I am far, very far, from wishing to proceed hastily in this most delicate matter. I feel that, for the good of India itself, the admission of Natives to high office must be effected by slow degrees. But that when the fulness of time is come, when the interest of India requires the change, we ought to refuse to make that change lest we should endanger our own power—this is a doctrine which I cannot think of without indignation. Governmenta, like men, may buy existence too dear. "Propter vitam vivendi pordere causaa," is a despicable policy either in individuals

or in States. In the present case, such a policy would be not only despicable, but absurd." The mere extent of empire is not necessarily an advantage. To many Governments it has been cumbersome; to some it has been fatal. It will be allowed by every statesman of our time that the prosperity of a community is made up of the prosperity of those who compose the community, and that it "is the most childish ambition to covet dominion which adds to no man's comfort or security." To the great trading nation, to the great manufacturing nation, no progress which any portion of the human race can make in knowledge, in taste for the conveniences of life, or in the wealth by which those conveniences are produced, can be matter of indifference. It is scarcely possible to calculate the benefits which we might derive from the diffusion of European civilisation among the vast population of the East. "It would be, on the most selfish view of the case, far better for us that the people of India were well governed and independent of us, than ill-governed and subject to us "-that they were ruled by their own kings, but wearing our broad cloth, and working with our cuttery, than that they were performing their salaams to English Collectors and English Magistrates, but were too ignorant to value, or too poor to buy, English manufactures. To trade with civilised men is infinitely more profitable than to govern savages. "That would indeed be a doting wisdom, which, in order that India might remain a dependency, would keep it a useless and costly dependency-which would keep a hundred millions of men from being our cu stomers in order that they might continue to be our slaves.

"It was, as Bernier tells us, the practice of the miserable tyrants whom he found in Irdia, when they dreaded the capacity and spirit of some distinguished subject, and yet could not venture to murder him, to administer to him a daily dose of the pousta, a preparation of opium, the effect of which was in a few months to destroy all the bodily and mental powers of the wretch who was drugged with it, and to turn him into a helpless idiot. "That detectable artifice, more horrible than assassination itself, was worthy of those who employed it. "It is no model for the English nation. We shall never consent to administer the pousta to a whole community—to stupefy and paralyse a great people. whom God has committed to our charge, for the wretched purpose of rendering them more amenable to our control." What is that power worth which is founded on vice, on ignorance, and on misery-which we can hold only by violating the most sacred duties which as governors we owe to the governed-which as a people blessed with far more than an ordinary measure of political liberty and of intellectual light, we owe to a race debased by three thousand years of despotism and priesteraft? "We are free, we are civilised to little purpose, if we grudge to any portion of the human race an equal measure of freedom and civilisation.

"Are we to keep the people of India ignorant in order that we may keep them submissive? Or do we think that we can give them knowledge without awakening ambition? Or do we mean to awaken ambition and to provide it with no legitimate vent? Who will answer any of these questions in the affirmative? Yet one of them must be answered in the affirmative by every person who maintains that we ought permanently to exclude the Natives from high office. "I have no fears. The path of duty is plain before us: and it is also the path of wisdom, of national prosperity, of national honour.

"The destinies of our Indian Empire are covered with thick darkness. It is difficult to form any conjecture as to the fate reserved for a State which resembles no other in history, and which forms by itself a separate class of political phenomena. The laws which regulate its growth and its decay are still unknown to us. It may be that the public mind of India may expand under our system till it has outgrown that system; that by good government we may educate our subjects into a capacity for better government, that, having become instructed in European knowledge, they may, in some future age, demand European institutions. Whether such a day will ever come I know not. "But never will I attempt to avert or to retard it. Whenever it comes, it will be the proudest day in English history." To have found a great people sunk in the lowest depths of slavery and superstition, to have so ruled them as to have made them desirous and capable of all the privileges of citizens would indeed be a The sceptre may pass away title to "glory all our own." from us. Unforeseen accidents may derange our most profound schemes of policy. Victory may be inconstant to our arms. "But there are triumphs which are followed by no reverses. There is an empire exempt from all natural causes of decay. Those triumphs are the pacific triumphs of reason over barbarism; that empire is the imperishable empire of our arts and our morals, our literature, and our law."

Vol. X1X, Third Series, p. 536.

*Vuly 10th, 1833.

Mr. WYNN:-

"In nothing, however, more unreservedly did he agree with the hon, member than in the sentiments which he so forcibly impressed on the House at the close of his speech. "He had been convinced, ever since he was first connected with the affairs of India, that the only principle on which that Empire could justly or wisely or advantageously be administered was that of admitting the Natives to a participation in the government, and allowing them to hold every office the duties of which they were competent to discharge." That principle had been supported by the authority of Sir Thomas Monro, and of the ablest functionaries in India, and been resisted with no small pertinacity and prejudice. It had been urged that the Natives were undeserving of trust, that no dependence could be placed on their integrity, whatever might be their talents and capacity, which no one disputed. Instances were adduced of their corruption and venality.—" but were they not the result of our conduct towards them?" Duties of importance devolved upon them without any adequate remuneration either in rank or salary. There was no reward or promotion for fidelity; and why then complain of peculation and bribery. "We made vices and then punished them; we reduced men to slavery and then reproached them with the faults of slaves."

Vol. XIX, Third Series, p. 547.

July 10th, 1833.

Mr. CHARLES GRANT, in replying, said :-

"He would advert very briefly to some of the suggestions which had been offered in the course of this debate. Before doing so, he must first embrace the opportunity of expressing not what he felt, for language could not express it, but of making an attempt to convey to the House his sympathy with it in its admiration of the speech of his hon, and learned friend the member for Leeds-a speech which, he would venture to assert, had never been exceeded within those walls for the development of statesmanlike policy and practical good sense. It exhibited all that was noble in oratory, all that was sublime, he had almost said, in poetry-all that was truly great, exalted, and virtuous in human nature. If the House at large felt a deep interest in this magnificent display it might judge of what were his emotions when he perceived in the hands of his hon, friend the great principles he had propounded to the House glowing with fresh colours and arraved in all the beauty of truth.

"If one circumstance more than another could give him satisfaction it was that the main principle of this Bill had received the approbation of the House, and that the House was now legislating for India and the people of India on the great and just principle that in doing so the interests of the people of India should be principlet that in doing so the interests of the people of India should be principally consulted, and that all other interests of wealth, of commerce, and of revenue, should be as nothing compared with the paramount obligation imposed upon the legislature of promoting the welfare and prosperity of that great Empire which Providence had placed in our hands.

"Convinced as he was of the necessity of admitting Europeans to India, he would not consent to remove a single restriction on their admission unless it was consistent with the interests of the Natives. Provide for their protection and then throw open wide the doors of those magnificent regions and admit subjects there—not as aliens, not as culprits, but as friends. In spite of the difference between the two peoples, in spite of the difference of their religions, there was a sympathy which he was persuaded would unite them, and he looked forward with hope and engerness to the "rich harvest of blessings which he trusted would flow from the present measure."

Page 624, July 12th 1633.

Mr. Wynn:-

"He could not subscribe to the perfection of the system that had hitherto prevailed in India; for, he could not forget that the Natives and half-castes were excluded from all employment in situations where they could be more effective than Europeans and at a much smaller cost. "The principle of employing those persons he considered to be essential to the good government of India." and he could not applied that system which had been founded on a violation of that principle."

Vol. XX., Third Series, p. 223, August 5th, 1833.

Duke of Wellington :-

"Then with respect to the clause declaring the Natives to be eligible to all situations. Why was that declaration made in the face of a regulation preventing its being carried into effect? It was a mere deception. It might, to a considerable extent, be applicable in the capitals of the Presidencies; but, in the interior, as appeared by the evidence of Mr. Elphinstone, and by that of every respectable authority, it was impracticable. He certainly thought that it was advisable to admit the Natives to certain inferior civil and other offices; but the higher ones must as yet be closed against them, if our Empire in India was to be maintained."

After such exhaustive consideration from all political, imperial, and social aspects, the following, "that wire, that benevolent, that noble clause," was deliberately enacted by the Parliament of this country—worthy of the righteousness, justice, and noble instincts of the British people in the true British spirit

3 and 4 William IV., cap. 85. 1833.

"That no native of the said territories, nor any natural-born subject of his Majesty resident therein, shall, by reason only of his religion, place of birth, descent, colour, or any of them, be disabled from holding any place, office, or employment under the said Company."

Ret. C-2376, 1879, p. 13.

"The Court of Directors interpreted this Act in an explaining despatch in the following words:—

"The Court conceive this section to mean that "there shall be no governing caste in British India"; that whatever other tests of qualification may be adopted, distinction of race or religion shall not be of the number; that no subject of the King, whether of Indian or British or mixed descent, shall be excluded from the posts usually conferred on Uncovenanted servants in India, or from the Covenanted Service itself, provided he be otherwise eligible."

After this explanation by the Court of Directors, how did they behave?

During the twenty years of their Charter, to the year 1853, they made the Act and their own explanation a complete dead letter. They did not at all take any steps to give the slightest opportunity to Indians for a single appointment to the Covenanted Civil Service, to which my statement chiefly refers; though the British people and Parliament are no party to this unfaithfulness, and never meant that the Act should remain a sham and delusion.

Twenty years passed, and the revision of the Company's Charter again came before Parliament in 1853; and if anything was more insisted on and bewailed than another, it was the neglect of the authorities to give effect to the Act of 1833. The principles of 1833 were more emphatically insisted on. I would just give a few extracts from the speeches of some of the most eminent statesmen in the debate on the Charter.

Hansard, Vol. 120 p. 865. April 19th, 1852.

Mr. Golbeurn :---

"Sir Thomas Monro had said—There is one great question to which we should look in all our arrangements, namely, what is to be the final result of our government on the character of the people, and whether that character will be raised or lowered. Are we to be satisfied with merely securing our power and protecting the inhabitants, leaving them to sink gradually in character lower than at present, or are we to endeavour to raise their character? It ought undoubtedly to be our aim to raise the minds of the Natives, and to take care that whenever our connexion with India shall cease, it shall not appear that the only fruit of our dominion had been to leave the people more abject than when we found them. It would certainly be more desirable we should be expelled from the country altogether, than that our system of government should be such an abasement of a whole people."

> Hansard, Vol. 121, p. 496. May 11th, 1852.

Lord MONTEAGLE, in presenting a petition to the House of Lords, said :-

"But a clause recommended or supported as he believed by the high authority of Lord William Eentinck was made part of the last Charter Act of the 3rd and 4th William IV, and affirmed the principle of an opposite policy. It was to the following effect: Yet notwithstanding his authority, notwithstanding likewise the result of the experiment tried and the spirit of the clause he had cited, there had been a practical exclusion of them from all 'Covenanted Services,' as they were called, from the passing of the last Charter up to the present time."

Hansard, Vol. 127, p. 1,184.

June 3rd, 1853.

Mr. Bright:-

Another subject requiring close attention on the part of Parliament was the employment of the Natires of India in the service of the Government. The right hon, member for Edinburgh (Mr. Macaulay), in proposing the India Bill of 1833 had dwelt on one of its clauses, which provided that neither colour nor easte nor religion nor place of birth should be a bar to the employ-

ment of persons by the Government; whereas, as matter of fact, from that time to this no person in India had been so employed who might not have been equally employed before that clause was enacted; and from the statement of the right hon, gentleman the President of the Eoard of Control, that it was proposed to keep up the Covenanted Service system, it was clear that this most objectionable and most offensive state of things was to continue. Mr. Cameron, a gentleman thoroughly versed in the subject, as fourth Member of Council in India, President of the Indian Law Commission, and of the Council of Education for Bengal--what did he say on this point? He said: 'The statute of 1833 made the Natives of India' eligible to all offices' under the Company. But during the twenty years that have since elapsed not one of the Natives has been appointed to any offices except such as they were eligible to before the statute."

Hansard, Vol. 128, p. 759, 1853.

MACAULAY said :-

"In my opinion we shall not secure or prolong our dominion in India by attempting to exclude the Natives of that country from a share in its government." (Contemporary Review, June, 1863, p. 803.)

Hansard, Vol. 128, p. 986. June 30th, 1853.

Mr. Rich:-

" But if the case es to the Native military was a strong one, it was much stronger as to civilians. It had been admitted that ninety-five per cent, of the administration of justice was discharged by Native judges. Thus they had the work, the hard work; but the places of honour and emolument were reserved for the Covenanted Service—the friends and relatives of the directors. Was it just that the whole work, the heat and labour of the day, should be borne by Natives and all the prizes reserved for Europeans? Was it politic to continue such a system? They might turn up the whites of their eyes and exclaim at American persistence in slavery. There the hard work was done by the negro whilst the coutrol and enjoyment of profit and power were for the American. Was ours different in India? What did Mill lay down? European control-Native agency. And what was the translation of that? 'White power, black slavery.' Was this just, or was it wise? Mill said it was necessary in order to obtain respect from the Natives. But he (Mr. Rich) had yet to learn that injustice was the parent of respect. Real respect grew out of common service, common emulation, and common rights impartially upheld. We must underpia

our Empire by such principles, or some tine morning it would crumble beneath our feet. Bo long as he had a voice in that House it should be raised in favour of admitting our Native fellow subjects in India to all places to which their abilities and conduct should entitle them to rise."

Hansard, Vol. 129, p. 581.

July 21st, 1853.

Mr. Moncton Milnes:--

"Objectionable as he believed many parts of the Bill were, he considered this was the most objectionable portion, and from it, very unhappy consequences might arise. When the Natives of India, heard it proclaimed, that they had a right to enter the service of the Company, they would by their own intelligence and ability render themselves qualified for that service, if they only had the means of doing so. Then one of the two consequences would follow. They would either find their way into the service, or else the Company would liave arrayed against them a spirit of discontent on the part of the whole people of India, the result of which it would be difficult to foresee. He did not see on what principles of justice, if they once admitted the principle of open competition, they could say to the Natives of India they had not a perfect right to enter the service."

Hansard, Vol. 129, p. 665. July 22nd, 1853.

Mr. J. G. PHILLIMORE quotes Lord William Bentinck:-

"The bane of our system' is not solely that the Civil Administration is entirely in the hands of foreigners, but the holders of this monopoly, the patrons of these foreign agents, are those who exercise its directing power at home; that this directing power is exclusively paid by patronage, and that the value of the patronage depends exactly upon the degree in which all the honours and emoluments of the State are sugroused by their clients to the exclusion of the Natives. There exists, in consequence, on the part of the home authorities, an interest in the Administration precisely similar to what formerly prevailed as to commerce, 'and directly opposed to the welfare of India.'"

Though open competition was introduced, the monopoly of the Europeans and the injustice and injury to the Indians was allowed to continue by refusing to the Indians simultaneous examinations in India as the only method of justice to them, as will be seen further on. Mr. Rich and Lord Stanley (the late Lord Derby) then emphatically put their fingers upon this black plaguespot in the system of British rule.

> Hansard, Vol. 129, p. 682. July 22nd, 1853.

Mr. Rich raised the question whether or not the Natives were to be admitted to the Company's Covenanted Service. He said:—

"As regarded employment in the public service, the Natives were placed in a worse position by the present Bill than they were before. The intention of the Act of 1833 was to open the services to the Natives; and surely now, when our Indian Empire was more secure than it was at that time, it was not wise to deviate from such a line of policy. His object was that all offices in India ahould be effectively opened to Natives, and therefore he would not require them to come over to this country for examination, as such a condition would necessarily entail on Natives of India great expense, expose them to the risk of losing caste, and thereby operate as a bar against their obtaining the advantages held out to all other of her Majesty's subjects. The course of education through which the youth of India at present went at the established colleges in that country afforded the most satisfactory proof of their efficiency for discharging the duties of office.

"This was not just or wise, and would infallibly lead to a most dangerous agitation, by which in a few years that "which would now be accepted as a boon would be wrested from the Legislature as a right." They had opened the commerce of India in spite of the croakers of the day. "Let them now open the posts of government to the Natives, and they would have a more happy

and contented people."

Haneard, Vol. 129, p. 684. July 22nd, 1853.

Lord STANLEY:-

"He could not refrain from expressing his conviction that, in refusing to carry on examinations in India as well as in England—a thing that was easily practicable—the Government were, in fact, negativing that which they declared to be one of the principal objects of their Bill, and confining the civil service, as heretofore, to Englishmen. "That result was unjust, and he believed it would be most pernicious."

Hansard, Vol. 129, p. 784. July 25th, 1853,

Lord STANLEY :-

"Let them suppose, for instance, that instead of holding those examinations here in London, that they were to be held in Calcutta. Well, now many Englishmen would go out there—or how many would send out their sons, perhaps to spend two or three years in the country on the chance of obtaining an appointment! "Nevertheless, that was exactly the course proposed to be adopted towards the Natives of India."

Hansard, Vol. 129, p. 778. July 25th, 1853.

Mr. BRIGHT said :-

"That the motion now before the Committee involved the question which had been raised before during these discussions. but which had never been fairly met by the President of the Board of Control, namely, whether the clause in the Act of 1833, which had been so often alluded to, had not up to this time been altogether a nullity. If any doubt had been entertained with respect to the object of that clause, it would be removed by reference to the answers given by the then President of the Board of Control to the hon, member for Montrose and to the speech of the right hon, gentleman the present member for Edinburgh (Mr. Macaulay), in both of which it was distinctly declared that the object was to break down the barriers which were supposed to exist to the admission of the Natives as well as Europeans to high offices in India. And yet there was the best authority for saying that nothing whatever had been done in consequence of that clause. He (Mr. Bright) did not know of a single case where a Native of India had been admitted to any office since that time, more distinguished or more highly paid than he would have been competent to fill had that clause been not passed."

> Hansard, Vol. 129, p. 787. July 25th, 1853.

Mr. Moncron Milnes said :-

"He thought the Bill was highly objectionable in this respect that while it pretended to lay down the generous principle that no condition of colour, creed or casts was to be regarded as a disqualification for office, it hampered the principle with such regulations and modifications as would render it all but impossible for the Natives to avail themselves of it. The Bill in this respect was a delusion and would prove a source of chronic and permanent discontent to the people of India."

> Hansard, Vol. 129, p. 788. July 25th, 1853.

Mr. J. G. PHILLIMORE said :-

"He also feared that the Bill would prove delusive, and that although it professed to do justice to the Natives the "spirit of monopoly would still blight the hopes and break the spirits of the Indian people. While such a state of things continued India would be attached to this country by no bond of affection," but would be retained by the power of the Army and the terror of the sword. He implored of the Committee "not to allow such an Empire to be governed in the miserable spirit of monopoly and exclusion."

Will the present statesmen ever learn this truth? Is it a wonder that the British people are losing the affections of the Indian people?

Hansard, Vol. 129, p. 1,335.

August 5th, 1853.

Earl GRASVILLE:-

"I for one, speaking individually, have never felt the alightest alarm at Natives, well-qualified and fitted for public employments, being employed in any branch of the public service of India."

Thus began the second chapter of this melancholy history with the continuation of the same spirit of selfishness which had characterised the previous twenty years, with the clear knowledge of the gross injustice to the Indians by not allowing them the same facility as was allowed to English youths, by simultaneous examinations in India and England. This injustice continued till the second chapter ended in the Mutiny of 1857, and the rule passed from the Company to the Crown.

The third chapter from that time began again with the revival of great hopes—that, however unfortunate and

deplorable the Mutiny was, one great good sprang from that evil. The conscience of the British people was awakened to all previous injustice and dishonour brought upon them by their servants, and to a sense of their own duty. A new era opened, brighter, far brighter, than even that of the Act of 1833.

Not only was the Act of 1833 allowed to continue a living reality, at least in word, but in directing the mode of future services the Act of 1858 left it comprehensively open to adopt any plan demanded by justice. It did not indicate in the slightest degree prevention or exclusion of Indians from any service or from simultaneous examinations in India and England, or of any mode of admission of Indians into the Covenanted Civil Service, or of doing equal justice to all her Majesty's natural-born subjects. I shall show further on the interpretation by the Civil Service Commissioners themselves.

The sections of the Act of 1858 are as follows:-

1.-21-22 Vic., Cap. 106, "An Act for the better government of ladia" (2nd August, 1858). Section 32 provides that:-

"With all convenient speed after the passing of this Act, regulations shall be made by the Secretary of State in Council, with the advice and assistance of the Commissioners for the time being acting in execution of her Majesty's Order in Council of Twenty-first May, One thousand, eight hundred, and fifty-five, *for regulating the admission of persons to the Civil Service of the Crown,' for admitting all persons being natural-born subjects of her Majesty (and of such age and qualification as may be prescribed in this behalf) who may be desirous of becoming candidates for appointment to the Civil Services of India to be examined as candidates accordingly, and for prescribing the branches of knowledge in which such candidates shall be examined, and generally for regulating and conducting such examinations under the superintendence of the said last-mentioned Commissioners, or of the persons for the time being entrusted with the carrying out of such regulations as may be from time to time established by her Majesty for examination, certificate, or other test of fitness in relation to appointments to junior situations in the Civil Services of the Crown, and the candidates who may be

certified by the said Commissioners or other persons an aforesaid to be entitled under such regulations shall be recommended for appointment according to the order of their proficiency as shown by such examinations, and such persons only as shall have been so certified as aforesaid shall be appointed or admitted to the Civil Services of India by the Secretary of State in Council: Provided always, that all regulations to be made by the said Secretary of State in Council under this Act shall be laid before Parliament thin fourteen days after the making thereof, if Parliament be sitting, and, if Parliament be not sitting, then within fourteen days after the pert meeting thereof."

2.—The same Act, Cap. 106, Sect. 34, provides:—

"With all convenient speed after the commencement of this Act, regulations shall be made for admitting any persons "being natural-born subjects of her Majesty" (and of such age and qualifications as may be prescribed in this behalf) who may be desirous of becoming cardidates for cadetahips in the Engineers and in the Artillery, to be examined as candidates accordingly, and for prescribing the branches of knowledge in which such candidates shall be examined, and generally for regulating and conducting such examinations."

Though this Section does not impose any disability on Indian—for it provides for "any persons being natural-born subjects of her Majesty"—yet an Indian is totally excluded from such examination. As I have already placed before the Commission my correspondence with the War Office, I need not say more.

3.—Sections 35 and 36 provide:—

"Not less than one-tenth of the whole number of persons to be recommended in any year for military cadetahips (other than eadetahips in the Engineers and Artillery) shall be selected according to such regulations as the Secretary of State in Council may from time to time make in this behalf from among the soms of persons who have served in India in the military or civil services of her Majesty, or of the East India Company."

"Except as aforesaid, all persons to be recommended for military ead-tahips shall be nominated by the Secretary of State and Members of Council, so that out of seventees nominations the Secretary of State shall have two and each Member of Council shall have one; but no person so nominated shall be recommended unless the nomination be approved of by the Secretary of State in Council."

In these sections also there is no exclusion of Indians, But the Sovereign and the people did not rest even by such comprehensive enactment by Parliament. They explicitly emphasized and removed any possible doubt with regard to the free and equal treatment of all her Majesty's natural-born subjects without any distinction of race, colour, or creed.

Thus, on the lat November, 1858, followed the great and glorious Proclamation by the Sovereign on behalf of the British people: our complete "great charter" of our national and political rights of British citizenship and of perfect equality in all the services of the Sovereign—a proclamation the like of which had never been proclaimed in the history of the world under similar circumstances,

Here are the special clauses of that Proclamation :-- ,

"We hold ourselves bound to the Natives of our India territories by the "same obligations of duty which bind us to a our other aubjects," and those obligations, by the blessing o. Almighty God, we shall "faithfully and conscientiously" fulfil."

"And it is our further will that, so far as may be, our subjects, of whatever race or creed, be freely and impartially admitted to offices in our service, the duties of which they may be qualified, by their education, ability and integrity, duly to discharge.

"In their prosperity will be our strength, in their contentment our security, and in their gratitude our best reward. And may the God of all Power grant to us, and to those in authority under us, strength to earry out these our wishes for the good of our people."

Such was the noblest Proclamation of 1858. What more could we ask, and what bonds of gratitude and affection, and what wast benefits to both countries, were expected to the us to the connexion with Britain by a loyal and honourable fulfilment of it?

Yes, I was in Bombay when this glad—I may almost say divine—message to India was proclaimed there to a surging crowd. What rejoicings, what fireworks, illumina-

tions, and the roar of cannon! What joy ran through the length and breadth of India, of a second and firm emancipation, of a new British political life, forgetting and forgiving all the past evil and hoping for a better future! What were the feelings of the people! How deep loyalty and faith in Britain was rekindled! It was said over and over again: Let this Proclamation be faithfully and conscientiously fulfilled, and England may rest secure and in strength upon the gratitude and contentment of the people—as the Proclamation had closed its last words of prayer.

Now, when I look back to-day to that day of joy, how I feel how all this was doomed to disappointment, with the addition of some even worse features, of dishonour, injustice, and selfishness. However, I must proceed with the sad tale.

Not long after her Majesty's Preclamation of 1858, a Committee was appointed by the Secretary of State for India of the following members of his own Council: Sir J. P. Willoughby, Mr. Mangles, Mr. Arbuthnot, Mr. Macnaghten, and Sir Erskine Perry, all Anglo-Indians. This Committee made its report on 20th January, 1860, from which I give the following extracts on the subject of the pledge of the Act of 1833:—

"2. We are in the first place," unanimously " of opinion that it is not only just, but expedient, that the Natives of India shall be employed in the administration of India to as large an extent as possible consistently with the maintenance of British sugremacy, and have considered whether any increased facilities can be given in this direction.

"3. It is true that, even at present, no positive disqualification exists. By Act 3 and 4 Wm, IV, cap. 55, sec. 57, it is enacted that no Native of the said territories nor any natural-born subject of his Majesty resident therein shall, by reason only of his religion, place of birth, descent, colour, or any of them, be disabled from holding any place, office, or employment under the

said Company.' It is obvious, therefore, that when the competitive system was adopted, it could not have been intended to exclude Natives of India from the Civil Service of India,

- "4. Practically, however, they are excluded. The law declares them eligible, but the difficulties opposed to a Native leaving India and residing in England for a time, are so great, that, as a general rule, it is almost impossible for a Native successfully to compete at the periodical examinations held in England. "Were this inequality removed, we should no longer be exposed to the charge of keeping promise to the ear and breaking it to the hope."
- "5. Two modes have been suggested by which the object in view might be attained. The first is, by alloting a certain portion of the total number of appointments declared in each year to be competed for in India by Natives, and by all other natural-born subjects of her Majesty resident in India. The second is to hold simultaneously two examinations, one in England and one in India, both being as far as practicable, identical in their nature, and those who compete in both countries being finally classified in one list, according to merit, by the Civil Eervice Commissioners. The Committee have "no hesitation in giving the preference to the second scheme," as being the "fairest," and the most in accordance with the principles of a general competition for a common object.
- In order to aid them in carrying out a scheme of this nature, the Committee have consulted the Civil Service Commission, and, through the favour of Sir Edward Ryan, they have obtained a very able paper, in which the advantages and disadvantages of either plan are fully and lucidly discussed. They would solicit your careful consideration of this document, and will only, in conclusion, add that, in the event of either of the plans being adopted. it will be requisite to provide for the second examination of succonful competitors in India, as nearly as possible resembling that now required in England. The Civil Service Commissioners do not anticipate much difficulty in arranging for this. The Committee, however, are decidedly of opinion that the examination papers on which the competition is to proceed in India and England should be identical; but they think, in justice to the Natives, that three colloquial Oriental languages should be added to the three modern European languages, so as to give the candidates the opportunity of selection.

I asked the India Office to give me a copy of the "very able paper" of the Civil Service Commission above referred to. The India Office refused to give it to me. I was allowed to see it in the India Office, and I then asked to

be allowed to take a copy of it myself there and then. This even was refused to me. I ask this Commission that this Report be obtained and be added here.

The above forms a part of the Report, the other part being a consideration of the advantages and disadvantages of an "exclusive" Covenanted Civil Service. With this latter part I have nothing to do here. The first part quoted above about the admission of Natives into the Covenanted Civil Service was never as far as I know published.

It is a significant fact that the Report of the Public Service Commission on the two subjects of the so-called "Statutory" Service and simultaneous examinations being in accordance with (what I believe and will show further on) the determined foregone conclusions of the Government of India and the Secretary of State, was published and is being repeatedly used by Government in favour of their own proceedings, while the Report of 1860 of the Committee of five Members of Council of the Secretary of State for India was not only never published by Government as far as I know, but even suppressed in the Return made in 1879 on "Civil Service" (Return [C. 2376] 1879). Even the Public Service Commission has not given, I think, the Report of 1860.

No action was taken on this part of the Report of 1860. This Report was made thirty-seven years ago, and even so early as then it was considered, and strongly recommended, that simultaneous examinations was the only way of redeeming the honour of England and of doing justice to India. The Report was suppressed and put aside, as it did not suit the views of the Secretary of State for India, who himself had appointed the Committee.

Thus, the new stage of the Proclamation of 1858, with all the hopes and joy it had inspired, began so early as 1860 to be a grievous disappointment and a dead letter, just as dead as the Act of 1833.

The next stage in this and story is again a revival of hope and joy in a small instalment of justice by a partial fulfilment of all the pledges of 1833 and 1858. This was a bright spot in the dark history of this question, and the name of Sir Stafford Northcote will never be effaced from our hearts.

Sad to say, it was to be again darkened with a disappointment of a worse character than ever before. On August 13th, 1867, the East India Association considered the following memorial proposed by me, and adopted it, for submission to Sir Stafford Northcote (Lord Iddesleigh), the then Secretary of State for India:—

"We, the members of the East India Association, beg respectfully to submit that the time has come when it is desirable to admit the Natives of India to a larger share in the administration of India than hitherto.

"To you, Sir, it is quite unnecessary to point out the justice, necessity, and importance of this step, as in the debate in Parliament, on May 24th last, you have pointed out this so emphatically and clearly that it is enough for us to quote your own noble and atatesmanlike sentiments. You said: 'Nothing could be more wonderful than our Empire in Iodia; but we ought to consider on what conditions we hold it and how our predecessors hold it. The greatness of the Mogul Empire depended upon the liberal policy that was pursued by men like Akbar availing themselves of Eindu talent and assistance and indentifying themselves as far as possible with the people of the country. He thought that they ought to take a lesson from such a circumstance, and if they were to do the duty towards India they could only discharge that duty by obtaining the assistance and counsel of all who were great and good in that country. It would be absurd in them to say that there was not a large fund of statesman-ship and ability in the Indian character' (Times of May 25th, 1867).

"With these friendly and just sentiments towards the people of India we fully concur, and therefore instead of trespassing any

more upon your time, we beg to lay before you our views and the best mode of accomplishing the object.

"We think that the competitive examination for a portion of the appointments to the Indian Civil Service should be held in India, under such rules and arrangements as you may think proper. What portion of the appointments should be thus competed for in India we cannot do better than leave to your own judgment. After the selection is made in India, by the first examination, we think it essential that the selected candidates be required to come to England to pass their further examinations with the selected candidates of this country.

"In the same spirit, and with kindred objects in view for the general good of India, we would ask you to extend your kind encouragement to Native youths of promise and ability to come to England for the completion of their education. We believe that if scholarships tenable for five years in this country were to be annually awarded by competitive examination in India to Native candidates between the ages of fitteen and seventeen, some would compete successfully in England for the Indian Civil Service, while others would return in various professions to India, and where by degrees they would form an enlightened and unprejudiced class, exercising a great and beneficial influence on Native society, and constituting a link between the masses of the people and their English rulers.

"In laying before you this memorial we feel assured, and we trust that you will also agree with us, that this measure, which has now become necessary by the advancement of education in India, will promote and strengthen the loyalty of the Natives of India to the British rule, while it will also be a satisfaction to the British people to have thus by one more instance practically proved its desire to advance the condition of their Indian fellow-subjects, and to act justly by them.

"We need not point out to you, Sir, how great an encouragement these examinations in India will be to education. The great prizes of the appointment will naturally increase vastly the desire

for education among the people."

A deputation waited on Sir Stafford Northcote on 21st August, 1867, to present the petition. In the course of the conversation, Colonel Sykes explained the objects; and after some further conversation Sir Stafford Northcote said:—

"He had the question under consideration, and had conversed with Sir Herbert Edwards and others on it, and Sir Herbert had furnished him with a paper on it. Two plans were

^{*} This clause was an addition proposed by Sir Herbert Edwards.

suggested—the one proposed that appointments should be assigned for competition in India, the other that scholarships should be given to enable Natives to come to finish their education in England. The first would manifestly be the most convenient for the Natives themselves; but it was urged in favour of the second that it would secure a more enterprising class than the first—men with more backbone—and he admitted the force of that. Moreover, he quite saw the advantage to India of a more efficient class which had had an English training. He took a very great interest in the matter, and was inclined to approve both proposals. He was corresponding with Sir J. Lawrence and the Indian Government on the subject " (" Journal of the East India Association," Vol. I., pp. 126-7).

In 1868, Sir Stafford Northcote, in paragraph 3 of his despatch, Revenue No. 10, of 8th of February, 1868, said as below:—

"This is a step in the right direction, of which I cordially approve, but it appears to me that there is room for carrying out the principle to a considerable extent in the regulation provinces also. The Legislature has determined that the more important and responsible appointments in those provinces shall be administered exclusively by those who are now admitted to the public service solely by competition; but there is a large class of appointments in the regulation as well as in the non-regulation provinces, some of them scarcely less honourable and lucrative than those reserved by law for the Covenanted Civil Service, to which Natives of India have certainly a preferential claim, but which, as you seem to admit, have up to this time been too exclusively conferred upon Europeans. "These persons, however competent, not having entered the service by the prescribed channel, can have no claim upon the patronage of the Government, none, at least, that ought to be allowed to override the inherent rights of the Natives of the country; and therefore, while all due consideration should be shown to welldeserving incumbents, both as regards their present position and their promotion, there can be no valid reason why the class of appointments which they now hold should not be filled, in future, by Natives of ability and high character."

I only note this here as what Sir Stafford Northcote had prescribed and instructed the Government of India for the Uncovenanted Services, but which instructions have also been made a dead letter as usual—I do not in this statement discuss this branch of the subject, riz., the

Uncovenanted Service, except for some short reference to some subsequent grievous events. I content myself with an expression of the Duko of Argyll on what Sir Erskine Perry describes in his "Memorandum" addressed to Lord Salisbury on 9th December, 1876, as "the vicious practice, supposed to be rapidly growing up in India, of appointing Englishmen to all the well paid Uncovenanted offices." The Duke of Argyll in his despatch (10th March, 1870, Financial) said:—

"The principle which her Majesty's Government steadily kept in view throughout the discussion on these furlough rules is, that the Uncovenanted Service should be principally reserved for the Natives of the country, and that superior appointments, which require English training and experience, should be made as heretofore in England. And they look with great disfavour on the system which appears to be growing up in India of appointing Englishmen in India to situations that ought only as a rule to be filled by civilians by open competition."

All such instructions, as usual, are thwarted by what Lord Lytton calls "subterfuges" and great ingenuity.

While Sir Stafford Northcote was considering, maturing, and preparing to bring into action the petition of the East India Association, Mr. Fawcett raised the subject in the House of Commons. Referring to simultaneous examinations for the Covenanted Service, he said:—

Hansard, Vol. 191, pp. 1,839-40. May 8th, 1868.

"There would be no difficulty in carrying out this plan. His proposal was that there should be examinations at Calcutta, Madras and Bombay, that there should be the same papers and the same tests as in London, and the successful candidates, whether English or Native, should spend two years in this country. To this he had reason to believe, from memorials he had received from Calcutta and Bombay, the Natives would not object, though they naturally objected to coming over to England in the first instance without any guarantee of success. . . . All they asked for was to be subjected to precisely the same trial as the English.

. . . . With reference to their alleged inferiority of character he had saked what would be the effect on English character if we, having been subjected, were debarred from all but the meanest offices of the State, Our civilisation and our literature would be destroyed. Nothing would save us from debasement. It was an indisputable fact that many Natives competent to govern a Province were fulfilling the humblest duties at salaries less than was received by the youngest member of the Indian Civil Service. Lord Metcalf had well said that the bane of our system was that the advantages were reaped by one class and the work was done by another. Bir Bartle Frere, in one of his despatches, said he had been much struck with the fact that the ablest exponents of English policy and our best coadjutors in adapting that policy to the wants of the various nations occupying Indian soil were to be found among the Natives who had received a high-class English education.

> Hansard, Vol. 191, p. 1843. May 8th, 1868.

Mr. FAWCETT moved : --

"That this House whilst cordially approving of the system of open competition for appointments in the East Judia Civil Service, is of opinion that the people of India have not a fair chance of competing for these appointments, as long as the examinations are held nowhere but in London; this House would therefore deem it desirable that simultaneously with the examination in London, the same examination should be held in Calcutta, Bombay and Madras."

I may here remark that at this time and till 1876 the Report of the five Councillors of the India Office of 1860, which I have given before, was not known to anybody outside, and Mr. Fawcett could not have known anything about it.

In the same speech from which a passage is extracted in the Memorial of the East India Association, Sir Stafford Northcote has said:—

"The English Government must necessarily labour under great disadvantages, and "we should endeavour as far as possible to develop the system of Native government, to bring out Native talent and statesmanship, and to colist in the cause of government all that was great and good is them." The outcome of the petition of the East India Association, Mr. Fawcett's motion, and Sir Stafford Northcote's favourable reception of the petition, was that Sir Stafford Northcote introduced a clause in his Bill entitled "the Governor-General of India Bill" to grant the first prayer of the petition; and the Governor-General, Lord Lawrence, published a Resolution on 30th June, 1868, to grant the second prayer of the Memorial, and some scholarships were actually commenced to be given. But by a strange fatality that pursues everything in the interests of the Indians, the scholarships were soon abolished.

I do not enter into any details of this incident, as it affects only in an indirect manner and to a very small extent the question I am considering, viz., the admission of Indians in the Covenanted Civil Service.

I revert to the clause introduced by Sir Stafford Northcote in 1868. As this clause will come further on in the course of correspondence, I do not repeat it here.

This clause was subsequently passed in 1870, under the Duke of Argyll as Secretary of State, who communicated it to the Government of India by a despatch of 31st March, 1870. The Government of India being dilatory, as it is generally the misfortune of Indian interests, the Duke of Argyll in his despatch of 18th April, 1872, reminded the Government of India about the rules required by the Act, as follows:—

"Referring to the 6th section of 33rd Victoria, cap. 3, I desire to be informed whether your Excellency in Council has prescribed the rules which that Act contemplates for the regulation of the admission of Natives to appointments "in the Covenanted Civil Service" who have not been admitted to that service in accordance with the provisions of the 32nd section of the 21st and 22nd Victoria, cap. 106."

The dilatoriness of the Government of India continuing, the Duke of Argyll again reminded the Governor-General of India in a despatch of 22nd October, 1872:—

"I have not received any subsequent communication from your Excellency's Government on the subject, and therefore conclude that nothing has been done, although I addressed your Government on the subject on 18th April last."

These two reminders were not known to the public until a Return was made in 1879 [C-2.376].

Three years passed after the enactment of the clause, and the public not knowing of anything having been done, the East India Association felt it necessary to complain to the Duke of Argyll on the subject.

The following is the correspondence between the East India Association and Mr. Grant Duff in 1873, giving his Grace's speech, and a brief account of the events from 1867 to 1873:—

" EAST INDIA ASSOCIATION.

"20, Great George Street, Westminster, London. "September, 1873.

To M. E. Grant Dupp, Esq., M.P., Under-Secretary of State for India, India Office.

"SIR,—By the direction of the Council of the East India Association, I have to request you to submit this letter for the kind consideration of his Grace the Secretary of State for India.

"On the 21st August, 1007, this Association applied to Sir Stafford Northcote, the then Secretary of State for India, asking that the competitive examination for a portion of the appointments to the Indian Civil Service should be held in India, under such rules and arrangements as he might think proper, and expressing an opinion that, after the selection had been made in India by the first examination, it was essential that the selected candidates should be required to come to England to pass their further examinations with the selected candidates for this country.

*Sir Stafford Northcote soon after introduced a clause in the Bill he submitted to Parliament, entitled 'The Governor-General of India Bill.'

- "The enactment of this Bill continued in abevance, until, under the auspices of his Grace the present Secretary of State, it became law on the 25th March, 1870, as 'East India (Laws and Regulations) Act.' Moving the second reading of the Bill on the 11th March, 1869, his Grace, in commenting upon clause 6, in a candid and generous manner made an unreserved acknowledgment of past failures of promises, non-fulfilment to an adequate extent, as follows:—
- "I now come to a clause—the 6th—which is one of very great importance involving some modification in our practice, and in the principles of our legislation "as regards the Civil Service in India." Its object is to set free the hands of the Governor-General, under such restrictions and regulations as may be agreed to by the Government at home, "to select, for the Covenanted Service of India, Natives of that country", although they may not have gone through the competitive examination in this country. It may be asked how far this provision is consistent with the measures adopted by Parliament for securing efficiency in that service; but there is a previous and, in my opinion, a much more important question which I trust will be considered—how far this provision is essential to enable us to perform our duties and fulfil our pledges and professions towards the people of India.
- "' With regard, however, "to the employment of Natives in the government of their country in the Covenanted Service " formerly of the Company, and now of the Crown, I must say that we have not fulfilled our duty, or the promises and engagements which we have made,
- "In the Act of 1833 this declaration was solemnly put forth by the Parliament of England: "And be it enacted that no Native of the said territories, nor any natural-born subject of his Majesty resident therein, shall, by reason only of his religion, place of hirth, descent, colour, or any of them, be disabled from holding any place, office, or employment under the said Company."
- "Now, I well remember that in the debates in this House in 1853, when the renewal of the Charter was under the consideration of Lord Aberdeen's Government, my late noble friend Lord Monteagle complained, and I think with great force, that while professing to open every office of profit and employment under the Company or the Crown to the Natives of India, we practically excluded them by laying down regulations as to fitness which we knew Natives could never fulfil. If the only door of admission to the Civil Service of India is a competitive examination carried on in London, what chance or what possibility is there of Natives of India acquiring that fair share in the administration of their own country which their education and abilities would enable them to fulfil, and therefore entitle them to possess? I have

always felt that the regulations laid down for the competitive examinations rendered nugatory the declaration of the Act of 1833; and so strongly has this been felt of late years by the Government of India that various suggestions have been made to remedy the evil. One of the very last-which, however, has not yet been finally sanctioned at home, and respecting which I must say there are serious doubts—has been suggested by Sir John Lawrence, who is now about to approach our shores, and who is certainly one of the most distinguished men who have ever wielded the destinies of our Indian Empire. The pullistive which he proposes is that nine acholarships - nine acholarships for a Government of upwards of levillation) of people !- should be annually at the disposal for certain Natives, selected partly by competition and partly with reference to their social rank and position, and that these nine schulars should be sent home with a salary of £200 a year each, to compete with the whole force of the British population seeking admission through the competitive examinations. Now, in the first place, I would point out the utter inadequacy of the scheme to the ends of the case. To speak of nine scholarships distributed over the whole of India as any fulfilment of our pledges or obligations to the Natives would be a farce. I will not go into details of the scheme, as they are still under consideration; but I think it is by no means expedient to lay down as a principle that it is wholly useless to require Natives seeking employment in our Civil Service to see something of English society and manners. It is true that in the new schools and colleges they pass most distinguished examinations, and sa far as books can teach them, are familiar with the history and constitution of this country; but there are some offices with regard to which it would be a must important, if not an essential, qualification that the young men appointed to them should have seen something of the actual working of the English constitution, and should have been impressed by its working, as any one must be who resides for any time in this great political society. Under any new regulations which may be made under this clause, it will, therefore, be expedient to provide that Natives appointed to certain places shall have some personal knowledge of the working of English institutions. I would, however, by no means make this a general condition, for there are many places in the Covenanted Service of India for which Natives are perfectly competent, without the necessity of visiting this country; and I believe that by competitive examinations conducted at Calcutta, or even by pure selection, it will be quite possible for the Indian Government to secure able, excellent, and efficient administrators.

"The clause thus introduced, in a manner worthy of an English generous-minded nobleman, and passed into law, is as follows:--

- "6. Whereas it is expedient that additional facilities should be given " for the employment of Natives of India, of proved merit and ability, in the Civil Service of her Majesty in India," be it enacted that noting in the "Act for the Government of India." twenty-one and twenty-two Victoria, chapter one hundred and six, or in the "Act to confirm certain appointments in India, and to amend the law concerning the Civil Service there," twentyfour and twenty-five Victoria, chapter fifty-four, or in any other Act of Parliament, or other law now in force in India, shall restrain the authorities in India by whom appointments are or may be made to offices, places, and employments " in the Civil Service of her Majesty in India," from appointing any Native of India to any such office, place, or employment although such Native shall not have been admitted to the said Civil Service of India in manner in section thirty-two of the first-mentioned Act provided, but subject to such rules as may be from time to time prescribed by the Governor-General in Council, and sanctioned by the Secretary of State in Council, with the concurrence of a majority of members present; and that, for the purpose of this Act, the words "Natives of India" shall include any person born and domiciled within the dominions of her Majesty in India of parents habitually resident in India, and not established there for temporary purposes only; and that it shall be lawful for the Governor-General in Council to define and limit from time to time the qualification of Natives of India thus expressed; provided that every resolution made by him for such purpose shall be subject to the sanction of the Secretary of State in Council, and shall not have force until it has been laid for thirty days before both Houses of Parliament.
- "It is now more than three years since this clause has been passed, but the Council regret to find that no steps have apparently yet been taken by his Excellency the Viceroy to frame the rules required by it, so that the Natives may obtain the due fulfilment of the liberal promise made by his Grace.
- "The Natives complain that, had the enactment referred to the interests of the English community, no such long and unreasonable delay would have taken place, but effect would have been given to the Act as quickly as possible, "and they further express a fear that this promise may also be a dead-letter."
- "The Council, however, fully hope that further loss of time will not be allowed to take place in promulgating the rules required by the Act. The Natives, after the noble and generous language used by his Grace, naturally expect that they will not te again doomed to disappointment, and most anxiously look forward to the promulgation of the rules—to give them, in some

To our misfortune and to the dishonour of the authorities, it has been made a dead letter.

systematic manner, 'that fair share in the administration of their own country which their education and abilities would enable them to fulfil, and therefore entitle them to possess,' not only as a political justice, but also se a national necessity, for the advancement of the material and moral condition of the country.

"I remain, Sir, your obedient Servant,

" W. C. PALMER, Capt.

" Acting Honorary Secretary of the East India Association."

"India Office, London, October 10th, 1873.

"SIR.—I am directed by the Secretary of State for India in Council to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 2nd October, relative to the provisions of the 33rd Victoria cap. 3, section 6; and to inform you that the subject is understood to be under the consideration of the Government of India, the attention of which has been twice called to it.

"2. The Duke of Argyll in Council will send a copy of your letter to the Government of India, and again request the early attention of that authority to that subject.

"I am, Sir, your obedient Servant,

"(Sd.) M. E. GBANT DUPP.

"The ACTING HONORARY SECRETARY,

East India Association."

Such is the candid confession of non-performance of duty and non-fulfilment of solemn pledges for thirty-six years, and the renewed pledge to make amends for past failures and provide adequate admission for the future for at least some share in the administration of our own country. The inadequacy is clearly shown by the ridicule of nine scholarships for 180,000,000 souls, and the proposal to adopt means for the abolition of the monopoly of Europeans. When was this confession and this new pledge made? It was to pass the 6th clause of Act 33 Vic., cap.

3. The clause was passed on 25th March, 1970, one year

after the above speech was made, and nearly three years after it was first proposed. Twice did Sir C. Wingfield ask questions in the House of Commons, and no satisfactory reply was given. At last the East India Association addressed the letter which I have given above to the India Office, and from the reply it will be seen how slow our Indian authorities had been, so as to draw three reminders from the Secretary of State.

With regard to the remark in the letter as to the complaint of the Natives that, "had the enactment referred to the interests of the English community, no such long and unreasonable delay would have taken place," I need simply point to the fact of the manner in which the Coopers Hill College was proposed and carried out promptly and with no difficulty raised, as is always raised against Indian interests,

In 1879, the India Office made a Return [C-2,376] on the ("Civil Service"). In this Return, after the despatch of the Secretary of State for India of 22nd October, 1872, no information is given till the Government of India's despatch of May 2nd, 1878.

In this Return, as I have said already, the Report of the Committee of the five members of the Council of the Secretary of State of 1860, recommending that simultaneous examinations was the only fair way of redeeming the honour of the British name and doing justice to the Indians, was suppressed. There is a despatch of the Government of India of 1874, which Sir E. Perry in his memorandum describes as follows:—

"Nearly two years afterwards (20th August, No. 31 of 1874) the Government of India replied to this despatch, transmitting rules, but noticing very jejunely the principal question raised by his Grace. Rules were finally suggested for adoption by the Secretary of State, those originally transmitted being deemed by him,

under legal advice, to place too narrow a construction on the statute" (Public Despatch to India, No., 131 of 20th of August, 1874).

These documents also have no place in the Return. Who knows what other inconvenient documents also may have not appeared. This is always the difficulty in Indian matters for Indian interests. The public can never know the whole truth. The Government put forward only such information as they like, and the public is left in the dark, so as not to be in a position to judge rightly. The way of the Indian authorities is first to ignore any Act or Resolution of Parliament or Report of any Committee or Commission in favour of Indian interests. If that is not enough, then to delay replies. If that does not answer. then openly resist, and by their persistence carry their own point unless a strong Secretary of State prevents it. But, unfortunately, to expect a strong and just Secretary of State on behalf of Indian interests is a rare good fortune of India, because he changes so often and is mostly in the hands of the Anglo-Indian members of his Council and other Anglo-Indian officials of the India Office, If any Committee or Commission really want to know the whole truth, they must do what the Committee of 1772 did-to have " every " document on the subject under consideration to be produced before them. What an exposure that Committee of 1772 made of the most outrageous, most corrupt, and most tyrannical misconduct of the Government and officials of the day.

I may also mention that the despatch of the Duke of Argyll (10 March, 1870, Financial), to which I have already referred, has also not been given in the Return.

Of course, I am not surprised at these suppressions. It is our fate, and the usual ways of a despotic regime. But why I mention this is that the public are misled and are unable to know the true state of a case in wich Indian interests are involved; the public caunot evolve these suppressions from their inner consciousness.

And still the outside public and the non-official witnesses are sometimes blamed for not supplying criticisms on the statements made by the officials of Government!

Again, there is the despatch of Lord Salisbury of 10th February, 1876, not given in the Return. Sir E. Perry, referring to this despatch, says:—

"Lord Salisbury decided the matter once for all in his despatch of 10th February, 1876, Financial, in which he quoted the Duke of Argyll's despatch of 1870 (Supra), and after stating that he concurred in the views thus expressed, he proceeded to lay down precise rules by which the appointment of Englishmen in India to the higher Uncovenanted offices should in future he restricted."

Now, I cannot say whether all these suppressed documents were satisfactory or not, or whether they are published in some other place; but when the India Office omits such information in a Return on the subject itself, what are we to do? And if we criticise upon imperfect information, the authorities come down upon us denouncing in all sorts of ways for our wrong statements, exaggerations, inaccuracies, and what not.

The next despatch that the Return gives is that of the Government of India of 2nd May, 1878. It was in connexion with this dispatch that Lord Lytton wrote a note dated 30th May. In this note he had the courage to expose the whole character of the conduct of Indian authorities in both countries since the passing of the Act of 1833, denouncing that conduct as consisting of deliberate, transparent subterfuges, and dishonourable, as making promises to the ear and breaking them to the

hope. Here are Lord Lytton's own words, referring to the Act of 1833:-

"The Act of Parliament is so undefined, and indefinite obligations on the part of the Government of India towards its Native subjects are so obviously dangerous, that no sooner was the Act passed than the Government "began to devise means for practically evading the fulfilment of it" Under the terms of Act which are studied and laid to heart by that increasing class of educated Natives whose development the Government encourages, without being able to satisfy the aspirations of its existing members, every such Native if once admitted to Government employment in posts previously reserved to the Covernment Service is entitled to expect and claim appointment in the fair course of promotion to the highest post in that service.

"We all know that these claims and expectations never can or will be fulfilled. We have had to choose between prohibiting them and cheating them: and we have chosen the last straightforward course. The application to Natives of the competitive examination system as conducted in England, and the recent reduction in the age at which candidates can compete, are all so many deliberate and transparent subterfuges for stultifying the Act and reducing it to a dead letter. Since I am writing confidentially I do not hesitate to say that both the Governments of England and of India appear to me, up to the present moment, unable to answer satisfactorily the charge of having taken every means in their power of breaking to the heart the words of promise they had uttered to the ear."

I admire the English candour and courage with which this humiliating confession is made. But I protest that so far as the people, the Parliament and the Sovereign are concerned, it is an injustice to them to put the dishonour and the disgrace of subterfuges to their charge. It is a libel upon the statesmen of 1833, that they said so many deliberate falsehoods intentionally when they contended for the justification of the clause for equality in such noble and generous and English spirit and terms. It is a gross libel on the Sovereign and the people of this country that the Proclamation of 1858, so solemnly promulgated, calling God to witness and to help, was all hypocrisy, an intentional mockery and delusion. I protest against this

assumption. The truth I believe to be is that the Sovereign, the Parliament and the people of this country sincerely meant what they said—but that their servants, the executive authorities in both countries, uncontrollable and free to follow their own devices in their original spirit of selfishness and oppression with which they commenced their rule in India, frustrated the highest and noblest desires of the Sovereign and the people by "deliberate and transparent subterfuges to attain their own selfish ends"—which on one occasion an Anglo-Indian very naively confessed in these remarkable words. In a debat at the Society of Arts, 19th February, 1892, upon Siam, Sir Charles Crossthwaite said:—

"The real question was who was to get the trade with them, and how we could make the most of them so as to find fresh markets for our goods and "also employment for those superfluous articles of the present day," our boys." So the whole reason of the existence of the world is market for British capitalists and employment for "our boys."

In India, this greed for the monopolising of profits of trade, and of the employment of "our boys," is the chief key to the system of all the actions of an unsympathetic, selfish rule as it is at present made by the executive authorities. Not that it need be so. A righteous system can be adopted, as many a statesman has declared, by which both England and India may be blessed and benefited, and for which purpose the Indians have been crying all along in the wilderness. Let the saddle of the present evil system be on the right horse. The Sovereign, the Parliament and the people have done all that could be desired. The only misfortune is that they do not see to their noble wishes and orders being carried out, and leave their servants to "bleed" India of all that is most dear and necesary to the human existence and advancement—wealth.

wisdom and work—material and moral prosperity. Re. verting to Lord Lytton's true confession, that the executives have "cheated" and "subterfuged," frustrated and dishonoured all Acts and Resolutions of Parliament and the most solemn Proclamations of the Sovereign, one would think that after such confessions some amends will be made by a more honourable course. Far from it. This despatch of 2nd May, 1878, will remain one of the darkest sections in this sad story, instead of any contrition or reparation for the past evil.

What did the Government propose in this despatch? To destroy everything that is dearest to the Indian heart—his two great Charters of 1833 and 1858, the Act of a partial justice of 1870—to murder in cold blood the whole political existence of equality of Indians as British citizens which—at least by law, if not by deed or action of the authorities—they possessed, and make them the purials of the high public service.

Mark! by the Act of 1870, the Indians were to have a distinct proportion of appointments (which was fixed by the Government of India to be about one-fifth, or about 7 every year) in the Covenanted Civil Service—which meant that in the course of 25 to 30 years, the duration of the service of such person, there would gradually be about 180 to 200 Indians admitted into the Covenanted Civil Service. This was most a bitter pill for the Anglo-Indians, official and non-official, to swallow. The Government resorted to every subterfuge to ignore and with passive resistance to make the Act a dead letter. This not succeeding, they deliberately proposed to throw saids all Acts, Resolutions, and Proclamations—all pledges and laws of equality—and to establish a "close Native Civil Service;" that is to say

to deprive the Natives once and for ever of any claim to the whole higher Covenanted Services, and by law be shut up in a lazaretto of a miserable close service.

And what was to be this close service? Not even to the extent to which the Act of 1870 led to the hope of the share in the Covenanted Civil Service-but only to propose to assign certain fixed appointments now held by the Covenanted Service, and to rob the Uncovenanted Service of some of their appointments to cast them into this service; that is to say, in reality to make a "parish" service of a small number of Covenanted Service employmentsabout 90 or so (the Uncovenanted being already the Indian's own) -ir place of what the Act of 1870 would have entitled them, to the extent of 180 or more, and to be eligible to the whole Covenanted Service employments: and what is still worse, and exhibits the inner spirit, that even this miserable so-called "close" service was not to be entirely reserved for the Indians, but, as I understand, a door is left open for Europeans also to get into it. And still more, the Government of India so mercilessly wanted to put the badge and stamp of inferiority and exclusion upon the Indians at large and rob them of their only consolation, their only hope and charter. that they already possessed by law and by pledges, of equality of British citizenship with the British subjects of this country. But there is something still worse: the Government cooly proposed not only not to give them stimultaneous examinations in India, but to deprive them even of the right they now possess of competing for the Coveranted Service in this country itself.

Were the Government of India gone mad? The Government of India said, in cold blood, that "the

ordinary Covenanted Civil Service should no longer be open to Natives;" thus proposing insidiously that the Acts of 1833 and 1870 and the Proclamation should be thrown to the winds. So these Acts and the Proclamations of the Sovereign upon which hangs all our devoted loyalty, all our hopes and aspirations (though in all conscience most mercilessly disregarded) all that is at all good and great in the British name in India, all that is to be swept away by a new un-British and tyrannical legislation! The whole despatch is so distressful, so full of false blandishments, , that I cannot venture to say anything more about it. The wonder is that on the one hard Lord Lytton exposes the " subterfuges " and dishonour of the Executive, and himself and his colleagues sign such a despatch of 2nd May, 1878. And what is still more curious is this; about seventeen months before this despatch, on 1st January, 1877, at the Delhi Assemblage, on the assumption of the title of Empress of India, Lord Lytton on behalf of her Majesty said :---

"But you the Natives of India, whatever your race and whatever your creed, have a recognised claim to share largely with your English fellow-subjects according to your capacity for the task, in the administry of the country you inhabit. This claim is founded on the highest justice. It has been repeatedly affirmed by British and Indian statesmen and by the legislation of the Imperial Parliament. It is recognised by the Government of India as binding on its honour and consistent with all the aims of its policy;" and all such "highest justice" and all this "binding on honour" ended in this extraordinary despatch of 2nd May, 1878! It is the most dismal page in the whole melancholy affair about the Covenanted Service.

But the further misfortune is that since the despatch of 2nd May, 1878, the whole heart and soul of the Government is directed in the spirit of the despatch, and though they have not attempted to alter legislation, they have by persistence and devices most ingeniously carried out their own object, and made the Acts of 1833 and 1870, and the great Proclamations, mere shams and delusions. With trumpet tongues they have proclaimed to the world that the miserable "close service" was an extraordinary and generous concession, when in reality we are plundered of what we already possessed by the Act of 1870, and our political position is reduced to the condition of political pariabs.

I do not enter here into a discussion of the un-English and subtle procedure by which we are deprived of the so-called "statutory service," which had secured for us no less than a complete and free admission into the whole Covenanted Civil Service, to the number which had been at the time considered for a beginning as a fair proportion of about one-sixth or one-fifth of the total number of this service.

There is one other important reason why I do not pursue any more the criticisms upon this despatch. The Secretary of State himself found it impossible to swallow it, summarily disposed of its fallacies, hollowness, brushed it aside, and insisted upon carrying out the Act of 1870.

Now before going further, I have to request the Commission to bear in mind that the Government of India had, by this despatch, most earnestly and laboriously committed themselves to a "close Native service," and it will be seen that they bided their time and left no stone unturned, by any means whatever, to attain ultimately their object. As I have said above, Lord Cranbrook, the then Secretary of State, would not swallow the preposterous despatch, and put down his foot against such openly violating all honourable and solemn pledges of the Sovereign and Acts of Parliament,

Lord Crambrook in his despatch of 7th November, 1878, said in reply: —

- "6. But your proposal of a close Native service with a limited class of high appointments attached to it, and your suggestions that the Covenanted Civil Service should no longer be open to Natives, involve an application to Parliament which would have no prospect of success, and which I certainly would not undertake. Your lordship has yourself observed that no scheme would have a chance of sanction which included legislation for the purpose of repealing the clause in the Act of 1833 above quoted, and the obstacles which would be presented against any attempt to exclude Natives from public competition for the Civil Service would be little less formidable.
- "10. It is, therefore, quite competent to your lordship's Government to appoint every year to the Civil Service of India as such number of Natives as may be determined upon, and the number of Covenanted civilians sent out from this country will have to be proportionately decreased. The appointments should, is the first instance, be only probationary, so as to give ample time for testing the merit and ability of the candidates.
- "11. It appears to me that the advantages of such a simple scheme will be obvious:—
- "(i) It will undoubtedly be much more popular with the Natives, as it will place them on a footing of social equality with the Covenanted civilian.
- "(ii) Inasmuch as it will exclude no civilian at present in India from any office which he has a moral claim to expect, it will avoid any clashing with the vested interests of the Civil Service.
- "(iii) It will avoid the necessity of any enhancement of salaries of Uncovenanted officers which is now proposed, not because such enhancement is necessary, but from the necessity of creating a class of well-paid appointments to form sufficient prizes for a close Native service.
- "And lastly, it pursues the same system of official training which has proved so eminently successful in India."

Thus foiled in the monstrous attempt to inflict upon the Indians the most serious political disaster, the Covernment of India whined and lay low to wait their opportunity, and as compelled, and with bad grace, made the required rules one year after the despatch of 2nd May, 1878.

With their despatch of 1st May, 1879, the Government of India sent the rules, and explained in para. 8 of the despatch the proportion of Indians they proposed to select:

"The proposed statutory rules, in brief, provide that a proportion not exceeding one-sixth of all the recruits added to the Civil Service in any one year shall be Natives selected in India by the local Governments."

I give here the rules proposed:

" No. 18.

- "RULES for the APPOINTMENT of NATIVES of INDIA to offices ordinarily held by members of her Majesty's Covenanted Civil Service in India.
- "In exercise of the power conferred by the Statute 33 Vict., cap. 3, section 6, the Governor-General in Council has been pleased to make the following rules, which have been sanctioned by the Secretary of State in Council with the concurrence of a majority of members present:—
- "I.—Each Local Government may nominate persons who are Natires of India within the meaning of the said Act, for employment in her Majesty's Covenanted Civil Service in India within the territories subordinate to such Government. Such nominations shall be made not later than the first day of October in each year. No person shall be nominated for employment in the said service after he has attained the age of twenty-five years, except on grounds of merit and ability proved in the service of Government, or in the practice of a profession.
- "II.—Nominations under the foregoing rule shall, if approved by the Governor-General in Council, be provisionally sanctioned by him. The total number of nominations so sanctioned in any year shall not exceed one-fifth of the total number of recruits appointed by her Majesty's Secretary of State to the said service in such year; provided that the total number of such nominations sanctioned in each of the year 1879, 1880, and 1881 may exceed the said proportion by two. On sanction being given by the Governor-General in Council, the nominee shall be admitted on probation to employment in the said service; such admission may be confirmed by the Governor-General in Council but shall not be so confirmed until the Local Government have reported to the Governor-General in Council that the probationer has acquitted

himself satisfactorily during a period of not less than two years from the date of his admission, and that he has, unless specially exempted by the Governor-General in Council, passed such examinations as may from time to time be prescribed by the Local Government subject to the approval of the ciovernor-General in Council. In case of persons admitted under these rules after they have attained the age of twenty-five years, the Governor-General in Council may confirm their admission without requiring them to serve for any period of probation.

"III.—Persons admitted under these rules to employment in the said service shall not, without the previous sanction of the Governor-General in Council in each case, be appointed to any of the undermentioned offices, namely:—

" Members of a Board of Revenue.

"Secretaries to the several Governments and Administrations in India.

"Chief Magisterial, or Chief Revenue, Officers of Districts.

"Commissioners of Division, or of Revenue.

"IV.—Persons admitted under these rules to employment in the said service shall ordinarily be appointed only to offices in the province wherein they were first admitted. But the Governor-General in Council may transfer from one province to another a person finally admitted to employment in the said service.

"V.—Any person admitted under these rules may, with the previous sanction of the Governor-General in Council, be declared by the Local Government to be disqualified for further employment in the said service."

Two comments suggest themselves with regard to these rules—when read with the light that the Government of India's whole heart was in the "close Native service"—and that, therefore, to carry out loyally the Act of 1870 was naturally against their grain.

At the very beginning they began to nibble at the Statute of 1870 and proposed in Rule III. not to put Natives on the same footing with Europeans with regard to all high offices. On this unworthy device I need not comment, as the Secretary of State himself struck out this Rule III, without much ceremony.

Now, whether intentionally or unintentionally, the rules had been so framed that had the Government of India aat down to devise the most effective means of bring-

ing discredit and failure on the service under the Act of 1870, they could not have done better or worse than these These Indian civilians were to be the colleagues of and to do the duties with the best educated and severely tested (educationally, physically, and morally) English youths. Particular care was taken not to prescribe any systematic compulsory rules for such high test and for obtaining recruits worthy of being included in such a highly trained service as the Convenanted Civil Service, of which these Indians were to be an integral part and in which service they were to be exactly on the same footing as English civilians. This was the crux and spirit of the whole matter; the rules simply made the matter one of patronage and back-door influence. It needs no stretch of the imagination to see that such a course could lead only to one result, as it has always done, viz., failure. It was absurd to expect that such Indian civilians sould prove as successful and efficient as the English civilians so well prepared. This was the first covert blow given by the Government of India at the very birth of the operation of the Act of 1870, and unfortunately Lord Cranbrook did not see this ingenious device.

The Commission can hardly realise the intensity of the gratitude of the Indians to Sir Stafford Northcote for proposing, and the Duke of Argyll for passing, the clause in the Act of 1870, and not less intense was their gratitude to Lord Cranbrook and to Sir Erskine Perry who cooperated with him, for the determination with which Lord Cranbrook overcame all strenuous opposition and the blandishments of the Government of India of their own good-will and justice to the Indians; and he compelled that Government to give effect to the Act of 1870.

The clause was at last given effect to, though with great reluctance and under compulsion, after ten long years. This is generally the case. For all Indian interests the officials always require long and most careful and most mature consideration, till by lapse of time the question dies. Under Lord Cranbrook this clause had better fortune, but only to end in utter and more bitter disappointment to the Indians, and to add one more dishonour to the British name. The first appointments under the clause, though after a delay of ten years, again infused a new life of loyalty and hope in the justice of the British people, throughout the length and breadth of India. was a small instalment, but it was a practical instalment, and the first instalment of actual justice. And it was enough, for an ever disappointed and unjustly treated people, to rejoice, and more so for the future hope of more justice and of righteous rule, little foreseeing to what bitter disappointment they were to be doomed in the course of the next ten years! The first appointments were made under the rules in 1880. Now, we come to the next melancholy stage.

The immediate development of the compulsion on the Government of India to carry out the clause of 1870—coupled with the fear of the possible effect of the despatch of Sir Stafford Northcote of 8th February, 1868, to restrict employment of Europeans to those only who pass the examination here, and to insist upon the inherent rights of the Indians to all appointments—was to produce a sullenness of feeling and great vexation among the Anglo-Indian body generally (with, of course, honourable and noble exceptions).

I do not enter, as I have already said, upon the latter question of the Uncovenanted Service. I mention it here simply because it added to the anger of the Anglo-Indians against the noble policy of men like Sir Stafford Northcote-I confine myself to the said story about the admission of Indians in the Covenanted Civil Service.

Well, the so-called "statutory" service was launched in 1880. It was called by a distinctive name "statutory" as if the whole Covenanted Service was not also a "statutory" service, and as if the clause of 1870 was not simply for full admission into the whole Covenanted Service. But what is in a name? The Government of India knew the value of creating and giving a distinct name to the service so that they may with greater ease kill it as a separate service; and at last, kill it they did. The Anglo-Indians, official and non-official, were full charged with sullenness and anger, and with the spark of the "Ilbert Bill" the conflagration burst out.

Here I may point out how shrewdly Lord Salisbury, while fully approving the clause of 1870, had prophesied the coming storm. On the debate on the clause in 1870, Lord Salisbury had said:—

"Another most important matter is the admission of Natives to employments under the Government of India, I think the plan of the noble duke contained in this Bill is, I believe, the most satisfactory solution of a very difficult question."

And after so fully accepting the clause, he said :-

"One of the most serious dangers you have to guard against is the possibility of *jea lousy* arising from the introduction of Natives into the service."

Owing to this jealousy ten years elapsed before any action was taken on the Act of 1870, and that even under compulsion by Lord Cranbrook. Before three years after this effect was given to the clause, Lord Salisbury's pro-

phecy was fulfilled. Explosion burst out over the Ilbert Bill.

I cannot enter here into the various phases of the excitement on that occasion, the bitter war that raged for some time against Indian interests. I content myself with some extracts from the expression of Lord Hartington (the Duke of Devonshire) upon the subject. It clearly proves the action of the jealousy of the Anglo-Indians. Lord Hartington said (speech, House of Commons, August 23, 1883):—

"It may by some be thought sufficient to say, that the Anglo-Indian, whatever may be his merits, and no doubt they are grest, is not a person who is distinguished by an exceptionally calm judgment,"

Hansard, Vol. 283, p. 1818. August 23rd 1883.

"I could quote passages in letters in the Indian papers in which it is admitted that the agitation was directed against the policy of the Home Government in providing appointments for Native civilians while there are many Europeans without appointments. . . . I believe that the cause of the prevalent ex-citement is to be found, not in this measure, but in the general course of policy that has been pursued both by this Government and the late Government. It has been the policy of Governments for some years past to impress upon the Government of India the desirability of obtaining the assistance of the Native population as far as possible in the government of that country. Over and over again that policy has been inculcated from home. In 1879, a resolution was passed which limited appointments of the value of Rs. 200 a month to officers of the army and to Natives. That restriction has been rigidly enforced, and has met with " all kinds of opposition from non-official classes of Europeans, who think that all the appointments must be reserved for them." same spirit was shown when it was determined that admission to the Engineering College at Roorki should be confined to Natives. . . . Agitation of the same character has been seen before when there was just as little foundation for it. Lord Macaulay. Lord Canning, and other Anglo-Indian statesmen experienced the same kind of opposition from Angle-Indians; but all these reproaches have recoiled, not against the statesmen with regard to whom they were uttered, but against the persons uttering them themselves. . . .

"There is a further reason, in my opinion, why this policy should be adopted, and that is that it is not wise to educate the people of India, to introduce among them your civilisation and your progress and your literature, and at the same time to tell them they shall never have any chance of taking any part or share in the administration of the affairs of their country, except by their getting rid, in the first instance, of their European rulers. Surely, it would not be wise to tell a patriotic Native of India that. . . .

"Whether difference of opinion there may be, there can, in my opinion, be very little doubt that India is insufficiently governed at the present time. I believe there are many districts in India in which the number of officials is altogether insufficient, and that is owing to the fact that the Indian revenue would not bear the strain if a sufficient number of Europeans were appointed. The Government of India cannot afford to spend more than they do in the administration of the country, "and if the country is to be better governed that can only be done by the employment of the best and most intelligent of the Natives in the service."

It was on this occasion that Lord Salisbury made the confession that all the pledges, proclamations, and Acts to which Lord Northbrook had referred was all "political hypocrisy." The reasons which Lord Salisbury assigned were not accurate, but I cannot strike off into a new controversy now. It is enough for me to say that, as I have already said, I protest against placing this "hypocrisy" at the door of the people, Parliament, and Sovereign of this country. It lies on the head of the servants, the executives in both countries. It is they who would ruin the Empire by their "hypocrisy" and selfishness.

At last, however, the agitation of the Ilbert Bill subsided. The eruption of the volcane of the Anglo-Indian hearts stopped, but the anger and vexation continued boiling within as the cause of the explosion still remained. And the Government of India were biding their time to carry out that most un-English scheme of the deepatch of 2nd May, 1879, to create a parial lazaretto to consign these parial thereto.

Owing to the persistence of Lord Cranbrook the appointments under the Act of 1870 had begun in 1880, and continued to be made, i.e., about six or seven Indians

continued to be admitted in the Covenanted Civil Service. The main cause of the explosion having continued, and the Government of India having set its heart upon its own scheme, a new departure and development now arose. The question at the bottom was how to knock the "statutory service" on the head, and put down effectively the cry for simultaneous examinations. The explosion under the excuse of the Ilbert Bill did not effect that object, and so, according to Lord Lytton's confession of the general conduct of the Executive, something also should be done.

We now enter upon the next stage of this sad story. I shall place some facts and any fair-minded Englishman will be able to draw his own conclusions. Before I do so certain perliminary explanation is necessary.

In India, when the authorities are decided upon certain views which are not likely to be readily accepted by the public, a Commission or Committee comes into existence. The members are mostly officials or ex-officials—English or Indians. Some non-officials, English or Indians or both, are sometimes thrown in, selected by the Government itself. It is a well understood thing that in all matters officials are bound always to take and support the Government views. The ex-officials are understood to be bound by gratitude to do the same. If anyone takes an independent line, either in a Commission or Committee, or in his own official capacity, and displeases the Government, I cannot undertake to say with instances what happens.

Perhaps, some Anglo-Indians themselves may feel the sense of duty to supply some instances from their own experience. Almost by accident an instance has just come back before me in the *Champion*, of Bombay, and which gives the incident almost in the author's

(Mr. Robert H. Elliot) words: "Mr. Geddes came before the Finance Committee (1871-74), and that the members thought it well worth examining him is evidenced by the fact that he was examined at very great length. Here was a chance for Duff: he thought he would do a very clever thing, and as Mr. Geddes had introduced into his financial pamphlet some views of rather a novel description, and had, besides. made use of some rather out-of-the-way illustrations, this gave a good opportunity for putting questions in such a way as was calculated to cast ridicule on Mr. Geddes. and depreciate the value of the important points he had brought out. But this was far from being all. It was intimated pretty plainly to Mr. Geddes that his opinions ought to be in harmony with the Government he served. and here Mr. Geddes said that he certainly ought to be in harmony with the Government if there was any spirit of harmony in it. Mr. Geddes was clearly not to be put down, and Duff thought he would try something more severe. 'You hold an appointment in the Government, do you not ?' 'Yes, ' said Mr. Geddes. 'And do you expect to return to that post?' asked Duff. 'Now, my dear John.' continues the author, 'you will not find that question in the report, for the simple reason that it was ordered to be expunged." Would some Anglo-Indian kindly give us some information of what afterwards became of Mr. Geddes? I would not trouble the Commission with my own treatment before the same Committee, which was anything but fair, because, like Mr. Geddes, I had something novel to say. I would only add that an important ard pointed evidence of Lord Lawrence, on the wretchedness and extreme poverty of India, was also suppressed in the Report

The officials have therefore to bear in mind to be in harmony with Government or think of their posts—and I suppose the ex-officials have also to bear in mind that there is such a thing as pension.

Here is one more instance. When Mr. Hyndman published his "Benkruptcy of India," Mr. Caird at once wrote to the Times contradicting him. The India Office soon after sent him to preside over the Famine Commission. He, though at first much prejudiced by Anglo-Indian views, and going to bless the Government, returned cursing. He made a report on the condition of India, and that being contrary to official views, O! how Government laboured to discredit him!

Lastly, Commissions or Committees report what they like. If they are in the expected harmony with Government, all is well. But anything which Government does not want or is contrary to its views is brushed aside. Reports of Commissions must be in harmony with the views of the Government. If not, so much the worse for the Commissioners; and this is what has actually happened with the Public Service Commission, which I am now going to touch upon as the next stage in this sad history of the fate of Indians for services in their own country.

When I came here in 1836, I paid a visit to Lord Kimberley, the Secretary of State for India. I had been favoured with more than an hour's conversation, mainly on the two topics of "statutory service" and simultaneous examinations, and I found him a determined, decided opponent to both, and completely, to our misfortune, saturated with Anglo-Indian views—not seeming to realise at all the Indian side. He urged to me all the Anglo-Indian stock arguments, and I saw what he was

really aiming at—the very thing which Lord Cranbrook had summarily rejected—the scheme of the Government of India of the despatch of 2nd May, 1878, the close service.

From that interview I saw clearly what the "Public Service Commission" was for—that the abolition of the "statutory" service, the suppression of the cry for simultaneous examinations, and the adoption of the scheme of 2nd May, 1878, were determined, foregone conclusions.

Soon after my conversation with Lord Kimberley, I happened to be on the same boat with Sir Charles Turner on my way to Bombay. Sir Charles Turner was going out by appointment by Lord Kimberley to join the Public Service Commission. I at once prepared a short memorandum, and gave it to him. Afterwards, in the course of the conversation, he told me that he had certain instructions from Lord Kimberley. Sir Charles Turner, of course. could not tell me, whatever they may have been. But I could not help forming my own conclusions from what I had myself learnt from Lord Kimberley himself in my conversation with him. Sir Charles Aitchison was the President of the Commission, and he, as Lieutenant-Governor of the Punjab, made a representation to the Commission, in which he expressed his clear opposition to the simultaneous examinations, About the "statutory" service he had already most strongly objected to two years before the appointment of the Commission, in a very inaccurate and hasty argument and on very imperfect information. In a country like India. governed under a despotism, where, under present circumstances, service under and favour of Government is to many the all in all, what effect must the declaration of the

head of the province, and the well-known decided views of the Government itself, produce upon the invited witnesses—not only official, but non-official also—can hardly be realised by Englishmen, who have their government in their own hands.

The third important member's—Sir Charles Crossthwaits—view, as I have already indicated, seemed the anxiety about "our boys."

There were among the members of the Commission-

- 8 European officials.
- 1 Indian official.
- 3 Indian ex-officials.
- 1 Non-official European, the General Secretary of the Behar Indigo Planters' Association. It would be worth while to know what share the planters had taken in the libert Bill agitation.
- 1 Eurasian.
- 2 Indian non-officials, one of whom, I think, never attended the Commission till it met for Report.

Mr. Kazi Shahabu-din, before he joined the Comission, distinctly told me that he was dead against both questions, "statutory" and simultaneous. It was all very good, he said to me, to talk of eternal principles and justice and all that, but he was determined not to allow the Hindus to advance. The views of Sir Syad Ahmad Khan were no secret as being against simultaneous examinations and statutory service. I am informed that Mr. Nuhlkar and Mr. Mudliar were sorry for their action in joining in the Report, and Mr. Romesh Chandra Mitra has, I think, expressed some repudiation of his connexion with

the Report of the Commission. The Raja of Bhinga only joined the Commission at the Report.

Our misfortune was, as I saw at that time, the three Hindu members did not, I think, fully realise how a death-blow was being struck at the future political and administrative advance and aspirations of the Indians; and how, by an insidious and subtle stroke all pledges and Acts of Parliament, and Proclamations—the very breath of our political life—the hope and anchor of our aspirations and advance were being undermined and swept away. I have also already pointed out the determination of the Government of India since their letter of 2nd May, 1878, not only to stop further advance, but even to take away what they, the Indians, already had.

I was a witness before this Commission. I fully expected that as I was considered one of the chief complainants in these matters, I would be severely examined and turned inside out. But the Commission, to my surprise, carried on with me more of an academical debate than a serious practical examination, and seemed wishful to get rid of me quickly, so much so, that I was forced to request that a Memorandum which I had placed before them should be added to my evidence on several points.

I may here explain that simultaneous examinations was by far the most important matter, and, if granted, would have dispensed with the necessity of the "statutory" service. The chief fight was for simultaneous examinations.

First, as far as the "statutory" service is concerned, here is the extraordinary result. In the instructions, the object of the Commission was stated, "broadly speaking," to devise a scheme which may reasonably be hoped to

possess the necessary elements of finality, and to do full justice to the claims of the Natives of India to higher and more extensive employment in the public service"; and in this the Governor-General in Council fully and cordially agreed.

This was the promise, and what is the performance? The admission of one-sixth Indians into the Covenanted Service we already possessed by law-and in operation. We were already eligible to all Uncovenanted Services. Full justice, and still higher and more extensive employment were promised—and what did we actually get? We were deprived of what we already by law (of 1870) possessed; and instead of giving us "full justice" it deprived us of all our hopes and aspirations to be admitted to an equality of employment with British officials; and we were coolly, mercileasly, despotically, and illegally consigned to a small parish service, open to Europeans also-which had been already schemed and firmly determined upon ten years before in the despatch of 2nd May, 1878-in utter and dishonourable violation of the Acts of 1833 and 1870, and three gracious Proclamations. This is the way in which the Public Service Commission has carried out its object to devise a scheme to possess elements of finality and to do full justice to the claims of the Natives to higher and more extensive employment in the public service.

Now, with regard to simultaneous examinations, the conduct of the Public Service Commission seems to be still more extraordinary. Why they actually reported as far as I can see, in opposition to the weight of evidence, I cannot understand. Mr. William Digby has analysed the evidence in a letter to Lord Cross, of 8th May, 1889, and I append that part of his letter. I asked the Secretary of

State to inform me whether Mr. Digby's analysis was correct or not, but the information was not given me.

There is sgain a curious coincidence between the action of Lord Lytton and Lord Dufferin which I may intervene here.

Of Lord Lytton I have already mentioned about the contrast between his speech at the Delhi Durbar in January, 1877, and his action in the despatch of 2nd May, 1878.

On 4th October, 1886, was started the Public Service Commission, and in the beginning of the very next year, 1887, on the occasion of the Jubilee, Lord Dufferin said in his Jubilee speech:—

"Wide and broad, indeed, are the new fields in which the Government of India is called upon to labour, but no longer as aforetime need it labour alone. Within the period we are reviewing, education has done its work, and we are surrounded on all sides, by Native gentlemen of great attainments and intelligence, from whose hearty, loyal, and honest co-operation we may hope to derive the greatest benefit. In fact, to an administration so peculiarly situated as ours, "their advice, assistance, and solidarity are essential to the successful exercise of its functions." Nor do I regard with any other feelings than those of approval and goodwill their natural ambition to be more extensively associated with their English rulers in the administration of their own domestic affairs,"

At the same time the Empress of India thus emphasises her great Proclamation of 1858;—

"It had always been, and will always be, her carnest desire to maintain unswervingly the principles laid down in the Proclamation published on her assumption of the direct control of the Government of India."

And these two declarations of hope and justice came to what end? Within two years, as I have already said, Lord Cross, with a ruthless hand, snatched away from us the small instalment of justice which Sir S. Northcote had done to us, consigned us to a small "parish service," and destroyed virtually all our charters and aspirations. I now come to the last dark section of this sad chapter, which also shows that, to our misfortune, we have had nothing but bitter disappointments—since 1833—nothing but "subterfuges" and "political hypocrisy" up to the present day.

Propose anything for the benefit of Europeans and it is done at once. The Royal Engineering College at Coopers Hill and the Exchange Compensation Allowance are two notorious instances, the latter especially heartless and despotic. The Government of India has distinctly admitted that the compensation is illegal. It knew also that it would be a heartless act towards the poverty-stricken people of India. But, of course, when European interests are concerned, legality and heart go to the winds; despotism and force are the only law and argument. Here is another curious incident connected both with examinations and Europeans.

As I have already placed before the Commission my papers on the entire exclusion of Indians from military and naval examinations, either here or in India, I will not say anything more. The curious incident is this:—

The War Office would not admit Indians to examinations even in this country, and on no account simultaneously in India. But they allowed Europeans to be examined directly in India. St. George College, Massocri, examined its boys. A boy named Roderick O'Connor qualified for Sandburst from the college in 1893. Two boys named Herbert Roddy and Edwin Roddy had also passed from that college.

On 2nd June, 1893, the House of Commons passed the resolution to have simultaneous examinations in Eng-

land and India for all the services for which the examinations are at present held in England alone.*

Had such a Resolution been passed for any other department of State it would have never dared to offer resistance to it. But with unfortunate India the case is quite different.

The Resolution of 2nd June, 1893, having been carried, the Under-Secretary of State for India (Mr. Russell) said (Hansard, vol. 17, p. 1035): "It may be in the recollection of the House that in my official capacity it was my duty earlier in the Session to oppose a Resolution in favour of simultaneous examinations. But the House of Commons thought differently from the Government. That once done I need hardly say that there is no disposition on the part of the Secretary of State for India or myself to thwart or defeat the effect of the vote of the House of Commons on that Resolution.

"We have consulted the Government of India, and have asked them as "to the way" in which the resolution of the House "can best be carried out." It is a matter too important to be carried out without the advice of the Indian Government, and at present impossible to state explicitly what will be done."

Now, the Commission will observe that the Government of India was to be consulted as to the way in which the Resolution was to be best carried out, and not as to whether it was to be carried out or not nor to thwart or defeat

it. What did the Prime Minister (Mr. Gladstone) say :-

"The question is a very important one, and has received the careful consideration of Government. They have determined that the Resolution of the House should be referred to the Gov-

^{• &}quot;All open competitive examinations heretofore held in England alone for appointments to the Civil Services of India shall henceforth be held simultaneous both in India and England, such examinations in both countries being identical in their nature, and all who compete being finally classified in one list according to merit."

erument of India without delay, and that there should be a prompt and careful examination of the subject by that Government, who "are instructed" to say in "what mode" in their opinion, and under what conditions and limitations the Resolution 'could be carried into effect."

It must be observed again that the Government of India were to be instructed to say by what mode the Resolution could be carried into effect.

After such declarations by two important officials what did the Secretary of State do?

Did he loyally confine himself to these declarations? We know that Lord Kimberley (who was then the Secretary of State) was dead against simultaneous examinations. He knew full well that the Government of India was well known to the world to be as dead against any such interest of the Indians. Sir James Peile in his minute even said as much. And yet in a very clever way the Indian Office adds a sentence to its despatch, virtually telling the Government of India to resist altogether.

The last sentence added to the despatch was :--

*3. I will only point out that it is indispensable that an adequate number of the members of the Civil Service shall always be Europeans and that no scheme would be admissible which does not fulfil that essential condition."

And further, that there should remain no doubt of the real intention of this sentence, six members of the Council wrote vehement minutes emphatically indicating that the Government of India should resist—not obey the instruction as to what mode should be adopted to carry out the Resolution. And thus, knowing full well what the Government of India's views were, knowing also that the Resolution was passed notwithstanding the opposition of the Government; knowing also that Mr. Russell had distinctly told the House of the acceptance by the Government of what the House decided, and promising on behalf

of the Secretary of State, as well as himself, not to thwart or defeat the Resolution, Lord Kimberley sent the Indian lamb back to the Government wolf, as if the Resolution of the House was not of the slightest consequence, and the Governments here and in India were supreme and above the House of Commons. They had always done this for two-thirds of a century to every Act or Resolution of Parliament, or the Sovereign's Proclamations.

With such open suggestion and encouragement from the Secretary of State and his councillors, and with their own firm determination not to allow the advancement of the Natives by simultaneous examination—even having only lately snatched away from the hands of the Indians the little instalment of justice that was made by Sir Stafford Northcote and the Duke of Argyll, and was approved by Lord Salisbury—what could be expected in reply to such a despatch. Of course, the Government of India resisted with a will, tooth and nail, as they had always done.

At first, the Government of Madras was one for justice. And then, in the vicious circle in which all Indian interests are usually cleverly entangled, the Government here made that very resistance of the Indian Government a subterfuge and excuse for itself—that as the Government of India refuses they could not carry out the resolution! And the House of Commons had, as usual on Indian matters, one more disregard and insult.

And thus was one more disappointment—the bitterest of all the 64 years of disappointments the people of India have suffered. And yet there are men who raise up their hands in wonder that there should be any dissatisfaction among the Indians, when they themselves are the very creators of this discontent and great suffering.

I have referred to Lord Kimberley's actions, which showed how he was actuated from the very beginning. Now even before the despatch was sent to India, Lord Kimberley himself showed his full hand and let the Government of India know, by anticipation, his entire resistance to the Resolution within nine days of the passing of the Resolution on 2nd June, 1893, and ten days before the despatch was sent to India. He said (dinner to Lord Roberts by the Lord Mayor—Times, 13th June, 1893):—

"There is one point upon which I imagine, whatever may be our party politics in this country, we are all united; that we are resolutely determined to maintain our supremacy over our Indian Empire. That I conceive is a matter about which we have only one epinion, and let me tell you that that supremacy rests upon three distinct bases. One of those bases, and a very important one, is the loyalty and good-will of the Native Princes and population over whom we rule. Next, and not less important, is the maintenance of our "European" Civil Service, upon which rests the foundation of our administration in India. . . . Last, not because it is the least, but because I wish to give it the greatest prominence, we rest also upon the magnificent European force which we maintain in that country, and the aplendid army of Native auxiliaries by which that force is supported. . . . Let us firmly and calmly maintain our position in that country; let us be thoroughly armed as to our frontier defences, and then I believe we may trust to the old vigour of the people of this country, come what may, to support our supremacy in that great Empire."

Now, if it was as he said, there was only one opinion and such resolute determination, why on earth was all the fuse and expense of a Public Service Commission made? If European service was a resolute determination, was it not strange to have the subject of simultaneous examinations taken up at all by the Commission on grounds of reason, when it was a resolute, despotic, foregone conclusion? And why was the statutory service disturbed when it had been settled by Northcote, Argyll, and Salisbury and Parliament as a solution of compromise?

Now, we must see a little further what Lord Kimberlev's speech means. It says, "One of those bases, and a very important one, is the loyalty and good-will of the Native Princes and population over whom we rule." Now, the authorities both in England and India do everything possible to destroy that very loyalty and good-will, or, as it is often called, contentment, which these authorities profess to depend upon. I cannot say anything here about the Native Princes. But what about the good-will of the Native population! Is it productive of loyalty and goodwill (will a Briton be similarly content) to tell the Indians, "you will be kept down with the iron heel upon your neck of European services-military and civil-in order to maintain our power over you, to defend ourselves against Russian invasion, and thereby maintain our position in Europe, to increase our territory in the East, and to violate all our most solemn pledges. And all this at your cost, and mostly with your blood, just as the Empire itself has been built up. We have the power and for our benefit; and you put your Parliament and your Proclamations into your pocket." Queer way of producing contentment and loyalty!

This is a strange superiority over the despotic old Indian system! It is seldom a matter of the slightest thought to our authorities as to who should pay for these European services and for the outside wars, and what the consequences are of the "bleeding."

In connexion with India generally, the Englishman (with some noble exceptions) deteriorates from a lover of liberty to a lover of despotism, without the slightest regard as to how the Indians are affected and bled. He suddenly becomes a superior, infallible being, and demands that

what he does is right, and should never be questioned. (Mr. Gladstone truly called the "argument and law of force" as the law and argument of the present Anglo-Indian rule.) "Our boys" is his interest. The "boys" of others may go to the dogs, perish or be degraded for what he cares.

This is what the Anglo-Indian spirit of power, selfishness, and despotism (strange products of the highest civilisation) speaks through the mouth of the heads. How this spirit, if continued, will recoil on this country itself, there cannot be for Englishman themselves much difficulty to understand.

My remarks about Lord Kimberley are made with much pain. He is one of the best Englishmen I have ever met with. But our misfortune is this. Secretaries of State (with few exceptions) being not much conversant with or atudents of the true Indian affairs, place themselves in the hands of Anglo-Indians. If, fortunately, one turns out capable of understanding the just claim of the Indians and does something, some successor under the everlasting influence of permanent officials subverts the justice done, and the Indian interests perish with all their dire consequences. A Sir Stafford Northcote gives, a Lord Cross snatches away.

It will be seen that the very claim now put forward by the Indian authorities of having done a great favour by the "Provincial Service" is misleading and not justified. On the contrary, we are deprived of what we already possessed by an Act of Parliament (1870) of admission into the full Covenantal Civil Service to the extent of about 180 or 200 appointments, while what is given to us with much trumpeting is a miserable "close parish service" of about 95 Covenanted specific appointments, and that even not confined to Indians, but open to Europeans slso, and so devised that no regular admission (as far as I know) on some organised system and tests is adopted, and I understand it to be said that some twenty or thirty years will clapse before the scheme will come into some regular operation. Can there be a greater blow and injustice to the Indians and a greater discredit to the authorities? But what is worst of all is that insidious efforts are made to undermine and destroy all our charters of equal British citizenship with the people of this country.

Lord Kimberley's speech in support of the present system is the best justification of what Macaulay had said that "the heaviest of all yokes is the yoke of the stranger." If this speech meant anything, it meant that the British yoke over India should be as heavy a foreign yoke as could be made. For, he does not say a word that if England employs the European Agency for its own sake he should think it just that England should pay for it, or, at least, the greater portion or half of it. Any such act of justice does not seem to occur to the Anglo-Indian " Masters." India alone must bleed for whatever the Master wills. And Britain cares not as it has nothing to pay. Worse still, the masters do not seem to care what deterioration of character and capacity is caused to the Indians.

As to the fitness and integrity of the Indians in any kind of situation—military or civil—there is now no room for controversy, even though they have not had a fair trial they have shown integrity, pluck, industry, courage and culture, to a degree of which the British people may well be proud, as being the authors of it. I have already

touched upon the point of fitness in one of the statements.

About loyalty. In the despatch of 8th June, 1880, the Government of India itself said, "To the minds of at least the educated among the people of India—and the number is rapidly increasing—any idea of the subversion of British power is abhorrent from the consciousness that it must result in the wildest anarchy and confusion."

The fact is that because India asks and hopes for British rule on British principles, and not un-British rule on un-British principles of pure despotism aggravated by the worst evils of a foreign domination, that the educated are devotedly loyal, and regard their efforts for this purpose as their highest and best patriotism. Nothing can be more natural and sensible.

SUMMARY.

In 1833, a noble clause was passed by Parliament—everything that the Indians could desire. Had the Executives loyally and faithfully carried out that clause, India would have been in the course of more than sixty years a prosperous and contented and deeply loyal country, and a strength and a benefit to the British Empire to an extent hardly to be conceived or realised at present, when, by an opposite course, India is afflicted with all the horrors and misery to which humanity can possibly be exposed. After 1833, twenty years passed but nothing done. Fresh efforts were made in Parliament to put the Indians on the same footing as British subjects, by simultaneous examinations in this country and India. Stanley, Bright, Rich and others protested to no purpose; the violation of the Act of 1833 continued.

Then came the great and glorious Proclamation of the Queen in 1858, and a new bright hope to the Indians; but not fulfilled up to the present day. In 1860, a Committee of five members of the Council of the Secretary of State pointed out the dishouour of the British name, and reported that simultaneous examinations were the best method to do justice to the Act of 1833-to no purpose; the Report was suppressed and the public knew nothing about it. In 1867, the East India Association petitioned for the admission into the Covenanted Civil Service of a small proportion of Indians. Sir Stafford Northcote admitted the justice of the prayer, and proposed a clause to give a partial fulfilment of the Act of 1833. The Duke of Argyll passed Lord Salisbury approved of it, but pointed out how the jealousy of the Anglo-Indians would wreck it-a prophecy which was not long to be fulfilled.

The Government of India resisted tooth and nail, and made some outrageous proposals in the despatch of 2nd May, 1878. It was then that Lord Lytton, in a minute, admitted the ignoble policy of subterfuges and dishonour upon which the Executives had all along acted since 1833.

A strong and justly inclined Secretary (Lord Cranbrook) persisted, brushed aside all resistance and plausibilities, and compelled the Government of India to give effect to the clause. The Government of India, with bad grace and very reluctantly, made the rules—cleverly drawn up to throw discredit upon the service—the worst part was rejected by Lord Cranbrook; but an insidious device remained, and the appointments were begun to be made. The Anglo-Indians boiled with rage, and the explosion on the Ilbert Bill was the open declaration of war. Lord

Salisbury on that occasion confessed that the conduct of the Executive all along was merely "political hypocrisy."

The agitation subsided, but the appointments having remained to be continued the boiling under the crater continued, and, instead of exploding, the Government resorted to other devices and gained their settled object with a vengeance—the report of the Public Service Commission confirmed the foregone conclusions against the Statutory Service and simultaneous examinations.

The statutory service of full eligibility and of about 200 employments in the course of thirty years in the whole Covenanted Service was abolished, and the wretched scheme of May 2nd, 1878, established instead.

The whole position has been thrown back worse than it ever was before.

A Conservative (Sir Stafford Northcote) proposed, and a Liberal (Duke of Argyll) passed the Act of 1870 to do some justice. A Conservative (Lord Cranbrook) insisted upon carrying it out. A Liberal (Lord Kimberley) began to undermine it, and another Conservative (Lord Cross) gave it the deathblow—though, to the humiliation of the House of Commons, the Act remains on the Statute-Book. What faith can the Indians have on any Act of Parliament? To-day something given, to-morrow snatched away; Acts and Resolutions of Parliament and Proclamations notwithstanding.

Once more Parliament did justice and passed the Resolution, in 1893, for simultaneous examinations, to share the same grievous fate as all its former enactments. And the Indian Executive thus stands proclaimed the supreme power over the heads of all—Parliament, People, and Sovereign.

The whole force and object of the two references to our Commission is to reply to Sir Henry Fowler's most important challenge, and that reply mainly depends upon the consideration of the way in which the clauses in the Acts of 1833 and 1870 and the Proclamations are dealt with.

Sir Henry Fowler's challenge is this: "The question I wish to consider is, whether that Government, with all its machinery as now existing in India, has, or has not, promoted the general prosperity of the people of India, and whether India is better or worse off by being a province of the British Crown; that is the test."

I may here give a few extracts as bearing upon the subject and its results. I am obliged to repeat a few that I have already cited in my previous statements.

Sir William Hunter has said :-

"You cannot work with imported labour as cheaply as you can with Native labour, and I regard the more extended employment of the Natives not only as an act of justice but "as a financial necessity". . . . I believe that it will be impossible to deny them a larger share in the administration. . . . The appointments of a few Natives annually to the Covenanted Civil bervice will not solve the problem. . . . If we are to govern the Indian people efficiently and cheaply we must govern them "by means of themselves" and pay for the administration at the market rates of Native labour. . . . Good work thus commenced has assumed such dimensions under the Queen's Government of India that it can no longer be carried ou, "or even supervised, by imported labour" from England, except at a cost which India cannot sustain."

"I do not believe that a people numbering one-sixth of the whole inhabitants of the globe, and whose aspirations have been nourished from their earliest youth on the strong food of English liberty, can be permanently denied a voice in the government of the country."

Lord balisbury has said: "But it would be a great evil if the result of our dominion was that the Natives of India who were capable of government should be absolutely and hopelessly excluded from such a career."

Now that it is emphatically declared that all professions of equality of British citizenship were only so much

hypocrisy-that India must be bled of its wealth, work, and wisdom, that it must exist only for the maintenance of British rule by its blood, its money, and its slavery-England and India are face to face, and England ought to declare what, in the name of civilisation, justice, honour, and all that is righteous England means to do for the future. The principles of the statesmen of 1833 were: "Be just and fear not;" the principles of the present statesmen appear to be: "Fear and be unjust." Let India know which of the two is to be her future fate. However mighty a Power may be, justice and righteousness are mightier far than all the mightiness of brute force. Macaulay has said: "Of all forms of tyranny I believe that the worst is that of a nation over a nation." And he has also said: "The end of government is the happiness of the people." Has the end of Indian government been such, or all a "terrible misery," as Lord Salisbury has truly characterised it? Let the question be honestly answered.

The statesmen of 1933 accepted that "the righteous are as bold as a lion." But the authorities seem to have always forgotten it or ignored it; and political cowardice has been more before their eyes.

Lord Salisbury has said many more truths, but I have mentioned them before.

Mr. Gladstone has said :-

"It is the predominance of that moral force for which I heartily pray in the deliberations of this House, and the conduct of our vihole public policy, for I am convinced that upon that predominance depends that which should be the first object of all our desires as it is of all our "daily official prayers," namely, that union of heart and sentiment which constitutes the two bases of strength at home, and therefore both of strength and good fame throughout the civilised world."

Again:

"There can be no more melancholy, and in the last result, no more degrading spectacle upon earth than the spectacle of oppression, or of wrong in whatever form, inflicted by the deliberate Act of a nation upon another nation.

"But on the other hand there can be nobler spectacle than that which we think is now dawning upon us, the spectacle of a nation deliberately set on the removal of injustice, deliberately determined to break—not through terror, and not in haste, but under the sole influence of duty and honour—determined to break with whatever remains still existing of an evil tradition, and determined in that way at once to pay a debt of justice, and to consult by a bold, wise and good Act, its own interest and its own honour."

These extracts refer to Ireland. They apply with ten times the force to India.

With regard to India, he has fully admitted that there the law and argument of England was "the law and argument of ferce." Lord Randolph Churchill realised the true position of the evil of foreign domination of England in India under the present system. He said:—

"The position of India in relation to taxation and the sources of the public revenues is very peculiar, not merely from the habits of the people, and their strong aversion to change, which is more specially exhibited to new forms of taxation, "but likewise from the character of the government, which is in the hands of foreigners, who hold all the principal administrative offices and form so large a part of the Army." The impatience of the new taxation which will have to be borne wholly as a consequence of "the foreign rule imposed on the country," and virtually to meet additions to charges arising outside of the country, would "coustitute a political danger," the real magnitude of which, it is to be feared, is not at all appreciated by persons who have no knowledge of or concern in the Government of India, but what those responsible for that Government have long regarded "as of the most serious order."

"The East India Company, in their petition against change of government, said :---

"That your petitioners cannot contemplate without dismay the doctrine now widely promulgated that India should be administered with an especial view to the benefit of the English who reside there; or that in its administration "any advantage should be sought for her Majesty's subjects of European birth," except that which they will necessarily derive from their superiority of intelligence, and from the increased prosperity of the people, the improvement of the productive resources of the country and the extension of commercial intercourse."

The course, however, during the administration by the Crown, has been to regard the interests of Europeans as the most important and paramount, and generally every action is based upon that principle, with little concern or thought what that meant to the people of India at large.

Everything for the benefit of Indian interests is the romance, and everything for the benefit of the British and "cruel and crushing tribute" from Indians is the reality.

The edifice of the British rule rests at present upon the sandy foundation of Asiatic desputism, injustice, and all the evils of a foreign domination, as some of the best English statesmen have frequently declared; and the more this edifice is made heavier by additions to these evils, as is continuously being done, by violation of pledges and exclusion of Indians from serving in their own country, with all its natural evil consequences the greater, the more devastating and complete, I am grieved to foresee, will be the ultimate crash.

The question of remedy I have already dealt with in one of my representations to the Commission.

In a letter in the Times of September 28 last, Bishop Tugwell quotes an extract from the Times with regard to the African races. How much more forcibly does it apply to India, to whom the people of England mostly owe the formation and maintenance of the British Indian Empire, and who for their reward receive "terrible misery" and "bleeding."

The Times says :-

"The time has long passed away when we were content to justify our rule by the strong hand alone. We should no longer hold our great tropical possessions with an easy conscience did we not feel convinced that our tenure of them is for the advantage, not of ourselves only, but of the subject peoples."

Can a fair-minded, honest Englishman say that he result, this easy conscience with regard to India, after thetacle of

famine and pestilence which have been devastating that illfated country, after a British rule of a century and a half?

Macaulay has said, in 1833 :-

"'Propter vitam vivendi perdere causas' is a despicable policy either in individuals or States. In the present case such a policy would not only be despicable but absurd."

After describing from Bernier the practice of miserable tyrants of poisoning a dreaded subject, he says:—

"That detestable artifice, more horrible than assassination itself, was worthy of those who employed it. It is no model for the English nation. We shall never consent to administer the pousta to a whole community—to stupefy and paralyse a great people—whom God has committed to our charge, for the wretched purpose of rendering them more amenable to our control."

Lord Hartington said in 1883 :-

"It is not wise to educate the people of India, to introduce among them your civilisation and your progress and your literature, and at the same time to tell them they shall never have any chance of taking any part or share in the administration of the affairs of their country, except by their getting rid in the first instance of their European rulers. Surely, it would not be wise to tell a patriotic Native of India that."

This naturally suggests the question of the future of India with regard to Russia. This is rather a wide subject, and somewhat indirectly connected with this statement. But I may say here that there are, in my thinking, certain features in the Indian rule of great plausibility, which the Russians, by their emissaries, will urge upon the mind of the masses of the Indians, when they are in any spirit of discontent, with great effect against the English. Nor need I enter on the speculation whether Russia would be able to make a lodging in India. These are matters which every Englishman is bound to consider calmly. The English people and Parliament should not wait to consider them till it is too late. whole fear is, that if the British people allow things to drift on in the present evil system, the disaster may come to both countries when it is too late to prevent or repair it. My whole earnest anxiety is that righteous means may be adopted by which the connexion between the two countries may be strengthened with great blessings and benefits to both countries. I speak freely, because I feel strongly that it is a thousand pities that a connexion that can be made great and good to both countries is blindly being undermined and destroyed with detriment to both. My previous statements have clearly shown that. The whole question of the blessing or curse of the connexion of England and India upon both countries rests mainly upon the honourable and loyal fulfilment of the Act of 1833 and the Proclamation of 1858, or upon the dishonour of the non-fulfilment of them: "Righteousness alone will exalt a nation;" "Injustice will bring down the mightiest to ruin."

I conclude with my earnest hope and prayer that our Commission will pronounce clearly upon all the vital questions involved in their two references on which I have submitted my views.

One last word of agony. With the dire calamities with which we have been overwhelmed, and in the midst of the greatest jubilation in the world, in which we took our hearty share, in spite of those calamities, we have not, as far as I know, got the word of our greatest hope and consolation—a repetition of the most gracious Proclamation of 1858, of equality of British citizenship, which we received on the assumption of the Imperial title and on the Jubilee; nor of anything of its application.

Yours truly,

DADABHAI NAOROJI.

VII.

INDIANS IN THE INDIAN CIVIL SERVICE.*

Α

In proposing for your adoption this memorial,† I am glad that I have a very easy task before me, unless Icreate some giants of my own imagination to knock them down, for on the principle of the memorial I see on all hands there is but one opinion. Beginning with our gracious Sovereign, she has emphatically declared with regard to the natives of India (in a proclamation dated the 1st of November, 1858), "We hold ourselves bound to the natives of our Indian territories by the same obligations of duty which bind us to all our other subjects, and those obligations, by the blessing of Almighty God, we shall faithfully and conscientiously fulfil." Then referring to this particular point, the proclamation goes on, "It is our further will, that so far as may be, our subjects, of whatever race or creed, be freely and impartially admitted to offices in our service, the duties of which may be qualified by their education, ability, and integrity duly to discharge." That being the gracious declaration of the will and pleasure of our Sovereign, let us pass next to the opinion of Parliament upon the subject. The opinion of Parliament has been all long decisive upon this matter.

^{* (}Paper read before an evening Meeting of the East India Association, at London, Tuesday, August 13th 1867. Lord Lyveden in the Chair.)

t "We, the members of the East India Association, beg respectfully to submit that the time has come when it is desirable to admit the natives of India to a larger share in the administration of India than hitherto.

As far back as 1833, in the Act of that year, it was distinctly declared, "That no native of the said territories, nor any natural-born subject of his Majesty, resident therein, shall, by reason only of his religion, place of birth, descent, colour, or any of them, be disabled from holding any place, office, or employment under the said Company;" and on every occasion when Parliament has had the matter before it, there has scarcely been any

"We think that the competitive examinations for a portion of the appointments to the Indian civil service should be held in India, under such rules and arrangements as you may think proper. What portion of the appointments should be thus competed for in India we cannot do better than leave to your own judgment. After the selection is made in India, by the first examination, we think it essential that the selected candidates be required to come to England to pass their further examinations with the selected candidates of this country.

"In the same spirit, and with kindred objects in view for the general good of India, we would ask you to extend your kind encouragement to native youths of promise and ability to come to England for the completion of their education. We believe that if acholarships, tenable for five years in this country, were to be annually awarded by competitive examination in India to native

[&]quot;To you, sir, it is quite unnecessary to point out the justice, necessity, and importance of this step, as in the debate in Parliament, on May 24 last, you have pointed out this so emphatically and clearly, that it is enough for us to quote your own noble and statesmanlike sentiments. You said- Nothing could be more wonderful than our empire in India; but we ought to consider on what conditions we held it, and how our processors held it. The greatness of the Mogul empire depended upon the liberal policy that was pursued by men like Akbar, availing themselves of Hindu talent and assistance, and identifying themselves as far as possible with the people of the country. He thought that they ought to take a lesson from such a circumstance, and if they were to do their duty towards India they eculd only discharge that duty by obtaining the assistance and counsel of all who were great and good in that country. It would be absurd in them to say that there was not a large fund of statesmanship and ability in the Indian character.'-- (Times, 25th May, 1867.) With these friendly and just sentiments towards the people of India we fully concur, and therefore, instead of trespassing any more upon your time, we beg to lay before you our views as to the best mode of accomplishing the object.

opposition to the principle enunciated by this memorial. Again, up to the latest day, during the past three or four debates in Parliament which have taken place this year, we have seen the same principle emphatically declared; even in last night's debate we find the same again brought forward in a prominent way by some who are friends to India, and who also wish well to England. While we have this testimony on the part of our Sovereign and Parliament, we find that the press upon this matter at least is unanimous. So far back as 1853, in commenting upon the petition presented by the Bombay Association, I find a large proportion of the press here admitted the justice and truth of the complaints made by the natives of India, as to the exclusiveness adopted in the civil service at the time, and urging that the natives should be to a suitable extent introduced into the enjoyment of the higher places of responsibility and trust. And recently, in commenting upon the debates that have taken place in Parliament. which I have just referred to, the press has been equally unanimous in reference to this subject. As far as Parlia-

candidates between the ages of 15 and 17, some would compete successfully in England for the Indian civil service, while others would return in various professions to India, and where by degrees they would form an enlightened and unprejuded class, exercising a great and beneficial influence on native society, and constituting a link between the masses of the people and their English rulers.

[&]quot;In laying before you this memorial we feel assured, and we trust that you will also agree with us, that this measure, which has now become necessary by the advancement of education in India, will promote and strengthen the loyalty of the natives of India to the British rule, while it will also be a satisfaction to the British people to have thus by one more instance practically proved its desire to advance the condition of their Indian fellow-subjects, and to act justly by them.

[&]quot;We need not point out to you, sir, how great an encouragement these examinations in India will be to education. The great prizes of the appointments will naturally increase rastly the desire for education among the people."

ment and the press are any indication of the opinions of the people, we can say the people are at one on this subject. As far as my personal knowledge is concerned, during the twelve years I have been here, or while I was in India, I must confess that I have always found every Englishman that I have spoken to on the subject, admitting its justice, and assuring me that England will always do its duty towards India. I have been sometimes told that some civilians, perhaps, do not like it but I should not do the injustice to say that I recollect any instance in which such an opinion has been expressed to me. The testimony of all eminent men in the Indian service is in favour of giving all necessary facilities for the admission of natives of India to the civil service, as well as that of all those eminent statesmen here who have made India their study. The interest that the natives feel in this subject I need not at all enlarge upon; that can be at once conceived by their presence here; the interest they would feel in the Government of India by having the responsibilities of that administration on their own heads, speaks for itself; and at the same time the strength it would give to the British rule is also a matter of the gratest importance. Lastly, I find that the present Government itself has emphatically declared on this point. In the words I have quoted in the memorial, Sir Stafford Northcote has distinctly stated, "Nothing could be more wonderful than our empire in India; but we ought to consider on what conditions we held it, and how our predecessors held it. The greatness of the Mogul empire depended upon the liberal policy that was pursued by men like Akbar availing themselves of Hindu talent and assistance, and identifying themselves as far as possible with the people of the country. He thought that they ought to take a lesson from such a

circumstance, and if they were to do their duty towards India, they could only discharge that duty by obtaining the assistance and counsel of all who were great and good in that country. It would be absurd in them to say that there was not a large fund of statesmanship and ability in the Indian character." With such complete testimony on the principle of this memorial, I think I was quite justified in saying at the beginning that my task was a very easy one. This last extract, again, enables me to dispose of another point, namely, as to the capacity of the natives of India for administration and for high education. I may at once leave that alone, because at this time of day, after the education which has been received by the natives of India, after the results as shown by the university examinations, and with the actual facts of the efficiency of the services rendered by the natives of India, whenever they are employed in any office of responsibility and trust, it would be simply ridiculous on my part to try to prove to you their capacity for administration and for study, and their high character. The importance and justice of introducing natives of India into the administration to a proper extent, has been urged by various eminent men at different times before committees of the Houses of Parliament. If I had considered it necessary, I could have collected a volume of such extracts. I need only glance at this point. namely, the assistance which the Government of India would derive from the native element being introduced into it. With the best intentions, Englishmen cannot understand the natives of India as a body; their feelings, their ways of thought, and their original education, are so different, that with the best intentions on the part of Englishmen, they very often fail in pointing out the exact remedies for any complaints made by the natives; but if

the natives of India were introduced to a proper extent into the administration of the country, naturally their own countrymen would have more sympathy with them. Those native administrators would know where the exact difficulties were, and many of the problems of the present day, to grapple with which all the energies of our English administrators are taxed in vain, would be solved most easily. We would then have the sympathy of the natives with the British rulers, and one of the results of such a concession to the natives would be gratitude on their part, which would form a strong foundation for the upholding of the British rule in India. And when I advocate that which would have a tendency to uphold the British rule in India, it is not for the sake of the English. but for the sake of the natives themselves. They have every reason to congratulate themselves on being under the British rule, after the knowledge they have now derived, and are every day deriving, of the benefits of it. I come, then, to the practical part of the memorial itself. At present the arrangement is that the civil service examination is open to all British subjects; and under that arrangement, no doubt, the natives of India can come here, and they have come here, and undergone the competitive examination (one has passed, and is now serving in India). But if we refer back to the gracious words of our Sovereign, that the natives of India be admitted "freely and impartially," the question naturally arises whether under the present arrangement that declaration and that assurance is practically given effect to. The difficulty on the face of it is this, that the natives are put to the disadvantage of coming over here and remaining here for several years. The risk of losing a sum of money which perhaps they cannot afford, is in

itself a disadvantage sufficient to require some change in the arrangement. But, supposing even some few were willing to come here and to compete in the examination, it is not desirable that only those few should be admitted into the civil service require that those serving in it. whether native or English, should be of the highest talents. We do not want those having the longest purses only, but what we want is-in the words of Sir Stafford Northcote -the assistance and counsel of all who are great and good in the country; and we cannot attain that object unless we have a competitive examination which would enable all the best men of India to compete for appointments in the Indian civil service. Such are the men who ought to be introduced into that service. Therefore, putting aside all the disadvantages that the native is put to in coming over to this country, and which are in themselves sufficient to require that some alteration should be made in the present arrangement, the very best interests of the service require that some competition should take place in India whether at an earlier stage or at a later stage; and that a selection should be made, not only of those who can afford to spend a few thousands to come here, but of those who possess the best talent among the people. I have nothing more to say than to refer to the plan I have suggested in the memorial, and I have left it as general as possible, because, with the evidence before us of the interest which Sir Stafford Northcote has taken in the subject, and the emphatic manner in which he has expressed his views as to the necessity and justice of introducing the native element into the service, I can, with the utmost confidence, leave any of the details that would be best suited for the purpose to himself. The natives of India are willing to submit to any standard; if they could not

come up to the standard required by the service, it would be their own fault, and nobody would have any right to complain; but as long as they can assert that they would be able to stand any standard of examination which they may be reasonably subjected to, it is only just and proper that they should have the opportunity given them. Take, for instance, the case of the fair trial given to the natives for acquiring high education. There were no B.A.s or M.A.s before. The universities being established, we know the result, that the natives have fully vindicated their intellect. And they only ask a fair trial for the civil service. I am desirous, that instead of taking up more of your time, the members present should discuss this fully, and I therefore conclude as I began with the words of our Sovereign, "In their prosperity will be our strength, in their contentment our security, and in their gratitude our best reward;" and my only prayer is, that a reward nobler than that which has ever been attained by any nation, or any individual, may be earned by our British rulers.

In the proposal made by me, the examination takes place in India, just as it takes place here; the candidates that pass in India are exactly on the same footing as what are called selected candidates in England. After passing the competitive examination, there are what are called further examinations here, and it is for those further examinations here that I wish those natives to come here, which would be no hardship on them; the utmost sacrifice which they might be required to make, if the Government would not assist them, would be the voyage home; if the Government would pay that, then there would be no hardship, because, as soon as they come here they begin to prepare for their further examination; they get the first

year 1001., and the second year 2001., and then, if they show the necessary proficiency in the subjects they are required to study, there is no competition and no rejection afterwards; they have only to show that they have spent two years in the necessary studies, having in view the special duties required of them in India; so that there is no risk of their being rejected. The competitive examination in India would be what it is here, and after they passed that they would be admitted as selected candidates. As I am on my legs, allow me to add to what I have already said, that there is no practical difficulty in what is proposed. The whole thing is embraced in the rules published by the Secretary of State for India every year; the Secretary of State for India has only to decide as to what proportion of natives it would be advisable to introduce into the civil service, and then to send out instructions to the local government to institute examinations of the same character and under the same rules that are followed here, under which examinations the candidates would be selected; the number may be five or ten, or I should be satisfied if there were two for Bengal and one for each of the other presidencies. Those examinations would take place there under the same rules and the same arrangements under which they take place The best on the list would become the selected candidates, and when once they become selected candidates there would be no risk of failing in the competition. There are no practical details to propose; the arrangement of the whole thing is already practically carried out. The simple question for the Secretary of State to decide being, what proportion of the appointments should be competed for in India, it would be, I think, more proper on the part of this Association to leave that to Sir Stafford Northcote and the

Council. They are best able to judge as to that, and I have every confidence that they would do that which is right. The manner in which justice has been done in the case of Mysore makes me perfectly confident that we have a Government not only willing to make professions, but willing to do what they profess. As I did not contemplate that any details should be proposed, except simply that a certain proportion of appointments to be decided on by the Secretary of State should be competed for in India, the managing committee, to whom this proposal was referred, thought wisely that we might at once go to the whole Association itself, and we have done so. If the Association are inclined to adopt the proposal of the noble chairman, of referring the matter back to a committee, I do not say anything against it, but there is nothing to be considered: the whole thing is ready cut and dried. There are only two points to be decided by Sir Stafford Northcote: first, whether a certain number of appointments should be competed for in India or not, and next, what proportion of the appointments should be so competed for. With regard to the various remarks which have been made by Mr. Hodgson Pratt, I agree with the full force of them. When he, some years ago, was anxious to promote the plan of bringing over to England young men to be educated. I endeavoured to contribute my humble mite to that endeavour. All I say upon the remarks he has addressed to you is this, that he attaches a little too much importance to an independent body of natives in India who had received their education in England, and who would spread themselves in all the different departments of life, being the only means by which the tone of society, and the status of the whole population would be raised; for, we must not forget that, attaching to the administration of the

country itself, there are responsibilities that must be incurred; and when a native is introduced into the administration he comes under a responsibility which an outsider cannot appreciate. If we had only a body of independent educated natives we should have nothing but agitation; there would be no counterpoise to it, there would be no men trained under the yoke of responsibility, who would tell them that there were such and such difficulties in the way of the administration. I have considered this matter very carefully for a long time. taken the utmost possible trouble to induce my friends to come over here for their education, and most of the twentyfive who have been referred to are under my care. I have taken that responsibility, because I feel strongly upon the point. I have taken that guardianship for the past twelve years with no little anxiety to myself, but I am glad to say that those young men have behaved most admirably. never having given me cause to complain, and the character that has been given of them, whether by the gentlemen with whom they have been residing, or by the professors of their college, has been that they have been very steady and very good. But in this way we cannot get the best talent, Therefore, I hope that it will not be considered by the Association that I have brought forward this question inconsiderately and immaturely. I do not see the necessity of troubling a committee to go into it again. Here I have my proposal in some detail :-- " First Examination for the Civil Service of India, to be held in India." (I would be satisfied even with a few to begin with; I suggest five.) " Five candidates shall be selected every year as follows: -2 from Bengal, 1 from Bombay, 1 from Madras, 1 from the North-West Provinces and the Punjab. The examina. tion shall be held in each of the above territories, under

the instruction of the local government, in the subjects, and according to the rules adopted from time to time by the Civil Service Commissioners for the first competition examination in England. The highest in rank shall be deemed to be selected candidates for the civil service of India. The selected candidates shall, within three months of the announcement of the result of the examination, proceed to England, and the local government shall pay the passage money. After arrival in England these selected candidates shall be subject to the rules and terms for the subsequent 'further examination,' &c., like the selected candidates of England." If it is necessary for a plan to be attached to the memorial, here is one. I admit the force of the remark made by Mr. Hodgson Pratt, that mere education in colleges and universities is not enough, that there are other qualifications necessary. But though I do not agree with those who say that the education given in India does not raise the moral as well as the intellectual character of the pupil, still I purposely make it essential that those natives who are selected for the service should come over to England for those two years, in order that they may acquire all the benefits in England which Mr. Hodgson Pratt so ably described. As to the competitive system, it must be recollected that it has been established as being the best system that can be adopted for arriving at the qualities and capabilities of If the Council think that there ought to be a standard of proficiency at the oar or at cricket, let them establish such a standard; I daresay the natives of India would be quite prepared to try a hand at bowling or at the car with the natives of England; only, let every one be put on an equal footing. We no longer select men for the service in India according to the system of patron-

age; we know how that system worked in former timeshow proprietors joined together to get their nephews in. I do not refer to past grievances; let the past be the past, we have enough to be thankful for: we select our best men in the best way in our power, by a competitive examination, and though, in a competition of 200 for 50 or 60 situations, there is some chance of an incompetent man getting in, by cramming or by some accident, still, where there is a competition of 100 or 1,000 for only one or two places, the chances are infinitesimally small that anybody who does not possess the highest order of intellect will be able to take those prizes. I beg to submit to our President, with very great deference, that the proposal I have made has been carefully considered. have consulted several gentlemen who are deeply interested in the matter, and I hope our noble President will support me in approving of this memorial, with the addition which Sir Herbert Edwardes has made, to which I have no objection; it gives the memorial a wider scope, and meets the other difficulty which our noble President suggested as to the expense. It is desirable, instead of simply allowing a few young men to enter the Civil Service. that we should also carry out a comprehensive principle of giving some opportunity to natives of entering upon other independent departments. I fully agree that the assistance proposed by Sir Herbert Edwardes' amendment should be held out to the youths of India; we want the best talent of the country brought here; therefore, I propose that Sir Herbert Edwardes' addition should be embodied in the memorial. Our noble President has said that this memorial does not properly come within the province of this Association. With every deference, I beg to differ from his Lordship. The very basis upon which this insti-

tution has been formed is, as expressed by the second rule, the promotion, by all legitimate means, of the interests and welfare of India generally. If the object and purpose of the Association is simply to supply information, 1 do not see that the Association can do any very great good; but if the Association takes up one subject after another. considerately and carefully, as our noble President suggests, and does actual practical good to the various interests of India, the Association then will have fulfilled its mission of bringing India and England together, doing justice to India, informing the people of this country of all that is necessary to be known by them in relation to Indian matters, and suggesting to them what they, in the situation in which Providence has placed them, as rulers of India, ought to do towards India. If the Association has not been formed to attain those objects. I do not see what good it can do. We may read papers here and have a pleasant discussion on them, and go away with the feeling that we have had a very successful meeting; but if we are to end there. what good shall we have done? What is the object of all our discussion? It is to take such practical steps as may influence the people of this country, and as may influence the Government to rectify existing evils, the rectifying of which would have the effect of consolidating the British rule in India, to the great benefit of both England and India.

Gentlemen,—Since our deputation waited on the Secretary of State for India with the Memorial † relative to the Indian Civil Service, I find several objections urged from different quarters; and, as I see that Mr. Fawcett is going to move a resolution, I beg to submit for your consideration my views on those objections. They are, as far as I have met with, principally these:—

- 1. That the natives are not fit, on account of their deficient ability, integrity, and physical power and energy.
- 2. That Europeans would not like to serve under
- 3. That native efficials are not much respected by the natives, and that when a native is placed in any position of eminence, his fellow-countrymen all around him are ready to backbite and slander him.
- 4. That natives look too much to Government employment, and do not show sufficient independence of character to strike out for themselves other paths of life.
- That though natives may prove good subordinates, they are not fit to be placed at the head of any department.
- That natives who seek for admission into the Civil Service should be Anglicised.
- That natives ought not to be put in positions of power.
- 8. That the places obtained by the natives will be so many lost to the English people.

Paper read before a Meeting of the East India Association, London, Friday, April 17th, 1868. E. B. Eastwick Esq., c.B., P.R.S., in the Chair.

[†] Appendix B.

9. That natives are already largely employed.

To avoid confusion, I give hereafter the replies to these objections separately, but it is necessary to guard against being drawn into a discussion of these objections. and thereby missing the real point at issue. Whatever may be the weight or value of these objections, they are now altogether beside the question. The real position of the question at present is simply this: That, notwithstanding all these and other such objections, after a searching inquiry, and after taking them all into very careful consideration, Parliament has decided and publicly enacted "That no native of the said territories (India), nor any natural-born subject of his Majesty resident therein, shall, by reason only of his religion, place of birth, descent, colour or any of them, be disabled from holding any place, office, or employment under the said Company." This enactment by Parliament in the year 1834 was again confirmed in distinct, honest, and emphatic terms by our gracious Sovereign in the year 1858: "We hold ourselves bound to the natives of our Indian territories by the same obligations of duty which bind us to all our other subjects, and those obligations, by the blessing of Almighty God, we shall faithfully and conscientiously fulfil It is our further will that, so far as may be, our subjects, of whatever race or creed, be freely and impartially admitted to offices in our service, the duties of which they may be qualified by their education, ability, and integrity duly to discharge." The test of qualifications, character and health are laid down. Now, the question simply is, whether these solemn Royal declarations and enactments of Parliament are to be fairly and honestly carried out, or whether they are only to be a morkery and a delusion as far as the British subjects in India are concerned. This is the whole question. I have

not the least doubt that the intentions of our Sovereign and Parliament are honest, and the only course open is, not to subject any one class of British subjects to greater difficulties and sacifices than another. Every obstacle left or thrown in the way of the natives of India is equivalent to making the Royal word and Parliamentary enactment, as far as they are concerned, a dead letter and a mockery. The only way in which natives of India can be put on an honestly equal footing with Eulishmen is by holding examinations in India also. I trust that in the debate in Parliament this real point at issue will not be lost sight of, and will be distinctly pronounced upon.

The questions which will have to be necessarily discussed in connexion with this point are-Ist. Whether it is practicable to hold examinations in India. is evident that there can be no insurmountable difficulty. I need hardly take up your time on this point, as you are all well aware that there are competent staffs of examiners in India. I would only throw out one or two suggestions. If it be considered necessary that all the candidates both of this country and of India should be subjected to the same examination, papers for both written and viva voce examinations can be sent from here, to be opened in India in the examination rooms on the same day as they are opened here; and in the case of the vira voce examinations (whether papers are sent or not, or questions additional to those given in the papers are put by the examiner for obtaining fully the object of the vivil voce examinations), if the examiners are required to write down all the questions put and answers given, with such remarks as may occur to them as to the manner of the replies of each candidate, the Commissioners here will be well able to control the whole examination, and bring it to a common standard. If, on the other hand, the Government of India be left to carry out the examination in India, there will be no difficulty whatever in finding a competent staff of examiners. It is neither desirable, nor should it be expected by the natives, that the English portion of the service should not be larger than the native; and a small portion of the annual appointments left to be competed for in India, is all, I think, that they can at present fairly ask. In that case the latter plan of leaving to the Government of India to conduct the examinations would be preferable. The chief objection to this latter plan is that by a separate examination a native may come in who may be inferior to the English candidates rejected here. To avoid this difficulty, either the first plan of "same papers" must be adopted; or, if the Government of India adopt a sufficiently high standard of examinations and a high minimum, considering that the number of appointments will be very small indeed compared with the number of candidates who are likely to compete in such a large population, the successful candidates will not only be comparatively, but absolutely, good and superior men. Again, on the other hand, the chief objection to the "same examination for all" is that as the number of candidates will be in the course of time much larger in India than here, on account of the immensely larger population from which they will come, there is some chance that the Commissioners may find a much larger number of natives coming high than the Secretary of State may think desirable to give appointments to. If, therefore, any natives are then rejected and their English inferiors are selected, the cry of injustice will naturally arise, which contingency ought, I think, to be avoided. Upon the whole, therefore, I think leaving the examination to the Government of India, with a sufficiently high standard, will be the most practicable plan, as the chance is very slight of inferior men passing in a very large competition. Again, whether the examinations should be held in some one place only, or at all the Presidency towns, is another question. This can be well left to the Viceroy. Each Presidency is so large a country by itself that, if a distribution of the appointments were made among them, the work of the examiners will be ample, and the civil servants being thus drawn from the different localities of India, a larger and more varied experience will be introduced into the service than if they were all or most of them drawn from one province only, which I think will be an advantage. These details, however, had better be left to the judgment of the Secretary of State.

As to the general character of the candidates, the certificates will be mostly from the English heads of their colleges, about whom certainly nobody can object that they would not be as conscientious and honest as the heads of the colleges here. The weight of any other certificates that may be produced by the candidates can easily be judged of by the examining authorities. In short, Government may adopt such rules as they may deem necessary to get the Indian candidate of the same level with the English, whether in acquirements, character, physical energy, or in any other particular. If the natives fail in coming up to a fair standard, it would be their own fault; they only ask a fair trial. Now suppose any inefficient person by some accident found admission into the service (which is very unlikely in a large competition for very few places), or suppose that after admission the integrity of any was not found satisfactory; there is no difficulty for Government in discharging such a person. By his appointment once he does not become a permanent fixture. Nor is it incumbent upon Government to promote any servant who does not prove his fitness for promotion. So there is no reason whatever why the enactment of Parliament or the proclamation of our Sovereign should not be fairly carried out, and the mere hughear of the fear that some native employé may misbehave himself be allowed to interfere with a necessary act of justice and policy.

As to the locality for the examinations, Clause XXXII of the Act of 1858 does not fix any. The Secretary of State for India is not prevented from holding examinations where he may think necessary.

The second question will be the necessary expenditure, but it is only natural and quite evident that the natives would only be too glad to have any necessary portion of the revenue devoted to such purposes.

I need not here do more than simply state that the two requests made in our memorial have been by some confounded with each other as alternatives, but you are aware they are not so. The very wording of the second request and the speech of Sir H. Edwards shows that the two requests have two different objects, the first to give a fair, free, and impartial chance to the natives to enter the Indian Civil Service on the same footing as Englishmen, and the second to send out natives in various independent professions to India, "where by degrees they would form an enlightened and unprejudiced class, exercising a great and beneficial influence on native society, and constituting a link between the masses of the people and their English rulers."

When I moved the memorial, I did not go further into this matter than pointing out that our Sovereign and the Parliament, and the press as representing the

people of this country, and the present Government were of the one opinion which is expressed in the words I have quoted before from an Act of Parliament and from the proclamation of our Sovereign. Even now the press of this country, while commenting on the Blue-Book of the comparison of the British and native rule, have almost unanimously declared that a fair field for the aspiration of natives of ability and character is one of the most important wants of the British rule, both to make it beloved as well as efficient. I also then urged that the best interest of the service required that the first competition for selection should take place in India, in order that selection of qualified natives may not be made from a small body only, but to select the best talent and character from the whole talent and character of the country.

With such a clear case of law, justice, and necessity, we may think, and properly too, that I should have nothing more to say, and that my paper should end here. So I had thought on the occasion of proposing the memorial, but as some objections have been since started from quarters, no matter of whatever character, and as it is likely that some members of Parliament may desire to know the value of these objections, though, as I have explained before they are all now quite irrelevant, I discuss them one by one.

1. "That the natives are not fit, on account of their deficient ability, integrity, and physical power and energy.

The reports of the education department of India and of the administrative departments show what the abilities and acquirements of the natives are, and how offices of trust and responsibility hitherto entrusted to educated Indians have been discharged by them.

The testimony as to the ability and intelligence of

the natives is new complete, that the intellect of the natives of India is equal to that of any other people. Its ancient literature speaks for itself, and the result of modern education is that its universities declare, year after year, that their work is successful, and that graduates begin to number by hundreds, and undergraduates by thousands. I shall revert to this point again shortly, in connection with the question of integrity.

With regard to the general integrity and character of the whole nation, it would be too long to go over the ground I have once treated in my paper on the European and Asiatic races. Nor is it at present necessary for me to do so, as the question now before us is not the indiscriminate employment of natives generally in high offices of trust and responsibility, but only of that class which proves itself qualified by its high education, ability, and character. Now, it would be a strange commentary on the educational results of the English colleges in India (which are very justly regarded, both by the English nation and the natives, as one of the greatest boons and blessings conferred by England upon India), and on the character of all English intellectual, moral, and scientific literature, if the highly educated youths of these colleges did not also attain to high moral character. But as in the immutable order of nature a good seed can never produce bad fruit, especially in a soil that has once proved itself fertile, it is not the fact that the education of these colleges does not raise the sense of moral duty of the students. I might here reason out a long argument to show why the natives cught to be and are as good as any other people under similar circumstances; but, as any length of argument or number of assertions will not carry conviction home to those who have now to pronounce

on this point so completely as a few actual facts, I applied myself to this task. Before I give you the result, I have to make one observation. I do not do this in any spirit of recrimination, or ill-feeling, nor do I wish to urge the delinquencies of any one class as any justification for those of another; but it is only in simple fairness and justice that I ask English gentlemen to make proper allowances. Those gentlemen who so often cast stones at the want of integrity and the corruption of the natives should not forget how some Englishmen in India. in former days, were suddenly transformed into rich Nawabs; how Mr. Drake got his Rs. 2,80,000, or bow a number of others got their lakhs to side with one or other of the contending native princes, to the tune of some millions sterling within nine years, from 1757 to 1766,* and how, after selling their power and influence in India in the above manner, the Company bought their power in the English legislature, by bribing in the legislature to something like 90,000l. in the year 1693; how the Company's servants cheated their own masters: how, in Mr. Mills' words, in one matter, "The conduct of the Company's servants upon this occasion furnishes one of the most remarkable instances upon record of the power of interest to extinguish all sense of justice, and even of shame." It is natural for gentlemen who have received a high education, and who begin their Indian service or life with high pay or profits, and high prospects. to feel indignant at the bribery and corruption of the poor people with low education, low pay or profits, and low prospects, and exclaim how can such things be. But if

[•] Mills' 'British India,' vol. iii., ed. 1826, p. 326.

[†] Ibid, vol. i., ed. 1826, p. 115.

[!] Ibid, vol. iii., ed. 1826, p. 300.

those gentlemen would only observe a little more around themselves, observe the amount of fraud and "doing" in this metropolis, if they would only remember the cry very recently raised against butchers and grocers, and discounts for servants, the convictions for false weights, the puffs of advertisements, the corruption among the "independent and intelligent electors" and their respectable corruptors, that, as said above, English gentlemen bought and sold power, and that several Englishmen from the lower classes are not behaving quite creditably in India now, &c., they will then see that such things not only can be, but are to be found even in this country under similar circumstances, learn to make allowances for similar phenomena among other people, and agree in the "decided conviction" expressed by the Court of Directors, that "we have no right to calculate on them (the natives) resisting temptations to which the generality of mankind in the same circumstances would yield."

The real question now, gentlemen, is whether, when natives are as highly educated as Englishmen, they attain to the same character for integrity or not, whatever may be the difference of opinion about the character of the whole nation, or native agency generally.

I have collected a large amount of testimony with regard to native agency. Here I have in my hand a pamphlet of ninety-five pages, entitled 'Evidences relating to the Efficiency of Native Agency in India, published under the superintendence of the British India Society, reprinted with a supplement by the British Indian Association, Calcutta, 1853.' This pamphlet contains a collection of the testimony of Indian officials up to 1853. We have further in the Parliamentary reports

^{*} Letter to Bengal Government, dated 23rd July 1824.

of the same year a large amount of evidence on the same subject, and also a good deal scattered over in different works, or in periodical literature. But for our present purpose nearly the whole of this mass of evidence is inapplicable; and therefore useless to lay before you. All this evidence has been chiefly upon the question of native agency generally, but the present question is not the efficiency and integrity of the natives generally, but of the particular body who can pass the ordeal of a high examination and produce satisfactory testimony of character. I therefore thought proper to request several Indian officials now resident in this country to give me their opinion. I addressed the following letter:—

"I shall be exceedingly obliged if you would kindly give me your opinion as to the efficiency and integrity of the educated natives employed in the various departments of the Indian service in offices of trust and responsibility."

To this inquiry several gentlemen have kindly replied. I give you all these replies in Appendix A, and leave you to judge for yourselves. Out of the testimony already published I give you a few extracts only in the same appendix, which directly bear upon the present question. It will be observed that the appended testimony represents all parts of India. Sir W. Denison's opinion appears unfavourable. He admits that there are, even though as exceptions, some natives who are serving the statewith efficiency. Now, it is only for men like these, and who can also prove their character, no matter whether they are few or many, that our memorial asks for free admission. It is only those natives who can prove their ability by passing through a severe ordeal, and who can also prove their character by satisfactory testimony (and not natives indiscriminately), that we ask admission for

And even after such natives are admitted, if any is found wanting, either in efficiency or integrity, there is nothing to prevent Government from dismissing him, Government bound to promote, unless satisfied with the merits of any servant. Against Sir W. Denison's opinion representing Madras, we have, on the other hand, a different opinion from Lord Harris, Sir C. Trevelyan, General Briggs, and Mr. Edward Malthy. On a fair estimate of the whole evidence. I venture to conclude that the educated natives of India, when employed in the public service. have proved their efficiency and integrity. My humble testimony may be worthless, especially in a matter in which I am one of the petitioners; but I think I may at least say what I conscientiously believe, that as a native, and therefore having good opportunity of knowing the private character of the educated natives of the Bombay Presidency, many of whom were my atudents, fellow-students, friends, acquaintances, or fellow-labourers in public movements (without undertaking to give an opinion as to their efficiency, though I know well their ability), I conscientiously believe that their integrity is undoubted, and that they are actuated by a true and genuine sense of moral duty in their good conduct and public spirit. Among them a spirit of condemning any lapse of duty, to the want of which, among natives generally, Sir R. Wallace alludes, is getting very strong, and the severest reproach that any one administers to another is to tell him that he did not behave in a way worthy of his education. The feeling among them is very strong, that their high education demands from them a high moral character, and a performance of their duties. I can give extracts of open censure from the native press. Our present rulers may well be proud of such result of their educational establishments, and point to it as one of their strongest claims upon our loyalty and gratitude. It only now remains for our rulers to let such results bear good fruit, instead of running into discontent and mischief, by giving a fair and reasonable scope for the talent evolved. The question is simple: either the natives must be allowed to have a fair share in the administration of the country, or the nation must be kept ignorant, and the rulers take the chances of the results of such ignorance and hatred for foreign rule combined therewith.

I am glad to say that as far as I am aware of the views of some of the English principals and professors of the colleges in the Bombay Presidency, they are the same with mine, and it is with much pleasure I find that Sir A. Grant, the present Director of Public Instruction, has distinctly recorded his opinion as follows. In his report as Principal of Elphinstone College,* for 1862-63, he says. "As far as my experience goes, nothing can be more untrue than the common notion that English education is injurious to the moral principle of natives. In the College, I have invariably found that students improve in trustworthiness and respectability in direct ratio to their improvements as scholars." Any doubts about the physical energy or pluck of the candidates can easily be removed by requiring any test for the purpose. Certainly, the people with whose assistance, as the native army, the British Indian Empire has been mostly built up, cannot be pronounced as wanting in physical power and energy. They ought to have a fair trial. From the political cause of long subjection to foreign rules, and several religious and social causes, it cannot be denied that the people of several portions of India are enervated, -those of Lower Bengal I

^{*} Bombay Education Report, 1862-63, p. 94.

am told especially; and some Englishmen, observing the effeminacy of these people have drawn the general conclusion with regard to all India. But about this very people Mr. Anstey told us the other day*: "Who were the Sykhs when their prophet first found them out? Poor miserable starving fugitives from Bengal, of whom their great founder, knowing well the stuff from which Asiatics were made, looking with a prophetic eye into the future, said, 'I will teach the sparrow to strike the eagle.' In comparison with the great dignity of Aurungzebe, it was the sparrow as compared to the eagle, and in less than a century the sparrow did strike the eagle."

Let, therefore, the natives once feel that it is time for them to shake off this effeminacy, and that, under the blessing and ægis of the British rule, there is full scope for the head, heart and hand, and I have no doubt that they will prove themselves worthy of the power and civilization they once possessed, and of the blessing of the new regeneration now bestowed upon ithem by the light of the higher enlightenment and civilization of the West by their British rulers.

In short, whatever may be the value of the objection as to the efficiency, integrity, and energy of the natives, the very fact that none can find admission into the service who are not qualified as required, removes the objection altogether. I once more wish to impress that it is not only the willingness of a native to be examined that will find him admission into the examination-room, but he will have to prove to the satisfaction of Government that he is a person of character, in the same way as the candidate is required to do here; that his further promotion will be

^{*} Journal of the East Indian Association, No. 2, p. 182.

entirely in the hands of Government, and his failure will bring dismissal.

2. "That Europeans would not like to serve under natives."

This I cannot help considering as a libel on the English character. I have a much higher opinion of it than to believe that Englishmen are not capable of appreciating and respecting true merit. Moreover, facts disprove this objection. The native judges of the high as well as the subordinate courts, and natives in any other position of eminence, are respected by English subordinates. Englishmen serve both here and in India native masters with every respect. In the Bombay dockyard, Englishmen served under native superiors. In short, it would be strange if it were otherwise, for Englishmen are especially alive to merit. Why, if there be any Englishmen in the service, who should be so lost to their sense of duty and appreciation of true merit as to be reluctant to serve under natives of merit, they do not deserve to be in the service at all.

3. "That native officials are not much respected by the natives, and are envied and slandered."

This objection can only be the result of the ignorance of the feelings of the natives towards officials of real merit, be they Englishmen or natives. The gratification of seeing their own countrymen rise in dignity and honour is naturally as great among the natives as among any other people. That narrow minded or interested people will envy others is a trait which can be met with as much among any other people as among the natives of India. Only some weeks ago I read in the *Hindu Reformer* of Bombay, of 15th January last, "We hail with excessive joy the selection of Mr. Mhadeo Govind Ranade,

M.A., LL B., Niayadhish of Kolapore, to fill the chair of English Literature and History in the Elphinstone College. . . . The honour which is thus conferred on Mr. Ranade is as much deserved by him as it is suggestive of his superior accomplishments as a scholar, and we have not the slightest doubt that it will cause much satisfaction to all who take an interest in the cause of the education of the youth of this Presidency." This is a fair specimen of the feelings of the natives towards their countrymen of merit. I can give more extracts if necessary. When I was appointed Professor of Mathematics in the same College, I can candidly say that I think I was looked upon with very kindly feelings by my countrymen around me generally, as well as by the students of the College and the masters of the school departments. The feelings of my European colleagues were so kind towards me that I shall always remember them with pleasure and gratitude.

Turning to official testimony, I think none can be more satisfactory and complete than the following:—

In one of the Government Gazettes of Calcutta, of last year, the following paragraph appeared:—The Governor-General in Council has received, with sincere regret, official intimation of the death of the Hon'ble Shamboonath Pundit, one of the Judges of Her Majesty's High Court at Fort William. The Hon'ble the Chief Justice in communicating this intelligence to the Governor-General has said: 'So far as Mr. Justice Shamboonath Pundit was concerned, the experiment of appointing a native gentleman to a seat in the High Court has succeeded. He had a considerable knowledge of his profession, and a thorough acquaintance with the natives. I have always found him upright, honourable, and independent, and I believe that he

was looked up to by his countrymen with respect and confidence.' The interest which both in India and England attaches to the experiment of placing a native gentleman in the highest judicial situation in the country has induced the Governor-General in Council to make public the opinion of the Honourable the Chief Justice, in which His Excellency entirely agrees."

Certainly, the above extracts prove anything but envy. They also disprove the first objection as to the ability and character of the natives. Sir A. Grant is no ordinary judge of scholarship, and that he should appoint a native as Professor of English Literature and History speaks volumes. The testimony of the Governor-General and the Chief Justice about Pundit Shamboonath speaks for itself.

The Court of Directors say, "The ability and integrity of a large and increasing number of the native judges to whom the greater part of the civil jurisdiction in India is now committed, and the high estimation in which many among them are held by their fellow countrymen," &c.*

The North-West Provinces report that the Courts of Honorary Magistrates appear to possess the confidence of the people,†

4. "That natives look too much to Government employment, and do not shew sufficient independence of character to strike out for themselves other paths of life."

This is also contrary to facts, and has its origin in superficial observation, or in the knowledge of particular localities. That they should look to Government appointments, and wish to aspire to a share in the administration of their own country, is only as natural with them as with Englishmen here. Until lately there were very few openings for

^{• &#}x27;Educational Despatch of 1854', p. 77.

[†] Return, Moral, &c., Progress, 1867', p. 88.

educated men. The legal profession being now open to them. many are going to it. The medical profession is availed of as far as it can be, in spite of the prejudices against dissection. But except at the Presidency and some other large towns, an educated doctor can hardly get practice suited to his position; the number, therefore, of well-educated practitioners who can at present pursue this profession with profit is limited. The fact that European doctors chiefly confine themselves to the Presidency and some few other towns, shows that the field for educated medical men is not yet very large. The educated theological profession has yet to be created, except among native Christians. The Gujurati Hindus of India have been merchants from time immemorial, and they are still as enterprising as ever. There is a large internal commerce carried on by the natives. Many among educated natives would gladly become merchants, or follow other professions, if they had the requisite capital or means. During the years 1862-64. when there was such a rush for trade and speculation, many natives left Government service. The manufacturers of England, especially textile, have broken down very much the corresponding industries of India; and now, as the establishment of manufactories is a question of large capital, it is naturally shut to those who do not possess it. Still, several natives get employment in such as are established. In railways and other works they are ready to be employed. Besides, civil and marine engineering is adopted by several.

In short, this objection may be answered briefly in this way—that there are only about 400 natives in Government service at a salary above 300l. per annum and upwards (see Return 201-206, 1858, 223; sec. ii, 1859). What do all those other thousands of natives do who are also earning as much? So far as the native finds an independent opening, he does not fail to take advantage of it. I know from my experience of the educated natives of the Bombay Presidency, that they are very glad to have independent careers.

So far was I convinced of this and of the necessity of affording facilities for new careers, that I made an attempt in 1864 to adopt some means to enable highly talented natives to continue their studies for professional careers after completing their college education. One of the natives of Bombay offered a lakh, and some others Rs. 1,75,000 for two fellowships of Rs. 200 and Rs. 300 per month respectively, and asked Government to contribute as much; but unfortunately the offer was not accepted by Government.

In addition to these fellowships, which were intended to encourage high education and high independent careers. there was also started for the less educated, and the enterprising spirits generally, a "Students' Loan Company," to lend money at moderate interest to persons wishing to visit England and other places, to complete their education or to learn any trade, art, or profession. The Rs. 300 fellowship and the Students' Loan Company were intended for the benefit of all India. The commercial crash broke down all these proposals. I don't think that there can be any question that the natives do not look to Government employments any more than the people of any other country in similar circumstances. Supposing, however, for argument's sake, that there was among the natives some tendency to look a little too much to Government employments, that certainly can be no good reason that they should therefore be deburred from aspiring to a reasonable extent to a share in the service of their own country when qualified by their ability and character. It is said that this tendency was observed in Lower Bengal, but, even in that part

of India, the tendency, if it ever existed to any unreasonable extent, is now changing. The body of independent barristers, solicitors, and vakeels, doctors, and merchants shows that even the Bengalees are not blind to the advantages of independent careers as they become open to them.

5. "That, though natives may prove good subordinates, they are not fitted to be placed at the bend of any department."

Without giving a fair trial, such an objection is, to say the least, very unreasonable. Besides, the objection is not borne out by facts. In any instances in which natives have been put in positions of trust and responsibility, they have shown themselves equal to their duties, as you must have seen from the evidence I have read to you. If, in any case, Government found inefficiency, there could be no difficulty in removing it, just as it does with English servants. Moreover, after getting admission into the service, the natives would not be put at the head all at once. They will have to show their efficiency, and to work their way up; and Government will have every opportunity of testing whom they can trust and whom not with higher positions.

6. "That natives who seek for admission into the Civil Service should be first Anglicised."

The education that natives receive in India is in itself a process of Anglicising them, with this advantage, that they retain the sympathy and knowledge of their own country; and if a native is required to visit this country after his selection by the first competition, the object of the visit to this country will be realized. If it be thought that two years' visit to this country is not enough, there can be no difficulty in arranging and requiring the native successful candidates to spend a little longer time here; because the reasons why English candidates are

required to go to India at an early age do not apply to the natives, as the natives do not require to be acclimatized, nor do they require the same time to learn the character, thoughts and habits of the people that foreigners do.

I do not mean to say that young boys should not also te brought here for education. But there are many difficulties and troubles for taking care of them. good care is taken to keep them within the charm of the circle of good society, there is some danger of evil instead of good resulting. When those educated in India come here at a mature age, everything they see is novel to them, every moment of their sojourn here is valuable, and spent in comparisons; they return to India enthusiastic, and do much good. We know what good a Karsandas Moolji or a Dosabhoy Framjee has done to their country by their Now, it is not to be understood that the visits here. objections given above to very young boys coming here, or what I have said in favour of visits at a greater age, apply generally. There are some youths under my care for several years, who, I am sure, will do credit to themselves and benefit to their country. I give the above pros and cons not as a speculation, but the actual result of my experience during the past twelve years, during which time a good many youths have been under my care, coming here at different ages, from about ten to twenty-one. Upon the whole, I think that the necessity of coming here at an early age cannot be reasonably urged against holding examinations in India. There is much to be said in favour of both early and late visits to this country, and the best course will be to have a proper proportion of both. As I shall point out hereafter, there are strong objections urged to making compulsory any visit at all to this country, either before or after selection, on account of the caste difficulty for the Hindus, who form the majority of the native population.

7. "That natives ought not to be put in positions of power."

If the British rule is to be based on willing consent and sincere loyalty, it is necessary that means be adopted to give the natives an interest in and a gratitude for the British rule, by giving them a reasonable share and voice in the administration of the country. If India is a trust for the good of India, that trust ought to be faithfully discharged. It is rather strange that there should ever have been at this day a necessity to ask whether the British or native rule was more liked by the natives. The question should have been by this time put beyond all doubt. There is no comparison between law above sovereign and sovereign above law. I must wait for another opportunity to give my views fully on this subject. If, instead of fearing to give a reasonable share of power to the natives, our rulers would do what remains to be done, they may well challenge the whole world to say whether they have not acted nobly. Unless the people are taught what British rule and machinery of administration are, and are brought up with the idea that the British rule is a blessing to them, it is simply unreasonable to hope that they could appreciate what they do not understand. We may as well expect the blind to appreciate a painting. If with this knowledge, by national education, is associated a gratification of the high aspirations and patriotic feelings of the educated native for a voice and share in the government of his country, and if the material prosperity of the mass is promoted by a bold policy for public works to develop the resources of the country, and if the princes and the aristocracy be sure of good faith with them, and receive the benefit of good advice, Britain may well point to its handiwork with pride, and India may for ever remember with gratitude the hand that raised it. If, in consideration of the interest which England has to retain her power in India, it gave India the benefit of all her influence and credit, by guaranteeing the Indian debt, the relief to India of some two millions a year will go far to the attainment of the other objects. Great indeed would that statesman be, the benefactor of India, who would achieve this glorious work of regenerating a nation of 200 millions. If the British don't prove better rulers, why should they be in India? However, be the value of the above remarks what it may, one thing is certain, that among the remedies pointed out, and those I think as necessary to make the British rule popular and beloved, this one at least, of giving freely and impartially to the natives a share in the administration of the country, is admitted on all hands by those who have given their opinions to the Viceroy, and their reviewers in the Press and Parliament. I will just remark here that, in connection with the necessity of giving a voice in the application of the revenues, the very modest proposal made in a petition by the British Indian Association of Calcutta, reported in the Times of India Summary of 7th March last, will, I hope, have due consideration from the Secretary of State for India.

That there is no danger in entrusting power to educated natives is proved by the well-known fact that they understand and appreciate most the benefits of English rule, and, in the words of Sir B. Frere: "And now, wherever I go, I find the best exponents of the policy of the English Government, and the most able coadjutors in adjusting that policy to the peculiarities of the natives of India, among the ranks of the educated natives," &c., &c. I also showed

this at some length in my paper on "England's Duties to India."

8. "That the places obtained by the natives will be so many less to the English people."

The mere statement of this objection is its own condemnation as to its selfishness and want of a due sense of justice, statesmanship, and the high moral responsibilities of the British in India. It is the plain duty of Government to secure the most efficient service they can, and for that purpose let the words proclaimed in the name of the Sovereign be honestly fulfilled, "that as far as may be our subjects, of whatever race or creed, be freely and impartially admitted to offices in our service, the duties of which they may be qualified by their education, ability, and integrity to discharge." To compel the natives to come to England for competition for service in their own country is no more reasonable, free, or impartial, than it would be to compel Englishmen to go to India or Australia for admission into the Civil Service in England.

9. "That natives are already largely employed."

The facts, however, are these. There are above 1,700 Europeans in the covenanted services in India at a cost of above three millions per annum, at a salary of from 240l. to 25,000l. per annum (Return 116 to 1860). There are 849 Europeans and Anglo-Indians in the uncovenanted service, at salaries of 300l. and upwards; while of natives there are only about 600 at a salary at and above 240l. a year (Return 201—vi. 1858, 223, see. ii., 1859), of whom about 350 are between 240l. and 360l. per annum. This return will also show how very few—only about a dozen—natives there are at salaries at and above 840l. a year. Since these returns there have been some few more high positions given to the natives, but I cannot say whether

there is yet any or more than one or two above the salary of 2,000l, per annum.

In my remarks of course I don't mean to say that there are not, and would not hereafter be, found black sheep among the educated natives as among any other people, but that in a fair trial the natives will come up to the average of ability and honesty of any other people.

There is only one more point to which I wish to draw your attention. To the Hindu the caste question is socially of great importance till the system is broken down. It may be said that a candidate for the Civil Service ought to show that he has the moral courage to break through such trammels. This he would do by his visit to this country after his selection, but it is certainly not reasonable to expect that any one should subject himself to great sacrifices both of money and social position on the risk of the uncertain result of his venture. If he succeeds in his competition in Irdia, he acquires a certain position of respect. and he can then well undertake the journey to this country with the 100l. for the first year, and 200l. for the second year, which will be allowed to him by Government, with the double object of completing his qualifications and of giving a finish to his education, and of dealing with the trammels of caste with advantage. It is not proper to sneer at the cowardice of submitting to the caste system. The English even now have their trammels in other shapes. as of fashions, society, &c., and had till very lately their exclusive guilds. The English ought also not to forget at what cost reformations have taken place in Europe, and what previous preparation of the revival of knowledge has been necessary, and has led to them. The Hindu institution of caste has a growth of centuries, and over a people numbering above a hundred and fifty millions. It is so intimately mixed with some of the most important social relations of births, deaths, and marriages, that due allowance ought to be made for the difficulties and sacrifices of overcoming its difficulties.

Some English and native gentlemen, with much effect, urge that the Hindus should not be subjected to this sacrifice at all, by being required to come to this country even after selection. When I consider the advantages of travelling in foreign countries, which is so much considered of for the youth of this country even, when I see the necessity of the natives in high positions being able to deal with English officials on a footing of equality in the knowledge of the world, especially of the English world, I cannot help still urging that the visit to this country after the selection should be insisted on; though I think the first Hindus coming here, even after the selection, will have to put up with much inconvenience and sacrifice, and be something of martyrs in a good cause.

I am also emboldened to adhere to this opinion by finding that some of the native papers of Bombay, conducted by Hindus themselves, have also expressed their views that the visit to this country after selection is desirable. Moreover, in the petition from the Bombay Association, adopted at a large and influential meeting at the house of its President, the Hon. Munguldaes Nathoobhoy, and by last advice being extensively signed by all classes of natives, it is also proposed, "that if necessary they (the selected candidates) may be required to proceed to England to receive a course of special training, prescribed by the existing regulations, for which there are greater facilities in Europe than in India." Besides, though there may be some inconveniences to the first native civilians, the respectability of their

position, and the certainty of the number of such officials increasing every year, will give them in time sufficient weapons to fight their battles against losing caste. Also, if I am not mistaken in my impression, I think the following circumstance has already met the difficulty, or at least prepared the way for the visitors to this country. after their selection, being able to deal with some ease and power with the question of losing caste. I remember. whether from reading or from conversation I cannot tell. that his Highness the Holkar intended to send some pundits to this country. He called a meeting of the learned Brahmins, and asked their opinion. It was decided in that assembly, that persons going abroad for State purposes do not lose caste, because in the glory and height of Hindu power, ambassadors went to different courts for State purposes. If so, that will be just the proper argument for selected candidates. After their selection, being servants of the State, and being required by their Sovereign to visit this country for qualifying themselves for State purposes, they cannot lose caste.

It is said by some that if Government grant the second part of our memorial, by conferring scholarships upon youths after a certain competition, those youths will be able to study for the service and compete here; and the object of opening the service freely and impartially to the natives of India will be gained. Nothing can be a greater mistake, I think. Now, it must be borne in mind that the scholarships are intended to leave the scholars holding them free to pursue whatever professional study they like, in order especially to create an independent class of educated native gentlemen. If the stipend of these scholarships is sufficient to enable youths to come here, its natural effect will be that most of them will prefer other inde-

pendent professions, as certain in their results, to studying for the Indian service with the risk of failure, and the want of opportunity to learn any profession afterwards. Then to the Hindu the failure in the competition here will be the greatest injury possible; for having first incurred the penalties of losing caste, and the displeasure of his friends, the mark of failure on his forehead, no matter whether deserved or not, would render him an object of ridicule among his countrymen. Such an amount of sacrifice it is utterly unreasonable and cruel to exact. But after he is selected in India, and is sure of his position, it is reasonable for important purposes that some sacrifice and inconvenience should be asked from him. There is another way in which mere dependence upon these scholarships will not secure the free admission of the best talent of the country. We must remember that it is not the horse who makes the best start that always wins. So by this plan of scholarships, if even all studied for the Indian service, contrary to the real object, the State well be spending money upon good starters only, whether they may ultimately succeed or not. But by allowing the competition in India, the State without this expenditure gets the actual winners of the race in a competition of a large number, who have proved their mental calibre as well as their character, by their stay through a trying college course and by fulfilling all the conditions of ability and character for admission, and who at an advanced age can be left by their friends to act as they like, and are able to take care of themselves. While the boys are very young. many parents would be unwilling to allow their sons to go to a distant country out of their own care, and thus again the area of selection for the scholarships will be much limited, but young men at the age required for the

competition are more free to act and more able to take care of themselves. So that we then have a competition among all those who have proved talent and character. You will see, therefore, that though these scholarships may remove the obstacle of money, there are, in the case of the Hindus especially—who, it must be borne in mind, form the principal population of India—other most serious obstacles, which can only be dealt with by transferring the examination for a portion of the selection to India.

The Governor-General in his resolution last year admits that "he is fully alive to the urgent political necessity that the progress of education has created, for opening up to natives of ability and character a more important, dignified, and lucrative sphere of employment in the administration of British India;" and as the remedy, His Excellency recognizes the eligibility of natives for only some higher grades in the non-regulation provinces. First of all the natural effect of this will be that those serving and living in those provinces will very likely have in time the little benefit thus held out, while in the regulation provinces-those in which education has advanced most-the natives of which have the greatest claim for a share in the administration as British subjects of long standing, should be required to incur all the sacrifices and risks (which to the Hindu are of no ordinary order) involved in a visit to this country for several years as youths. If the political necessity is so emphatically admitted by the Viceroy, I do not see how it is possible to rest satisfied with offering a few situations in the non-regulation provinces. Mark again, it is only to men of ability and character. If so, how can anything short of a free competition in India give a satisfactory fulfilment to this political necessity and an honest performance of the promise of our gracious Sovereign?

Such honest and candid declarations of necessity and justice, when followed by poor and inadequate fulfilment, naturally create dissatisfaction and irritation.

It is said that high appointments in the uncovenanted service may be given to natives in the regulation provinces also; but if qualified natives are to be trusted with such high appointments in the uncovenanted service, in regulation or non-regulation provinces, why are they unfit to enter the covenanted service? Certainly, no one means to say that high uncovenanted appointments require less trustworthiness, responsibility, respect, or confidence than covenanted appointments. Has the word "uncovenanted"; such a charm that it at once removes all those objections which are urged against the free and impartial admission of qualified natives into the covenanted service? If the declarations of Government are sincere, of which I have no doubt, then I see no escape for the honest fulfilment of the words of our Sovereign and Parliament from holding examinations in India, as proposed by us, so as to put all Her Majesty's subjects on a fairly equal footing.

Again, in the uncovenanted service also, the principle of appointment or promotion should be fitness, no matter whether the right person be European or native, only that the principle should be honestly adhered to.

It is sometimes urged that natives do not learn for learning's sake. It is strange anybody could be expected to appreciate a thing before he knows what it is. Educated natives fully appreciate learning.

I hope, gendemen, I have satisfied you that educated natives have already shown ability and character as among any other people (and which is tacitly admitted by the Viceroy himself), and that the only honest way of fulfilling the promise of our Sovereign and Acts of Parliament, of securing the best talent for the service, and of increasing the loyalty and gratitude of India, is by giving a free admission to such natives of ability and character by competition in India.

You will have observed that I have not entered into any discussion of the great benefit to the administration and of the encouragement and inducement to high education, not only among the people generally, but among the higher and aristocratic classes, by the granting of our petition. The whole of India will by this concession be quite electrified. But as on this point there is no doubt or question, it is unnecessary for me to take up your time, nor could I enter on it fully in this paper.

Now, gentlemen, I have said my say, and leave to you to say or act as you think proper. I conclude by moving the resolution of which I have given notice:—

"That a letter be addressed to the Secretary of State for India, with a copy of this paper, to request him to take it into his consideration, and in reply to Mr. H. Fawcett's motion, to accede to the memorial presented on 21st August last by a deputation from this Association."*

^{*} Appendix B.

The whole Indian problem in all its aspects, material, moral, industrial, educational, political, &c., will be solved only when means are adopted to check the annual disastrous drain of the produce of India and to bring it within reasonable and moderate limits. I have gone into the details of this subject in my papers on "The Poverty of India." and in the Correspondence with the Secretary of State for India on the "Condition of India." I shall add here only. one more testimony of the highest financial authority, the late Finance Minister, Sir E. Baring, on the extreme poverty of India, and corroborating my calculation of the very low income of this country as compared with the worst European country-Turkey. Here is this emphatic testimony in addition to the opinions given in my "Poverty of India," Part I., especially of Lords Lawrence and Mayo. and of Mr. Grant Duff as Under Secretary of State for India, with regard to all India, at page 278. Sir E. Baring in his Budget speech of 18th March, 1882, says :-

"It has been calculated that the average income per head of population in India is not more than rupees 27 a year, † and though I am not prepared to pledge myself to the absolute accuracy of a calculation of this sort, it is sufficiently accurate to justify the conclusion that the tax-

Revised Memorandom on the most important Reforms needed by India. (Submitted for the consideration of the late and present Viceroys, and some other high Officials in India in 1884.)

[†] I make not more than rupees 20. I requested Sir E. Baring to give me his calculations, either to correct mine or his, but I am sorry he declined. However this difference is a matter of not much consequence, as it makes but very little difference in proving the extreme poverty of India. The italics are mine.

paying community is exceedingly poor. To derive any very large increase of revenue from so poor a population as this is obviously impossible, and if it were possible, would be unjustifiable."

Again, in the discussion on the same Budget, he said, after repeating the above statement of rupees 27 per head per annum:—

"... But he thought it was quite sufficient to show the extreme poverty of the mass of the people. In England, the average income per head of population was £33 per head; in France, it was £23; in Turkey, which was the poorest country in Europe, it was £4 per head. He would ask honourable members to think what rupees 27 per annum was to support a person, and then he would ask whether a few annas was nothing to such poor people."

This was stated in connection with salt duty. It must be remembered that rupees 27 (or my rupees 20) is the average income, including that of the richest, or all various disproportionate distribution that takes place among all grades of people, while the average of the lower classes only will be very poor indeed.

The whole problem of India is in a nutshell. New can a foreign rule be anything but a curse to any country, except so far as it approaches a native rule.

Hoping that my papers will be carefully studied, I confine myself here to the remedy of the evil in its practical form. I may explain here that a part of the drain I complain of is not to be laid directly at the door of Government. It is in the hands of the natives to prevent it if they could and would. I mean the employment of non-official professional agency, such as barristers, solicitors, engineers, doctors, &c. Though not directly, the English official agency indirectly compels natives to employ such

European non-official agency. English officials in power generally, and naturally, show more sympathy with and give greater encouragement to English professional men. The result is that the portion of the drain caused by the non-official Europeans is as much, though indirectly, the result of Government or official action, as the other portion of the drain. The remedy, therefore, I am proposing, will influence the whole drain.

This remedy is in the power of the English Parliament only. It is (though at first sight it is not so readily apparent) the transference of examinations to India for services in all the civil departments-civil, medical, engineering, forest, telegraph, or any other. Canada, Australia, or the Cape, are not compelled to go to England for their services. Over India alone does England impose its despotic will in this one respect. This, in fact, is the one important act of the British nation, which is now un-English and unjust, and which mars and nullifies all the other blessings (which are not few) conferred by it upon India. Let England be just to India and true to itself in this one respect, and honestly, according to the Queen's proclamation, and declarations of British statesmen, and Acts of Parliament, let the natives have free scope to serve in their own country, and every other measure for the purposes of good government and administration, or for improving the material and moral condition of India. which at present generally fails or produces poor and doubtful results, will be crowned with success. Every matter will then fall into its natural groove, and the effect on everything will be marvellous. Private efforts will receive natural and immense impetus for providing all higher education, leaving Government to devote itself, with far ampler means than at present, to primary education as in England. So will railways and all public works and all private enterprise receive a rapid and successful development. And, above all, will be this most important result—that the growing prosperity of India will lead to a truly great and extensive trade between England and India, far outweighing the present benefit to England at the sacrifice of and misery to India.

Of course, when examinations for all the higher services in all the civil departments are transferred to India, the ruling and controlling offices should be mainly reserved for Englishmen, such as the Viceroy, the Governors and their Councillors, the Chief Secretaries, and Board of Revenue (if such boards be of any use) and chief heads of departments. Admission of any natives to any such appointments should be entirely in the gift of the Government, as a special reward for some high and exceptional services and deed of loyalty. In the military department, the English should have the chief share, leaving some fair scope for the warlike races, to draw and attach them to the side of the British rule. It will never do to repress all military ambition altogether. This will be a great mistake.

The subject of the confidence which our British rulers ought to show towards their subjects, and thereby beget and acquire the sincere confidence of the subjects in response, both by trusting them with reasonable military position, and by allowing and encouraging volunteering, under some well-considered principles and rules, is too important and extensive to be adequately treated in a short space. I can only say that it deserves our rulers' serious consideration. The open want of confidence by the British rulers is a weakness to them, and cannot but in time lead to evil.

If the examinations, as a first step, are not altogether transferred to India, simultaneous examinations at least ought to be held in India for all the services. This great reform and justice to India is absolutely necessary. This alone will be a fair fulfilment of the promises of the Act of 1833, of the gracious proclamation of 1858, and of the various declarations made from time to time by English statesmen and Governments. At least, for simultaneous examinations in India and England, the India Office itself has unequivocally admitted its justice and necessity. I give below an extract from a Report of a Committee of the India Council (consisting of Sir J. P. Willoughby, Sir Erskine Perry, Mr. Mangles, Mr. Arbuthnot, and Mr. Macnaghten) made to Sir C. Wood (Lord Halifax) on 20th January, 1860. The Report says:

- 2. We are in the first place unanimously of opinion that it is not only just, but expedient, that the natives of India shall be employed in the administration of India to as large an extent as possible, consistently with the maintenance of British supremacy, and have considered whether any increased facilities can be given in this direction.
- "3. It is true that, even at present, no positive disqualification exists. By Act 3 and 4, Wm. IV., c. 85, a. 87, it is enacted that no native of the said territories, nor any natural-born subject of His Majesty resident therein, shall, by reason only of his religion, place of birth, descent, colour, or any of them, be disabled from bolding any place, office, or employment under the said Company.' It is obvious, therefore, that when the competitive system was adopted, it could not have been intended to exclude natives of India from the Civil Service of India.
- "4. Practically, however, they are excluded. The law declares them eligible, but the difficulties opposed to a native leaving India and residing in England for a time are so great, that as a general rule, it is almost impossible for a native successfully to compete at the periodical examinations held in England. Were this inequality removed, we should no longer be exposed to the charge of keeping promise to the ear and breaking it to the hope.
- "5. Two modes have been suggested by which the object in view might be attained. The first is, by alloting a certain portion of the total number of appointments declared in each year to be competed for in India by natives, and by all other natural-born

subjects of Her Majesty resident in India. The second is to hold, simultaneously, two examinations, one in England and one in India, both being, as far as practicable, identical in their nature, and those who compete in both countries being finally classified in one list, according to merit, by the Civil Service Commissioners. 'The Committee have no hesitation in giving the preference to the second scheme as being the fairest and the most in accordance with the principles of a general competition for a common object."

This principle ought to apply to all the services.

Now, I say let Government lay down ony testmental, moral and physical—and the natives cannot and
would not object being on equal terms with the English
candidates. It may also be arranged that every successful
candidate in India be required to go to England and study
for two years more with the successful candidates of
England in their respective departments; or any other
arrangement may be adopted by which the successful
candidates of India may derive the benefit of two years'
residence and study in England in the department in
which they have competed successfully. India will be but
too happy to have a portion of its revenue devoted to this
purpose.

Till this most important, "just and expedient" and "fairest" measure is adopted, England can never free itself from the charge of "keeping promise to the ear and breaking it to the hope," and India can never be satisfied that England is treating her justly and honestly.

But I earnestly submit that this is not merely a question of "justice and expediency," though that is enough in itself for this reform, but that it is absolutely necessary for the far larger necessity of the material and moral prosperity of India—for the chief remedy of the present "extreme poverty" of India—if English rule is really and honestly

meant to be a just rule and a blessing to this country. My earnest desire and intense interest in this great reform to hold examinations in India, solely, or, at least, simultaneously, for all the services in the Civil Departments (with some fair scope in the military) do not arise simply from the motive of seeing an opening made for the gratification of the natural ambition of educated natives to serve in their own country, but more for the solution of the great question—the question of questions—whether India is to remain poor, disloyal, and cursing England, or to become prosperous, loyal, and blessing England.

Coming to the uncovenanted services, both higher and lower, they must also be reduced to some system of examination, based upon some clear and just principles. The system worked by the Civil Service Commissioners in England for subordinate servants for all the different departments of State may well provide a model for these examinations, according to the higher and lower wants of all the departments for their uncovenanted servants. It will be the best way to secure servants most fitted and best prepared for their respective departments, and to give to every subject of Her Majesty a free and fair scope and justice according to his merits, relieving Government from the obloquy that is often cast upon it for injustice or favouritism in its appointments.

Next to this great reform for examinations solely or simultaneously in India for all the covenanted services, and for all the uncovenanted in India alone, is the important question of introducing due representation and reform in the Legislative Councils in India. But I consider the first reform as of such paramount importance that I do not mix up the second and some others with it here.

VIII.

THE EUROPEAN AND ASIATIC RACES.*

I feel very thankful to Mr. Crawfurd and the Council for allowing me to make a few observations upon Mr. Crawfurd's paper, "on the European and Asiatic Races."

Mr. Crawfurd tells us, in illustration of the mental inferiority of the Asiatics, that in the seminaries at eighteen the native is left far behind by the European, and never after recovers his lost ground. What are the facts? Only a few mails ago, The Friend of India tells us, that at the Calcutta University there were then above 1,200 candidates for entrance; that 447 underwent the first examination, and that 120 had applied to compete for the B.A. degree. The Friend remarks, "These examinations are assuming a Chinese magnitude, and present a spectacle at once curious and gratifying." The result of my own experience as a teacher and professor for ten years in the Elphinstone Institution, and of my observations for ten years more, is entirely contrary to Mr. Crawfurd's statement. Gambier, Perry, Lewin, Sims, Warden, and others, have given similar opinions in their evidence before Parliament. The mistake made by Mr. Crawfurd is one of those which foreign travellers and writers are very apt to fall into from superficial observation and imperfect information.

When English seminaries were first opened in India, boys were principally sent there with the object of acquir-

 ⁽Read before the Ethnological Society, London, March 27th, 1866, Observations on the Paper read by John Crawfurd, Esq., F. R. S.)

ing a sufficient knowledge of the English language to enable them to get a situation in Government offices, or to talk and write English. The consequence was, that for some time these seminaries did not produce any scholars, the pupils generally leaving on attaining their main object. With the imperfect education with which they usually left school, and falling again in the society of their own equally or more ignorant countrymen, they were not able to continue their studies. Those Englishmen, however, who watched their progress, but did not understand the cause, wondered at such a result, and concluded that the native youth was incapable of progress after eighteen. There is another circumstance which unfortunately aggravated the mischief; the custom of early betrothal and marriage among the natives. The pupils, therefore, were often fathers before they were eighteen or twenty, and the necessity of supporting a family soon drove them from school to service.

For those who take a real interest in the natives of India, I cannot do better than refer them to that mass of interesting evidence given before Parliamentary Committees by interested and disinterested persons, and I have no doubt that any impartial and candid inquirer will find that the natives of India are not below the average of the head and heart of any other nation in the world.

This evidence was given in 1853 and 1858; but since that time the progress in education and several other matters has been so marked, though not very great, that even this evidence has become obsolete in some particulars. No careful observer will now make the statement that the Hindu is not capable of keeping up his studies after leaving college, much less that he falls back at eighteen and never regains his lost ground. The very fact that the

Hindus were even capable of producing a vast and varied literature in all departments of human knowledge, shows beyond all doubt that the capacity to study all life is not wanting. The fertile soil is there, but neglected. Let it have its proper cultivation, and it will again show the same fruit.

Lastly, as Sir C. Trevelyan very justly remarks, what is said about the natives takes place in some degree in all countries, even in England, and as a remedy, he says,—
"The main thing required is to open to them a proper field of mental and moral activity in after life . . . and we should encourage a wholesome mental activity in the pursuits of literature, science, and the fine arts . . . all the avenues of employment in the service of the state should be opened to them.* They have very considerable administrative qualities, great patience, great industry, and great acuteness and intelligence."

I do not know whether the remarks made by Mr. Crawfurd on Asiatic literature and the dearth of great names are based upon his own personal knowledge of all these literatures or on the authority of others who possess such knowledge, or on the assumption that, because Mr. Crawfurd does not know them, therefore they do not exist. Mr. Crawfurd himself admits that there have been some conquerors, lawgivers, and founders of religious sects. I suppose such names as Christ, Mahomed, Zoroaster, Manu, Confucius, Cyrus, Akbar, Fardoosi, Hafiz, Sady, Calidas, Panini, Abool Fazil, and a host of others, are such as any nation may be proud of. The Royal Asiatic Society has a descriptive catalogue of 163 manuscripts in their library of 100 distinct Persian and Arabic works on the single subject of history. Sir W. Jones

Lords' Committee, 1853, ques. 6644.
 † Ib. 6605.

thinks. Persia has produced more writers of every kind, and chiefly poets, than all Europe put together. He mentions a manuscript at Oxford of the lives of 135 of the finest Persian poets.†

Mr. Crawfurd speaks disparagingly of the Shanaméh, as consisting "of a series of wild romances of imaginary heroes, and of such slender merit that no orientalist has ever ventured on presenting it in a European translation." I hope Mr. Crawfurd has read it, or has authority for what he says. In my humble opinion, from what little I know of it, it is a work of great poetic merit. Sir W. Jones, after giving the palm of superiority to Homer, asserts a very great resemblance between the works of these extraordinary men; and admits that both drew their images from nature herself, and both possessed, in an eminent degree, that rich and creative invention which is the very soul of poetry.

He considers the characters in it as various and striking; the figures bold and animated, and the diction everywhere sonorous, yet noble; polished, yet full of fire. Sir J. Malcolm thinks that the most fastidious European reader will meet with numerous passages of exquisite beauty in the noble epic poem of Firdoosi; that some of the finest scenes are described with simplicity and elegance of diction, and that to those whose taste is offended with hyperbole, the tender part of his work will have most beauty. Sir W. Jones considers that the Persian language is rich, melodious, and elegant; that numbers of admirable works have been written in it, by historians, philosophers, and poets,

[•] Vol. x., p. 349.

⁺ I have given the opinions of others as closely as possible in their own words.

[†] Dr. Julius Mohl informs me that he has already published four volumes of the text and translation; the fifth is nearly ready for publication, and the eixth is printing.

[|] Vol. x, p. 355, | Ibid. 354. | Vol. ii., p. 539.

who found it capable of expressing, with equal advantage, the most beautiful and the most elevated sentiments.* With reference to the ridiculous bombast of the Persian style, he remarks, that though there are bad writers, as in every country, the authors who are esteemed in Persia are neither slavish in their sentiments, nor ridiculous in their expressions.

Upon Mr. Crawfurd's remarks as to the absence of any literature or history among the Persians before the Arabian conquest, let us see what Sir John Malcolm says. He says: the Arabs, in their irritation at the obstinate resistance of the Persians for their independent religion, destroyed their cities, temples, etc., etc. And the books, in which were written whatever the learned of the nation knew, either of general science, or of their own history and religion, were, with their possessions, devoted to destruction. He refers, as a parallel, to the fate of Greek and Roman manuscripts, to show how few of the works of a conquered and despised nation like Persia, would be saved amid the wreck to which that kingdom was doomed.

He further says:—"We know from sacred history, that the deeds of the kings of Persia were written in a book styled the chronicles of that kingdom; and we are told by a Grecian author, who was at the court of Artaxerxes Mnemon, that he had access to volumes which were preserved in the royal archives."

^{*} Vol. v., p. 165.

[†] Mr. Ed. B. Eastwick, in reply to my inquiries as to his opinion upon the extracts I have given from Sir W. Jones and Sir John Malcolm on Persian Literature, &c., says:—

[&]quot;I thoroughly agree in the opinions expressed of Firdausi, and of the Persian poets, by Sir W. Jones and Sir J. Malcolm. The narratives of events in the Shanaméh are not a unnatural, hyperbolic, or absurd as those in the Iliacl, and the 'curiosa felicitas verborum' of the Persian poet is little, if at all, inferior to that of

I need not take up your time with more extracts on the merits of other poets. Mr. Fraser, after maming Nizimi, Omar Keyormi, Oorfi, and Rudki, says he might cite a hundred others as high examples of genius. Lastly, we must bear in mind, that a large amount of Asiatic and European Literature may have been lost in that deplorable act of destruction of the Alexandrian Library by Omar.

In Arabic literature, to the Arabian Nights, at least, I hope Mr. Crawfurd accords some merit; for, according to his test of merit the work is translated in European languages, and extensively read, too. Chrickton's History of Arabia gives an account of a varied and vast Arabian

Homer. Mr. C. cannot be aware that M. Mohl has translated the Shananich into French and that Atkinson has rendered some portions into English. If Arabic and Persian were taught in our achools, as Greek and Latin are, we should have as many and as careful translations of the Shanamich as of the Iliad. It is not the slender merit of the poet, but our ignorance of Persian, that has made the dearth of translations. As yet we have only dipped into Persian poetry. No European can pretend to have explored that ocean of literature.

I am sorry that my very slight knowledge of French prevents me from studying, for the present, the annual reports of Dr. Julius Mchl; but I give below, an extract from his letter to me, which I think gives the Eastern literature its proper place in the history of man.

"Oriental literature can only take its place in the universal literature of mankind, when intelligent historians show its value for history in its largest sense—history of the development of the human race, its ideas, its manners, etc.; and show, too, how large has been the past of the East, and how great in some respects its influence. This is gradually being done, in proportion as translations and researches on special subjects put the materials in the hands of thinking people. It is, above all, the history of religion, of legislation, of philosophy, and of poetry, which will show the importance of Oriental literature; but it is slow work, and cannot be otherwise, by the nature of the case. Greek and Latin literature will always prevail in Europe; our minds have been moulded upon them, and they are nearest to us; but this does not extinguish the claim of the East to take its place. I have said this over and over, in my annual reports to the Asiatic Society."

literature. He thinks Europe indebted to the Arabs for some of her most valuable lessons in science and arts. He also gives the names of more than half-a-dozen female poetesses and philosophers.

Professor Max Müller thinks that the achievements of the Brahmins in grammatical analysis, which date from six centuries before Christ, are still unsurpassed by any nation.* Colebrook thinks that among the infinity of volumes on Nyaya, there are compositions of very celebrated schoolmen,† and that the Hindu writings abound in every branch of science. Sir W. Jones strongly recommends to Europeans the study of Indian medical works. He says there are many works on music, in prose and verse, with specimens of Hindu airs in a very elegant notation, that the Sanscrit prosody is easy and beautiful, that there are numerous astronomical works, and that wherever we direct our attention to Hindu literature, the notion of infinity presents itself, from which we may gather the fruits of science without loading ourselves with the leaves.

No doubt there may be much leaves and branches, or much trash, in this vast forest of literature, but we know also what amount of trash is daily poured upon us in the present day.

Sir W. Jones ventures to affirm that 'the whole of Newton's Theology, and part of his Philosophy, may be found in the Vedas, which also abound with allusion to a force of universal attraction. With regard to the Sanscrit language, he says, whatever be its antiquity, it is of wonderful structure, more perfect than the Greek, more copious than the Latin, and more exquisitely refined than

^{*} Science of Language, p. 80.

[†] Religion and Philosophy of the Hindus, p. 167.

[!] Vol. iii., p. 246.

either.* With all the above opinions of Sir W. Jones Dr. T. Goldstucker concurs.

Horace Wilson thinks it probable that in fiction much of the invention displayed on the revival of letters in Europe was referable to an Indian origin: † that enough has been ascertained to determine the actual existence in Sanscrit or in vernacular translations from it of a very extensive literature of fiction, in which many of our European acquaintances are at once to be recognised, and that the Hindus occupy an early and prominent place in the history of fiction; & that in speculations upon the nature of the superior being and man, the Hindus traverse the very same ground that was familiarly trodden by the philosophers of Greece and Rome. He also remarks :-"That in medicine, as well as in astronomy and metophyaics, the Hindus once kept pace with the most enlightened nations of the world; and that they attained as thorough a proficiency in medicine and surgery as any people whose acquisitions are corded, and as indeed was practicable, before anatomy was made known to us by the discoveries of modern inquirers. That surgery (as well as other departments of medical science) was once extensively cultivated and highly esteemed by the Hindus."

Lastly, I appeal to Professor Goldstucker, whether Sanscrit literature was not important enough to warrant the formation of the Sanscrit Text Society, headed by his Royal Highness the Prince of Wales.

Further development was checked by the frequent invasions of India by, and the subsequent continuous rule of, foreigners of entirely different character and genius, who, not having any sympathy with the indigenous litera-

[●] Vol. iii., p. 34. † Vol. iii., p. 156. ‡ Vol. v., p. 108. ‡ Vol. iii., p. 159. ‡ Vol. ii., p. 115.

ture—on the contrary, having much fanatical antipathy to the religion of the Hindus—prevented its further growth. Priesthood, first for power and afterwards from ignorance, completed the mischief, as has happened in all other countries.

Mr. Crawfurd tells us that the Asiatics are untruthful, very inferior in morals, and have no fidelity to engagements.* Beginning with the ancient Persians, Zoroaster, hundreds of years before Christ, taught, "I understand truth-telling exalted; all the days of the holy man are with thoughts of truth, words of truth and deeds of truth. Those that tell untruths and do wicked actions shall not receive the reward of life from Hormuzd. To speak true words is true excellence; in the treasures of religion exalt truth above all. What is the high religion?—That which promotes my holiness and truth, with good thought, word, and deed. In this house may . . . prevail words of truth over words of lie.—Punish the breakers of promise, and those that induce others to break their promise."† Coming down in the course of time to the third century of the Christian

Mr. Crawfurd says: "In morals there has ever existed a wide difference between Europeans and Asiatics. Truth, the basis of all morality, has never distinguished the races of India. In Europe, fidelity to engagements has been in esteem even in rude'times, and increased with the advance of civilization. Not so in Asia, for it may safely be asserted that there the most civilized nations are found to be the least truthful, among whom may be named the Persians, the Hindus, and the Chinese. Integrity is most prevalent among the educated leases in Europe; but with the more civilized, the want of it pervades all classes in Asia. The European maxim that 'honesty is the best policy' is not recognised by the more civilized people of Asia; on the contrary, finesse is substituted. It is only among Asiatic nations of the second order of civilization (Mr. C. knows only them, it appears), such as Burmese, Malays, &c., that we find an adherence to truth, and even they become demoralised in the attainment of power. The difference in morals between Europeans and Asiatics seems to have belonged to all ages."

[†] My paper on the Parese religio aread before the Liverpool. Literary and Philosophical Society.

era, Ardai Viraf, a high priest, holds out the punishment of hell, among others, to the following:—

"The man who used false weights and measures tock full weight and returned false, who adulterated his goods by mixing water with milk, to men who were liars and talebearers. The crime of lying being the most displeasing in the sight of God; even the most trivial and innocent falsity being a heinous sin. The man who was a bearer of false witness; who was fraudulent and deceitful; who, though he kept his word and rigorously performed his agreement with those of his own sect and faith, yet held it no sin to break his faith with those of a different persuasion; this, in the eye of Omnipotence, being a heinous sin, and the keeping of a promise even with an enemy being a duty inculcated."

Mr. Pope, the translator of Ardai Viraf, concludes with the following remark, "that the philosophers will rejoice to find them (the modern Parsees) neither deficient in virtue or morality." Mr. Rawlinson says, "that in their (Zoroastrian) system, truth, purity, piety and industry were the virtues chiefly valued and inculcated."

Coming down to the latest times, the Parsee children are taught as religious lesson to speak the truth, and not to tell untruths nor to commit treachery.

The above is the testimony of the religious literature of the Persians. Let us see what the foreigners have said of them. Greek testimony about Persians is to be taken with care and caution. When we see that in the nineteenth century, gentlemen of learning and authority, with every means of obtaining correct information available, commit such mistakes as the one I have pointed out before, about the educational capacity of the natives of India, and make statements contrary to well known facts, how much

more necessary is it to sift carefully the testimony of a hestile people given at a time when intercommunication was rare and difficult, and the character and manners of the two people very different. Even good Greek testimony, however, is in the favour of the Persians. Herodotus says, "Their sons are carefully instructed to speak the truth." He also says: "They hold it unlawful to talk of anything which is unlawful to do; the most disgraceful thing in the world they think is to tell a lie, the next worse to owe a debt, because, among other reasons, the debtor is obliged to tell lies."*

Next, there is the testimony of the inscriptions in which lying is taken as the representative of all evil. Darius's successors are exhorted not to cherish but to cast into utter perdition the man who may be a liar, or who may be an evil doer.† The modern Parsees are admitted by Mr. Crawfurd himself, as well as others, as a trust-worthy and truthful race.

Of the modern Mahomedan Persians of Persia I do not know much. But I may say this much, that if they be truthful, Mr. Crawfurd's statement, then, is incorrect; if untruthful, Mr. Crawfurd's conclusion of his paper is so far upset. For, the present untruthful Persians, being the descendants of an old truth-speaking race, the difference in the character is no proof of difference of race, and that external circumstances have great influence in modifying a nation's character.

About the Hindus I can speak, both from personal knowledge and from other testimony, that Mr. Crawfurd's charge against them is unfounded. This mistake also arises from causes I have alluded to before—superficial observation and hasty conclusions. Fortunately, there

Rawlinson's Herodotus, vol. ii., p. 222. † Ib. note 7.

are many who have studied the native character more carefully. Not to take up much of your time, I refer you to the evidence given before Parliament, 1853 and 1858, and I think that a careful and candid examination of that evidence will satisfy anybody, that the general character of the natives of India is as good as that of any other

people.

I shall very briefly refer to some of this testimony here. Beginning with the early writers, Strabo testifies to the truthfulness and virtue of the Hindus.* also describes the Hindus as truthful, saying, "and indeed none of the Indians were ever accused of that crime (falsehood)."† Coming down to later times, Abool Fazil. the celebrated Mahomedan minister of Akbar, describes the Hindus in the sixteenth century as lovers of justice admirers of truth, grateful, and of unbounded fidelity. \$ Coming down still later to the present time, Sir G. Clerk thinks the morality among the higher classes of Hindus of a high standard, and of the middle and lower classes remarkably so. He thinks there is less immorality than in many countries of Europe. Sir E. Perry tells us that offences against property and crimes generally are less frequent in the island of Bombay than in any similar community in Europe, and that it is the opinion of the Hindus that native morality suffers by coming into close contact with the English-the pristine simplicity and truthfulness of the native village disappears in drunkenness, intrigue, and a litigious spirit supervening, | and that their commercial integrity has always been famous.

Vol. iii., p. 106. † Vol. ii., e. xii., p. 206.

[†] J. Crawfurd's Researches, vol. ii., p. 139. § Report of Select Committee, 1853, Ques. 2278.

Bird's-eye View of India, p. 77.

Report of Select Committee, 1853, Ques. 2582.

This commercial integrity is mentioned by Strabo also, who says that "they make their deposits, and confide in one another." It is a fact at the present day, that transactions of great value take place between natives, for which there is no further evidence than the entry in the books of the seller. I do not suppose there is any parallel to this in Europe.

Colonel D. Sims considers the natives not inferior to the people of other countries in point of honesty, and even veracity, and says that people are apt to judge of the natives of India by those whom they find about the precincts of the different courts of justice, where, temptations to mendacity being many, the atmosphere is unfavourable to truthfulness, as is probably the case in any other countries under the same circumstances.† When Mr. Fowler, a planter, gained the confidence of his labourers by his fair dealings with them, everything went on smoothly, and he was never in any part of the world where he had less trouble with his labourers.‡

Herace Wilson tells us not to imagine that the Hindus are ignorant of the foundations of all morality, or that they do not value truth, justice, integrity, benevolence, charity, to all that lives, and even the requital of evil with good; that these duties are all repeatedly enjoined, and Hindu authorities commend as earnestly as those of any other language.§

Vol. iii., p. 105.

[†] Report of Select Committee, 1853, Ques. 8548-9.

[†] Colonization Committee, Ques. 5742-4.—In Mr. Justice Phear's opinion, "the character of the average oral testimony in the Guildhall of London, and that of the same in the Townhall of Calcutta, were on a par." And the Hon, Mr. Campbell fully admits that it was the courts which were to blame for the character of native testimony. (Native Opinion, Lombay, 25th March, 1866.)

[§] Vol. ii., p. 109.

The complaint often made about untruthfulness of natives, has, I think, this cause. There are several professional experts about the courts who sell their evidence. The judge is very often not sufficiently familiar with the vernacular; some of the subordinates in the court being most wretchedly paid, yield to the temptation of bribery, and these three causes combined together make the task of the judge sometimes difficult, and every instance of successful perjury naturally encourages it more. The obvious remedy, one would think, would be that if proper severe examples were made of the prejurers, instead of merely raising up the cry of untruthfulness against the whole nation, their number, if at all unusual, would soon be reduced.

The other cause of the Hindus being sometimes denounced as untruthful, is the following clauses in the Institutes of Menu:—

Chap. iv., 138. "Let him say what is true, but let him say what is pleasing; let him speak no disagreeable truth, nor let him speak agreeable falsehood. This is a primeval rule."

139. "Let him say 'well and good', or let him say 'well'

139. "Let him say 'well and good', or let him say 'well' only; but let him not maintain fruitless comity and altercation with any man."

Chap. viii., 103. "In some cases, a giver of false evidence from a pious motive, even though he know the truth, shall not lose his seat in heaven: such evidence wise men call the speech of the goda."

104. "Whenever the death of a man, who had not been a grievous offender, either of the servile, the commercial, the military, or the sacerdotal class, would be occasioned by true evidence, from the known rigour of the king, even though the fault arose from inndvertence or error, falsehood may be spoken: it is even preferable to truth." (The italies in all extracts from Menu are from the commentators on Menu.)

It must be remembered that these are laws for a state of society entirely different from your present one; the will or wisdom of the sovereign is the practical law of the land. I do not propose here to read a dissertation on truth, but I may simply, as parallel to the above extracts from the works of a Hindu legislator, refer to what is said by some of the European thinkers of modern times. Bentham allows, 1, falsehoods to avoid mischief, the case of misdirecting a murderer; 2, falsehoods of humanity, the case of physicians; 3, falsehoods of urbanity, an exaggerated compliment. In these cases, or at least in the first two, he says, "falsehood is a duty; in other cases it may be allowable, as in all those in which the person addressed has no right to know the truth. This would embrace most of the cases discussed by Grotius and Puffendorf." Instead of making any further quotations, I refer you to an article in the Saturday Review of July 2nd, 1864, on "Lying," from which the above extract is taken.

I give in a note below extracts from the Institutes of Menu to show how highly truth and virtue are valued among the Hindus.* Dr. Goldstucker kindly writes to me to say, that in Rigveda and Jagurved "the necessity of

^{*} Chap. iv., par. 175. Let a man continually take pleasure in truth, in justice, in laudable practices, and in purity; let him chastise those whom he may chastise, in a legal mode; let him keep in subjection his speech, his arm, and his appetite.

Par. 237. By falsehood the sacrifice becomes vain.

Par. 256. All things have their sense ascertained by speech in speech they have their bases; and from speech they proceed; consequently, a falsifier of speech falsifies everything.

This is somewhat similar to Bentham's description of truth, in this Theory of Legislation (p. 260): "Every instant of our lives we are obliged to form judgments and to regulate our conduct according to facts, and it is only a small number of these facts which we can ascertain from our own observation. Then results an absolute necessity of trusting to the reports of others. If there is in these reports a mixture of falsehood, an far our judgments are erroneous, our motives wrong, our expectations misplaced. We live in restless distrust, and we do not know upon what to put dependence. In one word, falsehood includes the principle of every evil, because in its progress it brings on at last the dissolution of human society."

speaking truth and avoiding untruth is emphasised in the most beautiful language, but unfortunately there are as yet no translations of these texts."

Mr. Crawfurd admits the Commercial integrity among native merchants. Dealings in money, however, produce the greatest temptations to dishonesty, and when the commercial portion of a nation can stand this ordeal well, one would think it must tell much in favour of the general character of a people.

Par. 255. For he, who describes himself to worthy men, in a manner contrary to truth, is the most sinful wretch in this world: he is the worst of thieves, a stealer of minds.

Chap. vi., par. 92. Content, returning good for evil, resistance to sensual appetites, abstinence from illicit gain, purification, coercion of the organs, knowledge of Scripture, knowledge of the Supreme Spirit, veracity, and freedom from wrath, form their tenfold system of duties.

Chap. vii., 26. Holy sages consider as a fit dispenser of criminal justice, that king who invariably speaks truth, who duly considers all cases, who understands the sacred books, who knows the distinction of virtue, pleasure, and riches.

Chap. viii., par. 79. The witnesses being assembled in the middle of the court-room, in the presence of the plaintiff and the defendant, let the judge examine them, after having addressed them altogether, in the following manner:—

Par. 80. What ye know to have been transacted in the matter before us between the parties reciprocally, declare at large and with truth, for your evidence in this cause is required.

Par. 81. A witness, who gives evidence with truth, shall attain exalted seats of beatitude above and highest fame here and below: such testimony is revered by Brahma himself.

Par, 82. The witness who speaks falsely, shall be fast bound under water, in the maky cords of Varuna, and be wholly deprived of power to escape torment during a hundred transmigrations; let mankind, therefore, give no false testimony.

Par. 83. By truth is a witness cleared from siu; by truth is justice advanced: truth must, therefore, be spoken by witnesses of every class.

Par. 84. The soul itself is its own witness; the soul itself is its own refuge; offend not thy conscious soul, the supreme internal witness of men!

Par. 85. The sinful have said in their hearts: "None sees us." Yes; the gods distinctly see them; and so does the spirit within their breasts.

Mr. Crawfurd denies integrity even to the educated classes. I do not hesitate to give a direct contradiction to this statement. From my actual acquaintance and experience of the educated natives in the Bombay Presidency, I can with confidence assert, in Mr. Crawfurd's own words, that integrity is most prevalent among them as among the educated in Europe. This mistake about the integrity of the educated is also like that about the capacity for education. There are many youths who know how to speak and write English without being educated, and Englishmen often confound them with the educated.

Par. 89. Whatever places of torture have been prepared for the slayer of a priest, for the murderer of a woman or of a child, for the injurer of a friend, and for an ungrateful man, those places are ordained for a witness who gives false evidence.

Par. 90. The fruit of every virtuous act, which thou hast done, O good man, since thy birth, shall depart from thee to dogs,

if thou deviate in speech from the truth.

Par. 91. O friend of virtue, that supreme spirit, which thou believest one and the same with thyself, resides in thy bosom perpetually, and is an all-knowing inspector of thy goodness or of thy wickedness.

Par. 92. If thou beest not at variance, by speaking falsely, with Yama, or the subduer of all, with Vaivaswata, or the punisher with that great divinity who dwells in thy breast, go not on a pilgrimage to the river Ganga, nor to the plains of Curu, for thou hast no need of expiation.

Par. 93. Naked and shorn, tormented with hunger and thirst and deprived of sight, shall the man, who gives false evidence, go with a potsherd to beg food at the door of an enemy.

Par. 94. Headlong, in utter darkness, shall the impious wretch tumble into hell, who, being interrogated in a judicial inquiry, answers one question falsely.

Par. 95. He who in a court of justice gives an imperfect account of any transaction, or asserts a fact of which he was no eye-witness, shall receive pain instead of pleasure, and resemble a man who eats fish with eugerness, and swallows the sharp bones.

Par. 96. The gods are acquainted with no better mortal in this world, that the man of whom the intelligent spirit which pervades his body, has no distrust, when he prepares to give evidence.

Polygamy.—The Parsees are strictly monogamists. The old and young, the most bigoted orthodox and the most liberal, all agree in their abhorrence of bigamy. They prevailed with Government to make bigamy criminal among them. I am notable to refer to the books, but I have a strong impression that there is nothing in the religious literature of the Old Persians indicative of the prevalence or sanction of polygamy among them. It is the most

Par. 97. Hear, honest man, from a just enumeration in order, how many kinsmen, in evidence of different sorts, a false witness kills, or incurs the guilt of killing.

Par. 193. That man who, by false pretences, gets into his hands the goods of another, shall, together with his accomplices, be punished by various degrees of whipping or mutilation, or even by death.

Par. 257. Veracious witnesses, who give svidence as the law requires, are absolved from their sins; but such as give it unjustly, shall each be fined two hundred panes.

Chap. L., par. 93. Avoiding all injury to animated beings, veracity, abstaining from theft, and from unjust seizure of property, cleanliness, and command over the bodily organs, form the compendious system of duty which Menu has ordained for the four classes.

Chap. iv., par. 170. Even here below an unjust man attains no felicity; nor he whose wealth proceeds from giving false evidence: nor he who constantly takes delight in mischief.

Chap. v., par. 109. Rodies are cleaned by water; the mind is purified by truth; the vital spirit, by theology and devotion; the understanding, by clear knowledge,

Chap. ii., par. 97. To a man contaminated with sensuality, meither the Vedas, nor liberality, nor sacrifices, nor strict observances, nor pious austerities, ever procure felicity.

Chap. vii., par. 13. Let the king prepare a just compensation for the good, and a just punishment for the bad: the rule of strict justice let him never transgress.

Chap. viii., par. 111. Let no man of sense take an oath in vain, that is, not in a court of justice, on a trifling occasion; for the man who takes an oath in vain, shall be punished in this life

and in the next.

Par. 86. The guardian deities of the firmament, of the earth, of the waters, of the human heart, of the moon, of the sun, and of fire, of punishment after death, of the winds, of night, of both twilights, and of justice, perfectly know the state of all spirits clothed with bodies.

universal belief among the modern Parsees that they have always been monogamists, and they consider concubinage. Greek testimony, however, is against the also, a sin. Persians in this matter. But at the same time, the Greek best authority lays the blame upon the Greeks themselves, for Herodotus tells us, "as soon as they (Persians) hear of any luxury they instantly make it their own, and bence, among other novelties, they have learnt unnatural lust from the Greeks. Each of them has several wives and a still larger number of concubines." It appears, then, that we have to thank our good friends, the European Greeks, for this unnatural lust. The magi of the Medes are charged with worse institutions than polygemy by some Greek authorities, but Mr. Rawlinson says, "whether it had any real foundation in fact is very uncertain."*

The Desatir, which in some parts is, according to some, of great antiquity, and according to others only a work about three hundred years old, but, withal, the work of an Asiatic, says: "Marry only one woman and do not look with a wicked eye on or cohabit with any other woman.' This fact deserves much consideration. Had the Persians been originally polygamists, it is strange that, during their residence in India for 1,200 years in the midst of the Hindus and Mohammedans, who are more or less polygamists, they should have so strictly preserved their monogamic character.

I asked Professor Spiegel to point out any texts in the religious literature of the Parsees for or against polygamy.

He replied: "As far as my knowledge goes, there is no instance of polygamy in the religious literature of the Parsees. It is said that Zerdusht had three wives, but he

^{*} Vol. iii., p. 131.

had them successively. I share with you the conviction that the majority of the Parsees were at all times monogamists, although, perhaps, indulgences have been granted to kings and other individuals of high station." In another reply to further inquiry from me, about these indulgences, he repeats that there is not a single text of the Avesta or the later Parsis, which alluded to polygamy, and that the indulgences he referred to were upon Greek and Latin authority.

Moreover, Sir J. Malcolm thinks, "There is every reason to believe that the manners of the ancient inhabitants of Persia were softened, and in some degree refined. by a spirit of chivalry which pervaded throughout that country from the commencement till the end of the Kayanian dynasty. The great respect in which the female sex was held was no doubt the principal cause of the progress they had made in civilization; these were at once the cause of generous enterprise and its reward. It would appear that in former days the women of Persia had an assigned and an honourable place in society, and we must conclude that an equal rank with the male creation, which is secured to them by the ordinance of Zoroaster, existed long before the time of that reformer." I can say, in confirmation of this, that even among the old and most orthodox in the present Parsee society, the above remarks on the respect to the female sex are true, and to the best of my recollection, I can confirm the remark of the equality of rank of the female and male creation by the ordinance of Zoroaster.

Mr. Rawlinson also thinks the Aryan races seem in old times to have treated women with a certain chivalry, which allowed the development of their physical powers, and rendered them specially attractive alike to their own husbands and to the men of other nations. The existence of polygamy among the Hindus cannot be denied, but on reading the *Institutes* of Menu, I think that any one will be satisfied that, short of a perfect equality with man, and strict monogamy, woman has high consideration shown her. Menu says: "When females are honoured then the deities are pleased; but when they are dishonoured, then religious acts become fruitless" (chap. iii. 56). The duties enjoined to husbands and wives are as good as those of any other people. They are summed up in the following words:—"Let mutual fidelity continue to death (chap. ix. 101); this, in few words, may be considered as the supreme law between husband and wife." I give below a few more extracts.*

Strabo says of the Hindus, "and the wives prostitute themselves unless chastity is enforced by compulsion." This bears evident mark of a hasty conclusion from some partial observation. Domestic matters are always most difficult to be ascertained by a foreigner. Certainly, the people who not only considered clastity a high virtue, as I have already shown, but even a power, and represented it so in the drama, cannot be charged with such degradation.

^{*}Par. 58. On whatever houses the women of a family, not being duly honoured, pronounce an imprecation, those houses, with all that belong to them, utterly perish, as if destroyed by a sacrifice for the death of an enemy.

Par. 60. In whatever family the husband is contented with his wife, and the wife with her husband, in that house will fortune be assuredly permanent.

Par. 28. From the wife alone proceed offspring, good household management, solicitous attention, most exquisite caresses, and that heavenly beatitude which she obtains for the manes of her ancestors, and for the husband himself.

Par. 165. While she who alights not ber lord, but keeps her mind, speech, and body devoted to him, attains his heavenly mansion and by good men is called sadhire, or virtuous.

Damayante, on being insulted by a hunter in the forest, uttered loud her curse of wrath:--

"As my pure and constant spirit swerves not from Nishadha's Lord, Instant so may this base hunter lifeless fall upon the earth! Scarce that single word was uttered, suddenly that hunter bold Down upon the earth fell lifeless, like a lightning blasted tree."*

On the subject of chivalry among the Hindus, Sir Bartle Frere, in a speech at the distribution of prizes to the girls' schools of the Students' Literary and Scientific Society of Bombay, says to the natives around him, after alluding to the spirit of chivalry and its effects in Europe. "There is no doubt that our ancestors regarded the female portion of the community as the great, almost the chief instruments in bringing back civilisation to Europe. I wish all my native friends to recollect, that this spirit. although if manifested chiefly there, was not confined to Europe. If they read any history of Rajpootana, they will see that this spirit was a desire to make them as far as possible equal to this. This spirit is essentially the spirit of the Hindu races-a spirit which subdued India and drove out the barbarous tribes of those days, and formed such communities that they are now, after the duration of many centuries, still vigorous and still able to oppose to us a vital power, which in spite of this government and its forces, can command the respect of all who go among them."+

Lastly, I beg to draw Mr. Crawfurd's attention to the phenomenon of Mormonism among European races of the nineteenth century.

It is a matter much to be regretted that gentlemen, like Mr. Crawfurd, make sweeping denunciations against the character of the Asiatics. They naturally provoke

Btory of Nala, p. 35.

[†] Stud. Lit. and Scientific Society's Report, 1864-5.

recriminations like the following, with all their mischievous consequences.

A Parsee gentleman, during his residence in this country for nearly eight years, disgusted with these sweeping charges, used to say :- 'Look at all the mass of untruths in the daily advertisements and puffs; in the daily language of shop-keepers; how much swindling is there in the concection of companies for the benefit of the promoters only : see what the book on facts, failures, and frauds discloses: what extremely watchful care one is obliged to have in his dealings in the city, where every kind of scoundrelism is so rife; how many manufacturers always give you the best article only, at any price; how cleverly flaws are found in contracts; how artizans always require more time for wage-work than for job; how often you get goods different from patterns and samples; and he asked what grounds are there for Europeans to boast of higher commercial morality than that of the natives of India?' He asked: 'Look at the number of immoral haunts in London, read the account of Life in Liverpool. see the social evil and street immorality, cases of unfaithfulness in domestic life, great immorality wherever numbers of the two sexes work together, the amount and character of crime disclosed by police and law reports, and election curruption, and all this among a highly civilised people? Is there not more reason for humiliation than boasting on the part of Europeans as to their morality? See the constant changes of views in the papers about Indian matters as it suits the purpose of the writer at the moment: the made in which India has been acquired :--

"War, disguised as Commerce, came; Won as empire, lost a name."

'When it suits their purpose the Hindus are described as most loyal, obedient, civilised, etc.; at other times they are cowardly wretches, disloyal, ungrateful, barbarous. They first give a bad name, and then cry out to hang them. They draw millions every year from India, and in return abuse its people, caring not so much for it as for a rotten English borough. They yield with the greatest reluctance and difficulty any of the just rights and privileges demanded by the natives. Look at that iniquitous annexation policy in spite of treaties; see how the cost of the Afghan war is clapped on the shoulders of India; their whole aim being how to get most money from India.' Reasoning in this way he concluded, 'the only God the English worshipped-was gold; they would do anything to get it,' and he illustrated this by saying, 'that if it were discovered that gold existed in human blood, they would manage, and with good reasons to boot, to exract it from thence."

He said 'the English boast of fair play, etc., and yet see with what different measures they deal it out sometimes to the European and native; with what flagrant injustice was Dr. Colah treated; how bullying they are towards the weak, and very polite and reasonable with the strong. Coercien alone, it seems, makes them do what is right.' He said that as long as an Englishman wanted anything he was the very embodiment of politeness, but the object gained, he was no more the same person, and pointing to the treatment of India generally, he thought gratitude was not a very prominent trait in the English character.

They pay native officials most wretchedly, and yet claim from them as efficient and honest service as they get from the highly-paid English officials, forgetting how rife corruption was among themselves in the days of small pay and much service. They complain of the untrustworthiness of native servants, but in their innocence they do not know how cleverly English landladies and servants manage to have their pickings and discounts.

Studying the English character in this manner, the gentleman formed his opinion that the English were the most hypocritical, the most selfish and unprincipled people, and had no right to boast of higher morality and integrity, Now, if such evidence as Mr. Crawfurd relies upon be conclusive as to the character of the natives of India, I do not see how this Parsee gentleman's conclusions cannot be also admitted as proved. Strange to say, the principal argument that was flung at our face against our attempt some sixteen years ago to establish female schools, was the state of English society, which the objectors, from superficial observations, urged was not highly moral, as female education afforded opportunities of secret intrigue and correspondence. I trust it is not such kind of evidence that will be considered sufficient by any thinking man to traduce whole nations.

When we left India in 1855 to come over here to open the first Parsee firm, the principal advice given by our European friends was to be exceedingly careful in our business in the city against the many rogues we should meet with there. "In Iudia," said some one, "we keep one eye open; in England, you must keep both eyes wide open."

In the cause of truth and science I do not in the least object to the proclamation of truth regardless of consequences; but I appeal to Mr. Crawfurd himself, and to Englishmen, whether, in the instance of the natives of India, the case at the worst is but doubtful, such wholesale abuse of the whole nation from persons of position and

authority in science is not much to be deplored; it creates ill-feeling and distrust, excites recrimination, and engenders a war of races.

India, gentlemen, is in your power and at your mercy; you may either give it a helping hand and raise it to your political and enlightened condition, to your eternal glory or keep it down with the foot of the tyrant upon its neck to your eternal shame! The choice is in your power, and, as I am happy to believe that, true to English nature, the first course is chosen, though not yet very energetically pursued, is it not very necessary, for men of weight or influence, not to say or do anything to mar this great and good work?

Abuse from persons like Mr. Landon of Broach, or Mr. Jeffries of the East Indian Association, natives care not for. The natives know the men and their motives; but disinterested gentlemen of weight and authority ought to ponder well upon their responsibilities. I do not mean to say that you should not point out to the natives of India their real faults and shortcomings—in fact, you cannot do a better act of friendship; but pointing out real faults is different from traducing indiscriminately. I may demand, in the words of Horace Wilson, "Let whatever they urge be urged in charity."

In my remarks about the general moral character of the Parsece and Hindus, I do not mean to be understood that they are models of perfection; they have no doubt their fair share of black sheep also, and their faults arising from centuries of foreign rule and more or less oppression; but, judging from the experience of some past years, there is every hope of these faults being corrected by education.

The intercourse between the Europeans and native

is not, except in few instances, of that frankness and confidence which alone can enable them to judge of each other rightly. Coupled with this, they very often misunderstand each other; and the Englishman, generally being an educated man, judges of every native by the high standard of his own enlightenment and civilization. The result is often anything but a right conclusion, and hasty generalisation. Every wrong act of the native is at once condemned as innate in the native; similar acts of Europeans are of course only individual delinquencies, or capable of explanation!

There is nothing strange in the natives feeling shy and misunderstanding the rulers. The other day the Welsh farmers did not fill up Government returns about cattle, after deliberation, on the ground that Government wanted to tax cattle.

There is no doubt that owing to a colder and more bracing climate, the enjoyment of free institutions for centuries, the advantages of high educational establishments and high moral culture, free public opinion, and the advancement in material prosperity and mode of life by the discoveries of physical science and mineral resources, the modern Englishman is, in his physical and mental development, in his pluck and public spirit, in literature, science and arts, superior to the modern Hindu ground down and depressed as he is by centuries of foreign rule and oppression, and possessing less advantages of climate and food for personal vigour. But the very fact that the Hindu has under all such unfortunate circumstances preserved his character for morality and virtue, for high commercial integrity, for his bravery and military aptitude, and that he has at one time produced his vast ancient lore shows that there is no want of capacity, and that, under

the influence of British rule rightly administered, and reinvigorated by modern Western civilization, he may once more regain his former high position among mankind.

At present he has not yet fully recovered from the staggering blow of the most extraordinary revolution by which a small nation in the far West has become a ruler of his vast country. He does not yet quite understand his new rulers. He is only just beginning to see dimly that after all he has perhaps some reason to congratulate himself for the change. The higher classes, the rulers now displaced or still remaining, are in a bewildering state of mind. They lying prostrate, with all their energies fled, and smarting at their fallen condition, cannot be naturally expected to reconcile themselves suddenly to the loss of their power, and to find themselves, once rulers of millions, now of less importance than an ordinary English official, and sometimes treated with injustice or indifference. The revolution in all its aspects, military, political, social, or intellectual, is so extraordinary and unparalleled in the history of mankind, that it cannot but be a work of time before a people, numbering two hundred millions, though now a fallen, but once a highly civilised nation, can be reconciled and assimilated to the new order of things. Under these circumstances, coupled with some unfortunate social barriers between the rulers and the ruled, the ignorance of each other's language, and the little interest shown by Englishmen, the Englishman and the native of India are still at a wide distance from each other, and know therefore little of each other's true merits and faults. The time, however, I hope will come, when, as some who have taken a real interest in the people have already done, the English people will with better knowledge think well of the natives of India. It will be the

fault of the rulers themselves if they do not find the Hindus a loyal and a grateful people, and capable of the highest degree of civilisation. Even Abool Fazul, the minister of the greatest Mahommedan ruler of India, has Unfortunately, the borne high testimony for them. mischief of distance between the Englishman and natives is aggravated by the conduct of a class of Englishmen in India, who, either from interested motives or from pride of superiority, always run down the natives, and keep up an ill-feeling between the races. times some English gentlemen claim ten or twenty years' experience who have hardly been on intimate terms. or have familiarly conversed, with as many natives, or have hardly learnt to speak as many sentences in the language of the natives as the number of years they claim experience for; and such gentlemen constitute themselves the infallible judges of the character of the people, Perhaps, a parallel to this to some extent is to be found in the accounts about Englishmen themselves given by European foreigners. When Englishmen are incorrectly described by these toreigners, they of course open their whole artillery of ridicule upon such ignorance, and yet it does not always occur to them that in their judgment on natives of India, with less mutual acquaintance, they may be as much, if not more egregiously mistaken.

There are several peculiar difficulties in India in the way of rapid progress. Education permeates the mass very slowly on account of many different languages; the efforts of the educated to improve their countrymen remain confined within small limits, while in this country an idea in the Times is known over the whole length and breadtheland within twenty-four hours, and the wholess very can act as a man.

The natives are sometimes charged with want of moral courage. We have only to look at the difference of treatment by the Bombay Government between a native and an English judge—I mean Mr. Manockjee Cursetjee and Mr. Anstey—and one may ask what result can be expected from such circumstances.

However, though such unfortunate circumstances do now and then occur, the educated are beginning to learn that the rights of intellect and justice are the same for all, and that, though often snubbed and discouraged, they may rely upon the ultimate triumph of truth and justice.

Lastly, I think Mr. Crawfurd's treatment of this important subject is one-sided, and not judicial and scientific. The paper professes to draw a conclusion from certain facts, but to me it seems the facts are selected for, and adapted to, a foregone conclusion. All explanatory causes of difference are made light of and thrown into the background, and all tending to prove the conclusion brought most forcibly into the foreground. The whole reasoning is that, because there is a diversity in the intellectual, moral, and physical character of various nations, they must therefore have separate origins, but the premises do not warrant the conclusion; moreover, there are several assumptions which are not correct.

In one place, a comparison is made between different countries, and it is assumed that the greater the natural resources, the greater must be the development; while a most important feature in human nature,—"necessity the mother of invention,"—greater difficulties compelling greater exertions, and calling forth the ex-reise of higher powers, and the bracing effects of colder climates, are ignored. In one the Phoenicians, Jews, and Mamelukes are taken over alread) wopean aide as they seem to disturb the argument ledge thin.

Mr. Crawfurd alludes to the bad government in Asia as their own creation, as if bad governments had never existed in Europe, and no European kingdoms or empires had to thank bad governments and degeneracy for their fall.*

One principal objection to Mr. Crawfurd's paper is an unfair comparison between the old Asiatic civilisation and the modern European civilisation, with all the impetus given to its material advancement by the discoveries of physical science, both in the arts of war and peace. The ancient civilisation of both Continents may be a legitimate subject of comparison. The Asiatics, after their fall from the first civilisation, had not new blood and vigour brought to them. The Goths and other wild tribes, mainly derived from Asiatic races, permanently settled in and brought new vigour to Europe, and created a new civilisation in it with the advantages of a groundwork of the old civilisation. It would be interesting to make a fair comparison between the old civilisations of the two Continents and between the modern condition of the people among whose ancestors the old civilisations prevailed. But to compare a hand armed with an Armstrong gun with an unarmed one and thence to draw the conclusion of superior strength and warlike spirit of the former, may be complacent, but does not appear to me to be fair.

Differences in the conditions of nations and their various peculiarities, arising from differences of political, physical, and social circumstances, and these circumstances reacting upon each other, require careful study and due allowance before attributing any share to innate difference.

In the nineteenth century, and in the very heart of Europe, a king claims "divine right," and a minister sets all law and justice at defiance. Poland and the Duchies are a strange commentary upon the political justice of Europe. Has not Italy till very lately groaned under bad governments?

I do not mean to undertake here the solution of the most difficult problem of the unity or plurality of races, or of maintaining or denying what may legitimately follow from Mr. Crawfurd's conclusions, that there are as many distinct races with distinct origins as there are countries or even provinces with peculiarities of their own. I leave to ethnologists to say whether the present philological and physical researches which Mr. Crawfurd has altogether ignored, and other ethnological inquiries, lead to the conclusion of the unity or plurality of races, or whether more light is still necessary upon the subject.

I shall only make a few remarks suggested by the paper. The races of Europe present a large variety in their size, from the Highlanders to the Laps. The Asiatic races have their Afghans, of the large size, and other races of different sizes. Herodotus writes: "For, in boldness and warlike spirit the Persians were not a whit inferior to the Greeks;" in another place he says: † "And in the mid battle, when the Persians themselves and the Sacæ had place, the barbarians were victorious, and broke and pursued the Greeks in the inner country." In the comparison between the Greeks and Persians, Herodotus accounts for the inferiority of the latter in dificiency of discipline and arms only.

Rawlinson, in his Five Monarchies, judges from the sculptures that the ancient Aryan race is a noble variety of the human species—tall, graceful, and stately; physiognomy handsome and somewhat resembling the Greek; and that on the authority of Xenophon and Plutarch the Median and Tromen Persians were remarkable for their stature and beauty. Palgrave calls the Arabs of inhabited lands and organised governments one of the noblest races

^{*} Vol. iv., p. 354. † Vol. iii., p. 405.

of earth.* A large portion of the Sikhs and Afghans, and large numbers of Brahmans in Central India, have fair complexions and fine features.

We must not also forget, in comparisons of nations, the part which accident, or commonly called luck, plays. We now what part storms played in the defeat of the navy of Xerxes and of the armada of the Spaniards.† The European lives in a colder and bracing climate. I do not suppose the innate physical character of any European race will enable it to preserve its vigour and strength intact on the plains of India for a long time. The European, says Mr. Crawfurd, enjoys walking, the Asiatic prefers sitting. The Asiatic, when here, enjoys walking as much as any European can do, for he must walk in this climate to preserve his health. The European in India, after the fatigue and heat of the day, often prefers sitting in a cool breeze. With the European dress, and in this climate, sitting with his legs tucked up under him, becomes irksome to the Asiatic also. The rigidity of the muscle of the European is much modified in India. I suppose it is a well known fact to ethnologists that animals are capable of acquiring a large variety of physical characters in different climates, though originally of the same stock. Mr. Crawfurd's statement, that the Jews of Asia are substantially Persian among Persians, Arab among Arabs, and difficult to distinguish from Rindus among Hindus, and that their

^{*} Vol. i., p. 24.

[†] Now, a single law sometimes fixes the character of a nation for a time for good or evil. What extraordinary changes have been wrought since the recognition of free trade by this nation! I do not suppose Mr. Crawfurd means the English of the past generation were a different race, because they were protectionists, less tolerant, and in several other respects different from the present generation.

social advancement in Europe is with the people of the community among which they dwell, tends rather against his theory, showing that external circumstances have modified the character of a people within historic times.

In estimating the character of a people, we must not forget that sometimes single events have given a peculiar direction to their character and history. Had it not been for taxed tea, we do not know whether there would have been a United States now. Had the confederates been victorious, what would have been the future history of the United States and of Slavery? Had Britain been connected with the Continent of Europe, it is probable that it might have had a different history, either a large European empire, or a province of some other. What change was wrought in the character of the Britons when they complained, "The Picts drive us to the sea, and the sea drives us to the Picts?" Was that change in character, the result of external influence of the Roman civilisation and Government, or not?

The one-sided and partial treatment of the subject by Mr. Crawfurd is best illustrated by the comparison made between Greece and the island of Java. The wide difference between the climate and products of the two countries is admitted, but the legimate conclusion of its effects in stimulating or checking exertion are ignored; the rest of the comparison might as well not have been made.

The Guzerati-speaking Hindus are eminently commercial, and carry on the most extensive foreign commerce, while just on the other side of the Ghauts and in Concan the Martha-speaking Hindus are quite uncommercial, except so far as some inland trade is concerned. Whether these may be considered as two distinct races by Mr. Crawfurd or not I cannot say, but there is this marked difference in their character, arising, to a great extent, from local and historical circumstances, the Guzerat people having commercial connections with Arabia and the West from ancient times,

Again, in Western India there is even now a marked difference in the educational, and therefore intellectual condition of the Mahomedans and Hindus of Concan; though thay have the same physiognomy, speak the same language, and, in fact, are originally the same people, there are not half a dozen of these Mahomedans attending the English seminaries, while the Hindus swarm in numbers. Should this state of things continue for some length of time, the difference in the characters of these two portions will be so great that, according to Mr. Crawfurd's theory, I suppose they will have to be put down as two distinct races.

I wish I had more time to examine more fully the several points I have touched upon, and also to examine a few more statements of Mr. Crawfurd's paper, especially about Hindu astronomy, music, and architecture and Chinese literature and character. The ethnologist should study man in all his bearings, and make due allowances for every cause of disturbance. Mr. Crawfurd's conclusion may be right or wrong, but, with every deference to him, all I wish to submit to the Society is that the evidence produced is not only not sufficient but defective in itself, inasmuch as it is superficial, and several statements are not quite correct.

I have not made these remarks for the pleasure of objecting, or simply for the sake of defending the Asiatics; truth cannot be gainsaid, and I hope I shall be the last person to deny it wherever it is proved to exist, no matter in howsever unpleasant a form. The sole business of science, as I understand it, is to seek the truth and to hail it wherever it is found, and not to bend and adapt facts to a foregone conclusion.

IX.

SIR. M. E. GRANT DUFF ON INDIA,*

I offer some observations on Sir Grant Duff's reply to Mr. Samuel Smith, M. P., in this Review. I do so not with the object of defending Mr. Smith. He is well able to take care of himself. But of the subjects with which Sir Grant Duff has dealt, there are some of the most vital importance to India, and I desire to discuss them.

I have never felt more disappointed and grieved with any writings by an Englishman than with the two articles by Sir Grant Duff-a gentleman who has occupied the high positions of Under-Secretary of State for India and Governor of Madras. Whether I look to the superficiality and levity of his treatment of questions of serious and melancholy importance to India, or to the literary emartness of offhand reply which he so often employs in the place of argument, or to the mere sensational assertions which he puts forward as proofs, I cannot but feel that both the manner and matter of the two articles are in many parts, unworthy of a gentleman of Sir Grant Duff's position and expected knowledge. But what is particularly more regrettable is his attitude towards the educated classes, and the sneers he has levelled against higher education itself. If there is one thing more than another for which the Indian people are peculiarly and deeply grateful to the British nation, and which is one of the chief reasons of their attachment and loyalty to

Contemporary Review, August, 1887.

British rule, it is the blessing of education which Britain has bestowed on India. Britain has every reason to be proud of, and to be satisfied with, the results, for it is the educated classes who realise and appreciate most the beneficence and good intentions of the British nation; and by the increasing influence which they are now undoubtedly, exercising over the people, they are the powerful chain by which India is becoming more and more firmly linked with Britain. This education has produced its natural effects, in promoting civilisation and independence of character-a result of which a true Briton should not be ashamed and should regard as his peculiar glory. But it would appear that this independence of character and the free criticism passed by the educated classes on Sir Grant Duff's acts have ruffled his composure. He has allowed his feelings to get the better of his judgment. I shall have to say a few words on this subject hereafter.

Sir Grant Duff asks the English tourists, who go to India "for the purpose of enlightening their countrymen when they come home"—"Is it too much to ask that these last should take the pains to arrive at an accurate knowledge of facts before they give their conclusions to the world?" May I ask the same question of Sir Grant Duff himself? Is it too much to ask him, who has occupied high and responsible positions, that he, as far more bound to do so, should take the pains to arrive at an accurate knowledge of facts before he gives him conclusions to the world? Careless or mistaken utterances of men of his position, by misleading the British public, do immeasurable harm, both to England and India.

Of the few matters which I intend to discuss there is enc-the most important—upon which all other questions hinge. The correct solution of this fundamental problem will help all other Indian problems to settle themselves under the ordinary current discussions of every day. Before proceeding, however, with this fundamental question, it is necessary to make one or two preliminary remarks to clear away some misapprehensions which often confuse and complicate the discussion of Indian subjects.

There are three parties concerned—(1) The British nation, (2) those authorities to whom the Government of India is entrusted by the British nation, and (3) the Natives of British India.

Now, I have no complaint whatever against the British nation or British rule. On the contrary, we have every reason to be thankful that of all the nations in the world it has been our good fortune to be placed under the British nation—a nation noble and great in its instincts; among the most advanced, if not the most advanced, in civilization; foremost in the advancement of humanity in all its varied wants amd circumstances; the source and fountainhead of true liberty and of political progress in the world; in short, a nation in which all that is just, generous and truly free is most happily combined.

The British nation has done its part nobly, has laid down, and pledged itself before God and the world to, a policy of justice and generosity towards India, in which nothing is left to be desired. That policy is complete and worthy of its great and glorious past and present. No, we Indians have no complaint against the British nation or British rule. We have everything from them to be grateful for. It is against its servants, to whom it has entrusted our destinies, that we have something of which to complain. Or rather, it is against the system which has been adopted by its servants, and which subverts the avowed

and pledged policy of the British nation, that we complain, and against which I appeal to the British people.

Reverting to the few important matters which I desire to discuss, the first great question is-What is Britain's policy towards India? Sir Grant Duff says: "Of twe things one: either we mean to stay in India and make the best of the country-directly for its own advantage, indirectly for that of ourselves and of mankind at large, or we do not." Again, he says: "The problem is how best to manage for its interest, our own interest, and the interest of the world. " Now, If anybody ought to know, Sir Grant Duff ought, that this very problem, exactly as he puts it and for the purposes he mentions, has been completely and exhaustively debated, decided upon, and the decision pledged in the most deliberate manner. in an Act of Parliament more than fifty years ago, and again most solemnly and sacredly pledged more than twenty-five years ago. Sir Grant Duff either forgets or ignores these great events. Let us see, then, what this policy is. At a time when the Indians were in their educational and political infancy, when they did not and could net understand what their political condition then was or was to be in the future, when they had not uttered, as far as I know, any complaints, nor demanded any rights or any definite policy towards themselves, the British nation of . their own accord and pleasure, merely from their own sense of their duty towards the millions of India and to the world, deliberately ideclared before the world what their policy should be towards the people of India. Nor did the British people do this in any ignorance or want of forethought or without the consideration of all possible consequences of their action. Never was there a debate in

both Houses of Parliament more complete and clear, more exhaustive, more deliberately looked at from all points of view, and more calculated for the development of statesmanlike policy and practical good sense. The most crucial point of view—that of political danger or of even the possible loss of India to Britain—was faced with true English manliness; and the British nation, through their Parliament, then settled, adopted, and proclaimed to the world what their policy was to be—viz., the policy of justice and of the advancement of humanity.

I can give here only a very few extracts from that famous debate of more than half a century ago—a debate reflecting the highest glory on the British name.

Sir Robert Peel said :-

"Sure I am at least that we must approach the consideration of it with a deep feeling, with a strong sense of the responsibility we shall incur, with a strong sense of the moral obligation which imposes it upon us as a duty to promote the improvement of the country and the welfare and well-being of its inhabitants, so far as we can consistently with the safety and security of our dominion and the obligations by which we may be bound"

The Marquis of Lansdowne, in the House of Lords, said:—

" But he should be taking a very narrow view of this question and one utterly inadequate to the great importance of the subject, which involved in it the happiness or misery of one hundred millions of human beings, were he not to call the attention of their Lordships to the bearing which this question and to the influence which this arrangement must exercise upon the future destinies of that vast mass of people. He was sure that their Lordships would feel, as he indeed felt, that their only justification before God and Providence for the great and unprecedented dominion which they exercised in India was in the happiness which they communicated to the subjects under their rule, and in proving to the world at large, and to the inhabitants of Hindoostan, that the inheritance of Akbar (the wisest and most beneficent of Mahomedan princes) had not fallen into unworthy or degenerate hands." His Lordship, after announcing the policy intended to be adopted, con-cluded: "He was confident that the strength of the Government would be increased by the happiness of the people over whom it presided, and by the attachment of those nations to it."

Lord Macaulay's speech is worthy of him, and of the great nation to which be belonged. I have every temptation to quote the whole of it, but space forbids. He calls the proposed policy "that wise, that benevolent, that noble clause," and he adds:—

" I must say that, to the last day of my life, I shall be proud of having been one of those who assisted in the framing of the Bill contains that clause Governments, like men, may buy existence too dear. 'Propter vitam vivendi perdere causas' is a despicable policy either in individuals or States. In the present case such a policy would be not only despicable but absurd. . . . To the great trading nation, to the great manufacturing nation, no progress which any portion of the human race can make in know-ledge, in taste for the conveniences of life, or in the wealth by which those conveniences are produced, can be matter of indifference . . . To trade with civilised men is infinitely more profitable than to govern savages. That would indeed be a doting wisdom, which, in order that India might remain a dependency, would make it a useless and costly dependency—which would keep a hundred millions of men from being our customers in order that they might continue to be our slaves. It was, as Bernier tells us, the practice of the miserable tyrants whom he found in India, when they dreaded the capacity and spirit of some distinguished subject, and yet could not venture to murder him, to administer to him a daily dose of the pousts, a preparation of opium, the effect of which was in a few months to destroy all the bodily and mental powers of the wretch who was drugged with it, and to turn him into a helpless idiot. That detestable artifice, more horrible than assassination itself, was worthy of those who employed it. It is no model for the English nation. We shall never consent to administer the ponsta to a whole community, to stupify and paralyse a great people whom God has committed to our charge, for the wretched purpose of rendering them more amenable to our control. I have no fears. The path of duty is plain before us; and it is also the path of wisdom, of national prosperity, of national honour. To have found a great people sunk in the lowest depths of misery and superstition, to have so ruled them as to have made them desirous and capable of all the privileges of citizens, would indeed he a title to glory-all our own. The sceptre may pass away from us. Unforcecen accidents may derange our most profound schemes of policy. Victory may be inconstant to our arms. But there are triumphs which are followed by no reverses. There is an empire exempt from all natural causes of decay. Those triumphs are the pacific triumphs of reason over barbarism; that empire is the imperishable empire of our arts and our morals, our literature and our law."

Now, what was it that was so deliberately decided upon-that which was to promote the welfare and wellbeing of the millions of India, involve their happiness or misery, and influence their future destiny; that which was to be the only justification before God and Providence for the dominion over India; that which was to increase the strength of the Government and secure the attachment of the nation to it; and that which was wise, benevolent and noble, most profitable to English trade and manufacture, the plain path of duty, wisdom, national prosperity and national honour, and calculated to raise a people sunk in the lowest depths of misery and superstition to prosperity and civilisation? It was this "noble" clause in the Act of 1833, worthy of the British character for justice, generosity and humanity: "That no Native of the said territories, nor any natural-born subject of his Majesty resident therein, shall, by reason only of his religion, place of birth, descent, or any of them, be disabled from holding any place, office or employment under the said Company."

I now ask the first question. Is this deliberately declared policy honestly promised, and is it intended by the British nation to be honestly and honourably fulfilled; or is it a lie and a delusion, meant only to deceive India and the world? This is the first clear issue.

It must be remembered, as I have already said, that this wise and noble pledge was given at a time when the Indians had not asked for it. It was of Britain's own will and accord, of her own sense of duty towards a great people whom Providence had entrusted to her care, that she deliberated and gave the pledge. The pledge was given with grace and unasked, and was therefore the more valuable and more to Britain's credit and renown. But the autho-

rities to whom the performance of this pledge was entrusted by the British nation did not do their duty, and left the pledge a dead letter. Then came a time of trouble, and Britain triumphed over the Mutiny. But what did she do in that moment of triumph? Did she retract the old, great and noble pledge? Did she say, "You have proved unworthy of it, and I withdraw it." No! True to her instincts of justice, ahe once more and still more emphatically and solemnly proclaimed to the world the same pledge, even in greater completeness and in every form. By the mouth of our great Sovereign did she once more give her pledge, calling God to witness and seal it and bestow His blessing thereon; and this did the gracious proclamation of 1858 proclaim to the world:—

"We hold ourselves bound to the Natives of our Indian territory by the same obligations of duty which bind us to all our other subjects; and those obligations, by the blessing of Almighty God, we shall faithfully and conscientiously fulfil.

"And it is our further will that, so far as may be, our subjects of whatever race or creed, be freely and impartially admitted to offices in our service, the duties of which they may be qualified by their education, ability, and integrity duly to discharge.

"In their prosperity will be our strength, in their contentment our security, and in their gratitude our best reward. And may the God of all power grant to us and to those in authority under us strength to carry out these our wishes for the good of our people."

Can pledges more sacred, more clear, and more binding before God and man be given?

I ask this second question. Are these pledges honest promises of the British Sovereign and nation, to be faithfully and conscientiously fulfilled, or are they only so many lies and delusions? I can and do expect but one reply: that these sacred promises were made honestly, and honourably fulfilled. The whole Indian problem hangs upon these great pledges, upon which the blessings and help of God are invoked. It would be an insult and

an injustice to the British nation, quite unpardonable in me—with my personal knowledge of the British people for more than thirty years—if I for a moment entertained the shadow of a doubt with regard to the honesty of these pledges.

The third question is—whether these pledges have been faithfully and conscientiously fulfilled. The whole position of India is this: If these solemn pledges be faithfully and conscientiously fulfilled, India will have nothing more to desire. Had these pledges been fulfilled, what a different tale of congratulation should we have had to tell to-day of the prosperity and advancement of India and of great benefits to and blessings upon England. But it is useless to mourn over the past. The future is still before us.

I appeal to the British nation that these sacred and solemn promises should be hereafter faithfully and conscientiously fulfilled. This will satisfy all our wants. This will realize all the various consequences, benefits and blessings which the statesmen of 1833 have foretold, to England's eternal glory, and to the benefit of England, India and the world. The non-fulfilment of these pledges has been tried for half a century, and poverty and degradation are still the lot of India. Let us have, I appeal, for half a century the conscientious fulfilment of these pledges, and no man can hesitate to foretell, as the great statesmen of 1833 foretold, that India will rise in prosperity and civilization, that "the strength of the Government would be increased by the happiness of the people over whom it presided. and by the attachment of those nations to it." As long as fair trial is not given to these pledges it is idle, and adding insult to injury, to decide anything or to seek any excuses against us and against the fulfilment of the pledges.

If this appeal is granted, if the British nation says that its honest promises must be honestly fulfilled, every other Indian question will find its natural and easy solution. If, on the other hand, this appeal shall go in vain—which I can never believe will be the case—the present unnatural system of the non-fulfilment of the great policy of 1833 and 1858 will be an obstacle and a complete prevention of the right and just solution of any other Indian question whatever. From the seed of injustice no fruit of justice can ever be produced. Thistles will never yield grapes.

I now come to the second important question—the present material condition of India as the natural result of the non-fulfilment of the great pledges. Mr. Samuel Smith bad remarked that there was among the well-educated Natives "a widespread belief that India is getting poorer and less happier," and he has subsequently expressed his own impressions: "The first and deepest impression made upon me by this second visit to India is a heightened sense of the poverty of the country." Now, to such a serious matter, what is Sir Grant Duff's reply ? First, a sneer at the educated classes and at higher education itself. Next, he gives a long extract from an address of the local reception committee of the town of Bezwada, in which, says the address, by means of an anicut, "at one stroke the mouths of a hungry and dying people have been filled with bread, and the coffers of the Government with money." Now, can levity and unkindness go any further? This is the reply that a great functionary gives to Mr. Smith's serious charge about the poverty of India. What can the glowing, long extract from the address of the committee of Bezwada mean, if Sir Grant Duff did not thereby intend

to lead the British public into the belief that, because the small town of Bezwada had acknowledged a good thing done for it, therefore in all India all was happy and prospering? However, Sir Grant Duff could not help reverting, after a while, to the subject a little more seriously, and admitting that "there is in many parts of India frightful poverty." What, then, becomes of the glowing extract from the Bezwada address, and how was that a reply to Mr. Smith's charge? However, even after making the admission of the "frightful poverty in many parts of India," he disposes off-hand of the grave matterremarking that other people in other countries are also poor, as if that were a justification of "the frightful poverty in many parts of India," under a rule like that of the British, and conducted by a service the most highly praised and the most highly paid in the world. Sir Grant Duff, with a cruel levity, only asks two or three questions, without any proof of his assumptions and without any attention to the circumstances of the comparisons, and at once falls foul of the educated classes, as if thereby he gave a complete reply to the complaint about the poverty. Now, these are the three questions he puts :- "The question worth answering is: Do the Indian masses obtain, one year with another, a larger or smaller amount of material wellbeing than the peasantry of Western Europe?" And he answers himself: "Speaking of the huge province of Madras, which I, of course, know best-and I have visited every district in it-I think they do " They "do" what? Do they obtain a larger or smaller amount? His second question is: "But is there not the same. and even worse, in our own country?" And lastly, he

brings down his clincher thus:—"As to our system draining the country of its wealth," if that he the case, how is it visibly increasing in wealth?" And he gives no proof of that increased wealth. Thus, then, does Sir Grant Duff settle the most serious questions connected with India. First, a sneer at educated men and high education, then the frivolous argument about the town-Bezwada, and afterwards three off-hand questions an assertions without any proof. In this way does a forme Under-Secretary of State for India, and only lately a ruler of thirty millions of people, inform and instruct the British public on the most burning Indian questions. We may now, however, see what Sir Grant Duff's above three questions mean, and what they are worth, and how wrong and baseless his assertions are.

Fortunately, Mr. Grant Duff has already replied to Sir Grant Duff. We are treated by Sir Grant Duff to a long extract from his Budget speech of 1873. might have as well favoured us, to better purpose, with an extract or two from some of his other speeches. 1870 Mr. Grant Duff asks Sir Wilfrid Lawson a remarkable question during the debate on Opium. He asks: "Would it be tolerable that to enforce a view of morality which was not theirs, which had never indeed been accepted by any large portion of the human race, we should grind an already poor population to the very dust with new taxation?" Can a more complete reply be given to Sir Grant's present questions than this reply of Mr. Grant Duff: that the only margin that saves "an already poor population" from being ground to the very dust is the few millions that are obtained by poisoning a foreign country (China).

Again Mr. Grant Duff supplies another complete reply to Sir Grant Duff's questions. In his Budgetspeech of 1871, he thus depicts the poverty of India as compared with the condition of England-"one of the countries of Western Europe" and the "our own counthry" of his questions. Just at that time I had, in a Whugh war, shown that the whole production or income Ber British India was about Rs. 20 (40s.) per head per Sannum. Of this Mr. Grant Duff made the following use in 1871. He said: "The position of the Indianfinancier is altogether different from that of the English one. Here you have a comparatively wealthy population. The income of the United Kingdom has, I believe, beenguessed at £800,000,000 per annum. The income of British India has been guessed at £300,000,000 perannum. That gives well on to £30 per annum as the income of every person of the United Kingdom, and only £2 per annum as the income of every person in British India. Even our comparative wealth will be looked back upon by future ages as a state of semi-barbarism. what are we to say of the state of India? How many generations must pass away before that country has arrived at even the comparative wealth of this?"

But now Sir Grant Duff ignores his own utterances as to how utterly different the cases of England and India are. Mr. Grant Duff's speeches having been received in India, Lord Mayo thus commented upon it and confirmed it:—

"I admit the comparative poverty of this country, as compared with many other countries of the same magnitude and importance, and I am convinced of the impolicy and injustice of imposing burdens upon this people which may be called either crushing or oppressive. Mr. Grant Duff in an able speech which he delivered the other day in the House of Commons, the report

of which arrived by the last mail, stated with truth that the position of our finance was wholly different from that of England. 'In England,' he stated, 'you have comparatively a wealthy population. The income of the United Kingdom has, I believe, been guessed at £300,000 per annum; the income of British India has been guessed at £300,000,000 per annum: that goes well on to £30 per annum as the income of every person in the United Kingdom, and only £2 per annum as the income of every person in British India.' I believe that Mr. Grant Duff had good grounds for the statement he made, and I wish to say, with reference to it, that we are perfectly cognisant of the relative poverty of this country as compared with European States."

Here, again, is another answer to Sir Grant Duff's questions, by the late Finance Minister of India. Major (Sir) E. Baring, in proof of his assertion of "the extreme poverty of the mass of the people" of British India, makes a comparison not only with "the Western countries of Europe" but with "the poorest country in Europe." After stating that the income of India was not more than Rs. 27 per head, he said, in his Budget speech of 1882: "In England, the average income per head of population was £33 per head; in France it was £23; in Turkey, which was the poorest country in Europe, it was £4 per head."

It will be seen, then, that Mr. Grant Duff and a higher authority than Sir Grant Duff have already fully answered Sir Grant Duff's questions. The only thing now remaining is whether Sir Grant Duff will undertake to prove that the income of British India has now become equal to that of the Western countries of Europe; and if so, let him give us his facts and figures to prove such a statement—not mere allusions to the prosperity of some small towns like Bezwada, or even to that of the Presidency towns, but a complete estimate of the income of all British India, so as to compare it with that of England, France, or "Western countries of Europe."

I may say here a word or two about "the huge pro-

know best, and I have visited every district in it." We may see now whether be has visited with his eyes open or shut. I shall be glad if Sir Grant Duff will give us figures to show that Madras to-day produces as much as the Western countries of Europe.

Sir George Campbell, in his paper on tenure of land in India, says, from an official Report of 1869, about the Madras Presidency, that "the bulk of the people are paupers." I have just received an extract from a friend in India, Mr. W. R. Robertson, Agricultural Reporter to the Government of Madras, says of the agricultural labourer:—

"His condition is a disgrace to any country calling itself civilised. In the best seasons the gross income of himself and his family does not exceed 3d. per day throughout the year, and in a bad season their circumstances are most deplorable. I have seen something of Ireland, in which the condition of affairs bears seme resemblance to those of this country, but the condition of the agricultural population of Ireland is vastly superior to the condition of the similar classes in this country."

There cannot be any doubt about the correctness of these views; for, as a matter of fact, as I have worked out the figures in my paper on "The Poverty of India," the income of the Madras Presidency in 1868-69 was only about Rs. 18 per head per annum.

Such is the Madras Presidency, which Sir Grant Duff has visited with his eyes apparently shut.

I shall now give a few statements about the "extreme poverty" of British India, by persons whose authority would be admitted by Sir Grant Duff as far superior to his own. In 1864 Sir John (afterwards Lord) Lawrence, then Viceroy, said: "India is on the whole a very poor country; the mass of the population enjoy only a scanty subsistence." And again, in 1873, he repeated his opinion before the Finance Committee that the mass of the people were so

miserably poor that they had barely the means of subsistence. It was as much as a man could do to feed his family, or half-feed them, let alone spending money on what might be called luxuries or conveniences. In 1881 lbr. (Sir W.) Hunter, the best official defender of the British Indian Administration, told the British public that 40,000,000 of the people of British India "go through life on insufficient food." This is an official admission, but I have no moral doubt that, if full enquiries were made, twice forty millions or more would be found "going through life on insufficient food;" and what wonder that the very touch of famine should destroy hundreds of thousands or millions. Coming down at once to the latest times, Sir E. Baring said, in his finance speech in 1882:—

"It has been calculated that the average income per head of population is India is not more than Rs. 27 a year; and, though I am not prepared to pledge myself to the absolute accuracy of a calculation of this sort, it is sufficiently accurate to justify the conclusion that the tax-paying community is exceedingly poor. To derive any very large increase of revenue from so poor a population as this is obviously impossible, and if it were possible would be unjustifiable."

Again, in the course of the debate he repeated the statement about the income being Rs. 27 per head per annum, and said in connexion with salt revenue: "But he thought it was quite sufficient to show the extreme poverty of the mass of the people." Then, after stating the income of some of the European countries, as I have stated them before, he proceeded: "He would ask honourable members to think what Rs. 27 per annum was to support a person, and then he would ask whether a few annas was nothing to such poor people." I asked Sir E. Baring to give me his calculations to check with mine, but he declined. But it does not matter much, as even "not more than Rs. 27 "is extreme poverty of the mass of the people."

Later still the present Finance Minister, in his speech on the Income Tax, in January 1886, described the mass of the people as "men whose income at the best is barely sufficient to afford them the sustenance necessary to support life, living, as they do, upon the barest necessaries of life."

Now, what are we to think of an English gentleman who has occupied the high and important positions of an Under-Secretary of State for India and Governor of the thirty millions of Madras, and who professes to feel deep interest in the people of India, treating such grave matters as their "extreme poverty" and "scanty subsistence" with light-heartedness like this, and coolly telling them and the British public that the people of Bezwada were gloriously prosperous, and that there, "at one stroke, the mouths of a hungry and dying people haw been filled with bread and the coffers of the Government with money!"

I shall now give a few facts and figures in connexion with the condition of India, and with some of the other questions dealt with by Sir Grant Duff. First, with regard to the poverty to which Mr. Samuel Smith referred. Sir Grant Duff may rest assured that I shall be only too thankful to him for any correction of my figures by him or for any better information. I have no other object than the truth.

In my paper on "The Poverty of India" I have worked out from official figures that the total income of British India is only Rs. 20 (40s., or, at present exchange, nearer 30s.) per head per annum. It must be remembered that the mass of the people cannot get this average of Rs. 20, as the upper classes have a larger share than the average; also that this Rs. 20 per head includes the income or produce of foreign planters or producers, in which the inter-

est of the natives does not go further than being mostly common labourers at competitive wages. All the profits of such produce are enjoyed by, and carried away from the country by, the foreigners. Subsequently, in my correspondence with the Secretary of State for India in 1880, I placed before his lordship, in detailed calculations based upon official returns, the income of the most favoured province of the Punjab and the cost of absolute necessaries of life there for a common agriculture labourer. The income is, at the outside, Rs. 20 per head per annum, and the cost of living Rs. 34. No wonder then that forty or eighty millions or more people of British India should "go through life on insufficient food." My calculations, both in "The Poverty of India" and "The Condition of India" (the correspondence with the Secretary of State), have not yet been shown by anybody to be wrong or requiring correction. I shall be glad and thankful if Sir Grant Duff would give us his calculations and show us that the income of British India is anything like that of the Western countries of Europe.

I give a statement of the income of the different countries from Mulhall's "Dictionary of Statistics":—

Gross earnings	Gross earnings
Countries. per inhabitant.	Countries per inhabitant.
England £41	Belgium £22·1
Scotland 32	Holland 26
Ireland 16	Denmark 23-2
United Kingdom 35.2	Sweden and Norway 16-2
France 25.7	Switzerland 16
Germany 187	Greece 11-8
Russia 9-9	Europe 18
Austria 163	United States 27 2
Italy 12	Canada 26.9
Spain 138	Australia 43.4
Portugal 13-6	

The table is not official. In his "Progress of the World" (1880), Mulhall gives—Scandinavia, £17; South

America, £6; India, £2. What is then poor India's whole income per head? Not as even much as the United Kingdom pays to its revenue only per head. The United Kingdom pays to revenue nearly 50s. per head, when wretched India's whole income is 40s. per head, or rather, at the present exchange nearer 30s. than 40s. Is this a result for an Englishman to boast about or to be satisfied with, after a century of British administration? The income of British India only a third of that of even the countries of South America! Every other part of the British Empire is flourishing except wretched India.

Sir Grant Duff knows well that any poverty in the countries of Western Europe is not from want of wealth or income, but from unequal distribution. But British India has her whole production or income itself most wretched. There is no wealth, and therefore the question of its right distribution, or of any comparison with the countries of Western Europe or with England is very far off indeed. Certainly a gentleman like Sir Grant Duff ought to understand the immense difference between the character of the conditions of the poor masses of British India and of the poor of Western Europe, the one starving from scantiness, the other having plenty, but suffering from some defect in its distribution. Let the British ludian Administration fulfil its sacred pledges and allow plenty to be produced in British India, and then will be the proper time and occasion to compare the phenomena of the conditions of Western Europe and British India, The question at present is, why, under the management of the most highly paid services in the world, India cannot produce as much even as the worst governed countries of Europe. I do not mean to blame the individuals of the Indian services. It is the policy, the perversion of the

pledges, that is at the bottom of our misfortunes. Let the Government of India only give us every year properly made up statistical tables of the whole production or the income of the country, and we shall then know truly how India fares year after year, and we shall then see how the present system of administration is an obstacle to any material advancement of India. Let us have actual facts about the real income of India, instead of careless opinions like those in Sir Grant Duff's two articles.

Instead of asking us to go so far as Western Europe to compare conditions so utterly different from each other, Sir Grant Duff might have looked nearer home, and studied somewhat of the neighbouring Native States, to institute some fair comparison under a certain similarity of circumstances. This point I shall have to refer to in the next article, when dealing with a cognate subject. Sir Grant Duff says: "I maintain that no country on the face of the earth is governed so cheaply in proportion to its size, to its population and to the difficulties of government." Surely, Sir Grant Duff knows better than this. Surely, he knows that the pressure of a burden depends upon the capacity to bear it: that an elephant may carry tons with ease, while a child would be crushed by a hundredweight. Surely, he knows the very first axiom of taxation-that it should be in proportion to the means of the taxpayer. Mulhall very properly says in his Dictionary: "The real incidence of all taxation is better shown by comparison with the people's earnings." Let us see fact. Let us see whether the incidence in British India is not heavier than that of England itself. The gross revenue of the United Kingdom in 1886 is £89,581,301; the population in 1886 is given as 36,707,418. The revenue per head will be 48s. 9d. The gross revenue of British India in

1885 is (in £1=ten rupees) £70,690,000, and population in 1881, 198,790,000—say roundly, in 1885, 200,000,000. The revenue of the United Kingdom does not include railway or irrigation earnings; I deduct, therefore, these from the British Indian revenue. Deducting from £70,690,000, railway earnings £11,898,000, and irrigation and navigation earnings £1,676,000, the balance of gross revenue is £57,116,000, which taken for 200,000,000, gives 5s. 81d-say 5s. 8d.—per head. Now, the United Kingdom pays 48s. 9d. per head from an income of £35.2 per head which makes the incidence or pressure of 6.92 per cent, of the income. British India pays 5s. 8d. out of an income of 40s., which makes the incidence or pressure of 14'3 per cent. of the income. Thus, while the United Kingdom pays for its gross revenue only 6.92 per cent, out of its rich income of £35.2 per head. British India pays out of its scantiness and starvation a gross revenue of 14.3 per cent, of its income; so that, wretchedly weak and poor as British India is, the pressure upon it is more than doubly heavier than that on the enormously wealthy United Kingdom; and yet Sir Grant Duff says that no country on the face of the earth is governed so cheaply as British India, and misleads the British public about its true and deplorable condition. But what is worse, and what is British India's chief difficulty is this: In England, all that is puid by the people for revenue returns back to them, is enjoyed by them, and fructifies in their own pockets; while in India, what the people pay as revenue does not all return to them, or is enjoyed by them, or fructifies in their pockets. A large portion is enjoyed by others, and carried away clean out of the country. This is what makes British India's economic position unnatural.

I give below the incidence of a few more countries:—Percentage of expenditure to income: Germany, 10.7; France, 13.23; Belgium, 9.5; Holland, 9.61; Russia, 10.1; Denmark, 5.17; United States, 3.9; Canada, 5.0; Australia, 16.2. But in all these cases, whatever is spent returns back to the people, whether the percentage is large or small.

The Budget Estimate of 1887-88 is nearly £77,500,000, so the percentage of incidence will increase still higher. Sir Grant Duff's object in this assertion is to justify the character and prove the success of the present British Indian policy. It will be hereafter seen that this very argument of his is one of the best proofs of the failure of this policy and of the administration based upon it. Sir Grant Duff says: "Mr. Smith proceeds to admit that India has absorbed some £350,000,000 sterling of silver and gold in the last forty years, but makes the very odd remark that, although English writers consider this a great proof of wealth, it is not so regarded in India." To this, what is Sir Grant Duff's reply? Of the same kind as usual: mere careless assertions, and a fling at the misrepresentation about the educated classes. He says:—

"It may suit A or B not to regard two and two as making four, but arithmetic is true, nevertheless; and there is the bullion, though doubtless one of the greatest boons that could be conferred upon India would be to get the vast dormant hoards of gold and aliver which are buried in the ground or worn on the person brought into circulation. Can that, however, be hoped for as long as the very people whom Mr. Smith treats as exponents of Native opinion do their utmost to excite hostility against the British Government?"

To avoid confusion I pass over for the present without notice the last assertion. It will be seen further on what different testimony even the highest Indian authorities give upon this subject. With regard to the other re-

marks, it is clear that Sir Grant Duff has not taken the pains to know what the Natives say, and what the actual state of the matter is, with regard to these economic conditions. The best thing I can do to avoid useless controversy is to give in my second article a series of facts and official figures, instead of making bare assertions of opinion without any proofs, as Sir Grant Duff says. These economic questions are of far greater and more serious importance, both to England and India, than Sir Grant Duff and others of his views dream of. These facts and figures will show that British India has not received such amounts of gold and silver as is generally supposed, or as are more than barely adequate to its ordinary wants. The phenomenon of the import of bullion into British India is very much misapprehended, as will be shown in my second article; and Sir Grant Duff's assertions are misleading, as such meagre, vague, and offhand assertions always are. By the present policy British India is prevented from acquiring any capital of its own, owing to the constant drain from its wretched income, and is on the verge of being ground down to dust. Such foreign capital as circulates in British India carries away its own profits out of British India, leaving the masses of its people as poor as ever, and largely going through life on insufficient food.

I shall now consider the important questions of trade bullion, population, drain, etc., to which Sir Grant Duff has referred. As promised in my first article, I shall at once proceed to give official facts and figures, which will enable the public to judge for themselves.

I begin with the question of the trade of British India. What is the true trade of British India? The trade returns of British India, as published in Blue-books, both in

England and India, are misleading to those who do not study them with certain necessary information to guide them. What are given as trade returns of British India are not such really, as I explain below. The exports of the produce of a country form the basis of its trade. It is in return for such exports, together with ordinary commercial profits, that the country receives its imports. I shall first analyse the so-called exports of British India. A large portion of them, together with their profits, never return to British India in any shape, either of merchandise or treasure; though in every true trade all exports with their profits ought so to return. The present exports of British India consist of—

- The exports of produce belonging to the Native States.
- The exports of produce belonging to the territories beyond the land frontiers.
- 3. The exports of the produce belonging to European or other foreign planters or manufacturers, the profits of which are enjoyed in and carried away out of the country by these foreigners, and do not belong to or become a portion of the capital of the people of British India. The only interest the people have in these exports is that they are the labourers, by whose labour, at poor wages, the resources of their own country are to be brought out for the profit of the foreigners, such profit not to remain in the country.
- 4. Remittances for "home charges," including interest on public debt held in England, and loss in exchange, and excluding interest on debt which is incurred for railways and other productive works.
- 5. Remittances for interest on foreign debt incurred for railways and other productive public works. What

in this case the lenders get as interest is all right; there is nothing to complain of in that. In other countries, beyond the interest to be paid to the lenders, the rest of the whole benefit of such loans remains to the people of the country. This, however, is not the case with British India.

- 6. Private remittances of Europeans and other foreigners to their own countries for their families, and on account of their savings and profits. These remittances, together with item four, and what the foreigners enjoy in the country itself, are so much deprivation of the people, and cause the exhausting annual drain out of the very poer produce or income of British India. This is India's chief evil.
- 7. The remainder are the only true trade exports of the produce belonging to the people of British India.

Let us now examine the actual figures of the socalled exports of British India, say for 1885. For easier understanding I give the figures in sterling, taking the conventional £1 = Rs. 10. The amount of merchandise exported is £83,200,528. This, however, consists of not only demestic produce and manufactures of all India. but also foreign merchandise re-exported. I do not include treasure in these exports, for the simple reason that the gold or silver is not produced in India, but is simply a re-exportation out of what is imported from foreign parts. I take all my figures from the statistical abstracts published among Parliamentary returns, except when I mention any other source. I take, then, exports of merchandise to be £83,200,528. We must first know how much of this belongs to the Native States. The official trade returns give us no information on this important point, as they should. I shall therefore make a rough esti-

mate for the present. The population of all India is nearly 254,000,000, out of which that of the Native States is 55,000,000, or about 21.5 per cent.; or say, roundly, one-fifth. But the proportion of their exports will, I think, be found to be larger than one-fifth. All the opium exported from Bombay comes from the Native States. A large portion of the cotton exported from Bombay comes from the Native States. According to Hunter's "Imperial Indian Gazetteer," one-sixth of such cotton comes from Kathiawad alone. To be on the safe side, I take the total of exports of the Native States to be one-fifth only—i.e., £16,600,000. Next, the export of merchandise from the frontier countries is about £5,300,000. I may roughly take only one-quarter of this as exported out of India. That will be £1,300,000.

The exports of coffee, indigo, jute manufactures, silk, tea, etc., which are mostly those belonging to foreign planters and manufacturers, amount to about £11,500,000. I cannot say how much of this belongs to Native planters, and not to foreigners. I may take these exports as £10,000,000.

Remittances made for "home charges" (excluding interest on railway and productive works loans), including interest on public debt and loss in exchange, come to about £11,500,000.

Remittances for interest on foreign loans for railways and other public works are about £4,827,000. I cannot say how much interest on the capital of State railways and other productive works is paid in England as part of the interest paid on "debt" (£2,612,000). If I take debt as £162,000,000, and capital laid out on productive works £74,000,000, the proportion of interest on £74,000,000 out of £2,612,000 will be about £1,189,000. If so, then the

total amount of interest on all railways and public works will be about £6,000,000, leaving all other home charges, including exchange and interest on public debt, as £11,500,000, as 1 have assumed above.

Private remittances of Europeans and other foreigners for their families, and of savings and profits, and for importing merchandise, suitable for their consumption, may be roughly estimated at £10,000,000, though I think it is much more.

The account, then, of the true trade exports of British India stands thus:--

Total exports of all India	and	Frontier Sta	ates£	:83,200,000
Native States		•••	£16,600,000	
Frontier Territory	•••	•	1,300,000	
European planters		***	10,000,000	
Home charges			11,500,000	
Interest on all railways	and	l public		
works loans			6,000,000	
Private remittances		***	10,000,000	
				55,400,000

The true trade exports of the people of British India . £27,800,000

Or say, roundly, £30,000,000 for a population of nearly 200,000,000, giving 3s. per head per annum. If proper information could be obtained, I believe this amount would turn out to be nearer £20,000,000 than £30,000,000 for the true trade exports of the people of British India. To be on the safe side, I keep to £30,000,000. It must be remembered that this item includes all the reexports of foreign merchandise, which have to be deducted to get at the true exports of domestic produce.

Is this a satisfactory result of a century of management by British administrators? Let us compare this result with the trade exports of other parts of the British Empire. As I have no information about the foreign debt

of those parts, for the interest of which they may have to export some of their produce, I make allowance for their whole public debt as so much foreign debt. This, of course, is a too large allowance. I take interest at 5 per cent., and deduct the amount from the exports. I am, therefore, evidently under-estimating the exports of the other parts of the British Empire. As the exports of British India include re-exports of foreign merchandise, I have taken the exports of all other countries, in a similar way, for a fair comparison. No deduction for any payment of interest on foreign debt is made for the United Kingdom, as it is more a lender than a borrower. I cannot give here the whole calculation, but only the results and they are these:—

True trade exports	True trade exports
Countries. per head (1855).	Countries. per head (1885).
s. d.	s. d.
The United Kingdom . 149 4	Cape of Good Hope (exclu-
Australia (including bul-	sive of diamonds) 35 5
	North American Colonies . 70 5
it produces) 271 0	West India Islands 75 4
Natal 28 8	British India only 3 0

Let us next take some of the foreign countries, and see how wretched British India's trade is when compared with even them. For a few of the foreign countries I can get particulars of their public debt, but not of that portion of it which is foreign debt. I have taken the amount of the whole public debt, and allowed 5 per cent. interest on it, to be deducted from the exports, as if it were all foreign debt. In this way I have under-estimated the true trade exports. These countries I mark with an asterisk; those marked† include bullion. For these I cannot get separate returns for merchandise only. In the case of the United States the figure is really a great under-estimate, as I take its foreign debt as equal in

amount to its whole public debt, and also as I take interest at 5 per cent. I cannot get particulars of the foreign debts, if they have any, of other countries, and some allowance will have to be made for that. But in all these cases the amount of exports is so large, as compared with the paltry figure of British India, that the contrast remains most striking:—

	orta p	er	, ,	Exporte	pe	r
•	bea	d.	Countries.	" he	e ad .	_
	8.	d.	ļ		8.	
e	12	0	Austro-Hungarian l	Empire	47	0
•••	61	7	†Roumenia		27	0
	61	6	† Greece		39	9
	97	5	Egypt		38	9
B	107	2		•••	55	6
	348	1	† Mexico	• • • •	20	1
	375	2	† Chili	***	149	0
	68	7	† Argentine Republi	e	90	8
•••	33	9			198	2
•••	36	5	Japan	•••	3	8
•••	17	9	British India	•••	3	0
		8. 12 61 61 97 8 107 348 375 68 33	61 7 61 6 97 5 107 2 348 1 375 2 68 7 33 9 36 5	s. d. 12 0 4 austro-Hungarian 16 1 7 † Roumania 16 6 † Greece 97 5 Egypt 107 2 *United States 348 1 † Mexico 375 2 † Chili 68 7 † Argentine Republi 33 9 † Uruguay 36 5 Japan	s. d. 4 12 0 Austro-Hungarian Empire 61 7 Roumania 61 6 Greece 97 5 Egypt 107 2 United States 348 1 Mexico 375 2 Chili 68 7 Argentine Republic 33 9 Uruguay 36 5 Japan	s. d. Austro-Hungarian Empire 47 61 7 † Roumania 27 61 6 † Greece 39 s 107 2 * United States 55 348 1 † Mexico 20 375 2 † Chili 149 68 7 † Argentine Republic 90 33 9 † Uruguay 198 36 5 Japan 3

Even Japan, only so lately opened up, is exporting more than British India.

After seeing how poor the true trade exports are of the people of British India from the point of view of British India's interests, let us next examine the matter from the point of view of England's interest. What benefit has England's trade derived, after possessing and administering British India for more than a hundred years, under a most expensive administration, with complete despotic control over it, the people having no voice and no control of any kind. Has British India so improved as to become an important customer for British goods? There was no protection, no heavy duties to hamper British imports, as in other parts of the British Empire itself, or in foreign countries. And yet we find that British India is by far the most wretched customer for British produce or manu-

factures. Here are the facts :- The total of the exports of British produce from the United Kingdom to India is, for the year 1885, £29,300,000. As I have explained before about exports from India, that they are not all from British India, so also these exports from the United Kingdom to India are not all for British India, though they enter India by British Indian ports. These British exports have to be distributed among-(1) Native States; (2) frontier territories; (3) consumption of Europeans; (4) railway and Government stores; and (5) the remainder for the Natives of British India. Let Government give us correct information about these particulars, and then we shall be able to know how insignificant is the commercial benefit England derives from her dominion over British India. I shall not be surprised if it is found that the real share of the people of British India in the British exports is not half of the £29,300,000 imported into India. It must be remembered that whatever is received by the Natives States and the frontier territories is in full return, with the ordinary profits of 15 per cent., for their exports to the United Kingdom. case is not like that of British India. They have no such exhausting drain as that of British India, beyond paying the small tribute of about £700,000. If I take £15,000,000 as British produce received for the consumption of the Native subjects of British India, I think I am on the safe side. What is this amount for a population of 200,000,000? Only 1s. 6d. per head. Take it even at 2s. per head if you like, or even £25,000,000, which will be only 2s. 6d, per head. What a wretched result for four-fifths of the whole British Empire! The population of British India is 200,000,000, and that of the rest of the British Empire outside India, including the United Kingdom, about 52,000,000.

I now compare the exports of British produce to British India with those to other parts of the British Empire and to other foreign countries. I give the results only:—

BRITISH EMPIRE.

EXPORTS OF BRITISH PRODUCE PER HEAD FOR 1885.

EXPORTS OF DRITISH I ROL	NOR LET THEN LOR 1009.
To Countries. s. d.	l To Countries. s. d.
British India 1s. 6d. or 2 6	Ceylon 3 10
North American Colonies 30 8	Mauritius 14 2
West Indian Island and	Cape of Good Hope and
Guiana 37 10	Natal 45 8
British Honduras 66 7	West African Settlements 57 3
	Possession on the Gold
Straits Settlements 86 10	Coast 13 10
Some deductions may	have to be made from these
figures.	•

What a sad story is this! If British took only £1 per head, England would export to British India alone as much as she exports at present to the whole world (£213,000,000). What an amount of work would this give to British industries and produce! Will the British merchants and manufacturers open their eyes? Will the British working men understand how enormous their loss is from the present policy, which involves besides a charge of dishonourable violation of sacred promises that clings to the British name? If India prospered and consumed British produce largely, what a gain would it be to England and to the whole world also! Here, then, will be Sir Grant Duff's "India's interest, England's interest, and the world's interest" to his bearts content, if he will with a true and earnest heart labour to achieve this threefold

Let us next take other foreign countries, with most or all of which England, I think, has no free trade.

interest in the right way.

and see how British India stands the comparison even with them:-

EXPORTS OF BRITISH PRODUCE PER HEAD.

To Countries.	8.	d.	To Countries.	d,
British India	2	6	Russia (perhaps partly	
Germany	7	3	supplied through inter-	
France	7	11	mediate countries) 0	111
Sweden and Norway.	10	8	Greece 10	1
Denmark and Iceland.	19	4	Turkey in Europe 16	8
Holland (this may be			*Turkey in Asia 3	10
aupplying some por-			Egypt 10	2
tion of Central			United States 8	9
Europe)	44	3	*Central America 4	7
Belgium (do. do.)	28	3	*Brazil 10	5
Portugal	8	0	Uruguay 54	0
Spain	3	9	Argentine Republic 31	8
Italy (perhaps partly			Chili 12	4
supplied by inter-		- 1	Japan 1	1
mediate countries).	4	9	-	
Austrian territory do.	0	8		
_		- 1		

Japan, so lately opened, has commenced taking 1s. 1d. worth per head. These figures tell their own elequent tale. Is it too much to expect that, with complete free trade and British management, and all "development of resources," the prosperity of British India ought to be such as to consume of British produce even £1 a head, and that it would be so if British India were allowed to grow freely under natural economic conditions?

In the first article I referred to the capacity of British India for taxation. Over and over again have British Indian financiers lamented that British India cannot bear additional taxation without oppressiveness. Well, now what is the extent of this taxation which is already so crushing that any addition to it would "grind British India to dust"? It is, as I have shown in the first article, after squeezing and squeezing as much as

Whitaker's Almanac.

possible, only 5s. 8d. per head per anuum, and according to the present budget a little more—say 6s. Let us see what the capacity for taxation of other parts of the British Empire and of other foreign countries is, and even of those Native States of India where anything like improved government on the British Indian system is introduced. I give results only:—

BRITISH EMPIRE.

GROSS REVENUE PER HEAD PER ANNUM.

Countries	6,	d.	Countries.	8.	d.
British India	6	0	Natal	29	10
United Kingdom	48	9	Cape of Good Hope	53	1
Ceylon	8	6	North American Colonies	31	7
Mauritius	40	5	West India Islands		
Australia	139	8		32	2

FOREIGN COUNTRIES.

GROSS REVENUE PER HEAD PER ANNUM.

Countries.	8.	đ.	Countries s. d.		
Russia in Europe	24	5	Austro-Hungary 40 6		
Norway	23	6	Italy 39 10		
Sweden	19	8	Greece 37 7		
Denmark	26	11	Servis 16 3		
German Empire	13	6	Bulgaria 12 3		
	41	2	Roumania 20 3		
Saxony	22	8	Egypt (proper) 30 11		
Grand Duchy of Olden-			United States (different		
burgh	18	6	States have their seps-		
Saxe-Coburg and Gotha.	17	0	rate revenue besides) 26 10		
Bavaria	41	8	Mexico 15 3		
Wurtemburg	27	8	Brazil 26 1		
Grand Duchy of Baden	27	2	Guatemala 24 0		
Grand Duchy of Hesse	21	8	Nicaragua 18 9		
Alsace-Lorraine	24	- 8	Salvador 29 8		
Holland	47	1	Orange Free State 36 9		
Belgium	45	7	Persia 8 7		
France	73	6			
Portugai	31	6	All territory directly under		
Spain	41	10			
Switzerland	12	2	1		

N. B.—Some of the above figures are worked out of Whitaker's Almanao, 1886.

It will be seen that British India's capacity for paying taxation is very poor indeed compared to that of any other country of any consequence. Of the above figures I cannot say which may be oppressive to the people. I give this as a fact, that these people pay so much for being governed. But it must be further borue in mind that every farthing of what these people pay returns back to them, which is not the case with British India. Can it be said of any of these countries that one-fifth or one-third of its people goes through life on insufficient food from sheer poverty of only 40s, income, and not from imperfect distribution?

I shall next take the case of some of the Native States of India. I have taken some where during the minorities of the Princer English officials have administered the State and put them into order and good government. The capacity for taxation which I give below is not the result of any oppressive taxation, but of the natural developments by improved government, and of the increasing prosperity of the people. I give instances in the Bombay Presidency that I know, and of which I have been able to get some particulars.

GROSS REVENUE PER HEAD (£1 = Rs. 10).

		s. d.	1		8.	đ.
Barods	***	12 3	Gondal	•••	18	0
Cotch	***		Morbi	***	17	2
Bhavnagar	•••	12 6	Wadhwan	***	18	10

These States have no debts. Baroda, Bhavnagar, and Gondal have built and are extending their own railways, and all have built and are building their own public works from revenue, and have good balances. Baroda has a balance in hand of £2,100,000, equal to eighteen wonths' revenue; Cutch has £140,000, equal to eight months'

revenue; Bhavnagar has £560,000, equal to two years' revenue: aud Gondal has £150,000, equal to fifteen months' revenue. I give only one or two short extracts from official statements. Sir W. Hunter, in his "Imperial Gazetteer," says about Bhavnayar in connexion with Kathiawar: "Bhavnagar has taken the lead in the material development of her resources, and is the first State in India which constructed a railway at her own expense and risk." I may say that Gondal did the same in conjunction with Bhavnagar, and Baroda had done that long before. In handing over the rule of Gondal to the Prince on the completion of his minority, Major Nutt, the British Administrator, and in charge of the State at the time, says with just pride and pleasure, in reference to the increase of revenue from £80,000 in 1870 to £120,000 in 1884: "One point of special interest in this matter is. that the increase in revenue has not occasioned any hardship to Gondal subjects. On the contrary, never were the people generally-high and low, rich and poor-in a greater state of social prosperity than they are now." The Bombay Government has considered this "highly satisfactory."

At the installation of the present Chief of Bhavnagar, Mr. Peile, the Political Agent, describes the State as being then "with flourishing finances and much good work in progress. Of financial matters I need say little; you have no debts, and your treasury is full." When will British Indian financiers be able to speak with the same pride, pleasure, and satisfaction? "No debt, full treasury, good work in progress, increase of revenue, with increase of social prosperity, for high and low, rich and poor." Will this ever be in British India under the present policy? No.

There are some other States in Kathiawar in which higher taxation per head than that of British India is paid by the people, though I do not know that it is said that there is oppressive taxation there, I may instance Junagadh as 11s. per head, with £500,000 balance in hand, equal to fifteen months' revenue; and Nawanagar as 16s. 3d. per head, and gradually paying off some debt. I have no doubt that Native States will go on rapidly increasing in prosperity as their system of government goes on improving. I know from my own personal knowledge as Prime Minister of Paroda for one year that that State has a very promising future indeed. There are several other Native States in India in which the gross revenue per head is higher than that of British India. 'All the remaining first and second class Kathiawar States are from 8s. to 13s. per head; Gwalior, 7s. 8d.; Indore, 13s. 5d.; Bhurtpore, 8s. 8d.; Dholepur, 8s. 10d.; Tonk, 7s.; Kotah, 11s. 4d. Jallawar, 8s. 10d. Only just now Sindia lends £3,500,000 to the British Government; Holkar, I think, has lent £1,000,000 for the Indore railway.

There cannot be much oppression in these States, as the Political Agents' vigilance and superintendence, and the fear of the displeasure of Government, are expected to prevent it.

Then Sir Grant Duff maintains that no country on the face of the earth is governed so cheaply as British India. In the first place, this is a fiction, as the heaviness of burden on poverty-stricken British India is more than double than that on the enormously rich England; and secondly, Sir Grant Duff's object is to show that this cheapness is a proof of the success of the present British Indian policy. But, on the contrary, the facts and figures I have given above about

British India's wretched income and capacity for taxation, its insignificant trade, and the very paltry commercial benefit to England, are conclusive proofs of anything but success in improving the prosperity of the people. Moreover, for the so-called cheapness, it is no thanks or credit to Government. It is not of choice that Government takes only 6s. per head. On the contrary, it is always longing, ever moaning, and using every possible shift to squeeze out more taxation if it can. By all means make British India capable of paying even 20s, per head (if not 50s, per head, like England) for revenue, without oppression and misery; or make its income £20 per head, if not £41, like that of England; and then fairly claim credit for having raised to some material extent the prosperity of British India. Let us have such results, instead of tall talk and self-complacent assertions. Had Government given us year after year correct information about the actual income and condition of the people of British India, Britain would then have known the deplorable results of the neglect of, and disobedience to, her deliberate and sacred mandates.

Again, Sir Grant Duff's boast of the cheapness of government is wrong, even in the misleading sense in which he maintains it. He tries to show that because British India pays only 6s. per head, it is therefore the most cheaply governed country on the face of the earth—i.e., no other country pays a less amount per head. But even in this he is not quite accurate. He would have found this out had he only looked about in India itself, and he would have saved himself the surprise which he expresses at Mr. Smith being startled when he (Mr. Smith) was told that taxation was lighter in Native States than in British India. As a matter of fact, there are some Native States in which the revenue per head is lighter

than in British India. Whether that is a desirable state of affairs or not is another question; but when he twits Mr. Smith he should have ascertained whether what Mr. Smith was told was at all correct or not. There are some of the Native States where the gross revenue is very nearly as low as or even less than 6s, per head: Hyderabad, 6s. 4d.; Patiala, 6s. 4d.; Travancore, 5s. 8d.; Kolhapur, 5s. 6d.; Mysore, 4s. 10d.; Dungapore, 2s.; Marwar, 4s. 10d.; Serohi, 2s. 3d.; Jeypore, 4s. 3d.; Banswara, 3s. 8d.; and Kishengarh, 4s. 10d. Travancore is known as a well-governed country. £15,000 of its revenue is interest on British Indian Government securities, and it holds a balance in hand in Government securities and otherwise of £564,000—equal to nearly eleven months' revenue. Jeypore has the reputation of being a well-governed State. There are similarly even some foreign countries cutside India which are as " cheaply governed " as British India: United States of Columbia, 5s. 10d. Republic of Bolivia, 5s. 11d.

Sir Grant Duff refers to the absorption of gold and ailver and to hearding. What are the facts about British India? In my "Poverty of India" I have treated the subject at some length. The total amount (after deducting the exports from imports) retained by India during a period of eighty-four years (1801 to 1884), including the exceptionally large imports during the American war, is £455,761,385. This is for all India. The population at present is 254,000,000. I may take the average of eighty-four years roughly—say 200,000,000. This gives 45s. 6d. per head for the whole eighty-four years, or 6½d. per head per annum. Even if I took the average population as 180,000,000, the amount per head for the eighty-four years would be 50s. or 7d. per head per annum. Of

the United Kingdom I cannot get returns before 1858. The total amount of treasure retained by the United Kingdom (after deducting export from imports) is, for twenty-seven years from 1858 to 1884, £86,194,937. Taking an average of 31,000,000 of population for twenty-seven years, the amount retained for these twenty-seven years is 55s. 7d. per head, or very nearly 2s. 1d. per head per annum; while in India for more than three times the same period the amount is only 45s. 6d. per head, or 6½d. per head per annum. France has retained from 1861 to 1880 (Mulhall's Dictionary) £208,000,000; and taking the population—say 37,000,000—that gives 112s. per head in twenty years, 5s. 7d. per head per annum.

Sir Grant Duff ought to consider that the large amount of bullion is to be distributed over a vast country and a vast population, nearly equal to five-sixths of the population of the whole of Europe; and when the whole population is considered, what a wretched amount is this of gold and silver-viz., 6 ad. per head per annum-received for all possible wants! India does not produce any gold or eilver. To compare it with Europe-Europe retained in ten years, 1871-1880 (Mulhall, "Progress of the World," 1880), £327,000,000 for an average population of about 300,000,000 or 21s. 10d. per head, or 2s. 2d. per head per India during the same ten years retained £65,774,252 for an average population of, say, 245,000,000: so that the whole amount retained for the ten years is about 5s. 4d., or only 61d. per head per annum, against 21s. 10d. and 2s. 2d. respectively of Europe. This means that India retained only one-fourth of what Europe retained per head per annum during these ten years. It must be further remembered that there is no such vast system of cheques, clearing-houses, etc., in India, as plays

so important a part in England and other countries of Europe. Wretched as the provision of 63d, per head per annum is for all wants-political, social, commercial, etc.there is something far worse behind for British India. All the gold and silver that I have shown above as retained by India is not for British India only, but for the Native States, the frontier territories, and the European population; and then the remainder is for the Native population of British India. We must have official information about these four divisions before we can form a correct estimate of what British India retains. The Native States, as I have said before, have no foreign drain except the small amount of tribute of about £700,000. Some frontier territories receive something instead of paying any tribute. These States therefore receive back for the exports of their merchandise, and for the ordinary trade profits on such exports, full returns in imports of merchandise and treasure, and this treasure taken away by the Native States and frontier territories forms not a small portion of what is imported into India. It must also be considered how much metal is necessary every year for waste of coin and metal, and for the wants of circulating currency. When Government can give us all such information, it will be found that precious little remains for British India beyond what it is compelled to import for its absolute wants. I hope England does not mean to say that Englishmen or Englishwomen may sport as much as they like in ornaments or personal trinkets or jewellery; but that the wretch of a Native of British India, their fellow-subject has no business or right to put a few shillings' worth of trinkets on his wife or daughter's person; or that Natives must simply live the lives of brutes, subsist on their "scanty subsistonce," and thank their stars that they have that much.

I will now try to give some indication of what bullion British India actually retains. Mr. Harrison gave his evidence before the Parliamentary Committee of 1871-74 that about £1,000,000 of fresh coinage was more than sufficient to supply the waste of coin or metal. Is it too much to assume that in the very widespread and minute distribution, over a vaste surface and a vast population, of small trinkets or ornaments of silver, and their rough use, another million may be required to supply waste and loss? If only a penny worth per head per annum be so wanted, it would make a million sterling. Next, how much goes to the Native States and the frontier territories? Here are a few significant official figures as an indication: The "Report of the external land trade and railway-borne trade of the Bombay Presidency for 1884-85" (p. 2), says of Rajputana and Central India-"13. The imports from the external blocks being greater than the exports to them, the balance of trade due by the Presidency to the other provinces amounts to Rs. 12,01,05,912, as appears from the above table and the following." I take the Native States from the table referred to.

Excess of Imports in Bombay Presidency.

Fron	ı Rajputana	and Cen	tral India	•••	Ŕs,	5,55,46,753
	Berar	***	***	•••	**	1,48,91,355
#1	Hyderabad	•••	•••	•••	11	8,67,688

Total ... Rs. 7,13,05,796

Or £7,130,579. This means that these Native States have exported so much more merchandise than they have imported. Thereupon the Report remarks thus:—"The greatest balance is in favour of Rajputana and Central India, caused by the import of opium from that block. Next to it is that of the Central Provinces. It is presumed

that these balances are paid back mainly in cash" (the italics are mine). This, then, is the way the treasure goes; and poor British India gets all the abuse-insult added to injury. Its candle burns not only at both ends, but at all parts. The excessive foreign agency eats up in India and drains away out of India a portion of its wretched income, thereby weakening and exhausting it every year drop by drop, though not very perceptibly, and lessening its productive power or capability. It has poor capital, and cannot increase it much. Foreign capital does nearly all the work, and carries away all the profit. Foreign capitalists from Europe and from Native States make profits from the resources of British India, and take away those profits to their own countries. The share that the mass of the Natives of British India have is to drudge and slave on scanty subsistence for these foreign capitalists; not as slaves in America did, on the rescurces of the country and land belonging to the masters themselves, but on the resources of their own country, for the benefit of the foreign capitalists. I may illustrate this a little. Bombay is considered a wealthy place, and has a large capital circulating in it, to carry on all its wants as a great port. Whose capital is this? Mostly that of foreigners. The capital of the Euro-. pean exchange banks and European merchants is mostly foreign and most of the Native capital is also foreign-i.e., that of the Native bankers and merchants from the Native States. Nearly £6,000,000 of the capital working in Bombay belongs to Native bankers from the Native States. Besidee, a large portion of the wealthy merchants, though more or less settled in Bombay, are from Native States. Of course, I do not mean to say anything against these capitalists from Europe or Native States. They are quite

free and welcome to come and do what they can. They do some good. But what I mean is, that British India cannot and does not make any capital, and must and does lose the profit of its resources to others. If British India were left to its own free development it would be quite able to supply all its own wants, would not remain handicapped, and would have a free field in competition with the foreign capitalists, with benefit to all concerned. The official admission of the amount of the drain goes as far as £20,000,000 per annum: but really it will be found to be much larger (excluding interest on railway and public works loans):-add to this drain out of the country what is eaten and enjoyed in the country itself by others than the Natives of the country, to the deprivation by so much of these Natives, and some idea. can be formed of the actual and continuous depletion. Now, take only £20,000,000 per annum to be the extent of the drain, or even £10,000,000 per annum; this amount, for the last thirty years only, would have sufficed to build all the present and great many more railways and other public works. There is another way in which I may illustrate the burning of the candle at all parts. First of all, British India's own wealth is carried away out of it, and then that wealth is brought back to it in the shape of loans, and for these loans British India must find so much more for interest; the whole thing moving in a most vicious and provoking circle. Will nothing but a catastrophe cure this? Even of the railway, etc., loans the people do not derive the full benefit. I cannot go into details about this here. I refer to my correspondence with the Secretary of State for India.* Nor can I go here into the calculations about

[•] Supra, pp. 193-196.

the drain. I can only refer to my papers on "The Poverty of India" and "Condition of India." Let Sir Grant Duff kindly show me where I am wrong in those papers, and I shall be thankful; or he will see that no country in the world, not even England excepted, can stand such a drain without destruction. Even in those days when the drain was understood to be only £3,000,000 per annum, Mr. Montgomery Martin wrote in these significant and distressing words?:—

"The annual drain of £3,000,000 on British India has amounted in thirty years, at 12 per cent. (the usual Indian rate) compound interest, to the enormous sum of £723,900,000 sterling.........So constant and accumulating a drain, even in England, would soon impoverish her. How severs, then, must be its effects on India, where the wage of a labourer is from twopence to threepence a day! Were the hundred millions of British subjects in India converted into a consuming population, what a market would be presented for British capital, skill, and industry!"

What, then, must be the condition now, when the drain is getting perhaps ten times larger, and a large amount besides is eaten up in the courtry itself by others than the people? Even an ocean would be dried up if a portion of its evaporation did not always return to it as rain or river. If interest were added to the drain, what an enormous loss would it be!

In the darkness of the past we see now a ray of light and hope when the highest Indian authority begins to perceive not only the material disaster, but even the serious "political danger" from the present state of affairs. I only hope and pray that Britain will see matters mended before disaster comes. Instead of shutting his eyes like an ostrich, as some persons do, the Secretary of State for India only last year, in his despatch of 26th January, 1886, to the

Supra. pp. 33, 196-199.

^{† &}quot; Eastern India, 1838," vol. i, p. xii.

Treasury, makes this remarkable admission about the consequences of the present "character of the government," of the foreign rule of Britain over India:—

"The position of India in relation to taxation and the cources of the public revenues is very peculiar, not merely from the habits of the people and their strong aversion to change, which is more specially exhibited to new forms of taxation, but likewise from the character of the Government, which is in the hands of foreigners, who hold all the principal administrative offices, and form so large a part of the Army. The impatience of new taxation, which would have to be borne wholly as a consequence of the foreign rule imposed on the country, and virtually to meet additions to charges arising outside of the country, would constitute a political dauger the real magnitude of which, it is to be feared, is not at all appreciated by persons who have no knowledge of or concern in the government of India, but which those responsible for that government have long regarded as of the most serious order." [The italics are mine.]

This gives some hope. If, after the faithul adoption of the policy of 1833 and 1858, our material condition does not improve, and all the fears expressed in the above extract do not vanish, the fault will not be Britain's, and she will at least be relieved from the charge of dishonour to her word. But I have not the shadow of a doubt, as the statesmen of 1833 and the proclamation of 1858 had no doubt, that the result will be a blessing both to England and India.

A second ray of hope is this. Many Englishmen in England are taking active interest in the matter, Mr. Bright, Mr. Fawcett, Sir C. Trevelyan, and others have done good in the past. Others are earnestly working now—Mr. Slagg, Mr. Wilson, Mr. Digby, Mr. S. Smith, Mr. Hyndman, and several others. A further ray of hope is in an increasing number of members of Parliament interesting themselves in Indian matters, such as Dr. Hunter, Mr. S. Smith, Dr. Clark, Mr. Cremer, Sir J. Phear, Sir

W. Plowden, and many others; and we cannot but feel thankful to all who have taken and are taking interest in our lot. All unfortunately, however, labour under the disadvantage of want of full information from Government, and the difficulty of realising the feelings and views of the Natives. But still they have done much good. I must also admit here that some Anglo-Indians begin to realise the position. We owe much to men like Sir W. Wedderburn, Sir G. Birdwood, Major Bell, Mr. Ilbert, Mr. Cotton, and others of that stamp, for their active sympathy with us. Mr. Bright hit the blot as far back as 1853 in his speech of the 3rd of January: "I must say that it is my belief that if a country be found possessing a most fertile soil and capable of bearing every variety of production, and that notwithstanding the people are in a state of extreme destitution and suffering, the chances are that there is some fundamental error in the government of the country." It is not necessary to go far to seek for this fundamental error. It is the perversion of the policy of 1833, which in the more widened and complete form of 1858 is virtually still a dead letter.

Much is said about poor Natives wasting money in marriages, etc. I hope it is not meant that these poor wretches have no right to any social privileges or enjoyments, and that their business is only to live and die like brutes. But the fact of the matter is, that this is one of those fallacies that die hard. Let us see what truth the Deccan Riots Commission brings to light. The Report of that Commission says (page 19, par. 54): "The results of the Commission's enquiries show that undue prominence has been given to the expenditure on marriage and other festivals as a cause of the ryots' indebtedness. The expenditure on such occasions may undoubtedly be called

extravagant when compared with the ryots' means; but the occasions occur seldom, and probably in a course of years the total sum spent this way by any ryot is not larger than a man in his position is justified in spending on social and domestic pleasures." (The italics are mine.) And what is the amount the poor ryot spends on the marriage of his son! Rs. 50 to 75 (£5 to £7 10s.) say the Commissioners.

Sir Grant Duff says: "We have stopped war, we are stopping famine. How are the ever-increasing multitudes to be fed ?" Is not Sir Grant Duff a little hasty in saying. "We are stopping famine." What you are doing is to starve the living to save the dying. Make the people themselves able to meet famine without misery and deaths. and then claim credit that you are stopping famine. However, the true answer to the question, " How are the everincreasing multitudes to be fed?" is a very simple one, if gentlemen like Sir Grant Duff will ever have the patience to study the subject. The statesmen of 1833 and of 1858 have in the clearest and most emphatic way answered this question. They knew and said clearly upon what the welfare and well-being of the hundreds of millions depended. They laid down unequivocally what would make British India not only able to feed the increasing multitudes, but prosperous and the best customer of England; and Mr. Grant Duff's following kind question of 1871 will be fully answered: "But what are we to say about the state of India? How many generations must pass away before that country has arrived at even the comparative wealth of this (England)?" This benevolent desire of Mr. Grant Duff would be accomplished in no long time. This question of population, of "the ever-increasing multitudes."

requires further examination. Macaulay, in his review of Southey's "Colloquies on Society," says :--

"When this island was thinly peopled, it was barbarous; there was little capital, and that little was insecure. It is now the richest and the most highly civilised spot in the world, but the population is dense. . . . But when we compare our own condition with that of our ancestors, we think it clear that the advantages arising from the progress of civilisation have far more than counterbalanced the disadvantages arising from the progress of population. While our numbers have increased tenfold our wealth has increased hundredfold, If we were to prophesy that in the year 1930 a population of fifty millions, better fed, clad, and lodged than the English of our time, will cover these islands,
. . . many people would think us insane. We prophesy nothing; but this we say, if any person had told the Parliament which met in perplexity and terror after the crash in 1720, that in 1830, the wealth of England would surpass all their wildest dreams, . . . that for one man of ten thousand pounds then living there would be five men of fifty thousand pounds, our ancestors would have given as much credit to the prediction as they gave to 'Gulliver's Travels.'"

I claim no prophecy, but the statesmen of 1833 have prophesied, and the Proclamation of 1858 has prophesied. Do what they have said, and their prophecies shall be fulfilled.

Now, let us see a few more facts. Because a country increases in population it does not necessarily follow that it must become poorer; nor because a country is densely populated that therefore it must be poor. Says Macaulay: "England is a hundredfold more wealthy while it is tenfold denser." The following figures speak for themselves:—

Countries.	In	habitants per so about 1880.	Income per inhabitant (Mulhall's Dictionary of Statistics, 1886).		
Belgium	***	487		£22·1	
England	•••	478 (1886)	•••	41 (1882)	
Holland	•••	315		26	
Italy		257	•••	12	
British India		229	•••	2	
Germany	***	217		18.7	
Austria	•••	191	•••	16.3	
France	•••	184		25.7	

Countries.	Inhabii about		£ 1		Income per inhabitant (Mulhall's Dictionary of Statistics, 1886).
Switzerland		184			16
Ireland	•••	153	(1886)		16 (1882)
Denmark	•••	132	` ′		23.2
Scotland	•••	128	(1886)	•••	32 (1882)
Portugal		126	` ′	•••	13.6
Turkey		120	(Mulhall))	4 (Sir E. Baring)
Spain	•••	85	•	•••	13.8
Greece		69			11:8
Russia in Europe		41		•••	9.9
Sweden	•••	27	t		16.2
Norway	***	15	•	•••	10 4
mı 1 .	т.		4 Th 1.1	1 7	1: 2- Dament (449)

The densest Province of British India is Bengal (443). Thus, here are countries denser and thinner than British India, but every one of them has a far better income than British India, Belgium, denser than the densest Presidency of British India, is eleven times more wealthy; England, as dense, is twenty times more wealthy. Here are some very thinly populated countries: Mexico, 13 per square mile; Venezuela, 4.7; Chilli, 8.8; Peru, 18.6; Argentine Republic, 2.6; Uruguay, 7.8; and several others. Are they therefore so much richer than England or Belgium? Here is Ireland, at your door. About its people the Duke of Argyll only a few weeks ago (22nd of April last), in the House of Lords, said : "Do not tell me that the Irish labourer is incapable of labour, or energy, or exertion. Place him in favourable circumstances, and there is no better workman than the Irishman. I have myself employed large gangs of Irishmen, and I never saw any navvies work better: and besides that, they were kind and courteous men." The population of Ireland is less than one-third as dense as that of England; and yet how is it that the income of England is £41 and that of Ireland only £16 per inhabitant, and that the mass of the people do not enjoy the benefit of even that much income, and are admittedly wretchedly poor?

British India's resources are officially admitted to be enormous, and with an industrious and law-abiding people, as Sir George Birdwood testifies, it will be quite able to produce a large income, become as rich as any other country and easily provide for an increasing population and increasing taxation, if left free scope.

• Lastly, a word about the educated classes, upon whose devoted heads Sir Grant Duff has poured down all his vials of wrath. Here are some fine amenities of an English gentleman of high position: "Professional malcontents; busy, pushing talkers; ingeniously wrong; the pert scribblers of the Native Press; the intriguers; pushing pettifoggers, chatterboxes; disaffected cliques; the crassa ignorantia; little coteries of intriguers; silly and dishonest talk of Isdian grumblers; politicising sophists threaten to be a perfect curse to India," etc.

I leave these flowers of rhetoric alone. Not satisfied even with this much, he has forgotten himself altogether, and groundlessly charged the educated classes—"who do their utmost to excite hostility against the British Government," "who do their utmost to excite factitious disloyalty." I repel this charge with only two short extracts. I need not waste many words.

The following, from the highest authority, is ample, clear, and conclusive. The Government of India, in their despatch of the 8th of June, 1880, to the Secretary of State for India, bear this emphatic testimony: "To the minds of at least the educated among the people of India—and the number is rapidly increasing—any idea of the subversion of British power is abhorrent, from the consciousness that it must result in the vildest anarchy and confusion." Secondly, on the auspicious day of the Jubilee

demonstration the Viceroy of India, in his Jubilee speech, says:—

"Wide and broad indeed are the new fields in which the Government of India is called upon to labour—but no longer, as of aforetime, need it labour alone. Within the period we are reviewing, education has done its work, and we are surrounded on all sides by Native gentlemen of great attainments and intelligence, from whose hearty, loyal and honest co-operation we may hope to derive the greatest benefit. In fact, to an administration so peculiarly situated as ours their advice, assistance, and solidarity are essential to the successful exercise of its functions. Nor do I regard with any other feelings than those of approval and good-will their natural ambition to be more extensively associated with their English rulers in the administration of their own domestic affairs."

Look upon this picture and upon that!

Two Indian National Congresses have been held during the past two years—the second great one, at Calcutta, having 430 delegates present from all parts of India, and of all classes of the people; and what is it that both these Congresses have asked? It is virtually and simply the "conscientious fulfilment" of the pledges of 1833 and 1858. They are the pivot upon which all Indian problems turn. If India is to be retained to Britain, it will be by men who insist upon being just, and upon the righteous fulfilment of the proclamation of 1858. Any one can judge of this from the kind of ovations given to Lord Ripon and Sir W. Wedderburn on their retirement.

Here, again, our gracious Empress in the year of her auspicious Jubilee once more proclaims to the world and assures us, in her response to the Bombay Jubilee Address last June, "It had always been, and will always be, her earnest desire to maintain unswervingly the principles laid down in the proclamation published on her assumption of the direct control of the government of India." We asknown more.

EXPENSES OF THE ABYSSINIAN WAR.

MY LORD AND GENTLEMEN, -- In our views on Indian matters we shall sometimes agree and sometimes differ with the Indian Government. When we agree, we shall be only too glad to express our views accordingly. When we differ. either from looking at the subject from a different point of view, or from more or less information, we shall respectfully lay before the Government our views. In doing so, it cannot be supposed that our object is to set up an opposition party. On the contrary, our object is co-operation. as the aims both of the Government and of ourselves are the same, viz. the good government and welfare of India. I believe that Government would rather be glad than otherwise to know our independent views, provided we always confine ourselves to a dispassionate and careful examination of their acts, and lay our reasons of difference before them in a becoming manner, especially making "measures, not men-arguments, not abuse," our rule of conduct. I hope. therefore, I shall not be misunderstood for laying before you my views, and you for expressing yours on the subject of this paper.

I beg to submit for your consideration that the decision of the Cabinet not to pay the ordinary pay of the Indian troops employed in the Abyasinian expedition is an injustice to India, and an injury to the prestige of England; that the decision is not only unfair in principle, but

^{• (}Read before an Afternoon Meeting of the East India Association, London, Priday, November 29th, 1867. Lord William Hay, Ll.P., in the Chair.)

contrary to the reasonable practice of former days. I first examine whether there are any past events or precedents which can guide us to a just decision.

When the English Government was only one of many independent Indian Powers, and when temporary assistance like the present was needed from each other, on what principles was such assistance given and taken? I find that in these cases the English had acted on the fair and equitable principle that the party receiving assistance should pay the whole charge of the troops during the period of assistance. I shall not take up your time with many extracts, I shall give only three or four short ones. In the treaty with Hyder Alli, 1769, it is provided (Article 2)—

"That in case either of the contracting parties shall be attacked, they shall, from their respective countries, mutually assist each other to drive the enemy out. The pay of such assistance of troops from one party to another to be after the following rates, viz. to every soldier and horseman fifteen rupees per month, and every sepoy seven and a half rupees per month. The pay of the sirdars and commandants to be as it shall be agreed on at the time."

The treaty of 1770 contains similar stipulations, which are again confirmed in the treaty of 1792.

In the treaty of alliance with Bazalut Jung, 1779, it is provided (Article 4)-

"If the Nawab Shujah-ool-Moolk's territories be invaded by an enemy, we shall, besides the troops that are stationed with him, send such a sufficient force as we can spare to his assistance. The ordinary and extraordinary expenses of such troops, whatever they may amount to, shall be paid agreeably to the Company's established customs by the Nawab, who will sign the accounts."

Again, in the treaty with the Nizam, 1790 (Article 4)-

"If the Right Honourable the Governor-General should require a body of cavalry to join the English forces, the Nawab Asuph Jah and Pundit Prudhan shall furnish to the number of 10,000, to

Aitchison's Treaties, vol. v., p. 128.

[†] Aitchison's Treaties, vol. v., p. 36.

march in one month, &c. The pay of the said cavalry to be defrayed monthly by the Hon. Company at the rate and on conditions hereafter to be settled."*

In the "Articles explanatory of the 3rd Article of the Treaty of Mysore, concluded in 1799," Article 3 provides—

"If it should at any time be found expedient to augment the cavalry of Mysore beyond the number of (4,000) four thousand, on intimation to that effect from the British Government, His Highess the Rajah shall use his utmost endeavours for that purpose; but the whole expense of such augmentation, and of the maintenance of the additional numbers at the rate of (8) eight star pagodas for each effective man and horse while within the territory of Mysore, and of an additional sum or batta at the rate of (4) four star pagodas a month after the expiration of one month from the period of their passing the frontier of Mysore, as described in the 2nd article, shall be defrayed by the Hon. Company."

Now, I sek why this reasonable and just practice should have been subsequently departed from. I hope the standard of fair play of the Crown is not to be inferior to that of the Company. Next, I ask a few questions. Suppose the tables were turned, and England sent some troops for India's assistance, will the English taxpayer and Parliament allow the assistance without charging India with the whole expense?-or rather, has the British Government ever given any assistance to the British Indian Government. or the British Indian Government to any native Power, of the sort without making the receiver of the assistance pay fully? Suppose some subjects of the Nizam were held in captivity by some Arab chief, and the Nizam, to liberate his subjects and to maintain his honour, deciding to send an expedition to Arabia, requested his allies, the British, to assist him temporarily with troops; would such assistance be given without charging the Nizam with the pay of the troops, as well as any extra expenses? If not, then on what grounds of equity or fair play should England now get the Indian troops without being charged for their

[•] Ibid., p. 44.

[†] Ibid. p. 168.

pay? Why, instead of the British Government having ever given any assistance of the kind, it has a few accounts to settle with its conscience for having made India pay even more than what could be fairly due from it.

It is said that India will lose nothing. What is it that the troops are kept in India for? Whatever that is, that India loses. If it is nothing, then the army should be reduced by so much. If it is something, then India is not losing nothing. If the troops are required for security, then it is unfair that India should be deprived of that security, and yet be made to pay for it. The question resolves itself into this: Should the pay of the troops be allowed to be a saving to India or to England? For, if India is made to pay, it is so much a saving to England, and if England pays, India saves so much. Now, whether on the grounds of equity, or of need, or of ability, certainly India has the claim to be allowed to save what it can. England has always charged for everything she has given on similar occasions, so she should not now shrink from paying when it is her turn to do so. The need of India to save whatever it can, is greater than that of England. Famines, intellectual and physical, are its crying evils, and the weight of a large army keeps some of its urgent wants in abeyance. Lastly, England is the richest of the two, and well able to pay for what it receives. The very circumstance that England is able to avail herself of a readymade army, a very convenient base of operations, and the services of Indian officials and of experienced Indian officers, is in itself a great advantage to the English taxpayer.

It is urged, that because the prestige of England is important, therefore India must contribute. But what prestige is it that England has and needs to maintain? Is

it that England is poor in means and unfair in dealing, or that her resources are as great as her arm is strong, and that her sense of justice is above suspicion? Here England sends her envoys to Abyssinia, and finds in its ruler a troublesome customer. Her honour is insulted, and her representative is kept in captivity. The prestige which England has to maintain under such circumstances is to show that she is herself able to hold her own, from her own resources; not that she is so poor or unfair that she is unable or unwilling to pay for the very troops which are employed in vindicating her honour, and liberating her own representative, and helps herself from the Indian purse. Can the world be blamed if they consider it strange that the England which is ready to spend some four millions or more for her bonour, should shrink to pay a few hundred thousands?

However, even the question of the few hundred thousand pounds is not of so much importance. A far more important question, of the principles of the financial relations between the two countries, is involved in the present course of the Cabinet: Who is the guardian of the Indian purse? and are the British Government and Parliament absolute masters and disposers of it, or is it a trust in their hands to be discharged on some equitable principles? I should think that in the present condition of the political relations of England and India, the Indian Secretary ought to be its natural guardian; that he ought, when English and Indian relations are to be adjusted, to act as if he were an independent Power, representing Indian interests, and negotiate with the Foreign Secretary on terms fair and equitable to both parties. If this position of the Indian Secretary is faithfully acted upon, India will have the satisfaction to know

that they have some one here to protect them from any unjust treatment Parliament being the ultimate Court of Appeal. The Indian Secretary, instead of offering to make a present to the English taxpayer from the Indian revenue, ought to protect it from any encroachment. India is unable to protect itself, and as the British Government and Parliament hold its purse in trust, it is the more necessary for them that they should not be generous to themselves with others' trust-money, but, on the contrary, adopt the only proper course of treating the trust with the strictest justice and care, especially in the relations with themselves.

Clause 55 of the Indian Government Act of 1858, runs thus:--

"Except for preventing or 'repelling actual invasion of Her Majesty's Indian possessions, or under sudden and urgent necessity, the Revenues of India shall not, without the consent of both Houses of Parliament, be applicable to defray the expenses of any military operation carried on beyond the external frontiers of such possessions by Her Majesty's forces charged upon such revenues."

The evident object of this clause, I submit, is to prevent the application of Indian revenues except for Indian purposes, or otherwise the clause means nothing. If Indian revenues can be applied for the payment of troops beyond the Indian frontiers, then the clause becomes simply useless, for England then can use Indian troops under any circumstances, as the two grounds—viz. of Indian purposes, and of loan to England for her own wars—will embrace all cases.

I have now laid before you as briefly as possible my reasons why England should pay the *entire* expense of the Expedition, under any consideration, whether of justice and fair play or prestige, with the hope of eliciting an impartial discussion from you. Upon the necessity of the expedition, and when and how Englishmen should vindicate their honour, it is not for me to tell them. Among the nations most able to uphold their honour, the English have never held a second place. Their whole history, and their instinctive love of liberty and honour, are enough to satisfy the most sceptical that England is well able to take care of herself, and to know what her honour is and how to uphold it.

When I wrote this paper I could not know the reasons of the Government: therefore I must crave your indulgence while, in continuation of the paper. I make a few remarks on the debate of last night. But, in making those remarks, it is far from my intention to make any personal reflections on any speaker : Parliament has accepted the reasons, and decided upon the resolution; conse-. quently any remarks I may make apply as much to Parliament itself as to any of the individual speakers. To make my remarks as few as possible, I shall just read a few extracts frome some of the speeches of last night, which give nearly the pith of the whole argument, and give my views upon them. Sir S. Northcote said-" From the first moment that this expedition was thought about, early in the month of April last year, in reply to communications addressed to the Secretary of State in Council, we stated that we were willing to place the resources of India at the disposal of the Home Government, but must stipulate that, as the matter was one in which Indian interests were not concerned, India should not bear any portion of the charge. At that time it was clearly understood, though we did not put that into the despatch to the Treasury. that though we were determined to resist any attempt

to charge the revenues of India with any new burthen, we did not, to use a homely expression, want to make money by the transaction." This amounts to saying that India must pay under all circumstances. If Indian interests were concerned, then, of course, India must pay also; and if Indian interests were not concerned, then also India must pay for the troops in order "not to make money." Can this be considered right? Sir Stafford Northcote says-"It is said, and we have said it ourselves, that India has no interest in this matter. That is perfectly true if by 'interest' you mean material interest. But there are principles which should be upheld in the interest of both countries, even at the cost of blood and treasure, and one of them is this -- that envoys of the Sovereign of this country should be protected by us. That is a leading principle of international law, and we should be untrue, not only to ourselves, but to the civilized world, if we fail to uphold it." If that principle is to be admitted, if the envoys of England are to be protected everywhere at the expense of India, then India could be made to share in the expenses of a European or American war. Also, in other words, if the United States dismissed an English ambassador, and insulted the dignity of the Crown, and if the Crown went to war with America, India must contribute for it: or if the Crown embarked in a European war, India must contribute. This, I trust, would not be allowed by Englishmen as just. Again, the interests of the Colonies are as much, or perhaps more, involved in this principle. What are they contributing to the present expedition ? And would they be always ready to act according to the principle haid down in the extract I have read ? Sir Stafford Northcote has been at great pains to show that

the news about the Abyssinian captives, and the efforts made to release them, is carried to the natives of India, and that in undertaking this expedition the opinion of the people of India about the power and resources of England is most important to be taken into consideration. considered so important that the prestige of England should not suffer in the slightest degree in the estimation of the natives of India, then that is just the reason why Parliament should not have passed the resolution. For, it will be naturally thought that though the English Government admit that the war is for their own purposes, that it is for liberating their own captives, that it is for vindicating England's honour; yet they, while ready to spend five millions, or ten millions if necessary, to protect their country's honour, and to punish its insulters, take from India a little because India cannot help herself. cannot increase the prestige of England in India; it is likely to have just the contrary effect, not only among the natives of India, but perhaps among all Asiatics.

Let us now consider the precedents brought forward by Government for what they propose to do now. We have the Persian war and the Chinese war referred to. There is one important difference between the precedents I have brought before you and those of the Government. In the precedents I have referred to there were two parties, both able to take care of themselves, who negotiated with each other, and who were able to strike the right balance between them; whereas in the case of Government precedents the holder of the purse was also its disposer, without any voice from the owner, and therefore the transactions themselves required examination. Even granting, for argument's sake, that former transactions were in just proportions, they are not at all applicable to the present

expedition. The Persian war and the Chinese war do not bear analogy to this. In the Chinese and Persian wars we can, at least, trace some Indian concern-with the former commercial, with the latter political, the alleged necessity of arresting Russian progress; but Government itself acknowledges that, in the present expedition, Indian interests are not concerned. All these present complications have arisen without the India Office or the natives of India having anything to do with the matter. It is entirely the Foreign Office affair. Even at present it is the Foreign Secretary who takes the whole brunt of the battle in Parliament. and the only way in which India is brought forward is that it is the best agency through which the Foreign Secretary can accomplish his object of carrying on the war in the cheapest and most expeditious way possible. Sir Stafford Northcote says-" All that India undertakes to do is to lend her troops, without charge, as long as she can spare them. That is the principle upon which we have proceeded, and which, I contend, is a just and liberal one. I say it is just, because India really loses nothing whatever in point of money; she only continues to pay that which, if the expedition had not been ordered, she would still pay; and it is liberal, because India places at the disposal of Her Majesty forces which the Imperial Government could not obtain without paying for them." If to be prevented from saving when saving can be made, is not losing, then I do not know what losing means. Again, if India loses nothing, then how can there be any liberality? I have no doubt if England ever needed aid or liberality, India, from very gratitude to England for the position in which it now stands, ought, and would, strain every nerve to give it. But is the present such a case? The world naturally does not like trustees to be liberal to themselves. It is a matter of

regret more on account of England herself, that she should present the spectacle of, on the one hand, being able and ready to spend any number of millions for her honour, and on the other of taking a few hundred thousand pounds from India for the pay of the very troops to be employed in vindicating that honour. However, had Government stopped at the argument of liberality, or sense of gratitude, or friendly feeling towards England, there would not have been much to complain of, and the natives, perhaps, would have been glad to have been looked upon as friendly; but by citing precedents for justification, and arguing for rights, the question assumes a different aspect, and occasions the present discussion. Then the Government has taken very great pains to prove that after all what India has to pay is very little, and that if all the former precedents were followed, it would have had to pay more. suppose it is a small affair, then it is a greater pity that they should have made so much fuss about it, and not paid this little themselves, and should not have taken this opportunity to show that they are as just as they are strong and rich. Sir Henry Rawlinson says-"Our system of Government in India was essentially for the maintenance of our power, and when we spoke of Indian interests we meant our own interest as the ruling power of India." If that is the case, and that is the guiding principle of the Government, then against such argument of the rights of might there can be no discussion. But I believe the English Government to be guided by the principles of justice and truth and not of the rights of might. Sir Henry Rawlinson says-"The Royal Navy now fulfilled gratuitously all the duties connected with the defence of India, that were formerly discharged by the Indian navy-a serwice which drew heavily upon the Imperial Exchequer;

and in many instances the Home Government had sent out, at its own expense, expeditions of which the objects more nearly related to India than to the rest of the British Empire." I have no right to question the truth of that statement. I only say if it be true, and as it is also intimated by Mr. Gladstone, that India is better off in its financial relations with England, it is indeed a great pity that the natives of India should be allowed to remain under a false impression. If it be true that England has, on occasions, performed services for India to which India has not contributed, it is in the first place necessary, for the sake of justice to both parties, that the financial relations between the two countries in respect of those services should be fairly examined and adjusted; and next, if India has been so benefited as alleged by England, it is proper and just that India should know and feel that benefit, and knowing it be grateful for it. At present India is under the impression that England, having the purse, appropriates it at its own pleasure, and that unjust burthens have been placed upon her. As Sir Henry Rawlinson has not given us any instance of what he refers to, we are left in the dark; but against his statement there is one of another authority, equally, if not more important, Lord Cranbourne says-" At all events the special injustice of the course now about to be pursued consists in this-that when we employ English troops in India they are paid for out of the Indian revenues from the moment they land in that country; but when we employ Indian troops on English duty, we say that India must pay for them." I do not. of course, impute to Sir Henry Rawlinson, who has only lately given a signal instance of his sense of justice to India. that he would state anything that he did not thoroughly believe. I wish he had given the cases, for it is very

desirable, for the sake of both countries, that the real state of the case, in regard to this matter, should be known. It is also necessary to know how far the Colonies, which also benefit by the Royal Navy, contribute to it. Then there is some stress laid upon this, that India benefits by this expedition; that by the expedition going from India, stores are brought there, and money is poured into the country; but nobody can seriously urge that, therefore, India must contribute to the expedition. I do not suppose that cotton merchants, or ship-owners, paid anything towards the American war because they benefited largely by its occurrence. The fact is, that India is resorted to on this occasion in order that the interests of the English taxpayer may be served in the best possible manner. Lord Stanley distinctly . stated that he referred to the Indian Secretary, and to the Indian authorities, in order to carry out the expedition in the most successful way. He found in India a ready machinery for carrying out the expedition. That induced the English Government to make India the basis of operations. In concluding my remarks I once more suggest that the discussion should be confined to the one point which I have brought before you, and I hope that we shall follow the advice of our noble Chairman, and not be guilty of any personalities, but shall confine ourselves entirely to the arguments of the case. It is my sincere conviction that Lord Stanley or Sir Stafford Northcote would never allow any injustice intentionally. All their acts would at once refute any contrary assumption. I take this opportunity of thanking Mr. Fawcett and the other twenty-two mem-, bers, and the English press, for their advocacy of justice to India.

XI.

MYSORE.*

I trust the meeting will make some allowance for the imperfections of this paper, hurriedly prepared within two days; and by their own temperate, disinterested, and judicious discussion, make up its deficiencies.

It is discovered by Lord W. Hay that Lord Wellesley drew his pen through the words "heirs and successors," and it is therefore argued that Lord Wellesley therefore intended the subsidiary treaty to be only a personal one. The question then naturally arises, whether any alterations made in drafts can affect the actual compact ultimately agreed upon? Next, had Lord Wellesley any right to depart from the stipulations of the partition treaty, which is the sole authority for the subsidiary treaty? The very draft of the subsidiary treaty goes to show that the drawer of the treaty naturally felt that the subsidiary treaty was to be an hereditary treaty. If we accept the argument now based upon the new discovery in the British Museum, we are driven to the necessity of casting a reflection upon the character of Lord Wellesley. For leaving saids, for the present, the consideration and proper interpretation of the words "unnecessary and dangerous," this discovery, as it is proposed to be interpreted, would mean that a British statesman, knowingly and intentionally, just left in words enough to lull any suspicion, and left out words enough for some private ulterior motives. Here are the words left in:

 ⁽Read before a Meeting of the East India Association, London, Friday, July 5th, 1867. Sir James Fergusson, Bart., M. P., in the Chair).

"A treaty of perpetual* friendship and alliance"—and, "as long as the sun and moon shall endure; " just sufficient to lull any suspicion, and yet, behind the back of the other contracting party, "heirs" and such words are omitted, in order that when the opportunity came, advantage might be taken of the omission. I sincerely trust that the present English statesmen are not going to hold out this as an edifying and statesmanlike course of conduct to be learnt by the natives from their enlightened English teachers. No. I do hope that a more reasonable and satisfactory explanation may be given of the discovery which Lord William Hay has brought to light. I shall revert to this point again further on. It is urged that the words "as long as the sun and moon shall endure" are only conventional terms; and in support of this, the following sentence is auoted from Sir T. Munroe:-"The terms employed in such documents, 'for ever,' 'from generation to generation,' or in Hindu grants, 'while the sun and moon endure,' are mere forms of expression, and are never supposed, either by the donor or the receiver, to convey the durability which they imply, or any beyond the will of the sovereign." On what authority or grounds this proposition is laid down I cannot say. If it means anything, it means that there are no such documents as were really intended to mean perpetuity by the donor and receiver. According to this proposition the British Government can make one clean swoop of all property possessed under any grants whatever; for even the words "generation to generation," and "for ever," are not safe from its grasp. Then again, were there ever perpetual grants made or not under the former rulers? and how could they ever be considered so if words like " for ever " and " from genera-

^{*} The italies in all the extracts are mine.

tion" were meaningless? It is true that high-flown compliments, raising one to the seventh heaven, or becoming one's most humble servant or slave, are mere forms, but to say that words expressing the duration of an engagement mean nothing, is more than I ever knew among the natives. wonder how such duration can or was ever expressed, if not by the words "during life," or "for ever," or "from generation to generation," &c. To me it appears that it is not correct to assume that both the receiver and the donor did not understand the words to mean what they said, but that the Hindu sovereign, being in the very nature of his position a despotic sovereign whose will was law, and above law, and at whose mercy lay, not only any grants, but even any property whatever of his subjects, as well as their lives. did sometimes confiscate by his will such grants, though originally intended to be perpetual. Such arbitrary exercise of power could not, however, make the contract the less binding, but there was no power above that of the will of the sovereign to compel him to abide by his contract; it was simply the power of might over right. But this treaty is not of a Hindu sovereign. It is drafted and made by Englishmen for an English sovereign. Is the English sovereign the same despotic ruler? Is it right for the Englishmen to boast of their superior political condition, in which the sovereign is no less subordinate to law and bound to good faith than the meanest subject, and yet, for a purpose like this, suddenly to sink down to the level of the despotic Hindu rulers? Whatever may have been the conduct of the Hindu rulers in such matters, certainly the English rulers ought to set a better example, especially in a case when they are parties to the words " as long as the sun and moon shall endure," not only in the Mysore treaty alone, but quite pointedly again in another treaty

of 1807, explanatory of the third article of this very subsidiary Mysore treaty: by the words, "these four additional articles, which, like the original treaty of Mysore, shall be binding on the contracting parties as long as the sun and moon shall endure."

Such pointed expression of the duration of the treaty of Mysore, coupled with the words "treaty of perpetual friendship and alliance," at the very heading of the treaty itself must certainly make any English statesman who has the slightest consideration for the honour of his country's word, pause before trying special pleading. I appeal to you as Englishmen to say whether, had such pleas been put forward by a native ruler, the most indignant denunciations would not have been poured out, not only against himself but against the whole Hindu race? How loud and angry would have been the uproar of the virtuous indignation of the upright Englishmen against the innate depravity and treachery of the Hindu race? And yet it is calmly pleaded by English statesmen, that in their language, treaties made by themselves, when it suits the occasion, "perpetual" means "temporary," that the duration of the existence of the sun and moon means only a man's lifetime: and that "treaties" mean "deeds of gift." But, strange to say, as the sun and moon sometimes send a ray through the heaviest cloud, to assure poor mortals of their existence, the sun and moon of this treaty have sent one stray ray through the heaviest cloud. In the despatch of August 31, 1864, from Sir John Lawrence to Sir Charles . Wood, it is said :- " By the favour of the British Government, and in the exercise of its sovereign right, acquired by conquest, the Maharaja was raised from a prison to the government of a large principality, subject to conditions; which, if fulfilled by him, would have been the safeguard

of his authority, and the guarantee of the continuance of a native rule in Mysore." Now, I leave to you, gentlemen, that if this treaty was simply a personal treaty, what is meant by "subject to conditions which if fulfilled by him, would have guaranteed the continuance of a native rule in Mysore?" Are there, then, certain conditions in the treaty guaranteeing the continuance of a native rule in Mysore? Then what becomes of the personal character of the treaty?

Now, revert to the question, whether Lord Wellesley had a bad intention in drawing his pen through certain words. or whether he meant to do something consistent with a faithful performance of his obligations under "the partition treaty." The only explanation I can at present see of Lord Wellesley's proceedings, is this. There is no doubt in my mind that Lord Wellesley did not mean to act in bad faith; that in allowing the words perpetual, and about the sun and moon, to remain, he did mean what he said; but that his object in striking out the word "heir," &c., was to keep to such full control over the native principality as to enable the English Government to oust any particular oppressive sovereign, and put some other in his place, or, in cases of disputed succession, that the English may be able to decide in favour of one or the other without being encountered by the difficulties which the word "heir" might occasion; that the word "unnecessary" in the margin means that as far as permanency of native rule was concerned, the words "perpetual" and "as long as the sun and moon shall endure," are sufficient; and that the word "dangerous" means the strong title which an "heir" may maintain, and thereby lessen the complete English control; and that according to practice a new treaty may be made with every successor, with

such modifications as time and circumstances may require. I venture to offer this explanation for your consideration, leaving alone the question whether any departure from "the partition treaty" was justifiable. I cannot, however, persuade myself that a statesman like Lord Wellesley would be guilty of such a mean act as the present discovery of Lord William Hay is made to imply. I do not stand here as the advocate of either the Raja or the English. I wish only for justice and truth, be it on the one side or the other.

Much has been said about Lord Canning not having sent the adoption sunud to the Raja. Was Lord Canning justified in doing so? Did he do so as a punishment for the Raja's past offences? This is not the case, as the Raja was declared deserving of reward for his thorough loyalty. Two reasons are urged: first, it was because Lord Canning knew that the Raja intended to leave his territories to the English. By admitting this position, Lord Canning admitted the power of the Raja to bequeath; but it was subsequently urged that the treaty itself did not entitle him to any such adoption. Now, I ask, do English words mean one thing in one treaty and another thing in another treaty? If not, I request explanation for the following anomaly.

The treaty of 1805, with the Raja of Travancore, is, word for word, in all its important pertions bearing upon the present issue, the same with the treaty of Mysore. I give these portions in the Appendix.

Now, I trust it is a fair question to sak, why the very same words which in the Travancore treaty entitled the Travancore Baja to the adoption sunud, did not mean the same thing with the Mysore Raja. The parallel, however, does not end here. The Baja of Travancore, like the Raja

of Mysore, also incurred the displeasure of British Government, and the latter were going to assume the internal administration of the country. But the Raja died. Nobody, however, then thought of interpreting the treaty of 1805 as a personal one, and the heir was allowed to succeed. The difference, then, in the cases of the Raja of Mysore and that of Travancore, seems to be that the latter, by his death, made the treaty of 1805 an hereditary one, and the former, by living longer, has rendered, in some mysterious way, a similar treaty a personal one. It is pressed that Sir Stafford Northcote ought not to have reversed the policy and gone against the opinion of three governer-generals and two secretaries of state. Sir Staford can well be left to hold his own. He needs no defence at my poor hands. But I ask: Is it because the others were right that Sir Stafford should not have reversed their acts, or is it meant that even they were wrong, Sir Stafford should have abided by their decision? I know full well what English prestige means in India. In fact, it is the settled opinion of the natives for the English high character, that is your principal charm and spell over them. When once that is broken, half your strength is gone. But it is not by special pleadings, or persisting in a wrong course, that the prestige will be increased. Howsoever vehemently or authoritatively may assertions be made of honest decisions, the natives can think for themselves, and can know where there is real honesty and where there is sham. If Sir Stafford has subverted the decision of fifty governor-generals and as many secretaries, if he has but done what is right, he will have increased your prestige far more than any amount of persistence in a wrong course. I trust the objectors on the ground of authority do not mean to contribute a wasp of an idea to Mr. Buxton's collection.

that "the perpetration of a wrong is a justification for persisting in it." If the objectors mean that the former decision was right and Sir Stafford is wrong on merits, then let them discuss on merits only, instead of holding up the bugbear of high and many authorities.

Again, it must be remembered, that we look for authorities when the subject is exclusively a study for few students; when the materials for ordinary judgment are not sufficiently accessible, and when therefore decisions for action can only be based on authority. the number and positions of authorities are matters of importance; but as in the present case, when the materials are at the command of all who choose to see them, when Sir Stafford Northcote is exactly in the same position as any other individual, to judge for himself, how could mere priority of time give to the others an infallibility? On the contrary, Sir Stafford ought to be, if he make a right use of his opportunities, under a proper sense of responsibility, in a better position to decide rightly, having the views and arguments of his predecessors before him.

There is again the argument of the good of the people of Mysore. I hope I am not dead to a desire for the welfare of any people, and more especially of my own countrymen. The picture of an Englishman holding off the savage ruler from his victim is no doubt a very pretty and gratifying one, but unfortunately there is a little want of truth in it, and a little daub in it. First of all, the Rajah repeatedly offered to allow such arrangements for the welfare of the people as would be satisfactory to the British, and so there is no savage king tearing up his victim. But then, is not in that case the Rajah a mere puppet? How strangely does this exclamation come from persons who pride in their

sovereign being not a despot, but subject to law and order, and guided by wise and able ministers. What constitutional sovereign is not a puppet, if to govern under fixed and well-regulated administration be to be a puppet? Besides, it is a strange reflection upon the British Government that with their control and influence they do not bring up the native princes in the way they should go. Besides there being some untruth in the picture, there is this daub. In the corner of the picture the natives of Shorapore and the assigned districts restored to the Nizam stand surprised at this turn of philanthropy. Now, is it possible for the native to increase his esteem and believe in your sincerity with such inconsistent conduct before them, notwithstanding the most vehement assertions of your desire for the good of the Mysoreans?

To destroy the native rule in Mysore it is pressed that as Englishmen have settled there, it ought to be taken into English possession. This I suppose is an invention of the nineteenth century. What a fine prospect this opens up of conquering the whole world without much trouble. Some Euglishmen have only to go and settle in a country, and then the English Government has simply to say: "You see English people cannot be managed by you, therefore you should give up the country to us;" and there is a conquest! But, unfortunately for the inventor, those stupid fellows the French and other Continentals, the Americans and such others, won't see it.

Then agair, is this an encouragement to the other native Rajahs to allow Englishmen to settle in their country, and derive the benefits of the contact of English enterprise and knowledge? If they take such a step the result is loss of rule, on the plea that Englishmen cannot be managed by natives. If they do not, then they are

blamed for being apathetic, and indifferent to the best interests of their dominions and people.

The important question constantly arises: Who is to judge when the British Government and a native prince are at issue? How can the decision of the stronger party in its own favour be free from the suspicion of being interested? Cannot, when such important questions of the rights of Government arise, an important judicial commission of some of the best judges of this country be appointed to try the matter? I should think that, considering the confidence the natives of India have in the integrity, uprightness, and independence of English high judges, the natives would feel satisfied to have such issues tried by such impartial tribunals; otherwise the native, like anybody else, naturally thinks when the decision is against him, that injustice is done to him; and it is only when the justice of the decision is so clear as to be entirely above suspicion, that the British Government does not run the risk of being considered as having taken advantage of their might against right.

I have not here entered upon the general question of adoption, as in the present case the reason urged is that the Rajah is by the treaty itself not entitled to leave his territories even to his own son, any more than to his adopted son. Nor do I here enter into a discussion of the general question of annexation, nor into that of the rights of the Nizam, as the present decision of the Secretary of State renders this discussion unnecessary.

I would not take up much of your time upon the subject of the relative position of the Nizam and the British power at the time the subsidiary treaty was made, and the real source of that treaty. I shall simply quote a few sentences from two or three treaties, leaving

you to draw your own inferences. In the treaty of 1790, between the English, the Nizam, and the Mahrattas, Article 6 says.—

"The three contracting powers having agreed to enter into the present war, should their arms be crowned with success in the joint prosecution of it, an equal division shall be made of the acquisition of territory."

In the treaty with the Nizam of 1798, in the preamble it is said—"And the present juncture of affairs, and the recent hostile conduct and evil designs of Tippoo Sultan, so fully evinced by his sending ambassadors to the Isle of France, by his proposing to enter into a treaty, offensive and defensive, with the French republic against the English nation, and by actually receiving a body of French troops into his dominions, and immediate pay, rendering it indispensably necessary that effectual measures for the mutual defence of their respective possessions should be immediately taken by the three allied powers united in a defensive league against the aforessid Tippoo Sultan," &c. &c.

In the treaty of 1880 with the Nizam occur these words:

"Who, with uninterrupted harmony and concord having 'equally shared the fatigues and dangers of war and the blessings of peace, are, in fact, become one and the same in interest, policy, friendship, and honour."

The partition treaty of 1799 says-

"And whereas it has pleased Almighty God to prosper the just cause of the said allies, the Honourable English Company Bahadoor, and his Highness Nizam-ood-Dowls Ausuph Jah Bahadoor, with a continual course of victory and success, and finally to crown their arms by the reduction of the capital of Mysore, the fall of Tippoo Sultan, the utter extinction of his power, and the unconditional submission of his people; and, whereas the said allies being disposed to exercise the rights of conquest with the same moderation and forbearance which they have observed from the commencement to the conclusion of the late successful war, have resolved to use the power which it has pleased Almighty God to place in their hands for the purpose of obtaining reasonable compensation for the expenses of the war, and of establishing permanent security and general tranquillity for themselves and their subjects as well as for all the powers contiguous to their respective dominions. Wherefore a Treaty for the adjustment of the territories of the late Tippoo Sultan between the English East India Company Bahadoor, and His Highness the Nawab Nizamood-Dowlah Ausuph Jah Bahadoor, is now concluded by according to the undermentioned articles, which, by the blessings

of God, 'shall be binding on the heirs and successors of the contracting parties as long as the sun and moon shall endure,' and of which the conditious shall be reciprocally observed by the said contracting parties.'."

The above extracts show what the relative position of the English and Nizam was, and the last extract shows that "the partition treaty" was binding on both parties for ever.

This partition treaty binding, as above stated, on "heirs and successors" of the contracting parties, provides in Article 4—

"A separate government shall be established in Mysore'; and for this purpose it is stipulated and agreed that the Muharajah Mysore Kishna Rajuh Oodiaver Bahadoor, a descendant of the ancient Rajaha of Mysore, shall possess the territory hereinafter described upon the conditions hereinafter mentioned."

Again, in Article 5 :-

"The contracting powers mutually and severally agree that the districts specified in Schedule C, hereunto annexed, shall be ceded to the said Maharsjah Mysore Kishna kajah, and 'shall form the separate government of Mysore, upon the conditions hereinafter mentioned."

Article 8, again, throws some light on the relative position of the Nizam and English:—

"Then the right to the sovereignty of the several districts hereinbefore reserved for eventual cession to the Peishwa Rao Pundit Prudhan Bahadoor, shall 'rest jointly' in thessid 'English East India Company Bahadoor, and the said Nawab Nizam-cod-Dowlah Ausuph Jah Bahadoor who will either exchange them with the Rajah of Mysore for other districts of equal value more contiguous to their respective territories, or otherwise arrange and aettle respecting them, as they shall judge proper."

Article 9 gives the conditions referred to in Article 5, and is the authority of the subsidiary treaty.

So the facts are these: A separate government of Mysore was to be formed, and which stipulation is binding on the heirs and successors of the contracting parties. The question then simply is: Was Lord Wellesley justified in introducing anything into the subsidiary treaty that would

n any way destroy the "separate government of Mysore," or anything beyond the condition contained in Article 9 as to the prevision for a subsidiary force?

This is Article 9 :-

"It being expedient, for the effectual establishment of Maharajah Mysore Kishna Rajah in the government of Mysore, ihat his Highness should be assisted with a suitable subsidiary orce, it is stipulated and agreed that the whole of the said force hall be furnished by the English East India Company Bahadoor, occording to the terms of a separate treaty to be immediately boncluded between the said English East India Company Bahadoor and His Highness the Maharajah Mysore Kishna Rajah Oodiaver Bahadoor."

In accordance with Article 9 of the partition treaty, given above, the subsidiary treaty was made, and the preimble simply recites the same purpose, as it in honesty aught.

The heading begins with the words: "A treaty of serpetual friendship and alliance;" then the preamble says accordance with the partition treaty:—

"Whereas it is stipulated in the treaty concluded on the 22nd of June, 1799, between the Honourable English East India Commany Bahadoor and the Nawah Nizam-ood-Dowlah Ausuph Jah Bahadoor, for strengthening the alliance and friendship subsisting etween the said English East India Company Bahadoor, His Highress Nizam-ood-Dowlah Ausuph Jah Bahadoor, and the Paishwa tee Pundit Prudhan Bahadoor, and for effecting a settlement of he territories of the late Tippoo Sultan, 'that a separate governnent shall be established in Mysore,' and that His Highness Mahaajah Mysore Kishna Rajah Ocodiaver Bahadoor shall possess ertain territories, specified in Schedule C, annexed to the said reaty, and that, for the effectual establishment of the government of Mysore, His Highness shall be assisted with a suitable subsidiary force, to be furnished by the English East India Comsany Bahadoor; wherefore, in order to carry the said stipulations into effect, and to increase and atrengthen the friendship subsist-ng between the said English East India Company and the said daharajah Mysore Kishna Rajah Oodiaver Bahadoor, this treaty concluded by Lieutenant-General George Harris and ny His Highness Maharajah Mysore Kishna Rajah Oodiaver Bahaoor, 'which shall be binding upon the contracting parties as long s the sun and moon shall endure."

Nothing can be clearer than the preamble, distinctly besed upon the partition treaty, which tinds for ever the English for a "separate government in Mysore," and providing for a suitable force. And yet this is the treaty which is endeavoured to be made personal, and by which some Englishmen have created a right of annexation.

Let us see the treaty further on. The very first article treats the two parties on an equality of duties, like two independent powers:—

"The friends and enemies of either of the contracting parties shall be considered as the friends and enemies of both.

Further articles relating to the question are given in the Appendix.

I shall make only one more short extract, which shows the assumption of power by the British Government was not to be perpetual, but temporary. These are the words in Article 5:—

"Provided always, that whenever and that so long as any part or parts of His said Highness's territory shall be placed and shall remain under the exclusive authority and control of the East India Company," &c., &c.

I leave now to you, gentlemen, to say whether the subsidiary treaty could, under all these circumstances, be considered as a simple personal treaty, and that the English have the right to annex Mysore on the death of the Rajah?

This paper is written by me not for complaint, but for thanksgiving. To Sir Stafford Northcote, as well as to Lord Cranbourne and the few Councillors who sided with

So insere thanks are due not only from the natives of Mysore was ton from Englishmen, for having to the former on the heirs and justice—or if you will have it, a proper question then sim generosity—and for the latter, vindicating anythind to the natives of India and to the

world the character of the English nation for justice and liberality.

What gratitude and admiration such noble words as the following from Sir S. Northcote deserve, needs no comment from me:—"And we should endeavour as far as possible to develop the system of native government, to bring out native talent and statesmanship, and to enlist in the cause of government all that was great and good in them."

The following letter was addressed to Lord William Hay in connection with the above subject:—

32, GREAT ST. HELEN'S, LONDON, 8th July, 1868.

My Lord.

I again take this opportunity of thanking you for pointing out to me without hesitation what you considered as an oversight on my part. I have no object in this matter except truth and justice. We may now see whether I have really made any mistake. You will please first remember that the words "perpetual," or "for ever," or "as long as the sun and moon shall endure," or words of that character, are not admitted by you as of any consequence in giving to the treaty a permanent character. You want the words "heirs and successors," or either of them, to make the Mysore Treaty a permanent one.

In the Travancore Treaty of 1795 the word "heirs" does not occur anywhere. The word "successors" does occur often; but, as you will see below, in the Treaty of 1805 great care is taken not only to strike out this word "successors," or any other words of similar import, but even pointedly to describe the Rajah of Travancore as one of the contracting parties, as "His Highness the Rajah of Travancore for himself," which words for himself are not used even in the Mysore Treaty. This itself would be sufficient to show that if the subsidiary Mysore Treaty was a personal one, the Travancore Treaty of 1805 was especially, by the special wording of that treaty, a still more personal one for the Rajah with whom that treaty was concluded.

Now, if under the 5th Article of the Mysore Treaty the English were entitled to take the administration of Mysore into their own hands and afterwards to claim that the country should not be restored because the Mysore Treaty was a personal one, it was the more logical, that as the Treaty of 1805 was concluded by the Rajah of Travancore "for himself," and as the special stipulation made "by himself" was infringed by the Rajah, that therefore under the treaty his country should have been annexed. I say that this single circumstance of the words "for himself" would have been enough, according to the argument adopted with Mysore case, to annex 'Travancore to British India, which was not done.

But I proceed further, and show that the Travancore Treaty of 1805 was, with all possible care, made to correspond in every possible way with the Mysore Treaty, and whatever may have been Wellesley's objects (which it is not at present my purpose to search for), it is clear that the Rajah of Travancore was put in the same position as the Rajah of Mysore, or if anything in a worse one, by the words "for himself."

In the preamble of the Treaty of 1795* the Rajah, as a contracting party, is described not only by his own name, but is further described as "the reigning Rajah of Travancore," while in that of the Treaty of 1805 the Rajah, as a contracting party, is described simply as "His Highness the Rajah of Travancore for himself."

Article 2 of 1795 is modified by Article 1 of 1805. It will be seen in this that while in the Treaty of 1795 the words used are "the country of the said Rajah or of his successors," in that of 1805 the words "his successors" are omitted.

Article 3 of 1795 is modified by Article 3 of 1895. It will be seen that in the Article 3 of 1795, "The Rajah of Travancore doth engage for himself and his successors," while in Article 3 of 1805 the words "his successors" are omitted, and only "His Highness engages to pay," and only "His said Highness further agrees."

Article 4 of 1795 is modified by Articles 3 and 4 of 1805. It will be seen that while in Article 4 of 1795 the stipulations are on behalf of "the Rajah and his successors," in the corresponding Articles 3 and 4 of the Treaty of 1805 the words "his successors" are omitted, and instead of "the Rajah and his successors" the words are only "the said Maharajah" or "His Highness."

Articles 5 and 6 of the Treaty of 1795 are modified in the 7th and 8th Articles of the Treaty of 1805. Now, it will be observed, that while in the Articles of 1795 the Rajah is described, "the Rajah present and future," "the Rajah or his successors," and "the reigning Rajah of Travancore for the time being," in Articles 7 and 9 of 1805, we have neither "Rajabs future," nor

See Appendix, in which both the Treaties of 1795 and 1895 are given.

"his successors," nor "reigning for the time being," but only "His Highness Maharajah Ram Rajah Bahadoor," "His said Highness," or " "His Highness."

Article 7 of the Treaty of 1795 is repealed by Article 2 of 1805. Now, in the Article 7 of 1795 we have "the eaid reigning Rajah for the time being," while in the 2nd Article of 1805 we have only "Ram Rajah Bahadoor." I do not suppose it was intended, or that it has been, or that it is likely to be, so acted upon, that after the death of this Ram Rajah Bahadoor of the Treaty of 1805 "his successors" would, by the 7th Article of the Treaty of 1795, cancelled, as above shown, he made to pay again what was released and discharged in this Article 2 of 1805.

Article 9 of the Treaty of 1795 is altered by the Articles 5 and 6 of the Treaty of 1805. Now, it will be seen, that while in Article 9 of 1795 there are the words "Rajah or his successors' country" in the Articles 5 and 6 of 1805, the words are only "the possessions of His Highness Ram Rajah Bahadoor," or "His Highness,"

The above Articles 5 and 6 of 1805, are the most important Articles by which the British Government came to have any right to interfere in the administration of the country, and in providing for this new right, Wellesley not only omitted the words "successors, &c.," but adopted almost entirely the language, word for word, of the stipulations of the Mysore Treaty. This right of interference is essentially the provision of the Treaty of 1805, and can be exacted in terms of that treaty only, without reference to any previous treaty, for previous treaties have nothing to say on this point; and so far as any interference is concerned, it is with Ram Rajah "for himself," as the contracting party, that the arrangement was made by Wellesley.

Now, is it a fair inference or not, that by so deliberately and carefully omitting in every Article of the Treaty of 1805 the words "successors," "for the time being," "Rajahs in future," &c., Wellesley deliberately intended to bring the position of the Rajah of Travancore to the level of the Rajah of Mysore? And it is not also fair to infer, that had that part of Article 9 and Article 11 of 1795 which are the only Articles (out of the few which have not been modified) that contain the word "successors" by implication or directly, been also modified or repeated in the Treaty of 1805. the word "successors" would have been deliberately and carefully struck out? If not, then why were they struck out throughout the whole of the Treaty of 1805. However, whether you admit this inference or not, what does the Article 9 of the Treaty of 1805. from which you quoted, amount to? It cannot certainly renew and confirm what is altered in the Treaty of 1805. It renews and confirms that part of the Treaty of 1795 which is not modified in that of 1805. Now, there are only part of Article 9, and the Article 11, which contain directly, or by implication, the word "successors," to which

this confirmation can be of any consequence for the present argument (if the confirmation is at all such as you suppose, which is not the case, as I shall show hereafter). But I ask again whether, had these clauses been at all touched in the Treaty of 1805, Wellesley would have allowed the word "successors" to remain? However, be this as it may, for whom does the Article 9 of 1805 "confirm and renew" the remaining Article of 1795? It is distinctly for the "contracting parties," And who are the contracting parties? The Indian contracting party of the Treaty of 1805 is not, as in the Treaty of 1795, the "Rajah and successors," or "Rajahs future," or "for the time being," but only "His Highness the Rajah of Travancore for himself," and nobody else any more than I.

Now, what I say is this, be the intentions of Wellesley what they may, they were the same with regard to the Rajahs of Travancore and Mysore, and the two treaties are on the same footing; and that this is clear by his having so carefully and deliberately expunged the words successors, &c., in every Article in the Treaty of 1805, by adopting the very phraseology of the Mysore Treaty in that of 1805, as far as possible, and by "confirming" in the 9th Article, for the "contracting parties" only, and not for "successors," &c.

I hope, therefore, you will now be satisfied that I have not been inaccurate in my statement, and that I had carefully compared the Treaties of 1795 and 1805; and I am correct in stating, and in accordance with the Travancore Treaty of 1805 and the Mysore subsidiary Treaty, the Rajahs of Mysore and Travancore were deliberately put on the same footing by Wellesley, whatever that footing was.

As you do not desire any controversy upon the merits of the Mysore case annexation, &c., I do not enter into that discussion, and content myself with the simple remark, that in my humble opinion your remarks on that subject are refutable.

I remain, yours truly, DADABHAI NAOROJI.

LORD WILLIAM HAY.

XI.

THE FEAR OF RUSSIAN INVASION.*

The common error of persons who discuss the possibilities of Russian invasion of India is to ignore the most important element in the problem, namely, the attitude of the people of British India and of the Native States. This attitude may be either hostile or favourable to British rule. If it is favourable, there is nothing more to be said. Then the British position is invulnerable. But if, on the contrary, there is any likelihood of its being hostile. upon considerations any argument tased which ignore that possibility falls to the ground. In that European army case will the be engaged resisting Russia or in protecting the European population, scattered all over India, who will be the first and immediate victims of such hostilities? And if the native army sympathise with the hostile feeling of their countrymen, what will be the consequences? Moreover, if any discontent is known to exist among the Indian people. Russia knows well how, by her emissaries, to fan this discontent, and, as in Ireland, the British Government made use of Irish traitors to betray their country, it may be expected that some Indians out of that vast population will be ready to do Russia's work. Russia will bide her time till discontent has fully developed itself, ready to burst into a conflagration. Then Russia not only can, but will, invade India, whether with success or not is another question, but with the result of the destruction of British

^{*} Reprint from "India," September, 1895.

rule, crushed as it would then be between external invasion and internal trouble. What I want Englishmen to consider is whether such an unfortunate contingency is possible or not and if possible, to take that most vital element into account in their discussions of the problem.

Let us consider what the probability or possibility is under the present system of British Indian Administration. I repeat the views of British and Anglo-Indian statesmen for a hundred years as to the true character of the present system, saying nothing about the oppression and corruption of the previous period. Sir John Shore (1787) pointed out that whatever might be the increased industry of the people, the benefits of it would be more than counterbalanced by the evils of the present system. The natural inference from this view is that the effect of the system must be impoverishment. This prophecy has been fulfilled. In 1833. Macaulay characterised the system as that of holding Indians as slaves and keeping them too poor to be able to buy British goods. (1837) Mr. F. Shore described the system as a sordid system of misrule to which the interests of millions had been sacrificed for the benefit of the few, and of grinding extortion which effected impoverishment to an extent almost unparalleled. (1858) Mr. Bright referred to the system as plundering India. (1859) Sir George Wingste characterised the system as exacting a cruel and crushing tribute. (1864) Lord Lawrence (Viceroy) stated that the mass of the people enjoyed only a scanty subsistence. To come down to later days, (1875) Lord Salisbury (Secretary of State for India) pointed out that the injury was exaggerated in the case of India, where so much of the revenue was exported without a direct equivalent, and declared the policy of the system to be that India must he bled. (1880) Sir William Hunter considered that forty

years hence the British people would have an Indian Ireland multiplied fifty-fold on their hands. (1882) Lord Cromer (Finance Minister) described the people of India as extremely poor. (1886) Lord Randolph Churchill (Secretary of State for India) described the system as constituting a political danger which the Government had long regarded as of the most serious order. (1886) Sir Auckland Colvin (Finance Minister) said that the income of the mass of the people, at the best, was barely sufficient to afford them the sustenance necessary to support life. I need not say anything about the complete confusion in which India is at present.

The natural consequences of this system are the opium trade, poisoning a vast nation, the salt tax, oppressive exaction of revenue, general extreme poverty, destruction of millions by famine, and the starving, underfed condition of some scores of millions.

Can any man in his senses doubt for a moment that the inevitable result of such a state of affairs must be discontent? Could anything be more foolish than hiding the head under the sand, as the statesmen of the present day are doing, thinking that Indians do not see and understand the evil system with which British India is afflicted?

I need not say much about the possible attitude of the native princes. They are, from a clear sense of their own interests, thoroughly loyal to British supremacy. But the Indian Foreign Office and political agencies unfortunately are keeping up chronic interference, and have again begun nibbling at the power of the princes, as in the fifties, short of annexation. If the princes become hostile, the fault will lie entirely at the door of the present system. Otherwise these princes have every reason to desire the supremacy of the British hand.

Next, the British word is coming to command less confidence in the mind of Indians. The people generally cannot quite clearly make the distinction between the British people and their servants, the Anglo-Indian authorities both here and in India. Though the British people and Parliament have repeatedly laid down the policy of righteousness, Anglo-Indian authorities have persistently, barefacedly, and perversely ignored and thwarted the resolutions and 'Acts of Parliament and the most solemn pledges and proclamations. No department here would dare to ignore a resolution or Act of Parliament on matters concerning this country. But there is hardly a resolution, an Act of Parliament, a proclamation, or a pledge for the promotion of the true welfare of the Indians which the Anglo-Indian authorities have not ignored, resisted, and made a dead letter. A Vicerov (Lord Lytton, 1878) confesses that the Indian authorities had used every device, deceit, and subterfuge to defeat the policy of the British people and Parliament. Lord Salisbury (1883) declared that all pledges, voluntary acts, etc., were so much political hypocrisy. Such, at present, are the dark colours with which the servants of the British people have covered their good name.

Again, to the expenditure of the Indian revenues, by which Great Britain derives the benefit of the greatest empire the world has ever seen, she does not contribute a single farthing from the British exchequer. All must be paid by the Indians as British helots. Further, the birthright of British subjects is—"taxation without representation is tyranny." But the Indians have no voice in the raising or disbursement of their revenues. What is worse still, they are treated with distrust as candidates for the higher civil or military services. In the latter they have

no share at all. Under these circumstances is it reasonable, is it common sense, to expect loyalty and hearty patriotic support from Indians in a time of trouble?

Now, I ask Englishmen to take into account in their problem this most vital element; if the system of the present despotism, drain, and distrust are continued, sooner later, perhaps sooner, if Indian human nature is like all other human nature, great trouble will whether Russia can invade or not. Invasion by Russia sinks into insignificance compared with the troubles that the British Indian system itself is storing up. I have been crying in the wilderness for a long time. But I have faith in the British people, and if they set themselves to consider these questions there is hope that the position of affairs in India may yet mend before it is too late. Vast and great forces are rapidly developing themselves through one of the several beneficent acts of the British people themselves-the dissemination of education (though at India's own expense). It is for British statesmen to draw these forces to their own side before they turn against them. If the internal problem is satisfactorily solved, we may quite contentedly leave Russia to her own devices. Indians, if trusted instead of being distrusted, if satisfied with British rule as a rule of righteousness and beneficence, will fight for British rule as for their own hearths and homes as patriots.

The British people and Parliament have been making the most solemn pledges for more than sixty years by Resolutions, by Acta of Parliament, and by Proclamations in the name of the British people, and by the mouth of the Sovereign. The Indian authorities, on the other hand, have been violating these pledges in letter and in spirit with unblushing openness. The British people have pledged themselves to treat Indians as British subjects. But the British Indian system actually treats them as mere subjects of a foreign despotic rule. Can any Englishman in his senses be blind to the consequences of such conduct?

Afflicted as India is with the impoverishing European Services, and with the indirect help of these Services in enabling other Europeans and European capital to exploit India in every possible way for their own benefit, what can be expected from the Indians? I say again, and say it with all earnestness, that the present system of administration and the financial treatment of India is full of most serious danger.

Indian reformers are very properly fighting the "forward" frontier policy tooth and nail. But even if the Cabinet decided to-day to put an end to it, that would be a relief from only a part of the aggravation of the principal Indian evil. The progress of events in India is tending to an inevitable catastrophe. The Indian National Congress is exerting itself to check this tendency.

Our efforts must not be confined to the question of the "forward" frontier policy. Of course, it would be a great and immediate gain to check it, but the danger of internal rebellion and external invasion would remain the same. On the other hand, if India were treated righteously, if she prospered, and felt it a patriotism to be loyal to British supremacy, both the present "forward" policy and the danger of a foreign invasion would vanish of themselves. No truer words have been uttered than those of Lord Roberts when he said: "However efficient and well equipped the army of India may be, were it indeed absolute perfection, and were its numbers considerably more than they are at present, our greatest strength must ever rest on the firm base of a united and contented India." Yet, strange to say, Lord Roberts himself advocates the wasting of money, energy and life on the "forward" policy, and the violation of the solemn pledges of the British to the Indian people, thereby adopting the most effective means of producing a disunited and discontented India. Let there be a contented, and not distressed, British India, and Englishmen many snap their fingers at any external danger.

DADABHAI NAOROJI.

XII.

THE INDIAN TRIBUTE.

The following is the full text of a letter sent by Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji to the Daily News:—

22, Kennington Road, S. E., April 3, 1905.

Sir,—In the Daily News of 31st ult. a correspondent, "A Reader," asks for information about the yearly drain of £30,000,000 from India. Will you kindly allow me to give it? I have given this explanation two or three times before, as may be seen in my book; but I now bring the figures up to date.

Any drain from, or addition to, the wealth of a country in connexion with other countries takes place through the channel of commerce. I give an approximate calculation.

In order to have a fair average, I take figures for ten years; but I leave out the years 1899-1900 and 1900-1, as these two years were those of famine in India, and were, therefore, not of average normal condition.

I take United Kingdom for the same ten years, viz., 1892 to 1899 and 1902 and 1903. (The latest figures available are till 1903. Parl. Ret. Cd. 2192—1904.)

The total imports of the United Kingdom for these ten years (merchandise and treasure) are £4,988,919,359.

The total exports for the same period (merchandise and treasure) are £3,421,478,153.

This shows an excess of imports over exports, or, in other words, the profits on the exports as £1,567,441,206. That is to say, the United Kingdom received back the whole amount of its exports (£3,421,478,153), and also

over and above that £1,567,441,206 more as an addition to its wealth by all its international transactions with foreign countries during the ten years.

Thus, the United Kingdom made a profit of 45.8 per cent. over its exports.

I would make, however, the following allowance:—
The total profit of £1,567,441,206 includes, taking roughly, £300,000,000 in ten years of the political drain of India. Deducting this £300,000,000 from the above profit leaves the net profit of its transactions with other countries as £1,267,441,206 independently of the drain from India. This deduction reduces the percentage of the profit of the United Kingdom from 45.8 to 37 per cent, on its own exports.

I now take India. (Parl. Ret. Cd. 2299—1904.) The total exports (including Native States) of merchandise and treasure during the ten years are Rx. 1,180,665,000. To this must be added freight and insurance on exports to the United Kingdom, because they are paid in the United Kingdom, and not included in the invoices and official returns. This was the case when I was in business in the city. I do not know how the case is for exports to other countries, so I do not add this item. I take roughly for freight and insurance on exports to the United Kingdom from India for the ten years at 5 per cent. The amount of exports is Rx. 364,948, 240, and 5 per cent. on it will be Rx. 18,247,412. This addition will make the total of exports from India to be Rx. 1,180,665,000, plus Rx. 18,247,412, =Rx. 1,198,912,412.

The next item to be considered is the profit on the total exports. Though the profits of the United Kingdom, as stated above are 37 per cent., I take for India a profit of only 20 per cent. The total, therefore, of exports and

profit will be for the ten years Rx. 1,198,912,412 plus profit 239,782,482,= Rx, 1,438,694,894.

This, then, is the amount equal to which India ought to have imported under normal circumstances like those of the United Kingdom.

But India has not imported this amount, but only a much less amount of Rz. 923,205,000, leaving a drain or deprivation of Rz. 515,489,894 in the ten years.

Taking the present exchange of Ra. 15 to £1, this drain in ten years amounts to £343,659,920, or, say, average of £34,000,000 every year.

If the exports and imports of the Native States are excluded, the drain from British India will be larger than £34,000,000 a year. Besides this, there is the burden of foreign debt inflicted on India without India's voice.

Now, one thing must be carefully borne in mind—that the people in India have not the slightest voice in the administration which is producing such disastrous results. The rule is absolute despotism.

Here, then, is a strange and sad contrast. The United Kingdom and India are governed by the same Government, with the result of bringing to the United Kingdom an addition to its wealth, as profits of its exports, in ten years, of £1,267,441,206, and, on the other hand, causing to India in the same ten years a deprivation and loss of £343,659,920.

Not only this. The loss to India must be measured by how much more India would have benefited had this enormous drain of the ten years and all drain of previous years been at India's own disposal and fructified in the Indians' pockets. It must be further remembered that what Europeans consume in India itself, to the deprivation of the Indians, is not included in this drain. Truly has Macaulay said: "Of all forms of tyranny I believe that the worst is that of a nation over a nation."

The present evil system of the government of India is that kind of tyranny.

Yours faithfully,
Dadabhar Nagrout

XIII.

MESSAGE TO THE BENARES CONGRESS.

Kennington Road, London, S.E.
 November 26, 1905.

My Dear Gokhale,—I should have much liked to be present at the Twenty-First Congress. It is the lest before coming of age, when it is time to look back over the past and consider the future.

Looking back fifty-two years to the year 1853, when the first three political associations had their birth—viz., the British Indian Association of Bengal, the Madras Association, and the Bombay Association—we see how limited our political ideas and aspirations of that time were. The extent and causes of the increasing poverty of India, we had hardly any clear conception of, nor had we fully realised our rights and duties as free British citizens. Like all beginnings this was small, but it was sound and healthy in the circumstances and knowledge of the time. I can say this as I was present at the inauguration of the Bombay Association, and have taken part in it and in its subsequent work.

Of these three the British Indian Association has preserved its existence till to-day doing much good work. The Bombay Association, after several years of good work, came to a close, but was revived and after some years was succeeded by the present active Bombay Presidency Association. I think the Madras Association had also similar chequered career, and is now represented by the present active Madras Mahajana Sabba. There were some Provincial Associations also formed in time, as the Poona Sarva-

janik Sabha and others. Now, what was the result in brief of all this our first awakening and work? The work done by these Associations and the seeds sown by them during thirty-two years, till 1885, produced their fruit in a larger conception of our political condition and knowledge, and what was of still greater importance—a closer union among all classes, creeds, and races of the whole country-results of which at our political birth in 1853 there was not much clear idea or anticipation. And, further, the development of the political ideas and forces carried with it an impetus mainly upon ourselves. We need a body of half a dozen at least, if not a dozen, of enthusiastic and well-qualified Indians for the work of the Committee here, and of propagandism by our organ, literature and lectures, to be permanent residents in England. These may be either well educated and competent well-to-do men who can live on their own means, or the well-to-do should supply the means to enable such well-qualified men to live here. Our success must depend upon our own proper men and sufficient means.

Indians must make up their minds for large sacrifices, both personal and pecuniary. In England itself we have object-lessons. Taking one instance only, of the Abolition of the Corn Laws: many men, like Bright and Cobden, worked devotedly and the League raised, if I am not mistaken, funds of two millions to fight the cause. This for one cause only. How many movements for reforms of one kind and another are now going on here with devoted men and women and large means. Our work is of the utmost importance and of the greatest difficulty—the emancipation, freedom, and prosperity of some 300,000,000 of mankind—and in proportion to the importance does it demand from us the most strenuous devotion and large sacrifices. Yes, the Japanese people, high and low, made

such sacrifices and the world knows the result and is the better for it to-day. Should we fail!

To sum up. We require, on the one hand, to inspire the people of India at large with the desire of attaining and enjoying their birth-und-pledged rights and the absolute necessity of freedom and self-government like that of the colonies for their material and moral development, progress, and prosperity. Without self-government the Indians can never get rid of their present drain, and the consequent impoverishment, misery, and destruction. No palliative of any kind whatever, no mere alteration and tinkering of the mechanical machinery of a demonstration, can and will do any good at all. The drain can only be stopped by the Government, by the people themselves. To be prosperous, India must govern itself like the colonies. Here are remarkable and true words uttered by Sir Henry Campbell Bannerman only three days ago (on the 23rd) :- "good government could never be a substitute for government by the people themselves." Our need, therefore, is the utmost for government by the people themselves.

Self-government is the only remedy for India's woes and wrongs. For this purpose we must strengthen this Congress, our great body, representative of all India, to go on making every possible effort to accomplish this end, which is quite practicable, as I have already said, and has been already successfully carried out very far by British rulers themselves as far back as thirty-eight years ago, in the case of Mysore.

Yours sincerely,

-:0:--

DADABHAI NAOROJI.

XIV. A CHAPTER OF AUTOBIOGRAPHY.

One of the first fancies which took possession of my mind as a little child—a fancy which has remained in my memory—was that, as ny father was dead, the moon, like other friends, was in sympathy with me. And whether I went to the front or the back of the house the moon always seemed to go with me. I liked sympathy then and I like it now.

Another incident of my childhood I give upon my mother's authority, and not from personal recollection. According to my mother, whenever any boy used bad language to me, I used to

reply: "Your bad words will remain in your mouth."

As a boy I took a great interest in, and was considered pretty smart at, Indian cricket. In the pursuit of that active and absorbing game we boys did not in the least seem to mind the hot sun, and during the half hour for lunch at mid-day we used to play regularly on the Esplanade.

Being quick at the multiplication table and at mental arithmetic, and being also little of size and fair of colour, I was a regular "exhibition boy" at my indigenous or native school. On special occasions all the boys of the school used to be lined up in the open by the side of the road, and there, surrounded by crowds of people, I, along with other little boys, was smartly exercised in mental gymnastics amid the loud "wa-was" (bravos) of the admir-

ing audience.

Owing to the fairness of my complexion, and I think I may say the prettiness of my little limbs, I was also always an object of show at weddings, processions, etc., generally appearing as an English General or Admiral, or in some gorgeous Indian Royal or Court dress of brocade. Fond parents and friends of the child thus exhibited used to say of him: "Oh. he is my dear 'Jonglo' (Englishman)." Little did I dream then that I should spend much of my manhood and older life on the country of the "Jonglas" and don their dress in reality. I was particularly reminded of these days of procession and my childish joy in the different dresses I wore, especially the English Court dress, when, in Court dress, I formed one of the deputation from the Committee of the Imperial Institute who received the late Queen Victoria on the occasion of the opening of that building. I well remember how the thought passed through my mind, "Here I am a real courtier now."

One of the delights of my boyhood was to read the "Shahnamah" (the Persian epic) in Gujarati to Parsi audiences. I need hardly say that these readings had much to do with the formation of my character.

How things, little in themselves, lead to important results! In the early twenties of the last century there was formed at Bombay a society called "Native Education Society," which established a school in two branches, English and Vernacular. The "Metaji" (master) of my indigeneus school did not know very much about the experiment of the Native Education Society. But it was enough for him that it was conducted under Government auspices, so he sent his son to the school and persuaded my mother to send me also, and this was the foundation of my whole life's career. The education was then entirely free, Had there been the fees of the present day, my mother would not have been able to pay them. This incident has made me an ardent advocate of free education and the principle that every child should have the opportunity of receiving all the education it is capable of assimilating, whether it is born poor or with a silver spoon in its mouth.

The awakening of the soul came to me when I was about fifteen. I remember as if it were only yesterday, how at a certain apot on a certain road I made a vow never to use low longuage. From that time forward, as my education advanced other resolutions to do this and not to do that followed, and I think I may say that I faithfully adhered to them.

As a boy, I was accustomed to have my little drink before dinner. One day there was no liquor in the house and I was sent to have my drink at a shop opposite. Never did I forget the shame and humiliation I felt at being there. It was enough. The drink-shop never saw my face again.

When I entered the school there were two European masters, one for the literary, the other for the arithmetical department. Some difference of opinion having arisen between them, they divided the school into two parts, each taking the whole education of his own division. One of the two was a strict disciplinarian, the other anything but that. My lot fell with the latter. Practically we were allowed to do as we liked but I was not disposed to be idle. I must be active in some way or other. There was no enforcement of lessons, so I looked about for an occupation. I had a retentive memory, could repeat any story I heard both in spirit and in letter, and I was full of stories. So most of my school hours were pased in "spinning yarns" to an admiring circle of school-follows. So lax was discipline that often we would coolly march out of school and spend the whole day in games. In this way something like a year of regular study was lost to me. Yet I cannot say that even that truant year did not do me some good. My story-telling powers and skill at games made me a leader among the boys, and I acquired the self-confidence and reliance which comes with such a position.

I remember at one of the school examinations a fellow-pupil, having learned the "ready-reckoner" by heart, carried off the prize I had expected. But at the distribution of prizes, when questions outside the book were asked, he faltered and broke down. I seized the opportunity, rushed out of the ranks, and answered. There and then an English gentleman among the company gave me a prize, and Mrs. Poston, the lady traveller, who was also present

has made a special note of the incident in her book, "Western India." Here I may say good-bye to the events of my boyhood.,

After passing through the Vernacular and English schools I entered the Elphinstone College. Again the stars were favourable. As in the schools, there were no fee. On the contrary, admittance to the college was to be obtained only by scholar-

ships, one of which I was fortunate enough to gain.

Among the books I read about this period that formed the various aspects of my character and influence my subsequent life was, besides Firdose's "Shahnamah," a Gujarati hool,, "The Duties of Zoroastrians." Pure thought, pure word, pure deed was the lesson. But the literature I had most to do with, and most enjoyed, was, of course, English. Watt's "Improvement of the Mind" settled my style and mode of thought—never two words when one was enough, clearness of thought and diction. So I bade farewell to the fine and flowery.

As education advanced, thought gradually developed itself in different directions. I realised that I had been educated at the expense of the poor, to whom I myself belonged, so much so that some of my school-boys came from a well-to do class-mate, a Cama, one of the family with whom I was destined subsequently to have so much to do in public and private life. The thought developed itself in my mind that as my education and all the benefits arising therefrom came from the people, I must return to them the best I had in me. I must devote myself to the service of the people, While this thought was taking shape, there came my way Clarkson on "The Slave Trade," and the life of Howard, the philanthropist. The die was cast. The desire of my life was to serve the people as opportunity permitted.

When I was just at the top of the college, Sir Erskine Perry, then the President of the Board of Education, having formed a kind and favourable opinion of me proposed to send me to England to study law with a view to being called to the Bar. Sir Erskine himself offered to defray half the expenses if the elders of my community would provide the other half. Through some misunderstanding—I fancy the elders were afraid lest the Missionaries in England might convert me to Christianity!—the proposal was not carried through. Years later, in the course of a conversation I had with Sir Erskine at the India Office, when he had become a Member of the Council, he said that it was as well his proposal had not been accepted, as he was sure that my life, as it was, had been made more for public usefulness than if I had become a lawyer.

It was now time for me to think seriously of a profession. I came very near to entering the Government service. The Secretary of the Board of Education at Bombay took an interest in me, and obtained an appointment in the Secretariat for me. This I regarded as a great stroke of luck. But fortunately some circumstances provented me from accepting it. In reality, it was the best thing that could have happened. Otherwise I should have been

bound down to the narrow outlook of a subordinate Government official servant.

The six or seven years before I eventually came to England in 1855, as one of three who came here to establish the very first Indian firm of business in the City of London under the style of "Cama & Co.," were full of all sorts of reforms, social, education-

al, political, religious, etc. Ah, those years !

Female Education, Free Association of Women with Men at public, social and other gatherings, Infant Schools, Students' Literary and Scientific Society, Societies for the Diffusion of Useful Knowledge in the Vernaculer, Parsi Reform, Abolition of Child Marriages, Re-Marriage of Widows among Hindus, and Parsi Religious Reform Society, were some of the problems tackled, movements set on foot, and institutions inaugurated by a band of young men fresh from College, helped in some matters by the elders, and aided by the moral support and encouragement of such men as Sir Erskine Perry, Professor Patton, and others. Such were the first fruits of the English education given at the Elphinstone College.

Yes, I can look back upon this part of my life with pride and pleasure; with the satisfaction of a duty performed that I owed to the people. Yes, these "days of my youth" are dear to me, and an unfailing source of happiness.

The greatest event of my early career was my appointment as Professor of Mathematics and Natural Philosophy at my old, old Alma Mater,—Elphinstone College. I was the first Professor in India with the title of Elphinstone Professor.

To me it is the dearest title, and honour above all honours. It is my delight, and many a school-fellow and pupil call me "Dadabhai Professor" to this day.

The seeds shown in the days of my youth have brought me abundant harvest in the love and esteem of my fellow-countrymen. Is it vanity that I should take a great pleasure in being hailed as the "Grand Old Man of India"?

No; that title, which speaks volumes for the warm, grateful, and generous hearts of my countrymen, is to me, whether I deserve it or not, the highest reward of my life. A friend once asked me whether I would care to live my life over again: my reply was: "Yes, I would, with all its disappointments and trials."

I suppose I must stop here. But there is one who, if she comes last in this narrative, has ever been first of all—my mother. Widowed when I, her only child, was an infant, she voluntarily remained a widow, wrapped up in me, her everything in the world.

She worked for her child, helped by a brother.

Although illiterate, and aithough all love for me, she was a wise mother. She kept a firm hand upon me and saved me from the evil influences of my surroundings.

She was the wise counsellor of the neighbourhood. She helpad me with all her heart is my work for female education and other social reforms against the perjudices of the day. She made me what I am.—Progress.

APPENDIX-A.

TO

THE PRESIDENTIAL ADDRESS OF Dadabhai Naoroji, Calcutta, 1906.

Here I confine myself to some of the declarations as to the duty of Liberalism and the absolute necessity of self-government for progress and prosperity.

DECLARATIONS OF THE

RT. HON. SIR HENRY CAMPBELL-BANNERMAN.

- "There is one thing in which I will yield to none of themnamely, in my devotion to the Liberal Party and my faithful adherence to Liberal principles. . . . We are members of the party of progress and action and movement, and not the party of mere resistance and delay." (The Reform Club 6-2-1899).
- "The Liberal Party was described by its great Leader as a great instrument of progress. It is a great instrument for progress and the question is how are we best to use that great instrument?" (House of Commons, 16-2-1899).
- "The views and opinions which I have set before you are those of a Liberal. They are the opinions which have been traditions in that Party. We seek the good of the people through the people and by trusting the people. We wish to destroy privilege or monopoly, whether of class or sect or person, when it is hurtful to the people. And whether in internal constitution or in external policy, we hold that it is not power, nor glory, nor wealth that exalteth a cation, but righteousness, justice and freedom. It is for you to say whether you are with us or against us.
- "I do not confound territorial extent with strength nor do I see that the glory or success of the Empire is increased by beating down our neighbours." (Election Address, 21-9-1900).

- "The British power cannot there and elsewhere rest securely unless it rests upon the willing consent of a sympathetic and contented people," (Oxford, 2-3-1901),
- "It is only by the consent of the governed that the British Nation can govern." (Plymouth, 19-11-1901).
- "What are these principles and facts? The virtues, the efficacy, the justice of self-government. That is one Liberal principle. The appreciation and encouragement of national sentiment. That is another Liberal principle. The recognition of the popular will constitutionally expressed through the people's representatives. That is another Liberal principle. That may do for principles." (Leicester, 19-2-1902).
- "We Liberals are accustomed to freedom of thought and action. Freedom is the breath of our life It possesses in two of its most sacred dogmas, the only solution of the chief problems which confront our country in Imperial policy and in regard to our domestic needs It is the universal doctrine of government by assent—government with the consent of the governed. Why, there is but one cardinal condition, again, of Liberal principle—that of direct popular control by those concerned. Now, these are two of the beacons by which Liberal policy should be guided." (National Liberal Club, 5-3-1902).
- "The principles of the Party (Liberal)—not any new-fangled principles, but the old ones which were as good to-day and as much required as they were two or three hundred years ago—were the only principles which could lead to the happiness of the people and to the development of the power and prosperity of the community," (Skipton, 10-12-1902).
- "If it can be shown that poverty, whether it be material poverty or poverty of physique and of energy, is associated with economic conditions, which, though supported by the laws of the country, are, nevertheless, contrary to economic laws and to public policy, the State can intervene without fear of doing harm."
 - (Newport, 30-11-1903).
- "What is the Liberal Policy? . . . We stand for liberty. Our policy is the policy of freedom. It is the policy of freedom in

all things that affect the life of the people, freedom of conscience freedom from class ascendency." (Norwich, 26-10-1904).

"John Bull had many weak points no doubt, but he had one good point above all others—that he liked that which was straightforward and open and candid, and honest and above-board both in language and in action." (National Liberal Club, 1-6-1905).

Now, I say, if there is any man who is a true John Bull in respect of straightforwardness etc., Sir Henry Campbell-Banherman is one. I prove with extracts from his utterances:—

"Our principles, . . . and one of those principles, let me tell you, is that the interests of persons, classes and sections must yield to the general interests of the community."

(Portsmouth, 16-11-1905).

- "Good government could never be a substitute for government by the people themselves." (Stirling, 23-11-1905).
- "Ladies and gentlemen, so much for peace, so much for economy—two cardinal Liberal principles. But here is another—self-government and popular control: and we believe in that principle, not only on grounds of justice and on the grounds of effective administration, but on this other ground—that it exercises a whole-some influence on the character of the people who enjoy the privilege." (Allert Hall, 21-12-1905).
- "Sir, in all these subjects on which I have been touching, what is the aim to be kept in view, what is the star which we ought to keep our eyes upon, to see that we are moving in the right direction? It is that we should promote the welfare and happiness and interests, not of any particular class or section of the community but of the nation at large. That is the work of true patriotism, these are the foundations upon which a solid empire may be built.'s (Albert Hall, 15-12-1905).
- "The new government had, he verily believed, the public conscience, the public sense of right, the public love of equity. With these they would win." (Liverpool, 9-1-1906).
- "The present government would set themselves to apply the old Liberal principles to legislation and administration, the princi-

ples of freedom, of equal treatment of all sections of the community in civil and ecclesiastical affairs. They will include the principle of self-government, the idea that people knew best about their own affairs and would give up the old idea that, there should be some superior people in the country who were to tell their neighbours what was good for them."

· (Stirling Burgh-Culross, 12-1-1906).

"The policy and spirit, which would govern the action of the present Government, would be based on justice and liberty, not on privilege and monopoly." (Glasgow, 15-1-1906).

"And the third is the belief that, in Ireland, as in every other country throughout the King's dominions, self-government is the best and safest and healthiest basis on which a community can rest." (Inverness, 18-1-1906).

"We, lovers of our country, lovers of our constitution, lovers of our public traditions and lovers of plain dealing. . . . I am proud and glad and relieved to see a revival of the old political spirit the spirit which made Liberalism a moral force, a force making for justice sustained by a belief in mankind, and anxious to better the condition of our common life. It was a great uprising against a doctrine, a habit of thought and practice in public life, a method of government abhorrent to the conscience and heart of the nation." (National Liberal Club, 14-2-1906).

DECLARATIONS OF THE RT. HON. JOHN MORLEY.

"Imperialism by all means, if it means mercy, if it means humanity, if it means justice, but if it means your own demoralization, if it means lowering your own standard of civilization and humanity, then, in the name of all you hold precious, beware of it and resist it." (Sydney, 25-5-1899).

"When he (Mr. Gladstone) died, Lord Salisbury said of him that he was a great Christian. Yes, and I would add, that he was not a Christian for nothing. I think he must often have used to himself the language of Wordsworth: "Earth is sick and heaven is weary of the swollen words that States and Kingdoms utter, when they talk of truth and justice." He, at all events, in face of all the demands of practical politics, did his best to bring those considerations of truth and justice into the minds and hearts of his

countrymen. But, I do say that Mr. Gladstone, when he saw the nations going on a wrong path, saw high in the heavens the flash of the uplifted sword and the gleam of the arm of the Avenging Angel." (Manchester,—Unveiling of Statue, 10-10-1901).

"It is this policy of passing measures for Ireland, without reference to the Irish themselves, that is responsible for most of the mischief and misgovernment, from which Ireland has so long suffered From observation of Irish Government, from experience of Irish Government, from responsibility of Irish Government, I say to you, gentlemen, face to face, it is a bad Government, it is a Government which no nation, no set of people can be expected to endure in peace, and it is a Government which we in our conscience ought to do our very best, when the time comes, when opportunity presents itself, to put right, as we have put so many other evils in our own system of Government, right."

(Manchester, 12-3-1902).

With how much more force do these words apply to India! Then again:

"We are going to have, I suppose-well, we may have a proposal to suspend the constitution of Cape Colony. Just picture the scene in the House of Commons. The motion is made to protest against the suspension of Parliamentary Institutions in the Cape Colony. We then all get up, and we all make eloquent. passionate, argumentative speeches in favour of the right of the Colonies to govern themselves. The next day, Mr. Redmond makes a motion in favour of giving Self-Government in one shape or another, to Ireland. We then all pick out a new set of arguments. What was on Monday unanswerable, on Tuesday, becomes not worth mentioning. What was on Monday a sacred principle of Self-Government, becomes, on Tuesday, mere moonshine and claptrap. That is a comedy in which, I, at least, do not propose to take part. The Boers are to have Self-Government in order to make them loyal. The Irish are not to have it, because they are disloyal." (Edinburgh, 7-6-1902).

What a true picture of the way in which India is treated!
"We are citizena, common citizena of a grand country; we are the heirs of a noble tradition; we believe that human progress

can only be won by human effort—and that effort, I hope, all of us in our different degrees, ages and situations, will pursue with determination, with unselfishness and with a resolute directness and simplicity that must in the end win a crowning victory."

(National Liberal Federatior, Annual Meeting, 13-5-1904).

He was for liberty wherever they could get it.

- "He looked forward to a vigorous, progressive, pacific, rational policy. The new Government, he hoped, would realise that courage in large politics was the true common sense and he looked forward to the true progressive movement.
- "Last Session, the whole Liberal Party in the House of Commons voted in favour of Mr. Redmond's Amendment, which stated that the present system of Government in Ireland was in opposition to the will of the Irish People, and gave them no voice in the management of their affairs, was extravagantly costly and did not enjoy the confidence of any section of the population, was productive of universal discontent and unrest, and had been proved to be incapable of satisfactorily promoting the material and intellectual progress of the people.
- "Surely then, it was incredible that a Party, which supported an indictment so damning, should have no policy for dealing with such a state of affairs.
- "He would recall the fact that, Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman, the Leader of the Liberal Party, who had stuck to his guns and had saved his party, said, speaking on that very amendment:
- "What was the principle at the root of the policy? It was
 the right of the Irish people to the management of their own
 domestic affairs. The successive plans, by which this was to be
 given to them, failed to satisfy the country; but the principle of
 Self-Government, the principle of an elective element that shall be
 the governing element in Irish affairs still remains."

(Forfar, 20-10-1905)

"But whatever the schemes and wisdom of a statesman might be, he should know that all the glittering adventures of imperial pride were vain and empty, were delusive and guilty, if he did not constantly have before him the aim of mitigating the lot of the great masses of men, women and children who were always very near hunger and nakedness." (Walthamstow, 20-11-1905).

DECLARATIONS OF THE RT. HON. H. H. ASQUITH.

"The Liberal Party is—as it always has been—the standing enemy of unjustified privileges and of unequal laws. . . . The spirit of Liberalism is a strong and a vital factor—is as strong and as vital, as it ever was—in moulding the conceptions and the ideals of the British people."

(Kilmarnock, 5-10-1879).

"No one in this country—no British Liberal at any rate—can contemplate with satisfaction, a system, under which numbers of our own countrymen are denied some of those civil and political rights, which we are accustomed to regard, as the necessary equipment of a civilized social community." (Leven, 2-9-1899.)

"We call ourselves Liberals. We are proud of the name. We are prepared to maintain our title to it against all comers. But how do we stand? What has been in days gone by, the essence of the Liberal creed and the spirit of Liberal work? I think, I may say, and you will agree with me, that for the first sixty or seventy years of the present century, the chief mission of Liberalism was the mission of emancipation. It waged war with religious disabilities that offeuded the conscience and blocked the road to talent more important than either it was the Liberalism of that time which laid the foundations of Democratic Government in a Society which had never been swept and levelled by the tornado of revolution. If we look beyond these shores to the Greater Britain of which we have become Trustees, I think, we see there again, equally clear ground for the application of old principles to new problems. We are proud of the British Empire. There is no distinction on that point between one party in the State and the other. But Empire is a blessing or a curse according to the spirit in which its responsibilities are approached and handled . . .

According to what I believe to be the liberal conception of Empire, it is something, vastly greater and higher than this. There are,—I believe, I am speaking your sense, as well as my own—in the judgment of us, Liberala, two tests of a standing or falling Empire. We sak in the first place, does it is all its parts make the standard, not merely of material life, but of all that goes to enrich civilization and humanity, higher and more deeply founded, more securely safeguarded? We ask next, does its unity arise, not from compulsory acquisition of subject races, but from the conscious and willing co-operation of living and self-determining members? Does it rest not upon the predominance, artificial and superficial, of race or class, but upon the loyal affection of free communities built upon the basis of equal rights?"

(Edinburgh, 10-1-1900).

I pause here a little. We, Indians also, had the good fortune in sharing in the glorious work of the Liberal statesmen of the thirties of the last century. We also had our emancipation by the Act of 1833. What a glorious and truly noble and liberal work was that at that time! I have already touched upon that subject. Had that Act been honourably, loyally and sincerely carried out what a glorious Empire would, by this time, the British Empire have become, and how truly and nobly would the two tests laid down, have been fulfilled! The present grand revival of Liberalism, with its irresistible power, is just the opportune moment, to accomplish, by a bold effort, the redemption of the past failure of duty, conscience, humanity and honour.

"Liberty and Justice, the touchstone of policy of the Empire and its external arrangements. . . . In these methods lay the only hope for the future honour of our Empire."

(Oxford, 24-2-1900).

- "Liberty was the best antidote or medicine for discontent and disloyalty." (Tayport, 14-9-1900).
- "It is the work of statesmanship in this country, to make the Empire worth living in, as well as worth dying for. In the long rnn, every society is judged, and every society survives, according to the material and moral minimum which it prescribes to its members."

 (Hotel Cecil. 19-7-1901).

"You should aim from the very beginning, at such a progressive development in self-government, as will in time, ripen into the full autonomy of Australia or Canada. That policy ought to commend itself, not only to the Liberal Party, but to the whole country."

(Hanley, 14-1-1902).

"The great experience of Canada, where, by the granting of free institutions, races, which, seventy years ago, were flying at one another's throats, were now sitting down side by side, in harmony and contentment." (That will be the case in India).

(St. Leonards, 14-3-1902).

"Mr. Asquith proceeded to set forth the Liberal ideal. This, he said, implied self-government and self-development in fiscal, as in all other matters. An excellent example was to be found in the history of Canada, where internal dissensions and external revolt against the Empire had been quelled by self-government. So that the French and British portions of the population had worked out an ideal for themselves resulting in prosperity."

(Morley, 2-2-1906).

"If they gave the new Liberal Government, a strong, strenuous, independent working majority, they would find many directions, in which arrears had to be made up, reactionary steps retraced, and lost ground recovered. They would do what they could, both to set right the past and to give the country a new and vigorous start for the future." (St. Monans, 13-1-1906).

"In all this, there was a lesson which ought to be taken to heart, namely, that in English politics, it was the straightforward, the direct, the plain policy which in the long run paid."

'(Hanley, 18-1-1906).

"This country, by carrying out the great Liberal principle of confidence in the people and allowing them to manage their own affairs, would have our imperial unity on the broadest, soundest and most stable foundation. It was in this spirit that the new Government hoped to attack other problems of legislation and administration which lay before them." (East Fife, 20-1-1906).

I conclude these declarations by two more of one who, though dead, is still living in our hearts and minds, and whom, Mr. Morley himself, has given his immortality in this world.

Mr. Gladstone says:—"It has been providentially allotted to this favoured isle, that it should show to all the world how freedom and authority, in their due and wise developments, not only may co-exist in the same body, but may, instead of impairing, sustain and strengthen one another. I am deeply convinced that among us, all systems, whether religious or political, which rest on a principle of absolutism, must, of necessity, be not indeed tyrannical, but feeble and ineffective systems and that methodically to enlist the members of a community, with due regard to their several capacities in the performance of public duties, is the way to make that community powerful and healthful, to give a firm seat to its rulers and to engender a warm and intelligent devotion to those beneath their sway."

(Daily News, 5-5-1905).

The following was one of Mr. Gladstone's last utterances on the occasion of one of the greatest achievements of his life—Home Rule for Ireland. He said :---

"It is the predominance of that moral force, for which I heartily pray in the deliberations of this House and the conduct of our whole Public Policy. . . . There can be no more melancholy, and in the last result, no more degrading spectacle upon earth than the spectacle of oppression or of wrong in whatever form inflicted by the deliberate act of a nation upon another nation.

"But, on the other hand, there can be no nobler spectacle than that, which, we think, is now dawning upon us, the spectacle of a nation, deliberately set on the removal of injustice, deliberately determined to break—not through terror and not in haste, but under the sole influence of duty and honour—determined to break with whatever remains still existing of an evil tradition, and determined, in that way at once to pay a debt of justice and to consult, by a bold, wise and good act, its own interest and its own honour."

DECLARATIONS OF THE RIGHT HON. R. B. HALDANE.

"It was their duty, to try to govern the Irish people in a sense which was more akin to their ideas and less entirely subordinate to our own they recognised, it was a duty binding upon them, by every obligation of honour and policy, that they should strive to bring the administration of Ireland in harmony with the minds of her people and should endeavour by every means to convert the people of this country to a juster view of their obligations to that unhappy land and to a fuller recognition of their title to administer those things that were their own."

(North Berwick, 23-1-1906).

Now these sentiments and principles apply with manifold force to India to whom the British people are bound to give self-government, not only by rights of birth as British citizens, but also by a 'duty binding upon them (the British people) by every obligation of honour and policy," by the most solemn pledges given several times before God and the world.

At Darleton on 24-1 1906 he said :-

"The breath to the nostrils of the Imperial Organisation was, --- Freedom."

I make no comments on these declarations as being the statesmen's own. Nobody can more realise their full scope, significance and application to India than themselves.

All these declarations apply with manifold force to India under the peculiar circumstances of a foreign draining domination under which she is suffering—a circumstance which, in its very nature, cannot but be evil.

APPENDIX-B.

Mr. Brodrick, in his Budget Speech of June 1905, said that the exports from the United Kingdom to India which last year had grown to £40,000,000, equalled the whole of the exports from the United Kingdom to Australia, to Canada and to Cape Colony combined. The statement is misleading, The truth is this:

The true test of comparison of the exports of British and Irish produce to the four countries is what each received per head of population. Australia's population (1903) was 3,931,274. The exports to Australia in 1904 were £17,336,470 giving 88s, 2d. per head. Canada's population (1903) was 5,753,039. The exports to Canada in 1904 were £10,624,221, giving nearly 37 per head. Cape of Good Hope's population (1904) was 12, 409,804. The exports to the Cape of Good Hope in 1904 were £12,048,778, giving 100 per head.

Now let us see what India has received of British and Irish goods. India's population (estimate for 1903) was nearly 300,000,000. The exports to India were the small amount of £40,641,277 giving a poor 2-8 per head. It must be remembered that these exports to India include what is received by land through

India by the countries beyond the borders. Allowing also for what is received in India for the consumption of Europeans and the small portion of well-to-do Indians, the British and Irish produce would hardly be 2 per head per annum, as received by the great mass of the people, who, as Lord Lawrence said, "lived on scanty subsistence," Perhaps millions never see a British article,

The Colonies within the short time of their development by self-government, are receiving British and Irish goods in spite of their protection against British goods, Canada 37 per head; Australia 8812 per head and the Cape 100 per head; India takes the very small amount of 218 per head after 150 years of British rule and administration with free trade and with entire British control!

What an extraordinary loss this is to the industries, riches and trade of the United Kingdom! Had India been dealt with righteously with self-government like that of the Colonies and had she been able to receive British goods, even 20 per head (let alone 37,88 and 100) the United Kingdom would have exported to India in 1904 not the poor £40,000,000 but 7_5^2 times £40,000,000, i.e., £300,000,000, as much as the United Kingdom had in 1904 exported to the whole world, which was £300,711,040. What a grand thing it would have been for the wealth, and industries and trade of the United Kingdom! This grand result would have happened if India had self-government, and will happen when India will be a self-governing country.

FINANCE.

From the financial point of view, the employment of Indians under self-government will naturally be on a lower scale of pay than the inordinate scale that exists at present for Europeans. Besides, as in the United Kingdom, all that is raised by taxation will go back to the people, the taxpayers by a hundred different channels.

The people of the United Kingdom pay at present for revenue about 67 shillings per head, per annum, while poor India under the present exhausting drain can pay hardly 6 shillings 6 pence per head, and that with much suffering. Now, with prosperity by self-government, if the people of India would be able to pay only 20 shillings even per head (let alone 67 which the people of the United Kingdom pay) what a growing revenue that of British India would be, viz. £240,000,000 instead of the present poor £78,000,000 exacted from a poverty-stricken people! What a market would the 300,000,000 of all India's prosperous people be for the United Kingdom, with free trade between England and India! India with such a revenue would be able to supply all her needs in abundance.

APPENDIX-A.

EVIDENCE BEFORE

ROYAL COMMISSION ON THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE

EXPENDITURE OF INDIA.

Mr. DADABHAI NAOROJI, a Member of the Commission, examined.

Will you state what public position you have held, and what opportunities you have had of becoming practically acquainted with public affairs relating to India, and to what class of questions you have given special attention?-From my early days I have been associated with those who have been working for the social, political, and material improvement of India, and was a member of various reform associations in Bombay, sometimes as president and secretary; in 1851, I founded the "Rest Goftar," a cheap weekly journal in Bombay, of which I was proprietor and editor. After some years' service in the Educational Department, I was in 1854 appointed Professor of Mathematics and Natural Philosophy in the Elphinstone College, being the first Indian appointed to a professor's chair. In 1853, I was one of the founders of the Bombay Association, and at the inauguration I declared mg political creed of faith in the conscience and justice of the British people. In 1855, I and two other Parsi gentlemen opened the first Indian business firm in England, in London and Liverpool. and I remained in business as a merchant and commission agent till 1881. In 1867, I, with others, founded the East India Association in Loudon, and induced some leading Indian Princes to subscribe an endowment for it. In 1869, we founded the Bombar

Branch of the East India Association, and some years subsequently, the Bombay Presidency Association. In 1873, I gave evidence before Mr. Fawcett's Select Committee on Indian Finance. In 1874, I was Dewan, or Prime Minister, of Baroda. In 1875-6 and afterwards in 1881 to 1885 I was a member of the Town Council of Bombay, and in 1885-6, I was appointed a member of the Legislative Council of Bombay. In 1885, I was one of the founders of the Indian National Congress and presided over the Meeting at Calcutta in 1886. In 1892, I was returned M.P. for Central Finsbury, and was a member of the House of Commons till 1895. In 1893, I visited India to be President over the Ninth Indian National Congress at Lahore, and on the occasion was accorded a reception of a marked kind in various parts of India. For the last 40 years I have paid special attention to the material condition of the masses in India, and have published books, pamphlets, and speeches setting forth my views on the subject.

In what form would you prefer to give your evidence?—I have handed in to the Commission six printed statements. These statements contain the facts, figures, and authorities upon which I rely, and I am prepared to be cross-examined upon them.

The statements which you have put in deal with a variety of subjects which perhaps hardly full within the scope of the reference to us. Of course you are aware our Commission only permits us to inquire into the administration, management and apportionment of expenditure, and I should like to ask you to let it be understood between yourself as a witness and the Commission that you are prepared to limit yourself within reasonable bounds to the instructions of the Commission?—Oh, I am quite within the instructions of the Commission in what I have said and in what I propose to say.

Perhaps you could place before us in some concise form the leading facts and figures upon which you rely in those statements?—The headings under which my evidence falls are: the Administration of Expenditure, the Apportionment of Charge, and Practical Remedies. Upon each of those headings I am prepared to state categorically my most important contentions on hebalf of India.

Will you state your propositions with reference to the first heading you mentioned, the Administration of Expenditure ?- Yes. I consider that the Act of 1833, confirmed by the pledges contained in the Queen's Proclamation of 1858, conferred upon Indians a right to their full claim and share of public employment and emoluments and voice in their own expenditure, in order to secure their happiness and prosperity and good government, and attachment to British Rule, and the prosperity of the British people themselves. I maintain that the administration of Indian expenditure is not conducted according to the principles thus laid down, and that the non-fulfilment of these pledges has produced poverty and degradation; the inherent and essential defect of British Administration being the financial, political, and intellectual drain, which is inseparable from a remote foreign dominion exercised in disregard of the sound principles above stated. In my six statements I set forth the facts of India's poverty, as shown by the comparative production and consumption of each Province, by calculating the average production of Indian per head, by analysing the trade returns, and by reference to the small amount of revenue obtained after exhausting all sources of taxation. I maintain that the impoverishment and degradation of British India has been caused by the compulsory employment of costly foreign official agencies and foreign capital (represented by the public debt, political and commercial) beyond the means of the taxpayer, resulting in a drain from British India, financial. political, and intellectual-aggravated by heavy frontier Imperial war expenditure-and that, indirectly, the foreign dominion has caused a further drain by creating a practical monopoly in favour of foreign private capital, which reaps the advantage of British India's material resources.

That is a general statement from your point of view upon the administration of India; but it does not give us your opinion on the questions more immediately before us, namely, upon the different branches of expenditure, to explain the details of which we have had before us the official witnesses. Have you anything to state upon those branches of expenditure, and upon the official evidence that has been placed before us?—Yes. Shall I wait until later, or shall I give my views now?

I will take the question, if you wish it, later; I am only anxious at the present moment to know how far you intend, by the answer you have given, to express your opinion upon the administration of expenditure?—Yes, that is the general answer I have given; shall I go now to the question of the machinery?

I think, if you are prepared to go on with that subject, perhaps you had better take it at this point?-Very well, I will give such criticisms as I can offer upon the administrative machinery of the expenditure of India. When in August 1894 we asked for an inquiry, Sir Henry Fowler said that a very strong indictment of the British Government of India had been brought before the House and the country (15th August, 1894). And then Sir Henry Fowler, when promising a Select Committee, himself challenged: "The question I wish to consider is whether that "Government, with all its machinery, as now existing in India, " has, or has not, promoted the general prosperity of the people "in its charge; and whether India is better or worse off by being "a Province of the British Crown." And this is the question to which an answer has to be given by this Commission, whether the present machinery of administration and management of the military and civil expenditure incurred in both countries "has or has not." as one of its results, " promoted the general prosperity of the people" of British India. I say that it has not promoted the general prosperity of the people. In the statements I have given in I have considered every aspect of this fact, which was the most important point of the inquiry. The most important criticism, therefore, to which this machinery is subject is that it is based on the basis of foreign domination, This is its worst evil. It is a machinery for what Lord Saliabury very correctly calls bleeding. However perfect the mere rules of the work to be done by the officials may be, the system or machinery is a crushing machinery. It produces in the words of Lord Salisbury a "terrible amount of misery." The machinery not only "bleeds" directly, but by the economic exhaustion of the people, leaves the resources of the country entirely at the mercy and disposal for exploitation by foreign capitalists. I have in my six statements shows this fully. India cannot afford to be governed by this crushing machinery. The Duke of Devonshire and Sir William Hunter have quite truly pointed out that India must be governed by its own native labour and at native rates. In the rates, although with equal efficiency, there will be at least one-third saving according to Government's own scale, but I feel that more saving can be made. In reality, the employment of a native is a whole saving to the country, inasmuch as it provides a native, and the money remains in the country to fructify in the people's own pocket, instead of its being consumed and carried away by somebody else. This machinery inflicts the triple calamity of depriving the Indians of wealth, employment, and experience.

How do you propose to improve the machinery in the way you desire?-One of two ways, or partly both ways, must be adopted to improve this machinery and remove its chief fundamental evil. Both these ways I have already indicated. 1. That native labour must replace foreign labour; and, 2. If any amount of foreign labour is considered as absolutely necessary as it is insisted on, as being necessary for the maintenance of British Rule in India, and British Supremacy in the East, the British Government ought, in justice, pay a share for its common interest with that of India. The machinery may be divinely perfect in its rules, but in its constitution or personnel it has a deep evil, and this evil ought to be remedied if Britain is to be a blessing and a benefit both to India and itself. At present this machinery renders Britain an evil to India instead of a benefit and blessing. I have not much intervened in examining details of departmental expenditure which have been examined with much trouble by the Chairman, and so also the question of financial control. Such examination at proper intervals, as used to be the case in the time of the Company, serves the important purpose of keeping the Government up to mark in case of expenditure. But unless the whole administration of expenditure is put on a natural basis, all examinations of details of departmental expenditures, &c., will be only so much "palliating with symptoms," and will bring no permanent good and strength either to the Indian people or British Supremacy. However much you may change the rules or system of work, as long as this evil lasts as at present there cannot be good or beneficial government of India. My

statements fully prove this. As this Return (192 of 1892) on the salaries shows, there are about Rx. 15,000,000 paid annually for salaries, &c., above Rs. 1,000 per annum. Add to this all that is paid to the European soldiers, and in a rough way it can be said that about 18 or 20 millions of Rx. are paid to Europeans every year. I asked for the correct amount but have not obtained it. Economically it is a loss to Indians, and more especially the portion that goes clean out of the country as savings and pensions and salaries paid in this country. I take an instance: Suppose a European servant draws a salary of Rs. 1,000 a month. He uses a portion of this for all his wants of living, comfort, &c., &c. All this consumption by him is at the deprivation of an Indian who would and could, under right and natural circumstances, occupy that position, and enjoy that provision. This is the first partial loss to India, as, at least, the services enjoyed by the European are rendered by Indians as they would have rendered to any Indian occupying the position. But whatever the European sends to England for his various wants, and whatever savings and pension he ultimately, on his retirement, carries away with him, is a complete drain out of the country, crippling her whole material condition and her capacity to meet all her wants, a dead loss of wealth together with the loss of work and wisdom, i.e., the accumulated experience of his service. Resides, all State expenditure in this country is a dead loss to India. This evil of bleeding must be removed from the present machinery of administration of expenditure as I have said, by treating India fairly for common purposes and by substituting native labour for foreign or European labour. The Rr. 20,000,000 are not by themselves the only evil. They return in the shape of capital and drain away a great deal more.

I beg your pardon. Would you explain that atatement more fully?

—There is regularly a transfer of a large portion of this Rx.20,000,000 to this country adding to its capital; a portion of that again comes back to India as capital. Well, we are left entirely helpless, because we cannot make any capital, and, therefore, the foreign capitalist exploits, or uses to his benefit, all the resources of the country and carries away so much more in profits, in interests, and in every way. If we were free to accumulate our own capital fully we should be able then to compete on equal and fair terms with the foreign

capital coming in, and there would be perhaps more benefit than evil by the foreign capital. At present we suffer it as an evil because we are helpless and on the ground, and foreign capital comes in and develops the resources for their benefit, and carries away the whole profit that is obtained out of those resources. We are simply used as common labourers, mere hewers of wood and drawers of water. That is the only position to which we are reduced.

That goes a little bit beyond my question. I understand the ground upon which you base your opinion, but I do not quite connect it with this Rx. 20,000,000. Do you think that a soldier who receives his part of the Rx. 20,000,000 immediately lends it out in India again, and do you make that a grievance?—No, it comes indirectly in the usual economic way.

I want to connect it with this particular Rx. 20,000,000. I want to connect it with the soldiers' or civilians' pay, and I cannot follow you when you say that the soldier with his ls. a day or ls. 6d. a day, and the civilian with so many rupees a month lays it out so that it returns in the shape of capital and drains away a great deal more. I confess that I am unable to connect the two things?—It does not do it directly, but the economical result of that is that a large portion of the capital of the wealth of India is drained to this country and goes back to the other country in the shape of capital not exactly ear-marked that it is the ls. of the soldier or that it is the 1001. of the civilian that exactly formed that capital, it all comes into the great reserve of the capital of this country and from it again the capitalist takes it away back.

And therefore, you do think it an evil if the soldier, out of his large surplus income, invests it in any Indian securities, that is a mischief to India, is it?—The evil is in this way, that India therefore is unable to make any capital to make any benefit out of its own resources. The foreign espitalist comes in, both European as well as native—there are capitalists from Native States—and works up those resources and carries away the profit out of the country again. It is so much additional loss to the country on account of its helplessness. The original cause being these Rx. 20,000,000 drawn from them.

And the deduction which I must draw from that is that the investment by the soldier of his surplus pay in Indian securities is an evil to India?—Yes, in a way, I say that it comes indirectly.

I only want to follow that—that you regard the investment by the soldier of his surplus pay in Indian securities as an evil to India?—It comes in indirectly, it is economically an evil.

To illustrate your meaning, if there is a gold mine in Mysore which yields 10 per cent, the Indians there, having no accumulated capital, are not able to undertake that enterprise, and this 10 per cent. profit goes to English capitalists instead of to Indian capitalists, so that India gets no benefit from her gold mines. That, I understand, is the sort of idea?—Yes, and so with regard to all resources.

I was under the impression that that was the meaning in Mr. Naoroji's mind. Only you observe that he connects it with the particular payments made to the soldier and civilian; and it seemed to me that to connect the question of investment of capital with the surplus pay of the soldier and the civilian, and with what they do with that surplus pay, is really building too big an overstructure on a narrow foundation. If Mr. Naoroji puts it to us in the form in which you have put it to him, we should understand it. I only want to make quite clear what he means with regard to this particular Rx. 20,000,000.

It is a pure assumption that India is helpless and has no capital?—That is what I have proved in my six statements.

No, you have asserted it—not proved it I think?—But it is there. Would you consider the fact that almost every year in India four or five errors of rupees are raised as a public loan? How much of that comes from the Native States, we should like to know.

But you do not know how much?—Well, that is what I want to know from the India Office and from the Government of India. I shall have a remark to make about our not knowing certain things further on.

Yes?—But, with regard to that, when you consider that out of the 300 millions of people in the general poverty, of course there is a small portion that has some little capital and that very little capital comes out in some way of investment. That certainly does not enable India to go in freely with all its own resources to develop its own resources for its own benefit as Sir William Wedderburn has just pointed out. It is in this way that we are not able to develop our own resources, which we would otherwise do if we were not deprived of this money every year.

What evidence have you as to the accumulation of capital in India before the time of British Rule?—India has been well known to be a rich country before the time of British Rule, that it is its own riches that has brought all these invasions upon it, otherwise I do not think that the English would have come there had they thought that they would get no benefit out of going to India and merely to go on a quixotic expedition in order to save India from destruction or anything of that kind. And, besides that, the very fact that such an amount of wealth has been drawn from India shows that it has a capacity for producing if it is only allowed to enjoy what it produces.

One question more about this Rx. 20,000,000?—Yes.

I want to be perfectly fair on the subject. You speak of this Rx. 20,000,600 as if it went to England and was then returned in the shape of capital to India; but is it not the case that a very large amount of it is spent on the spot in India by the civil servant and by the soldier?—Yes.

And therefore, are you right in putting it forward that Rx. 20,000,000 comes to England and goes back again in the shape of investment?—No, I do not put the whole Rx. 20,000,000 as going to England. I first explained how a portion of it is spent in India; that portion is still to a certain extent to the detriment of an Indian, who would have taken his place; but that portion is spent there so far, with the loss that it is not enjoyed by an Indian but by a European.

I do not want to press this unduly, but would you not, therefore, modify your statement, "that Rx. 20,000,000 are not of "themselves the only evil; they return (that is the Rx. 20,000,000) "in the shape of capital to drain away great deal more"?—Yes I take the Rx. 20,000,000 as representing the whole evil, not simply for what passes out of the country, but

what is also consumed in the country by somebody else other than the Indian, but it is the actual amount of capital; of course I mean that the actual amount of capital that goes clean out of the country is what is left after allowing for what is spent there, so far as among the Iudians themselves—I do not mean to say that the whole of the Rx. 20,000,000 goes bodily out of the country entirely; I do not mean that.

Well, but that is your statement?-Oh, yes.

You would probably wish to modify that?—I think I have modified it; in fact, I have shown that this is the partial loss, and the other, which goes out of the country is the entire loss. Oh, yes, that may be clearly understood; it is clear on the face of it. Shall I go on?

Yes ?-The present machinery of foreign domination of government is most destructive in every way. If England were subjected to such machinery, notwithstanding all its present great wealth, it would be, like India, impoverished before long. The one other necessity to improve the machinery is that the people themselves must have a voice in its conduct. Till the people themselves have a voice, it is simply an Ociental despotism, and India does not derive that blessing which it has a right to demand from Britain, of a constitutional government in place of a despotic government of the worst kind; "the heaviest of all yokes is the yoke of the stranger" as Macaulay has truly said. Then the present machinery requires to be improved by the employment of native labour, by a fair share in the expenditure, of all that is insisted as necessary of foreign element in the services to maintain British Rule, and to give to the Indians the true and the only important blessing of the British Rule, the Right of British Citizenship, of having a voice in its own expenditure, thereby fulfilling all the solemn pledges and Acts of Parliament which the British people by every honour are bound to fulfil, and which have been so far dishonourably ignored and not fulfilled by the Executive Governments in both countries. I feel bound to repeat, that if the machinery of a number of Native States, as suggested by Lords Salisbury and Iddesleigh, be carried out, all the requirements of Britain's best interests and India's best interests will be

fully realised and fulfilled. I do sincerely hope that this Commission will see their way to an improvement of the present machinery, in a way beneficial both to England and India. I may add here my agreement to what I have already quoted from Sir Wm. Hunter: " But the good work thus commenced has assumed " such dimensions under the Queen's Government of India that it "can no longer be carried on or even supervised by improved "labour from England, except at a cost which India cannot "sustain," .. . " 40 years hereafter we should have had an "Indian Ireland multiplied fifty-fold on our hands. The condition " of things in India compels the Government to enter on these " problems. Their solution and the constant demand for improve-" ment in the general executive, will require an increasing amount " of administrative labour. India cannot afford to pay for that " labour at the English rates, which are the highest in the world " for official service. But she can afford to pay for it at her own " native rates, which are perhaps the lowest in the world for such "employment." "You cannot work with imported labour as cheaply "as you can with native labour, and I regard the more extended "employment of the natives not only as an act of justice but " as a financial necessity." "The appointment of a few natives "annually to the Covenanted Civil Service will not solve the " problem. . . . If we are to govern the Indian people efficient-"ly and cheaply we must govern them by means of themselves, "and pay for administration at the market rates of native "labour." This, I say, is a fair statement of the principal imperfections and evils of the present machinery, which must be improved as suggested. This peculiar inherent evil, or fundamental error, in the present British Indian administration and management of expenditure, and its consequences have been foretold more than 100 years ago by Sir John Shore (1787): "Whatever allowance " we make for the increased industry of the subjects of the State, " owing to the enhanced demand for the produce of it (supposing " the demand to be suhanced), there is reason to conclude that t' " benefits are more than counterbalanced by evils inseparable facted " the system of a remote foreign dominion". And it is signify remarkable that the same inherent evil in the present sys feet of administration and management of expenditure has be weighed

nearly 100 years, confirmed by a Secretary of State for India. Lord Randolph Churchill has said in a letter to the Treasury, (1886): "The position of India, in relation to taxation and the sources of the public revenues, is very peculiar, not merely from the habits of the people and their strong aversion to change, which is more especially exhibited to new forms of taxation, but likewise from the character of the Government, which is in the hands of foreigners who hold all the principal administrative offices, and form so large a part of the Army."

Might I interrupt you, is that true that you have just read, "who hold all"?—Hold all the principal administrative offices.

All ?—Yes, that at least is the assertion of the Secretary of State, but there are a few Natives now, I think, in those appointments—very few—such as a few Chief Justices.

A few Chief Justices?—I mean the judges, and there has been some little advance in the application of what was incorrectly called the Statutory Service; but they have put an end to that.

Well "all" is not correct, then ?—All the highest offices is certainly correct.

That has been much qualified, has it not?—Well, it is qualified to a very small extent in regard to some of the inferior offices; still, I have quoted what the Secretary of State says.

But the judges are not administrative departments?—No, not administrative nor executive.

All the principal administrative offices?—Yes, all the principal administrative offices. "The impatience of new taxation which "would have to be borne wholly as a consequence of the foreign "rule imposed on the country, and virtually to meet additions to "charges arising outside of the country, would constitute a political danger, the real magnitude of which it is to be feared is not all a appreciated by persons who have no knowledge of or concern in Bithe Government of India, but which those responsible for that haviovernment have long regarded as of the most serious order." Exect Salisbury, as Secretary of State for India, put the same that if nt evil in this manner: "The injury is exaggerated in the by Lords! India, where so much of the revenue is exported without ments of Lequivalent." And he indicates the character of the pre-

sent system of the administration and management of expenditure as being that "India must be bled." I need not say more upon this aspect of the inherent evil of the present system and machinery of expenditure. I give these opinious in these words as I agree with them, and as very significant as coming from high authority. Almost in words of prophecy Sir David Barbour and Lord Lausdowne uttered these words only four years ago on the present machinery of Government, Sir David Barbour said "The financial position of the Government of India at the present "moment is such as to give cause for apprehension." " prospects of the future are disheartening." Lord Lansdowne, as "Viceroy, said: "We should be driven to lay before the Council so "discouraging an account of our finances, and to add the "admission, that, for the present, it is beyond our power to " describe the means by which we can hope to extricate ourselves " from the difficulties and embarrassments which surround us." " My honourable friend is, I am afraid, but too well justified in "regarding our position with grave apprehension," "We have " to consider not so much the years which are past and gone as "those which are immediately ahead of us, and if we look forward "to these there can be no doubt that we have cause for " serious alarm." And now within four years, India is visited by the greatest and direct calamity as was feared. When will there be an end of these calamities? Sir George Wingate says, with which I agree, with regard to the present system of expenditure: "Taxes spent in the country from which they are raised " are totally different in their effect from taxes raised in one coun-" try and spent in another. In the former case the taxes collected "from the population . . . are again returned to the "industrious classes. . . . But the case is wholly different " when the taxes are not spent in the country from which they are "raised. . . They constitute . . . an absolute loss and "extinction of the whole amount withdrawn from the taxed " country . . . might as well be thrown into the sea. . . . "Such is the nature of the tribute we have so long exacted "from India. From this explanation some faint "conception may be formed of the cruel crushing effect of " the tribute upon India." "The Indian tribute, whether weighed

" in the scales of justice, or viewed in the light of our own interest " will be found to be at variance with humanity, with common 44 seuse, and with the received maxims of economic science." This is my criticism on the most vital aspects of the present machinery of the administration of expenditure. It is destructive to India, and will be disastrous to England, and cannot promote the general prosperity of the people. My statements have been in the hands of the Commission from 9 to 15 months (the sixth being about 6 or 7 weeks), and I cannot but trust that the Commission will have fully examined them, and know my views on the most important references to them; viz., the administrative machinery of expenditure and the apportionment of charges for common purposes. Now, coming direct to some of the incidence of the machinery, I say there is one thing very unfortunate in the Government of India; in both countries there is great disinclination to give information, especially if it is likely to tell against them. Even such information as Parliament prescribes and the Government of India itself tabulates. In the Act of 1856 (Section LIII.), Parliament provided that, among other information for its guidance, the Indian authorities should lay before it every year " a statement prepared from de-# tailed reports from each Presidency and district in India, in such " form as shall best exhibit the moral and material progress and " condition of India in each such Presidency." Thereupon such reports were ordered by the Government of India to be prepared by the Government, of each Presidency. As a beginning the reports were naturally imperfect in details. In 1862, the Government of India observed: "There is a mass of statistics in the " Administration Reports of the various Local Governments " but they are not compiled on any uniform plan so as " to show the statistics of the Empire (Fin. Con., June 1862)." The Statistical Committee, which the Government of India had organised for the purpose, prepared certain forms of tables. And after receiving reports on those forms from the different Governments made a report to the Government of India, with revised forms of tables (Office Memorandum, Financial Department, No. 1,043, dated 28th February, 1866). The members of this Committee were Mr. A. Grote, President, and Mesars. G. Campbell, D. Cowie, and

G. Smith. Now, if all these tables of the different departments were fully and carefully given, in the Annual Administration Reports, the non-official public and, for the matter of that, the officials themselves would be able to judge correctly the character of the efficiency or inefficiency of the departments. But the non-official public and Parliament have no means afforded them by the Government to understand and judge fairly the working of the whole machinery. The machinery of every department is a monstrosity. a huge heavy weight of lead, of high salaries to a few Europeans at the top, and the undermachinery from which all work originates is very weak, underpaid, and offering every temptation te corruption and oppression, and consequently both insufficient and inefficient, or worse than inefficient, as in the case of the police. If India were allowed the benefit of its own production, instead of being bled unceasingly, it is capable of giving as full resources to Government as this country is. But this is not allowed. Compare the expenditure incurred in this country to enjoy efficiency of administration and protection, with the wretched provision in India, because India is not allowed to enjoy its own. And consequently the whole machinery of Government is unworthy of an English administration. All this great imperfection and discredit would become clear to the public if the administration reports gave all the information which Parliament has asked, subject to such improvements as may be suggested from time to time. This is the chief reason why the nonofficial public in India are unable to criticise this machinery. Criticism presupposes knowledge and information of the subject, and this cannot be got. If we criticise without precise information, from general belief, we are at once come down upon as reckless, attacking Gevernment without knowledge, ill-informed sgitators, and what not, when really the head and front of the offence is the Government itself. I shall read the comparison I have made between the expenditure of this country and of India to show that with India's poor expenditure on India's benefit (after the bleeding). makes inefficiency and insufficiency of Government as a matter of course. The Duke of Deconshire, Lord Salisbury, Sir William Hunter, and others are perfectly justified in their views about the inefficiency and insufficiency of Government of India. And then I have got this table of comparison between the expenditure

incurred here for the sake of efficiency and the expenditure we can only provide it from very poor resources in India, which, of course, must naturally be insufficient and inefficient in Government. Am I to read all the figures or only just give the ultimate result?

Perhaps you will take the course that you think best for the Commission?-Very well. The United Kingdom, 1896-I have taken this from the Statistical Abstract Return, No. C. 8209 of 1896-United Kingdom expenditure-I exclude interest, because it does not form a part of the administration or protection-civil list, and civil administration list, 21,251,3571.; army, 18,459,8001. Navy I exclude, because we have no Navy, except a small marine expenditure, and therefore I do not think it just to put that in. Charges for the collection of revenue, 13,119,000L; total expenditure for administration and protection, excluding the Navy and interest-52,830,1571.; or 53,000,0001, for a population of 39,465,730, say, 40,000,000. This gives 11. 6s. 6d. per head, excluding the Navy and interest. On the side of British India: the statistical abstract of British India, Return C. 8233 of 1896; the figures are for 1894-5-1 exclude interest also. Post office, telegraph, and mint. Rx. 2,466,175; salaries and expenses of civil departments, Rx. 14,835,209; miscellaneous civil charges, Rx. 6,065,705; famine relief and insurance, Rx. 610,235; buildings and roads, Rx. 5,352,801; army services, Rx. 24,096,091; special defence works, Rx. 217,867; provincial expenditure defrayed from provincial balances, Rx. 560,860; direct demands on revenue, Rx. 9,722,041; deduct refunds, Rx. 280,555; the total amounts to Rx. 63,646,429, or, say, 640 million rupees, for nearly six times the population; for a population of 230 millions; and taking the population of 1891 as 221,172,952, and adding 4 per cent. for the subsequent four years, gives a total of 230,091,870-say, 230 millions population. The expenditure, therefore, per head comes to 2 rupees 12 annas per head as compared with 11, 6s. 6d. in the United Kingdom.

And what deduction do you draw from that? What is the impression it leaves on your mind; and what is the impression you wish to convey to the Commission?—The impression left on my mind, and what I wish to impress on the Commission, is, that resources of British India are so very poor that Government

cannot get more with all the taxation than 2 rupees and 12 annas per head for administration and protective charges. Consequently, necessarily this Government should be very inefficient, while here the fact that for efficient and good government the public are willing and are able to give 11. 6s. 6d. per head shows that the Government of British India naturally throws a great deal of discredit upon the Government of India for the poor resources that they have at their command for giving efficient and sufficient government.

I ask that question with reference to this point; you are comparing the rich—country and the poor country?—Yes.

You have dwelt very much upon the wealth of England, and very much upon the poverty of India; and yet from your putting those two totals together, it looked as if you thought it an evil that the administration in India did not cost more?—What I want to conclude is that the administration of India is very imperfect and very inefficient on account of its resources being so poor, caused by the foreign domination system, and the unnatural system which is introduced, or which is worked in India.

But I want to follow you out. Would you advocate a larger expenditure on administration in India?—Yes; I advocate that India should be left to be benefited by its own resources; and India would be able to give a great deal more for governing purposes, and be more efficiently governed than what it is at present. The cause of its being in such an unfortunate plight is that the system of machinery adopted there is a very unnatural and a very unfortunate one.

Then what is your conclusion; that if India was independent, would the independent Government double, treble, quadruple, quintuple the taxation in order to bring the expenditure to something more like the expenditure in England?—If India is allowed to keep its own resources to itself I am quite confident that India would be quite able to supply all the necessary funds as they are supplied here.

That is to say, that, if India were independent she would have to raise something like Rx. 300,000,000?—Very well.

And you really think that if India was independent, she could do that without damaging her own resources?—If India is allowed to retain all its resources whilst being dependent upon British Rule, because it is a great blessing—the British Supremacy—for various reasons; but if India is allowed to retain its resources instead of being bled by this foreign domination, India would be quite able to pay, if necessary, Rx. 200,000,000.

That is to say, that you are using that expression "if India was independent" because that is the easiest way of putting it?—You may put it in that way to illustrate the case.

That the Indian Governments in that day without doing harm to India, could quintuple the present taxation?—I cannot go so far as to say that it would quadruple or sextuple it; but still, I have no doubt that it would supply all the necessary funds for efficient government.

I want to get at your standard. You are holding up to us a comparison between the expenditure in England of 11. 6s. 6d., and the expenditure in India of 2 rupees and 12 annas?—Yes.

And your evidence would lead us, I think, to think that India, under a happier state of things, would emulate, in order to get a thoroughly good administration, the expenditure per head which obtains in this country?—Yes.

I want to give you the opportunity of qualifying the statement if you think it necessary. It leads to this, that in some shape or other you are to get out of India, which you say is a poor country, say, five times the present revenue. It is a question of the difference between the 11.6s. 6d. and those 2 rupees 12 annas a head, which, I think, take it up very closely to Rx. 300,000,000. That is multiplying its present revenue by six or seven. Do you think that a poor country, if it were only under an independent Government, could raise that amount of money without impairing its resources ?-With this British Supremacy, what is poor now would become rich if it is allowed to keep its own benefits. The only qualification I have to make, whether she will need even so much money as England requires for efficiency, is this: that labour there and efficient labour and native labour would be so much cheaper, a good deal cheaper, than what it is here, and the result would be that perhaps if we did not require Rz. 200,000,000 or Rx. 300,000,000, or as many times as the difference now exists; but certainly India would be quite capable of supplying as much as may be necessary for its own efficient and sufficient government; that I have not the least doubt whether it would be 150,000,000 or 200,000,000, or 150,000,000, I have not the least fear that India's resources would be found quite equal to the necessities of its wants.

You see the practical remedy which you have indicated to us as a means of arriving at this result is that, whereas Rx. 20,000,000 is now spent upon European soldiers and European civilians, that amount should be spent upon Indians, that is to say that Indians should receive this Rx. 20,000,000; but, supposing that was done, that would not supply anything like the difference which would be necessary to raise the two rupees up to a level of 11. 6s. 6d. per head, and therefore you would have to find the difference by some other method?—If what is taken out of the country is saved to the country its economical effect would be to enrich the country.

But you cannot enrich it more than the sum?—No. This sum remaining in the country will economically provide far better effects than it does at present. It is not the saving of the Rx. 20,000,000 only, it would be the saving of all the reproduction, fructification of the money in the ccuntry itself.

But that Rx. 20,000,000 laid out there could only produce a certain interest?—It is not all interest, it is developing the resources of the country which might quintuple and make the riches of the country far greater than what they are. It will make, in fact, the country rich if all that is drawn away from India is saved in it and becomes its own resources. It is the capital, the blood of the country.

May I interpret it in this way, that if that Rx. 20,000,000 was left in Indian pockets it would produce every year Rx. 300,000,000, and that gain, realised by laying out those Rx. 20,000,000 in India, would enable the Indian Government to raise the rate of taxation from 2 rupees 12 annas a head to something like 11. 6a, 6d... It is a very large deduction. 1 am delighted to hear that India is so rich that laying out Rx. 20,000,000 would produce in a year between Rx. 200,000,000 and Rx. 300,000,000?—Of course it will not

produce it in a year, but it will first have to fill up the gap of all that has been drawn away, and it will raise it gradually to that rich condition which it is capable of. Of course to say that these Rx. 20,000,000 saved this year will enable the Government of India to have Rx. 20,000,000 for the purposes of Government cannot be thought of. Of course I never meant that, but if those Rx. 20,000,000 or Rx. 30,000,000, or whatever it is that is drawn from India, is saved to it, it will gradually work its economical effect in enriching Iudia every year by increased foreign trade, by increased production, and in that manner will make it strong enough and rich enough to give the Government of India such resources as may be necessary to their heart's content,

I am only anxious to bring out clearly, Mr. Naoroji, what you mean by it in order to give you an opportunity of making any modification of the statements which you have just given us in evidence?—Yes.

Recause at present it certainly, I think as it stands, would sound rather drawing wide deductions from small premises. You point out to us that India is a very poor country, you go on to say that, if she was independent, you would quintuple her expenditure in order to bring her up to somewhere near the standard that you suggest it should be or to the English standard, and you produce that result by proposing that a comparatively small sum in salaries and pay, which now goes to Europeans, should go to Indians?—Yes. It is not the amount that is so much the difficulty. If the people get back what they give, as here, India can give in time all that may be necessary, Rx. 200,000,000 or Rx. 300,000,000.

And you think that that comparatively small sum kept in India would result, perhaps in a few years, in this enormous sum in order to raise the expenditure of India to semething like the level of the English expenditure?—I thank you very much for pointing out the likely misunderstanding which would arise, and therefore I have given the modifying answers, so that it may not be misunderstood. Then I have given an illustration here. I have taken just one instance of public education in which I have also worked out those figures which come to for primary education alone; here 4s. 6d. per head of the population, while in British India it comes to about one anna and-half a pie per head. I just point

out my object in bringing this illustration was not to point out that the figures must be equal, but that there is a great disparity on account of certain causes which I lay stress upon.

And I think that you do not lay stress upon the word "independent" which the Chairman used?—No, I do not at all.

You mean that if a suitable system is adopted it will tend greatly to prosperity; it will allow of much heavier taxation and sufficient taxation?—Quite right; that is what I mean.

And that the present system is as though the people were to consume the seed corn which is needed for next harvest, it will produce destitution even though sowing that seed corn may not immediately produce prosperity. I think that is the drift of your evidence?—Yes,

In using the phrase "independent Government," I was only wanting to get out your view, Mr. Naoroji, that if the English Government were removed, and, therefore, if the great evil which is pressing on India in your view were removed, India under a better system of administration would be able to work in the direction of the model which you have put before us; namely, the amount of expenditure in this country?—Of course. What I mean is that I for one, certainly do not wish to sever the connection with Britain. On the contrary it is my extreme desire that the connection with Britain may last a very long time for the benefit of both countries; it is for that reason alone that I am struggling; if it were otherwise, I think I had better remain quiet.

Then may we take that as giving your views upon the machinery of administration?—Upon the machinery of administration.

There is nothing you would like to add to that ?-No. I do not think I have got anything to add here.

I mean that is a general statement of your views?-A general statement.

But I would bring it before you that it hardly touches the subjects that have been before us and upon which Indian officials have placed very full information before us; namely, the analysis of the different branches of public expenditure in India. Beyond your comment upon the small amount spent in education, do I understand that you do not wish to offer any criticisms upon the description they have given of Indian administration in

all its branches?-No, I do not offer any criticism upon those details for the simple reason that I confine myself especially to the important point for which I asked the Commission and for which Sir Henry Fowler said that he wanted to prove that there was prosperity or not from the machinery of the Government as it existed. I therefore applied myself fully to prove that point that it did not promote prosperity. I therefore did not apply myself to the little details for two reasons, first that you cannot get information from the public records of any kind so as to go very minutely into precise figures, and for the present purpose for which this Commission, as far as I was concerned, was asked was the important purpose of the principles upon which the whole Government expenditure was conducted, and these principles being unnatural any discussion upon the details of the different departments will benefit nothing excepting perhaps proposing a reduction here and a reduction there which is soon forgotten and which is the fate of all the previous Commissions that have generally taken place, and as I know of the Financial Committee of 1871-4. I purposely, therefore, wanted to bring out as prominently as possible this fundamental evil difficulty, by the removal of which both England and India may benefit.

Then may we take it that you confine your recommendation for reform of Administration in India to the doing away with the European element—I do not want to put this in an antagonistic manner, but merely to get out your view?—No.

From your evidence I gather that your remedy is to do away with the European element in India and replace that element by an Indian Army and by an Indian Administration—no Europeans being employed in the Army, no Europeans being employed in the Administration—that I abould gather to be your view?—No. I can explain what I mean; I do not mean that there should be no Europeans at all in the Army, nor in the Civil Administration. What I want to say is—even Lord Ripon put it as the irreducible minimum—that as far as possible every native added in the service will be a gain to the Administration of the country, and that if any portion of Europeans is considered as absolutely necessary it is on the ground of the maintenance of the British Rule; otherwise there will be no necessity as far as the British Government

or the British people are concerned. In that case, I say in fairness, if they went for the common purpose, and I admit that is a benefit to India also, that in fairness the expenditure incurred upon the European portion—the irreducible minimum—should be fairly divided between the two countries instead of putting the whole burden upon India. As to the employment of every Indian, of course, India ought to pay and should be very prepared to pay.

You put your suggestion before us as a means of raising the expenditure of India to something like a level of the expenditure of England. As far as possible the Europeans in the Army and the Europeans in the Administration should be replaced by Indians. The mere fact of paying an Indian, you look upon it, instead of a European would have such a fructifying effect that in the course of a certain number of years it would enable the Indian Government to raise taxation up to almost the level of the English taxation. But you go further, and you say wherever Europeans are employed that England should repay. Therefore the position would be this, that supposing, we will say, that only onefourth of the present force were retained of Europeans that would cost something like Rx. 5,000,000, I am now taking the figures of Rx. 20, 000, 000 as the total that will be paid by England to India by your view, and that would be the sole immediate cash benefit ?- Immediate benefit, yes.

Beyond that the Rr. 15,000,000 would be paid to Indians, and that left in the Indian pocket would produce this enormous interest or fructifying power, which would enable the Indian Government within a few years to raise the expenditure per head from 2 rupees 12 annas to something like 1 l. 6s. 6 d. per head ?—Sticking to that comparison between the two as I have brought in this table as an illustration, I do not think it is fair to me. What I mean there is that India, if left to such resources as I am mentioning, will be able to supply all its wants, and at the cheaper rate of labour every demand required of themselves; but I say if it requires Rx. 200,000,000 or if it requires Rx. 150,000,000 to be more efficient and sufficient to give that, Indian resources are quite enough to meet all its wants, provided those resources remain in its hands.

That is the object with which I asked these questions?-Yes,

You placed this before us as a model?—Yes, as an illustration.

And your evidence after that, I think, pointed very much to this—you were giving the cost of the English Administration at home as a type, and you considered that something of the kind should be the object of administration in India. The increase of taxation which that involves in so poor a country, is, of course, very startling. I wanted to be quite sure that there was no modification in the case that you are putting before us that you would wish to make?—Yes.

Now, I understand that you modify it so far as this, that you do not put the 11. 6σ , 6d. as an absolute type?—No.

But, of course, you do leave it that a very large increase of expenditure is necessary in India for Indiau purposes?—Yes.

And therefore that considerable means ought to be found for that purpose; but the one practical remedy which you suggest is, that a certain number of Europeans who are now employed in India should be replaced by Indians?—Yes. The principle which I approve is that which was declared "by the "Duke of Devonshire, who said: "If the country is to be "better governed, that can only be done by the employment of "the beat and most intelligent of the natives in the service," and "as pointed out by Sir W. W. Hunter, if we are to govern the "people of India efficiently and cheaply, we must govern them by "means of themselves, and pay for the administration at the "market rates of native labour". An administration conducted on these principles will stop the material, political, and intellectual drain from India.

And I think you are able to illustrate the general problem to which the Chairman has referred, the wonderful improvement in the case of Mysore, which was handed over to native rule in a condition of great financial difficulty, and which is now able to raise a large ravenue and to do a great deal for the public good, and yet is in a prosperous financial condition. It is not to the mere interest profit out of sums invested, but to a more economical and suitable

method of administration that you look for the prosperity which will bear the additional expenditure. Is that not so?—Yes. In the case of the Mysore State this method was adopted by Lords Salisbury and Iddesleigh "as a guarantee for the good govern-"ment of the people, and for the security of British rights and inter-"esta." This experiment, though disapproved by the Anglo-Indian authorities, was loyally and effectively carried out by them, and proved a brilliant success, resulting in a contented people, a full treasury, moral and material progress, and attachment to British Supremacy. It is a brilliant episode in British Indian History. Similarly British India will be prosperous and contented if the same principles are followed, local administration being entrusted to competent native officials under European control, co-operating with representative assemblies.

I understand that it is your desire that British Rule in India should be continued and strengthened?—I gladly recognise the benefits of British Rule, especially as regards law and order, education, and freedom of the press and public meeting; but I believe that British power and influence are much weakened by the refusal to administer expenditure in a way so as to give the people justice and a voice in their own affairs, by the consequent "extreme poverty" of the masses, and by the non-fulfilment of the solemn pledges given by Parliament and the Crown, of equal opportunity in the public service to all subjects of Her Majesty; and I sincerely desire to see British Rule strengthened on the lines most beneficial to the people both of Iodia and of Britain.

Then, before we pass on to apportionment, I would call your attention to one point, Mr. Naoroji. We have a proverh here, "take care of the pence and the pounds will take care of themselves". That argument does not apply in India, does it? Your evidence does not deal with the reform of the administration in its details?—Taking care of the pence and an examination like this which you have so very carefully and with much trouble carried out has its use. What I want to point out was that that alone by itself will not remove that general condition of the poverty of India, and all the bad effects of the present system of administration, unless we go into the question of the

principle upon which the whole administration of expenditure is based.

Quite so?—And I wanted to impress upon the Commission particularly that they must fully treat India on righteous principles, and if that is once settled a great deal of the difficulty would be removed; the whole Indian problem will be solved; and there would be time enough then to go into the details which will be a matter of necessity, as here, every year, there is an examination of the details of Government in the discussion on the Budget.

Quite so. You have put before us your general view of the manner in which the reform of the administration should be effected and its results. The Commission, 1 think, might regard the remedies you propose as outside their powers-but within our powers we have had a very exhaustive examination of the details of administration, and I was anxious to know whether in the course of that examination you had any views to express upon the different branches of the public service as they have been brought before us. It is only by going into those details that economy can be effected; I rather gather from you that you are not prepared to offer us any suggestions or criticisms upon this evidence which has been placed before us ?-No; I do not enter into the criticism of the details, as I have already explained that, with the best results that may be obtained, there is very much of this criticism that would not touch the chief evil and the real evil of the whole matter; and so far as the Government of India is concerned, taking the things as they are, they are doing what they can to a very great extent, and I do not find much fault with them as far as the machinery is adopted by them subject to all human imperfections as they have. An examination like this of details at regular intervals something like what it was every 20 years in the case of the East India Company might be very important to check any unnecessary expense, or any extravagance in expenditure, and that also has been discussed during the last Financial Committee. On the present occasion my chief contention, and I wanted particularly to keep aloof from the details for the very reason that I may direct the Commission as pointedly as possible to going to the root of the whole evil, so that there may be some permanent benefit, and therefore I am not prepared to go into the criticism of the details. I did that deliberately and I may say generally, as I said just now that the Government of India avoiding the question of the evil of this principle of administration they are doing as well as they can, with all human imperfections and requiring criticism from time to time. They are doing their work with a sufficient desire to administer in the best way possible. I am quite willing to give them that credit, that the officials are doing what they can, even under very disadvantageous and evil circumstances.

And does not that somewhat justify my quoting the proverb about the pence? Is it not worth taking care of the penuies?—Only that these points will all again come back when the Government of India falls into its own regime, and there will be no good done. And that was my own personal course that I have taken. I do not know; my other friends may be able to go into some criticism of details here.

You have been critical upon the Indian administration and you have stated that the information, I think, was not forthcoming which would enable you more effectually to criticise Indian administration?—Yes, that is true; that is the great want.

But has not this Commission given you a very fair opportunity for obtaining that information. We have had the responsible Indian officials before us?—Yes.

And was not that a far better opportunity to cross-examine them and elicit from them this information which is wanting, rather than after the time to say that examination is difficult because the information is not forthcoming?—Yes; but the information that has come before the Commission is of that kind, expecially from the official point of view, is a one-sided information to a large extent necessarily to justify their own way of procedure. We have not that information which would enable us to know behind the scenes what is wanting in it. Only we should have in order to criticise, and that is a great disadvantage for every non-official witness that he cannot criticise, because he has not a full knowledge and a complete knowledge, and he does not know what to ask. It is for the Government of India to give

this information as is asked by the Committee of the Government of India and by Parliament, and we would then be able to criticise more effectually and more precisely what decrease, or what extravagance, or what waste has taken place in any particular department, or in any particular way.

I think, Mr. Naoroji, a man who has given so much attention to these subjects as you have evidently done from the papers which you have laid before us, is in a position, when he is put face to face with the official witnesses, to elicit from them those weak points upon which they have not given us, in his opinion, full information?—We have not got such information as would enable us to know what the weak points are. The official witnesses really do not point out what their weak points are, and we are not able to point out those weak points for the simple reason that we have no information, or very imperfect information which would not help.

If you have no information, is it quite fair to make a general attack on Indian administration ?- The general attack is perfectly justified from the results. The results show that the very nature of the administration with the poor resources at the command of the Government, that the Government must be inefficient and insufficient, and the general attack I made is not so much upon the Government as officials, but upon the system upon which they are working, that system being an evil system. They cannot help but do what of course would produce unsatisfactory results. I have not the least wish to attack the Government of India or officials, because I do not believe they themselves would do any evil. It is the cause of the evil system upon which they are working, and which requires to be considered and modified so that they themselves may be able to do their work with greater actisfaction to themselves as well as with greater satisfaction to the people. That is the principle which I wanted specially and principally to bring forward,

Of course, the point to which I am directing your attention is this. We have had a large amount of evidence before us of an official character; and we have done our best on the Commission not only to get the best official evidence, but also the evidence of high officers who have held posts in India, and who are above the ordinary official witnesses. In addition we have been anxious to learn native opinion upon the subject; and here a very large field of examination has been opened, upon which, I think, every opportunity has been given in bringing over witnesses from India. to undergo examination; every fair demand for information has been fairly met, and at the end of it I am anxious to learn from you whether, from a native point of view and as representing native opinion, you have any criticism to offer upon the subject ' more immediately interesting to us, namely, administrative management of expenditure in its details?-If this question of the greatest importance upon which I insist is put aside, and if simply the machinery as it is taken, supposing it to be, as it were, machinery in which that evil did not exist, I have not much criticism to offer myself. I do not think it so much necessary that I need go into very great detail in order to point out any defects in any particular department.

With regard to what you say of not being able to get the information of certain definite facts, can you give the Commission a note of the points on which you had asked for information, and you have not got it, and points on which you desire information from the India Office or the Indian Government, can you give a statement to that effect?—I can give it at once just now; to say that if all the tables which are proposed by the Government of India were fully filled up for any particular year, we shall be able to offer a good deal of criticism.

Yes; but will you just give a form that you wish filled up, and then I have no doubt the Chairman will consider whether they can be obtained?—Yes, I can do that if the India Office would be good enough to give us the Report of that Committee which settled the tables, and from those tables—those tables are the very tables that they have not placed before the Commission.

What tables are those?—The tables that were fixed by this Committee of Sir George Campbell and others, and what the different administrative officials give in their Administrative Reports, and if those tables were supplied with the information I think, it would be good for the Government itself as well as for the public to understand each other, and a good deal of misunderstanding and misapprehension will then be removed, and then the statement

I can lay partly as I pointed out in one instance already in my Report with regard to the agricultural tables a factor of depreciation. I have got those tables at page 4 of my statement of the 9th January, 1896, and as they were prescribed by this Committee, and if this information is fully given, we should be able very well to ascertain what the capacity, and what the condition of the people is. This is only one set of tables, and there are tables with regard to the Judicial Department, and with regard to the Police Department, with all the departments, and if those tables were correctly and fully given of course, we have all the information, It is not that the information does not exist; this Commission would have been very much helped and we would have been very much helped, to help the Commission in the most effective manner possible.

Do you wish to ask Mr. Naoroji to put in such a paper?

I should like a note of that to be put in, and to state distinctly what is the information that you consider necessary?—Very good. I shall require, Sir James Peile, if I can be given a copy of the Report of this. Committee, with all the tables connected with it, I was obliged to go — even those few tables that I have made—I was kindly allowed to go to the India Office by Sir Charles Bernard, and to copy out some of those which I immediately required.

Has a copy been refused to you?—Yes, a copy has been refused, for this reason, that they have got it all bound up in one volume, and no spare copy.

But you can come and consult it here?—So I went and copied what was required for this purpose. If a copy could be made by a clerk, or by the India Office, it would save me a great deal of trouble; if not, I will come and copy it all myself, in order to place it here.

You drew attention to the difference between the salaries payable to Europeans and to Natives, and seem to think that India would gain very much if the salaries were reduced to the native scale. Can you give any instance of the high salaries which you think would be saved if a system of native employees was introduced?—All the high positions are of such salaries that the Government of India does say that if any Indian is employed

in any of those places two-thirds the salary would be quite enough for him, as a very liberal salary. The Government of India and the Secretary of State, has himself laid down this condition, that wherever an Indian is employed in place of a European, that two-thirds of the salary ought to be enough for him. That in itself at once saves one-third. But then I go further than that, even those two-thirds in its economical effect will be still of far greater benefit, as well as the one-third saved.

And is it the rule at present when a native is appointed to any one of those high positions that he receives two-thirds of the salary?

—Yes, I think that is the rule now.

May I correct you?-Is it not?

No; that rule is now abolished. Under the Provincial Service there are special rates of salary lower than the European rates fixed for the natives, except in the lighest appointments, such as the High Court, where a Native Judge gets the same salary as a European Judge?-Yes. What I say is that even in the highest positions a lower salary will be accepted by quite equally efficient men, even on the scale which the Government of India itself has laid down; but at present, of course, it produces to a certain extent dissatisfaction, for one official is paid at a very high salary for services of the same character done by a native. If the European officials were also brought down to the same salary as the Indian there would be some fairness; that the salary is paid not according to the individual, but according to the services done: and if it is paid according to the services done, there will be a great deal of saving, not only two-thirds, but, I think less-at least this is my opinion—that these high salaries can be reduced with satisfaction both to the Government, as a relief to them, and to the Indians, that they have employment in their own country.

Does that apply to any very large number of appointments?—There are very few appointments yet given in that way.

But is there a very large number of these high appointments?-Yes.

To which high salaries are attached ?-Yes,

Which could be reduced, do you think, if a Native Indian was employed?—Here we have got a Return which gives us the figures. I got them out. From what salary do you think I should begin in. Here is a Return from Rs. 1,000 per annum up to—well, take the salary of the Viceroy, 25,000l. Then, as you go through, we go to the highest, the number, of course, is smaller, but the amount is very large. If you look at this, this will give you the exact figures, and we can work them out if you like.

But you think that below the very highest appointments there are salaries which are too high for the scale of work, either for the European or for the Native?—Yes, there are to a very great extent—all those salaries. The very fact that the Government has determined, in regard to the Covenanted Civil Service especially, that any appointment now, except those that pass here with the other competitors, that they are kept, I think, on the same level, but when the Statutory Service was passed, that is to say, the Service under the Act of 1870, the Government passed a rule that any appointments given to them should have two-thirds of the salaries paid to Europeans, and that regulates appointments under the Statutory Service; though the Act exists, its action is repealed by the Secretary of State himself, though Parliament required that a certain number of Indians should be every year appointed in India itself, and that Act of 1870 is now a dead letter.

Did you say a dead letter?—It is a dead letter is the Act of 1870. The Provincial Service is now introduced, which really does not supply what this Act of 1870 meant.

Why?—Why, because it does not come to the same level. In the Act of 1870, it was intended that the Indians appointed in India itself, without being required to come to this country, were to be put exactly on the same footing as those who went from this country, in fact, they were to form an integral part of the Civil Service. Well, this went on for 10 years, and then the Secretary of State decided that no further appointments should be made in that way. In 1878, the Government of India urged very strongly not to act upon that Act, and to introduce what I may call the Provincial Service. The Secretary of State refused to do that; the Secretary of State wished that the Act should be carried out in its integrity, and then only after the Secretary of State's resistance the rules were made. For aix years no notice whatever was taken of this Act, either here or in India.

For what six years?—From 1870 to 1876. The Secretary of State, from here, several times reminded the Government of India to make rules, but they did not do it until they were pressed afterwards, and in 1878 they wrote a long despatch, trying to persuade the Secretary of State for India not to compel them to make these rules, and not to carry out the Act of 1870.

The Statute was passed in 1870, was it not ?—The Statute was passed in 1870.

Are you aware that rules were prepared and sent here for approval in 1873?—Yes, that I became aware of when the Blue Book was published, but the rules that were sent were not received, as far as I can understand, were not adopted by the Secretary of State, and it was in 1876 or 1877.

Do you know why they were not adopted?—That I cannot say, because the information is not given in the Blue Book.

Well, I will give you the information. You could have had it at any time in the Report of the Public Service Commission?— Yes.

The difficulty was that the Law Officers of the Crown raised an objection to the rules proposed by the Government of India. Do you know when the next set of rules were proposed; you said nothing was done for six or eight years?—The next set of rules was proposed by Lord Cranbrook, who pressed those rules again.

What year?-That was again in 1877 or 1876.

No, in 1875, on the contrary ?—I know; I have not even the despatch, I think.

Revised rules were drawn up by Lord Northbrook's Government in 1875?—Very well: I am very glad to have all that information.

Rules were proposed in 1873 and 1875; and then what next?

—They were only settled in what year?

The rules were sanctioned in that year?—When was the Act brought into regular operation?

It was brought into regular operation in 1875?—Were there sany elections or nominations made in 1875?

One or two, I believe ?-No.

Yes ?-I do not think -at least that is my knowledge-that no nominations were made.

Well, we differ ?—I know I had none from the India Office. Every Member of the Council, when I complained to him that no notice was taken of the Act of 1870—that the rules were made and finally settled —I do not know whether it was in 1877 or 1878, and the very first nominations were made much later; that is my information; that is just our difficulty.

The rules were not finally settled, but a new set of rules was prepared in 1878, to give more thorough effect to the Statute?—Very well, if the rules were made in 1878 to give thorough effect to the Statute.

More thorough?—Very well, more thorough; I am very glad. Then it is very strange that those rules were abolished, and the nomination entirely put an end to altogether; why were they not carried out while the Statute was still standing?

When were they abolished?—The nomination continued, as far as I can remember, about 10 years,

And why were they abolished?—That I do not know. The Government of India was determined, even in their despatch, that long despatch, I do not know whether it was in 1877 or 1878; they recommended very strongly that those rules should not be made, and that Provincial Service should be adopted.

That does not really concern the question?—Yee; it concerns this question.

I asked you why were they abolished ?-Willy they were abolished is the thing.

Was it not that after the experience of a good many years it was found that the system introduced in 1879 did not work satisfactorily?—Yes; very well there is nothing strange in that; it was actually foretold by people that it would not work, because the raise were not satisfactory.

Then in 1886 a Commission was appointed to consider the whole subject ?—Yes,

On which native members sat ?-Yes.

And they reported. And the consequence of their report was that a new system was adopted, which is new in force?—
Yes. I know that the Commission was appointed and that the Commission came to that conclusion. The fact of the matter is, and of course, I do not want to attribute any motives,

but the effort of the Government of India was to have the rules that they themselves had suggested to the Secretary of State in that long despatch, to be somehow or other got into operation, and this Act of 1870 should not be carried out in its full extent. The result of that was that first the rules were made very unsatisfactorily. Instead of making rules by which the nominations in India should be of the same standing, the same competence, and under the same tests of examinations; instead of that the rules made were to leave the Governments-the different Governments -to make their choice; and, in my opinion, without any satisfactory test of competence. Well, the result was that the rules were made which were very unsatisfactory, which were not as they ought to have been, and the result was naturally that discredit should be brought upon them. The rules themselves showed in their very face; whether there was the intention or not; but that that should be the result where the nominations were made merely according to the ideas of the Government of the day, instead of having any public good test, just as it was, adopted here for the competitive examination.

The Government of India themselves tried in various ways to give effect to the Statute?—Yes,

And they have now introduced a new system which is on its trial, and which appears to have a satisfactory working?—Yea. Well, this new system they were determined to have.

That is all I wish to ask you?—That is quite right. I wish to say this, that this new system which is now introduced was the Government of India's desire many years before, publicly expressed in their public despatch, and they did try at least to carry that system of their own into effect and nullify the Act, as it was originally, no doubt. That is what I have to say.

Was not the object of the Act of 1870, to give promotion to higher offices to men of experience and qualifications already in the service who had shown their competency. Was not that the object of the Act?—That was a part of the object.

That was one of the objects of the Act ?—Yes; that was one of them.

And the objection to the rules was that they allowed the Government of India to appoint young mon of good family or other. wise without any qualifications at all?—Without any qualifications at all.

And that was the objection to the rules, and it was owing to that that public opinion in India considered that the Statutory Service was not successful?—No.

But it would have been successful if it had been carried out, thoroughly in the spirit of the Act of 1870?—That is what I say.

But, however, you are willing to accept the proposal or the idea that if the natives were employed in any of those places the salaries could be very largely reduced?—Yes; certainly salaries could be reduced by one-third as it is already settled; and I think that if a fair trial is given many thoroughly efficient persons would be able to accept these higher offices at less than two-thirds because the original standard is very high.

Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji, I suppose you stand by all that you have said in the pamphlets which you have printed for the instruction of the Commission?—Yes.

I understand that your views may be summarised in this way, first, that India is so crushed with taxation and impoverished by the withdrawal of her wealth abroad, that the Indian people are ground to the dust and reduced to starvation?—These are the words of authorities.

Secondly, that the European services, and the present forced inordinate and arbitrary employment of Europeans are India's greatest evil, and the cause of all its economic miseries and destruction?—Yes.

And, thirdly, that the Government of India is an unrighteous system of selfishness and despotiam? Yes; I have said that.

Carried on by the Anglo-Indian authorities in defiance of the desires and biddings of the British people and Parliament ?—Yes. Well, the desire of the British people in Parliament is distinctly pointed out by the Act of 1833, by the Proclamation of the Queen which is again repeated at the last Jubilee. There you have the whole policy of the British people in Parliament set forth, and if that had been carried out, and even if it were now carried out, the whole difficulty would disappear, and the British Government would indeed be a great blessing to India, and India will not be a less blessing to England. That is what I say.

With regard to the taxation; you are at considerable pains to prove that the taxation of India is exceptionally low, as compared with that of European nations, and of the Indian Native States?—I want to show there is a little misunderstanding; it is exceptionally low in amount, and far heavier in incidence and pressure than even British taxation, because of the incidence of taxation, as I have explained over and over again.

That would depend, of course, on the comparative poverty of the people?—Upon the comparative capacity and poverty of the people.

Yes?—That when you take the whole production over India and you take the whole production of this country, and compare the taxation in this country with the whole wealth, and compare the taxation of India with their capacity you will find that the percentage of the incidence of that taxation in India is higher than the percentage of taxation as compared with the wealth of this country, with such information as we have got.

Well, it amounts to this, that the people being poor, the Government has kept the taxation of India extraordinarily low; but when you come to the incidence of taxation on wealth, and you allege increasing poverty, and crushing taxation, I want to know what proof you have of the capacity and wealth of the Indian people ?- I first worked out the poverty of India, the total production of India mostly on official authority; this calculation has been before the public and I should have been very glad if any mistake had been pointed out. When Lord Cromer-Sir Evelya Baring-gave his opinion as that the production of the country was 27 rupees per head per annum-while I have made it 20 rupees per head per annum which, however, will not make · very great differnce,-however, I asked Sir Evelya Baring, the present Lord Cromer, to give me that calculation so that I might see whether I had made a mistake, or who has made the mistake. Unfortunately that calculation was not given to me, and therefore I adhere to my resolution that the total production of India-British India-is on the average only 20 rupees per head per arnum.

That is the total income of the people?—No; there is a little confusion, only the total preduction, actually the quantity of material wealth produced in the year by cultivation, by manufacturers, from the mines and so on, all these accumulated as the total wealth of the country produced during the year and calculated at the prices which are always published regularly. We will make out—and the whole process of calculation is given in my books—we make out that the average cost of about 20 rupees per head per annum.

Then, with a family of seven or eight, the production, not the income, would be Rs. 140, Rs. 160, and so on ?—Yes, and it is not enough to keep them.

That is at best an assumption?—And it is by comparing the consumption I have given, not only the production; the production may be very small in amount, and yet if the requirements of consumption may also be comparatively small in amount there would be nothing to complain of; but they are not able to produce as much as would even satisfy their ordinary want of common labour. These figures also I have given there, and I have not up to this time had pointed out to me that they are wrong. I have had correspondence direct with the India Office—I laid down all this—and I have not had any reply to refute those figures from the India Office.

Do you think that calculations of that kind in a country like India are of any value whatever?-Even Lord Cromer himself has said that, for all practical purposes they are sufficiently approximate, we cannot expect them to the farthing; but at the same time in India we have this advantage, that Government has almost all the information it can require to calculate such a result as that. What the result really m of the annual wealth produced in the country which is not very easy here in this country, but there they being principal proprietors, as you may say, why they have all the details of land cultivation in every way. Then the Administration Reports also give, what manufactures are done, what mines exist, and so on we have very substantial material to go upon in order to calculate from year to year what the real production is or the amount of wealth that is produced every year, and from which the State expenditure and taxation has to be paid, and were that taxation 30 return to the people as it returns here, notwithstanding such

a large debt the interest comes back to the taxpayers, the whole tax that is raised comes back to the taxpayers, there is nothing to complain of, that is the difference.

Now as regards crushing texation, I see here you take the taxation of 1886 of India and from that you deduce that the taxation comes to about 5s. 6d. a head. Well, in looking into the details of that year—?—Will you kindly tell me what page it is, and which report it is of mine?

It is page 27 ?-What date is it No. III.?

I am not going into the pamphlet; the 9th of January is the date, but I am merely referring to it?—9th of January. Yes and what is the page?

The 27th page?—27, thank you. Yes, this pamphlet was written, it is a copy of the pamphlet that was written, in reply to Sir Grant Duff in those years.

On looking to the items that make up the taxation which you give there as about Rx. 57,000,000, the first item I remark on is Land Revenue, about Rx. 23,500,000?—What are my figures to which you refer?

I am not referring to any of your figures; I am referring to the details, the items, which make up your Rx. 57,000,000?—Rx, 57,116,000; I have got it only from public records, I have not created it myself.

No, I am not disputing it ?- No.

The first item which makes up your total is the Land Revenue?—Yes.

Rr. 23,500,000 ?-Yes.

You consider that to be taxation?—It is taken from the wealth of the country whether you call it taxation of rent, or anything; it does not matter at all as far as the economic condition is concerned. I think Lord Salisbury himself has discussed that point in one of his minutes, if I remember right, in which he says that you may call it taxation or you may call it rent, but he is more inclined to call it taxation, as so much taken off from the country for revenue purposes.

I do not wish to enter into any controversy as to the nature of the Land Revenue ?—No; very well.

But I will just set you one question, when a man is taxed is he taxed on his own property or income, or on the property of some other person?—On his own property.

On his own property ?-- Yes.

Now is it not the fact that throughout all history a portion of the produce of the land in India has belonged to the Ruler or Crows?—Yes.

In that case it does not belong to the producer?—You take the principles of the despotic Government. I grant that as a fact. Go on; yes, I will answer that question if you like.

I am quite satisfied with your answer. Does not the British Land Revenue as it is now constituted represent the share which the former Native Governments used to own of the produce of the land?—Yes; in its economic effect you may call it the property of the Government or the property of the people, it is not of the slightest consequence, because in those days though Government took this half it used it on the government of the country, and every farthing of that balf remained in the country. It is there that the difficulty lies; I do not care at all whether it is.

We are not on that point, at all events at present?—That is the real purpose which we have to discuss.

The next item is opium ?-Well.

In that year it came to about Rz. 9,000,000. Now that is paid by China?—That is paid by China; very well.

It is not a tax on India?—No ; it is so much, that is to say, that it is actually, properly speaking the property of the Indian people, which Government—

Certainly?—Because it is their produce which brings this profit. Whether it is morally good or not is not the question; but it is the produce of the country which otherwise would have gone to the people. It is the profit of the people of India; the Government find it very convenient to have this for their government purposes.

It is a tax on that produce which is paid by China?—Yee, that is true; that is the case with all trade, every trade. When you send goods to another country you get a certain profit out of it, and that becomes the profit of the country.

Well, let us proceed. I think the home charges that year were about 14,000,000L; that at 1s 7d. to the rupes is about Rx. 18,000,000, so that you see China paid half of those home charges?—Yes, that is so; India's profit; that is so much gain in that direction.

And the public share, the national share of the land produce would more than cover the whole of the home charges?—Yes; but then why should India be deprived of that benefit? That is no justification that somebody else should take it away if it is the produce of India—India must enjoy it.

We are not on that point now. If you would kindly just answer the question?—Yes; I am answering the question.

Now, from that Indian taxation fund which you have admitted to be exceptionally low, far lower than that of any other country? — In amount, not in incidence.

Whether it is 6s. a head, as you say, or 2s. 6d. a head as Sir Henry Fowler makes it?—Sir Henry Fowler makes it so; that is the authority.

If you take away land revenue and opium, the remaining taxation comes to a very small amount?—I do not think land revenue ought to be taken into account.

Is it not the fact that from that very low taxation fund the Government pays all the charges which devolve upon Government, namely, all the charges for the Army, both in India and in England, the contribution to the Navy, the whole cost of civil administration both in India and in England; the interest on railway capital?—Yes.

And the deficiency on the revenue account of railways, the interest of debt, all charges for pensions and leave allowances; and also the cost of all stores, and all railway materials?—Yes.

In fact every charge?--Yes,

Is paid out of the very low rate of taxation which is levied by the Government?—Yes.

And your grievance appears to be that out of that low rate of taxation about one-fourth in this year, 1886, was applied to the payment of home charges?—Yes; well.

These home charges are what you call tribute ?- Yes.

Now, is it the ease that one single rupee from the Indian revenues goes into the British treasury as tribute; that is to say, is applied otherwise than as a payment for something which is given in return. First of all my grievance has been again misunderstood. The grievance lies in this, that what is taken from the people as so much taxation in any shape whatsoever does not return to the people, but a portion of it goes away out of the country and impoverishes the country—that is the grievance. It is not of the slightest consequence, that the very fact that from a very small taxation the Government of India is obliged to carry on all these departments shows that these departments therefore naturally become very insufficient and inefficient; and the Secretaries of State, two Secretaries of State were perfectly justified in saying that this was an awful condition of things. That is the grievance.

What you have said is that this tribute, as you call it, is a portion of the produce exported out of British Indis, for which authing whatever has returned to her in any shape?—Yes.

Now, I ask you whether there is any part of it that is not spent upon services or materials supplied to India?—Very good; it is only for necessary services. The services itself are our grievance, we are not only deprived of our money, but we are deprived also of our employment. We do not want those services.

Excuse me, that is not our point?-That is the main point.

The point is whether, rightly or wrongly, the money has not been paid for services or materials supplied to India?—The services are a portion of the tribute which we are compelled to pay. The services, and the money which is given for the services, both are our great grievances, that we are doubly injured both in the point of money and is the employment which belongs to us by right in our country should be taken away from us; and with it, therefore, the wisdom which is derived from that services, so that it is a grievance.

So that the irreducible minimum of Europeans is not to be paid for, is it?—First of all, there ought not to be so great a minimum as now exists. I explained that very clearly that the irreducible minimum, if considered by the British as absolutely necessary, it is for the sake of maintaining their rule in India and their position in the East, as well as their position in Europe. Well, therefore, all I say is, that we grant, though if I were to take it in its logical sequence I do not grant that it is absolutely necessary to have this irreducible minimum, with the exception of the few highest offices, in order to keep the control over India; but I grant for the sake of present purposes, and for practical purposes, that a certain number of Europeans may be considered absolutely necessary. Then I say—

We will come to that presently?—If you will kindly allow me to finish. Then I say, if it is true that Europeans for certain purposes are required simply on account of the British Rule, then the British people ought to pay a fair share for that interest which they themselves have.

Now, next you contrast the British system of government with the system in the Native States?—Yes.

Very much to the disadvantage of the British system ?—Yes, the system of course. There is nothing to be said but against the bad system.

You say the Native States which adopt good management go on increasing in prosperity, in strong contrast with the system of the British management of expenditure?—Yes.

And you give instances of the taxation in certain States which come to about 12 rupees, 18 rupees, and so on, per head, so that the taxation of the Native States is at least two or three times what it is in British India, or even more?—It is more.

Twice or three times that of the native of British India?—And yet he is better off.

That is what you say ?-And yet he is better off.

That has to be proved, I think, has it not?—The proof lies on the very surface. First of all——

We shall come to that ?-I have given testimony; one testimony, I think, in regard to this in Bhownuggar.

I have seen what you refer to, and I do not think it proves it in the slightest degree?—I have your own words that Bhownuggar had a full treasury, and so on.

I said it had a full treasury. Still, if you take three times the taxation from the people you can easily have a full treasury?—Yes, but the whole people are much better off.

I did not say that, you assume it?—What was the use of praising that State if this was not the meaning of it. You praised it because it was a good government.

Under a long British management it had a full treasury?— True, but British management was Indian management.

Shall we go on ?-Yes; I have to explain a little.

I have not asked you any question ?—No; but it is in answer to that question we had just now.

What?—In regard to the comparison with Native States exacting greater taxation, and yet you say: How is it that they are prosperous?

I did not ask you that ?-Oh, very well then,

You say the capacity for taxation in the Native States is not the result of any oppressive taxation, but the natural developments under improved government of the increasing prosperity of the people. Well, the first point is that the taxation is at least two or three times as high as that of British India?—Yes, and taxation here is I suppose, 20 times higher than in British India.

Now how is this taxation in Native States spent; have you ever heard of its being wasted upon unworthy favourites and in debauchery?—That may be, if the political agents do not do their duty; but that is no argument against the development of the prosperity of the people under this taxation.

Have you ever heard of the Native State revenues being hoarded?—Hoarded, yes; and they can afford to hoard.

You give the case of Scindia, for instance, who lent $3\frac{1}{4}$ millions sterling to the British Government?—Yes, that is the British Government.

Where was that money produced from; was it not hoarded in vaults?—It was hoarded in vaults.

For many years?—Yes; and it was the fault of the Native State that it did so; but we are discussing the ordinary good management.

When the money was hoarded in vaults in that way, was it doing any good to the subjects of Scindia?—No, it was not doing any good; that was the fault of the Native State, and notwithstanding that the people were in better condition. Now let me ask another question. Does any of the Native State revenue go outside the Native State, is it apent outside the State; for instance, there is a considerable item of tribute that goes out?—Yes, that is the only thing, and it is a very small item, it does not affect them very much; the whole thing is so very small.

The Mysorc State pay 25 lakhs a year?—25 lakhs, and yet they flourish.

You keep on assuming that as a fact ?—Yes, we have that point.

Mysore pays 25 laklis?-Yes.

That is as a subsidy for military aid ?-Yes.

For military protection. Therefore you see that the Mysore subject contributes a considerable sum towards the cost of the English Army?—Yes, that might very well be considered, what might be a reasonable contribution to a portion of the Army.

That is not the point. He is, therefore, very much in the same position as the British Indian subject as regards contributing to the Army?—Yes, but not exactly the same position.

Now do you not find in Native States European servants?— Yes; that is of their own choice.

We will take the Bhownuggar State ?-Yes.

I deresay you are aware that for the last 20 years the Head of the Public Works there has been a European with a family at home?—Yes.

And that some of his sons are also employed ?-Yes.

Again, take the Native State Railways ?- Yes.

The Managers of the Native State Railways are Europeans living in Native States ?—Yes.

And the railway materials and the rolling stock have all been bought in England?—I never made a complaint of that,

The Native Chiefs are in the habit of coming to Europe ?-Yes.

And spending large sums of money in England ?- Yes.

In all those ways a portion of the taxation of the Native States goes out and is spent abroad ?--Yes.

So that their position in that respect also is like that of British India?—That is so very small compared with the system in British India, there is no comparison between the two. There is no comparison between a Native State like Khownuggar and the British Empire?-Yes.

In size; therefore meither should there be in the amount of revenue spent abroad?—Then I am again misunderstood. What I say is this, that in the Native States you have the whole of the service from top to bottom, the natives themselves.

I have just shown you that you do not?—The whole of them are natives with the exception of such Europeans as a sort of investment they employ for benefit; and so for instance for the mills in Bombay. Actually I myself have sent from heremanagers.

We are discussing the Native States I think, if you do not mind?—It is the similarity of the incident that induced me to mention it; I will keep to the Native States. Therefore every farthing that is raised by the State is returned to the people, it remains in the country, it fructifies among the people naturally. I have been, of course, in Baroda, and I know a Native State.

But if Europeans are employed there that does not take place?

—The Europeans are employed for special purpose of their own choice; here they are compelled to put upon us where it is unnecessary, where you can have Indians of the same efficiency to do that work.

But Europeans in Native States send their savings home just the same as Europeans in British India?—Yes, that is true, but the Native States do that of their own choice for their benefit; in the other case it is compulsory to an extent that the people cannot afford.

Now we come to a point in which you see a great advantage in the Native States, that is to say that they build and extend their own railways from revenue?—They have their revenue.

British India is not able to do that because they have no revenue?—They cannot, yes,

Do you think you are correct in that statement? Baroda has built its own railway.

British India is not able to do so?-No, it eannot.
You think that is correct?-You I think so.

Do you happen to remember a question in our evidence some time back in which it was shown that the British Government has spent Rx. 22,000,000 on railway and irrigation works out of revenue?—What is that compared with the whole debt.

I did not ask what it was compared—is that the evidence or not?

—If you want to modify it in this way, that British India has from revenue spent some money on railways, of course I did not deny altogether.

Do you think that the Native States have spent anything like Rz. 22,000,000 on railways?—But Native States are not so big as Eritish India.

Then, in proportion?—In proportion they have spent a good deal, and they are spending more every day.

How much, do you know?—One Native State has lent to another Native State for reilway extension.

Can you tell us what amount Native States have spent on railways?—I would work it out if you want it.

You do not know?-I could not tell you off-hand.

But that is not all, besides the expenditure on railways and irrigation, the British Government has spent—I have taken it out for 10 years, 1885-6 to 1894-5—has spent immense amounts on roads and rest-houses, and all sorts of communications?—Yes.

And on other public improvements, water supply, and so on. Will you allow me to ask my question ?—Yes, I am not interfering,

The total of expenditure from revenue on these for the 10 years, 1885-6 to 1894-5, amount to Rx. 43,000,000?—Yes. All that from that wretched taxation; all that from a small amount. You ought to have been able to do 10 times as much.

Will you allow me, that is spent by the British Government from revenue?--Yea.

So you are wrong in saying that the British Government is unable to find revenue for public works?—Yes; that is to the extent they ought to do.

That was not your remark?—I have said that in my evidence to-day; I have referred to that point. All this is from a poor revenue, therefore they eaght to be able to if they were in the same condition as the Native States, then their expenditure would have been in such a large proportion. I think it is plain, then, that the Native State subject is really in precisely the same position as the British Indian subject as regards the appropriation of his taxation to the interest on loans which they have in Mysore and the Nizam's dominions, too; to the payment of Europeans employed by the States, and to payments made towards the cost of the British Army, as in the case of Mysore?—Yes.

I think all you have shown me is that a large revenue is raised, and not why the people are more prosperous ?—Yes.

Do you recollect also that the Native States contribute largely to the British salt revenue?—Yes. Well, that shows, you see, that there is something drawn from other people which the people themselves are not able to supply.

The point I am making is that the Native State subject pays money to the salt revenue?—So much the worse.

Which money goes abroad?—So much the worse for the British Administration.

Again, they pay a portion of the duty on piece-goods?—Yes. In all these ways they pay taxation?—Yes.

Which goes out of the Native State?—No. Still, as much as goes out of the State, they are still able to do that and be prosperous.

Well, I will take the point of prosperity. Will you allow me to ask you a question as to the testimony of your own eyes. You are a native of Western India?—
Yes.

You know the districts of Kairs and Neriad?—Yes.

You know the magnificent cultivation of Neriad?—Yes.

De you know also the Plains of Kathiawar?-Yes.

Contrasting those two, do you think the conditions of prosperity in Neriad are smaller than those in the Native States of Kathiawar?—Well, is it fair to compare a very fertile portion of the country with a portion of the country which is not se fertile? Leaving that alone; I have been in Baroda; I know symething of the condition of Raroda, of the condition of the people of Baroda, its revenue, having administered that for a year; and I know that the Baroda people are much better off than the people of the neighbouring territory. Baroda, again, is a particularly rich territory?-Very well then, if you compare it.

That is exactly my point. Do you not think the comparative prosperity of the people depends as much on the fertility of the lands they have to cultivate as on the form of government?—If it is a fertile region and the political condition is good it will be still happier, still better.

The advantage of the political condition is that they pay three times as much taxation?—Yes, it all comes back to them, while in our case one-third does not.

I have shown that it does not all come back to them?—The very fact that so much is raised from them, and all that comes back to them.

You forget you have admitted Europeans?-Very few Europeans, that are not worth considering.

Loans are raised; tribute is paid?—The tribute is very small compared with the resources.

Now, as to the capacity for taxation not being the result of any oppressive taxation?—It is oppressive taxation, because they are unable to pay it.

Will you kindly wait until you are asked a question ?- Yes.

I wish to contrast the British system as regards the land revenue with the Native State system. Are you aware that the Famine Commission, after very carefully examining the question, and with every advantage in access to statistics, brought out that the incidence of the British land revenue was about 7 per cent of the gross produce; are you aware of that?—I am not aware of it, but I would take it from you. I believe you; yes.

Are you also aware that the ordinary system in the Native States is that the State—the Native Ruler takes one-half of the gross produce. You see, then, there is a considerable advantage there on the side of the British subject?—Yes, and yet all that advantage is lost on account of the system of the Government.

That is your assumption?—I simply mention the fact that the half—I take that for granted—though I know that in the British assessment it is a great deal more than 7 per cent.; but I do not question that point. I take the fact as you have placed it, but the chief point is, that though they may take half of the produce, or more or less, the produce remains in the country. It is enjoyed by the country, every part of it.

I have ventured to show you that it does not?—Very well, you may say so, and the difficulty is that the exception of just this little portion of tribute that they pay; it is not large at all or weighing upon them, and they are increasing in prosperity, so that this tribute is almost not worth thinking of; but the prosperity consists in this, the difference in the two rules consist in this, that in one case every farthing, as in this country, although it pays nearly 100,000,000t., but all that 100,000,000t., come to the people; in the other case one-fourth or so goes to other people and not to the Indians. There is the point. Of other comparisons I have no complaint to make.

Do you consider the British land revenue to be oppressive to the people?—Their taxation, I consider, is oppressive, simply from this point of view, that it becomes oppressive. The people's capacity for payment becomes less and less every year.

And that it reduces the people to a state of starvation?—Just so; it does.

Would you allow me to read a part of a speech made in India by Sir Syed Ahmed, Khan of Aligarh?—He has his own views, and I have my own views.

In the course of the last month?-Yes.

He says, "Two very large classes of the population consist of zemindars and peasanta. The amount of attention that is now given to the welfare of the peasantry is unparalleled in any former Indian kingdom. In those provinces in which the East India Company made a permanent settlement of the land the enormous increase of the wealth of the zemindars has been such that it is unnecessary for me to enlarge on it, but I wish to say something about the land revenue system in the provinces in which there is no permanent settlement. If you will study old histories you will find that the mode of assessment adopted by this great empire is far lighter and milder than that adopted by former rulers. The most famous of former land settlements was instituted by Shere Shah, and perfected by Akbar, and I wish, in a few words, to explain the difference between that system and the present one, so that everyone may understand it. It is this, that in the former

system Government took a share of the whole produce of a village, and under the present Government a share of the whole produce is not taken, but a share only of the surplus after the pessants have received their dues. Hence, everyone can see how light and . easy is the land settlement even in these provinces in which there is no permanent settlement. No one can deny that under this good administration every species of property, and especially landed! properties, has immensely increased in value. These landed properties, which were formerly a burden on their owners, are now a source of profit and wealth, of honour and social distinction. The income from property has increased tenfold, so that he who formerly got Rs. 10 now gets Rs. 100, and the owner of an estate worth Rs. 10,000 has property now worth a lakh" ?-Yes; so I answer, first of all, the proportion of people to whom he refers is but infinitesimally small. The large mass of the people suffer. This is what we complain of, both from starvation and famine; but with. regard to the system of assessment, I would take for granted that it is a good system, that the system adopted by the British is a better system than the old rulers had; but the whole mischief comes in this, that whether it was a bad system or a good system in their old Government, and under their own kings, every farthing produced was taken by the State and returned to them, it remained in the country. The evil of this foreign domination is that it drains the country of a portion every year unceasingly, and there the whole difficulty lies. If some proper suitable remedy were applied to reduce that to its minimum extent-a fair tribute-we do not then object to pay the tribute, as it were, just as the Native States pay; but that could be brought within such dimensions as would enable India to make capital, so as to be able to stand on the same footing as any other country; it would be all right. As I said in answer to former questions, I do not want to object to the system of rules that are adopted for the sake of good government. I accept them. The difficulty lies in the economical condition of the foreign domination, and that must be reduced to its lowest possible mischief, which cannot but be incidental to a foreign domination.

I have pointed out to you that what you call the drain amounts to about one-fourth of a very low rate of taxation?—Very well.

And that about one-half of that in the year we took was paid by China. Now I want to ask you with regard to another point; there seems to be some misunderstanding as to the return of the price and profits of exports? Yes,

You seem to be under the impression that the British Indian subject does not get back his full price and profits of his export; that some part is retained somewhere?—That is this what is taken away from the country.

Will you let me now just put a case. Suppose that a British Indian subject in Ahmedabad, and a Native State subject in Kathiawar adjoining, each sent home cotton worth ten sovereigns?

—Yea.

Each of those men gets the full value of his ten sovereigns in rupees paid to him, does be not ?—Yes.

Then the British Indian subject is not deprived of any part of his ten sovereigns?—Yes; I will explain that. The British Indian subject, in sending his ten sovereigns worth of produce; that produce is here intercepted by the India Office in sending him a bill.

Not the produce, I think?—That produce is sold, and the agent for the sale of that produce pays the British Indian subject by an India Office bill, and sends it out there to be paid not from the price that is got here from that produce, but from the revenues of India that are drawn upon to meet that bill which is kept here. That is to say it is paid from the revenue. It requires to be understood clearly.

We are all perfectly aware of that, Mr. Naoroji. It is a convenient fiscal expedient?—No.

Yes?-I would not interrupt you.

It is a convenient fiscal expedient ?- Yes,

That is to say, the Secretary of State, wanting the gold here for the Home charges, takes from the merchant the gold price of the Indian produce and he gives the merchant an order on the Indian Treasury for an equivalent amount of rupees?—Yes.

Does that in any way affect the profit of the native producer and exporter in India?—Of course its effect is this, that as much as is intercepted here by the India Office in sending their bills off that price of the produce, does not itself return to India, but in its place that price of the produce is paid out of British revenue which, in the case of the Native States, is quite different, he gets back actually the return.

It really amounts to this, dees it not, that that small portion of the low taxation fund is paid at home for material and service supplied to India from England?—Very well, we come back to that again.

I do not wish to go into that. That is the fact, whether you think the services are worth it or not is another question. I say it is paid for in material or service supplied to India?—That is the whole of my complaint.

That is the whole transaction?—That is the whole of my complaint.

The money might be sent home to India, but the money, the gold, is kept here and the silver is obtained for it in India?—Which must be paid in some shape or other.

Does that affect the native exporter of the produce itself?— No, the native exporter is not affected.

That is all I wish to know?—But then, at the same time, it is misleading if you stop there.

I beg your pardon, I do not think it is at all misleading?—I must give my full answer, that the native exporter receives his money from the Indian Exchequer and not the money which is actually got by the sale of the goods. The sale of the goods, which means, therefore, that so much of the produce of the country entirely went out of the country without that material return in the shape of produce or bullion or in any shape.

But in the shape of service or materials?—Then that service comes in. The service does not give us a grain of rice more, but then the service in itself again is a further complaint, a further grievance of ours.

The question I was asking you was as to the profits of the native exporter, you will admit that he gets back the whole of these profits?—He must get his value; but at the same time, he does not get it from his own proceeds, he gets it from Indian revenues.

Never mind?-That makes all the difference.

Not the slightest?—That is what I complain of; else, I have no complaint whatever. The native gets this, but then what he has sent here is never returned except in the shape of services.

It is simply a convenient arrangement ?—It is not a convement arrangement, it is an economic drain.

And out of the 10t, the Native State subject pays 12 or 18 rupees of taxes, and the British Indian subject pays half a crown?

—Yes, because the Native Indian subject does get back his full price of the produce that he has sent, all the 10t.; and the British Indian subject, that is to say Fritish India as a body economically does not get his own 10t. That makes all the difference,

I want to ask you a few questions as to the agency employed in exporting; that is to say, the foreign merchant. You are particularly hard on him are you not?—In what way?

You grudge him what he eats ?-I do not grudge him anything.

You said of him "he eats what the Indian would eat if he id not eat it "?-That is the Indian not employed.

Oh no, the merchant ?- The merchant or the non-official?

What is the merchant in India? What is his business. Does he not export raw produce?—Yes.

And import English goods in return ?- Quite right.

His gains are what—the interest on the capital he employs in that business?—Yes.

Do you not think that that is a benefit to India?—Under a self-governing country, if we were a self-governing country, or at least governed in the way I am describing, we would welcome the merchant, because we would have our own resources daily employed, and the merchant would have so much more, and he is quite welcome to come in there and use his capital, and get any profit himself in the perfect free trade, but our position is that we are helpless, our capital is taken away from us, we cannot make any capital, and the foreign merchant or the foreign capitalist comes in. He has a full monopoly, as it were, of the resources of the country, be benefits by it, and we are simply the hewers of wood and the drawers of water to them. That makes an entirely different position in the economical condition of India.

Does the foreign merchant pay taxes in the ccuntry?—He may pay taxes. It is nothing, the small amount he pays. It is all very good.

Does he spend largely on living and employ labour, and so on ?—Yes, to his profit.

Has he any privileged position at all?—No, the economic condition is the thing in all these things.

I find, however, in one of your remarks you suppose that he has a certain privilege ?—Oh, yes, he has. I can understand what you meen.

I should like to ask you about that ?-Yes.

You say here: "The position of the exploitation by the foreign capitalists is still worse than I have already represented. Not only do they exploit and make profits with their own capital but they draw even their capital from the taxation of the poor people themselves. So that the European merchants, bankers, &c., may have Indian taxes at their disposal, the profits of which, they may take away to their own country"?—Yes.

What does that mean?—I have explained it thereto.

Oh, I see ?--If you read further on in explanation I have quoted Sir James Westland himself.

Allow me to read Sir James Westland?—Yes, if you please.

You say "The following words of Sir James Westland in "the telegram of 'The Times' of the 18th December last, will "explain what I mean. Sir James Westland then explained how "closely connected the money market of India is with the Govern-"ment balances, almost the whole of the available capital em-"ploved in commerce practically being in those balances. . . . " A crore and-a-half, which under normal conditions would have "been at headquarters in Calcutta and Bombay, had been placed "at the disposal of the mercantile community for trading "purposes," and so on. Is it possible that you have confused these two different things, that is, the loan of money out of taxes to foreign merchants for trading purposes, and the supply of the currency by the Government for the trade generally ?-No, this is quite a different thing. This simply means this : that a portion of the taxation or the money raised by taxation is or would have been available, as he says, at the disposal of commerce, and that means, therefore, that a portion of the taxation goes into the Banks; from these Banks European merchants mainly draw their credit, and use that money for their own business, which in reality is supplied to them as a capital from the taxation of the people.

Do you mean to say that the Government lends the taxes to the foreign merchants?—No, the Government does not lend. The Government gives it to the Banks, there is a certain amount of balance kept into the Banks. The merchants get the benefit of it because the Banks do not put it in a stocking, and put it away saying, " there is Government money, it must remain there." They use it, they lend it: they make a profit out of it, and that means that it goes mostly to those who are in the commercial world.

Do you really suppose that that smounts to lending the taxes to the merchants ?—It is so really.

Lending the taxes?—Because it is from the taxes that that money is deposited in the Banks; where does that money come from?

Well, we will leave it there. Now I should like to say a few words about the civil administration. You are even harder upon the civil administration than you are upon the foreign merchant?

—How; in what way, let me see?

Well, I will quote a few of your phrases. "The European civil and military services are a burthen and a destruction to India"?—Yes.

"The European services are India's greatest evil." "The present forced, inordinate, and arbitrary employment of Europeans." "A charge forced upon India by sheer tyranny "?—Yes.

"It is the British Indian authorities who have made India what she is, bleeding at every pore, and a helotry for England."
"The sovereign, the British people and Parliament have done their duty by laying down the true and righteous principles of dealing with India, but their desires and biddings are made futile by their servants, the Indian authorities "?—Yes.

Now do you mean to say that you really believe that the English authorities in India are at liberty to disobey and set at defiance the orders of the English Government?—Why, your own Viceroy has acknowledged it in so many terms. Lord Lytton in his private minute says distinctly that of the two ways of saying straightforward to the Indian people that we shall not do this, or that. Instead of that we have deceived the people; we have adopted (I think the words are) transparent, deliberate subterfuge in all these matters.

Have you got that paper ?—It is in the statements. I will read the part itself.

Have you got the paper you are quoting-Lord Lytton's ?-- I will read it.

Have you got the whole of his confidential minute?—No such confidential minute.

Has it ever been published ?—I do not know. I will tell you. The extract was brought forward publicly, by a Speaker in the first—I think it was the first—Meeting of the Congress. It is in the very first Congress. It has been in the public prints all this time—12 years—and it has never been contradicted.

It was a confidential paper pilfered from the Viceroy?—That I do not know. I have nothing to do with that,

Will you answer this question? Was the purport of that paper in favour of a larger employment of Indians in offices in India?—It would have been very good if it had been published. I do not know.

Was it so or not?—I do not know. This is the only extract out of the Despatch which has become public some way or other.

Now let us return to the question before us ?-Yes.

Will you give an instance of a great public measure, in which the Viceroy and the Government officials in India have thwarted and defied the wishes and the orders of the English Government?

—Yes.

Give it then?—This very Act of 1633 has been left a dead letter up to the present moment.

That is not at all to the point?—Yes, but I want to show that.
I want you to show me some great measure?—This is the great measure.

In which the Anglo-Indian authorities, the English authorities in India have defied, and resisted, and obstructed a great measure which the English Government wished to give effect to in India?—That is just what I am answering, that the greatest of all measures, our very emancipation as you may say, our great charter, the Act of 1833 has been kept a dead letter up to the present time.

But is it not the case that whatever has been done in that matter has been done under the orders of the Secretary of State and the English Government?—Very well. It is no consolation to me whether it is the Secretary of State or the Government of India. When I am talking of the authorities I talk of both.

No; I beg your pardon, I quoted this to show that you were speaking of the English in India of whom you complained?—I speak of the English altogether.

I beg your pardon, it is not so ?-Whatever the-

They are the public servants, the Indian authorities?—Yea, the Indian authorities; but I mean, of course, the Indian authorities in both countries.

You say, "British Indian authorities and Anglo-Indians "generally obstructing at every point any step desired by the British "people for the welfare of the Indians?—Yes. There it is. This illustration. This is confirmed by Lord Lytton himself. Then there is the admission by the Duke of Argyll, showing that we have not fulfilled our promises, and I could make out a statement if you like.

And you condemn both the Anglo-Indians and also the Government at home?—Oh yes, both.

But the Government at home is responsible to Parliament ?— Very well.

And Parliament represents the English people?—Yee; and Parliament has passed the Acts.

And do you mean to say that the Indian Government can refuse to obey or ever have refused to obey any order sent out to them from the Cabinet and the Secretary of State at home?—But there are the facts.

Where?—This Act of 1833 has been disobeyed entirely. The Act of 1870 was disobeyed for six years and every effort was made not to carry it out.

I have shown already that it was not disobeyed for six years and you admitted it?—Very well. Then, again, I give the authority also.

Will you kindly answer the question about that Statute of 1870?—Yes.

Is it not the fact that nothing could be done under that Act without the sanction of the Secretary of State?—My complaint is about the Secretary of State as much as about the Government of India.

You say it is the English authorities in India?—No, Indian authorities. I mean, if I have not expressed it properly, my complaint is more against the India Office than against the Government of India. To take for instance this Resolution that was passed for simultaneous examination, why the Secretary of State and the Government of India resisted to the tooth, and they would not have it, though the Resolution was passed by the House of Commons.

But they may be quite right in the opinion of the British Government?—That is another affair. As to the disobedience of the Government of India or the Secretary of State to a Resolution passed, this is the instance; really the reasons are there before you. Whether they are good reasons or bad reasons is not the question now.

You have shifted your ground. Your statements were made about the British Indian authorities, and I wish to know whether it is true that they can act in defiance of the home authorities?—No, I never meant such a thing. I mean both British and Indian authorities. I mean both authorities over India; I have repeatedly stated that, as well as in this country.

Let that rest there?-Very well then.

You have condemned these European services in these strong terms, I want to call your attention to the sort of work that they have done in India?—Yes.

India is a great exporter of raw produce, is it not?-Yes.

And what a country of that nature requiries is to be opened up by railways ?—Yes.

Up to last December the Government had opened 20,000 miles of railway? -Quite,

Did the natives of India take any great part in promoting those railways?—Simply because they have not got the means, their means are taken away.

That is what you say ?—Yes, that is what I say. If the people were able to invest their money in those railways they would be only too glad to do it.

We have had that a great many times. Now, with regard to commerce, I will just read, and it is as good as anything for the purpose, the remarks of Mr. Playfair in the Chamber of Commerce in Calcutta this month. He says, speaking of Her Majesty's reign and the increase of Indian trade during Her Majesty's reign: " The combined value of exports and imports, including treasure, is 1837 amounted to about 19 erores; it now exceeds 200 erores. The capital invested in cotton mills exceeds 13 crores, and in intemills 4 crores. The cornfields yield 3,000,000 tons annually, while the tea crop is valued at 24 crores. The progress which the country has made in the 60 years, during which its resources have been developed, communication improved, law and order maintained, and the protection of life and property assured, was described as lending lustre to the Queen's reign." Then I will quote a for figures relating to the last seven or eight years. In four provinces, being the Punjab, Madras, the Central Provinces and Lower Burms, for which exact figures happen to be availablethe average cultivation—cultivated acres, in 1886-9 was 72,215,000, in 1893-5 the average acreage was 80,915,000. The value of some of the principal exports, cotton, rice, wheat, oil, jute, tea and indigo, in 1881-5 the average was Rr. 54,000,000; in 1891-5 it was Rz. 73.000,000 ?-Yes.

You see the increase which has taken place in the figures which I have quoted?—Yes. But all this I have fully explained in my statements.

Now you will naturally say that the taxation also has greatly increased?—Well, we are going into a subject which requires very careful examination, both with regard to the tuxation, and we are not going into taxation; I am not allowed to go into that by our reference, or I would have gone into it.

I am merely wishing to give you a few figures as to the great increase of taxation, which is probably a question in which you take as interest?—Yes.

I was taking the Queen's reign as before. I find that between 1839 and 1840 the average yearly taxation, was 18 crores; in 1896-97 it is 65 crores?—That does not show that there is anatural increase of prosperity, it has been new taxation.

No, on the contrary, I suppose it would prima facie show that there had been a heavy increase of taxation?—Yes, heavy and crushing.

I wish you to look at one or two items. The land revenuehas increased from Rx. 12,000,000 to Rx. 26,000,000, that is an increase right off of Rx. 14,000,000?—Well, it is not a great matter, after so many years of increasing assessment.

Of course there are new provinces which have been added?—Yea.

And, as I have just shown, an enormous additional acreagehas come under assessment?—Yes.

For instance, it amounts, as I have shown you, to 8,000,000 acres in 7 years in four provinces only?—Yes. There is an increase of population also.

Then in opium there is an increase of from Rs. 784,000 to Rx. 7.123,000?—Yes.

That 6,000,000 is got from China, as we have already agreed. In customs there is an increase of Rx. 4,000,000 and in excise an increase of Rx. 6,000,000?—Yes.

That is upon strong liquor generally ?-Yes.

In stamps there is an increase of 4,000,000 ?-Yes.

I suppose in none of those things would you find a specimen of "crushing taxation grinding India to the dust"?—How has that taxation increased? The nature of the taxation, the principles upon which it has enhanced, that has to be considered and examined before you give any judgment upon these.

I have just been accounting for the increase of land revenue?

—Yes.

The increase of Chinese tribute ?-Yes.

And so on ?—Well, what I say is that the increase in the land revenue is an increased oppression; well, without going into the character and the examination of the increase of this land revenue, unless we go into a thorough examination of the way is which it has increased and the other increases, we cannot form a judgment generally that it is all favourable, because a more high figure is not necessarily good. We are precluded by our reference from going into taxation.

I have shown you that in 10 years there was an increase of over 8,000,000 acres in four provinces?—Yes, and there is an increase of population also.

Which came under assessment ?-Yes.

So that it is the growth of cultivation which largely accounts for the increase of the land revenue and also the increase of territory?—All this require examination, which the Commission cannot go into.

But I think you know that as a fact ?—If it is a fact we must go into it, and we cannot go into it here.

There is one item which I have not noticed, and which you have not noticed also—salt. The increase during the Queen's reign has been from Rx. 2,696,745 to Rx. 8,861,845?—Yes, by what increase of rate.

An increase of 6 millions of Rx.?—Yes, and there is an increase in the rate of taxation.

That, I suppose, you would consider as an instance of heavy additional taxation?—Yes, it is additional taxation, and it is more crushing to the poor people that it should ever be taxed at all.

It is a poor man's tax?—It is the poor man's tax; he is not able to pay any tax. He is starving, he is dying off at the slightest touch, living on insufficient food.

The incidence of the salt tax has been lightened and not made more heavy during the last 30 or 40 years. Do you know that fact?—There is no need of doubting anything; if the fact is a fact you can put it here before the Commission. There is no need of doubting it. All I know is that there are 6,000,000 or 7,000,000 raised from salt, which is one of the most objectionable taxes that can be put upon these poor, wretched people.

The question is whether there is a crushing and increasing burden of taxation, crushing the life out of the people?—That is what I consider.

I wish to show that this salt tax, which is the most open to objection, is actually lighter than it was 30 or 40 years ago ?- If

it is actually lighter than it was 30 or 40 years ago, that is no consolation. It was very heavy.

Do you know what the price of a pound of salt is in India? I know in my own time what the price of salt was. I, myself, as a little boy, used to go to the salt store and used to buy it far cheaper than it is now.

Do you know what the price of salt is-a pound of salt ?--. Yes,

Well, what is it ?-It is a tax added to its cost of production.

What is the price of a pound of salt in India?—I do not know the exact figure; I can find it out very easily.

I only wanted to know whether you knew?—I do not know just now; I cannot tax my memory immediately.

The price of a pound of salt in India is something over $\frac{1}{2}d$; it is 68 of penny. The price of salt in London is 75 of a penny; so that it is dearer in London than it is in India?—Yes, it is much worse for the Indians than in London, because the people have not the means of paying. Lord Cromer said, when talking of this: You say that one anna—it only costs one anna, or the addition is one anna; do you mean to say that one anna is not a matter of concern to people who are so extremely poor?

I quite agree with you that that is perfectly evident?—It is perfectly evident.

This is really the only tax the poor man pays?—They are not capable of paying it. They are starving, as you know.

I wish to point out the nature of the salt tax in India. It is generally looked upon as a rather arbitrary tax. The real fact in India is, is it not, that the Government sells the salt to the people?

—Yes.

And charges a certain duty—at present 2 rupees 8 annas a maund, in addition to the cost price of production?—Yes.

With the result that, while the salt supplied is of very excellent quality—far better than it used to be—the price at which the salt is sold is less than it was 40 years ago; that is all I wish to bring out?—Yes, but all I wish to say is that, notwithstauding that, these people are so wretched that they cannot get enough of salt for themselves and for their cattle.

That is what you say ?-Well, those are the facts.

Now, with regard to what you call the minimum which you want to sweep away—the minimum civil administration—you call it inordinate; "forced inordinate and arbitrary employment of Europeana"?—It is arbitrary because we have no voice in it.

Of course not ?- Yes.

Are you aware that the higher administrative body, the Indian Civil Service, consists of less than 1,000 persons, of whom about 60 are natives?—Yes,

You grant that ?- I know that,

Do you think that a large proportion for managing 300,000,000 of people?—It is the amount of money which is paid to them, and the economic effect of the large amount of money which is paid to them. It is not simply the men.

You think that too many?—Yes, certainly. It is the very cause of the whole grievance.

You would sweep them all away?—No, I would not sweep them all away. You may have your Viceroys and Governors, and a few Heads of Departments to have your whole control. There is no necessity for having this 1,000 Europeans.

Let us go on to the next official rank; the middle rank—Sub-Judges and Magistrates, and that class. I take the figure of the Public Service Commission Report, that is sufficiently near; the number of persons is 2,558?—Yes.

Of these 35 were Europeans ?- Very well.

Thirty-five were domiciled Europeans, 104 were Europeans permanently resident in India and Eurasians?—Yes.

When you get to the next rank below that the whole are natives?—Of course all the lower places are given to Indians, because they cannot help it. It is at these low salaries Europeans could not be employed.

It is not necessary to attribute motives. I suppose it is a factis it not?—It is a fact. I do not say it is not, but it is the higher salaries that it takes away.

Are there Native Judges on the Benches of the High Court?— There are some few.

Are there Native Judges on the Benches in each High Court? -- Yes.

Are there native gentlemen in the Legislative Councils?—Yes, that has nothing to do with the economical condition, and they do not get anything.

Are there Native Judges on the District Benches?—Yes, on the District Benches. Do you mean what are called District Judges, and who can be only employed from the Civil Service?

Yes?-Well, there are a few that, being entered into the Civil Service, are necessarily District Judges.

The Provincial Service comprises a considerable number of the district judgeships, which have been handed ever to them in order that natives may be employed?—It is yet to be seen whether this Provincial Service which hav destroyed the Statutory Service will fill up its place. We have been deprived of something like 200 situations given to us in the Civil Service by the introduction of this, what is called the Provincial Service; we lost instead of gained by it.

Would you take it from me, that in the North-West Provinces now, or very recently, two district judgeships having been placed in the provincial list, there are four native gentlemen filling the appointment of District Judge?—I am very glad, so far we have made very little progress but the progress would have been far greater had the Act of 1870 been kept intact, and the number of additions which was a partial instalment, what was given to us on my petition through the East India Association by Sir Stafford Northcote. If that had been loyally and faithfully carried out by this time we should have had a much larger number.

Will you answer me this question? Has the general tendency of the British Government been to increase or decrease the employment of natives in public offices?—Well, there are two opinions upon it, and, of course, we are obliged to remain on general belief. There is an opinion prevalent in India among the Indians that whereever they can introduce an European they try to do it, not vithstanding the Despatch of Sir Stafford Northcote referred to, with regard to 200 rupees of salary, namely, that any appointment of 200 rupees of salary, or above that salary, should not be given as far as possible to an European, but to an Indian, except with the consent of the Secretary of State. But the actual

practice, so far as I have heard, has been that situations are given to Europeans. The Secretary of State's consent is taken, and that really and properly speaking the Despatch is a dead letter, in which Sir Stafford Northcote had put very strong grounds. I have not got that Despatch, or I should have been glad to read it.

Do you know that in 1880 the recruitment for the Civil Service was decreased by one-sixth, in order to make room for natives?—For the Act of 1870.

Quite so?—But unfortunately then for 10 years there was such a deal of opposition to it, some way or other, that it was cut away.

What was cut away? ... This one-sixth, had you gone on adding this one-sixth we should have been very glad.

I beg your pardon, the decrease of the Civil Servants has not been abolished?—The Statutory Service does not exist.

But the Provincial Service has taken its place?—The substitution of the Provincial Service was actually a loss to us from what was the Statutory Service.

I do not admit that at all. You have got the whole of the atatutories so far?—That is so. Those that had been passed; but some after that—after that year.

Of course not ?-The year 1888 or 1889.

The provincial service has been substituted ?—The provincial service has been substituted on a different scale altogether.

The provincial service has been substituted?—There was no reason why it should be substituted. The statutory service was a great gain to us, as an instalment, and as a part of the Civil Service. Had you gone on adding that one-sixth to the service every year in 30 years, 210 situations in the service would have been held by Indians in what is the Indian Civil Service.

A statutory civilian does not hold a position in the service, he is simply put into some appointment. He is not a member of the Indian Civil Service?—That was the interpretation put upon it. The Act was passed in reference to our petition, and it was simply and solely an integral part of the Civil Service. The only difference was that—

Where is that, is it in the Act ?-Oh yes, the 6th Clause says that distinctly.

What does it say?—That instead of Indians being required to come and pass their examination here, to get into the Civil Service——

That is not in the Statute of 1870?—Yes, the service, the statutory service is a wrong name given to it. Thy the Civil Service itself is the statutory service, the whole of it.

There is not a word of that in the Statute; the Statute simply says that in order to increase the promotion of natives of approved merit and ability, a native may be appointed to any post without restriction?—Yes, and then a certain portion is fixed, is it not.

No?-A certain portion-one-sixth-or something of that cort is fixed.

No ?—And then the speeches will illustrate very largely what the Act says.

No; you are quite mistaken?—One-sixth was prescribed in order that so many appointments should be made every year for the Civil Service.

Was that in the Act?—Whether it is in the Act, or whether it is in the despatch, I am not able to say just now.

It is not in the Act; I have sent for the Act?—We shall see the Act. If it is not, some way or other the rule was adopted, in fact, by the Government from 1880, I think as you said.

It was in 1880?—And they fixed a proportion of six and seven, say six and seven every year. Well, there, they at least made it as the proportion in which they should be nominated every year. What it ought to have been would have been that by a good strong test of competition they should have been selected. Instead of that they were nominated by the Government, and the whole of the statutory service was discredited in that manner. It does not exist now, and the provincial service was substituted for it which the Government of India was determined to have as early as 1877 or 1878. They did not then get it, and they at last got it by their own way.

You are aware that the statutory civilians are young gentlemen of good birth and station?—Yes, but they were not competent.

And that was found on the whole not to answer?—Yes.

And therefore the statutory service was abolished?—Yes.

And what promised to be a better system was substituted for it?—No, but there is an injustice done to the statutory service.

We need not go into that; that is another question?—Then what is the grad of putting your question to me; I must answer that question.

The injustice done to the statutory service has nothing to do with the question?—Yes, because you referred to the statutory service just now, and said it was found unsatisfactory; but the reason was, that the statutory service was introduced in a way which was sure to fail; instead of simply going to have boys belonging to good families, one essential and most important necessity was that they should have been first found and tested as competent to hold such places. Well, that was not done.

Quite so. It was right to do away with such a system, was it not?—Yes; but then that system should not have been introduced. Well, at least, this was the suspicion in the mind of the Indians, that these rules were adopted without the test of competence, and that it was the object of the Covernment to throw discredit upon it and to try to get rid of it.

De you attribute such a motive as that ?—I do not attribute it myself; but that is the general feeling, and also this is a fact, that this is a general feeling among the Indians, that the rules were made, whether intentionally or unintentionally—the rules were not such as they ought to have been made.

I will read part of the Statute of 1870, Section 6. "Wherean it is expedient that additional facilities should be given for the employment of natives of India, of proved merit and ability, in the Civil Service of Her Majesty in India: Be it enacted that nothing in the 'Act for the Government of India,' 21 & 22 Vict. e. 106, or in the 'Act to confirm certain Appointments in India and to amend the Law concerning the Civil Service 'there,' 24 & 25 Vict. e. 54, or in any other Act of Parliament or other law now in force in India, shall restrain the authorities in India by whom the appointments are or may be made to offices, places, and employments in the Civil Service of Her Majesty in India from appointing any native of India to any such office, place, or employment, although such native shall set have been admitted to the said Civil Service of India in manner in Section 32 of the

first-mentioned Act provided, but subject to such rules as may be from time to time prescribed by the Governor-General in Council, and sanctioned by the Secretary of State in Council, with the concurrence of a majority of members present; and that for the purposes of this Act the words 'natives of India' shall include any person born and domiciled within the dominion of Her Majesty in India, of parents habitually resident in India, and not established there for temporary purposes only; and that it shall be lawful for the Governor-General in Council to define and limit from time to time the qualifications of natives thus expressed; provided that every Resolution made by him for such purpose shall be subject to the sanction of the Secretary of State in Council, and shall not have force until it has been laid for 30 days before both Houses of Parliament?"-Those rules were made, which were unsatisfactory altogether. Unfortunately the Secretary of State, when the rules were made, did not pay attention to those rules, and they were unsatisfactory to us.

What you said about one-sixth and all that is not in the Statute?—I will find out.

You did not find it in the Statute?— I cannot lay my hand upon it at once, but the best proof of that is that the Government of India actually adopted a certain proportion, whether it was by a despatch from the Secretary of State for India or whether it was the Government of India's own decision I am not prepared to say, but there was the fact.

Are you aware of what were called the rules of 1879?—What are they, and what about them?

The rule of 1879 was that in this intermediate or middle body of officials, subordinate magistrates and judges and so on, no European should be appointed to a place of 200 rupees and upwards if a native could be found fit to hold it?—Yes.

Now was that provision in favour of the appointment of natives to that class?—Yes, it was, for the lower class.

At the same time that one-sixth was deducted from the recruits ment of the Civil Service?—Yes, that was an independent provision.

Was not that in the direction of giving larger employment to natives?-Then I have to ask that question, if you would kindly supply it to us—how many appointments have been made since that time?

Since what time?—Since the time that that despatch was written, that no appointment at 200 rupees salary should be given as far as possible, to Europeans, but to Indians, except with the consent of the Secretary of State; I never have been able to get the information.

I can personally testify that the rule has been most rigidly observed?—Very well, I am very glad to hear that, but I can tell you that the general impression among us is that it has not been strictly carried out.

That may be?—And the Secretary of State has sanctioned, of course, whatever the Government of India said, and all such situations have not been given; there was one complaint from Madras, if I remember rightly, of such an appointment which was irregular, and the Secretary of State actually put it back.

I have no doubt; that confirms what I say?—But I should be very glad indeed to be satisfied that that is done.

Might I put another point to you ?- Yee.

The admission of natives to high offices has always been conditional, in a certain sense, from the first. For instance, in the Act of 1833 it is said that no native shall be excluded from office on account of his religion or his place of birth?—Yes.

It does not say that he is to be admitted to office on account of his religion?—He is not to be ancluded; therefore he ought to have been given equal facilities.

Allow me to go on. In the Queen's Proclamation we find "that, so far as may be, Our subjects, of whatever race or creed, he freely and impartially admitted to offices in Our service, the duties of which they may be qualified, by their education, ability and integrity, duly to discharge?—Yes, quite right; that is all we ask.

Then when you get to the Statute of 1870, it provides for the promotion of natives of approved merit and ability?—True.

So you see the Government always has the same difficult task of deciding, in any case, whether a native candidate is qualified by education, ability, and experience for any particular office? Yes. And that makes a considerable difficulty in carrying out the Statute of 1870?—There can be no difficulty whatever if the Government is determined to do it, for they have only to lay down the standard.

But they are determined to do it, and they have done so?— They have not done so. That is my complaint.

They have tried various expedients, and are now trying one which they hope will succeed?—They have not tried the right expedient.

That is your opinion?—That is what I point out to you. The expedient is just as they have done here; they ought to bave laid down rules according to which the Indian candidates are examined, and whether physical, mental, or moral, there is the standard laid down there. Well, according to that standard, those Englishmen who come to that standard are elected in the same manner. Have the regular standard as high as you like, either mentally, morally, or physically; put it forward, and then let them come forward without any disabilities of being compelled to come to this distant country. Let them have equal facilities. We do not want anything more; we do not want any favouritism or any concession, but let us all be treated exactly on the same footing, and on the same standard, and then if we fail the fault will be ours. Let us have simultaneous examination upon the very same standard.

That is your view of the matter? - I can only give my view.

I want to ask you, generally, what it is that you want; do you wish to sweep away the whole Euglish Civil Service?

I think when Mr. Naoroji says again and again that he does not wish to do it that he should not be asked this question.

I want to know what he says.

Mr. Chairman, I do not think, when Mr. Naoroji has only made a statement of that sort, it is a fair question.

I asked him whether he wishes to sweep away the whole Civil Service in India, which he describes as the destruction of India and its greatest evil ?—Yes, as it is.

I want to know whether he wishes to get rid of it bodily?— There you misunderstand me. What I lay down in my fifth pamphlet, what I considered as the best means of governing India, is suggested by Lord Salisbury and Lord Iddesleigh themselves. What proportion would you keep?—There is no proportion there; there you have first of all Native States, and that supreme power should be maintained there a certain contribution from all the States, just to keep a certain reasonable amount of the European Army; and in each Native State, as we will call it, you will have a political agent who will have a complete control over the work—call him a Governor, call him a subordinate, call him anything you like; this will supply the double purpose both of maintaining the supremacy in a very remarkable and in a very efficient manner, and at the same time the people will feel that they are governed by themselves.

I merely wish to ask whether you propose to retain any part of the Civil Service?—The European service? Only the highest portion, such as the Viceroy, the Governors, the Commander-in_Chief, leaving the Military alone if we are talking of the Civil Service, and the Lieutenant-Governors, or you may go one grade below as a beginning. Now I do not mean to say that all the Europeans are to be turned out; let there he, as in Mysore, gradually every European place being supplied by the Indian, till at last you come to these highest places which are really not the places of the Civil Service; let us have the whole Civil Service, leaving alone all the high level to Europeans as the controlling power. That I have always said.

Then you would have the Vicerova, the Governors, and the Lieutenant-Governors?—Lieutenant-Governors; these certainly.

No Englishmen beneath them?—I do not see any necessity for others; but even if you go one grade lower for the sake of regularity in a practical way, you may begin with, say, one-half the Civil Service should be given to the Indians, and let the number be reduced from 1,000, as you said, to 500 or 400; that by itself would be a great relief.

And by degrees you would evict them all ?-Then we may go on gradually higher up.

Then tell me about the Army; what would you do about that
—the British Troops?—I am quite willing to say that Lord
Roberts put it very properly: He says we have an Army, and he
praised that Army. I have not the least objection to that praise,
but he said that after all the real strength of the British rule de.

pends upon the contentment of the people. If the people were contented, and if they are at your back, no matter when Russia or five Russias come to invade India; if the people are at your back you can raise an Army sufficient even to drive away Russia to St. Petersburg. But I am just going further-I am quite willing to allow that a certain portion of the British Army is absolutely necessary for the purpose of benefiting both England and India. Let there be a fair proportion of expenses divided between the two countries, because the European soldier or the European Army is wanted, especially for the sake of the British rule. We grant that the continuance of the British rule is also a benefit to us, and therefore we do not want to object to the European Army to a reasonable extent, and I will show that afterwards. Let the British people pay a share of it. Now, with regard to the whole Army, I do not see it is necessary. The number that was at the time of the transference to the Queen, say about 30,000 or say 40,000, may very well be kept, say, up to 40,000, and the half the share must be paid by the British on account of the mutual benefit for common purposes, and if the other plan is adopted of Native States being formed out of them, they contribute what share would be considered as reasonable as for common purposes, and then the whole thing will be as natural and as worthy of the English name and the English fame as can possibly be.

Yes. You heard Lord Ripon say that his Government had considered the question most carefully ?—Yes. Very well.

And had arrived at the conclusion that the proportion necessary to maintain is one English soldier to two natives ?—Yes, because it is on account of the fear that is entertained that the soldiers cannot be depended upon; it is the fear of the people.

Of the soldiers?—I mean of the Indian soldier; it is the fear of the Indian soldier. We propose then—it is a question merely whether you are to act upon fear or upon comidence. If you act upon fear then there is no help; then, at least, you must pay a proper proportion for keeping such an European Army as you think necessary on account of that fear.

If you had a very small European Army do you think that you would have the means of preventing two sections of the Indian

Army fighting one another, Mohammedans and Hindus for instance?—Again we are going back to the first proposition.

I said with a very small European Army?—Have that confidence in the people and the people will side with you and will regard it as your and their own interest.

I am not speaking of the people siding with you, but of the people fighting among themselves ?- The people fighting among themselves is quite a different thing altogether from the Imperial purpose of keeping up the supremacy of the British rule whichfirst of all, necessitates this employment of Europeans to an inordinate extent. If you say that a certain amount of European Troops are necessary it is always from fear that the Indian Army will not behave properly. I am willing to grant the fear, and whatever they consider as the necessity either of the protection or the fear of the Indian soldier going wrong at any time, very well, all this arises from the necessity of maintaining British rule in India and British Empire in the East. Well, therefore, I say that granting that an irreducible minimum, as Lord Ripon called it, granting that that is absolutely necessary, without controverting that point, I say that it is for the benefit of both, and therefore a share must be paid by the British Treasury. That is granting all the necessity that the British rulers may consider necessary to have Europeans there.

What I wanted to bring before you was this; suppose the English Civil Administration is reduced to half a dozen men, and the English Army is reduced to——?—Say 40,000.

Would England be able to keep the warlike races of India from invading the peaceful ones?—The warlike races of India have been there for thousands of years, the peaceful ones have been there for thousands of years, and the people themselves and they have not disappeared. They are now even perishing by millions. Take for instance, Europe, civilised and highly advanced countries, they are armed to the teeth, one spark will throw them we do not know where.

But the history of India is that the people have been continually slaughtering each other?—What have you done here; what is the history of Europe? We do not want to go back, because we have learnt as you have learnt. Is your receipt for reviving the prosperity of India to let loose the Pindaris?—Not necessarily; those days are gone; you have now introduced, and perhaps that is one reason that I say that your supremacy must remain there in a way in which the interest of every Native State will be to take care of itself and will therefore depend more upon you, and you will be more secure, you see, I have proposed my plan, and I do not want to go beyond my plan.

Do you remember what Sir Madava Rao, Prime Minister of Baroda, said to Lord Roberts on the subject of India for the Indians?—What did he say? I do not know.

He said it would be like loosing the bars of the cages of the Zoological Gardens and letting out the animals, that very soon they would all be dead except the tiger—the tiger was, I believe, the warlike people of Northern India?—Is this the result of 150 years of British rule that we are not so civilised enough to observe law and order?

It would be the result of the suspension of British rule?— The result of British rule that we are yet unfit for law-abiding people?

Now, Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji, we have kept the Commission a long time. You and I are agreed on certain propositions—that it is a disadvantage—however inevitable it may be—that, people, or a continent of people, should be under the supreme control of foreigners who cannot, from the nature of the Indian climate, be permanently amalgamated with the Indian people, and that in those circumstances it is the duty of the Supreme Power to be careful that the cost of Government should not be unduly heavy on a poor population, and that natives of India should be admitted freely to all public offices for which they are fit?—Yes.

But we differ in that I have some regard to facts and possibilities, while you, as I think, indulge in visions and certainly in a great deal of strong condemnatory language. Do you not think that, considering the facts to which I have called your attention, and the evidence before the Commission, when you describe the Government of India as a selfish and despotic tyranny, crushing ladia to the dust by cruel and reckless taxation administered by the Civil and Military Services, which are the destruction of India

and its greatest evil, when you describe Lord Elgin, Lord Lansdowne, Lord Dufferin, Lord Ripon, Lord Lytton, Lord Mayo, and Lord Canning as the agents of this selfish and despotic tyranny, defying and thwarting the desires and biddings of the British people and Parliament, so that India is bleeding at every pore and a helotry for England, do you not think you are, shall we say, somewhat overstating your case ?-First of all, the words "poor people" is assumed there, or at least you understand it as if it is an actual natural necessary incident of the people; they are poor because of the system. When you make me say that Lord Mayo and Lord So-and-So and all the Viceroys and the Secretary of State are the agents of this tyranny-there, I say, I am misunderstood. They are merely working in a system which is evil and bad; they are working in a system; how far it is their fault, or their agent, it is quite a different thing. It is the system that is bad, and that makes very good men work on wrong lines, and therefore the result is that, on account of this foreign system, without giving the people of India such a position in its own Government as would make them prosperous, and, at the same time, benefit Britain, in that my complaint lies. The way in which you have put it just now is certainly unjust and unfair to me.

Well, I quoted your own words, and I will leave it there.

We will now pass on to the question of the apportionment of the charge ?—Yes.

Will you tell us what your suggestions or propositions will be upon that head?—Yes, my propositions are—(1) That it is the desire of the British people that British rule should be one of justice and righteousness, for the benefit of both India and Britain, and not for the benefit of Britain only to the detriment of India, and that the financial relations in apportionment of charge should be as those between two partners, and not as those between master and slave. (2) That upon this equitable basis the apportionment of expanditure in which Britain and India are jointly interested should be according to extent of the interest, and according to expandity to pay. (3) That the creation and maintenance of British Imperial supremacy in India is a British interest of the first magnitude; yet, with a few exceptions, India has been unjustly

charged with the whole cost of creating and maintaining the British Imperial supremacy, without Britain: paying any portion. and without India being allowed to share in the advantages connected with that supremacy. (4) That law and order are beneficial to India, but they are also British interest, as a condition essential to the very existence and prosperity of British rule. (5) That, assuming, as it is said, that India, should bear all those charges for internal and external protection, which she would have to bear if British rule did not exist, she should not bear the special cost of European agency so far as used solely to muintain British supremacy. And, moreover, that if British rule did not exist, everyone employed will be an Indian and not an European. (6) That, as a practical arrangement, Britain should pay for all British employed in Britain, that India should pay for all Indians employed in India, and that as regards British employed in India and Indians employed in Britain, there should be an equitable apportionment, according to respective benefit, and capacity to pay. To put it still more moderately, the payments to Europeans in both countries may be divided half-and-half between Britain and India, (7) That in the Army, Navy, and Civil Service, public employment, with its advantages and emoluments, should be proportioned to the charge; and in considering this point it should be borne in mind that in India Government employment monopolises in great part the sphere of private enterprise and the open professions as practised in Britain. (8) That the wars carried on beyond the Indian frontier of 1858 are, as stated by Lord Salisbury, " An indivisible part of a great Imperial question," and that therefore the cost should primarily be borne by the Imperial Exchequer, India contributing a fair share on account of, and in proportion to, indirect and incidental benefits accruing to her. and direct share in the services, (9) That from April 1882 to March 1891, nearly Rx. 129,000,000 were spent from Indian reveaues beyond the western and north-western frontiers of India, for avowedly Imperial purposes, and that a fair share of this amount should be refunded from the Imperial Exchequer, and similarly for the cost of Burmese war.

Where do you get that 129 millions ?-There is a return made.

What is the reference ?-Return East India Military Expenditure beyond the frontier, No. 91 of 1895.

Perhaps you would just hand it to me. (Return handed in.)

Quite so. Would you go on ?—Colonel H. B. Hanns in his book No. 3 " Backwards or forwards " gives at page 40 a table, and makes the total about Rs. 714,500,000, out of which the British Exchequer paid 5,000,000L, towards the expenses of the Afghan war. Besides this amount he points out several omissions. I may put in this table with his remarks thereon in Chap. III.

Are there any further papers you would like to put in ?—I desire to put in my correspondence with the War Office, the Admiralty, and the Civil Service Commissioners. In this I claim that neither the War Office nor the Admiralty had any authority or power to evelude Indians from the commissioned ranks.

What was the origin of this correspondence of yours with these three departments?—Questions were put in the Commission whether Indians were admissible in the Civil Service in this country, and, then I put a question or two, I think to Admiral Kennedy with regard to the admission of Indians in the Naval service. The answers were not quite positive and I thought proper to communicate with these three departments and find out exactly what the real condition is, and that made me carry on this correspondence which I am now putting before you.

It is quite irrelevant to our subject, your correspondence?— The employment of the service?

I am anxious to know what the object was, because the Commission must hereafter consider whether the correspondence is a correspondence which they would care to publish; therefore I will ask you what was the outcome of the correspondence—let me take first of all the Civil Service Commissioners?—The Commissioners have replied positively that the Civil Service is open to all the Indians in this country, excepting, of course, that they must come over here to be examined.

Yes?—Upon which I have put a short note saying that while for the Civil Service here every facility is given to the candidate, by examinations in Edinburgh and Dublin, that Indians should be compelled to come here for their examinations for service in their own country was not fair or just. That is a note that I have attached to it.

Your point there is that in order to qualify or to obtain admittance to the Civil Service in India, Indian gentlemen have to come over here to be examined?—Yes.

Did I not gather from some questions and answers that passed between Sir James Peile and yourself that there has been a Statute passed to enable Indian gentlemen to be admitted on certain conditions to the Civil Service in India without coming over here?—Yes, a portion of them.

I thought I also understood from Sir James Peile that the principle involved in that arrangement has been consistently carried out.

With regard to the appointment of natives in India, yes?

—What I meant to say is, that there is a Statute prescribing these appointments of a portion of the Civil Service, and rules were made and appointments were made; but after some nine or ten years that is abolished, so that the Statute is a dead letter now.

Then, in fact, the point at issue between you and the Civil Service Commissioners was that you object to the Indian candidates for appointments to the Indian Civil Service being brought over here?—Yes; that was not the correspondence; it is my note upon the reply that for the English Civil Service they are eligible.

They are eligible?—They are eligible; that is distinctly pointed out, which was doubtful.

May I also ask the upshot of the correspondence with the Admiralty?—The Admiralty—I was obliged to put the last interpretation myself, that in the commissioned offices Indians will not be admitted, and so is the reply also of the War Office. I discussed that the authority by which they had any power to make appointments did not authorise them to exclude the Indians positively and distinctly from these services.

But you say that the Regulations of the War Office and the Admiralty do exclude Indians?—They do exclude Indians—the War Office—which I demur to. They do not specifically do it, but they say that it rests with the authorities here to say who is to be admitted.

They are not barred by Statute, but by Regulation?—No; the War Office regulations distinctly exclude them.

They do not mention natives ?--Oh yes, distinctly.

You think so ?-Oh yes; the correspondence states it.

My recollection was that they reserved the power to say who was eligible?—That is what I wanted to know from them; the Admiralty fenced with me in that respect and would not give me a decided answer, but the War Office regulations are clear; they are given to me there distinctly they must be Europeans or Europeans naturalised; any others are entirely excluded, and then the Admiralty replied that their rules were something like or approximately.

Would you read the passage in the War Office letter on which you build that conclusion?—Oh yes, I will read it: "I am to acquaint you, in reply, that candidates for admission in the British Army must be of pure European descent, and are also required to be British-born or naturalized British subjects; that is the Regulation."

I thought that had been altered?—This is the latest I have got.

That is about a year ago, is it not? What is the date of that letter?—The date of this is the 10th June, 1808; they have not given us any further information. The correspondence is carried on up to the present day; there is a reply still standing which they have not yet given. Since that a good deal of correspondence has taken place, but they have nover modified that.

You have referred to Mysore State. Are you able to develop and illustrate the views which are put forward as to government by the Native States?—Yes. With regard to the Native States I agree with Lord Salisbury when he says: "The general concurrence of opinion of those who know India best is that a number of well-governed small Native States are in the highest digree advantageous to the development of the political and moral condition of the people of India." And Lord Iddesleigh similarly said: "Our Indian policy should be founded on a

broad basis. There might be difficulties; but what we had to aim at was to establish a system of Native States which might maintain themselves in a satisfactory relation. Again, we should endeavour, as far as possible, to develop the system of native government to bring our native talent and statesmanship, and to enlist in the cause of Government all that was great and good in them." Entertaining these ideas, Lord Iddesleigh practically carried them out in restoring Mysore, on the distinct basis that "at once offered a guarantee for the good government of the people and for the security of British rights and interests," as I have already stated.

What advantages do you think would accrue from this arrangement?-The advantages from this arrangement will be these: The obvious conclusion is that the only natural and satisfactory relations between an alien supremacy and the people of India can be established on this basis alone. There are these obvious advantages in these relations. The British Supremacy becomes perfectly secure and founded upon the gratitude and affection of the people, who, though under such Supremacy would feel as being under their own rulers, and as being guided and protected by a mighty supreme power. Every State thus formed, from the very nature of its desire for self preservation, will cling to the supreme power as its best security against disturbance by any other State. The division in a number of States becomes a natural and potent power for good in favour of the stability of the British Supremacy. There will be no temptation to any one State to discard that supremacy, while, on the other hand, the Supreme Government, having complete control and power over the whole Government, of each State, will leave no chance for any to go astray. Every instinct of self-interest and self-preservation of gratitude, of high aspirations, and of all the best parts of human nature, will naturally be on the side and in favour of British Supremacy which gave birth to these States. There will be an emulation among them to vie with each other in governing in the best way possible, under the eye and control of the Supreme Government on their actions, leaving no chance for mis-government. Each will desire to produce the best Administration Report every year. In short, this natural system has all the elements of consolidation of British

power, of loyalty, and stability, and of prosperity of both countries. The result of this arrangement, in the case of Mysore, has been most satisfactory from all sides. For the result in Mysore, I give a short statement from the Mysore Report of 1st October, 1805. Of the work of the late Maharaja from 1881 till his death at the end of 18th, it would be enough for me to give a very brief statement from the late address of the Dewan, to the representative assembly held at Mysore on 1st October, 1895, on the results of the late Maharaja's administration during nearly 14 years of his reign, as nearly as possible in the Dewan's words. The Maharain was invested with power on 25th March, 1881. Just previous to it the State had encountered a most disastrous famine, by which a fifth of the population had been swept away, and the State had run into a debt of 80 lakks of rupees to the British Government. The cash balance had become reduced to a figure insufficient for the ordinary requirements of the administration. Every source of revenue was at its lowest, and the severe retrenchments which followed had left every Department of State in an enfeebled condition. Such was the beginning. It began with liabilities exceeding the assets by Rx. 307,500, and with an annual insome less than the annual expenditure by Rz. 12,500. Comparing 1880-1 with 1894-5, the annual revenue rose from Rx. 1,030,000 to Rr. 1,805,000, or 75.24 per cent., and after spending on a large and liberal scale on all works and purposes of public utility, the net assets amounted to over Rx. 1,760,000 in 1894-5, in lieu of the net liability of Rx. 307,500 with which His Highness's reign began in 1881.

In 1881, the balance of State Funds was		•••	240,743
Capital outlay on State Railways	•••	•••	251,919
Against a liability to the British Governmen	t of		800,000
Leaving a balance of liability of Rx, 307,500).		
On 30th June, 1895:-			
Amets:			
(1) Balance of State Funds	•••		1,272,361
(2) Investment on account of Railway	Loan		
Repayment Fund	•••		278,150
(3) Capital outlay on Mysore-Haribar	Railway		1,480,330
(1) Capital outlay on other Railway	,	•••	413,339

Rx.

	Rr.
(5) Unexpended portion of capital borrowed	
for Mysore-Harihar Railway (with British	118.040
Government)	157,949
•	3,602,129
Liabilities: Rr.	
(1) Local Railway loan 200,000	
(2) English railway loan 1,638,280	
-	1,838,280
Net assets	1,763,849
And other assets: Capital outlay on original irrigation works	lx, 990,893

Besides the above expenditure from current revenue, there is the subsidy to the British Government of about Rx. 250,000 a year, or a total of about Rx. 3,700,000 in the 15 years from 1880-1 to 1894-5, and the Maharaja's civil list of about Rx. 180,000 during the 15 years also, paid from the current revenue. And all this together with increase of expenditure in every department. Under the circumstances above described, the administration at the start of His Highness's reign was necessarily very highly centralised. The Dewan, or the Executive Administrative Head, had the direct control, without the intervention of departmental heads of all the principal departments, such as the Land Revenue. Poresta, Excise, Mining, Police, Education, Mujroyi, Legislative. As the finances improved, and as department after department was put into good working order and showed signs of expansion, separate heads of departments were appointed for Forests and Police in 1885, for Excise in 1889, for Mujroyi in 1891, and for Mining in 1894. His Highness was able to resolve upon the appointment of a separate Land Revenue Commissioner only in the latter part of 1894. Improvements were made in other departmenta, local and municipal funds legislation, education, &c., There are no wails which, unfortunately, the Finance Ministers of

British India are obliged to raise, year after year, of fall in Exchange, everburdening taxation, &c. And all the above good results are side by side with an increase of population of 18:34 per cent, in the 10 years from 1881 to 1891, and there is reason to believe that during the last four years the ratio of increase was even higher. During the 14 years the rate of mortality is estimated to have declined 6.7 per mille. But there is still the most important and satisfactory feature to come, viz., that all this financial prosperity was secured not by resort to new taxation in any form or shape. In the very nature of things the present system of administration and management of Indian expenditure in British India cannot ever produce such results, even though a Gladstone undertook the work. Buch is the result of good administration in a Native State at the very beginning. What aplendid prospect is in store for the future if, as heretofore, it is allowed to develop itself to the level of the British system with its own native services, and not bled as poor British India is.

You had some personal knowledge of Mysore, had you not?— No. of Baroda I have personal knowledge.

Have you any later information about Mysore ?- I have the latest report of Mysore, which is summarised in the "Times" of the 8th December 1896. The "Times," in its article on Indian affairs, confirms by actual facts and events the wisdom and statesmanship of Lords Salisbury and Iddesleigh in their one great work of righteous and wise policy. Fortunately, it is the very Mysore State to which this righteous and wise act was done; therefore, I desire to quote a few words. The "Times" says: "The account which Sir Sheshadri Iyer rendered to it of his last year's stewardship is one of increasing revenue, reduced taxation, expenditure firmly kept in hand, reproductive public works, and a large expansion of cultivation of mining, and of industrial undertakings. The result is a surplus which goes to swell the previous accumulations from the same source." The "Times" article concludes with the words: "A sarrative such as Bir Sheshadri Iyer was able to give to the Representative Assembly of Mysore makes us realise the growth of capital in the Native States, and opens up new prospects of industrial undertakings and railway construction in India on a silver basis." Then he has said about some other Native States, but I have not introduced that here. I have got this latest report, if the Commission would allow me to put in a statement out of it, like the one I have already given. I have cited other illustrations of Native States in my statements.

I think it probably would be best if you were to modify by those latest figures the figures which you have already given in your evidence?—I could give the latest figures in continuation of those.

You are giving us the examples of Mysore?-Yes.

It is no good giving us two sets of tables in regard to it. Can you not, with this latest report, correct the table you have already given us in evidence?—I could do, but there is this difference, that in the report which I have quoted here he went into the comments on the administration of the 15 years and gave the result up to 1894-5; in this last report, of course, he only goes, in the usual way, into the figures of receipts and expenditure of the year; he does not go again into a report of the administration of the 15 years.

Do the latter figures very much vary from the former?—They are not on those lines; the other figures are simply the results and expenditure in the usual way, a sort of budget.

We must bear in mind the danger of drowning the Commission in figures. You were giving us an instance of the working of a Native State; it is no use giving us two sets of tables in illustration of that. If you are satisfied with the figures you have given us for 1894-5—they appear to me to give the illustration which you desire to give—then I do not think it would be necessary to supplement them with ether figures?—All right.

Would you take Mysore as a type of Native States generally? --Yes.

If I had, for instance, a list of the Native States before me here, and I were to put them to you one by one, would you quote each of them as a model State of the kind like Mysore?—Not every one of them—those that have introduced improvements in the way is which they have been introduced in Mysore—Earoda will be a very good illustration, as far as that goes.

One used to hear that Oudh was not a model kingdom? Oudh was not a model kingdom.

I have heard so. What security is there that such a state of things as occurred in Oudh, or comething like it, may not occur in these Native States?—No, for the times are entirely changed, and the control which the British Government has even on the existing Native States is now of a different character altogether, and the management or the system of Government is more or less assimilated and brought to the system which exists in British India.

Then your contention is that repitition of such evils as those which led to the annexation of Oudh must be prevented by the precantions to be taken by the Supreme Government; that is, by the Indian Government?—In fact, the later improvements and the way in which the administration is introduced in all Native States.

Would you quote Hyderabad as a case of model government?

—Well, I am not acquainted with the details of the Hyderabad Government, and therefore it would not be right for me to give any opinion upon it. My general impression is—and I may be wrong—that the State is not conducted in the way which would produce such results as Mysore has produced. It is more the defect of the administration than the possibility of results as good as the Mysore; but still I qualify it that I may be wrong, because I am speaking only from general impressions about that State.

In that case, if Hydershad does not come up to the level of Mysore the supremacy of the British Government is not sufficient to secure in a Native State such good results?—If I am right in the impression, I think then it is evident that in that case the supremacy has not been exercised to the best advantage.

Now, leaving this point, you have put before us the practical remedy which you would recommend; that is to say, you have called our attention to the cost to India of Europeana. Have you any facts or practical figures on that subject which you would like to put before the Commission?—Yes, I leave the important auggestions I have made; I leave that consideration alone, and I come now to matters exactly as they are. First of all, Europeana. Here is Return 192 of 1292 of East India salaries. In the Civil Department the amount of annual salaries, Rs. 1,000 and upwards, is:—

	•		Rx. 3,874,929
Public Works Department (Civil)	***		909,814
Absentee Allowances Civil Department		***	175,677
Public Works Department, (Civil)	•••	•	44,734
Pensions paid in India, Civil:— Europeans (Eurasians) Public Works Department, Civil:—	•••	•••	97,323
Europeans (Eurasians)	•••	•••	23,871
Total in India	•••	•••	5,126,348

in England. The amount for civil and military are not separate, which I may request to be supplied.

Are you suggesting that those figures should be supplied to enable you to give a complete statement of the sum which represents the cost of Europeans in India ?-Yes; the two are mixed up, Civil and Military, only that the amounts might be separated, but I have just the total further on; it does not matter much even if the information is not given, because my illustration stands just the same. Now what I urge is that the European Civil Service is distinctly alleged to be employed mainly for the maintenance of the British rule. For a practical purpose at present I grant that the service is for the benefit of India alsoas for the maintenance of the British rule-and further, I do not press for the very weak capacity of India. I say the least that Britain can do in justice to India is to pay half of the salarice of the Europeans in the Civil Departments. The next figure I want to put is the expenditure on the European Army in India. and pensions and other disbursements in England.

Army Europeans.

			Rx.
For the Military Department, Annua	l Salaries		3,781,844
Public Works (Military)	•••	•••	171,075
Absentee Allowances, Military	•••		234,900
Public Works Military	•••		7.069
Pensions paid in India:			•
Pensions under Civil Regulations:	:		
Europeans (Eurasians)	· •		8,839
Pensions under Army and Marine	Regulations:		-•
Europeans (Eurasians)		•••	101,697
	Total—India	•••	4,305;444

Paid in England-

The amounts, Civil and Army together, are 3,710,6781. (including contributed) say at Rs. 15 per £, Rx. 5,566,01, grand total about 15 millions of Rx., to which is to be added the payments to European soldiers. What I urge is that the British Army is mainly for the maintenance of British rule \ against internal or external troubles. But for present practical purposes I accept that the Army is for the benefit of India alsose for that of Britain; and I urge, therefore, that, leaving alone even the poverty in India, Britain in fairness to India should share the expenditure, say half and half, for what is a common purpose of equally vital importance to both. The Government of India correctly puts the position: "Millions of money have been spent on increasing the Army in India, on armaments and fortifientions to provide for the security of India, not against domestic enemies, or to prevent the incursions of the warlike peoples of the adjoining countries, but to maintain the supremacy of British power in the East."

You have heard a good deal of evidence taken on the subject of existing Army charges. Would you not think it desirable to eriticise what you have heard put before us with regard to the different branches of Army expenditure or have you any remarks or suggestions to make upon the question of appointment as it has been before us?—Apart from the important considerations to which I have already referred, and taking the question as it exists now, I consider, as far as I can judge at present, that the Government of India has made out a fair case. I have heard the other side of the War Office and the Admiralty, and this I shall fairly consider and give my opinion on in the preparation of the Report.

Therefore, so far, in offering your evidence you do not wish to make any remarks upon those important questions?—No; I do not see the necessity of it, because the question has been very fairly and largely discussed, and the Government of India has put the case very fairly, as far as I could see it.

On that point you associate yourself with the Government of India?—Yes; I am quite satisfied with the fairness with which they have urged the question.

And you do not wish to go beyond them ?-No, I do not wish to go beyond them.

Then do you wish to offer any remarks in connexion with the Navy?—Yes, with regard to the Navy, it is of absolute necessity to England whether there was rule in India or not. With regard to the absolute necessity to the United Kingdom itself for its own safety, of the whole Navy as it exists and is intended to be increased, there is but general opinion, without any distinction of parties. It will be easy to quote expressions from many prominent politicians. It is, in fact, the great subject of the day for which there is almost unanimity. I would content myself, however, with a few words of the highest authority in the realm under the Sovereign, the Prime Minister, and also of the Chancellor of the Exchequer. Lord Salisbury said in his Brighton speech, I have not quoted the whole words, but just such words as apply here:

- "But dealing with such money as you possess . . . that the first claim is the naval defence of England. I am glad that you welcome that sentiment. . . It is our business to be quite sure of the safety of this island home of ours whose inaccessibility is the source of our greatness, that no improvement of foreign fleets, and no combination of foreign alliances, should be able for a moment to threaten our safety at home. . . . We must make ourselves safe at sea whatever happens, But after all, safety, safety from a foreign foe, comes first before every other earthly blessing, and we must take care in our responsibility to the many interests that depend upon us in our responsibility to the generations that are to succeed us, we must take care that no neglect of ours shall suffer that safety to be compromised."
- Sir M. Hicks-Beach, the Chancellor of the Exchequer, so late as 2cth January last (the "Times" 29th January, 1896), said emphatically, and in a fighting mood: "We must be prepared. We must never lose the supremacy of the sea. Other nations had not got it and could afford to do without it, but supremacy of the sea was vital to our very existence."

The Irish Financial Relations Report at page 23, says:

"Sir Edward Hamilton has stated in his evidence that he did not believe that if Ireland ceased to exist, Great Britain's expenditure on the Army and Navy could be reduced (Aus. 8741-2). The enormous outlay on the Navy has become necessary in consequence of Great Britain's position as the first commercial power in the world, on account of her enormous trade with every part of the globe, and on account of the dependence of her inhabitants for subsistence on supplies from abroad, and on having a safe ocean communication."

Notwithstanding that such is the absolute necessity of England to have even more than its present Navy as a world-wide power, I am willing to allow that a fair share should be paid by India, for the vessels that are kept in the Indian waters, and which have been under consideration by the Commission. Well, that I have said in the question of partnership, and therefore I will not add here, that whatever is asked from us to contribute, to that extent we should have a share in the benefits of that service. It comes, in fact, next immediately—about partnership.

Considering the partnership between England and India, should not India take some share in all such charges as are required for Imperial common interests ?-Yes. About the partnership between England and India, as it becomes an element in all questions of the relations between the two countries. Indians are repeatedly told, and in this Commission several times, that Indians are partners in the British Empire and must share the burdens of the Empire. Then I propose a simple test. For instance, supposing that the expenditure of the total Navy of the Empire is, say, 20,000,000L, and as partners in the Empire you ask British India to pay 10,000,000L, more or less, British India, as partner, would be ready to pay, and, therefore, as partner, must have her share in the employment of British Indiana, and in every other benefit of the service to the extent of her contribution. Take the Army. Suppose the expenditure of the total Army of the Empire is, say, 40,000,000%. Now, you may ask 20,000,000t, or more or less to be contributed by British India. Then, as partners, India must claim, and must have, every cmployment and benefit of that service to the extent of her contribution If, on the other hand, you force the helpless and voicelessBritish India to pay, but not to receive a return to the extent of the payment, then your treatment is the unrighteous treatment of the slave-master over British India as a slave. In short, if British India is to be treated as a partner in the Empire it must follow that to whatever extent (be it a farthing or a hundred millions) British India contributes to the expense of any department, to that extent of the British Indians must have a share in the services and benefits of that department, whether civil, military, naval, or any other; then only will British India be the "intergral part" of, or partner in, the Empire.

Have you say considerations to lay before the Commission on the subject of frontier expenditure?—Yes; according to the table of, and comment on, the expenditure on the frontier wars from Colonel Hanna's book. This expenditure, which is entirely Imperial—for the maintenance of Buitish rule against Russian invasion—is, say, roundly, about Rx. 80,000,000 or more, out of which 5,000,000 have been paid by England. I am not at all discussing the policy of these wars. All I simply say is that these frontier wars are avowedly for Imperial purposes, that both England and India must be considered as besefuled by it, and the least that should be done in justice is India is to halve the expenditure, if not in the proportion of the espacity of India as compared with that of England.

I have here the highest declarations of the Imperial character of these wars. If the Commission would allow, I shall read them

On 11th February 1880, Mr. Fawestt moved the following amendment to the Address in reply to the Queen's Speech (Hansard, Vol. 250, p. 453),

"But humbly desire to express our regret that in view of the declarations that have been made by your Majesty's ministers that the war in Afghanistan was undertaken for Imperial purposes, no assurance has been given that the cost incurred in consequence of the reserval of hostilities in that country will not be wholly defrayed out of the revenues of India."

Mr. Fawortt then said (Hansard, Vol. 250, p. 454):

"And, fourthly, the most important question, as far as he was able to judge, of whe was to pay the expenses of the war.

. . . It seemed to be quite clear that the expenses of the war should not be borne by India, and he wished to explain that so far as India was concerned this was not to be regarded as a matter of generosity, but of justice and legality. The matter must be decided on grounds of strict justice and legality (p. 457): It was a remarkable thing that every speech made in that House, or out of it, by ministers or their supporters on the subject, showed that the war was a great Imperial enterprise, those who opposed the war having always been taunted as being "parochial" politicians who could not appreciate the magnitude and importance of great Imperial enterprise. . . . , . . (p. 458): He would refer to the speeches of the Viceroy of India, the Prime Minister, and the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs upon the subject. In December, 1878, the noble earl warned the peers that they must extend their range of vision, and told them that they were not to suppose that this was a war which simply concerned some small cantonments at Dakka and Jellalabad, but one undertaken to maintain the influence and character not of India, but of England in Europe. Now werethey going to make India pay the entire bill for maintaining the influence and character of England in Europe. His lordshipt treated the war as indissolubly connected with the Eastern question. . . . Therefore, it seemed to him (Mr. Fawcett), that it was absolutely impossible for the Government, unless they were prepared to cast to the winds their declarations, to come down to the House and regard the war as an Indian one. All he desired was a declaration of principle, and he would be perfectly satisfied if someone representing the Government would get up and say that they had always considered this war as an Imperial one, for the expenses of which England and India were jointly liable."

Afterwards Mr. Pawcett said (p. 477):

"He was entirely estimated with the assurance which had been given on the part of the Government that the House should have an opportunity of discussing the question before the Budget was introduced; and would, therefore, beg leave to withdraw his amondment,"

^{*} The Prime Minister.

[†] The Marquese of Salisbury.

In the House of Lords, Lord Beaconsfield emphasized the objects to be for British Imperial purposes (25th February 1880, Hansard, Vol. 250, p. 1,094):

So it is clear that the object of all the frontier wars, large or small, was that "England should possess the gates " of her own, great Empire," that "this country should "acquire the complete command and possession of the gates of the Indian Empire," and uphold not only the Empire, but also "the honour of this country." Can anything be more clear than the Imperial character of the frontier wars?

Mr. Fawcett, again, on 12th March, 1880, moved (Hansard Vol. 251, p. 922):

"That is view of the declarations which have been officially made that the Afghan war was undertaken in the joint interests of England and India, this house is of opinion that it is unjust to defray out of the revenues of India the whole of the expenditure incurred in the renewal of hostilites with Afghanistan."

Speaking to this motion, Mr. Fawcett, after referring to the past declarations of the Prime Minister, the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, the Chancellor of the Exchequer, quoted from the speech of the Viceroy soon after his arrival (p. 923):

"I came to India, and just before leaving England for India I had frequent interviews with Lord Saliabury, the then Indian Secretary, and I came out specially instructed to treat the Indian frontier question as an indivisible part of a great Imperial question mainly depending for its solution upon the general policy of Her Majesty's Government.

And further on Mr. Fawcett said (p. 926):

"What was our policy towards self-governed colonies, and towards India, not self-governed? In the self-governed colony of the Cape we had a war, for which we were not responsible. Who was to pay for it? It would cost the English people something like 5,000,000. In India there was a war, for which the Indian people were not responsible—a war which grew out of our own policy and actions in Europe—and we are going to make the Indian people, who were not self-governed and were not represented, pay every aixpence of the cost."

And so, Lord Salisbury, as Secretary of State for India, and the Viceroy, had cleared up the whole position: "To treat the Indian frontier question as an indivisible part of a great Imperial question, mainly depending for its solution upon the general policy of Her Majesty's Government," and the Indian people having no voice or choice in it.

Mr. Gladstone, following Mr. Pawcett, said (p. 930) :-

" It appears to me that, to make such a statement as that, the judgment of the Viceroy is a sufficient expression of that of the people of India, is an expression of paradox really surprising, and such as is rarely heard among us . . (p. 932): In my opinion my hon, friend the member for Hackney has made good his case . . Still, I think it fair and right to say that, in my opinion, my hon. friend the member for Hackney has completely made good his case. His case, as I understand it, has not received one shred of answer (p. 933): In the speech of the Prime Minister, the speech of Lord Salisbury, and the speech of the Viceroy of India, and, I think my hos. friend said, is a speech by the Chancellor of the Exchequer, this Afghan war has been distinctively recognised as partaking of the character of an Imperial war. But I think not merely a small num like that, but what my right hom friend the Chancellor of the Exchequer would call a solid and substantial sum, ought to be borne by this country, at the very least (p. \$35): As regards the substance of the motion, I cordially embrace the doctrine of my hon, friend the member for Hackrey. There is not a constituency in the country before which I would not be prepared to stand, if it were the poorest and most distressed in the land, if it were composed of a body of men to all of whom every addition of a farthing for taxes was a sensible burden, and before them I would be glad to stand and plead that, when we have made in India a war which our own Government have described as in part as Imperial war, we ought

not for a moment to shrink from the responsibility of assuming at least a portion of the cost of that war, in correspondence with that deciaration, instead of making use of the law and argument of force, which is the only law and the only argument which we possess or apply to place the whole of this burden on the shoulders of the people of India."

The upshot of the whole was that England contributed 5,000, 0000, out of 21,000,0000, spent on this war, when one would have naturally expected a "far more solid and substantial" sum from rich England, whose interest was double, both Imperial and European. But the extent of that contribution is not the present question with me. It is the principle that "the Indian frontier question is one "indivisible part of a great Imperial question, mainly "depending for its solution upon the general policy of "Her Majesty's Government," and that, therefore, a fair apportionment must be made of all the charge or cost of all frontier wars, according to the extent of the interest and of the means of each country.

Coming down to later times, the action of Mr. Gladstone on 27th April, 1885, to come to the House of Commons to ask for 11,080,000 and the House accepting his proposal, and on the occasion of the Penjdeh incident, is again a most significant proof of the Imperial character of these frontier wars. He said (Hansard, Vol. 287, p. 859):—

I have heard with great satisfaction the assurance of hon, centlemen opposite that they are disposed to forward in every way the grant of funds to us to be used as we heat think for the maintenance of what I have upon former occasions described as a National and Imperial policy. Certainly, an adequate sense of our obligations to our Indian Empire has never yet heen claimed by any party in this ecuntry as its exclusive inheritance. In my opinion he will be guilty of a moral offence and gross political folly who should endeavour to claim on behalf of his own party any superiority in that respect over those to whom he is habitually opposed. It is an Imperial policy in which we are engaged."

You lay great stress on the high authorities you quote, do you sot, throughout your evidence ?—Yes.

May I sak you, would you lay equal stress if I placed before you the same high authorities speaking in the other direction?—I lay stress upon high authorities in all matters which I have so thoroughly studied, and in which I agree with them. Of course, each authority has different opinions upon different subjects.

But if the same high authorities on another occasion spoke in a different sense would you lay equal stress upon them ?—On the same subject.

On the same subject? - Well, I should be glad to see them.

You quote these high authorities, in support of your own position?—Is suport of my own views.

And strengthen your own views based on personal experience?—What I consider to be the right thing, of course,

There is this to be said, where great reliance is placed on the expression of opinion of a high authority, in all probability an equally high authority can be produced on the other side?—As Mr. Caine said, I produced authoritities which are in support of my opinion.

I am only pointing out that high authorities may be found on both sides; we should bear that in mind before we place absolute reliance upon what is said in political discussion?—Yes.

You are aware that there has been much discussion about the employment of the Indian Army outside of India; have you any remarks to make upon what has occurred before the Commission upon that head?-Yes. This can be answered in two ways. If the test I have just proposed of dividing the whole Imperial expenditure, and each deriving the benefit of the services in proportion to the contribution, then the whole Army and Navy becomes altogether Imperial, and may be used in any part of the world at common additional expenditure. Secondly, spart from such Imperial partnership, whenever Indian forces are taken outside Indian limits, the expenses must be paid in full by the British Exchaquer except when the interests are distinctly common, like that of the frontier wars as a protection for both against Russian invasion. In such case as I have already stated, expenses may be divided in some fair way, giving some consideration to the capacity of both. On the other hand, such ware as that of Abyssinia, and for the benefit of Egypt or the Cape Colony, no expenditure should be placed, ordinary or extraordinary, upon the Indian revenues. The only case which can come at all, outside of India, within the purview of common purposes like the North-Western Frontier wars, is when the Suez Caual is actually threatened and has to be defended. Then, like common purpose, both India and Britain can make 2 fair share with some consideration for the poorer party. Adea should be considered as for Imperial purposes, and be divided in a similar way. With all other diplomatic or other expenses of Britain, India has no congexion or interest, and should not be made to contribute. Now, sometimes this question of interest may not be so very obvious, and, in any such difference, some fair tribunal should be resorted to decide the difference. This question of tribunal has been already discussed in evidence, and I trust the Commission may be able to see their way to recommend some.

That, I think, completes your evidence, thank you, Mr. Naoroji.

Just one question on what you have said. You say that India and Britain should take a fair share when the Suez Canal is actually threatened and has to be defended. Do you not think that Australia and New Zealand, the Straits Colonies, and Hong Kong and Cerlon, ought also to take a fair share?—Surely they ought to.

You do not discriminite between India and the other dependencies interested in the Suez Canal?—They are as much interested in the Suez Canal as India is.

APPENDIX-B.

STATEMENT SUBMITTED

TO THE

INDIAN CURRENCY COMMITTEE OF 1898.

Washington House,
72, Anerley Park, S.E.
July 30, 1898.

MY DEAR SIE WILLIAM WEDDERBURN,—In accordance with the reply of the 5th inst. from the Currency Committee to your letter saying "they will, however, be glad to accord their best consideration to any written communication which you may desire to lay before them," I send you this statement, which you would be good enough to forward to them.

- 2. I may add that I am willing to submit to any cross-examination that may be considered necessary to test the correctness of my views, or to ask me other questions. You know that I have been in business in the City for twenty-five years as a merchant, and also as a commission agent; I have dealt with almost every kind of export and import between England and India. I have seen some commercial and monetary crisis, including that of "the Black Friday," when I think Messrs. Overend Gurney and Co., closed their doors.
- 3. Fall or rise in exchange does not in itself (other circumstances remaining the same) matter in true international trade, which adjusts itself automatically to the requirements of exhange. To establish this proposition by a detailed explanation of the mode of operations of Indian trade, I attach as Appendix A, some letters which I wrote to The Times and The Duily News in 1886.
- 4. Closing the mints or introducing a gold standard does not and cannot save a single farthing to the Indian taxpayers in their

remittance for "Home Charges" to this country. The reason is simple. Suppose we take roundly £ 20,000,000 sterling to be the amount of the "Home Charges." The Indian taxpayers have to send as much produce to this country as is necessary to buy £20,000,000, not an ounce less, no matter whatever may be the rupee or whatever the standard (gold or silver) in India. England must receive £20,000,000 in gold or produce worth £20,000,000. The only way in which relief can come to the Indian taxpayers in these remittances is the rise in the prices of the Indian merchandise in this country, and not by any juggling with the currency laws of India.

- 5. The Government of India, in their despatch to the Secretary of State (Simla, November 6, 1878), themselves admit this in so many words:—
- "66. Now, it is plain that so long as the amount of the socalled tribute is not changed the quantity of merchandise necessary to pay it will not change either, excepting by reason of a change of its value in the foreign country to which it goes." (c. 4868, 1886, p. 25.)
- 6. Closing of the mints, and thereby raising the true rupee, worth at present about 11d. in gold, to a false rupes to be worth 16d, in gold, is a covert exaction of about 45 per cent. more taxation all round from the Indian taxpayers, and at the same time of increasing the salaries of officials and other payments in India by Government to the same extent, and giving generally the advantage to creditors over debtors, the former being generally well-to-do and the latter the poorer classes, especially in the case of the money-lenders and the rayats.
- 7. The real and full effect of the closing of the mints must be examined by itself, irrespective of the effect of other factors. First of all, the closing of the mints was illegal, dishonourable, and a despotic act. It is a violation of all taxation Acts, by which there was always a distinct contract between the Government and the taxpayers based upon the fundamental principle of sound currency—i. c., of a certain definite rupes. And what is that fundamental principle upon which the currency, both of this country and of India, is based? The former is upon what is called the gold standard, and the latter the silver standard. Take this country first.

- 8. Here the whole currency is based upon a sovereign-a fixed unit of a certain quantity of gold, whatever its relative exchangeable value may be with all other commodities. A sovereign is nothing more or less than, or anything else but, 123:274 grains of gold of a certain fineness, with a stamp upon it, certifying to the world that it is what it professes to be, and that no restriction whatsoever was to be placed either on the market of gold or on the coining of gold. Any person may present 123-274 grains of gold, of standard fineness [with the mintage (which, I think, is three halfpence on an ounce), *and ask for a sovereign and will get it. It is not buying or selling gold; Government simply having fixed a unit of currency measure, stamps the unit that it is the proper unit. I should be surprised if Government here should even think of interfering with this unrestricted sale and coinage of gold, as the foundation of the sound currency of this country. The sovereign is the standard by which every other commodity, including silver, is measured in its exchangeable value, just as a foot is a standard measure of length, a gallon of liquid. The taxpayer's contract with the Government is that he is to pay in such unrestricted sovereigns, and every taxation law lays down the payment in such sovereigns.
- 9. Similarly about India—substitute 180 grains of standard silver, with 2 per cent. for mintage for a rupee, in place of 123:271 grains of gold, with three halfpence for every ounce of gold coined, for a sovereign, and all the above remarks apply word for word to the case of India, except that I should not be surprised at the Indian authorities playing any pranks, regardless of consequences to the Indian people as long as they are considered favourable to the "interests," and are to be made at the cost of the Indians.
- 10. This is the true rupee—190 grains of standard silver at its market value, with nearly 4 grains more for mintage, is convertible into a rupee without any restriction either on the silver market or on the free coining of silver. It is in this true rupee that the taxpayer is legally bound to pay his taxes. Any interference with the fundamental principal and law of the rupee is illegal, immoral, or dishonourable.

^{*1} understand that there is no charge now. (Coinage Act of 1870, Sec. 8.)

- 1]. Now comes the false rupee. The true rupee, in its relation to gold at the present market value of silver of 184 grains, is worth, say, about 11d. of gold. Government intervenes, abuses its power or duty to coin silver unrestrictedly, makes the rupee scarce and false, and forces it up to the value of 16d. of gold, or about 269 grains of silver (including mintage), which the rupee does not contain. And the taxpayer is compelled, by what Mr. Giadstone called "the argument and law of force," to pay his tax in this false rupee, under the false pretonce of using the word "rupee" when this "rupee" is not one rupee but nearly one and a half rupee.
- 12. Let us now take the factor of closing the mints by itself. Suppose I go into the market with my produce to buy 184 grains of standard silver for which I am asked one manud of rice. I go to the mint and ask to coin this into a rupee which I have to pay to the Sirear for my tax. If I get the rupee, then it is, all right. But no, the mint refuses to coin. It virtually tells me, "Bring 269 grains of silver, (i. e., worth 16d. of gold) and you will get a rupee." I go into the market to get the rupee. The man who has the rupee tells me, "If you give me 269 grains of silver, or as much produce as would buy 266 grains of silver, I would give you the rupee." What alternative remains for me but to give as much of my rice, about $1\frac{1}{2}$ maunds, to get this false "rupee," instead of only one maund to get the true rupee which I can get in the same market and at the same time? This is altogether independent of whatever the actual price of commodities may be,
- 13. If the actual price of rice does not show this fall, owing to the disguise of the false "rupee," it is not that the closing of the mints has not produced this decline, but that other fortunate factors have influenced the price, whose benefit is robbed away from me by the Government by the covert device of the closing of the mints. Otherwise I would have received so much higher price for my produce than the actual price. The loss, therefore, to me is all the same, as I was forced to pay in my produce for 269 grains of silver to get the false "rupee" instead of at the same moment paying for 184 grains of silver to get the true rupee, These two different prices in merchandise for the false and the true rupee are demanded, as I have said above, at the same fime, and is the same

market, i. e., the price of the false rupee, 45 per cent. higher than that of the true rupee, entirely irrespective of any general market rise or fall of price at any same time. If the actual price of rice be 1½ maunds for the false rupee, the price at the same time will be one maund for the true rupee, or for 184 grains of silver.

- 14. To test this in another way, let us take some commodity in the country itself upon which the factor of the closing of the mints produces its full effect in the actual market, and which is not materially affected by other commercial factors, which operate generally upon the general merchandise. Such a commodity in India is gold. It is affected, not in merely foreign exchange or international relations, but in Indian itself as a commodity, like every other commodity. Say, I have a sovereign, and I want to sell it for rupees in India itself-not for exchange to foreign parts. If the "rupee" were the honest, true rupee of the market value of 184 grains of silver, I should get 22 such rupees for my soveregio, but at the false value of the "rupee, " i. c., the market value 269 grains of silver, I actually get only 15 " rupees." This is the actual price of gold in India, a decline in the proportion of the false inflation of the false "rupee." This is the case with every commodity, as can be tested by offering produce for the true rupes of 184 grains of silver, and for the false rupes or 269 grains of silver at the same time and in the same market.
- 15. In addition to the higher taxation thus inflicted on the Indian taxpayers, by an irony of fate, the very "interesta" (bankers, merchants, planters, foreign capitalists of all kinds, etc.) for whose behalf, besides that of Government itself, all this dislocation of currency was made, are now loudest in their cry for all the mischief caused also to them, and yet the authorities in both countries remain blind and infatuated enough not to learn even by experience, and persist in a mischievous course.
- 16. In the Treasury letter of 24th November, 1879 (c. 4868, 1326, p. 31) to the India Office, my Lorda say:—
- "I. The proposal appears to be open to those objections to a token currency which have long been recognised by all civilised nations, viz.: That instead of being automatic, it must be 'managed' by the Government, and that any such management not only fails to keep a token currency at par, but exposes the Government

which undertakes it to very serious difficulties and tempta-

- 17. "2. It appears to my Lords, that the Government of India, in making the present proposal, lay themselves open to the same criticisms as are made upon Governments which have depreciated their currencies. In general, the object of such Governments has been to diminish the amount they have to pay to their creditors. In the present case, the object of the Indian Government appears to be to increase the amount they have to receive from their taxpayers. My Lords fail to see any real difference in the character of the two transactions,
- 18. "..... If, on the other hand, it is the case that the value of the rupee has fallen in India, and that it will be raised in India by the operation of the proposed plan, that plan is open to the objection that it alters every contract and every fixed payment in India.
- 19. "This proposal is, in fact, contrary to the essential and well-established principle of the currency law of this country, which regards the current standard coin as a piece of a given metal of a certain weight and fineness, and which condemns as futile and mischievous every attempt to go behind this simple definition.
- 20. "It is perfectly true as stated in the despatch (paragraph 41), that the "very essence of all laws relating to the currency has been to give fixity to the standard of value as far as it is possible," but it is no less true that, according to the principles which govern our currency system, the best and surest way, and, indeed, the only tried and known way, of giving this fixity is to adhere to the above definition of current standard coin. A pound is a given quantity of gold, a rupee is a given quantity of silver; and any attempt to give those terms a different meaning is condemned by experience and authority.
- 21. "3. If the present state of exchange be due to the depreciation of silver, the Government scheme, if it succeeds, may relieve:—
- (i) The Indian Government from the inconvenience of a nominal re-adjustment of taxation in order to meet the loss by exchange on the home remittances:

- (2) Civil servants and other Englishmen who are serving or working in India, and who desire to remit money to England:
- (3) Englishmen who have money placed or invested in India which they wish to remit to England. But this relief will be given at the expense of the Indian tuxpayer, and with the effect of increasing every debt or fixed payment in India, including debts due by ryots to money-lenders; while its effect will be materially qualified, so far as the Government are concerned, by the enhancement of the public obligations in India, which have been contracted on a silver basis........
- 22. "If, then, a case has been made out, which my Lords do not admit, for an alteration of the currency law of India, the particular alteration which the Government of India propose could not, in the opinion of the Treasury, be entertained until the doubts and objections which have suggested themselves to my Lords are answered and removed. These objections are founded on principles which have been long and ably discussed, and which are now generally admitted by statesmen and by writers of accepted authority to lie at the root of the currency system.
- 23. "It is no light matter to accept innovations which must sap and undermine that system, and my Lords have therefore felt it their duty plainly—though they hope not inconsistently with the respect due to the Government of India—to express their conviction that the plas which had been referred to them for their observations is one which ought not to be sauctioned by Her Majesty's Government or by the Secretary of State." (Italics are mine.)
 - 24. Can condemnation be more complete and convincing?
- 25. The introduction of a gold standard, while it will not save a single farthing or a single ounce of produce to the Indian taxpayer in his payment of "Home Charges," as already explained, will simply add more to his already existing grievous burdens to the extent of the heavy cost of the alteration, and injure him, Heaves knows in what other ways, as the events of the past five years have shows.
- 26. The whole basis of the action of the Government is, and was, the assumption that, as fall in exchange will necessitate increased burden of taxation, the closing of the mints and introduc-

tion of a gold standard will save the Indian tarpayer from any such additional burden of taxation which would otherwise arise enormously in the remittance of "Home Charges," and that it is imperatively necessary to establish a stable ratio between gold and silver. That the anxeity of the Government about increased burdens of taxation and its political dangers, and that to save the people from the former and the Government from the latter, were the professed motives of all the present currency laws, would be clear from Government's own despatches.

- 27. In order not to encumber the statement here with the extracts from those despatches, I give them as Appendix B.
- 28. Both these objects, viz., saving people from additional taxation, and thereby Government from political danger, by the present proposals, and past currency legislation, are pure delusions. The Government might as well have tried to stop the action of gravitation, as to try against a natural law, that while gold and silver should fluctuate in value in relation to and like all other commodities, yet between themselves they could be made to keep up a fixed ratio, or to try to make a rupee which may be only worth 11d. or even 6d. of gold, become worth 16d. of gold, unless Government have found the philosopher's stone or have attained the divine power of creating something out of nothing.
- 29. It is not that the Government of India did not know this, or were not told this from the highest authority and others, and is distinct and emphatic terms. Of this I have already given (see supra 16 to 23 paras.) extracts from the despatch of the Treasury, of November 24th, 1879.
- 30. Notwithstanding the clear and emphatic views of the Treasury expressing "their conviction that the plan which had been referred to them for their observations is one which ought not to be sauctioned by Her Majesty's Government, or by the Secretary of State," the Government of India and the India Office again opened the subject in another form.
- 31. Lord Randolph Churchill wrote to the Treasury on January 26th, 1886, and forwarded on March 17th, 1886, a letter from the Government of India dated February 2nd, 1886 (c. 4868, 1886, pp. 3-5). To avoid repetition, I would not take extracts from these letters, as the reply of the Treasury embodies their views.

- 33. "The Indian Government further express their belief (paragraph 7) that it is possible to 'secure a stable ratio between gold and silver,' and that 'a serious responsibility will rest both on the Government of India and on Her Majesty's Government if they neglect any legitimate means to bring about this result.' It would, however, have been more satisfactory if the Indian Government had undertaken to explain the grounds of their confidence that a stable ratio between gold and silver can be established, and the methods by which this is to be accomplished......."
- 34. "8. In December 1879, Lord Cranbrook, then Secretary of State for India, forwarded to the then Chancellor of the Exchequer (Sir Stafford Northcote), without any expression of opinion, two despatches from the Government of India, containing certain proposed remedies for the evils arising out of the depression in the value of silver which were then in full force. In the only one of those despatches to which reference need here be made, after unfavourable reference to previous suggestions—(1) that a gold standard and gold currency should be introduced into India; and (2) that the weight of silver in the rupee should be increased, it was proposed to limit the free coinage of silver at the Indian mints, The intention of this change was to introduce into India a gold standard, while retaining its native ailver currency, the ratio between the currency unit (the rupee) and the standard (the sovereign) being fixed arbitrarily by the Government. The

means for attaining this end are worked out in the despatch with great elaboration of detail." (Italics are mine.)

- 35. "9. This despatch and its proposals were submitted by Lord Cranbrook, on behalf of the Indian Government, and Sir Stafford Northcote, as Chancellor of the Exchequer, to a Committee consisting of Sir Louis Mallet, Mr. Edward Stanhope, M. P., Sir Thomas Seccombe, Mr. (now Sir Thomas) Farrer, Mr. (now Sir Reginald) Welby, Mr. Giffen, and Mr. Arthur Balfour, M. P. These geutlemen reported, on the 30th April, 1879—'That having examined the proposals contained in the despatch, they were unanimously of opinion that they could not recommend them for the sanction of Her Majesty's Government.'
- 36. "10. Subsequently on the 24th November, 1879, the Treasury replied in detail to the proposals of the Indian Government. In the first part of that letter, which summarises the case as stated in the despatch, I am to call the particular attention of the Secretary of State to the following passages, which seem to apply with equal force to the present situation:—
- 37. "'My Lords need not point out that a change of the Currency Laws is one of the most difficult tasks which a Government can undertake, and that it is most unadvisable to legislate hastily and under the influence of the pressure of the moment, or of an apprehension of uncertain consequences, upon a subject so complicated in itself and so important to every individual of the community, in its bearing upon the transactions and obligations of daily life.
- 38. "It is not proved that increase or re-adjustment of taxation must necessarily be the consequence of matters remaining as they are, for nothing is said about reduction of expenditure, and equilibrium between income and expenditure may be regained by economy of expenditure as well as by increase of taxation. Purther, the cost of increase of salaries may be met, or at least reduced, by a careful revision of establishments.....
- 39. "A perusal of the despatch leads to the conclusion that the Government of India are especially auxious to put an end to the competition of silver against their own bills as a means of remittance to India. But my Lords must ask whether this would be more than a transfer of their own burden to other

shoulders; if so, who would eventually bear the loss, and what would be the effect on the credit of the Government and on the commerce of India?'

- 40. The letter then further quotes the paragraphs, which I have already given before, pointing out that the relief wished for by the Government, "will be given at the expense of the Indian taxpayer."—(Supra, par. 21.)
- 41. "The Treasury find no reuson stated in the despatch of the Government of India in the present year, which induces them to dissent from the conclusions thus sent forth on the authority of Sir Stafford Northcote as to the 'results of any attempt artificially to enhance the gold price of silver...
- 42. "13. It has been the policy of this country to emancipate commercial transactions as far as possible from legal control, and to impose no unnecessary restrictions upon the interchange of commedities. To fix the relative value of gold and silver by law would be to enter upon a course directly at variance with this principle, and would be regarded as an arbitrary interference with a natural law, not justified by any present necessity."
- 43. "..... The observation of the Treasury in 1879, 'that nothing is said about reduction of expenditure,' seems to apply still more strongly to the existing situation, and it may be safely concluded that the control of its expenditure is far more within the reach of a Government than is the regulation of the market value of the precious metals." (c. 4868, 1886, p. 12).
- 44. Before proceeding further I may in passing point out that in 1876 the Government of India itself was against their present proposals, and, as my Lords of the Treasury say, they have urged no sound reasons to alter those views. I have not got the Government of India's despatch of 1876, but I quote from that of November 9, 1878 (c. 4868), 1886, p. 18.
- 45. "3. The despatch above referred to (October 13th, 1876) discussed in some detail........... The general result, however, was to point out that the adoption of a gold standard with a gold currency that should replace the existing silver would be so costly as to be impracticable, and would otherwise be open to objection;

- 46. "4. The despatch notices also, but only to reject it, the proposal that the Indian standard of value, and with it the exchange value of the rupee, might be raised by limiting the coining of silver in the future and by adopting a gold standard without a gold currency." (The italics are mine.)
- 47. The Government of India, in their reply of February 9, 1877, to a Resolution of the Bengal Chamber of Commerce passed by them on July 15, 1876, said:—
- "8. The value of no substance can serve as a standard measure of value unless its use as the material of legal tender currency is freely admitted. If, therefore, the free coinage of silver on fixed conditions were disallowed in India silver would no longer be the standard of value of India, but another standard would be substituted, namely, the monopoly value of the existing stock of rupees tempered by any additions made to it by the Government or illicitly. If no such conditions were made the value of the rupee will gradually but surely rise."
- 48. "9. The stamp of a properly regulated mint, such as the Indian Mints, adds nothing except the cost of manufacture and seigniorage to the value of the metal on which it is impressed, but only certifies to its weight and purity."
- 49. "10. A sound system of currency must be automatic or self-regulating. No civilised Government can undertake to determine from time to time by how much the legal-tender currency should be increased or decreased, nor would it be justified in leaving the community without a fixed metallic standard of value even for a short time. It is a mistake to suppose that any European nation has rejected silver as a standard of value without substituting gold." (c. 7060, II, 1893, p. 337. Petition of the Indian Association to the House of Commons.)
- 50. And yet the Government forgot its "civilisation" and its "sound system," and inflicted upon poor India the penalty of its folly by the troubles of the past five years, and what is worse still, they want to persist in the same mischief.
- 51. Reverting to the above replies of the Treasury, after such complete condemnation by the Treasury of the proposals of the Government of India, the Indian authorities fought shy of the Treasury, and, after inditing a meaningless despatch to keep up

appearances, left the Treasury severely alone, as far as I know, and adopted their own usual means to have their own way to rush, into their own foregous crude, and thoughtless legislation. The only wonder is that the Committee of 1893, while knowing all this and seeing all the pitfalls and serious consequences of the proposals allowed the Indian Government to have their own way, in the face of the emphatic rejection by the Treasury of these proposals.

- 52. To me the proceedings of the Indian authorities are nothing surprising. Whenever they make up their mind to do a thing they would do it-be the opposition what it may be it of Parliament itself. Resolutions or Statutes of Parliament, or condemnation by the Treasury, are to them nothing. The usual process in such cases is to appoint a Commission or a Committee, put in Members, and have witnesses of their own choice, leaving, if possible, just a small margin for appearance of independence. Generally, they get their own foregone conclusions. If 'by some happy chance the Commission decided anything against their view so much the worse for the Commission. The Report is pigeonholed, never to see the light of day, or to ignore such part as is not agreeable. If thwarted (as in this instance by the Treasury), the Government keep quiet for a time, wait for more favourable opportunities, and are at it again, taking better care against another mishap.
- 53. Thus they took their own usual course, which has, as was clearly predicted at the time, launched us on the present sea of troubles.
- 54. What is stranger still is, that after the Treasury so distinctly condemned these proposals, they did not care to see that any contemplated rash and crude legislation was not inflicted on the Indian taxpayers. The fact seems to be that India is the vile body upon which any quacks may perform any vivisection, and try any cruel, crude, or rash experiments. What matters what is done to it? The Treasury, i.e., the English taxpayer, has not to suffer in any way. India is our helot, she can be forced to pay everything. But they forget Lord Salisbury's elernal words—"Injustics will bring down the mightiest to ruis."
- 55. The next natural question is.—Why is it that fall in exchange should cause grievous troubles to India and not to

any other self-governing, silver using country? What is the real disease which creates all the never-ceasing pains of India? The reply is given by Lord Salisbury in four words," India must be bled "under a system of "political hypocrisy." As long as this is the fate of India under an un-British system of Government, no jugglery, no loud professions of benevolence, no device of raising a rupee to what it is not worth, will cure India's sad fate and "terrible misery." (Lord Salisbury's words.)

- 56. I shall let the authorities themselves speak about the real cause of India's troubles. Lord Salisbury's view I have given above. The following extracts explain this view more explicitly and how it is effected. First, Lord Salisbury has explained that "the injury is exaggerated in the case of India, where so much of the revenue is exported without a direct equivalent."
- 57. And the literature of this very controversy itself supplied a clear explanation. Lord Randolph Churchill, as Secretary of State for India, explains how the "bleeding" and the drain of revenue is effected, and indicates also the final retribution—just as Lord Salisbury does, as already quoted by me. Lord Randolph Churchill, in his despatch to the Treasury of January 26th, 1886, (c, 4.868) 1886, p. 4, says:—first—
- 58. "It need hardly be said that it is in consequence of the large obligatory payments which the Government of India has to make in England in gold currency that the fall in the exchange value of the rupee affects the public finances." (Italies are mine.)
- 59. And next he hits the nail on the head, and gives concisely and unmistakeably the real evil from which all India's woes flow,
- 60. He says:—"The position of India in relation to taxation and the sources of the public revenues is vary peculiar, not merely from the habits of the people, and their strong aversion to change, which is more specially exhibited to new forms of taxation, but likewise from the character of the Government, which is in the hands of foreigners, who hold all the principal administrative offices and form so large a part of the Army. The impatience of new taxation, which would have to be borne wholly as a consequence of the foreign rule imposed on the country, and virtually to meet additions to charges arising outside of the

country, would constitute a political danger, the real magnitude of which, it is to be feared, is not at all appreciated by persons who have no knowledge of, or concern in, the government of India, but which those responsible for that Government have long regarded as of the most serious order." (The italics are mine.)

61. Here, then, is the real disease—"The character of the Government, which is in the hands of foreigners, who hold all the principal administrative offices, and form so large a part of the Army"—" the taxation which would have to be borne wholly as a a consequence of the foreign rule imposed on the country, and virtually to meet additions to charges arising outside of the country."

62. And it is remarkable that this was prophesied more than a hundred years ago by the highest Indian authority of the day.

Sir John Shore, in his famous minute in 1787 (Parliamentary Return 377 of 1812, para. 132), says:—

- 63. "Whatever allowance we may make for the increased industry of the subjects of the State owing to the enhanced demand for the produce of it (supposing the demand to be enhanced), there is reason to conclude that the benefits are more than counterbalanced by evils inseparable from the system of a remote foreign dominion." (Italies are mine.)
- 64. These evils of the system of a remote foreign dominion must be faced by the British rulers before it is "too late" No jugglery of currency, or loud professions of benevolence, or the hundred and one subterfuges to which Indian authorities resort, will ever cure these evils—or put British rule on a solid and aafe foundation and relieve the Indian people of all these national, and political and moral degradations and debasement, and economic and material destruction. Give India true British rule in place of the present un-British rule, and both England and India will be blessed and prosperous.
- 65. Now, with regard to the immediate position—What is to be done now? Retrace the false step of 1893, taken in spite of the clear warnings of the Treasury and others, and against the "law of Nature." The opening of the mints to the unrestricted esining of allver will correct all the mischievous results that have flowed from the closing of the mints. And further, the true

remedy, as pointed out by the Treasury, is a reduction of expenditure and readjustment of establishments.

- 66. It never occurs to the Indian authorities in both countries that the high salaries of officials may be reduced, say a third, and, as repeatedly urged by many a right-thinking man, Native agency should be substituted—except for the highest control—for the foreign agency, and that Britain should contribute its fair share of the expenditure, to the extent to which such expenditure is incurred for its own purposes and benefits, such as the European services and Imperial wars, etc. Of course, anybody can understand that it is hard for officials to cut their own salaries, and let the Indians to come by their own, or ask the British people to contribute a fair share. But this is the only remedy both for the preservation of English rule and for the prosperity of both England and India.
- 67. The opening of the mints will have immediate important effects. (1). The stringency of the money market and the consequent dislocation of trade will be remedied. (2). The poor taxpayer will have to submit to such additional taxation only (after careful and earnest reduction of expenditure and avoiding of suicidal and unnecessary wars) as will be absolutely necessary to meet the deficit caused by the natural fall of exchange, instead of a concealed enormous enhancement of the whole taxation of the country, under the disguise and by the creation of a false "rupee" by closing the mints, to the extent of the difference between the value of the true and talse rupee (may be between 6d. and 16d., or nearly three times as much).

The Indian authorities must take the advice which the Treasury has given, and restore the currency law to its original purity and soundness.

68. The second proposal for a gold standard (with partial or full quantity of gold) must be abandoned. The Government of India have themselves condemned the proposal, as already stated, paragraph 45. What does it mean? It is most inopportune at present. It means that all the proportionate small quantity of silver that is in British India, and the proportionately large quantity that is in the Native States, must be forcibly (not by any natural economic cause but by the despotism of the State) deprived of a large portion of its present value by throwing a large quantity of it

in the market, and buy a large quantity of gold at a still higher proportion of value by the large additional demand created by it. All this loss in cheapening silver, and dearer gold to be squeezed out of the poor, wretched, famished ryot of India.

- 69. The conversion of silver into gold standard cannot be carried out without great cost (see paragraph 45), which will be the highest cruelty and tyranny to inflict upon the "bloodless" and miserable and helpless people of India, and especially this infliction to be made on the false assumption that it will give relief from the burden of the remittances for "Home Charges," when it will do nothing of the kind, as stated by Government itself.
- 70. The step is not at all necessary for any economic purpose except that it will be a convenience to the foreign exploiter, official and non-official. A gold currency without gold (paragraph 46) and with an unrestricted silver currency is a delusion rejected by Government itself, and forcibly impressed by the Treasury.
- 71. I do sincerely hope and trust that this and all such heartlessness towards, and un-British treatment of, the wretched people of India will become a thing of the past, and a true British rule may bring blessing and prosperity to both Britain and India.
- 72. I beg to give in Appendix C. a statement of December 11th, 1892, which I had submitted to the Currency Committee in 1892, from which it will be seen that I had then pointed out the objections to the proposals. I also beg to refer the Committee to my evidence before the same Committee or December 17th, 1892, (c. 7060, II, 1893, p. 106).
- 73. There are several other more or less minor questions. Suppose a ryot is paying Rs. 10, what will be taken from him in gold? Will it be at the rate at which the intrinsic value of the silver is at the time (at present 11d. may be 6d.), or will demand be made at the present false value of 1s. 4d., or even in the despotic power, at the rate of 2s., i.e., £1 of the Rs. 10?
- 74. When gold currency is introduced what salary will be paid to the officials at 11d. or 6d. of whatever the market value of the rupes may be, or at 16d., or even 24d., of the despotic value of the "rupes," for every rupes of the salary—a rupes of 150 grains of aliver. In other words, will it be £25 at 6d., or about £46 at

11d., or about £66 at 16d., or £100 at 24d. for a present salary of Rs. 1,000, of a rupee of 180 grains?

- 75. There is the foreign merchant or capitalist of every kind always wanting to save himself in his trade-risks at the cost of the taxpayer, besides using to no small extent, or to the extent of the deposits of revenue in the banks, the revenues of the taxpayers, as his capital for his trade, and besides what is brought back to India out of the "bleeding" of India as his, the foreign capitalist's capital. Is Government going to inflict oppression upon the Indian taxpayer whenever these "interests" raise a cry and agitation for their selfish ends? Merchants and all sorts of foreign capitalistic exploiters and speculators must be left to themselves. It is no business of the State to interfere in their behalf at the cost of the Indian taxpayers; they know their business; they are able, and ought to be left to take care of themselves. They exploit the country with the Indians' revenue and "bleeding." That is bad enough in all conscience—the profits are theirs, and the losses must be also theirs and not an additional infliction upon the Indian taxpayers.
 - 76. The Government here dare not play such pranks with the taxpayers. In India the Government only thinks of the foreign "interests" (official and non-official) first, and of the subjects afterwards, if it ever thinks of the subjects at all, when foreign "interests" are concerned.
 - 77. I.ord Mayo has truly said: "I have only one object in all I do. I believe we have not done our duty to the people of the land. Millions have been spent on the conquering race which might have been spent in enriching and in elevating the children of the soil. We have done much, but we can do a great deal more. It is, however, impossible, unless we spend less on the 'interests' and more on the people."
 - 78. On another occasion he said: "We must take into account the inhabitants of the country—the welfare of the people of India is our primary object. If we are not here for their good, we ought not to be here at all,"—The Hindu of 4th May, 1898, Sir W. Hunter's "Life of Mayo,"
 - 79. This is exactly the whole truth. It is the "interests" alone that the present selfish system and spirit of Government care for—and though that is some profit to England, it is most

destructive to India. If, according to the noble words of Lord Mayo, the people's true welfare were made the object, England itself will be vastly more benefited than it is at present, and India will also be benefited and will bless the name of England, instead of cursing it as she now begins to do—shut your eyes to it as much as you like. Do as Lord Mayo says, and all difficulties of trade, taxation, finances, currency, famine, plague, unnecessary wars, and last, but not least, of poverty and disaffection will vanish. The past has been bad, "bleeding, and degrading"; let the future be good yet—prospering and elevating. India then will be quite able to pay as much as may be necessary for healthy Government, and all necessary progress.

80. In the above remarkable and true words of Lord Mayo, you have the cause of all India's woes and evils, and all England's political dangers of "the most serious order," as well as the proper remedy for them. Will this Currency Committee rise to its duty and patriotism?

Yours truly,

DADABHAI NAOBOJI.

Sir William Wedderburn,
Chairman of the British Committee of
The Indian National Congress,
84, Palace Chambers, Westminster, S.W.

APPENDIX A .- INDIAN EXCHANGES.

From the TIMES, September 9th, 1886.

SIR,—I hope you will kindly allow me to make a few observations upon Indian exchanges. I shall first describe the mode of operation of an expert transaction from India. In order to trace the effect of the exchange only, I take all other circumstances to remain the same—i.e., any other circumstances, such as of supply and demand, etc., which affect prices.

I take an illustration in its simplest form. Suppose I lay out Ra. 10,000 to export 100 bales of cotton to England. I then calculate, taking exchange into consideration, what price in England will enable me to get back my Rs. 10,000, together with a fair pro-

fit—say, 10 per cent.—making altogether, Rs. 11,000. Suppose I take exchange at 2: per rupes, and find that 6d. per lb. will bring back to me in remittance as much silver as would make up Rs. 11,000, I then instruct my agent in England to sell with a limit of 6d. per lb., and to remit the proceeds in silver, this being the simplest form of the transaction. The result of the transaction, if it turned out as intended, will be that the cotton sold at 6d. per lb. will bring back to me Rs. 11,000, and the transaction will be completed.

Now, I take a transaction when exchange is 1s. 4d. instead of 2s. per rapee. I lay out Rs. 10,000 for 100 bales of cotton, all other circumstances remaining the same, I calculate that I can get back my Rs. 10,000, and 10 per cent. profit, or Rs. 11,000 altogether, if my cotton were cold at 4d. per lb. Then I instruct my agent for a limit of 4d., which, being obtained, and silver being remitted to me at the reduced price, I get back my Rs. 11,000.

The impression of many persons seems to be that, just as I received 6d. per pound when exchange was 2s. per rupee, I get 6d. also when exchange is only 1s. 4d. per rupee, and that, silver being so much lower, I actually get Rs. 16,500, instead of only Rs. 11,000. This, however, is not the actual state of the case, as I have explained above. When exchange is at 2s. per rupee, and I get 6d. per lb. for my cotton, I do not get 6d. per lb. when exchange is only 1s. 4d. per rupee, but I get only 4d. per lb.; in either case the whole operation is that I laid out Rs. 10,000 and received back Rs. 11,000. When exchange is 2s. I get 6d. of gold; when exchange is 1s. 4d. I do not get 6d. of gold, but 4d. of gold, making my return of silver, at the lower price, of the same amount in either case—viz., Rs. 11,000.

I explain the same phenomenon in another form, to show that each alone is the case, and no other is possible. Supposing that, according to the impression of many, my cotton could be sold at Cd. per lb. when exchange is only 1s. 4d.—that is to say, that I can receive Rs. 16,500 back for my lay-out of Rs. 10,000, why my neighbour would be only too glad to undersell me and be satisfied with 40 per cent. profit in place of my 50 per cent. profit, and another will be but too happy and satisfied with 20 per cent., and so on till, with the usual con-petition, the price will come down to the natural and usual level of profits.

The fact is no merchant in his senses ever dreams that he would get the same price of 6d. per lb. irrespective of the exchange being either 2s. or 1s. 4d. Like freight, insurance, and other charges, he takes into consideration the rate of exchange, and settles at what price his cotton should be sold in order that he should get back his lay-out with the usual profit. This is what he expects, and he gains more or less according as the state of the market is affected by other causes, such as larger supply or demand, or further variation in exchange during the pendency of the transaction.

Taking, therefore, all other circumstances to remain the same, and the exchange remaining the same during the period of the completion of the transaction, the effect of the difference in the exchange at any two different rates is that when exchange is lower you get so much less gold in proportion, so that in the completion of the transaction you get back in either case your cost and usual profit. In the cases I have supposed above, when exchange is 2s. and price is 6d. per lb., then when exchange is 1s. 4d. the price obtained or expected is 4d. per lb. in both cases there is the return of Rs. 11,000 against a cost of Rs. 10,000

I stop here, hoping that some one of your numerous renders will point out if I have made any mistake. It is very important in matters of such complicated nature as mercantile transactions that the first premises or fundamental facts be clearly laid down. If this is done a correct conclusion will not be difficult to be arrived at. I have, therefore, confined myself to simple facts. If what I have said above is admitted, I shall next explain the operation of imports into India, and then consider in what way India is actually affected by the fall in exchange or in the value of silver.

Yours faithfully,

DADABHAI NAOBOJI.

National Liberal Club, September 2nd.

APPENDIX B.

- Government of India to Secretary of State, November 9th, 1878:—
- "12. . . . And bearing in mind the necessary fixity of much of the existing texation, the difficulty of finding new sources of revenue, and the dissatisfaction caused by all increases of taxation, even by those for which there is the most urgent necessity, it is indisputable that the political inconvenience of this gradually increasing burden is extremely great, aggravated as it further is by the uncertainty of its amount and the impossibility, of foreseeing its fluctuations, which may at any moment become the cause of the most grave financial embarrassment."—(c. 4,868, 1886, p. 19.)
- 2. Now is it not very strange that the necessity of avoiding additional taxation is met by laying on as heavy a taxation as possible in the covert way of creating a false rupee?
- 3. "74. To this might further be added that the political risks of the present time, and the prospects they create of necessary additional taxation, which, if our proposals were adopted might be avoided wholly or to a great extent, or even be met by reduction of taxation, add force to the argument that if these changes are to be made, there would be special political advantage in making them now."—(P. 26.)
- 4. Now this beats everything. While by proposing the device of closing the mints, and giving a false value to the rupee, they are actually increasing the burden of taxation to the extent of the false increase of the value of the rupee, the Government, with an extraordinary naivete, say that their proposals will "even be met by reduction of taxation!" The Government of India has beaten itself!
 - 5. India Office to Treasury, January 26th, 1886:-
- "It is not, however, upon the large amount of the charge that Lord Randolph Churchill is desirous of dwelling, so much as upon the extreme difficulty in which the Government of India is placed in relating its finances, and the dangers that attend a position in which any sudden fall in the exchange may require the increased

charge caused thereby to be met by additional taxation." – (c. 4.868, 1886, p. 4.)

- 6. "The imposition of additional taxation has always been a matter of much anxiety to the Indian Government, and the greatest objection has always been evinced to imposing such taxation in forms to which the people are unaccustomed, or to frequent changes or to measures which give rise to fears of possible further changes and additional taxes."—(P. 4.) Is it for this reason that this covert way was discovered to impose heavy additional taxation?
- 7. Government of India to the Secretary of State for India, February 2nd, 1886:—
- "Speaking generally, the period of financial pressure to which we refer may be said to have extended from 1873-74 to 1880-81, and to have involved increased taxation, large reductions in public works expenditure, and a heavy addition to the gold debt held in England."—(c. 4,868, 1886, p. 6.)
- 8. "This state of affairs would be an evil of the greatest magnitude in any country in the world; in a country such as India it is pregnant with danger."—(P. 7.)

And so the Government of India aggravate this state!

9. "If a stable ratio between gold and silver cannot be secured we must continue to add to the gold debt of India, though we are fully aware of the objections to borrowing largely in England in a time of peace, and view with apprehension the additional burden which will be imposed on India when borrowing in England ceases, and the remittances from India must be increased in order to pay the interest charge on an increased gold debt."—(P. 8.)

Is that the reason why Government goes on increasing this debt with a light heart?

- The words used by Lord Lytton's Government in a despatch dated November 9th, 1878, might be applied almost literally to the circumstances of the present day.
- 11. "At the present time when political events may throw upon India new burdens of unusual magnitude, the position of our Government in relation to this question assumes a character of extreme gravity. Whether, if such demands upon us arise, they would require us to have resort to increased taxation to

provide additional resources for the service of the year, or to loans to meet sudden or unusual charges, or, as may be more probable, to a combination of the two, the auxiety that will attend our financial administration must be very great; and if the holders of silver should under any combination of circumstances, throw any considerable quantity on the market, as is at all events possible, the consequences to India might be financially disastrous. How a sudden call to supply by taxation a million or more to provide for further loss by exchange, and one or two millions for war charges could be met, we are at a loss to know; yet that such demands might arise no one can say is so improbable as to remove them from a serious claim on our attention. The prospects of a loan in such a case would not be much more satisfactory. Any temporary relief obtained by borrowing in England would be more than compensated by the increased burdens created in the future, and the necessary tendency of things would be to go from bad to worse." (P. 10.)

- 12. So it appears that this "extreme gravity," "the anxiety", and going "from bad to worse" were the reasons why wars of Imperial interest were undertaken, and why the increasing burdens are going on! And why it is now decided that India and India alone should bear every burden?
- 13. Lord Randolph Churchill, in his letter to the Treasury of January 26th, 1886, says:—"It is not, however, upon the large amount of the charge that Lord Randolph Churchill is desirous of dwelling so much as upon the extreme difficulty in which the Government of India is placed in regulating its finances and the dangers that attend a position in which any sudden fall in exchange may require the increased charge caused thereby to be met by additional taxation."
- 14. These extracts are sufficient to show the anxiety of the Government for increasing burdens on the people, and political danger to Government; and the beauty of the whole thing is, that they have done and are doing the very things which they proclaimed loudly should not be done: increased both taxation with a light heart and political danger with a vengeance!
- 15. I shall add what was said on the passing of the Bill in 1803:—

In the Legislative Council of June 26th, 1893, the Hon. Mr. Mackay, who was perhaps one of the most active persons in bringing about this legislation, said:—

"I am completely in accord with the provisions of the Bill just introduced by the Hon. Sir David Barbour, and with the greatest deference I venture to congratulate your Excellency on having succeeded in bringing forward a measure which will have the effect, not only of restoring the finances of the country to a satisfactory condition, but which will also impart to trade and commercial transactions that legitimate amount of certainty of which they have been deprived for the past twenty years. The measure at the same time relieves the country of that dread of additional and seriously disturbing taxation which has been weighing upon it for some time past."

His Excellency the President said :-

- 16. "I think, then, that I may sum up this part of the case by saying that it has now been established almost beyond controversy that to leave matters as they were meant for the Government of India hopeless fluancial confusion; for the commerce of India a constant and ruinous impediment; for the taxpayers of India the prospect of heavy and unpopular burdens; for the consumers of commodities a rise in the prices of the principal necessaries of life; and for the country, as a whole, a fatal and atunting arrestation of its develop-. " We earnestly hope that proposals may be fruitful of good, that the commerce of India may be relieved from an impediment which has retarded its progress, that the Government of India may be enabled to meet its obligations without adding to the burdens of the taxpayer; and that capital will flow more freely into this country without the adventitious stimulus which we have hitherto been unable to refuse. We trust, finally, that in process of time sufficient reserves of gold may be accumulated to enable us to render our gold standard effectiveand thereby to complete the great change towards which we are taking the first steps to-day. Time only can show whether all these bopes will be fulfilled or be disappointed."
- 17. Vain, unfortunate hope! A Currency Committee is sitting again. What was said by the Treasury and others has come

to pass, and all the glowing prophecies of the Indian authorities, based upon clear fallacies, have been falsified—and yet persistence in the same course!

APPENDIX C.

INDIA, JULY 1st, 1893.—THE CURRENCY QUESTION.

STATEMENT SUBMITTED BY MR. DADABHAI NAOROJI TO THE CURRENCY COMMITTEE.

The questions of exchange and currency in connexion with India have, unlike those questions in other countries, two different branches, and it is very important to keep them distinctly in mind.

- (1) Political. (2) Commercial.
- (1) The political aspect entails upon British India the compulsory remittance of about £16,000,000 to this country every year (which will now be £19,000,000, as no more railway capital will be forthcoming to be used here instead of drawing on India). I am not discussing here the righteousness or otherwise of this state of affairs. It is the loss caused by the fall in exchange in the remittances of these (now) £19,000,000 which is the point under consideration. Otherwise the question of exchange would have no significance, as I have shown in my letters to the Times in September, 1886.

The proposal to introduce a gold currency into India is based on the argument that it would save all present loss to the people of India from the fall in exchange. It will do nothing of the kind. It will simply inflict greater loss and hardship on the wretched Indian taxpayer. I explain.

The Indian taxpayer, at the time when exchange was 2s, per rupee, was sending produce to England worth 16 crores of rupees to meet the payment of £16,000,000. Now, taking exchange, any roundly 1s, per rupee, he has to send produce worth 38 crores of rupees to meet the (present) remittance of £19,000,000—or at a double rate. To avoid the confusion of ideas that prevails through the present controversy, I would eliminate silver altogether from the problem and put it in another form—that when one rupee was equal to 2s, the Indian taxpayer cent, say, one

million tons of produce to meet the £19,000,000 of Home Charges—when a rupes is 1s., he has to send two million tons of produce to meet the same demand. Whether the currency be gold or silver or copper or lead will not be of the slightest consequence. The Indian taxpayer will have to send to this country as much produce, and not one ounce less, as would purchase £19,000,000—the only difference in the quantity of produce to be sent will depend solely on the rise or fall in gold. Only there will be on the poor taxpayer this additional infliction—that he will be saddled with the heavy cost of the conversion of the currency in gold; and gold becoming so much more in demand will still further rise, and the taxpayer will have to send so much more produce to meet the additional rise in the value of gold. All talk of saving to the Indian the present loss by fall in exchange is pure imagination.

Again, suppose a ryot is paying Rs. 10 as land tax, When gold currency is introduced, what will Covernment take from him in place of Rs. 10? Will Government demand at the supposed rate of 1s. per rupee-i. e., ten shillings only-or will Government demand arbitrarily in its despotic power at the rate of the fictitious value of a rupee as two shillings and will take £1, or any amount at any higher rate above the intrinsic value of the rupee? Taking the gross revenue comprehensively, the total gross revenue is Rs. 850,000,000, what will Government take from the taxpayer when gold currency is introduced? Will it take at the present supposed rate of is, per rupee, viz., £ 42,500,000, or will it arbitrarily impose a double revenue at the rate of 2e, per rupee, so that from his present poor produce the taxpayer must sell double the produce to meet the demands of Government. If the latter, what a precious benefit will this be to the Indian taxpayer from the gold eurrency!

When gold currency is introduced what salary will be paid to the European official? Suppose he has a salary of Rs. 1,000 per month, will Government give him at the rate of 1s. per rupes, i. e., £50, and will the official accept £50 for the Rs. 1,000? Is not all the present strong agitation of the Anglo-Indian a clear reply that he will do nothing of the kind, but will continue his agitation till he gets £100 or something near it for his Rs. 1,000:

or in other words get his salary doubled at a stroke, at the expense of the starring ryot? And has not Government already shown that it will yield to such agitation, and will be readily "liberal" to European demands at the sacrifice of the Indians? It has already yielded to the demands of the Uncovenanted Europeans and has given them a fixed exchange of 1s. 9d. per rupee for their furlough, no matter whether exchange is 1s. or even less, say 6d. Now the whole European service is agitating to get them 1s. 9d. or some other high fixed exchange, even to the extent of half their salary. Do these Anglo-Indians really want to exact from the starring ryot such high exchange when the rupee is worth perhaps a shilling or even sixpence? Who will pay this difference? Of course an arbitrary Government may oppress a people as much as they like, but will the British people and Parliament allow such a thing?

On the top of all this comes the merchant with his agitation for the gold currency, that he may be saved, at the sacrifice of the ryot, from his risks of trade. The profits of trade are for his pocket, but risks of a commercial disturbance must be met by the ryot? The poverty-stricken ryot must protect the well-to-do-trader! God save India!

I do not need to trouble the Committee with any further remarks as to the effect of the introduction of a gold currency on the condition of the people, who, according to Lord Lawrence's testimony, are living on scanty subsistence, and who, according to Lord Cromer, are already "extremely poor." Our friends the Anglo-Indians have to bear in mind that they are taking already from the mouths of the poor Indian about Rs. 150,000,000 or more every year as salaries, allowances, pensions, etc., to the so much deprivation of the provision of the children of the soil. Will they never understand or consider this, and what evil that means to India?

A word about the proposal to stop free coinage of silver. Now we know that a trade, internal or external, especially internal, requires abundant currency in a country like India; the curtailment of the coinage of the rupee will dislocate and cripple the free action of the trade of the country, especially internally, and will inflict serious injury and creat some new complications. Secondly, the

rupee, being thus artificially raised to a fictitious value by being made scarce, will depress the price of produce, and the ryot will be obliged to part with more of his poor produce to meet the demands of Government. Will this be a benefit to him? Further, by this restriction on coinage the wretched Indian taxpayer will not be relieved of a single ounce of produce in his forced remittances for the Home Charges of £19,000,000 -in gold. Whatever the exchangeable value of gold is in relation to produce will have to be paid by the poor ryot, be the forced artificial exchange or the fictitious value of the rupee what it may. By restricting the coinage of silver-the price of silver in relation to produce being artificially enhanced the taxpayer will have to pay the salary of all the European and other officials in such higher priced rupee, with so much more produce to part with! which, in short, will in effect be a far heavier burden, by increasing the whole salary of the officials of all the services, both Indians and Europeans, at so much the greater sacrifice of the wretched ryot.

The agitation for stopping coinage of silver or introducing gold currency, far from relieving the Indian taxpayer from the present loss by fall in exchange, which in all conscionce is very heavy indeed, will actually inflict greater injury upon the helpless fellows. All attempts at artificial tampering with currency will, besides injuring the people, recoil upon the perpetrators of the mischief. They can no more raise the value of silver fictitiously than they can suspend gravitation.

The evil of the present loss from exchange does not arise from the full in exchange, but from the unfortunate unnatural political and economic condition of British India. Were there no compulsory remittances to this country (any ordinary free transactions of business or loans between two countries not mattering beyond the usual risks of business), there would be no evil or embarrassing loss to Government such as we are considering. The excessive European services are the cause of all such calamity upon the Indians. Any other silver-using country—for instance, China—has no problem like that which at present embarrasses the British Indian Government.

(2) Coming to the second branch of the question, viz., the effect of the fall in exchange on international trade (for it is in such trade

or business only that exchange is concerned), the best thing I can do is to give below the letter I wrote to the Times in September, 1886, and some other letters (I have inserted those letters, which I need not repeat here). Of the letters to the Times that paper was pleased to write approvingly in one of its leaders. Further, I have made, in the statement, some remarks as to the action of the United States in endeavouring futilely to stop the silver storm, instead of allowing it to can its course. This I need not give here.

The step which the Government has now taken will, I am afraid, produce much mischief, and inflict great injury on the taxpayer, crushingly heavy loaded as he already is. The utmost that the Government might have done would have been, as I was afraid they were determined to do, to give some fixed exchange to the officials for their remittances to this country—to as much as half the salary. This would have been bad enough, but the course the Government have adopted, and for which there was no great necessity, will, I fear, prove far more injurious.

II.—STATEMENT SUBMITTED TO THE INDIAN CURRENCY COMMITTEE OF 1898.

Washington House, 72, Anerley Park, S.E. October 20th, 1898.

Dear Sir William,—Since my letter of 28th July last, I have perused the Blue Book of the evidence given before the Currency Committee, and I feel it necessary to make a further statement.

" BRITISH INDIA."

2. These words are often used in a very misleading and confusing manner. I give below an extract from a statement which I have submitted to "the Royal Commission on Indian

The Times, January 26th, 1859:—"We observe with pleasure that Lord Cross says nothing on the bounty alleged to be enjoyed by the Indian wheat grower through the fall in the value of silver. This piece of nonsense has been again and again exposed in the letters of our correspondents, and never more clearly and forcibly than by Mr. Dadabhai Naoroji."

Expenditure and Apportionment of Charges," which I hope will place the matter in a clearer light.

- 3. "Before I proceed further let me clear up a strange confusion of ideas about prosperous British India and poverty-stricken British India. This confusion of ideas arises from this circumstance. My remarks are for British India only.
- 4. "In reality there are two Indias-one the prosperous, the other poverty-stricken.
- (1) "The prosperous India is the India of the British and other foreigners. They exploit India as officials, non-officials, capitalists, in a variety of ways, and carry away enormous wealth to their own country. To them India is, of course, rich and prosperous. The more they can carry away, the richer and more prosperous India is to them. These British and other foreigners cannot understand and realise why India can be called 'extremely poor,' when they can make their life careers; they can draw so much wealth from it and enrich their own country. It seldom occurs to them, if at all, what all that means to the Indians themselves.
- (2) "The second India is the India of the Indians—the poverty-stricken India. This India, 'bled' and exploited in every way of their wealth, of their services, of their land, labour, and all resources by the foreigners; helpless and voiceless, governed by the arbitrary law and argument of force, and with injustice and unrighteousness-this India of the Indians becomes the 'poorest country in the world, after one hundred and fifty years of British rule, to the disgrace of the British name. The greater the drain the greater the impoverishment, resulting in all the scourges of war, famine, and pestilence. Lord Salisbury's words face us at every turn: 'Injustice will bring down the mightiest to ruin,' If this distinction of the 'prosperous India' of the slave-holders, and the 'poverty-stricken India' of the slaves be carefully borne in mind a great deal of the controversy on this point will be saved. Britain ean, by a righteous system, make both Indias prosperous. The great pity is that the Indian authorities do not or would not see it. They are blinded by selfishness-to find careers for our boys,"-(Letter to LORD WELBY, dated 31st January, 1897.)

- 5. This state of affairs arises from the evil system of an un-British foreign dominion, as predicted by Sir John Shore in 1787. This evil makes the action of the British trader and capitalist an exploitation which otherwise, under ordinary circumstances, under true British system, would be legitimate trade and investment.
- 6. Almost throughout the Blue Book the thing chiefly con sidered is the requirements and benefits of "The Foreign Prosperous British India." "Indian's India" chiefly comes in only for the consideration as to how to tax the Indians in order to meet the requirements and benefits of the British official bleeders and nonoficial exploiters. Earnestly and repeatedly are questions put and answers given how additional taxation should be raised—not how to probe the evil and to find the true remedy.
- 7. The main scope and direction of the evidence is as if India were a country and property of the Anglo-Indians, and British traders and capitalists; as if, therefore, their wants and requirements, and the means of enabling them to carry away as much wealth as they possibly can to England, were the chief object; and as if to consider the land, resources, and labour of India as only the instruments for the above purpose.

" INDEBTEDNESS OF INDIA."

- This expression is repeatedly brought out for the selfsatisfaction and justification of the exploitation. Let us examine how this particular phenomenon is brought about.
- 9. The proces is this: The total amount of "Home Charges" is £15,735,836 (Statistical Abstract for 1896-7, p. 106 [c. 9,036], 1898). Out of this I deduct fully: Railways, £5,790,567, and Stores Department, £951,700. In deducting these two iterus I do not mean that I admit the necessity of doing so entirely, but that I want to avoid any controversy at this stage upon what are called "Public Works Loans" made by England, and Government Stores. The remainder, after making the above deduction, is £9,053,569=Rs. 199,178,518, at 11d. per rupec, about Rs. 22 per £1, about which is the present legitimate rate for the true rupec, and which, with touch more, though under disguise, the Indian taxpayer is actually forced to pay. Taking, roughly, Rs. 200,000,000, every pie of it is drawn from the people

of British India and becomes an addition to the capital or wealth of England, and is altogether spent in England every year.

- 10. Next, the European services are paid in India every year (at Rs. 1,000 and upwards per annum, not including lower salaries) about Rs. 94,679,627 (including a small amount of pensions paid to Eurasians not separetly given). (Parl. Ret. 192 of 1892.) I do not know whether this amount includes the payments made for and to European soldiers in India. I think not. If so, this has to be added to the above amount. To it has also to be added, I think, the illegal exchange compensation which is allowed to Europeans, thereby out-Shylocking Shylock himself by not only taking the pound of flesh, but an ounce of blood also. Almost the whole of this amount of Rs. 94,679,627, say roughly, Rs.95,000,000, plus soldiers' payments and exchange compensation, is a loss to the people of British India, excepting, in a way, a small portion which goes to the domestic servants, house-owners, etc. But these amounts, would have gone all the same to these domestics. etc., even though Indians had been in the place of the Europeans. The services rendered by such domestics, etc., being consumed by others than the children of the soil, are so far a loss to the country.
- 11. But I do not propose to argue this point here. I allow for the present this expenditure in British India by the European officials as not forming a part of the loss by the drain. I think it is generally claimed by the Anglo-Indians that such expenditure in India by European officials is about, on an average, half of the salaries and emoluments paid to them in India, and that the other half is about the amount which is remitted to England for savings. Taking, therefore, this half families and tte Rs. 94,679,627=Rs. 47,339,813, and adding this amount to Ra 200,000,000 (paragraph 9), the total is roughly, Rs.250,000,000 every year; probably more if the two additions mentioned above of European soldiers' payments and exchange compensations were made. This enormous amount of annual political drain causes what Sir George Wingate very properly eails a "cruel and crushing tribute." Never could India have suffered such a cruel fate in all its history or existence.

- 12. The first step, therefore, towards the so-called "indebtedness" is that British India is "bled" every year to the amount of about Rs. 250,000,000 clean out of the country, and this enormous wealth is year after year poured into England. Will the India Office be good enough to make a return of the enormous wealth which England has drained out of India during its whole connexion?
- 13. Now, the second stage is the process of the manufacture of "indebtedness" is that out of this enormous wealth drawn away from India—sufficient and far more than sufficient to build thousands of miles of railways and every possible public works, and to meet every possible requirement of good government and progress, to the higest prosperity and civilisation—out of this enormous drain a small portion is taken back to India as "British capital," when it is nothing of the kind, and by means of the so-called "British capital" all Indian resources of land and labour are further exploited by "British" (?) capitalists of every kind. All the profits made thereon are so much more wealth drawn away from India and brought to England.
- 14. Further, the foreign exploiters are not satisfied with the small portion of "Indian wealth" which they take back to India as their own capital, but they insist upon being further helped from the very current revenues of the country. So voracious are these exploiters that they clamour against Government for not putting its whole revenue at their disposal in the Presidency Banks, instead of keeping a portion in the Treasury. Thus there is at first a political "bleeding," which is the foundation evil, and in its train and by its help comes the so-called "commercial" or capitalistic exploitation.
- 15. Thus is manufactured that complacent "indebtedness" in the name of which the bleeding and exploitation are unceasingly and ever-increasingly carried on, and which is so pleasant, so profitable, and so nice an excuse to the Anglo-Indian and "British capitalist's" heart.
- 16. In reality there is not a single farthing of "indebtedness" from India to England. It is England that is under a very vast material and moral debt to India. Of the latter—moral debt—I cannot speak much here, though it is no less enormous and grievous than the former.

- 17. Besides the sum of Rs. 400,000,000 now drained from India (paragraph 24) every year, (1) the British Indian Empire is built up at the entire expense of India, and mainly with Indian blood. Even now Indian blood is contributing in extending the British Empire and benefits in other parts of the world. And what a reward—a helotry! (2) Not only this, but in addition to the cost of building up the whole Indian Empire England has taken away from India an amount of wealth since its connexion with India which, with ordinary commercial compound interest, will amount to thousands and thousands of millions sterling.
- 18. It may be asked whether I mean that I do not want British capitalists to go and trade or employ their capital in India? I mean nothing of the kind. By all means let them do so. Under ordinary circumstances India will hail it, as any other country may do. But let it be with their own capital. Let them bring their own capital, and make upon it as much profit as they can, with India's blessing upon it. What I mean is that they should not first "plunder" India, leaving it wretched and helpless, then bring back a portion of "plundered" India's wealth as their own, exploit therewith India's resources of land and labour, carry away the profits, and leave the Indians mere hewers of wood and drawers of water—mere slaves, in worse plight than even that in which the slaves of the Southern States of America were.
- 19. If England can understand her true interests—political moral, economic, or material—if she would hold back her hand from India's throat, and let India enjoy its own resources, England can make India prosperous, and, as a necessary consequence, can derive from India far, far greater benefit, with India's blessing, than what she derives at present with India's curve of the scourges of war, and pestilence, and famine, and of an ever-increasing poverty.
- 20. The word "indebtedness" must be taken at its correct interpretation. It is simply "bleeding" and exploitation, or what Mr. Bright indirectly characterised "plunder."
 - "BALANCE OF TRADE IN INDIA'S PAVOUR," AND "EXCESS
 OF EXPORTS OVER IMPORTS AS A BENEFIT TO INDIA."
- 21. What is balance of trade in its true sense? Say a country exports £100,000,000 worth of its produce. It gets back

in imports, say, £30,000,000 worth of other countries' merchandise. The remaining balance of £20,000,000 of the original exports, and, say, 10 per cent. of profits, or £10,000,000—altogether £30,000,000 has to be received. This £30,000,000 is called balance of trade in favour of that country. And when that country actually receives this balance of £30,000,000, either in the shape of bullion or merchandise, then its account is said to be squared or settled.

- 22. I have not included in this trade account any true borrowing or lending. Such borrowing or lending can be considered by itself. A country's borrowing is included in its imports, and the interest it pays is a part of its exports. This loan account between any two independent countries can be estimated and allowed for. And that in no way affects the bona fide balance of trade. If India be allowed to and can get its true "balance of trade" it would be only too happy to make any legitimate borrowing or lending with any country, with benefit to both,
- 23. But such is not India's condition. What is India's actual condition? What is its so-called "balance of trade," of which much mistaken or wrong view is taken in the evidence? Be it first remembered, as I have already explained under the heading of "indebtedness," that what is called India's debt is nothing of the kind, but simply and solely a part of its own wealth taken away from it.
- 24. Let us see what the amount is (c. 9,036, 1898, p. 277). Taking the last five years as an illustration, the total net exports for 1892-3 to 1896-7 are Rs. 1,314,600,000. The total exports for the same period are Ra. 5,688,000,000; taking 10 per cent. profite thereon, will be Rs. 568,800,000. Therefore the total excess of net exports, plas profits, would be Rs. 1,883,400,000. Then, again, the so-called "leans" from this country are included in imports, the net exports must be increased to that extent. The addition to commercial debt in this country after 1891-2 to 1896-7 is £6,479,000 (c. 9,036, 1898, p. 130), cr, say, £6,500,000, which, at the average rate of exchange of the same years (p. 131), about 1s. 2d. per rupee, or nearly Rs. 17 per £1, is equal to Rs. 110,500,000. So that the total of net exports (excluding loans from imports)

and profits will be Rs. 1,883,400,000 plus 110,500,000 equal to Rs. 1,993,900,000, or about roundly Rs. 2,000,000,000. During the five years the average per year will be about Rs. 400,000,000. Now to call this a "balance of trade in favour of India" is the grossest abuse of language. It is neither any "trade" nor "balance of trade." It is simply and solely the remittunces of the official bleeding and the exploitation of the non-official capitalists. Not a pie of this tremendous amount—Rs. 400,000,000 every year—will India ever see back as its own: while in true balance of trade the whole of this amount should go back to India as its own.

- 25. No wonder Sir William Harcourt's heart rejoiced at the leaps and bounds with which the income-tax increased year after year in this country. In his speech ou the occasion of his famous Budget he rejoiced at the increasing income-tax, never seeming to dream how much of it was drawn from the "bleeding" drain from India.
- 26. With what self-satisfied benevolence have examiners and witnesses talked of the great benefit they were conferring upon India by making every effort to increase the excess of exports in order to enable poor India to meet her "indebtedness." Such is the Indian myth! But what is the reality? To increase the n-t exports as much as possible means to increase the remittance of the bleeding and exploitations of every year of which not a farthing is to return to India as its own. Extraordinary, how ingeniously matters can be and are represented, or rather misrepresented, and the public here entirely misled!

SURPLUSES AND SOLVENCY.

27. There never have been and never will be true surpluses or solvency of British India as long as the present evil system of government lasts. What is a surplus of the finance of any country? Suppose that in England you raise £100,000,000 of revenue. Suppose £95,000,000 are spent and £5,000,000 is called surplus, and that the end of the year, and this £5,000,000 is called surplus, and that the Government, if it does not impose any additional taxation or does not borrow, is solvent. Now, the essential condition of this surplus is that the whole of the £95,000,000 has returned to the tax-paying people themselves in

- a variety of ways, and continues to be part and parcel of the wealth of the country. And the remaining £5,000,000 will also go back to the people and remain a part of the wealth of the country.
- 28. But what is the case with India? It is nothing of the kind. Suppose Rs. 1,000,000,000 are raised as revenue. Suppose Rs. 950,000,000 are spent, leaving Rs. 50,000,000 in hand at the end of the year. Now, are these Rs. 50,000,000 a surplus? No. The Rs. 950,000,000 have not all returned to the people and have not remained as part of India's own wealth. Some Rs. 250,000,000 (see paragraph 12) are drained clean out of the country by foreigners, never to return to India. Till these Rs. 250,000,000 are returned to India as its own, which they never are, and which is a dead loss, to talk of the surplus of Rs. 50,000,000 is another gross abuse of language. Instead of Rs. 50,000,000 surplus there is a pure deficit or rather entire loss of Rs. 250,000,000. And such perpetual losses are pure bankruptcy.
- 29. I repeat, that there never has been and never will be any surplus in India as long as, from every year's revenue there is a clean drain, which at present is at the rate of about 1:... 250,000,000. In this country all that is raised as revenue returns to the country, just as all water evaporating from the ocean returns to the ocean. And England's ocean of wealth remains as full as ever, as far as revenue is concerned. India's ocean, on the contrary, must go on evaporating and drying every year more and more.
- 30. The only reason why the Indian Government does not go into bankruptcy—bankrupt though it always is—is that it can, by its despotism, squeeze out more and more from the helpless taxpayer, without mercy or without any let or hindrance. And if at any time it feels fear at the possible exasperation of the people at the enormity, it quietly borrows and adds to the permanent burden of the people without the slightest compunction or concern. Of course the Government of India can never become bankrupt till retribution comes and the whole ends in disaster.
- 31. I have referred in the above consideration to the official bleeding only, but when to this is added the further exploitation of the land (meaning all the resources) and labour

of the country, which I have already described, the idea of surplus or solvency, or of any addition to the wealth or prosperity of the peopls (however much it may be of the Europeans) becomes supremely ridiculous and absurd.

IMPORT OF BULLION AND HOARDING.

32. Reference is frequently made to this matter. I think the best thing I can do is to give an extract from my reply to Sir Grant Duff:—

Westminster Review, November, 1887.

- 33. "Sir Grant Duff refers to the absorption of gold and silver and to boarding. What are the facts about British India? In my 'Poverty of India' I have treated the subject some length. The total amount (after deducting the exports from imports) retained by India during a period of eighty-four years (1801 to 1884), including the exceptionally large imports during the American War, is £455,761,385, This is for all India. The population at present is 254,000,000. I may take the average of eighty-four years roughly-eay, 200,000,000. This gives 45s. 6d. per head for the whole eighty-four years, or 61d. per head per annum. Even if I took the average population as 180,000,000, the amount per bead for the eighty-four years would be 50s., or 7d. per head per annum. Of the United Kingdom I cannot get returns before 1858. The total amount of treasure returned by the United Kingdom (after deducting exports from imports) is, for twenty-seven years from 1858 to 1884, £26,194,937. Taking an average of 31,000,000 of population for twenty-neven years, the amount retained for these twenty-seven years is 55s. 7d. per head, or very nearly 2s. 1d. per head per annum; while in India for more than three times the same period the amount is only 45s. 8d. per head, or 61d. per head per annum. France has retained from 1861 to 1880 (Mulhall's Dica tionary) £208,000,000, and taking the population, say 37,000,000, that gives 112s, per head in twenty years, or 5s. 7d. per head per annum.
- 34. "Sir Grant Duff ought to consider that the large amount of bullion is to be distributed over a vast country and a vast population, nearly equal to five-sixths of the population of the whole of Europe; and when the whole perulation

is considered what a wretched amount is this of gold and silver-viz., $6\frac{1}{2}d$. per head per annum-received for all possible wants! India does not produce any gold or silver. To compare it with Europe : Europe retained in ten years, 1871-1880 (Mulhall, 'Progress of the World, 1880), £327,000,000 for an average population of about 300,000,000 or 21s. 10d. per head, or 2s. 2d, per head per annum. India during the same ten years retained £65,774,252 for an average population of, sav, 245,000,000; so that the whole amount retained for the ten years is about 5s. 4d., or only 61d. per head per annum, against 21s. 10d. and 2s. 2d. respectively of Europe. This means that India retained only one-fourth of what Europe retained per head per annum during these ten years. It must be further remembered that there is no such vast system of cheques, clearing-houses, etc., in India as plays so important a part in England and other countries of Europe. Wretched as the provision of 61d. per head per annum is for all wants-political, social, commercial, etc.-there is something far worse behind for British India. All the gold and silver that I have shown above as retained by India is not for British India only, but for the Native States, the frontier territories, and the European population; and then the remainder is for the Native population of British India. We must have official information about these four divisions before we can form a correct estimate of what British India retains. The Native States, as I have said before, have no foreign drain except the small amount of tribute of about £700,000. Some frontier territories receive something instead of paying any tribute. These States therefore receive back for the exports of their merchandise, and for the ordinary trade profits on such exports, full returns in imports of merchandise and treasure, and this treasure taken away by the Native States and frontier territories forms not a small portion of what is imported into India. It must also be considered how much metal is necessary every year for waste of coin and metal, and for the wants of circulating currency. When Govenment can give us all such information, it will be found that precious little remains for British India beyond what it is compelled to import for its absolute wants. I hope England does not mean to say

that Englishmen or Englishwomen may sport as much as they like in ernaments or personal trinkets or jewellery, but that the wretch of a Native of British India, their fellow-subject, has no business or right to put a few shillings' worth of trinkets on his wife's or daughter's person—or that Natives must simply live the lives of brutes, subsist on their 'scanty subsistence,' and thank their stars that they have that much.

35. " I will now try to give some indication of what bullion British India actually retains. Mr. Harrison gave his evidence before the Parliamentary Committee of 1871-74, that about £ 1,000,000 of fresh coinage was more than sufficient to supply the waste of coin or metal. Is it too much to assume that in the very widespread and minute distribution, over a vast surface and a vast population, of small trinkets or ornaments of silver, and their rough use, another million may be required to supply waste and loss? If only a pennyworth per head per annum be so wanted, it would make a million sterling. Next, how much goes to the Native States and the frontier territories? Here are a few significant official figures as an indication: The * Report of the external land trade and railway-broom trade of the Bombay Presidency for 1384-55' (p. 2) says of Rajputana and Central India:- 13. The imports from the external blocks being greater than the exports to them, the balance of trade due by the Presidency to the other provinces amounts to Rs. 12,01,05,912, as appears from the abovetable and the following.' I take the Native States from the table referred to.

EXCESS OF IMPORTS IN BOMBAY PRESIDENCY.

						Ra.
From Rajputana and Central India					•••	5,55,46,753
	Berar		•••			1,48,91,355
*	Hyderabad		•••		•••	8,67,689
			1	otal		7.13.05.798

Or £7,130,579. This means that these Native States have exported so much more merchandise than they have imported. Thereupon the Report remarks thus:—' The greatest balance is in favour of Rajputana and Central India, caused by the import of opium from that block. Next to it is that of the Central

Provinces. It is presumed that these balances are paid back "mainly in cush" (the italies are mine). This, then, is the way the treasure goes; and poor British India gets all the abuse—insult added to injury. Its candle burns not only at both ends, but at all parts."

36. Far from any important quantity or any quantity of bullion going to British India and an "balance of trade," R4, 4(9),0(9),0(3) worth of British India's wealth at present goes clean out of the country every year never to return to it as its own.

BENEFITS DERIVED FROM CHEAP SILVER.—A LOW RUPER
AND LOW EXCHANGE PROMOTES AND DEVELOPS EXPORTS.

37. That there is some temporary advantage from low exchange to silver-using countries over gold-using countries, I have already explained in my letter to the Daily News of September 24th, 18-6 (Appendix A. of my letter already submitted). But in British India this little advantage is of not much avail to the poor people. What becomes of it when that must perforce lose every year, never to return to them, Rs. 400,000,000 of wealth out of their miserable total produce, leaving them so much more poor and miserable? It is ideal to talk of the people of British India deriving benefit from low exchange or from anything as long as these tremendous bleedings and the exploitation go on.

PRICES AND WAGES.

38. The above remarks apply equally to prices and wages, How on earth, under such drain, can there be any healthy increase of prices or wages arising from true prosperity? Before the Royal Commission on Indian Expenditure and Apportionment, a member having asserted that there was general rise of prices, Mr. Jacob, as official witness, confirmed the statement. Therespon I prepared some questions, took the paper to Mr. Jacob, and gave it to him to enable him to prepare the replica. And, what was my surprise when he told me that the subject was not of his department, and he would not answer the questions, though he did not besitate to say that there was a general rise of prices! If of any use I shall produce the questions before the Committee-But, first of all, there are no reliable statistics sufficient to draw any correct conclusions; and conclusions of any value cannot be

drawn about any one factor from prices or wages which are the results of many factors.

- 39. I would not lengthen this statement by noting several other points in the Blue Book, but conclude by repeating what Sir John Shore has said more than a hundred years ago (in 1787). His words were true then, are true to this day, and will remain true in future if the evil pointed out by him continues. He said: "Whatever allowance we may make for the increased industry of the subjects of the State, owing to the enhanced demand for the produce of it (supposing the demand to be enhanced) there is reason to conclude that the benefits are more than counterbalanced by evils inseparable from the system of a remote foreign dominion."
- 40. This evil system must be altered, or, as I have said before (paragraph 5), what, under natural circumstances, would in any country be legitimate trade and investments by British people become, under this evil system of an un-British rule, cruel exploitation. Unless the evil is remedied, there is no hope for British India, and disaster both for England and India is the only look out.
- 42. Unless Acts and Resolutions of Parliament and Royal Proclamations are honourably fulfilled, and a righteous Government, worthy of the English character and promises and professions is established, no currency or financial jugglery, or "political hypocrisy," or any "subterfuges," or un-British deapotic ruling will avail or remedy the ever-growing and various evils that must constantly flow from an unrighteous system.
- 43. Lord Salisbury's eternal words stare us in the face: "Injustice will bring down the mightiest to ruin."

APPENDIX-C.

REPLIES TO QUESTIONS PUT

TO THE

PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION.

THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION.

My paper on the Indian Services, dated 7th December 1886, covers a large number of these questions, and renders some of them unnecessary to reply to. I now reply to those which need reply from me.

I would first make a few general remarks.

The only firm rock upon which a Foreign Rule, like that of the English, can be planted in a country like India, is that of equal justice to all British subjects, without any regard to any class or creed. The principles of high policy and statesmanship, which the statesmen of 1833 and 1858 laid down, are the best and the only right ones that can be adopted by a civilized and advanced nation like England. Every deviation from this "plain path of duty" cannot but lead to troubles, complications and difficulties. Like a step-mother, England can win the love and affections of her step-children by treating them with the same love and justice with her own. Children might submit to tyranny and injustice from their own mether, but would always resent the least injustice from a step-mother.

The more firmly and steadfastly England would adhere to the noble principles of 1833 and 1858, the stronger would be her hold upon the loyalty, gratitude and attachment of the Indian people. Diverse as the races and the classes are in India, it will be the strongest self-interest of each and all to preserve the headship and rule of a just power, under which all could be equally protected and prosperous.

Under the simple principal of equal justice to all, none could reasonably ask for special favours, and a host of complications and troubles would be avoided. As in the case of every law of nature, this moral law will gradually adjust everything into natural and barmonious action and development, though, as in all transitions, some temporary difficulties may occur. It is admitted from experience that the larger the field of competition, the higher is the standard of the results. By the simultaneous first examinations in India and England, India will have the benefit of the best talent of the country. The backward provinces or classes will be stimulated by emulation and ambition to apontaneous exertions, and the best help Government can give to them will be to aid them in their education. The best service that the leaders of such classes can do to their community is to encourage them to depend upon their own exertions, to help them to prepare themselves for fair and manly struggle, and thus to win their position both in the services and in other walks of life, and not under the debasing and demoralising influence of favouritism. This manly course will keep them backward for a short time, but it would be the best for them in the end. Favouritism cannot last long under the British administration. It must break down and these classes will have to begin their manly course then. The sooner they set themselves to work in that way, the better for them, and the quicker will they come to the front and obtain whatever they may deserve.

One of the best results of the first simultaneous examination in India and of the general carrying out of the 4th Resolution of the National Congress of 1885, will be a great impulse to education. The New York State Commission in their report say:—
"Nor does there seem to be any reason to doubt that opening of the Public Service to competition will give to education here, as it did in Great Britain, a marvellous impulse. The requirement proposed in the 4th Resolution of the National Congress of India of last December, for the successful candidates of India to finish their studies and examinations with the successful candidates of England is a very important matter. It has to be considered by us not as a condition to be imposed by Government, and as an injustice to us, but as a thing to be highly desired

by ourselves, in order that our native officials may, in every possible way, stand on a perfectly equal footing with their English colleagues, and there may not be left any ground to cast any slur of inferiority upon them. Moreover, without a visit to, and study in, England for some time, our officials will never sufficiently acquire a full feeling of self-respect and equality with their English colleagues, their education will not acquire that finish which it is essential it should have to administer an English system, by studying that system in its birthplace itself. The visit of the successful India candidates to England is much to be desired for our own benefit, at least for some years to come, when experience will show the desirability or otherwise of continuing it.

The standard and tests of qualifications, Mental, Moral and Physical—to be alike for all candidates. Age to be same, and all British subjects to be admitted without any disqualification for race, creed, or colour. The competitions in the different Provinces of India for the Uncovenanted Services to be in the same way open and similar for all.

The circumstances of qualifications being alike, there should be no difference of pay, pension, leave, &c. &c., for the same office or duties.

The remark made by Sir C. Aitchison in his minute on the Age question is well applicable to the whole question of the competition for the Services. He says:—

"I think they are right in rejecting the Statutory system and resenting it as an unjust imputation upon their capacity and intellectual ability, and in demanding that the conditions of competition shall be so framed as to make it possible for them to enter the competition on a fair footing as regards their European fellow-subjects, and to win by their own exertions an honourable position in the Civil Service."

Such fair footing cannot be obtained by the Indian candidates without a simultaneous examination in India.

- "I. WORKING OF THE EXISTING STATUTORY SYSTEM.
- Mode of Selection of Statutory Civilians."
 Questions 1 to 45.

Following the lines of my first paper, it is evident that the Statutory Service should cease, if simultaneous examinations are

held in England and India. Otherwise, it would be an undue favour to the natives. Any system of scholarships also to enable natives to gu to England to qualify for the Civil Service, then would be nunecessary.

III. COMPETITION IN ENGLAND FOR THE INDIAN CIVIL SERVICE.

Questions 46 to 67.

No additional facilities need be given to the Native candidates to go to England. The simultaneous first examination in India puts them on an equal footing with the candidates in England.

- 54. From this Province, there have been Hindu, Mahomedan and Parsee candidates in England; and I think, I Hindu, I Mahomedan and 3 Parsees have passed.
- 55. Expense, risk of failure and the greater risk of young lads going wrong, and the consequent unwillingness of parents to let their children go out of their own and family control and influence, are very serious objections to sending young boys to England. Out of those few who have sent, some have regretted it. Among certain classes of Hindus there is religious objection. The elderly people will for some time yet continue to feel it objection able to go to England, but such youths of the rising educated generation as would succeed in the first competition, will not object to go. Even the general feeling is now gradually diminishing.
- IV. COMPREITON IN INDIA FOR THE INDIAN CIVIL SERVICE.

 Questions 63 to 92.
- 72 The present Educational establishments will not for some time quite adequately furnish all the requirements of the Indian candidates, but by the very fact of the demand arising, the existing institutions will develop themselves, and new ones will arise.
- 73-74. An open Competition will not be likely to give any decided advantages to any particular class or easte, except to those persons who are competent to pass it and who would in time form a class of their own. It could not be otherwise, where fitness should be the only pass. The Third Annual Report of the United States Civil Service Commission says:—
- "The fundamental idea of this reform, that public office is a public trust, to be exercised solely for the public welfare, and

that offices should be filled only by those best qualified for the service to be rendered, after their fitness have been ascertained by proper tests, is the corner-stone of popular government."

This principle applies with far greater force to a foreign Government.

75. Far from there being any political or administrative objections to open simultaneous competition in India, there are important reasons why it should be so. For politically, just treatment will be the greatest political strength.

On administrative grounds, this policy will be the best means of getting the fittest and best British subjects for service, and will relieve Government of a host of difficulties with which they are beginning to be assailed, and which will go on increasing as long as they keep astray from the plain path of duty and from the easiest, justest, and most natural principles of government. In taking this plain path of iduty, the roots of their power will sink deeper and deeper into the hearts and affections of the people.

76. The question of getting the aristocracy into the Service is a very important one. Their influence is great and their attachment to the Rule is desirable. But the exigencies and requirements, and the whole system of civilized British administration rests upon educational, moral and physical fitness. It will be no service or kindness to put any cadet into a position for which he is not fit. He soon falls into ridicule, and leaves the service in disgust. If a cadet is well educated and competent, his own aristocratic feeling of dignity would impel him into a fair and manly contest. And he would not like to be in a position, to be looked down upon as inferior and as a creature of "mehrbany" (favour). If he is incompetent, Government cannot put him into a place for which he is not fit. In the old and now passing regime of Native States, a cadet may be put any where to draw his pay, and a deputy or some subordinate does his work. But in British Administration this is utterly out of the question, and will not be tolerated a single day. As Sir C. Aitchison has said :- " Manifestly it is our duty to the neople of India to get the best men we can"; or as the Civil Service Commissioners in England have shown the necessity of ebtaining the advantage of getting "not merely competent persons, but the best of the competent."

So all attempts to draw the cadets by favour will naturally end in failure and disappointment. It will be an anachronism. The best way in which Government can do the aristocracy real and permanent good and a true kindness is to induce them, by every means, to give their sons suitable education, and whether they aftewards care or not to get into the Services, their general advance in knowledge and intelligence will enable them to appreciate truly the merits of the British rule, and will make them intelligent and willing supporters of it. The best favour, therefore, that Government can do to the aristocracy is to persevere still more earnestly in the course it has already adopted to promote education among them, and the whole problem of the true position and dignity, in the new state of circumstances, will naturally and smoothly solve itself. The more they attain their self-respect, the more able will they be to preserve their dignity, position and influence among their countrymen, and the more will they appreciate the true merits of the British rule.

To a great many of the aristocracy, a military career would be more congenial, and it would be very desirable to adopt suitable means in this direction to draw them to become attached and devoted, in their self-interest and self-respect to British rule.

78. For the higher service the simultaneous competition in India ought to be from the whole of India, to secure " the best of the competent" for such high service.

For the Unconvenanted Service, each Province should be left to itself for the necessary competition.

- 79. Under simultaneous examination in India and further study and examinations in England with the English successful candidates, the position of the Indian official will be quite equal to that of the English official.
- 80. Any fixed portion of the service to be allotted to natives, will violate the fundamental principle of the Act of 1833 and of the Proclamation of 1858—will not hold in itself reasonable elements of finality and will not do full justice to the claims of the natives. Should, however, Government be now not prepared "to do full justice" and to allow the chance or possibility of all successful

candidates turning out to be natives. Government may, for the present, provide that, till further experience is obtained, a quarter or half of the successful candidates should be English.

With the fair field opened freely by the simultaneous examinations, the Statutory Service, as I have already said, will have no reason to exist for first appointments.

81. The age must be the same for all candidates, so that no stigma of inferiority or favour might stick to any. About what the age should be, I agree with Sir C. Aitchison, and the Resolution of the Congress of last year, that it should be 23 maximum, and 19 minimum.

82-83. The Civil Service Commissioners in England are most fitted from their experience to fix all necessary tests and qualifications that would be fair to all candidates, and such tests or qualifications should be the same for all. Lord Macaulay's Committee has said, as to some test for moral qualifications:—

"Early superiority in Science and Literature generally indicates the existence of some qualities which are securities against vice—industry, self-denial, a taste for pleasures not sensual, a laudable desire of honourable distinction, a still more laudable desire to obtain the approbation of friends and relations. We therefore believe that the intellectual test which is about to be established will be found in practice to be also the best moral test which can be dovised."

In regard to physical fitness, I think that, beyond merely looking to freedom from any physical organic defects, some tests should be instituted to test certain physical accomplishments of all candidates, such as riding, swimming, shooting and military and gymnastic exercises,

At the Cooper's Hill College, in the Public Works and Telegraph Departments (and I think Forest is also new included), the following rules exist:—

- "37. Every student will be required to go through a course of exercise in the gymnasium, and of Military exercises, including the use of the rife."
- "39. Every student selected for the Indian Service before proceeding to India, will be required to furnish evidence of his competency in riding."

- 85-6. The very sessence of equal competition is that every subject, test qualification or condition should be alike in England and India for all candidates—fair enough not to handicap any unreasonably, and with an eye to secure the best fitness, the highest educational and mental training, and suitable physical capacity. This will give the best men all round.
- 89. With training on such thorough equality of tests, &c., there will be no difference of circumstances in the case of persons who enter through the simultaneous examinations, and there will be no reason to make the rules for pay, leave, pension, &c., different. On principle also the duties of an office should carry its own remuneration, &c., the fittest person being got for the office, and such reasonable remuneration should be fixed for the purpose as would induce superior men to seek the service.
- 90-92. The Covenanted Servants will be sufficiently tested, and will not, I think, need a probation, after joining service in India, beyond what is at present required. However, whatever probation may be deemed necessary, it should be the same for all—Europeans and Natives.

V. PROMOTION FROM THE UNCOVENANTED SERVICE, 93 to 101.

This is an important chapter. It is very desirable that some prizes should be held out for marked, meritorious and able service in the Uncovenanted Services.

Any scheme for the purpose must be such that the person promoted, being thus considered qualified, should afterwards be an a footing of equality, with regard to pay, &c., &c., with the Covenanted Servant occupying similar situation. The promotion to be epen on the principles of 1833, without regard to race or creed. The recommendation of any Provincial Government, with satisfactory reasons, to be subject to the confirmation of the Viceroy and the Secretary of State.

That not more than one such promotion should be made in any one year in any one Province—or some maximum must be fixed.

That in the year in which such promotions are made, the number of appointments to be competed for at the regular first competitive examination of that year, should be lessened by the number of promotions. In such promotions, probation will not be necessary, as Government would not select anybody for such a prize, where capacity and fitness for business is not already marked and proved.

VI. PAY, LEAVE AND PENSION. 102 to 120.

Under the principles of 1833 and 1853, the Statutory Service ceasing to exist, no distinction being reserved for any class or race, and equal qualifications being fixed for all, by the simultaneous examination in England and India and future associated study and examinations in England, no distinction of Pay, Leave or Pension can be justified. The duties and responsibilities should earry their owe recompense fixed on a reasonable scale. Equal furlough, I think, will induce persons to visit England, which is desirable. After all the European could only need about 5 weeks more for going to and from England.

The question of admission from the professional classes is rather a difficult one. Those who succeed in their profession are generally not likely to seek service, and those who would seek service are generally not likely to be superior men. Then, after severe competitions and suitable qualifications are required from those who enter the service at the regular door, and who for that purpose devote themselves to the necessary preparation, it becomes unjust to them to open a side-door for others. It may be matter for consideration, which I think it is already, whether, after the first general competition in England and India to test high culture and capacity, a division should not be made, out of the passed candidates, for Judicial and Executive services, so that their subsequent preparation, for two or three years in England, may be devoted in the respective direction. The point to be borne in mind is that if a side-door is opened, the principal of competition and fairness will receive a serious blow, and nepotism, favouritism, interest, &c., will force their way into the services, -a thing most to be deplored.

Under the present system of the Uncovenanted Service, judicial appointments are, I think, made from persons called to the Bar whe prefer service to practice. But when a proper system is adopted for all the Uncovenanted Services so as to secure the best men for first appointment through a regular door, this necessity will no longer exist.

VII. GENERAL. 121 to 165.

123-125. The Indian schools develop force of character and ether qualities, as similar institutions in Enland do. In fact, the Indian schools are on the model, and follow in the footsteps of English schools.

The full development of force of character and other qualities depends upon their future exercise and opportunities. When any timb of the body or faculty of mind is not used or exercised, it gradually decays. The actual responsibilities and performances of duties develop and strengthen all necessary qualities, and in time become hereditary in classes. The British advanced system of administration, requiring intellectual, moral and physical fitness, will in turn create from the educated its own new class of administrators, and as intellectual aristocracy who would, from self-interest, right appreciation and gratitude, become and remain devotedly attached to the British rule, and to the system in which they would have been born and bred. The present old landmarks cannot and will not continue. The world, and especially the present progression of India, cannot stand still. Circumstances are fast changing in these days, and the condition of things must change therewith.

The wisdom of the Government will be in directing these changes aright and in their own favour with grace, instead of forcing them into opposition against themselves.

The exclusion of the satives for nearly a century has much to answer for any decay of administratorship or fitness that may be now observed. The change of this policy and the adoption of the moble policy of the Act of 1833 and the Proclamation of 1858 will give new life to the nation, will redress the past wrong, benefit India, and benefit and bless England. Richly will then be realised those noble and glorious hopes of the Proclamation:

In their prosperity will be our strength; in their contentment our security; and in their gratitude our best reward."

126-131. The objection for want of sufficient means to be risked for the purpose operates to a very large extent. It is chiefly the educated and middle class that makes some attempt. The rich do not much care, even up to this time, both for education and for

service, though education is forcing some progress among them. The great difficulty is the natural unwillingness of parents to cast their raw young sons, unformed in character, at the most critical period of their life, among stangers in a land far away, and full of temptations and suares for them; without the parental and family control and influences to guard and guide them. Several parents have regretted the day when they allowed their dear ones to part from them.

In a hundred ways that can hardly be described, a raw native youth has difficulties, temptations and risks.

By confining the examinations to England we get only a few of those who can afford to risk some money, but we cannot get the best of the talent and fitness from the whole country, besides it being uttierly unjust to handicap the Natives so heavily. The few that go are not necessarily of the best.

By residence in England, young boys do often more or less get out of touch and sympathy with the people in India.

These remarks do not apply to those who go at a higher age, and after their character is formed and their intelligence fully developed. They derive great advantage from the visit. They are able to understand and study things intelligently, make comparisons with things in their own country, are vividly struck with striking differences, and are inspired with a desire to improve by them. They do not east off their touch and sympathy with their own people. On the contrary, they are generally more sharpesed. With the movelty and intelligent observation, they return with a sort of enthusiasm, to do some good in their country. The kind of young men who will go to England after the first examination in India, will be just the persons who will derive the greatest benefit from the visit. Every moment of their sojours will be well and profitably spent, their great stakes and formed character keeping them straight and desirous to do their bost.

132. The requirement of temporary residence in England precedent to first competition is the main grievance. This requirement following on success in India in a simultaneous examination, will remove the grievance, and will not have the effect of preventing any considerable or important section, who are prepared for competition, from competing.

133-4. Once the first competition in freely opened to all, and the Statutory Service abolished, excepting so far as it is adopted to give a reasonable opening for the most meritorious among the Uncovenanted Servanta, another special service for any class cannot be justly made, and for no long time will all classes of Hindus allow the present caste-objections to continue.

135-141. It is desirable to avoid opening many doors for admission to the Services, once the regular doors are so freely opened to all. The cases of servants not knowing English will become rarer every day. Should such cases arise of very meritorious servants, they might be rewarded in some way, such as a special extra personal allowance.

There may arise sometimes a case, such as of some important political mission in which any certain individual, owing to consection, influence or position, becomes especially most fitted for the task. Power should be reserved to Government, with the sanction of the Secretary of State, to make such extraordinary appointments outside the Services—though it is desirable to avoid this as far as possible. The peculiarly special fitness becomes a special reason for the occasion.

- 142. No, there should be no proportion or show of any favour introduced. In a free and open competition, numbers will in time have their proportionate share. Any such departure and complication vitiates the principle of 1833. The natural ambition of each community will bring it into the field in proportion to its number and capacity, and the principle of the fittest will be observed with the greatest advantage to the whole country, without trouble to Government and with best service done to every class, by having been set to help itself manfully.
- 143. No such classifications are needed. They will be contrary to the principles of 1833, and will be the source of much trouble and difficulty. It is undesirable to crystallize or select any class or classes to monopoliae any services. In the present transition state, things should be left to develop and arrange themselves maturally, with free field and scope.
- 144. For the high Corenanted posts, it is not desirable to restrict the natives to their own provinces, and this cannot be done for a general competition by simultaneous examinations in

England and India. We must get the advantage of the best and fittest from the whole country, and then they may be distributed as Government may think best, or the present system may be continued by which the selection of the Provinces is left to the candidates in the order of their merit in the first competition. But even then the Government has the power of making transfers.

145-157. All such schemes violate the fundamental principles of the Act of 1833. They will deprive us of what we already possess by this law. The simple machinery of a fair field for all, and the employment of the fittest can be the only best scheme founded on a just and sound principle and giving the best results.

164-5. I do not know whether there is any such system in Bombay. Any system cannot be good, if it be not based on some sound principle and fitness. Once the field is opened freely and fairly to all, every such contingency will in time naturally settle itself, and Government will be saved much trouble and complication of the vain endeavour of satisfying everybody or class separately.

VIII. COMFOSITION, RECRUITMENT, &C., OF THE SUBORDINATE EXECUTIVE AND SUBORDINATE JUDICIAL SERVICE.

156 to 184.

- 167. The sections who take advantage of education—and they mainly belong to the middle classes.
- 168. The rich and the commercial classes do not much care for service. It is chiefly from the natives of middle class, good family and education, that most of the candidates come. And every native who is educated is desirous to confer the same blessing upon his children.
- 169. Some prefer an independent line or a profession and some willingly accept appointments.
- 172-5. After a fair field is opened for all, there will be me 'justification for any appointments being practically reserved for natives of pure descent or for any other class. Fitness must be the only principle—the principle of 1833—and then no just complaint can arise.
- 176-163. Suitable high education and fitness must be an essential qualification. It cannot be otherwise under the British system; and after educational, moral and physical fitness is

decided upon as the only right basis for employment, Government are the best judges as to what the tests should be to secure the necessary qualifications.

Separate examinations may be established to test separate requirements of the different departments of the Subordinate Services, & certain extent of high general education and training being necessary for all. Open competition for all classes and fitness to be the fundamental principle, and the examinations and tests so arranged as to secure the best qualifications for the service for which the appointment is to be made.

Something like the Civil Service Commission of England may be founded here, who would be able to arrange all suitable details, and go on improving the system as experience suggested—the sole principle and aim being justice to all subjects alike and fitness for the duty.

Each Province will be better left to make its own arrangements suitable to its wants for the Subordinate Services. Probation is useful, and the length of this also will be best fixed by the authorities or the Commission as experience suggests.

Some probation will be advisable, though it is not absolutely secessary. The Civil Service Commission of the United States say in their third Report of 1885-6:—

"It could be shown statistically that those who pass highest in the examinations are likely to make the most useful public servants."

. "A man taken from the head of a register is far more likely to be a valuable public servant than one taken from the foot and therefore the examinations do test superior capacity for the public service."

"Despite all the antecedent probability of fitness which the precautions just described create, it is beyond question true that we cannot be absolutely certain, that a well-informed man of good habits will prove a good worker. A real test of the fact by doing the public work is precisely what the merit-system provides. That test is a probationary service of six months before an absolute appointment."........

"This practical test, by actually doing the public work, is not ealy an integral part of the merit-system, but originated with it. If these facts were generally understood, they would doubtless be regarded as a full answer to the oft-repeated criticism, that mere information is not proof of business capacity.".......

"The experience of the Commission has shown how great is the majority of those, having passed the examination, who have proved themselves to be persons of good business capacity." After giving some statistics:—"The results, indeed, go far towards showing that a probationary term is not essential, though unquestionably useful, under the new system."

184. It would be desirable, if candidates in the first examination of the Covenanted Service, who may have shown decided
proficiency, but failed to secure a place among the successful
candidates, and who are passed the age of competition, are
allowed, if they so desire, to be placed at the head of the list of
the successful candidates of the year in one of the Uncovenanted
Services. For, a superior class of servants will thus be secured
without any injustice to anybody—only that the person will have
passed a much higher examination and a higher order of tests and
qualifications, which will be an advantage.

It will be a good field for the recruiting of the Subordinate Service, if such persons can be secured. As such persons will have to commence at the bottom of the service, they will often prefer with their high acquirements to strike out some new lines for themselves or enter the professions. But should they desire to enter the Subordinate Service, they should be allowed.

General Remarks.

Though I have answered some of the questions relating to schemes or defails, and whatever may be their suitability, all I have to urge is that the principle of 1833 and 1858 must be the foundation of the whole edifice, and every scheme be based upon, and in accordance with it. We should not, after half a century of progress, be now deprived of our great Charter in the alightest degree. Once this principle is faithfully adopted, Government can easily arrange to devise suitable schemes to secure the best results. For the Covenanted Services the machinery already exists, all that is necessary is to make the first competitive examination simultaneously in India with that of England. And for the Uncovenanted Services, Civil Service Commission may be devised.

who would prepare suitable schemes in detail for every department and carry them out.

The chief point which I desire to urge is this. Let Government adopt any scheme of competition, only let every one,—European or Native—have a free and fair field, so that neither should be in any way handicapped, and all are subjected to the same tests.

No distinction of race, creed or colour being left, Government will be relieved of all the troubles and complications that must otherwise arise, and the whole machinery of Government will settle itself into smooth work under a just and sound principle, with benefit to the country and glory to the Rulers.

As I have often said, the question of the services or foreign agency, is a question of the highest importance for the economic condition of India, and the material condition of the masses. It is the one "evil incident to a foreign rule" which requires to be minimised as much as possible, if English rule is to be a true and great blessing to India. The following words of the Secretary of State for India, show what political danger also lies in this foreign "character of the Government":—

Parl. Ret. [c. 4868] 1886, page 4.

"The position of India is relation to taxation and the sources of the public revenues is very peculiar, not merely from the habits of the people and their strong aversion to change, which is more specially exhibited to new forms of taxation, but likewise from the character of the Government which is in the hands of foreigners, who hold all the principal administrative offices and form so large a part of the Army. The impatience of new taxation which would have to be borne wholly as a consequence of the foreign rule imposed on the country, and virtually to meet additions to charges arising outside of the country, would constitute a political danger, the real magnitude of which, it is to be feared, is not at all appreciated by persons who have no knowledge of, or concern in, the Government of India, but which those responsible for that Government have long regarded as of the most serious order." (The italics are mine.)

APPENDIX-D.

STATEMENT TO THE SELECT COMMITTEE ON EAST INDIA FINANCE, 1871.

FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION OF INDIA.

A considerable number of the best informed and most influential Native and English inhabitants of India, together with others of Her Majesty's subjects of all ranks who have the welfare of that portion of the British Empire at heart, asked for Parliamentary inquiry. Parliament readily granted a Select Committee of the House of Commons, though for an inquiry which was to be limited to Financial Administration. It is, I think, due to Parliament and to the Select Committee that those who prayed for inquiry should say in time what they want, for it would be both unreasonable and useless for them to complain afterwards that the Select Committee did not do this or that. As a native of India, and one who joined in a petition from the East India Association, I most respectfully submit for the consideration of the Select Committee a few remarks as to what I hope and desire from it.

The Pinancial Administration of any country, like all other human institutions, requires four important elements:—

- let. Materials.
- 2nd. Head to design.
- 3rd. Hand to executa.
- 4th. Sound principles of design and execution. Upon the degree of perfection of each and all of these requisites depends the measure of success.

I.-Materials.

This is the most important and fundamental question for decision. Without sufficient and suitable materials to work with, all the other requisites are of no avail whateverer.

The question, then, is: Does India, even at the present day, produce enough to supply, without hardship or privation, both its

ordinary wants as a nation, and its extraordinary and peculiar want to remit to a foreign distant country a portion of its produce as the natural economical result of a foreign rule? I say that India does not produce enough even for the ordinary necessary wants of its children, much less for all their social and peculiar political wants. Is this a fact or not? The Indian Government is bound to answer this question definitely. If the India Office should prove me to be wrong, no one will rejoice more than myself. If I be right, then, no ingenious device of even ten Wilsons or Temples will relieve the Financial Administration of its difficulties unless the Indian legislators and financiers possess the Divine power of creating something out of nothing. The poverty and privations of the country once admitted, the question then will be, how to remedy this fundamental evil. The subject of the remedies ultimately resolves itself into the following:—

1st. Provision of capital necessary for all public works of a permanent character, both ordinary and extraordinary, which are required to increase production and facilitate distribution, to be provided, if India is impoverished, and has it not.

2nd. A just adjustment of the financial relations between India and England, so that the political drain may be reasonably diminished.

 ¹ give this chief cause of the impoverishment of a country
in the words of Sir R. Temple himself, written under the direction
of Lord Lawrence. (Punjab Administration Report for 1856-8,
Parliamentary Return 212 of 1859, page 18):—

[&]quot;In former reports it was explained how the circumstance of so much money going out of the Punjab contributed to depress the agriculturist. The native regular army was Hindustance; to them was a large share of the Punjab revenues disbursed, of which a part only they spent on the spot, and a part was remitted to their homes. Thus it was that, year after year, lakhs and lakhs were drained from the Punjab, and enriched Oudh. But within the last year, the native army being Punjabee, all such sums have been spent at home. Again, many thousands of Punjabee soldiers are serving abroad. These men not only remit their savings, but also have sent quantities of prize-property and plunder, the spoils of Hindustan, to their native villages. The effect of all this is already perceptible in an increase of agricultural capital, a freer circulation of money, and a fresh impotus to cultivation."

3rd. The best way of attracting capital and enterprise to utilise the vast culturable waste lands.

4th. The best way of increasing the intelligence of the people by a comprehensive plan of national education, both high and popular.

If the fact of the poor production of India can be proved directly, any indirect test may not be considered necessary; but as questions have been already put in the Committee about such tests, and as these tests are frequently appealed to as proving the prosperity of the country, I think it necessary to say a few words regarding them. The tests I refer to more particularly are "rise" in prices and wages, and imports of bullion. I hope mere general assertions on these points will not be considered sufficient To understand correctly the phenomena of prices and wages, it is absolutely necessary for the India Office to prepare a return of the prices and wages of all districts from, say, twenty years prior to the British acquisition, to the present day, giving also opposite to the figures for each year the causes of the rise or fall, as the case may be. Such a return alone will show the effect of "the drain," after the British acquisition, either as to how far any rise. on the one hand, was the result of scarcity of production, or of increase of prosperity, or of local expenditure on public works : or, on the other, how far any fall was the result of abundance of produce or the poverty of the district; and, further, whether the rice or fall was general or local, permanent or temporary. The average of a collection of districts of the whole country must also

"R. TEMPLE.

Secretary to Chief Commissioner, Punjah."

May I appeal to Sir R. Temple to ponder over this extract, and in his new place of a financier of India, look this same evil for all India boldly in the face, and firmly suggest its proper remedies; so that the burden of the millions and millions that are "year after year drained "from India to England may be reasonably lightened, and the ability of the people to meet the legitimate portion of the drain increased to the necessary extent? Is it also too much for India to aspect, or even to claim from Lord Lawrence to represent this evil to the Select Committee and to Parliament, and to obtain for India full redress?

[&]quot;The Report has been prepared under the direction of Sir John Lawrence, K.C.B., Chief Commissioner of Punjab, by

be taken correctly, and not in the erroneous manner in which they are at present made up in the Administration Reports.

To show the necessity of what I ask in the above paragraph, I give a few instances. In the Madras selection from Government Records, No. XXXI., of 1856, prices are given of certain periods for several districts. I take those of Chingelput (page 23), for the years 1841-50, (Fusies, 1251-60), during which the prices auddenly rose from Rs. 82 per garce of paddy in 1254, to Rs. 126 in the next year 1255, and to Rs. 124 in 1256, and again went down to Rs. 96 and 69 in the succeeding years. So at Rajahmundry, in the prices for the years 1236 to 1245 (1826 to 1834), there is a sudden rise from Rs. 64 in 1241 to Rs. 111 in 1242, and to Rs. 168 in 1243, going down again to Rs. 95 and 63 in the succeeding two years. Now, are these high prices in the two couples of years the result of scarcity or prosperity? If the former, how very wrong it would be to take the high averages of these ten years for comparison or as an indication of prosperity? The last two years in the Punjab have been bad seasons, and the price of wheat has risen from 1st January, '68 to 1st January, '70 at Delhi, from 26 seers (of 2 lbs.) per Re. 1 to 9 seers; at Ambala, from 24 seers to 9 seers; at Lahore, from 18 seers to 91 (Punjab Adm. Report for 1869-70, p. 95).

Now, is it right from high averages occasioned in this manner to infer prosperity? An hon, member recently quoted in Parliament the high price of rice at Jubbulpore. Had his informant been a little more communicative, he would have learnt that, while at Jubbulpore, say in the average good season of 1867-8, the price was Rs. 3? per maund, in the adjoining division of Chutteesghur, the price at Raipore and Belaspore was only Re. 1 per maund, or nearly one-fourth; and that therefore Jubbulpore, with its local expenditure on public works, was no criterion for the rest of the country. In the North-West Provinces, the price of wheat was about the same in the years 1860 and 1868. But during that interval the province passed through a great famine, and had famine prices. Now, will the average taken with these famine prices be a proper eriterion for inferences of prosperity? With regard to the erroneans mode of taking averages of a number of districts, by adding up the prices and dividing the total by the number of the districts, without reference to the quantity produced in each district, I need simply refer to the average taken in the Report of the Central Provinces for 1867-68. It is there made out for rice to be Rs. $2\frac{3}{4}$ per maund, when the actual average was only about Rs. $1\frac{1}{4}$.

These few instances will, I hope, suffice to show how carefully the test of prices, and similarly that of wages, have to be ascertained and applied. With reference to wages, two important elements must be borne in mind—the number of the labourers who earn each rate of wages, and the number of days such wages are earned during the year.

So far as my inquiries go at present, the conclusion I draw is, that wherever the East India Company acquired territory, impoverishment followed their steps, and it is only from the time that loans for irrigation and railways and other public works, and the windfall of the benefits from the American War returned back, as it were, some of the lost blood, that India has a little revived. But it will require vigorous and steady efforts to increase the production of the country, and diminish its drain to Eugland, before it will be restored to anything like ordinary good health, and be freed from famines.

With regard to imports of bullion, there are sufficient returns for the past seventy years; but they require to be carefully examined to draw any correct inferences from them, taking into consideration the non-production of bullion in the country, the revenue being required to be paid in money, and thereby making silver a necessity in all ordinary transanctions of life, the vast population among whom these imports are distributed, and the amount of treasure the East India Company and their servants carried away during the last century in the shape of salaries, bribes, booty, &c. Cannot the India Office make some return on this point, to show the exhaustion of the country thus caused which required to be replenished by subsequent imports? It is no use simply depending upon the re-schoing of the general exclamation, " What an enormous quantity of silver has gone to India!" I entreat most earnestly that the first element-viz., the material condition of India-may be most carefully sifted, and the necessary remedies be applied. If this question be not boldly and fairly grappled with, it will be, in my humble opinion, the principal rock on which British rule will wreck. It is impossible for any nation to go on being impoverished without its ultimate destruction, or the removal of the cause.

IL HEAD TO DESIGN.

The head which designs the Imperial financial legislation is the Supreme Legislative Council, while local legislation is designed by the local Councils. All these Councils have a controlling head in the India Office Council in London. The questions, then, to be decided, in order that the designing head may be as efficient and adapted to the end as possible, resolve themselves into these:—

- 1st. Can any legislation ever do its work satisfactorily in which the opinions, feelings, and thoughts of the people paying the taxes are not fairly represented? Englishmen, no matter how able and with whatever good intentions, cannot feel as the natives feel, and think as the natives think. The co-operation of a sufficient number of intelligent natives in all the Councils is an absolute necessity to any satisfactory flinancial legislation. As to any fear of political mischief from taking natives more largely into confidence, I think it to be entirely groundless. But, even granting that there was any risk, I need simply refer to the Act of 1861, in which ample checks and securities are provided. With a sufficiently large number of natives, with a corresponding increase in the number of non-official English members, there will not only be no risk, but, on the contrary, every cause for satisfaction. I may just point out the checks I allude to—
- "Provided always, that it shall not be lawful for any Member or Additional Member to introduce, without the previous sanction of the Governor-General, any measure affecting—
 - *1. The public debt or public revenues of India; or by which any charge would be imposed on such revenues.

Though the Indian Councils are thus prohibited from imposing charges on Indian revenues without direct legislation, and the aanctios of the Governor-General first obtained to introduce the measure, the Indian Council in England is, in a very anomalous way, left to do what it likes with the revenues of India; take, for instance, the way is which certain charges connected with the Cooperhill Civil Engineering College are put upon Indian revenues or the large sum of money spent upon the India Office, or any other charges that the Indian Council chooses to make.

- 2. The religion or religious rites and usages of any class of Her Majesty's subjects in India.
- "3. The discipline or maintenance of any part of Her Majesty's Military or Naval Forces.
- "4. The relation of the Government with Foreign Princes or States." (Clause 19.)

Moreover, the Governor-General has his power of veto; and the ultimate consent of Her Majesty's Indian Secretary is also necessary. (Clauses 20 and 21.)

Clause 22 limits even the power of the Governor-General as to what he shall not legislate upon, and Clause 43 repeats, with certain additions, as to what the local Council cannot legislate upon except with the sanction of the Governor-General. With such checks there can be nothing to fear.

20d. Whether decentralization, such as Sir Charles Trevelyan and Sir C. Wingfield, and others who agree with them, propose, is necessary or not to solve difficulties like the following. Some provinces complain that they are taxed more to make up the deficits of others. For instance—supposing that the Zemindars of Bengal are right in claiming exemption from any additional burden on lands, under the Regulation of 1793, would not the scheme of decentralization enable the Lengal Government to provide in some other appropriate way for its own wants, instead of the Supreme Council being obliged to impose the same taxes upon the other parts of India also, as it cannot tax Bengal by itself.

The distant Presidencies complain that the Supreme Council is not able to understand fully their peculiar requirements. With the Governor-General having a veto upon all the legislation of the subordinate Governmenta, could not the Supreme Government be better able to attend to all Imperial questions without any loss of dignity or power, and yet leave fairly upon the heads of the different Presidencies their fair share of responsibility? These and similar questions with regard to the Constitution and work of the Councils in India have to be decided.

Similar questions have also to be considered with regard to the Indian Council in England. First, need there be such a large Council? Secondly, need the Council have the work of supervision of everything that is done in India; or will it act merely as an appellant power, to interfere when appealed to? Is the constitution such as could satisfactorily perform its work with the due knowledge and appreciation of the continuous change of conditions going on in India? And is it not necessary, mereever, that, as in the Councils in India, some suitable representation of native views and interests should exist in the India Office? Lastly, is it right that this Council should have the power to spend the revenues of India as it likes, without some such open legislation, discussion, and check, as is provided for the Councils in India? From this, I hope it will be sufficiently apparent that the element of "the head which designs and controls" the financial administration of India requires careful consideration. The necessity of a fair expression of the views and feelings of the natives has another aspect-viz., that with such co-operation Government will be very largely relieved of the odium of any dissatisfaction among the patives.

All the remarks with reference to the necessity of a fair representation of natives in the Legislative Councils apply equally to all taxation and expenditure of local funds. For, besides the Imperial revenue of some 50,000,0004, there are local funds raised as follows:—

LOCAL FUNDS.

Gross Receipts for 1867-8, according to Part I. of Finance and Revenue Accounts of India, published by the Government of India, Calcutto, 1870, Account No. 34, pages, 116, 118, 120, and 122.

Berars (11" m	onths of l	IEE6-67, <i>I</i>	E130,148)	Not	given.
Bombay		•••	•••		1,093,133
Madras	•••	•••	•••		459,199
Punjab	•••	•••	***		326,870
N. W. Province	e s	•••	•••	• • •	825,007
Bengal		***	***	,	623,722
British Burma	.h	•	•••		105,550
Central Provide				173,410	
Oude	•••	•••	***		194,728
Government o	f India	•••	• • •	•••	41,028

Total ... £3,842,647

£.

III .- HAND TO EXECUTE.

This hand is formed by all the different services in the Administration. The questions are:—

Ist. Can these services be fully efficient without a proper proportion of natives of talent and integrity in all grades? I consider the question here solely with reference to successful financial administration, independently of its very important, social and especially, political bearings, of the claims of right and justice, and of the great evil of no elders of wisdom or experience being prepared among the natives, as all the wisdom and experience of English officials is lost to India on their retirement, except perhaps of a few, who have conscience enough to feel the debt they owe to India, and to do what they can in England to promote its welfare.

2nd. Can the English officials, no matter however elevery manage the natives as well as natives of the same standing, ability, and integrity? A word of persuasion and assurance from a native of official position will, in the nature of things, carry more influence than that of an Englishman. A native will far more easily understand and know how to deal with the ways of natives. The assistance, therefore, of a proper proportion of natives in all departments is a necessity for successful organization and working of details. Even now it is the native in many instances who is the real soul of the work, though the credit is all taken by his English superiors.

Conscientious men, like Sir Henry Ricketts, of the Bengal Civil Service, make no secret of such a circumstance, and rightly urge to let credit be given to whom it belongs. It is only natural that the Englishman, with his frequent changes and his ignorance of the people around him, is depended upon, and at the mercy of, his subordinates. If there were in the service natives of the same position with himself, he would, by comparing notes with them, be much helped in understanding the feelings, views, and idiosyncrasics of natives, which he has no other means of learning.

Successful administration requires complete knowledge, and for such knowledge the co-operation of the natives is simply a necessity.

There is, moreover, the economical, and, therefore, the immediately financial, point of view from which this subject has to be

considered. Supposing that the native official was paid as highly as his English colleague, the mere fact that all the earnings of the native official remain in the country, as he has no remittances to make to a foreign land for the education or maintenance of his children or family, or of his savings, is in itself so far an economical and, therefore, a financial advantage to the country; and it is the bounden duty of the English rulers to allow Indian this economical saving, consistently with their political supremacy. In some of the services, such as the Public Works, Telegraph and Forest, political considerations have no place; while economy and justice, and the oft-repeated pledges of Parliament, demand that qualified natives should have free and fair admission into all the services. Unless this economical saving is allowed to India to a fair extent, all professions of administering the finances of India for the good of India cannot but he merely a mockery and delusion. Politically considered, it is not at all improbable that before long the English rulers of India will have some troublesome questions to solve, if due foresight is not used in this metter.

IV .- PRINCIPLES OF DESIGN AND EXECUTION.

As a whole the questions are :--

- Whether, by the present principles and modes of taxation, the burden is equitably distributed over the shoulders of all classes of people?
- 2. Whether the present expenditure is not capable of being largely curtailed, and much waste prevented, without impairing the efficiency or strength of the English rule?

To solve these two important questions it is necessary to work in the way in which the Committee has already commenced, to examine the principle and necessity of each item of receipt and expenditure. Now, there is no doubt that the opinion of this governor, or that revenue officer, or such a commander, may be worthy of all weight and respect; but, at the same time, in order that the Committee should arrive at an independent judgment of their own, it is necessary that they should not be satisfied with mere general opinious of the witnesses, but should require a clear statement of some satisfactory proo/s upon which those opinions

are based. I hope, therefore, that mere assertions of officials, that "all is right," will not be considered sufficient. For instance, we may take the question of the land revenue, which is the very subject the Committee has commenced with. There is a variety of land tenures, and each is based upon several principles. I take the instance of one of these principles—viz., the proportion of the rate of assessment to the income of the cultivator, or the produce of the land.

There are two questions. First, Are the principle or principles of the rates sound? and, second, if so, are the rate or rates adopted, such as to encourage increase of cultivation, lead to increase of capital, and thereby to increase of production and prosperity?

First take the principles of the rate.

In Bombay, one and the chief principle of the last settlement seems to me to be this. It is illustrated by a table by Captain (now Sir George) Wingate and Lieut. Nash. (Bombay "Selection," No. CVII., New Series, page 14. See also pages 109 and 110.)

The soil is divided from No. 1 to No. 9. The gross produce of soil No. 1 is supposed, for illustration, to be Rs. 172-4 as, for every Rs. 100 of cultivation expenses—i.e., Rs. 72-4 as, is net produce; and for soil No. 9, the gross produce is supposed to be Rs. 127-6 as. 3 p. for every Rs. 100 of cultivation expenses-4.c. Rs. 27-6 as. 3 p. is not produce. The Government assessment is then adjusted as follows: Out of the net produce of Ra. 27-6 as. 3 p. of No. 9 soil, the Government rate is, for supposition, taken as Ra. 5-13 as. 4 p., leaving to the cultivator Rs. 21-8 as. 11 p.-i.e., something like 75 per cent of the net produce. But what is proposed to be left to the cultivator of No. 1, whose net produce is Rs. 72-4 as.? One would think that, like the rate of the No. 9 soil, Government would take one-fourth, or say, Rs. 18, and leave to the cultivator three-fourths, or Rs. 54. Such, however, is not the case. The cultivator of No. I soil is also to keep only Ra. 21-6 as. 11 p., and give up to Government Ra. 50-11 as. 1 p.-i.e., Government takes above two-thirds and the cultivator less than one-third; the principle being that, no matter what the not produce for every Ra, 100 invested may be, every cultivator is not to have a definite proportion of his net produce. but an absolute fixed quantity. This would be something like imposing the income-tax upon the principle that if one merchant makes a profit of 50% on an investment of 100%, and another of 10% on the same investment, they are not to pay some definite proportion or proportions of their profits; but if the latter is to pay 2% out of 10%, and retain 8%, the former should also retain 8% only, and pay 42% to Government. I wonder how British merchants and manufacturers would like this principle! However, it is not my object here to discuss the merit of this principle, but only to state it, for comparison with that of the other provinces.

Now take Madras. There the principle is, after allowing for ridges, boundaries, unproductive portions of fields, sessons, cultivation expenses, &c., to adjust the Government Assessment at twothirds of the net produce on wet or irrigated lands, and a sort of compromise between two-thirds of net produce and one-fourth of gross produce on dry lands; the balance of about one-third of the net produce being left to the cultivator, ("Madras Selection," No. XIV., of 1869, pages 142-160, Settlement of Chellumbrum and Manargoody Talookas, of South Arcot). Taking Punjab, the principle of the first settlement was on the basis of two-thirds of the net produce, but by the revised settlement it is on one-half of the net produce for Government. In the N. W. Provinces (Adm. Report, '67-'68, page 47) " the standard of assessment is now 55 per cent of the assets, of which 5 per cent, goes for cesses; the remaining 45 per cent., after defraying the village expenses, forms the profit of the proprietors."

To sum up the whole, I give an extract from a memorandum of the India House (Return 75, of 185#). "And in all the improved systems of Kevenue Administration, of which an account has been given in the preceding part of this paper, the object has not been merely to keep the Government demand within the limits of a fair rent, but to leave a large portion of the rent to the proprietors. In the settlement of the N. W. Provinces, the demand was limited to two-thirds of the amount, which is appeared, from the best attainable information, that the land could afford to pay as rent. The principle which has been laid down for the next settlement, and acted on wherever settlement has commenced, is still more liberal; the Government demand being fixed at one-half instead of two-thirds of the average net product—that is, of a

fair rent. The same general standard has been adopted for guidance in the new settlement of the Madras territory. In Bombay, no fixed proportion has been kept in view, but the object has been that land should possess a saleable value." (The italics are mine.)

Now, in giving this extract I have also the object of directing attention to the use of the words "net produce" and "fair rent" as synonymous. Is it so? Is the net produce, of which one-half is settled as Government assessment, rent only in the sense in which economists use the word, and for "leaving a large portion of which" Government claims credit of liberality?

Now to the next question. Taking the absolute amount of the net produce, is the portion allowed to cultivators sufficient, on an average, for their year's ordinary wants of common necessaries, and some reasonable comforts, together with a saving to face a bad season, or to increase the capital of the country for increasing production?

The test of "the satisfaction of the ryots" is often quoted as a proof of soundness. But it requires to be ascertained whether because an element like that of fixity of tenure and non-interference for a long period is felt satisfactory, it follows that the other elements or principles of the settlement are also necessarily satisfactory or just, even though, as a general result, the agriculturists may feel themselves somewhat better off than they were before? Or is the fact of such profits as the Bombay Presidency had the good fortune to make from the late American War, and the improvement of condition by railways, though a cause of satisfaction of the cultivators, a proof of the soundness or justness of each and all the principles adopted in the settlement? To come to a right conclusion, each principle requires to be examined on its own morits, without reference to general results: for if all the principles were sound, much more satisfactory may be the results.

The Bombay settlement, as well as that of other parts, is now under revision. It is important to ascertain the real present incidence of land revenue, and the reasonable increase that may be made, with sufficient left to the cultivator to subsist on and to save for increase of capital. I am afraid the Bombay re-settlement is not quite reasonable.

I shall take one or two more instances in connection with land revenue. Whether the Zemindare of the Permanent Settlement can be taxed for extra cesses has been the subject of much controversy and dissatisfaction, and even up to the present day the India Office is divided against itself. Now, as long as mere opinions of this official or that Indian Secretary are the sole guides, I do not see how the controversy will ever end. It is a simple question of documentary evidence—the interpretation of a regulation. Would it not be the best plan to subject this question to the decision of a judicial authority, such as the Privy Council after hearing the arguments of counsel on both sides? The decision of such a tribunal must and the matter. The same course, either on the original side of the High Court of Bombay, or in the Privy Council, might be adopted with regard to the extra anna-cess imposed upon the existing Bombay settlements. I believe it is the opinion of many that it was a breach of faith on the part of Government. A decision of a competent judicial tribunal would be satisfactory to all parties.

The prestige of the British name for good faith should never be in the least imperilled, if it is to exert for Government the moral influence it possesses, independently of political and other reasons.

Lastly, in reference to the principles of the land revenue, as a part of the whole design, is the burden of taxation on the cultivator of land in an equitable proportion with other classes? Government claims the rights of a landlord. Does that mean that Government must have a certain portion of the produce no matter even though the exaction be inequitably higher than that from other classes of people? Or is the Government demand upon land to be adjusted on the principle that Government requiring a certain revenue, the land should pay its equitable quota with all other industries? or is it that, because richer interests can resort to agitation, and make themselves heard, while the poor labourer and cultivator cannot, it is felt easier to aqueeze them than the other classes?

II. Is the machinery for the collection of the land revenue sufficiently economical? I think the evidence of a person like Dewan Kazi Shahabudin, for the Bombay side, will be valuable; for, as a native revenue official as he once was, he knows the feelings and views of the natives in a way and to an extent which it is almost impossible for an English official to acquire.

After this one instance of the land revenue, I do not think I need go into the details of the other items of the Budget further than to say that the test of Questions I. and II. under the fourth head has to be rigidly applied to all the items; and to ascertain whether the system of keeping accounts is such as it should be. I shall take only one more item. The salt-tax, especially, requires most anxious consideration. It is the cause of the poor, who cannot speak for or help themselves. Is it at all right to tax salt; and, even allowing the necessity, is the incidence of its burden on the poor similar to that on the other classes for the share they pay towards revenue?

The salt gross revenue for different parts is as follows for 1869-70:--

(Ret. c. 213 of 1870.)

(Ret. c. 213	of 1870.)				
	•	Per head			
	Population	about.			
	about.	s. d.			
Bengal£2,583,562	40,000,000	1 3½			
Oudh 1,219	11,000,000				
Central Provinces. 115,167	9,000,000	0 3			
N. W. Provinces 488,728	30,000,000	0 4			
Punjab 923,060	17,500,000	1 01			
Madras 1,164,736	23,000,000	10			
Bombay 599,407	14,000,000	0 10			
Total 5,875,879	144,500,000	0 9‡ average.			

Now, taking the share of the agricultural produce which can be considered as left to the mass of the poor, agricultural, and other common labouring population, to be 20s. a-head, an ordinary coolie or workman pays in his salt some 4 per cent. out of his wretched pittance. But it must also be borne in mind that 4 per cent. out of 20s. is far more important to the poor man than 10 or 20 per cent. out of the income of the richer classes. Taking 25s. a-head, the rate will be 3½ per cent.

Of the four elements I have described above, the first three are essentially questions for Parliament.

- 1. It is Parliament alone that can decide what the financial relations between England and India should be; how far the guarantee of England can be given for the alleviation of the burden of the public debt, which is the result of English wars in India, or other countries of Asia; and how far the benefit of England's credit and capital can be given to help in the restoration of India's prosperity and prevention of famines.
- It is Parliament alone that can modify the constitution of the Legislative Council and the Indian Council, or give the people of India such a fair voice in their own affairs as they are now capable of exercising, because these Councils are the creation of an Act of Parliament.
- 3. It is Parliament alone that can insist on the faithful fulfilment of the repeated pledges they have given by Acts of Parliament for the admission of natives into the various services according to competence and character, and without any regard to caste, ereed, colour, or race. In the Public Works Department there is a farce of a regulation to admit natives in India on proof of competence; but very good care is taken that natives do not get in. On the Bombay side, as far back as 1861, three natives proved their competence (and one did the same in 1866), and to my knowledge none of them had found admission into the Engineering Department up to 1868. Whether they have since been admitted I do not know, though during the interval dozens of appointments have been given every year. English interests exercise such pressure upon the Indian Governments, that unless Parliament does its duty and insists that, in accordance with its pledges, justice shall be done to the children of the soil, there is but little hope on that score.
- 4. The principles of the whole design of Financial Administration, or of its details, will have always, more or less, to be settled and controlled by the Indian Governments themselves, according to change of circumstances. The best service, therefore, that Parliament can do on this head—and which Parliament alone can do—is to inquire, at certain reasonable interrals—any every ten or twelve years—how the Indian Governments have discharged their

trust. This simple necessary control of the great Parliament of the Empire will prevent many of those evils which freedom from a sense of responsibility induces, and infuse into the Administration all that care and forethought necessary to its success.

After I had posted the foregoing part of this pamphlet from Alexandria, I came across a speech of Lord Mayo, in the Times of India's summary, of 8th April last. I read one paragraph in it with feelings of mixed regret and hopefulness; regret, that one in the position of a Viceroy should have put forth what, in my humble opinion, is an erroneous and misleading statement; and hopefulness, because now that the Viceroy has directed his attention to the all-important subject of the insufficient production of the country, he will, I hope, be able to grapple with it, investigate its causes and evil consequences, and earnestly endeavour to apply suitable remedics.

I refer here to the paragraph in which His Excellency endeavours to refute the assertion that Indian taxation is "crushing." His Lordship on this point has made several assumptions, which require examination. I shall, therefore, first consider whether the conclusion drawn is legitimate, and whether all necessary elements of comparison have been taken into account.

Last year, in my paper on "The Wants and Means of India," which was read before the East India Association, a rough estimate was given of the total production of India (including opium, salt, minerals, manufactures—in short, production of every kind) as about 40s. a-head per annum.

Mr. Grant Duff, in his speech of 24th February last, referred to the relative incomes of England and India, and endeavoured to show that while the former was estimated at 30t. a-head, the latter was "guessed" as 40s. a-head per annum. Now, his lord-ship the Viceroy quotes Mr. Duff's statement of 40s., and believes that Mr. Duff has good reasons for his statement. So that we have it now on the highest authority that the total production of India is only 40s. a-head per annum.

His Excellency the Viceroy, after admitting this fact compares the taxation of India with that of some other countries. In doing this his lordship deducts as land revenue (whether rightly or wrongly, will be seen hereafter) the opium, tributes, and other small receipts

from Indian taxation, and then compares the balance with the taxation of other countries. Being on board a steamer in the Red Sea, I cannot refer to returns to see whether his lordship has made any similar deductions from the taxation of the latter. The result of the comparison would appear to be that, while India pays only 1s. 10d. per head of taxation per annum, Turkey pays 7s, 9d., Russia 12s. 2d., Spain 18s. 5d., Austria 19s. 7d., and Italy 17s. per head per annum. The conclusion drawn is that the taxation of India is not "crushing." What idea his lordship attaches to the word "crushing" I cannot say, but his lordship seems to forget the very first premise that the total production of the country is admitted to be 40s, per head. Now, this amount is hardly enough for the here necessaries of life, much less can it supply any comforts or provide any reserve for bad times; so that, living from hand to mouth, and that on "scanty subsistence" (in the words of Lord Lawrence), the very touch of famine carries away hundreds of thousands. Is not this in itself as "crushing" to any people as it can possibly be? And yet out of this wretched income they have to pay taxation as well.

His lordship has, moreover, left out a very important element from account. He is well aware that, whatever revenue is raised by the other countries, for instance, the 70,000,0001. by England, the whole of it returns back to the people and remains in the country; and, therefore, the national capital, upon which the production of a country depends, does not suffer diminution; while, on account of India's being subject to a foreign rule, out of the 50.000,0002. of revenue raised every year, some 12,000,000L, or more, are carried clear away to England, and the national capital-or, in other words, its capability of production—is continuously diminished year after year. The pressure of taxation, therefore, if proper remedies are not adopted to counteract the above evil must necessarily, become more and more crushing every year even though the amount of taxation be not increased. It is quite intelligible that the English people, with an income or production of some 30l per head, aided by or including some 12,000,000L, or more, annually drawn from India, may not feel the taxation of 21, 10s. a-head as crushing: or the nations which his lordship has instanced, having no price of some 12,000,0004

annually to pay for a foreign rule, and being, most probably' able to produce enough for all their wants, may not feel the 7s. to 19s. 7d. as crushing; but in my humble opinion, every single ounce of rice taken from the "scanty subsistence" of the masses of India is to them so much more starvation, and so much more "crushing".

I shall now consider what would have been the fairest way of making the comparison of taxation. Every nation has a certain amount of income from various sources, such as production of cultivation, minerals farming, manufactures, profits of trade, &c. From such total income all its wants are to be supplied. A fair comparison as to the incidence of taxation will be to see the proportion of the amount which the Government of the country takes for its administration, public debts, &c., to the total income. You may call this amount taxation, revenue, or any thing you like; and Government may take it in any shape or way whatsoever. It is so much taken from the income of the country for the purposes of Government. In the case of India, whether Government takes this amount as land tax, or opium revenue, or in whatever other form, does not matter, it is all the same, that out of the total income of the country Government raises so much revenue for its purposes which otherwise would have remained with the people.

Taking, therefore, this fair test of the incidence of taxation, the results will be that England raises 70,000,000% out of the national income of some 900,000,000%.—that is, about 8 per cent., or about 21. 10s. per head, from an income of about 30%, per head; whereas the Indian Government raises 50,000,000% out of a national income of 300,000,000%.—that is, about 16 per cent. or 6s. 8d. per head, out of an income of 40s. per head.

Had his lordship stated the total national income and population of the countries with which he has made the comparison, we would have then seen what the percentage of their revenue to their income was, and from how much income per head the people had to pay their 7s. to 19s. 7d. per head of taxation, as quoted by his lordship.

Further, if in consequence of a constant drain from India from its poor production, the income of the country continues to diminish, the percentage of taxation to income will be still greater even though the amount of taxation may not increase. But, as we know that the tendency of taxation in India has, during the past twelve years, been to go on increasing every year, the pressure will necessarily become more and more oppressive and crushing, unless our rulers by proper means restors India to at least a healthy, if not a wealthy condition. It must, moreover, be partioularly borne in mind that, while a ton may not be any burden to an elephant, a few pounds may crush a child; that the English nation may, from its average income of 30% a-head, bear with ease a burden of even 51, or 101, of taxation per head, while, to the Indian nation 5s, out of 40s, may be quite unbearable and crushing. The capacity to bear a burden with case or to be curshed by it, is not to be measured by the percentage of taxation, but by the abundance, or otherwise, of the means or income to pay it from. From abundance you may give a large percentage with ease; from sufficiency, the same burden may be just bearable, or some diminution may make it so; but from insufficiency, any burden is so much privation.

But as matters stand, poor India has to pay not only the same percentage of taxation to its income as in England, but nearly double; i.e., while England pays only about $8\frac{1}{2}$ per cent. of its mational income for the wants of its Government, India has to pay some 16 per cent. of its income for the same purpose; though here that income per head of population is some fifteenth part of that of England, and insufficient in itself for even its ordinary wants, leaving alone the extraordinary political necessity to pay a foreign country for its rule.

I sincerely trust, and very hopefully look forward, that when those in whose hands the destiny of India is now placed—such as Mr. Grant Duff, the members of the India Office, the Viceroy, and Sir R. Temple—understand this great evil, it will not be long before really effectual remedies shall be adopted, with the assistance of Parliament. Parliament being the fountain of all power, and as the Indian Government can only act as Parliament directs, it becomes its bounden duty to God and man to lay down the great principles of a just, efficient, and beneficent government for the administration of India, and to see from time to time to their being acted on.

In stating the Viceroy's views, I am obliged to trust to memory but I hope I have not mis-stated them. Now that we have the testimony of the two latest Viceroys-Lord Lawrence stating that the mass of the people live on scanty subsistence, and Lord Mayo believing Mr. Grant Duff's statement of the income of India being only 43s, a-head per annum as well founded-the Select Committee may not think it necessary to ask for any returns, but take the fact as proved. Perhaps the time thus saved to the Select Committee may be well employed in ascertaining the best remedies for such a deplorable state of affairs, and it may not seem very reasonable to request the Committee to put the India Office to the trouble of making any returns on this subject. But I hope that, though the Select Committee may not now think it necessary to ask for any returns for its own use, it will recommend-or the Indian Government will, of its own accord, require—the return of a table of total income of the country as an essential part of the Annual Administration Reports of all the different provinces, and embody it in the Return now annually published, showing the moral and material progress. The Houses of Parliament and the English and the Indian public will then be able to see every year clearly what the material condition of India really is, and how far measures are adopted to improve the present state of matters. To prepare Returns of the total production of the country, there are ample materials in the tables required by the Calcutta Statistical Committee in the Administration Reports. All that is necessory is simple calculation. For instance, one table gives the total acreage of cultivated land in each district; another table gives the acreage of the different crops grown; a third table gives the produce per acre of each kind of crop; a fourth table gives the prices of the produce in the markets of the districts. Now it is easy to see that. with these materials, the value of the total produce of all the districts of a province can be easily worked out.

An erroneous principle has crept into the Administration Reports. I have already once referred to it in connection with the question of prices. I point it out here again, so that it may be avoided in this important calculation. In the above tables of the Administration Report averages are taken, for instance, of the prices of all the districts of the province, by adding up the prices of the different districts and dividing the total by the number of districts. This is evidently absurd, for one district may have produced a million of tone of rice, and may sell it at Re. 1 a maund; and another may have produced only a thousand tons, and the price there may be Rs. 5 a maund. It will be incorrect to make the average price as Rs. 3 per maund, when it will actually be only a little more than Re. 1. In the same manner the produce per acre may be very large in one place where probably the acreage under cultivation also is very large, while in another district the cultivated acreage may be small and the produce per acre may be small also. If the average is taken by simply adding up the produce per sere of each district, and dividing by the number of districts, the total of the produce thus obtained will be less than the actual quantity. Avoiding this mistake in the principle of taking averages, from the above-mentioned tables can be calculated the total production of cultivated land. Then there are other sources of income to be added, such as stock, opium, salt, minerals, manufactures, fisheries, &c. The Reports already have the figures for most of these items, and thus the grand total of income available for human consumption and saving may be ascertained. Such a Return, with two others I shall refer to hereafter for every province, would be of great importance.

If this calculation of the total income of the country is made out every year, we shall have the most direct evidence of the actual condition of the people, instead of being obliged to draw inferences indirectly from the complicated and misleading phenomena of differences of prices or wages.

Except Bengal, all the provinces have the means of obtaining the necessary materials for the different tables required by the Statistical Committee. In Bengal, the perpetual settlement, I think makes it unnecessary for the Revenue Department to ascertain the actual extent of the whole cultivation, and of the different crops. But for such an important purpose, I have no doubt, the Bengal Government will devise some means to procure the necessary information. In the Report for 1869-70, they have, I think, intimated their intention to do what they can.

Not commanding the time and the means necessary for minute calculations, I have made a rough estimate, and I think that if averages are worked out by the statistical staff at the India Office or at Calcutta, the result will be very nearly what Mr. Duff has stated, and which His Excellency the Viceroy adopts—viz., a total income of about 40s. a-head per annum. From this, the European residents and the richer classes of natives above the common labourer get a large proportion, and the portion remaining for the mass of the people must, therefore, be much less.

It must also be remembered that this average of 40s, per head is for the whole of India; but for the different Presidencies or Provinces, each of which is as large and as populous as some of the countries of Europe, the proportion of distribution of this total production is very different. For instance, in Bombay the total production, if accurately worked out, may be found to be 100s. a-head; Punjab perhaps about 45s. to 50s. a-head; consequently the other provinces will have under 40s, a-head. Then, again, there is another drawback-viz., the want of cheap communication-by which even this insufficient production of 45s. a-head is not fully utilized, so as to allow the plenty of one Presidency to be available for the population of another. Not only does this difficulty of distribution exist between different Presidencies, but even between parts of the same province. I shall give just one instance-that of the Central Provinces. While at Raipore and Belaspore the price of rice at the end of 1867-8 was Re. I for a maund of 80 lbs., at Hosungabad it was Rs. 5 per maund, at Baitool it was Rs. 4 per maund, at Jubbulpors Rs. 3-12 ans. per maund. In this way, while in one district a part of the produce was perhaps rotting or being wasted, other districts were suffering from scarcity.

Upon the whole, I think the average income per head of the poor labouring population of all the provinces (except Bombay and Punjab) will be found hardly above 20s. a-head per annum, or may be, from 20s. to 25s.

This can be tested directly if the Administration Reports give, in addition to the return for the total income of the province, a second return, something like the following (I believe they have all the requisite materials, or can obtain them):—The number of people living upon unskilled labour, and rates of wages, with details; the number adults (male and female) capable of work, say between

twenty-one and fifty; the number of youths, say from twelve to twenty-one years of age (male and female); the number of the eld incapable of work, or, say, above fifty years of age; the number of children under twelve years of age; the average wage earned by males and females of the above different classifications (calculating the average on the correct principle of taking the number of labourers sarning each rate into account); the number of the sick and infirm; and the number of days during the year that the different rates of wages are earned. From these materials it will be easy to ascertain the real average income of the unskilled labourer, who forms the majority of the population, and upon whose labour depends the subsistence of the nation. I hope the India Office will order such returns to be prepared for the Select Committee. It will be a direct proof of the actual condition of the mass of the people of each Presidency, and will be a great help to the Committee.

I may now give a few particulars, which are at hand, of the cost of living, for the bare necessaries of life.

The Bombay Report for 1867-68 gives Rs. 41-13 ans. 10 p. as the average cost for diet per prisoner, and Rs. 5-10 ans. 11 p. for clothing and bedding. The N.-W. Provinces Report gives the average cost for central gaols—for diet, Rs. 18-1 an. $8\frac{3}{4}$ p.; for clothing and bedding, Rs. 3-5 ans. $1\frac{1}{4}$ p. For divisional gaols—for diet, Rs. 24-6 ans. $10\frac{1}{4}$ p.; and clothing and bedding, Rs. 4-3 ans. $4\frac{1}{4}$ p.; and for district gaols—for diet, Rs. 15-8 ans. $11\frac{3}{4}$ p.; and for clothing and bedding, Rs. 3-2 ans. 6 p. In the Central Provinces, the cost for diet is Rs. $25\frac{1}{4}$, and for clothing and bedding, Rs. $5\frac{1}{4}$; and in the Punjab—for diet, Rs. 23-6 ans.; for clothing and bedding, Rs. 31-13 ans. 6 p.

This is what the State thinks it necessary to give to criminals as bare necessaries of life. There may be little allowance to be made for the proportion of females and the young being smaller in a prison than in the outside world. Making this allowance, can it be said that the labourer gets—the—necessaries of life to this extent? To this has to be added some cost for lodging, something for reasonable social wants, and something to save for a bad day or old age. De the people get this?

Surgeon S. B. Partridge, Government Medical Inspector of

Emigrants, in a statement, dated Calcutta, 26th March, 1870,* proposes the following as a scale of diet, to supply the necessary ingredients of nourishment, for the emigrant coolies during their voyage, living in a state of quietude:—

	_			-							
Rice D	JET	FOR	One	MAN	i.	F	OR F	LOUB 1	Dibt.		
•				02	8.					02	8.
Rice				20	0	Flour	•••	***	•••	16	0
Dhal				6	0	Dhal	•••	***	•••	4	0
Preserved	Mu	tton		2	5	Preserv	ed Mu	itton		2	5
Vegetable	8			4	27	Vegetal	oles	•••		4	27
Ghee				1	0	Ghee				1	5
Mustard (Dil	•••		0	5	Mustar	d Oil			0	5
Salt		•••		1	0	Salt				1	0
				_		1				_	
	Total		35	-27			To	tal	29	77	

This is absolutely necessary to supply the necessary ingredients of nitrogen and carbon; not the slightest luxury—no sugar, tea, or any little enjoyment of life—but simply animal subsistence.

From the above data, returns can be worked out, at the prices of particular districts and provinces, of the absolute necessaries of life, which will show whether a province produces enough for these, and for all its political, social, economical, and administrative wants. With these three returns-first, of the total income per head per annum ; secondly, the average per head of the earnings of the mass of the labouring population; and thirdly, the average actual requirements per head for all the different absolutely necessary wants of the labouring population-the ruler of every province will be able to give a clear picture of the actual. material condition of his charge, and will get any credit he may deserve for the improvements made by him. I hope the India will place these three returns before the Committee, Complacent assertions of officials that all are happy and prospering can be had in any quantity; but unless the test of actual facts is applied by such returns, these assertions are not only worth nothing, but are positively mischievous as they mislead Parliament and the English public, who, believing

The Indian Economist of 15th October, 1870: "Statistical Reporter," p. 45.

such statements, become indifferent to India, to be roused only by some great calamity, either physical or political.

If the facts brought to light by those returns show that the people are really suffering from insufficiency to supply their absolute wants for ordinary healthy human life, and that, therefore, having no reserve either of strength or means, or no intelligences they are easily swept away by hundreds of thousands in time of scarcity, what responsibility lies upon our British rulers to remedy this wretchedness! Remedy it they could, if they but chose to set about their work with a due sense of the responsibility, and with carnestness and determination. India needs the help of their capital and credit, needs reduction in expenditure, needs an efficient and economical administration of which native co-operation must form an essential, and not an incidental element, needs a wise and fair adjustment of her financial relations with England, and, finally and imperatively, a wise and rapid diffusion of the blessings of education.

* THE MORAL POVERTY OF INDIA AND NATIVE THOUGHTS ON THE PRESENT BRITISH INDIAN POLICY.

In my last paper I confined myself to meeting Mr. Danvers' line of argument on the question of the material destruction and impoverishment of India by the present British Indian policy; I endeavoured to show that this impoverishment and destruction of India was mainly caused by the unnatural treatment it received at the hands of its British Rulers, in the way of subjecting it to a large variety of expenditure upon a crushing foreign agency both in India and England, whereby the children of the country were displaced and deprived of their natural rights and means of subsistence in their own country; that, by what was being taken and consumed in India itself, and by what was being continuously taken away by such agency clean out of the country, an exhaustion of the very life-blood of the country was unceasingly going on; that not till this disastrous drain was duly checked, and not till the

^{*} Submitted to the Secretary of State for India, 16th November, 1880.

people of India were restored to their natural rights in their own country, was there any hope for the material amelioration of India.

In this memorandum I desire to submit for the kind and generous consideration of his Lordship the Secretary of State for India that, from the same cause of the deplorable drain, besides the material exhaustion of India, the moral loss to her is no less sad and lamentable.

With the material wealth go also the wisdom and experience of the country. Europeans occupy almost all the higher places in every department of Government directly or indirectly under its control. While in India they acquire India's money, experience, and wisdom; and when they go, they carry both away with them, leaving India so much poorer in material and moral wealth. Thus India is left without, and cannot have those elders in wisdom and experience who in every country are the natural guides of the rising generations in their national and social conduct, and of the destinies of their country; and a sad, sad loss this is!

Every European is isolated from the people around him. He is not their mental, moral, or social leader or companion. For any mental or moral influence or guidance or sympathy with the people he might just as well be living in the moon. The people know not him, and he knows not, nor cares for, the people. Some honourable exceptions do, now and then, make an effort to do some good if they can, but in the very nature of things these efforts are always feeble, exotic, and of little permanent effect. These men are not always in the place, and their works die away when they go.

The Europeans are not the natural leaders of the people. They do not belong to the people; they cannot enter their thoughts and feelings; they cannot join or sympathise with their joys or griefs. On the contrary, every day the estrangement is increasing. Europeans deliberately and openly widen it more and more. There may be very few social institutions started by Europeans in which Natives, however fit and desirous to join, are not deliberately and insultingly excluded. The Europeans are, and make themselves, strangers in every way. All they effectually do is to eat the substance of India, material and moral, while living there, and when they go, they carry away all they have acquired, and their pensions and future usefulness besides.

This most deplorable moral loss to India needs most serious consideration, as much in its political as in its national aspect. Nationally disastrous as it is, it carries politically with it its own Nemecia. Without the guidance of elderly windom and experience of their own natural leaders, the education which the rising generations are now receiving is naturally leading them (or call it misleading them if you will) into directions which bode no good to the rulers, and which, instead of being the strength of the rulers, as it ought to be and can be, will turn out to be their great weakness. The fault will be of the rulers themselves for such a result. The power that is now being raised by the apread of education, though yet slow and small, is one that in time must, for weal or woe. exercise great influence; in fact, it has already begun to do so. However strangely the English rulers, forgetting their English manliness and moral courage, may, like the ostrich, shut their eyes, by gagging acts or otherwise, to the good or bad influences they are raising around them, this good or evil is rising nevertheless. The thousands that are being sent out by the universities every year find themselves in a most anomalous position. There is no place for them in their motherland. They may beg in the streets er break stones on the roads for ought the rulers seem to care for their natural rights, position and duties in their own country. They may perish or do what they like or can, but scores of Europeans must go from this country to take up what belongs to them, and that in spite of every profession, for years and years past and up to the present day, of English statesmen, that they must govern India for India's good, by solemn Acts and declarations of Parliament, and, above all, by the words of the august Sovereign herself. For all practical purposes all these high promises have been hitherto almost wholly the purest romance, the reality being quite different.

The educated find themselves simply so many dummies, ornamested with the timed of school education, and then their whole and aim of life is ended. What must be the inevitable consequence? A wild-spirited horse, without curb or reins, will rus away wild, and kill and trample upon every one that comes is his way. A mis-directed force will hit anywhere, and destroy anything. The power that the rulers are, so far to their credit,

raising will, as a Nemesia, recoil against themselves, if, with this blessing of education, they do not do their whole duty to the country which trusts to their righteousness, and thus turn this good power to their own side. The Nemesis is as clear from the present violence to nature, as disease and death arise from uncleanliness and rottenness. The voice of the power of the rising education is, no doubt, feeble at present. Like the infant, the present dissatisfaction is only crying at the pains it is suffering. Its notions have not taken any form or shape or course yet, but it is growing. Heaven only knows what it will grow to! He who runs may see that if the present material and moral destruction of India continues, a great convulsion must inevitably arise, by which either India will be more and more crushed under the iron heel of despotism and destruction, or may succeed in shattering the destroying hand and power. Far, far is it from my earnest prayer and hope that such should be the result of the British rule. In this rule there is every element to produce immeasurable good, both to India and England, and no thinking native of India would wish harm to it, with all the hopes that are yet built upon the righteousness and conscience of the British statesmen and nation.

The whole duty and responsibility of bringing about this desired consummation lies upon the head and in the hands of the Indian authorities in England. It is no use screening themselves behind the fiction and excuse that the Viceroys and authorities in India are difficult to be got to do what they ought, or that they would do all that may be necessary. They neither can nor will do this. They cannot go against Acts of Parliament on the one hand, and, on the other, the pressure of European interests, and of European selfishness and guidance, is so heavy in India, that the Viceroys in their first years are quite helpless, and get committed to certain courses; and if, in time, any of them, happening to have sufficient strength of character and confidence in their own judgment, are likely to take matters in their own hands, and with any moral courage, to resist interests hostile or antagonistic to the good of the people, the end of their time begins to come near, their zeal and interest, begin to flag, and soon they go away, leaving India to roll up Sisyphus's stone again with a new Vicercy. It is the highest Indian authority here, the Secretary of State for India,

upon whom the responsibility wholly rests. He alone has the power, as a member of and with the weight of the British Cabinet, to guide the Parliament to acts worthy of the English character, conscience, and nation. The glory or disgrace of the British in India is in his hands. He has to make Parliament lay down, by clear legislation, how India shall be governed for India's good, or it is hopeless for us to look forward for any relief from our present material and moral destruction, and for future elevation.

Englishmen sometimes indulge the notion that England is secure in the division and disunion among the various races and nationalities of India. But even in this new forces are working their way. Those Englishmen who sleep such foolish sleep of security know very little of what is going on. kind of education that is being received by thousands of all classes and creeds is throwing them all in a similar mould; a sympathy of sentiment, ideas, and aspirations is growing amongst them; and, more particularly, a political union and sympathy is the first fruit of the new awakening, as all feel alike their deprivation and the degradation and destruction of their country. All differences of race and religion, and rivalry, are gradually sinking before this common cause. This beginning, no doubt, is at present insignificant; but it is surely and steadily progressing. Hindus, Mahomedans, and Parsees are alike asking whether the English rule is to be a blessing or a curse. Politics now engross their attention more and more. This is no longer a secret, or a state of things not quite open to those of our rulers who would see. It may be seen that there is scarcely any union among the different nationalities and races in any shape or ways of life, except only in political associations. In these associations they go hand in hand, with all the fervour and sympathy of a common cause. I would here touch upon a few incidents, little though they are, showing how nature is working in its own quiet way.

Dr. Birdwood has brought to the notice of the English public certain songs now being spread among the people of Western India against the destruction of Indian industry and arts. We may laugh at this as a futile attempt to shut out English machinemade cheaper goods against hand-made dearer ones. But little

do we think what this movement is likely to grow into, and what new phases it may take in time. The songs are at present directed against English wares, but they are also a natural and effective preparation against other English things when the time comes, if the English in their blindness allow such times to come. The songs are full of loyalty, and I have not the remotest doubt in the sincerity of that loyalty. But if the present downward course of India continue, if the mass of the people at last begin to despair of any amelioration, and if educated youths, without the wisdom and experience of the world, become their leaders, it will be but a very, very short step from loyalty to disloyalty, to turn the course of indignation from English wares to English rule. The songs will remain the same; one word of curse for the rule will supply the spark.

Here is another little incident with its own significance. The London Indian Society, a political body of many of the Native residents of London, had a dinner the other day, and they invited guests. The three guests were, one Hindu, one Mahomedan, and one Parsee. The society itself is a body representing nearly all the principal classes of India. It is small, and may be laughed at as uninfluential, and can do nothing. But it shows how a sympathy of political common cause is bringing the different classes together, and how, in time, such small seeds may grow into large trees. Every member of this little body is carrying back with him ideas which, as seeds, may produce crops, sweet or bitter, according to the cultivation they may receive at our rulers' hands.

I turn to one bright incident on the other side. True to their English nature and character, there are some Englishmen who try to turn the current of Native thought towards an appreciation of English intentions, and to direct English thought towards a better understanding of England's duty to India. The East India Association is doing this beneficent work, more especially by the fair and English character of its course of bringing about free and full discussion upon every topic and from every point of view, so that, by a sifting of the full expresssion of different views, truth may be elicited. Though yet little appreciated by the English public, the English members of this Association

are fulfilling the duty of patriotism to their own country and of benefaction towards India. How far their good efforts will succeed is yet to be seen. But they at least do one thing. These Englishmen, as well as public writers like Fawcett, Hyadman, Perry, Caird, Knight, Bell, Wilson, Wood, and others, violicate to India the English character, and show that when Englishmen as a body will understand their duty and responsibility, the Natives of India may fairly expect a conduct of which theirs is a sample—a desire, indeed, to act rightly by India. The example and earnestness of these Englishmen, though yet small their number keep India's hope alive—that England will produce a statesman who will have the moral courage and firmness to face the Indian problem, and do what the world should expect from England's conscience, and from England's mission to humanity.

I have thus touched upon a few incidents only to illustrate the various influences that are at work. Whether the result of all these forces and influences will be good or bad remains, as I have said, in the hands of the Secretary of State for India.

In my last paper I said the thinking Natives were as yet staunch in their loyalty to the British rule, as they were yet fully hopeful of the future from the general character and history of the English people. They believe that when the conscience of the English mation is awakened, it will not be long before India receives full and thorough redress for all she has been suffering. While thus hopeful of the future, it is desirable that our rulers should know and consider what, as to the past, is passing in many a thinking Native mind.

They are as grateful as any people can be for whatever real good of peace and order and education has been done for them, but they also ask what good, upon the whole, England has done to India. It is sadly poor, and increasing in poverty, both material and moral. They consider and bewail the unnatural treatment India has been receiving.

They dwell upon the strange contrast between the words and deeds of the English rulers: how often deliberate and solemn promises are made and broken. I need not here instance again what I have at some length shown in my papers on the Poverty of India * under the heading of "Non-Fulfilment of Solemn Promises."

I would refer here to one or two characteristic instances only. The conception for an Engineering College in London was no sooner formed than it became an accomplished fact; and Mr. Grant Duff, then Under-Secretary of State, in his place in Parliament, proclaimed what great boons "we" were conferring on the English people, but quite oblivious at whose sacrifices. It was an English interest, and the thing was done as quick as it was thought of. On the other hand, a clause for Native interests, proposed in 1867, took three years to pass, and in such a form as to be simply ineffectual. I asked Sir Stafford Northcote, at the time of the proposal, to make it some way imperative, but without effect. Again, after being passed after three years, it remained a dead letter for seven years more, and might have remained so till Doomsday for aught any of the Indian authorities cared. But, thanks to the persevering exertions of one of England's true sons, Sir Erskine Perry, some steps were at last taken to frame the rules that were required, and it is now, in the midst of a great deal of fine writing, making some, though very slow, progress. For such, even as it is, we are thankful; but greater efforts are necessary to stem the torrent of the drain. Turning to the Uncovenanted Service, Sir Stafford Northcote's despatch of 8th February, 1868, declared that Europeans should not be allowed in this service to override "the inherent rights of the Natives of the country." Now, in what spirit was this despatch treated till very lately? Was it not simply, or is it not even now, almost a dead letter?

In the matter of the load of the public debt of India, it is mainly due to the ware of the English conquests in India, and English wars abroad in the name of India. Not a farthing has been spent by England for its British Indian Empire. The burden of all England's wars in Asia has been thrown on India's shoulders.

In this book, pp. 90-125.

[†] The Duke of Argyll, as Secretary of State for India, said in his speech of 11th March, 1869, with regard to the employment of Natires in the Covenanted Service: "I must say that we have not fulfilled our duty, or the promises and engagements which we have made."

In the Abyssinian War, India narrowly and rightly escaped; and in the present Afghan War, her escape from whatever portion she may be saved is not less narrow. Though such is the character of nearly the whole of the public debt (excluding for public works), being caused by the actions by which England has become the mistress of a great Empire, and thereby the first nation in the world, she would not move her little finger to give India any such help as is within her power, without even any material sacrifice to herself—viz., that of guaranteeing this public debt, so that India may derive some little relief from reduced interest.

When English interests are concerned, their accomplishment is often a foregone conclusion. But India's interests always require long and anxious thought—thought that seldom begins, and when it does begin, seldom ends in any thorough good result. It is useless to conceal that the old, pure and simple faith in the honour and word of the English rulers is much shaken, and were it not for the faith in the conscience of the statesmen and people in this country, any hope of good by an alteration of the present British Indian policy would be given up.

The English rulers boast, and justly so, that they have introduced education and Western civilisation into India: but, on the other hand, they act as if no such thing had taken place, and as if all this boast was pure moonshine. Either they have educated, or have not. If they deserve the boast, it is a strange self-condemnation that after half-a-century or more of such efforts, they have not yet prepared a sufficient number of men fit for the service of their own country. Take even the Educational Department itself. We are made B.A.'s and M.A.'s and M.D.'s, etc., with the strange result that we are not yet considered fit to teach our countrymen. We must yet have forced upon us even in this department, as in every other, every European that can be squeezed in. To keep up the sympathy and connexion with the current of European thought, an English head may be appropriately and beneficially retained in a few of the most important institutions; but as matters are at present, all boost of aducation is exhibited as so much sham and delusion.

In the case of former foreign conquests, the invaders either retired with their plunder and booty, or became the rulers of the country. When they only plundered and went back, they made, no doubt, great wounds; but India, with her industry, revived and healed the wounds. When the invaders became the rulers of the country. they settled down in it, and whatever was the condition of their rule, according to the character of the sovereign of the day, there was at least no material or moral drain in the country. Whatever the country produced remained in the country; whatever wisdom and experience was acquired in her services remained among her own people. With the English the case is peculiar. There are the great wounds of the first wars in the burden of the public debt, and those wounds are kept perpetually open and widening, by draining away the lifeblood in a continuous stream. The former rulers were like butchers hacking here and there, but the English with their scientific scalpel out to the very heart, and yet, lo! there is no wound to be seen, and soon the plaster of the high talk of civilsation, progress, and what not, covers up the wound! The English rulers stand sentinel at the front door of India, challenging the whole world, that they do and shall protect India against all comers, and themselves carry away by a back-door the very treasure they stand sentinel to protect.

In short, had England deliberately intended to devise the best means of taking away India's wealth in a quiet continuous drain, without scandalising the world, she could not have hit upon a more effectual plan than the present lines of policy. A Viceroy tells us the people of India enjoy but scanty subsistence; and this is the outcome of the British rule.

^{*}Sir Stafford Northcote, in his speech in Parliament on 24th May, 1867, said:—"Nothing could be more wonderful than our Empire in India, but we ought to consider on what conditions we held it, and how our predecessors held it. The greatness of the Mogul Empire depended upon the liberal policy that was pursued by men like Akbar availing themselves of Hindu talent and assistance, and identifying themselves as far as possible with the people of the country. He thought that they ought to take a lesson from such circumstance, and if they were to do their duty towards India they could only discharge that duty by obtaining the assistance and counsel of all who were great and good in that country. It would be abourd in them to say that there was not a large fund of statesmanship and ability in the Indian character."—Times, of 25th May, 1867.

No doubt the exertions of individual Europeans at the time of famines may be worthy of admiration; the efforts of Government and the aid of the contributions of the British people to save life, deserve every gratitude. But how strange it is that the British rulers do not see that after all they themselves are the main cause of the destruction that ensues from droughts; that is the drain of India's wealth by them that lays at their own door the dreadful results of misery, starvation, and deaths of millions; England does not know famines, be the harvest however bad or scanty. She has the means of buying her food from the whole world. India is being unceasingly deprived of these means, and when famine comes the starving have to be taxed so much more to eave the dying.

England's conduct in India is in strange contrast with her conduct with almost any other country. Owing to the false groove is which she is moving, she does violence to her own best instincts. She sympathises with and helps every nationality that struggles for a constitutional representative Government. On the one hand, she is the parent of, and maintains, the highest constitutionalism; and, on the other, she exercises a clear and, though thoughtlessly, a despoiling deepotism in India, under a pseudo-constitutionalism, in the shape of the farce of the present Legislative Councils.

Of all countries in the world, if any one has the greatest claim on England's consideration, to receive the boons of a constitutional representative Government at her hands, and to have her people governed as England governs her own, that country is India, her most sacred trust and charge. But England, though she does everything she can for other countries, fights shy of, and makes some excuse or other to avoid, giving to the people of India their fair share in the legislation of their country. Now I do not mean to say that India can suddenly have a full-blown Parliament, and of such widespread representation as England enjoys. But has England made any honest efforts to gradually introduce a true representation of the people, excepting some solitary exceptions of partial Municipal representation? I need not dwell upon the present farce of the nomination system for the Legislative Couneils, and of the dummies that are sometimes nominated. I submit that a small beginning can be well made now. I would take the

Bombay Presidency as an instance. Suppose the present Legislative Council is extended to twenty-one members, thirteen of these to be nominated from officials and non-officials by the Government, and eight to be elected by the principal towns of the Presidency. This will give Government a clear majority of five. and the representative element, the minority, cannot do any harm. or hamper Government; in England, the majority determines the Government. In India, this cannot be the case at present, and so the majority must follow the Government. It would be. when something is extremely outrageous, that the minority would, by force of argument and truth, draw towards it the Government majority; and even in any such rare instance, all that will happen will be that Government will be prevented from doing any such outrageous things. In short, in such an arrangement, Government will remain all-powerful, as it must for a long time to come; while there will be also independent persons, actually representing the people, to speak the sentiments of the people; thereby giving Government the most important help, and relieving them from much responsibility, anxiety, and mistakes. The representative element in the minority will be gradually trained in constitutional Government. They will have no inducement to run wild with prospects of power; they will have to maintain the reasons of their existence and will, therefore, be actuated by caution and good sense. They can do no harm, but a vast amount of good, both to the Govern. ment and the governed. The people will have the satisfaction that their rulers were doing their duty, and endeavouring to raise them to their own civilisation.

There are in the Bombay Presidency the following towas of more than 50,000 population. Bombay having by far the largest, and with its importance as the capital of the Presidency, may be properly allowed three representatives.

The towns are-

Bombay, Poona, Ahmedabad, Surat, Karachi, Sholapore
 644,405 ... 116,886 ... 116,873 ... 107,149 ... 53,536 ... 53,403,

Thus, Bombay having three, the Gujerati division of the Presidency will be represented by Ahmedahad and Surat, the Maratha portion by Poons and Sholapore, and Sind by Karrachi

[•] Statistical Abstract of British India, 1879," page 21.

making altogether eight members, which will be a fair, though a small, representation to begin with. Government may with advantage adopt a larger number; all I desire and insist is, that there must be a fair representative element in the Councils. As to the qualifications of electors and candidates for election, Government is quite competent to fix upon some, as they did in the case of the Bombay Corporation, and such qualifications may from time to time he modified as experience may suggest. With this modification in the present Legislative Council, a great step will have been taken towards one of the greatest boons which asks and expects at England's hands. Without some such element of the people's voice in all the Legislative Councils, it is impossible for Englishmen, more and more estranged and isolated as they are becoming, to be able to legislate for India in the true spirit and feeling of her wants.

After having a glorious history of heroic struggles for constitutional Government, England is now rearing up a body of Englishmen in India, trained up and accustomed to despotism, with all the feelings of impatience, pride, and high-handedness of the despot becoming gradually ingrained in them, and with the additional training of the dissimulation of constitutionalism. Is it possible that such habits and training of despotism, with which Indian officials return from India, should not, in the course of time influence the English character and institutions? The English in India, instead of raising India, are hitherto themselves descending and degenerating to the lower level of Asiatic despotism. Is this a Nemesis that will in fulness of time show to them what fruit their conduct in India produced? It is extraordinary how nature may revenge itself for the present unnatural course of England in India if England, not yet much tainted by this demoralisation, does not, in good time, check this new leaven that is gradually fermenting among her people.

There is the opium trade. What a spectacle it is to the world!

In England, no statesman dares to propose that opium may be allowed to be sold in public houses at the corners of every street, in the same way as beer or spirits. On the contrary, Parliament as representing the whole nation, distinctly enacts that "opium and all preparations of opium or of 'poppies', as 'poisos', be sold

by certified chemists only, and every box, bottle, vessel, wrapper or cover in which such poison is contained, be distinctly labelled with the name of the article and the word 'poison', and with the name and address of the seller of the poison." And yet, at the other end of the world, this Christian, highly civilised, and humane England forces a "heathen" and "barbarous" Power to take this "poison," and tempts a vast human race to use it, and to degenerate and demoralise themselves with this "poison"! And why? Because India cannot fill up the remorseless drain; so China must be dragged in to make it up, even though it be by being "poisoned.'. It is wonderful how England reconciles this to her conscience. This opium trade is a sin ao England's head. a curse on India for her share in being the instrument. This may sound strange as coming from any Natives of India, as it is generally represented as if India it was that benefited by the opium trade. The fact simply is that as Mr. Duff said, India is nearly ground down to dust, and the opium trade of China fills up England's drain. India derives not a particle of benefit. All India's profits of trade, and several millions from her very produce (scanty as it is, and becoming more and more so), and with these all the profit of opium, go the same way of the drain-to England. Only India shares the curse of the Chinese race. Had this cursed opium trade not existed, India's miseries would have much sooner come to the surface, and relief and redress would have come to her long ago; but this trade has prolonged the agonies of India.

In association with this trade is the stigms of the Salt-tax upon the British name. What a humiliating confession to say that, after the length of the British rule, the people are in such a wretched plight that they have nothing that Government can tax, and that Government must, therefore, tax an absolute necessary of life to an inordinate extent! The slight flash of prosperity during the American War showed how the people of India would enjoy and spend when they have anything to enjoy and spend; and now, can anything be a greater condemnation of the results of British lines of policy than that the people have nothing to spend and enjoy, and pay tax on, but that they must be pinched and starved in a necessary of life?

The English are, and justly and gloriously, the greatest champions of liberty of speech. What a falling off must have taken place in their character when, after granting this boon to India, they should have even thought of withdrawing it! This act, together with that of disarming the people, is a clear confession by the rulers to the world that they have no hold as yet upon the affection and loyalty of the people, though in the same breacht they make every profession of their belief in the loyalty of the people. Now, which is the truth? And are gagging and disarming the outcome of a long benign rule?

Why do the English allow themselves to be so perpetually scared by the fears of Russian or any other foreign invasion? If the people of India be satisfied, if their hearts and hands be with England, she may defy a dozen Russias. On the other hand, do British statesmen think that, however sharp and pointed their bayonets, and however long-flying their bullets, they may not find the two hundred millions of the people of India her political Himalays to be pierced through, when the present political union among the different peoples is more strengthened and consolidated?

There is the stock argument of over-population. They talk, and so far truly, of the increase by British peace, but they quite forget the destruction by the British drain. They talk of the pitiless operations of economic laws, but somehow they forget that there is no such thing in India as the natural operation of economic laws. It is not the pitiless operations of economic laws, but it is the thoughtless and pitiless action of the British policy; it is the pitiless eating of India's substance in India, and the further pitiless drain to England; in short, it is the pitiless perversion of economic laws by the sad bleeding to which India is subjected, that is destroying India. Why blame poor Nature when the fault lies at your own door? Let natural and economic laws have their full and fair play, and India will become another England, with manifold greater benefit to England herself than at present.

As long as the English do not allow the country to produce what it can produce, as long as the people are not allowed to enjoy what they can produce, as long as the English are the very party on their trial, they have no right, and are not competent, to

give an opinion whether the country is over-populated or not. In fact, it is absurd to talk of over-population—i. e., the country's incapability, by its food or other produce, to supply the means of support to its people—if the country is unceasingly and forcibly deprived of its means or capital. Let the country keep what it produces, for only then can any right judgment be formed whether it is over-populated or not. Let England first hold hands off India's wealth, and then there will be disinterestedness in, and respect for, her judgment. The present cant of the excuse of over-population is adding a distressful insult to agonising injury. To talk of over-population at present is just as reasonable as to cut off a man's hands, and then to taunt him that he was not able to maintain himself or more his hands.

When persons talk of the operation of economic laws they forget the very first and fundamental principles. Says Mr. Mill, "Industry is limited by capital." "To employ industry on the land is to apply capital to the land." "Industry cannot be employed to any greater extent than there is capital to invest." "There can be no more industry than is supplied by materials to work up, and food to eat; yet in regard to a fact so evident, it was long continued to be believed that laws and Governments, without creating capital, could create industry." And while Englishmen are sweeping away this very capital, they raise up their hands and wonder why India cannot have industry.

The English are themselves the head and front of the offending, and yet they taik of over-population, and every mortal irrelevant thing but the right cause—viz., their own drain of the material and moral wealth of the country.

The present form of relations between the paramount Power, and the Princes of India is un-English and iniquitous. Fancy a people, the greatest champions of fair play and justice, having a system of political agency by which, as the Princes say, they are stabbed in the dark; the Political Agents making secret reports, and the Government often acting thereon, without a fair enquiry or explanation from the Princes. The Princes, therefore, are always in a state of alarm as to what may befall them unawares. If the British authorities deliberately wished to adopt a method by which the Princes should always remain alarmed and irritated, they

could not have hit upon a more effective one than what exists. If these Princes can feel assured that their treaty rights will be always honourably and faithfully observed, that there will be no constant nibbling at their powers, that it is not the ulterior policy of the British to pull them down gradually to the position of mere nobles of the country, as the Princes at present suspect and fear. and if a more just and fair mode of political agency be adopted, I have not the least hesitation in saying that, as much from self-interest alone as from any other motive, these Princes will prove the greatest bulwark and help to perpetuate British supremacy in India. It stands to reason and common sense that the Native Princes clearly understand their interest, that by a power like the British only, with all the confidence it may command by its fairness as well as strength, can they be saved from each other and even from themselves. Relieved of any fear from the paramount Power, they will the more readily listen to counsels of reform which they much need. The English can then exercise their salutary influence in advising and helping them to root out the old corrupt regimes, and in making them and their courtiers to understand that power was not self-aggrandizement, but responsibility for the good of the people. I say, from personal conversation with some of the Princes, that they thoroughly understand their interest under the protection of the present paramount Power.

It is nacless for the British to compare themselves with the past Native rulers. If the British do not show themselves to be vastly superior in proportion to their superior enlightcument and civilisation, if India does not prosper and progress under them far more largely, there will be no justification for their existence in India. The thoughtless past drain we may consider as our misfortune, but a similar future will, is plain English, be deliberate plunder and destruction.

I do not repeat here several other views which I have already expressed in my last memorandum.

I have thus given a general sketch of what is passing in many Natives' minds on several subjects. It is useless and absurd to remind us constantly that once the British flat brought order out of chaos, and to make that an everlasting excuse for subsequent shortcomings and the material and moral impoverishment of the country. The Natives of the present day have not seen that chaos, and do not feel it; and though they understand it, and very thankful they are for the order brought, they see the present drain, distress and destruction, and they feel it and bewail it.

By all means let Englishmen be proud of the past. We accord them every credit for the order and law they brought about, and are deeply thankful to them; but let them now face the present, let them clearly realise, and manfully acknowledge, the many short-comings of omission and commission by which, with the best of intentions, they have reduced India to material and moral wretchedness; and let them, in a way worthy of their name and history, repair the injury they have inflicted. It is fully in their power to make their rule a blessing to India, and a benefit and a glory to England, by allowing India her own administration, under their superior controlling and guiding hand; or, in their own oft-repeated professions and words, "by governing India for India's good."

May the God of all nations lead the English to a right sense of their duty to India, is my humble and earnest prayer.

DADABHAI NAOROJI.

APPENDIX F.

MEMORANDUM ON A FEW SETTLEMENTS

IN THE

REPORT OF THE INDIAN FAMINE COMMISSION, 1880.*

Part II., Chapter I., Section VII. treats of Incidence of Taxa-

I submit that the section is fallacious, gives an erroneous notion of the true state of the matter, and is misleading.

We shall see what the reality is.

The income of a country consists of two parts-

The internal total annual material production of the country (Agricultural, Manufactures, Mines and Fisheries).

2. The external annual profits of Foreign Trade.

There is no other source of income beyond these two, excepting, in the case of British India, the tributes, and contributions of Native States of about £700,000.

The incidence of taxation of any country means that a certain amount or portion is taken out of this income for purposes of Government. Call this portion revenue, tax, rent, service, contributions, blessing, curse or by any name from A to Z in the English vocabulary. The fact simply is, that the country has to give a certain proportion out of its income for purposes of Government. Every farthing that the country has thus to contribute for Covernment, has to be produced, or earned from Foreign trade, or, in other words, has to be given from the annual income. No portion of it is rained down from heaven, or produced by some magic by the Government of the country. The £24,000,000 which the Commissioners call "other than taxation," do not come down from the heavens, nor are to be obtained from any other source than the annual income of the country, just the same as what they call taxation proper. And so also what the Commissioners call "rent," with regard to the revenue derived from land,

Whatever plans, wise or unwise, a Government adopt of distributing the incidence of the revenue among different classes of people; from whatever and how-many-soever different sources, Government may obtain its revenue; by whatever hundred-and-one names may these different items of revenue be called; - the sum

^{*} Submitted to the Secretary of State for Judie, Jan. 1881.

total of the whole matter is, that out of the annual income of the country, a certain portion is raised for the purposes of Government, and the real incidence of this revenue in any country, is the proportion it bears to the actual annual income of the country, call the different modes of raising this revence what you like.

Now England raises at present for purposes of Government about £83,000,000. The income of the United Kingdom is well-nigh £1,000,000% a year. The proportion therefore of the revenue of £83,000,000 or even £84,000,000, is about $8\frac{1}{2}$ per cent out of the annual income.

Now India's income, as I have first roughly shown in 1870 in my paper on the Wants and Means of India, and subsequently in my papers on the Poverty of India, is hardly £300,000,000 per annum. This statement has not been refuted by anybody. On the contrary, Mr. Grant Duff, though cautiously, admitted in his speech in 1871, is these words:—"The income of British India has been guessed at £30,000,000 per annum." And Lord Mayo quoted Mr. Grant Duff's speech soon after, without any contradiction, but rather with approval. If the fact be otherwise, let Government give the correct fact every year. Out of this income of £300,000,000, the revenue raised in India for purposes of Government is £60,000,000 or very near 22 per cent.

Thus, then, the actual heaviness of the weight of revenue on India, is quite 2½ times as much as that ou England. This is the simple fact, that out of the grand income of £1.000,000,000—of only 34.000,000 of population, England raises for the purposes of Government only 6½ per cent., while out of the poor, wretched income of £300,000,000 of a population of nearly 200,000,000—two-and-a-half times more, or nearly 22 per cent., are raised in India for the same purpose, and yet people coolly and cruelly write that India is lightly taxed. It must be further realised, what this disproportionate pressure, upon a most prosperous and wealthy community like that of England, and the most wretched, and poverty and famine-stricken people of India, means. To the one, it is not a feablite, to the other, it is starration and death of millions, under their present unnatural treatment. For, this is not all. A far deeper and worse depth lies behind.

Let me then once more repeat that out of the grand income of £1,000,000,000 a year, England gives only 6½ per cent. for Government purposes, while out of the wretched poverty of India of an income of £300,000,000—she gives 22 per cent. for the purposes of

The Westminster Recieu of January 1876 gives the National production for 1875 of the United Kingdom as £22 per head of population. I do not know whether profits of trade are included in this amount. Mr. Grant Duff, in 1871, to the Levi County of the rounder £30 per head of population. The population is above 34,000,000,—which, at £22, gives £302,000,000.

Government. Now comes the worst evil of the whole, to which English writers, with few exceptions, always shut their eyes.

Of the £83,000,000 of revenue, which is raised in England, every farthing returns in some shape or other to the people themselves. Is fact, England pays with one hand, and receives back with the other. And such is the case in every country on the face of the earth, and so it must be—but poor India is doomed otherwise. Out of the £65,000,000, taken out of her wretched income, some £30,000,000 or £40,000,000 are never returned to the people, but are eaten up in the country, and taken away out of the country, by those who are not the people of the country—by England, is short. I pass over this mournful topic here, as I have to refer to it again further on.

I may be taken to task, that I am making a very indefinite statement, when I talk of "some £30,000,000 or £40,000,000-as being eaten up and taken away by England." The fault is not mine, but that of Government. In 1873, Sir D. Wedderburn moved for a return for the number, salaries, &c., of all the services. The return was ordered in July 1873. It is now past 7 years, but has not been made. Again 1879—Mr. Bright moved for returns (salaries, &c., 19th June '79) and Sir D. Wedderburn moved for returns (East India Services-20th and 23rd June, 79) and (East India Services-24th June '79). These returns have not yet been made. I hope they are being prepared. When these returns are made, we shall know definitely and clearly what the amount is, that, out of the revenue of £65,000,000, does not at all return to the people of India, but is eaten up in, and carried away from, India every year, by England. Such returns ought to be made every year. Once it is made, the work of succeeding years will be only the alterations or revision for the year, or revised estimates every 2 or 3 years even will do. To Government itself, a return like this will be particularly useful. They will then act with clear light, instead of groping in darkness as at present, and though actuated with the best of intentions, still inflicting upon India untold misfortune and miseries. And it will then see, how India, of all other countries in the world, is subjected to a most unnatural and destructive treatment.

The next Sections VIII. and IX, on Trade and Railways, are pervaded with the same fallacies as those of Mr. Danvers's Memo. of 28th June, 1880, and to which I replied with my letter of 13th September, 1880. I, therefore, do not go over the same ground here again. I need only refer to one statement, the last sentence of pars. 4 of Section VIII:—

"As to the other half of the excess, which is due to the cost of English Administration, there can hardly be room for doubt that it is to the advantage of India, to pay the sum really secesary to secure its peaceful government, without which, no progress

would be possible; and so long as this condition is not violated, it does not seem material whether a part of the charge has to be met in England or not."

A statement, more wrong in its premises and conclusion, can hardly be met with. Let us see.

By "the other half of the excess" is meant £8,000,000.

The Commissioners tell the public that India pays £8,000,000 for securing peaceful government. This is the fiction. What are the facts?

England, of all nations on the face of the earth, enjoys the utmost security of life and property of every kind, from a strong and peaceful Government. For this, England "pays" £83,000,000 a year.

In the same manner, India "pays" not £8,000,000, but £65,000,000 for the same purpose, and should be able and willing to "pay" twice or thrice £65,000,000, under natural circumstances, similar to those of England.

Thus, England "pays" £83,000,000 and India "pays" £65,000,000 for purposes of peaceful Government. But here the parallel ends, and English writers, with very few exceptions, fight of going beyond this point, and mis-state the matter as is done in the above extract. Let us see what is beyond.

Of the £83,000,000 which England "pays" for security of life and property, or peaceful Government, every farthing returns to the people themselves. It is not even a fleable or any bite to the people of England that they "poy" £83,000,000 for peaceful Government. They simply give with one hand and receive back with the other. The country and the people enjoy the full benefit of every farthing they either produce in the country or earn with foreign trade.

But with India, the fact is quite otherwise. Out of the £65,000,000 which she "pays" like England for peaceful government, £30,000,000 or £40,000,000 do not return to the people of the country. These £30,000,000 or £40,000,000 are eaten up in the country, and carried away from the country, by a foreign people. The people of India are thus deprived of this enormous amount, year after year, and are, as a natural consequence, weakened more and more every year is their capacity for production, or, in plain words, India is being simply destroyed.

The romance is, that there is security of life and property in India. The reality is, that there is no such thing.

There is security of life and property in one sense or way, i.e., the people are secure from any violence from each other or from native despots. So far, there is real security of life and property, and for which India never denies her gratitude. But from England's own grasp, there is no security of property at all, and as a consequence no security for life. India's property is not secure.

What is secure and well secure is, that England is perfectly safe and secure, and does so with perfect security, to carry away from Iudia and to eat up in India, her property at the present rate of some £30,000,000 or £40,000,000 a year.

The reality therefore is, that the policy of English rule as it is (not as it can and should be), is an everlasting, unceasing and every-day-increasing foreign invasion, utterly, though gradually, destroving the country. I venture to aubmit, that every right-minded Englishman, calmly and seriously considering the problem of the present condition and treatment of India by England, will come to this conclusion.

The old invaders came with the avowed purposes of plundering the wealth of the country. They plundered and went away, or conquered and became the natives of the country. But the great misfortune of India is that England did not mean, or wish, or come with the intention of plundering, and yet events have taken a course which has made English the worst foreign invader she has had the misfortune to have. India does not get a moment to breaths or revive. 'More Europeans,' 'more Europeans,' is the eternal cry, and this very report itself of the Commission is not free from it.

The present position of England in India has, moreover, produced another most deplorable evil, from which the worst of old foreign isvasions was free. That with the deprivation of the vital, material blood of the country, to the extent of £30,000,000 or £40,000,000 a year, the whole higher "wisdom" of the country is also carried away.

I therefore venture to submit, that India does not enjoy security of her property and life, and also moreover, of "know-ledge" or "wisdom." To millions in India, life is simply "half-feeding" or starvation, or famines and disease.

View the Indian problem from any point you like, you come back again and again to this central fact, that England takes from India every year £30,000,000 or £40,000,000 worth of her property with all the lamentable consequences from such a loss, and with a continuous diminution of the capacity of India for production, together with the moral loss of all higher wisdom.

India would be quite able and willing to "pay," as every other country, or as England "paya," for peaceful Government. But no country on the face of the earth can stand the deprivation of property that India is subjected to, without being crushed to death.

Suppose England were subjected to such a condition at the hand of some foreign power; and would she not to a man clamour, that far better would they fly at each other's throat, have strifes in streets of civil wars, or fights in fields for foreign wars, with all the chances of fame or fortune on survival, than to submit to the inglorious, miserable deaths from poverty and famines, with wretch-

edness and disease in case of survival. I have no hesitation in appealing to any Englishman to say, which of the two deaths he would prefer, and I shall not have to wait long for the reply.

What is property worth to India, which she can only call her own in name, but not in reality, and which her own children cannot enjoy? What is life worth to her that must perish by millions at the very touch of drought or distress, or can have only a half-

starving existence?

The confusion and fallacy in the extract I have given above, therefore, consists in this. It is not that India pays for peaceful Government some £8,000,000. She pays for it £65,000,000, just as England pays £84,000,000. But there is one feature She needs British wise and beneficent peculiar to India. guidance and supervision. British aid of this kind can, under any circumstances, be but from outside the Indian family, i.e., foreign. This aid must be reasonably paid for by India. Now, if the whole foreign agency of European men and materials, required under the direct and indirect control of Government, both in India and England, in every shape or form, be clearly laid down, to be confined within the limit of a fixed "foreign list" of say £5,000,000, or even say £8,000,000, though very much, which the Commissioners ask India should pay; India could very probably pay, without being so destroyed as at present. But the present thoughtless and merciless exhaustion of some £30,000,000, or £40,000,000, or may be even much more, is crushing, cruel, and destructive.

In fact, leaving the past alone as a misfortune, the continuance of the present drain will be, in plain English, nothing less than plunder of an unceasing foreign invasion, and not a reasonable price for a beneficent rule, as the Commissioners wrongly and

thoughtlessly endeavour to persuade the public.

The great misfortune of India is that the temptation or tendency towards selfishness and self-aggrandisement of their own countrymen, is too great and blinding for Englishmen (with few exceptions) connected with India, to see that power is a sacred trust and responsibility for the good of the people. We have this profession to any amount, but unless and till the conscience of England, and of English honest thinkers and statesmen, is awakened, the performance will remain poor or nil as at present.

Lord Ripon said—India needs rest More true words cannot be spoken. Yes—she needs rest—rest from the present unceasing and eyer-increasing foreign invasion, from whose unceasing blows

she has not a moment allowed to breathe.

I said before that even this Famine Report was not free from the same clamour, "more Europeans, more Europeans."

Whenever any question of reform arises, the only remedy that suggests itself to English officials' minda, ia, "apply more European leeches, apply more European leeches!"

The Commission suggests the institution of an Agricultural Department, and a very important suggestion it is. But they soon forget that it is for India this is required, and that it is at India's expense it has to be done, that it is from India's wretched income, has this expenditure to be provided, and that India cannot afford to have more blood sucked out of her for more Europeans, and deprive so much her own children; in short, that native agency under a good English head or two, would be the most natural and proper agency for the purpose. No, prostrate as India is, and for which very reason, the Commission was appointed to suggest a remedy, they can only say, "more Europeans"-as if no such thing as a people existed in India.

Were any Englishman to make such a proposal for England,that French or German youths be instructed at England's expense, and that such youths make up the different public departments, he would be at once scouted and laughed at. And yet, these Commissioners thoughtlessly and seriously suggest and recommend to aggravate the very evil for which they were expected to suggest a

remedy.

I appeal most earnestly to His Lordship, the Secretary of State for India, that though the department suggested by the Commissioners is very important, His Lordship would not adopt the mode which the Commissioners have suggested with good intentions, but with thoughtlessness, about the rights and needs of India. That with the exception of some thoroughly qualified necessary Europeans at the head, the whole agency ought to be native, on the lines described by the Commissioners. There can be no lack of natives of the kind required, or it would be a very poor compliment indeed to the Educational exertions of the English rulers during the past half-a-century.

A new danger is now threatening India. Hitherto India's wealth above the surface of the land has been draining away to England. Now the wealth under the surface of the land, will also be taken away, and India lies prostrate and unable to belp herself, England has taken away her capital. That same capital will be brought to take away all such mineral wealth of the country as requires application of large capital and expensive machinery, With the exception of the employment of the lower classes of boddly and mental labourers, the larger portion of the produce will, in several shapes, be eaten up and earried away by the Europeans, first as servants and next in profits and dividends, and poor India will have to thank her stars, that she will get some crumbs, in the lower employments of her children. And great will be the sounding of trumpets of the wealth found in India, and the blessings conferred on India, just as we have sickeningly dinned into our sura, day after day, about Railways, Foreign Trade, &c.

Now, this may sound very strange, that knowing full well the

benefits of foreign capital to any country, I should complain of its going to India.

There is, under present circumstances, one great difference in the modes in which English capital goes to every other country and India. To every other country, English capitalists lend, and there is an end of their connection with the matter. The people of the country use and enjoy the benefit of the capital in every way, and pay to the expitalists their interest or dividend, and as some capitalists know to their cost, not even that. But, with India, the case is quite different. English capitalists do not merely lend, but with their capital, they themselves invade the country. The produce of the capital is mostly eaten up by their own countrymen, and after that, they carry away the rest in the shape of profits and dividends. The people themselves of the country do not derive the same benefit which is derived by every other country from English capital. The Guaranteed Railways, not only ate up everything in this manner, but campelled India to make up the guaranteed interest also from her produce. The remedy then was adopted of making State Railways. Now under the peculiar circumstances of India's present prestration, Stateworks would be, no doubt, the best means of securing to India the benefits of Figlish capital. But the mi-fortune is that the same canker cats into the State-works also, -- the same eating up of the substance by European employés. The plan by which India can be really benefited would be, that all kinds of public works or mines, or all works, that require capital, be undertaken by the State, with English capital and scatter agency, with some thoroughly competent Europeans at the head, as may be absolutely Decertaly.

Supposing that there was even extravagance or loss, Government making up any deficiency of the interest of the loans from general revenue, will not matter much, though there is reason why, with proper care, a native agency cannot be formed good enough for efficient and economic working. Anyhow, in such a case, the people of India will then really derive the benefit of English capital, as every other ecuntry does, with the certainty of English capitalists getting their interest from the Government, who have complete control over the revenues of India, and can without fail provide for the interest.

For some time, therefore, and till India, by a change in the present destructive policy of heavy European agency, has revived and is able to help herself in a free field, it is necessary that all great undertakings which India herself is unable to carry out for developing the resources of the country, should be undertaken by the btate, but carried out chieft of nature agency, and by preparing natives for the purposa. Then will India recover her blood from every direction. India seriely needs the aid of English capital. But it is English capital that she needs and not the English

invasion, to come also and eat up both capital and produce.

As things are taking their course at present with regard to the gold mines, if they prove successful, great will be the trumpeting of India's wealth being increased, while it will all be being carried away by England.

In the United States the people of the country enjoy all the benefits of their mines and public works with English capital, and pay to England her fair interest; and in cases of failures of the schemes, while the people have enjoyed the benefit of the capital, sometimes both capital and interest are gone. The schemes fail, and the lenders of capital may lament, but the people have enjoyed

the capital and the produce as far as they went.

I have no doubt that in laying my views plainly before the Secretary of State, my motives or sentiments towards the British rule will not be misunderstood. I believe that the result of the British rule can be a blessing to India and a glory to England,-a result worthy of the foremost and most humans nation on the face of the earth. I desire that this should take place, and I therefore lay my humble views before our rulers without shrinking. It is no pleasure to me to dwell incessantly on the wretched, heart-rending, blood-boiling condition of India. None will rejoice more than myself if my views are proved to be mistaken. The sum-total of all is, that without any such intention or wish, and with every desire for the good of India, England has, in reality, been the most disastrous and destructive foreign invader of India, and under present lines, unceasingly and every day increasingly continues to be so. This unfortunate fact is to be boldly faced by England; and I am sanguine that, if once England realises this position, she would recoil from it and vindicate to the world her great mission of Humanity and Civilization among mankind. I am writing to English gentlemen, and I have no fear but that they would receive my sincere utterances with the generosity and love of justice of English gentlemen.

In concluding these remarks, I feel bound to say that as for as I can judge from Mr. Caird's separate paper on the condition of India, he appears to have realised the abnormal economical condition of India, and I cannot but feel the true English manliness and moral courage he has displayed, that, though he went out an avowed defender of the Indian Government, he spoke out his convictions, and what he saw within his opportunities. India meeds the help of such manly, conscientious, true-hearted English gentlemen to study and probe her forlorn condition, and India may then fairly hope for ample redress ere long, at England's hands

-: 0 :-

and conscience.

Essays on Indian Art, Industry & Education. By E. B. HAVELL.

Late Principal, Government School of Art, Calcutta.

Author of "Indian Sculpture and Painting," etc.

EXTRACTS FROM THE PREFACE.

The various Essays on Indian Art, Industry, and Education which are here reprinted, though mostly written some years ago, all deal with questions which continue to possess a living interest. The superstitions which they attempt to dispel still loom largely in popular imagination, and the reforms they advocate still remain to be carried out.

CONTENTS:—The Taj and Its Designers, The Revival of Indian Handicraft, Art and Education in India, Art and University Reform in India, Indian Administration and 'Swadeshi' and The Uses of Art. Crown 8vo, 200 pp.

Price Rs. 1-4. To Subscribers of the "Review," Re. L.

AGRICULTURAL INDUSTRIES IN INDIA.

BY SEEDICK R. SAYANI.

WITH AN INTRODUCTION BY

SIR VITALDHAS DAMODAR THACKERSEY.

CCNTENTS:—Agriculture; Rice; Wheat; "Cotton; Sugar-Cane; Jute; Oilseeds; Acacia; Wattle Barks; Sunn Hemp; Camphor; Lemon-Grass Oil; Ramie; Rubber; Minor Products; Potatoes; Fruit Trade; Lac Industry; Tea and Coffee; Tobacco; Fruit Trade; Lac Industry; Tea and Coffee; Tobacco; Manures; Subsidiary Industrye; Floriculture; Cattle-Farming; Diary Industry; Poultry-Raising; An Appeal.

bir. Vitaldhas Thackersey vrites :-

Mr. S. R. Savani, I think, has given valuable information regarding the present state and future possibilities of the principal cultivated crops of India.

Price Re. One.

To Subscribers of "The Indian Review," As. 13.

G. A. NATESAN & CO., ESPLANADE, MADRAS

THE INDIAN NATIONAL CONGRESS.

An Account of Its Origin and Its Growth-Full Text of all the Presidential Addresses. Reprint of all the Congress Resolutions. Extracts from all the Welcome Addresses. Notable Utterances on the Movement. Portraits of all the Congress Presidents.

This is an exhaustive and complete Collection of all the Congress Presidential Addresses and the Resolutions passed at the sittings of all the Congresses. The book also contains extracts from the Welcome Addresses delivered at all the Congresses and several Notable Utterances on the Congress Movement by men like the late Charles Bradlaugh, Robert Knight, Sir William Hunter, Mr. Justin McCarthy, Sir Richard Garth, Lord Cromer, Sir Charles Dilke and others. An attractive feature of the book is a collection of the portraits of all the Congress Presidents Cloth Bound, Over 1,100 pp. Crown 8vo. Price Its, 3. To Subscribers of the "Review", Rs. 2-8.

The "Friends of India" Series.

This is a new Series of short biographical sketches of eminent men who have laboured for the good of India, which the Publishers venture to think will be a welcome addition to the political and historical literature of the country. These biographies are so written as to form a gallery of portraits of permanent interest to the student as well as to the politician.

Copious extracts from the speeches and writings of the "Friends of India" on Indian Affairs are given in the Sketches. Each Volume has a frontispiece and is priced at As. 4 a copy.

READY.

Lord Morley, Lord Ripon, Mrs. Annie Bennt. (In preparation.)

Lord Minto. Edmund Burke. Charles Bradlaugh. John Bright. Heary Fawcett. Sir William Wedderburn. Mr. A. O. Hume, Sir Heary Cotton and Others.

G. A. NATESAN & CO., ESPLANADE, MADRAS.

THE BHAGAVAD-GITA

THE LORD'S SONG.

With the text in Devanagari & an English Translation.

BY MRS. ANNIE BESANT.

Note.—It has long been my ambition to place within reach of the English-reading public a cheap edition of the Bhagavad-Gitle with the text in Devanagari and an English translation of the same. Mrs. Annie Besant, that warm and tried friend of India whose services to our land it were vain to count, has enabled me to realise that ambition by generously granting the use of her English translation. It is devoutly hoped that this great seripture of the Hindus will find a place in thousands of homes both in India and elsewhere.—G. A. NATESAN.

Price per copy, As. 2 Two only.

When ordering mention the number of copies.

De Stamps will not be received.

LIGHT ON LIFE.

A Selection of Five Spiritual Discourses by

BABA PREMANAND BHARATI.

CONTENTS: -The Real Life; Have You Loved; Do We Live; Thought Force; Sages; Saints and Sons of God.

Price As. 8. To Subscribers of the "Review," As. 6.

NATION-BUILDING, A Stirring Appeal to Indiana. Suggestions for the Building of the Indian Nation. Education as the Basis of National Lifa. National Universities for India. By Mrs. Annis Besant. Second Edition. Annas Two.

HAND-BOOK OF CRIMINAL LAW.-By N. K. Ramaswami Aiyah, B.A., B.L. Ra. 2

HAND-BOOK OF CIVIL LAW. By N. K. Ramaswami Aiyah, A.A., R.L. Third Edition. Revised and Enlarged. 41d pp. Rs. 2.

G. A. NATESAN & CO., ESPLANADE, MADRAS,

Aspects of the Vedanta 5

CONTENTS:

The Vedanta-Some Reasons for Study.

The Late Mr. N. Vythinetha Aiyar, M. A.

Veda and the Vedania.

The Late Prof. Max Müller.

Vedanta Toward All Religions. Swami Abhedananda.

The Vedanta in Outline.

Pandit Sitanath Tattvabhushan.

The Vedanta Religion.
Professor M. Rangachariar, M. A.

The Ethics of the Vedanta.

The Late Mr. N. Vythinatha Aiyar, M.A.
Rao Bahadur Vasudeva J. Kirtikar.

The Philosophy of the Vedanta. Dr. Paul Deussen.

The Vedanta Philosophy.
Swami Vivekananda.

The Veilantic Doctrine of the Future Life. Pandit Sitanath Tattvabhushan.

The Vedanta: Its Theory and Practice.

Swami Saradananda.

The Vedanta for the World, Swami Vivekananda.

PHICE AS. 12

To Subscribers of the Indian Leview, As. 8.

The Annual Subscription to the "INDIAN REVIEW" is Re. 5 (five). Subscription can commune from any month. Any one, who wishes to buy books at the reduced rates, must remit Rs. 5, one year's subscription to the "Review," in advance. Send a

g. A. NATESAN & CO., ESPLANADE, MADRAS,

SRI SANKARACHARYA

HIS LIFE AND TIMES.

BY C. N. KRISHNASWAMI AIYAR, M.A., L.T.

HIS PHILOSOPHY.

BY PANDIT SITANATH TATTVABHUSHAN, Price As. 12, To Subscribers of the "Review," As. 8,

Sri Madhwa * Madhwaism

A HISTORICAL AND CRITICAL SKETCH.

By C. N. KRISHNASWAMY AIYAR, M.A., L.T. Price As. 12. To Subscribers of the "Review," As. 8.

SRI RAMANUJACHARYA

HIS LIFE AND TIMES.

By 8. KRISHNASWAMI AIYANGAR, M.A. HIS PHILOSOPHY.

By T. RAJAGOPALACHARIAR, M.A., B.L. Price As. 12. To Subscribers of the "Review," As. S.

REVIEW" is Bs. 5 (five) Subscription can commence from any month. Any one, who wishes to buy books at the reduced rates, must remit Rs. 5, one year's subscription to the "Review," in advance. Send a postage stamp for As. Two for a free specimen copy.

G. A. NATESAN & CO., ESPLANADE, MADRAS.

Swami Vivekananda.

AN EXHAUSTIVE & COMPREHENSIVE COLLECTION OF

HIS SPEECHES AND WRITINGS.

This publication is the first of its kind. It is the first exhaustive and comprehensive collection of the works of Swami Vivekananda hitherto published. It contains, among others, his eloquent character-sketch of "My Master"; his celebrated lecture at the great Parliament of Religions at Chicago; all the important and valuable speeches delivered in England, America and India on Gnana Yoga, Bhakti Yoga, Karma Yoga, Vedanta, and Hinduism; Selection from the inspiring speeches he gave in reply to Addresses of Welcome that were presented to him at different towns and cities in India, during his historic journey from Colombo to Almors, on his return from America; a choice collection of the contributions of the Swami to various papers and periodicals hitherto not available in book form; some of his private letters to friends; and a selection from his poems.

DETAILED CONTENTS.—My Master; Hinduism as a Religion; Reply to the Addresses of Congratulations from Madras and Colcutta; The Ideal of Universal Religion; God in Everything; Immortality; Is the Soul Immortal; The Preedom of the Soul; Maya and Illusion; Maya and the Conception of God; Maya and Preedom; The Real and the Apparent Man; The Absolute and Manifestation; Unity in Diversity; The Cosmos; The Macrocosm; Realization; Karma-Yoga; Metaphysics in India; Re-incarnation; Bhakti or Devetion; Vedanta; The Vedanta in Indian Life; The Mission of the Vedanta; The Sages of India; Christ: The Messenger; The Relation of Buddhism to Hinduism; The True Method of Social Reform; The Reform of Caste; Education on National Lines; The Conquest of the World by Indian Thought; The Himalayas; Max Müller: A Vedantist; Japan Poems. Contains also Four Portraits. PRICE ES. 2

To Subscribers of the "Review", Rs. 1-8.

G. A. NATESAN & CO., ESPLANADE, MADRAS.

M. K. GALDHI: A GREAT INDIAN.

This is a Sketch of the Life of Mr. M. K. Gandhi, one of the most eminent and self-sacrificing men that Modern India has produced. It describes the early days of Mr. M. K. Gandhi's life, his mission and work in South Africa, his character, his strivings, and his hopes. A perusal of this Sketch, together with the selected speeches and addresses that are appended, gives a peculiar insight into the springs of action that have impelled this remarkable and saintly man to surrender every material thing in life for the sake of an ideal that he ever essays to realise, and will be a source of inspiration to those who understand that statesmenship, moderation, and selflessness are the greatest qualities of a patriot. The Sketch contains an illuminating investigation into the true nature of passive resistance by Mr. Gandhi, which may be taken as an authoritative expression of the spirit of the South African struggle. (With a portrait of Mr. Gandhi.)

Price As. Four.

THE INDIANS OF SOUTH AFRICA.

Helots within the Empire! How they are Treated.

By H. S. L. Polak, Editor "Indian Opinion."

This book is the first extended and authoritative description of the Indian Colonists of South Africa, the treatment accorded to them by their European fellow-colonists, and their many grievances. The First Part is devoted to a detailed examination of the disabilities of Indiane in Natal, the Transvaal, the Orange River Colony, the Cape Colony, Southern Rhodesia, and the Pertuguese Province of Mozambique. Part II. entitled "A Transvay of Empire," describes the terrible struggle of the last three years in the Transvaal, and contains an appeal to the people of India. To these are added a number of valuable appendices.

Price Re. L. To Subscribers of the "Review," As. 12.

G.A. NATESAN & CO., ESPLANADE, MADRAS.

A Fragment On Education.

BY J. NELSON FRASER, M.A. (Ozm.),

Principal, Secondary Training College, Bombay.

CONTENTS:—Theory and Practice; The Ideals of Education; Psychology; Childhood and Boyhood; Youth and Manhood; What is Education? The Training of the Intellect; Trainings of the Feelings; The Training of the Creative Power: Moral Training; Guilt and Punishment; The Sexual Life at School; The Private-Hours of Boys; The Teacher and His Pupils; Teaching as a Profession; Education and the Individual; Education and Society; The Unsolved Problems of Education; Examinations and Cramming; The Training of Teachers; The Teaching of Science; The Importance of Little Things; The English Public Schools.

Price Pe. 1. To Subscribers of the "Review," As. 12.

MORLEY'S INDIAN SPEECHES.

CONTENTS:—Indian Budget Speech for 1906. Indian Budget Speech for 1907. Speech at Arbroath. The Partition of Bengal. Indian Excise Administration. British Indians in the Transvaal. The Need for Reform. The Condition of India. Speech at the Civil Service Dinner. Speech on the Reform Proposals in the House of Lords. Hindus and Mahomedana. A reply to the Deputation of the All-India Muslim League. Speech in the House of Lords on the second reading of the Indian Councils Bill. Speech in the House of Lords on Oriental studies. The Forward Policy. Back to Lord Lawrence. The War on the Frontier. The Government of India. Also the Full Text of his Despatch on the Indian Reform Proposals. With an appreciation of Lord Morley, and a portrait. Price As. 12.

DR RASH BEHARI GHOSE'S SPEECHES.

AN EXHAUSTIVE AND COMPARHENSIVE COLLECTION.

(With a portrait.)

Price 4s. 12 To Subscribers of the "Review," As. 8.

G. A. NATESAN & CO., ESPLANADE, MADRAS,

Shakespeare's Chart of Life:

BEING STUDIES OF

HAMLET, KING LEAR, OTHELLO & MACBETH.

By the Rev. Or. William Miller, C.I.E.,

Principal, Madras Christian College.

CONTENTS:

KING LEAR AND INDIAN POLITICS. HAMLET AND THE WASTE OF LIFE, MACBETH AND THE RUIN OF SOULS. OTHELLO AND THE CRASH OF CHARACTER.

Dr. Miller does not appear as an annotator or critic. He fires his students attention especially on the ethical side of Shakespeare's teaching. According to him the plays of Shakespeares, whether designedly or not, are not calculated merely to amuse. They have each "an inner meaning," a "central idea," which it does the student good to search out and assimilate.

The Madras Mail.—Dr. Miller has taught Shake-spears for over 40 years to hundreds of students, who have passed through the Christian College. And in his classes, if he has enforced one lesson more than another, it has been that these plays must have been written with the object, among others, of making plain the moral principles, which underlie the ordinary occurrences in human life, and that it is this feature of Shakespeare's plays which makes them not, only an intellectual discipline but a means of real benefit to those upon whom they have their full and proper influence.

Rs. 4. To Subscribers of the "Indian Review," Rs. 3.

AVAILABLE SEPARATELY, BE, ONE BACH.

REVIEW is Rs. 5 (fve). Subscription can commence from any month. Any one, who wishes to buy books at the reduced rates, must remit Rs. 5, one year's subscription to the "Rreies" in advance. Send a postage stamp for As. Two for a free specimen copy.

G. A. NATESAN & CO., ESPLANADE, MADRAS.

INDIAN TALES.

AMUSING READING :- As. Four Each.

NEW INDIAN. TALES.—Nineteen amusing and instructive tales. By Mr. C. Hayavadana Rau, Fellow of the Anthropological Institute, London. Price As. 4.

TALES OF RAYA AND APPAJI.—By T. M. Sundaram. 16 amusing and instructive stories. The stories are characterised by a great deal of wit and humour. Price As. 4.

TALES OF KOMATI WIT AND WISDOM.— Twenty-five amusing and instructive stories. By C. Hayavadana Rau, B. A., B. L. Price As. 4.

TALES OF TENNALI RAMAN,—The famous Court Jester of Southern India. 21 Amusing Stories. By Pandit S. M. Natesa Sastri. Third Edition. As. 4.

FOLKLORE OF THE TELUGUS.—A collection of forty-two highly amusing and instructive tales. By G. R. Subramiah Pantulu. Price As. 4.

TALES OF MARIADA RAMAN. (21 Amusing Stories.) By P. Ramachandra Row Avergal, Retired Statutory Civilian. Second Edition. Price As. 4.

THE SON-IN-LAW ABROAD, and other Indian folk-tales of Fun, Folly, Cleverness, Cunning, Wit, and Humour. By P. Ramachandra Rao, B. A., B. L., Retired Statutory Civilian. Second Edition, As. 4.

MAITREYI.

A VEDIC STORY IN SIX CHAPTERS.

BY PANDIT SITANATH TATTVABHUSHAN. Indian Mirror.—The Author has recalled to life the dead bones of a very ancient and classical anecdote, and embellished it with his own imagination and philosophical disquisition. Pandit Sitanath has made the Maitreyi of the Vedic age as she should be—catholic, stout-hearted and intellectual and has through her mouth introduced and discussed many intricate, philosophical and social topics. We wish this little book every success.

SECOND EDITION. As. Four.

G. A. NATESAN & CO., ESPLANADE, MADRA®.

The Swadeshi Movement.

A SYMPOSIUM BY

Representative Indians and Anglo-Indians.

CONTENTS: - Dadabhai Naoroji; H. H. The Gaekwar of Baroda; The Hon. Mr. G. K. Gokhale; The Hon. Dr. Rash Behari Ghose; Hon. Sir Vitaldas Damodar Thackersey; The Hon. Md. Yusuf Khan Bahadur; Mrs. Annie Besant; Rajah Peary Mohun Mukerjee; Sister Nivedita; Mr. Lala Lajpat Rai; Dewan Bahadur K. Krishnaswamy Row; The Hon, Mr. Harikishen Lal; Babu Surendranath Banerjee; Rai Bahadur Lala Baij Nath; Dewan Bahadur Ragunatha Row; Romesh Chunder Dutt, C.I.E., I.C.A.; Mr. A. Chaudhuri; Hon. Mr. Parekh; Mr. D. E. Wacha; Hon. Pandit Madan Mohan Malaviya; Mr. Aswini Kumar Datta; The Hon. Mr. V. Krishnaswamy Iver: Hon. Mr. Ambica Charan Muzumdar: Mr. Myron H. Phelps; Dewan Bahadur Ambalal S. Desai; Mr. G. S. Arundale; Sir Charles Elliot, K.C.M.G.; Mr. David Gostling; Rajah Prithwipal Singh; Rai Bahadur P. Ananda Charlu, C.I.R.; Sir E. C. Buck, K.C.S.I.; Dr. Ananda K. Coomaraswamy; Mr. Mujibur Rahman; Abdul Rasul, Esq., Bar.-at-Law; Babu Tara Prasanna Mukerji; Dewan Bahadur Govindaraghava Iyer; Mr. Abdul Halim Ghuznavi; Rao Bahadur R. N. Mudholkar; His Honor Sir Herbert T. White; Mr. Charles W. McKinn; Mr. Bal Gangadhar Tilak; Mr. Hemendra Prasad Ghose; Pandit Rambaj Dutt; Mr. Mushir Hosain Kidwai, Bar.-at-Law. The book also contains the views of, H. E. Lord Minto, H. E. Sir Arthur Lawley, H. H. Sir Audrew Freeer and Lord Ampthill. Price Annas Twelve.

The Annual Subscription to the "INDIAN REVIEW" is Rs. 5 (five). Subscription can commence from any month. Any one, who wishes to buy books at the reduced rates, must remis Rs. 5, one year's subscription to the "Review," in advance. Send a postage stamp for As. Two for a free specimen copy.

G. A. NATESAN & CO., ESPLANADE, MADRAS.

Biographies of Eminent Indians.

A Series of Uniform Booklets each with a Portrait. FOOLSCAP 8vo. PRICE ANNAS FOUR EACH.

The aim of this Series is to present within a short compass sketches of the lives and careers of all eminent Indians. Each Volume besides giving a succinct biographical sketch contains copious extracts from the speeches and writings of the personages described. The Series has been pronounced by the Press to be "the most welcome addition to Indian biographical and critical literature."

DADABHAI NAOROJI. SIR P. M. MEHTA. DINSHAW EDULJI WACHA. MAHADEV GOVIND RANADE. SRI RAMAKRISHNA PARAMAHAMSA. SWAMI VIVEKANANDA. THE HON. MR. G. K. GOKHALE. DR. RASH BEHARI GHOSE. LALA LAJPAT RAI. BABU SURENDRANATH BANERJEA. ROMESH CHUNDER DUTT. ANANDA MOHAN BOSE. W. C. BONNERJEE. BUDRUDDIN TYABJI. SIR SYED AHMED. LAL MOHUN GHOSE. M. K. GANDHI. PANDIT MADAN MOHAN MALAVIYA. PRICE ANNAS FOUR EACH.

G. A. NATESAN & CO., ESPLANADE, MADRAS.

Congress. Conferences, & Conventions of 'CO.

This is a complete collection of the Presidential Addresses delivered Indian National Congress and the Industrial, Social, Temperance, Kehatriva and Hindu Conferences held at Lanore in December, lines. To make this collection serve as a permanent record of the activities of the year, the Addresses delivered on the occasion of the opening of the Industrial and Agricologial Exhibition, Labore; The Mahomedan Educat anal Conterence, Rangoon; The Rajpot Conference, Lucknow; The Theorephical Convention, Benarcs, and The Christian Endeavour Convention at Agra bave also, been included. Among the notable Addresses included in this Collection are those of the Hon. Pandit Madan Mohan Malativa, the Maharajah of Darbhauga, The Hon, Mr. G. K. Paredle, The Hon. The Manara; Adiraj of Birdwan, The Hon. The Tixes Schilb of Natiba, Doctor Sir Protal Chandra Chatterji, H. H. The Maharajah of Kashade, Mes. Annie Beaant and the Rev. C. F. Andrews of Delhi, His Honor Sir Louis Dane, The Hon, Rajah Sir Mahamad Ah Khan, Kai Banadur Lal Chand, Lala Devaraj, Lala Haribishen Lal and Prof S. K. Datta. The full text of the Resolutions passed at the Congress and the Conferences are also printed in a separate Part. The Volume also contains the portraits of the Presidents of the Congress and the various Conferences and Conventions.

Price As. 12. To Subscribers of the "Review," As &

The Volume is priced at Annas Twelve, but it will be sold at half-price to all old and new Subscribers of "The Indian Review." It will be convenient if old and new Subscribers authorise us to send this book at 6.As, adding Rs 5 the Subscription to "The Review" for the year. This Offer will shortly be withdrawn.

UNIFORM WITH THE ABOVE.

THE CALCUITA CONGRESS & CONFERENCES.
THE SURAT CONGRESS & CONFERENCES.
THE MADRAS CONGRESS & CONFERENCES.

Price As. Six Bach,

G. A. NATESAN & CO., ESPLANADE, MADRAS.